
 
View or subscribe to updates for agendas, reports and minutes at 

mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk. 
All public papers are available from the calendar link to this meeting once published 

Agenda  

 

Scrutiny Committee 

This meeting will be held by Zoom and streamed to the Council's 

YouTube channel when the meeting 

starts,https://www.youtube.com/oxfordcitycouncil 

 

This meeting will be held on: 

Date: Tuesday 2 June 2020 

Time: 6.00 pm  

Place: Zoom - Remote meeting 

 

For further information please contact:  

John Mitchell, Committee Services Officer, Committee Services Officer 

 01865 252217  democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Members of the public can attend to observe this meeting and.  

 may register in advance to speak to the committee in accordance with the 
committee’s rules 

 may record all or part of the meeting in accordance with the Council’s protocol 

Information about speaking and recording is set out in the agenda and on the website 

Please contact the Committee Services Officer to register to speak; to discuss 
recording the meeting; or with any other queries.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings


 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 
 

Committee Membership  

Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan  

Councillor Lubna Arshad  

Councillor Shaista Aziz  

Councillor Tiago Corais  

Councillor Dr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini  

Councillor James Fry 

Councillor Andrew Gant 

 

Councillor Richard Howlett  

Councillor Pat Kennedy  

Councillor Ben Lloyd-Shogbesan 

Councillor Dr Joe McManners 

 

Councillor Craig Simmons  

Quorum is 4 Councillors 

 

Apologies and notification of substitutes received before the publication are shown 
under Apologies for absence in the agenda. Those sent after publication will be 
reported at the meeting. Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these 
roles. 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

Agenda 
 

  Pages 

1   Election of Chair for the Council Year 2020-21  

2   Election of  Vice Chair for the Council Year 2020-21  

3   Apologies for absence  

4   Declarations of interest  

5   Chair's Announcements  

6   Minutes 7 - 12 

 Recommendation: That the minutes of the meeting held on 03 March 
2020 be APPROVED as a true and accurate record. 

 

 

7   Work Plan and Forward Plan  

 The Scrutiny Committee operates within a work plan which is agreed at 
the start of the Council year. The Committee will be asked to review and 
suggest items for the 2020/21 council year at its next meeting on 06 
July .  

The work plan is driven to a very large extent by the Cabinet Forward 
Plan.  At the time of publication of this agenda the Cabinet Forward 
Plan is subject to a major review in the light of Covid 19. An updated 
version of the Forward Plan will be published in a few days’ time. A 
summary of the updated Forward Plan, together with an updated work 
plan, will be then be published as a supplement to this agenda.  

 

 

8   Scrutiny Operating Principles and Standing Panel 
Arrangements 

13 - 22 

 The proposed Scrutiny Operating Principles and Standing Panel 
Arrangements are attached. 

 

 

9   Adoption of Oxford Local Plan 2036 23 - 620 

 At its meeting on 08 June, Cabinet will consider a report on the 
Adoption of the Local Plan 2036. This item provides an opportunity for 
the Committee to comment on the report and make such 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

recommendations to the Cabinet as it wishes. Councillor Alex 
Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Delivery, and 
Sarah Harrison, Team Leader, Planning Policy have been invited to 
attend for this item. 

Please note that because of the size of the documentation associated 
with this item, its delivery via ‘Mod Gov’ will be in two parts. The first 
with this agenda, the second via a supplement.  Please note also that 
Members will receive a hard copy of all the Local Plan documentation 
early next week. 

 

10   2019-20 Annual Update on the Oxford City Council 
Corporate Plan 2016-20 

621 - 
642 

 At a meeting in June, the date of which is to be confirmed, Cabinet will 
consider a report on the Annual Update on the Oxford City Council 
Corporate Plan 2016-20. This item provides an opportunity for the 
Committee to comment on the report and make such recommendations 
to the Cabinet as it wishes. Councillor Susan Brown, Leader of the 
Council and Mish Tullar, Corporate Policy, Partnership and 
Communications Manager have been invited to attend for this item. 
 

 

 

11   Report back on recommendations 643 - 
646 

 Cabinet’s responses to the Committee’s recommendations in relation to 
the Blackbird Leys Development Project and  the Annual Report on 
Gender Pay Gap are attached.  

 

 

12   Dates of future meetings  

 Meetings are scheduled as followed: 

Scrutiny Committee  

06 July 2020 

04 August 2020 

01 September 2020 

All meetings start at 6.00 pm unless otherwise advised. 

Standing Panels 

Housing Standing Panel: 23 July, 08 October, 05 November  

Finance Standing Panel: 30 June, 29 September 

Companies Standing Panel: 22 June, 14 September 

 



 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

 

 

 



 

 

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX 

Information for those attending 

Recording and reporting on meetings held in public 

Members of public and press can record, or report in other ways, the parts of the meeting 
open to the public. You are not required to indicate in advance but it helps if you notify the 
Committee Services Officer prior to the meeting so that they can inform the Chair and 
direct you to the best place to record.  

The Council asks those recording the meeting: 

 To follow the protocol which can be found on the Council’s website  

 Not to disturb or disrupt the meeting 

 Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the 
proceedings. This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that may 
ridicule or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded. 

 To avoid recording members of the public present, even inadvertently, unless they are 
addressing the meeting. 

Please be aware that you may be recorded during your speech and any follow-up. If you 
are attending please be aware that recording may take place and that you may be 
inadvertently included in these. 

The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to suspend or terminate any activities 
that in his or her opinion are disruptive. 

Councillors declaring interests  

General duty 

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 

Declaring an interest 

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”. The matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a 
whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings


Minutes of a meeting of the  
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
on Tuesday 3 March 2020  
 
 

Committee members: 

Councillor Gant (Chair) Councillor McManners (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Altaf-Khan Councillor Arshad 

Councillor Bely-Summers Councillor Corais 

Councillor Djafari-Marbini Councillor Donnelly 

Councillor Howlett Councillor Lloyd-Shogbesan 

Councillor Wolff (for Councillor 
Simmons) 

 

Also present: 

Councillor Linda Smith, Cabinet Member for Leisure and Housing 
Councillor Nigel Chapman, Cabinet Member for Safer Communities and Customer 
Focused Services 

Officers:  

Tom Bridgman, Executive Director (Development) 
Helen Bishop, Head of Business Improvement 
Anita Bradley, Monitoring Officer 
Andrew Humpherson, Regeneration Manager 
Tom Hudson, Scrutiny Officer 
John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Apologies: 

Councillors Fry and Simmons sent apologies. 

87. Declarations of interest  

Councillor Gant declared a non-pecuniary interest in relation to the draft report of the 
Climate Emergency Review Group (item 8 of the agenda) as a member of Oxford Co-
Wheels Car Club. 

88. Chair's Announcements  

The Chair noted the need to go into confidential session if the Committee wished to 
discuss any of the confidential appendices in relation to items 5, 6 and 9. 

 

 

7

Agenda Item 6



 

89. Minutes  

The Committee resolved to APPROVE the minutes of the meeting held on 04 Februrary 
2020 as a true and accurate record subject to the addition of Councillor Altaf-Khan to 
the list of those present. 

90. Blackbird Leys Development Project Detailed design  

 The Committee passed a resolution in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 to exclude the press and members of the public during 
discussion of this item on the grounds that it might involve disclosure of exempt 
information as described in the relevant paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. The minute of this item is therefore restricted too. At the 
conclusion of this item the Committee moved back into public session. 

91. Annual Report on Gender Pay Gap  

Councillor Nigel Chapman, Cabinet Member for Customer Focused Services 
introduced the report which fulfilled a statutory requirement and drew attention to a 
mean gender pay gap of about 10%.  The previous year’s report had shown an almost 
negligible pay gap. The increase was accounted for by the separation of colleagues in 
Oxford Direct Services for the first time and who were not now included in the Council 
figures.   In very broad terms, higher paid jobs were more likely to be held by men and 
women were more likely to work part time, both of which contributed to the gap.  While 
the increase was regrettable, it compared favourably with an average pay gap 
elsewhere of about 18%. While some other authorities had a significantly smaller gap, 
this was probably attributable to the fact that they had not, like the Council, taken the 
step of setting up arms’ length companies. 
 
The pay gap calculation was partly determined with reference the “Partnership 
Payment” scheme. Helen Bishop, Head of Business Improvement, explained that this 
bonus payment was, like basic pay, determined on a pro-rata basis, which further 
contributed to the gap because of the high proportion of female staff working part time. 
This scheme had however now come to an end. The current pay deal was based on   a 
percentage increase or fixed sum increase, designed to be of greater benefit to lower 
paid staff.  
 
While not directly related to the matter of the pay gap, it was agreed that there would be 
merit in the Council providing an environment which encouraged  men to  take on 
greater levels of parental responsibility. This was something which could be facilitated 
by the increasing ease with which work could be done from home and opportunities for 
part time work, all of which would contribute to the message that the Council was an 
enlightened employer.  
 
The Committee agreed to make the following recommendation to Cabinet: 
 
That the Council gives greater prominence to promoting male take-up of shared 
parental leave within its current and prospective workforce. A particular suggestion is 
the inclusion of articles within Council Matters by male staff who have taken shared 
parental leave on their experiences and the benefits they have encountered. 

8



 

92. Performance Monitoring 2019/20 Quarter 3  

Councillor James Fry had commented on the report and his comments, together with 
the Scrutiny Officer’s response to them had been published with the Committee’s 
papers. The committee accepted the recommendations given in the later paper.   Helen 
Bishop, Head of Business Improvement, had met Councillor Fry to discuss the 
Committee’s role in relation to performance monitoring as a result of which there would 
be a review of the way in which these indicators were presented.  
 
The Committee agreed to make the following recommendation to Cabinet: 
 
That from the next civic year the Council adopts performance measures for the 
following: 
 

a) The proportion of total FTEs within the Council that are filled, and are 
vacant, preferably by service area 

b) Short and long term staff absences 

93. Reports for Approval  

The Chair commended the Review Group’s report to the Committee as an excellent 
piece of work. In his role as Chair of the Growth Board’s Scrutiny Panel he sought the 
Committee’s agreement to submitting the report to the Panel.  The Panel would be 
considering the matter of a Climate Emergency in a few days’ time.  
 
Councillor Richard Howlett, speaking as Chair of the Review Group, paid tribute to all 
those who had contributed to the review. It was noteworthy that the report’s 56 
recommendations covered all but one of the Council’s 10 portfolio areas, illustrating the 
wide ranging relevance and importance of the climate change issue.  The Review 
Group’s recent visit to an innovative building programme in Southmoor had provided a 
thought provoking insight into the possibilities of building homes to a Passivhaus 
standard at a cost comparable to traditional building methods. The work of the group 
had made it clear that it while it would be a challenge to meet local and national targets 
for the reduction in carbon emissions, the availability of local skills,  technology and 
enthusiasm made that challenge less daunting than it would otherwise be. 
 
The Chair noted that the views of the witness from Oxford University given in the report 
were not, necessarily, those of the Conference of Colleges. 
 
The recommendation relating to reviewing the Council’s investment criteria to enable 
investment in energy co-operatives was welcome but it was recognised that it was too 
early to say how this might be achieved. 
 
The Committee made a number of detailed suggestions and agreed to delegate 
responsibility for final adjustments to the report to Councillor Howlett and the Scrutiny 
Officer. 
 
The Chair congratulated those involved in assembling the report and was pleased to 
hear that there would a press release to accompany its presentation to Cabinet in due 
course. 

9



 

94. Report back on recommendations  

The Chair reported back on the Cabinet’s response to the Committee’s most recent 
recommendations in relation to: Budget Review for 2020/21; Capital Strategy; 
Customer Experience Strategy; Performance Monitoring Strategy Q2; and Plans for the 
introduction of a ZEZ. It was pleasing to see that, with the exception of those in relation 
to  the introduction of a ZEZ,  most of the Committee’s recommendations had been 
wholly or partly accepted.  

95. Work Plan and Forward Plan  

The Scrutiny Officer made recommendations to the Committee for changes to its 
workplan for the remainder of the Council year consequent upon changes to the 
Forward Plan. 
 
Looking to the beginning of the next Council year it would be helpful to prepare a draft 
workplan for the new Committee.  Items provisionally scheduled for the first meeting of 
the Committee in June included the Local Plan, Economic and City Centre Strategy, 
East Oxford Community Centre Improvement Scheme, and the Oxpens 
Redevelopment Update. There was concern that there would be insufficient time to 
deal satisfactorily with all of these significant matters at one meeting. The timing of 
Scrutiny items destined, subsequently, for Cabinet was however constrained by the 
timetable and process for production of those reports which meant that none of these 
reports, on the basis of the current Cabinet Forward Plan, could come to the Committee 
earlier than listed. It was noted however that Forward Plan items were frequently 
deferred and it was highly likely there would be no need to consider all of these items at 
the June meeting.  

96. Dates of future meetings  

Meetings are scheduled as follows: 
 
Scrutiny Committee 

 06 April, 02 June 
 

Standing Panels 

 Housing Panel: 08 April 

 Companies Panel: 12 March; 22 June 

 Finance Panel: 30 June 
 
All meetings start at 6.00pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10



 

97. Matters exempt from Publication  

98. Blackbird Leys Development Project Detailed Design - 
confidential appendices  

Discussed in confidential session. 
 
 
The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 8.30 pm 
 
 
 
 
Chair …………………………..   Date:  Monday 02 June  2020 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 02 June 2020 

Report of: Head of Law and Governance 

Title of Report:  Scrutiny Operating Principles and Standing Panel 
Arrangements 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: To adopt a set of operating principles for the Scrutiny 
Committee for the 2020/21 municipal year, establish standing 
panels and appoint standing panel Chairs. 

Key decision: No 

Scrutiny Lead 
Member: 

Councillor Gant, Chair of the Scrutiny Committee 2019/20 

Corporate Priority: All 

Recommendations: That the Scrutiny Committee resolves to: 

1. Agree the proposed Committee Operating Principles for the 2020/21 municipal 
year, as set out in Appendix 1. 

2. Agree to re-establish three standing panels for the 2020/21 municipal year with 
the following remits:  

i) Finance and Performance Panel – finance and budgetary issues and 
decisions, annual review of the Council’s budget, quarterly monitoring of 
finance and performance;  

ii) Housing and Homelessness Panel – strategic housing and landlord issues 
and decisions, homelessness, housing services performance; 

iii) Companies Scrutiny Panel  - executive decisions made in relation to any 
companies wholly or partly owned by the Council 

or to agree to establish alternatives. 

3. Agree the number of seats and political balance of each standing panel for 
2020/21 (Finance and Performance Panel: 4, Companies Scrutiny Panel: 4, 
Housing and Homelessness Panel: 6 recommended)   

4. Agree members and appoint Chairs of the Finance and Performance, Housing 
 and Homelessness and Companies  Scrutiny Panel or any other panels as 
agreed by the Committee 

5.  Co-opt Tony Buchanan as a Council tenant representative onto the Housing 
Panel  

13

Agenda Item 8



6.  Agree temporary ways of working until September 2020 to reflect the particular  
challenges posed by the Covid-19 pandemic   

Appendices  

Appendix 1 Draft Scrutiny Committee Operating Principles 

Introduction and background  
 

1. At the start of a new administrative year the Scrutiny Committee is asked to re-establish 
the key principles by which the Committee, and its standing panels and review groups, 
will operate. This provides clarity to members, officers and the public about how 
Scrutiny will manage and organise its activities during the year. An unchanged set of 
operating principles is set out in Appendix 1 for the Committee’s consideration.  
 
The Committee is able to delegate responsibility for scrutiny of certain issues to specific 
standing panels, which report back to the Committee with recommendations (where 
time allows). The Committee should consider whether it wishes to re-establish the 
previous standing panel arrangements, or establish different panels. As standing 
panels are established, it is recommended that the number of seats and political make-
up of the panels and membership is agreed, and the Chairs are appointed. 
 
Role of the Scrutiny Committee  
 

2. Scrutiny operates to provide democratic oversight and public assurance that the 
Council is carrying out its business effectively, and a check and balance function to 
ensure that decisions are taken in the best interests of the residents of Oxford. Scrutiny 
carries out research, reviews and hears from independent experts, as well as Council 
officers, making recommendations for service improvement where necessary. One 
focus of the Committee’s work is to hold the Cabinet to account but Scrutiny also 
pursues its own agenda by commissioning reports from officers on priority issues, 
assisting the Council in developing policy. As outlined in the Council’s Constitution, the 
Committee can:  
 

a) Carry out research and consultation on policy options, and introduce schemes to 
involve the public in developing policy; 

b) Review the performance and decisions of the Cabinet, and council officers (but 
not decisions on individual planning or licensing applications); 

c) Review the progress of the Council and individual services in achieving its policy 
aims and performance targets; 

d) Work with national, regional and local organisations to promote the interest of 
local people.  

e) Review executive decisions in respect of any companies wholly or partly owned 
by the Council and hold the shareholder to account for the performance of those 
companies. The decisions of Council-owned companies do not fall within the 
remit of the scrutiny committee.  

f) Require the attendance of Board Members and Senior Officers to answer 
questions about their decisions and performance.  

g) Hold other public service providers to account (though there is no legal 
requirement for them to engage). 
 

14



3. Members of the Committee are encouraged to read the Scrutiny Guide for Councillors 
which provides a detailed review of how the Committee operates, how to be effective 
as a scrutiny councillor, and the support and development opportunities available to 
members.  
 
Scrutiny Operating Principles 
 

4. The Council’s Constitution sets out the role and procedures of the Scrutiny Committee, 
as outlined above, but it is not prescriptive about how the scrutiny function will be 
organised and managed. In previous years, the Committee has agreed a set of 
operating principles to govern key aspects of their work that are not covered by the 
Constitution. Key matters addressed in the document include: resource expectations, 
membership guidelines for panels and meeting frequency.  

 
5. The Operating Principles are designed as a reference document to guide the 

Committee’s work, and a draft set of principles for adoption are set out in Appendix 1. 
The Committee may make revisions as it sees appropriate within the confines of the 
Constitution, relevant legislation and resource capacity. In which case, members are 
asked to discuss any proposed changes in advance with the Scrutiny Officer or to take 
advice at the meeting.  
 

6. No proposed changes are recommended to last year’s the Operating Principles. A list 
of temporary measures to reflect the circumstances of the Covid-19 emergency are 
detailed at the bottom of this report. 
 
Standing Scrutiny Panels 
 

7. In previous years, the Committee has established Finance, Housing and Companies 
Panels to undertake detailed scrutiny of decisions and issues relevant to their remit. 
The reason being that small groups of members with an interest in these priority areas 
can build up specialist knowledge and insights and use these to produce better scrutiny 
outcomes. These Panels have discretion to manage their own work plans, but remain 
accountable to the Scrutiny Committee for their work. Where time permits, the standing 
panels will report to the Scrutiny Committee before their recommendations are 
submitted to the Cabinet.  
 

8. The Committee is invited to agree a set of standing panels for the year, and is 
recommended to continue with similar arrangements to the existing, with minor 
changes as detailed in the section below.  

 
9. The proposed Operating Principles stipulate that standing panel Chairs must be 

members of the Scrutiny Committee in order to ensure that all aspects of the Scrutiny 
function are led by Scrutiny Members and that a direct line of reporting is maintained 
from the standing panels commissioned by the Committee. However, the way that 
Scrutiny chooses to manage itself through its Operating Principles is a matter for the 
Committee to decide. After identifying which panels to appoint, the Committee is 
requested to appoint Chairs of these panels. The proposed Operating Principles 
stipulate that four or six councillors should sit on these panels, and that panel 
membership will be cross-party as follows: 
 

 4 members (2 Labour, 1 Lib Dem, 1 Green) 

 6 members (3 Labour, 2 Lib Dem and 1 Green)  
 

15



10. The quorum for standing panels is two members for panels of four, and three for panels 
of six. If the quorum is not reached, some decisions may pass without formal cross-
party scrutiny, and other items may need to be delayed.  
 

11. The Members Allowances Scheme allocates a Special Responsibility Allowance 
equivalent to 25% of the Basic Allowance (£1,286 in 2020/21) to a maximum of two 
standing panel chairs, on the basis that panels meet at least five times a year. Where 
there are more than two standing panels, the total allocation of £2,571 will be divided 
between the panel chairs. This Special Responsibility Allowance is to reflect the 
additional responsibility of standing panel chairs.  
 
Recommended Changes to Scrutiny Panels 
 

12. Two minor changes are recommended to the Scrutiny panels as well as a change to 
the way panels report back to the Committee. 
 

13. The first is simply a change in nomenclature. Whilst the issue of homelessness already 
sits within the remit of the Housing Panel, the issue has grown in prominence in the last 
year, reflecting the Council’s commitment to homelessness prevention. It is 
recommended the name of the Housing Panel be changed to the ‘Housing and 
Homelessness Panel’ so as more accurately to reflect to the public the issues and 
focus of the panel. 
 

14. The second recommended change also refers to a change in nomenclature, but also a 
change in practice to reduce duplication. At present, the Finance Panel considers the 
quarterly Integrated Performance Cabinet report, whilst Scrutiny also monitors a 
number of alternative performance indicators at the main Scrutiny Committee on a 
quarterly basis. It is recommended that to reduce duplication, increase clarity and 
operate more efficiently that responsibility for Scrutiny’s performance monitoring be 
merged into one arm of the Scrutiny function. Considering the respective workloads of 
the Finance Panel and Scrutiny Committee, it is recommended that the Finance Panel 
become solely responsible for (non-housing) performance monitoring, and that it be 
renamed the ‘Finance and Performance Panel’. Doing so would have the further benefit 
of enabling a tight focus amongst a small number of members, thereby providing a 
more effective level of scrutiny overall. 
 

15. Members have reported that whilst the minutes of Scrutiny’s standing panels are 
published, it would be useful if the Chairs of standing panels could give a quick update 
to the Committee on the items considered. At present, only Scrutiny-commissioned 
reports on which recommendations are made tend to come back to the Committee, 
providing a partial representation of the work of the panels. It is therefore 
recommended that the Scrutiny Committee include a standing item where panel Chairs 
are invited to give a precis of no more than five minutes of the reports heard at their 
panels since the previous meeting.  
 
Co-Option  
 

16. The Scrutiny Committee has the right to co-opt members as non-voting members under 
the Local Government Act 2000 (section 9FA(4)). Section 13.3 of the Council’s 
constitution allows the Scrutiny Committee to ‘appoint non-voting co-opted members to 
serve for a specific policy review or until the next annual Council.’ 
 

16



17. At the end of last municipal year the Scrutiny function had one co-opted member. Tony 
Buchanan was co-opted onto the Housing Panel as a Council-tenant representative. Mr 
Buchanan has been an active and insightful member of the Housing Panel and is 
willing to continue in the role. It is recommended that he be appointed as a co-optee for 
a further year. 
 

18. It is not recommended that further co-optees are appointed at this time, but that the 
Scrutiny function more regularly seeks to hear from key external stakeholders on case 
by case issues as they arise. 
 
Alternative options 
 

19. The Committee is not required to reappoint the three standing panels, and it may 
choose to appoint panels with different remits.  
 

20. If the Committee decides to set up different standing panel arrangements, the Scrutiny 
Officer will liaise with the Scrutiny Committee Chair and return to the next available 
meeting with a revised proposal for agreement. Consideration would need to be given 
to the organisation’s capacity to support the overall number of panels. 
 
Covid-19 Impacts and the Scrutiny Work Plan 
 

21. A key element underpinning the Scrutiny function’s ability to discharge its responsibility 
to provide independent scrutiny and challenge is, as enshrined in Part 13.7 of the 
Council’s Constitution, its ability to set its own programme of work. The Scrutiny 
Committee is not limited to considering decisions being referred to Cabinet, but may 
commission reports on any subject. This is, however, tempered in the Scrutiny 
Operating Principles by a requirement that it be ‘mindful of the impact on resources and 
the constraints of the organisation’. 
 

22. Since late March 2020 the Council has been working under the emergency measures 
provisions of its Constitution to ensure it is able to maintain business continuity amidst 
the Covid-19 pandemic and respond swiftly to the new challenges arising from its 
consequences. The scale of this challenge has caused officer capacity to be 
significantly reduced at present.  

 

23. On the other hand, it is also recognised that important decisions will need to be made 
by the Council at this time, and that it is important that democratically elected members 
maintain the ability to represent the interests of their communities in such difficult times. 
Scrutiny, therefore, faces a challenge to find the optimum balance between providing 
independent scrutiny without diverting stretched officer resources away from the 
Council’s emergency response.  
 

24. It is recommended, therefore, that until September the Scrutiny function: 
  

- Continues with its schedule of meetings so long as there is business to conduct 
- Does not commission additional reports but limits its consideration to Cabinet 

papers 
- Requests attendance of senior officers only when absolutely necessary. 

 
25. Under normal circumstances the Committee would be asked at this meeting to start 

developing a longlist of topics to be scored against a topic selection criteria. A 
proposed work plan would then presented as to the Committee in July. However, in 

17



light of the emergency measures being taken and the significant re-evaluation of the 
Council’s Forward Plan which is taking place, it is recommended that the creation of a 
longlist be deferred by the Committee until the 06 July 2020 meeting. Consideration of 
potential Review Group topics will also be considered as part of this process. 
Councillors are encouraged to begin thinking about the issues they would like to see 
included in readiness for that meeting and may wish to discuss any suggestions with 
the Chair, Vice Chair and Scrutiny Officer. 
 

26. An indicative work plan has been created up until September based upon these 
recommendations and is included under the relevant section of the agenda pack. 
 
 

Schedule of meetings 
 

27. Members of the Committee are invited to take note of the schedule of meetings for the 
remainder of the calendar year and to diarise these where necessary: 

 
28. Joining instructions for remote meetings held via zoom will be issued to Councillors 

separately to the main agenda. 

 

Report author Tom Hudson 

Job title Scrutiny Officer 
Service area or department Law and Governance 
Telephone  01865 252191   
e-mail  thudson@oxford.gov.uk 

 

Background Papers: None 

 

Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
 
02 June 2020 
06 July 2020 
04 August 2020 
01 September 2020 
06 October 2020 
03 November 2020  
01 December 2020 
 

Finance and 
Performance 
Panel 
 
30 June 2020 
29 September 2020 
03 December 2020 

Housing Panel 
 
 
 
23 July 2020 
08 October 2020 
05 November 2020 
 

Companies Panel  
 
 
 
22 June 2020 
14 September 2020 
14 December 2020 

18

mailto:thudson@oxford.gov.uk


Draft Scrutiny Committee Operating Principles 2020/21 
 

Meeting Arrangements 
 

1. At least 10 Committee meetings will be scheduled each year to match the 
Cabinet meeting cycle. This is to enable pre-decision scrutiny of decisions to be 
taken at the next Cabinet meeting.   
  

2. All public addresses and councillor contributions will be directed through the 
Chair.  
 

3. The Scrutiny Committee will hold the Cabinet and Senior Officers to account 
publicly at committee meetings. 
 

4. The Chair will report regularly to Council on the work of the Scrutiny Committee. 
The Committee may also produce an annual report. 
 

Standing Panels and Review Groups 
 

5. The Scrutiny Committee will set Standing Panels and Review Groups each year 
to consider selected issues in more detail. 
 

6. Standing Panels will hold meetings throughout the year, and consider quarterly 
performance reports, Executive decisions and other issues within their remit.  
 

7. Review Groups will be formed to undertake issue led and time bound ‘task and 
finish’ reviews of specific issues, before concluding their work with a report and 
recommendations, usually to the Cabinet.  

 
8. Review Group and Standing Panel meetings will be held in public or private as 

the meeting business dictates. 
 

9. Standing Panel and Review Group Chairs must be members of the Scrutiny 
Committee and can be from any political group. Panel Chairs will be elected at 
the first meeting of the Committee in the municipal year. Review Group Chairs 
will be elected by the Committee when the groups are established.  
 

10. Standing Panels will meet approximately 5 times each year. Review Groups will 
meet as often as is required for them to conclude their work. The Scrutiny 
Committee will oversee the work of Review Groups to ensure they do not 
overrun unduly.  
 

11. The Scrutiny Committee will commission and scope the work of Standing 
Panels and Review Groups and therefore has final agreement on their 
recommendations. There may be occasions where this is not possible and 
standing panel reports will go directly to the Cabinet.  

 
12. In any given year, the organisation ordinarily has capacity to support either: 

a) 2 Standing Panels and 3 Review Groups; or 
b) 3 Standing Panels and 2 Review Groups 

 
13. No substitutions will be allowed on Standing Panels or Review Groups. This is 

to provide continuity of membership given the focused nature of their work. 
 

19



14. Chairs of Standing Panels and Review Groups will report back to the 
Committee on progress and outcomes. They will also be invited to present their 
reports and recommendations to the Cabinet. 
 

15. The quorum for standing panels and review groups shall be two councillors for 
panels of four, and three councillors for panels of six. 

 
Political Balance 
 

16. The Chair of the Scrutiny Committee must be a member of the opposition, and 
the Vice-Chair can be from any political group. 
 

17. The membership of Standing Panels and Review Groups will be set by the 
Scrutiny Committee and drawn from all non-executive members. Group 
secretaries will be asked to nominate members to any such groups for 
agreement by the Committee. 

 
18. Standing Panels and Review Groups are not required to reflect the Council’s 

make up, but the Committee will use the following cross-party principle guide for 
appointment:  

 
4 members: 2 Labour, 1 Lib Dem, 1 Green 
6 members: 3 Labour, 2 Lib Dem, 1 Green 

 
The Scrutiny Work Plan 
 

19. The Work Plan will consist of a number of issues for consideration informed by 
consultation with all councillors and senior officers. Guidance criteria for 
prioritising work will be provided by the Scrutiny Officer, but the Committee is 
responsible for agreeing its Work Plan. 
 

20. The Work Plan will be reviewed at every meeting and adjusted to reflect the 
wishes of the Committee and take account of changes to the Forward Plan of 
executive decisions.  
 

21. Items will be taken forward as resources allow, and the Committee must 
provide officers with sufficient notice and guidance on what they are requesting 
to consider, mindful of the impact on resources and the constraints of the 
organisation. The Scrutiny Committee and its Panels will provide as much 
notice as is possible when commissioning reports from council officers 
(minimum 8 weeks). 
 

22. The management of the Work Plan will be with the whole Committee, with the 
Chair and Vice-Chair taking an organisational role between meetings. 
 

23. Individual members of the Scrutiny Committee, or any 4 other members of the 
Council (who are not members of the councils executive), will be able to put an 
item on the agenda of a Scrutiny Committee. All Councillor Calls for Action and 
Call-Ins will be considered at a public meeting of the Committee. 

 
24. Members of the public can also suggest a topic for the Work Plan. Suggestions 

can be submitted in person or via the Council’s Work Plan Suggestion Form.  
 
 
 20

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=355&RD=0
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0
https://ecitizen.oxford.gov.uk/citizenportal/form.aspx?form=Scrutiny_Committee_Suggestion


Co-option 
 

25. At the discretion of the Committee, residents and other specialists may be co-
opted as non-voting members of the Committee, Standing Panels and Review 
Groups, as the subject matter dictates for a period ending no later than the day 
of the first meeting of the next council year. The Committee may discontinue an 
appointment at any time.  

21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Council  

Date: 8 June 2020 

Report of: Head of Planning Services 

Title of Report:  Adoption of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: Council is requested to agree to adopt the Oxford Local 
Plan 2036 

Key decision: Yes  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Alex Hollingsworth, Cabinet Member for 
Planning and Sustainable Transport 

Corporate Priority: A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy; Meeting Housing 
Needs; Strong and Active Communities; A Clean and 
Green Oxford. 

Policy Framework: Development Plan Document. 

Recommendations: 

That Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Recommend that Council agrees to adopt the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and 
associated updates to the policies map; and 

That Council resolves to: 

1. Adopt the Oxford Local Plan 2036 (set out at Appendix 1 to this report), 
which incorporates the Inspectors’ Main Modifications (set out at Appendix 3 
to this report) and the City Council’s Additional Modifications (set out at 
Appendix 4 to this report) as part of the statutory development plan for the 
area as listed in Appendix 6;  

2. Adopt the updates to the Oxford City Adopted Policies Map in line with the 
Oxford Local Plan 2036 set out at Appendix 5 to this report; and 

3. Authorise the Head of Planning Services, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Sustainable Transport, to finalise the necessary 
documents to support adoption including the Adoption Statement (draft as 
Appendix 7) and Sustainability Statement (draft as Appendix 8) and to make 
such minor editorial corrections to the adopted Local Plan (Appendix 1) and 
Policies Map (Appendix 5) as deemed necessary ahead of publication. This 
will include a final desktop published version of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 

23

Agenda Item 9



and adopted policies map.  

 

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Oxford Local Plan 2036 incorporating Main Modifications 
and Additional Modifications  

Appendix 2 Inspectors’ Report 

Appendix 3 Schedule of Main Modifications  

Appendix 4 Schedule of Additional Modifications 

Appendix 5 Updated Policies Map  

Appendix 6 List of Documents that will form the Development Plan on 
adoption of the Local Plan 2036 and also the documents 
which are superseded 

Appendix 7 Draft Adoption Statement 

Appendix 8 Draft Sustainability Appraisal Statement 

Appendix 9 

Appendix 10 

Risk Assessment 

Equalities Impact Assessment 

Introduction and background  

1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the adoption of the Oxford Local 
Plan 2036 (the Plan, Appendix 1).  

2. The Local Plan is a vital document that sets out the shape of our city, and how it will 
look and feel in years to come. It will guide and shape new developments, so that 
they respect the past and present of Oxford, while improving its future by supporting 
our city’s people and their environment. The Oxford Local Plan 2036 will determine 
the homes, jobs, community facilities, and infrastructure for the next twenty 
years, striking the right balance between the different pressures that Oxford and its 
people face. It also sets out our priorities as a city. It makes a priority of providing 
affordable housing and good quality jobs. It focuses growth and development on 
district centres - not just on the city centre - to make sure that facilities and services 
are close to home and convenient for local residents. It encourages and prioritises 
walking, cycling, and public transport to help tackle congestion and pollution and 
make our city healthier. A local plan needs to respect the city of previous 
generations while shaping the city of the generations to come. That is what 
the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036 aims to achieve. 

3. Once adopted, the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036 will replace the Oxford Local Plan 
2001-2016, the Core Strategy 2026, the Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026. The 
adopted Local Plan will be accompanied by an updated Policies Map setting out the 
spatial policy designations that flow from the Plan’s policies (Appendix 5). The Plan 
will form part of the statutory development plan for the purposes of Section 38(6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Appendix 6 lists all of the 
documents that will form the development plan, which will include the Local Plan 

24



2036. Appendix 6 also lists those documents that are superseded by the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036. On adoption, the new Local Plan will have full weight in 
determining planning applications. 

4. Following the submission of the Oxford Local Plan in March 2019, the Plan has 
since been examined by two government appointed independent Inspectors who 
have concluded in their report (Appendix 2) that the Plan is sound (as amended by 
the Main Modifications, see Appendix 3). Following this conclusion, the Plan is now 
ready to be adopted. The Plan has been through a number of key stages to reach 
adoption. Adoption is the final stage of putting a Local Plan in place. 

Summary of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 process to date 

Initial consultation exercises 

5. The First Steps consultation kicked-off the Local Plan process. This early 
consultation was not statutorily required but was a very important way of getting 
wide-ranging input to the initial scoping of the Local Plan, identifying people’s 
aspirations for the Local Plan and what it might achieve.  

6. The first statutory stage of consultation was the Preferred Options stage (formally 
called the Regulation 18 stage), following analysis of the First Steps consultation 
and collection of significant amounts of other information. At this stage of 
consultation, sets of options for potential policies were put forward and people could 
comment at a range of different levels and in a variety of ways on their preferred 
options for policy approaches. The responses to this consultation shaped the 
drafting of the Plan.  

Regulation 19 

7. Prior to submission of the Plan for examination by the Secretary of State, 
consultation on the proposed submission draft of the Plan took place (formally 
called the Regulation 19 stage). The aim of this consultation was to ask for views on 
whether the Plan met the tests of soundness set out in paragraph 35 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework 2019 (the NPPF). The consultation commenced on 1st 
November 2018, and representations were invited initially over a six week period, 
but this was extended to a total of eight weeks until 28th December 2018.  

8. A total of 1761 comments were received from 319 respondents. The responses 
were subsequently summarised by officers, and a response was provided to each 
comment received. As a result of the comments, a number of minor modifications 
were made to the Plan. Minor amendments are small typographical corrections, 
clarifications and factual updates that would not affect how a policy would be 
applied. Following these amendments, the Plan was ready to be submitted for 
examination.  

Examination  

9. On 22nd March 2019 the Regulation 19 consultation representations were submitted 
to the Secretary of State alongside the Local Plan, to be considered by Planning 
Inspectors as part of an independent examination into the soundness of the Local 
Plan.  

10. Shortly after submission of the Plan, the Council was assigned two Inspectors by 
the Planning Inspectorate, Mr Jonathan Bore and Mr Nick Fagan. The Inspectors’ 
task was to consider the soundness of the submitted Plan, based on the criteria set 

25



out in paragraph 35 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (the 
NPPF).  The relevant soundness criteria are whether the Plan is: 

Positively prepared (providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet 
the area’s objectively assessed needs; and is informed by agreements with 
other authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is accommodated 
where it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving sustainable 
development); 

Justified (an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable 
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence); 

Effective (deliverable over the plan period and based on effective joint working 
on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather than 
deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground); and 

Consistent with national policy (enabling the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in the NPPF).  

11. The first stage of this examination included an initial assessment of the Plan by the 
Inspectors. Following this initial assessment, a number of questions were asked of 
the Council relating to the soundness of the Plan’s policies. Answers were provided 
in response to these questions, and a number of follow up questions and responses 
were later given.  

12. Following their initial assessment of the Plan, the Inspectors then identified a 
number of principal matters that were discussed during public hearing sessions 
chaired by the Inspectors. These Hearing Sessions took place from 3rd to 19th 
December 2019 at the King’s Centre, Oxford.  

13. As a result of both the initial questions and hearing sessions, the Inspectors 
identified various amendments that they considered necessary to ensure the Plan is 
'sound' and legally compliant. A schedule of changes deemed necessary by the 
Inspectors was put together by officers and agreed by the Inspectors. These 
changes are known as 'Main Modifications'. 

Main Modifications  

14. The last stage of the Local Plan examination process focused on the Main 
Modifications recommended by the Inspectors. A schedule of the proposed Main 
Modifications considered necessary for the Plan to be found sound was prepared 
(Appendix 3) and agreed by the Inspectors. A Sustainability Appraisal was also 
undertaken of the Main Modifications. These two documents were consulted upon 
during a 6 week consultation period from 14th February to 27th March 2020. 

15. Following this consultation, the Inspectors considered all the comments received 
and consequently presented their final conclusions in a report (Appendix 2). The 
report concluded that the Local Plan meets the criteria for soundness in the NPPF 
and satisfies the requirements of Section 20(5) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, subject to the Main Modifications identified as needed to meet 
legal and statutory requirements and for soundness. In addition officers proposed a 
number of Minor Modifications (Appendix 4) such as factual updates and 
typographical changes. The Inspectors were satisfied these did not go to the heart 
of the soundness of the Plan. These are available on the City Council’s website 
www.oxford.gov.uk/mainmods.  

26

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/mainmods


16. Notable Main Modifications have included (please note Appendix 3 for full schedule 
of Main Modifications): 

i. The Inspectors deemed that Policy E3: New academic floorspace for private 
colleges/language schools was unnecessary because it made distinctions on 
the basis of the nature of the applicant, as it allowed the expansion of the two 
universities and Ruskin College, but only allowed new or additional academic 
or administrative floor space for private colleges in certain circumstances. 
Additionally, there are strong policies in place elsewhere in the Plan to 
prevent the loss of residential and employment space, so E3 was not 
deemed necessary. Instead, the needs of educational establishments other 
than the two universities is addressed by MM4 which makes additions to 
Policy E2, although with less restrictions than in Policy E3. Policy E3 is 
deleted. 

ii. Policy E4: Securing opportunities for local employment, was recommended 
for deletion by the Inspectors as they considered it not to be in accordance 
with the NPPF as they believe its criteria imposed restrictions on the 
operation of businesses, and also did not concern planning matters. The 
Council argued that the principle of the policy was sound, as it helped to 
address the income disparities and skills shortages that exist locally using 
planning policy. Although Policy E4 was ultimately deleted, the initiatives 
Policy E4 set out were allowed to remain in the supporting text of the Plan 
(MM5). A technical advice note is currently being drafted in order to provide 
guidance on the value of preparing Employment and Skills Plans (ESPs), 
which could help to deliver the initiatives set out in Policy E4 despite the 
deletion of the policy.  

iii. On submission of the Plan the City Council wrote to the Planning 
Inspectorate to say that recent guidance meant that an update would need to 
be made to the Council’s assessment of housing capacity. This was done 
following submission of the Plan and further refined as part of the 
examination process. A number of changes in guidance affected the 
calculation of housing capacity, in particular that calculation of windfall rates 
no longer excluded garden development and that a national ratio to convert 
the number of student bedrooms to the number of homes equivalent was 
introduced and changed for Oxford from 5 to 2.5. These changes to the way 
housing capacity is calculated resulted in an increased capacity in Oxford 
from 8,620 to 10,884. A stepped trajectory has also been introduced that 
reflects the likely delivery timescales. These changes are shown in MM6.  

iv. The Inspectors recommended the removal of the requirement to make 
affordable housing contributions on sites of less than 10 homes due to its 
departure from national policy. The Council argued that the departure was 
justified due to local circumstances, for example the scale of affordable 
housing need in Oxford, and also the number of sites within the trajectory 
that would not deliver 50% on site affordable housing due to their size if this 
element of the policy was removed. Despite this, the Inspectors remained 
opposed to requiring affordable housing contributions on sites of less than 10 
homes and this has now been removed from the Plan (Policy H2) by MM7.  

v. For consistency MM7 also changes the threshold at which student 
accommodation is liable for affordable housing contributions. In addition 
some exemptions for student accommodation are also introduced. The 

27



Inspectors required these exemptions because of the requirement in Policy 
H9 that the Universities provide sufficient student accommodation. The 
exemptions are student campus sites or redevelopment of existing university 
student accommodation. These exemptions are lesser than those existing 
currently in the Sites and Housing Plan. Policy H9 that sets out the 
thresholds for students living outside of university-provided accommodation 
has been caveated by MM12 to ensure that the thresholds are achievable by 
the universities. However, the list of suitable locations for student 
accommodation in Policy H8, which unlike the Sites and Housing Plan does 
not list arterial roads as suitable locations, has not been amended.  

vi. The Inspectors required the deletion of Policy G7 in order to make the Plan 
sound (MM23). Policy G7 set out some criteria for the consideration of 
development on green spaces not protected by any of the green space 
policies of the Plan, such as for biodiversity or as playing pitches. The 
Inspectors said that there is no provision for this kind of policy in the NPPF. 
Instead they required the alteration of G5 (MM22), which had applied only to 
outdoor sports, to apply all open spaces. This allows for the loss of open 
spaces if they are surplus to requirements or can be replaced elsewhere 
(with the local area). This does not alter the level of protection of these green 
spaces. Most are protected by the Plan. Those not protected are of more 
limited value, and may sometimes represent a good development 
opportunity. Policy G7 merely tried to ensure this potential development 
opportunity had the most positive outcomes.  

vii. The Inspectors required some amendments to Policy M3: Motor vehicle 
parking and the associated Appendix 7.3 MM32). A number of associated 
modifications to site allocation policies relating to large employment sites 
were also made. The changes are largely to ensure consistency and clarity. 
The Inspectors also considered it was not sound to require a reduction of 
parking at some employment sites. However, the following additional text to 
Policy M3, set out in MM32, says: ‘In the case of the redevelopment of an 
existing or previously cleared site, there should be no net increase in parking 
on the site from the previous level and the Council will seek a reduction 
where there is good accessibility to a range of facilities.’ 

viii. MM37 alters Policy V4 in relation to the shopping frontage thresholds for the 
Cowley Road to ensure that the thresholds are achievable. Changes to this 
Policy are also proposed to make it clear that a diverse range of uses is 
encouraged and will be accepted on upper floors, particularly housing and 
student accommodation. This is to promote provision of housing in all 
suitable locations across the city and to ensure efficient use of land.  

ix. An additional policy, Policy V9, has been added by MM41. This policy sets 
out requirements for digital infrastructure and ensures consistency with the 
NPPF.  

x. Two site allocations have been deleted from the Plan as development has 
commenced on site. These sites are SP64 Wolvercote Paper Mill and SP7 
276 Banbury Road.  

17. The examination process, including the hearing sessions, raised a number of 
changes required to the Plan in order for it to be found sound. These Main 
Modifications were consulted upon from Friday 14th February to Friday 27th March 
2020. A number of additional (minor) modifications have been made to the Plan 

28



since the Regulation 19 consultation, as minor typographical errors were noticed, 
where clarification was needed to explanatory text or appendices and where 
updating was required. The Inspectors have checked these and confirmed they do 
not consider them to be addressing matters of soundness so they can therefore be 
considered additional (or minor) modifications. The Plan attached as Appendix 1 is 
shown in strikethrough format to help people follow the changes made through main 
and additional modifications. The version that will be published following adoption 
will not show the changes in strikethrough. 

Adoption 

 

18. The Inspectors’ report concludes that the Plan is found sound dependent on the 
main modifications set out in the report being made. The receipt of the final 
Inspectors’ report closes the examination process. The Council now has two 
options; either the Plan with the main modifications recommended by the Inspectors 
can be adopted, or the Council can choose not to adopt the Plan. All the 
modifications must be accepted; it is not possible to choose only some of them or to 
reject them. Furthermore, no further main modifications can be made to the Plan. If 
the Plan is adopted it will become part of the Development Plan and have full weight 
in the determination of planning applications.  

19. Appendix 6 lists the documents that will form part of the Development Plan on 
adoption and those that will be superseded. Any future made Neighbourhood Plans 
will also become part of the development plan. The neighbourhood planning 
referendum for the Wolvercote Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) had to be 
delayed to 2021 due to the current pandemic in line with Government advice. 
Therefore it does not currently form part of the Development Plan listed in Appendix 
6. However, we as we had already issued a decision statement detailing the 
intention to send the Wovercote NDP to referendum, that plan can be given 
significant weight in decision-making. If when the referendum takes place the 
majority of those who vote on it are in favour the council will then consider a report 
to make the plan. It is at that point it would become part of the development plan.  

20. Adopting the Local Plan brings into effect the policies that have been developed 
over the last 4 years with the intention of responding to the needs of the city and 
protecting its special qualities. It would create an environment of planning certainty 
ensuring that development can come forward to meet need in a planned manner. It 
ensures that the Housing Delivery test would use the capacity-based housing target 
of the Plan as the measure, rather than the standard method, which cannot be 
achieved. This has benefits in terms of decision-making relating to planning 
applications.  

21. If the Plan is not adopted then the Core Strategy 2011-2026, the Sites and Housing 
Plan 2011-2026, and the saved policies of the Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016 will not 
be superseded. However, many policies of these plans would be considered out of 
date, which has consequences in terms of decision making (also discussed in the 
risk assessment section below). In particular there is a greater risk of government 
intervention because of being unable to meet the Housing Delivery Test and 
because of not having an up-to-date Local Plan.  

 

 

29



Financial implications 

22. The costs associated with the production of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 have been 
met through the current resources of the Planning Policy team budget. The adoption 
process itself does not carry significant costs.  

23. A decision not to adopt the Local Plan would mean the resources used to prepare 
this plan would have been ineffectual. It is a statutory requirement to maintain an up 
to date development plan and therefore not to adopt the plan would leave the 
council exposed to risk, which could have financial implications including planning 
appeals and the costs associated with having to expedite a wholly new plan. In 
addition, the Oxfordshire Growth Deal Delivery Plan and associated infrastructure 
funding had requirements that required the Oxfordshire authorities to put in place up 
to date development plans.   

Legal issues 

24. On adoption of the Oxford Local Plan 2036, any person aggrieved may make an 
application to the High Court to legally challenge the Plan. This application must be 
made during the six week period starting with the date of adoption. The High Court 
may quash the Plan wholly, or in part. Aggrieved person(s) who are unhappy with 
the adopted Local Plan may decide to exercise their right to apply for a judicial 
review.  In order for a legal challenge to be successful, the High Court would have 
to be satisfied that the Plan is to any extent outside the appropriate power, and/or 
that the interests of the applicant have been substantially prejudiced by a failure to 
comply with a procedural requirement. If successful the High Court could rule that 
the Local Plan be quashed, wholly or in part, or that a stage would need to be 
repeated.  

25. Officers consider that the relevant statutory procedures have been met during the 
preparation of the Local Plan 2036. The examination was conducted by two 
experienced planning inspectors and the report has carefully considered the 
soundness of the plan in detail to reach their conclusions. We therefore think the 
risk of a successful legal challenge is low.  

26. The only area of the statutory procedures that cannot be wholly fulfilled relate to the 
deposition of hard copies of the plan upon receipt of the Inspectors report and 
adoption because of Covid-19 and the associated social distancing measures. The 
Regulations require deposit of hard copies of the Inspectors’ report in the City 
Council’s principal office and other deposit locations (libraries within the city), all of 
which are currently closed to the public. The same requirement (Regulation 35) 
applies on adoption of the Local Plan as applies to receipt of the Inspectors’ report; 
that is deposit in the Council’s principal office and other deposit locations is 
required.  

27. Steps have been taken to minimise this risk from not following statutory procedures 
on receipt of the Inspector’s report and in terms of the actions required on adoption 
of the Plan. A note explaining the additional steps the Council was intending to take 
to advertise receipt of the Inspectors’ report and the adoption was added to the 
website prior to receipt of the Inspectors’ report. An addendum to the Statement of 
Community Involvement in Planning (SCI) has also been produced, for Cabinet to 
consider as a separate agenda item on 8th June 2020. It is considered that the 
measures taken represent reasonable and practical steps that should effectively 
limit the prospect of any prejudice arising as a result of not being able to deposit 
hard copies. 

30



28. Government published an update to national guidance on 13th May1 that included 
further temporary measures to make it easier to operate the planning system. Within 
this it explains that where any of the policies in the Statement of Community 
Involvement cannot be complied with due to current guidance to help combat the 
spread of coronavirus (COVID-19), the local planning authority is encouraged to 
undertake an immediate review and update the policies where necessary so that 
plan-making can continue. It goes onto explain that the local planning authority 
should then make any temporary amendments necessary to allow plan-making to 
progress, and that continue to promote effective community engagement by means 
which are reasonably practicable and strongly encourages the use of online 
methods.The measures we have introduced reflect this guidance. 

Level of risk 

29. On adoption of the Plan, it is likely to be the case that the requirements of the 
Regulations for depositing the Plan cannot be met in full because of the Covid-19 
situation. The Regulations require that the Plan is published on the website and 
deposited in hard copy at the Council’s principal office and other appropriate 
locations (usually we use the libraries in the city). The depositing of the Plan in hard 
copy for inspection is unlikely to be possible. As such, the council has considered all 
reasonable and practical steps possible to limit the prospect of any prejudice arising 
from not being able to deposit hard copies. The measures that will be taken include 
advertising the adoption of the plan on posters at the usual deposit locations, to 
advertise the adoption in the Oxford Mail/Oxford Times and to use all the usual 
publicity channels such as social media, in addition to direct notifications to all those 
on the Planning Policy database. All notifications will give a named officer and 
contact details if a person requires hard copies of the documents because they 
cannot access digital copies. These measures were also followed on receipt of the 
Inspectors’ report; that stage is subject to the same Regulation regarding deposit. 

30. As explained above the measures being taken by the Council are considered to be 
in line with the latest Government advice published on 13th May.  

31. If a challenge was to be made to the High Court on the basis that hard copies were 
not available in the deposit locations, the person aggrieved would need to show that 
they had been substantially prejudiced by the failure to comply with the relevant 
procedural requirement. It is considered that, given the wide ranging measures 
being taken to minimise the impact of not complying with this procedural 
requirement, the risk of a successful challenge on this ground is low, particularly in 
the context of the clear steer within the latest Government guidance.   

32. If a challenge in the High Court was successful on this basis (which is considered to 
be a low risk), the outcome would likely be that the relevant procedural requirement 
would need to be carried out before the Local Plan could be considered again for 
adoption. A challenge under these circumstances would not relate to the content of 
the Inspectors’ report, which would be expected to continue to carry significant 
weight for decision making. It is considered that given the level of risk, it is 
appropriate to continue with the adoption of the Local Plan when taking into account 
the benefits having an up to date development plan in place brings.  

                                            
1
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#covid19  

31

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#covid19


33. There is a risk associated with choosing not to adopt the Plan. If the Plan was not 
adopted this would put at the risk the delivery of key policies and developments 
contained within it. The previous capacity-based housing target in the Core Strategy 
is no longer considered up-to-date for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test so 
our housing delivery is assessed against the standard method until adoption of the 
Plan. This results in a requirement much higher than the capacity of the city. This 
could mean that the statutory development plan could be overridden in planning 
decisions in favour of national planning policies in the NPPF and the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development.  

34. A risk register is attached as Appendix 9. All risks have been mitigated to an 
acceptable level.  

Equalities impact  

35. The Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix 10) was carried out on the proposed 
submission version of the Plan, consulted on alongside the Plan and submitted to 
the Secretary of State as part of the Examination library. It concluded that the Plan 
will provide improved standards of quality and access to services and have a 
positive impact on both the physical fabric and diverse communities of Oxford. 
There is no evidence that there will be a significant negative impact on any area; 
however monitoring arrangements will ensure this is kept under regular review. The 
Equalities Impact Assessment has been considered in light of the main 
modifications. No changes are required and the previous Equalities Impact 
Assessment is still relevant (Appendix 10).  

36. Ensuring that the Council minimises the equalities impacts of the current pandemic 
is a key focus of the additional measures proposed in the SCI addendum relating to 
publicising the adoption of the Plan. As set out in the body of the report, we 
consider that these measures would ensure that our Public Sector Equality Duty as 
set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 is appropriately discharged as the 
measures being put in place will ensure that persons with protected characteristics 
continue to be able to participate in this planning process.  

Conclusion 

Officers strongly recommend the Council adopts the Oxford Local Plan 2036. It is 
the product of several years’ work and a robust evidence base. The Inspectors 
considered the strategy and policies in detail and found the Plan to be soundly 
based. The Plan has been developed on the basis of significant input from 
consultation and a thorough evidence base. It has a positive strategy for the city, 
attempting to help overcome issues such as inequality, and to require sustainable 
development, with stringent carbon efficiency policies, requirements for biodiversity 
enhancements, policies to ensure high quality design, delivery of much needed 
affordable housing, and promotion of sustainable travel.  

Report author Carolyn Ploszynski 

Job title Planning Policy and Place Manager 

Service area or department Planning 

Telephone  01865 252847 

e-mail  planningpolicy@oxford.gov.uk 

 

32



Background Papers: None 

 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Oxford Local Plan 2036 – Strikethrough Version with modifications 

Contents 
Foreword ........................................................................................................................................................................................................5 

Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................................................................6 

1. Spatial Strategy....................................................................................................................................................................................12 

Policy S1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development........................................................................................................12 

Policy S2: Development Contributions ..............................................................................................................................................28 

2. Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring prosperity and opportunities for all ................................................................29 

Policy E1: Employment sites..............................................................................................................................................................31 

Policy E2: Teaching and research.....................................................................................................................................................34 

3. A pleasant place to live, delivering housing with a mixed and balanced community ...........................................................................39 

Policy H1: The scale of new housing provision ................................................................................................................................43 

Policy H2: Delivering affordable homes ............................................................................................................................................45 

Policy H3: Employer-linked affordable housing ................................................................................................................................47 

Policy H4: Mix of dwelling sizes.........................................................................................................................................................48 

Policy H5: Development involving loss of dwellings.........................................................................................................................49 

Policy H6:  Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)...........................................................................................................................50 

Policy H7:  Community-led housing and self-build housing.............................................................................................................51 

Policy H8:  Provision of new student accommodation .....................................................................................................................54 

Policy H9: Linking the delivery of new/redeveloped and refurbished university academic facilities to the delivery of university 
provided residential accommodation.................................................................................................................................................55 

Policy H10: Accessible and adaptable homes..................................................................................................................................57 

Policy H11: Older persons and specialist and supported living accommodation ...........................................................................58 

Policy H12: Homes for travelling communities .................................................................................................................................59 

Policy H13: Homes for boat dwellers ................................................................................................................................................60 

Policy H14: Privacy, daylight, and sunlight .......................................................................................................................................61 

Policy H15: Internal space standards................................................................................................................................................63 

Policy H16: Outdoor amenity space standards ................................................................................................................................64 

4. Making wise use of our resources and securing a good quality local environment .............................................................................65 

Policy RE1: Sustainable design and construction ............................................................................................................................67 

Policy RE2: Efficient use of land........................................................................................................................................................69 

Policy RE3:   Flood risk management ...............................................................................................................................................71 

Policy RE4: Sustainable and foul drainage, surface and groundwater flow ...................................................................................72 

Policy RE5: Health, wellbeing, and Health Impact Assessments....................................................................................................74 

Policy RE6: Air quality ........................................................................................................................................................................75 

Policy RE7: Managing the impact of development...........................................................................................................................76 

Policy RE8: Noise and vibration ........................................................................................................................................................77 

Policy RE9: Land quality ....................................................................................................................................................................78 

5. Protecting and enhancing Oxford’s green and blue infrastructure network .........................................................................................79 

Policy G1:  Protection of Green and Blue Infrastructure Network ...................................................................................................80 

Policy G2:  Protection of biodiversity and geo-diversity ...................................................................................................................81 

Policy G3: Green Belt .........................................................................................................................................................................82 

Policy G4: Allotments and community food growing ........................................................................................................................82 

Policy G5: Outdoor sports Existing open space, indoor and outdoor sports and recreation facilities ..........................................84 

Appendix 1 

35



2 
 

Policy G6:  Residential garden land ...................................................................................................................................................85 

Policy G78: Protection of existing Green Infrastructure features ....................................................................................................86 

Policy G89: New and enhanced Green and Blue Infrastructure Network Features.......................................................................88 

6. Enhancing Oxford’s heritage and creating high quality new development...........................................................................................90 

Policy DH1: High quality design and placemaking ...........................................................................................................................93 

Policy DH2: Views and building heights............................................................................................................................................96 

Policy DH3: Designated heritage assets...........................................................................................................................................98 

Policy DH4: Archaeological remains ...............................................................................................................................................100 

Policy DH5: Local Heritage Assets..................................................................................................................................................102 

Policy DH6: Shopfronts and signage ..............................................................................................................................................103 

Policy DH7: External servicing features and stores .......................................................................................................................104 

7. Ensuring efficient movement into and around the city .......................................................................................................................105 

Policy M1: Prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport ........................................................................................................108 

Policy M2: Assessing and managing development ........................................................................................................................111 

Policy M3: Motor vehicle parking .....................................................................................................................................................114 

Policy M4: Provision of electric charging points .............................................................................................................................115 

Policy M5: BicCycle Parking ............................................................................................................................................................116 

8. Providing communities with facilities and services and ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in and visit ..............117 

Policy V1: Ensuring the vitality of centres .......................................................................................................................................117 

Policy V2: Shopping Frontages in the city centre ...........................................................................................................................119 

Policy V3: The Covered Market .......................................................................................................................................................120 

Policy V4: District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages .............................................................................................................121 

Policy V5: Sustainable tourism ........................................................................................................................................................124 

Policy V6: Cultural and social activities ...........................................................................................................................................125 

Policy V7: Infrastructure and cultural and community facilities .....................................................................................................127 

Policy V8: Utilities .............................................................................................................................................................................127 

Policy V9: Digital Infrastructure........................................................................................................................................................128 

9. Areas of Change and Site Allocations................................................................................................................................................130 

Policy SP1: Sites in the West End ....................................................................................................................................................135 

Policy SP2: Osney Mead .................................................................................................................................................................137 

Policy SP3: Cowley Centre ..............................................................................................................................................................139 

Policy SP4: Blackbird Leys Central Area ........................................................................................................................................141 

Policy SP5: Summer Fields School Athletics Track .......................................................................................................................144 

Policy SP6: Diamond Place and Ewert House ...............................................................................................................................145 

Policy SP78: Unipart.........................................................................................................................................................................148 

Policy SP89: Oxford BMW Mini MINI Plant Oxford ........................................................................................................................148 

Policy SP910: The Oxford Science Park (Littlemore & Minchery Farm) ......................................................................................149 

Policy SP1011: Oxford Business Park ............................................................................................................................................150 

Policy SP112: Sandy Lane Recreation Ground and Land to the Rear of the Retail Park ...........................................................152 

Policy SP123: Northfield Hostel.......................................................................................................................................................152 

Policy SP134: Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy ...............................................................................................................153 

Policy SP145: Kassam Stadium Sites.............................................................................................................................................154 

Policy SP156: Knights Road ............................................................................................................................................................155 

Policy SP167: Government Buildings and Harcourt House...........................................................................................................157 

Policy SP178: Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth Student Village ...........................................................................................159 

Policy SP189: Land surrounding St Clement’s Church .................................................................................................................160 

36



3 
 

Policy SP1920: Churchill Hospital Site .............................................................................................................................................163 

Policy SP201: Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre ....................................................................................................................................165 

Policy SP212: Old Road Campus....................................................................................................................................................166 

Policy SP223: Warneford Hospital ..................................................................................................................................................167 

Policy SP234: Marston Paddock .....................................................................................................................................................169 

Policy SP245: St Frideswide Farm ..................................................................................................................................................170 

Policy SP256: Hill View Farm ..........................................................................................................................................................171 

Policy SP267: Land west of Mill Lane .............................................................................................................................................172 

Policy SP278: Park Farm .................................................................................................................................................................174 

Policy SP289: Pear Tree Farm ........................................................................................................................................................175 

Policy SP2930: Land East of Redbridge Park & Ride....................................................................................................................176 

Policy SP3031: St Catherine’s College Land .................................................................................................................................177 

Policy SP312: Banbury Road University Sites ...............................................................................................................................178 

Policy SP323: Bertie Place Recreation Ground and Land Behind Wytham Street......................................................................180 

Policy SP334: Canalside Land ........................................................................................................................................................182 

Policy SP345: Court Place Gardens ...............................................................................................................................................183 

Policy SP356: Cowley Marsh Depot................................................................................................................................................184 

Policy SP367: Faculty of Music, St Aldates ....................................................................................................................................185 

Policy SP378: Former Barns Road East Allotments ......................................................................................................................185 

Policy SP3839: Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields ........................................................................................................................186 

Policy SP3940: Grandpont Car Park...............................................................................................................................................187 

Policy SP410: Jesus College Sports Ground .................................................................................................................................188 

Policy SP412: John Radcliffe Hospital Site ....................................................................................................................................189 

Policy SP423: Land at Meadow Lane .............................................................................................................................................191 

Policy SP434: Lincoln College Sports Ground ...............................................................................................................................192 

Policy SP445: Littlemore Park .........................................................................................................................................................194 

Policy SP456: Manor Place .............................................................................................................................................................195 

Policy SP467: Manzil Way Resource Centre .................................................................................................................................196 

Policy SP478: Nielsen, London Road Thornhill Park .....................................................................................................................197 

Policy SP489: Old Power Station ....................................................................................................................................................199 

Policy SP4950: Oriel College Land at King Edward Street and High Street ................................................................................199 

Policy SP501: Oxford Brookes University Marston Road Campus ...............................................................................................200 

Policy SP512: Oxford Stadium ........................................................................................................................................................202 

Policy SP523: Oxford University Press Sports Ground .................................................................................................................203 

Policy SP534: No.1 Pullens Lane ....................................................................................................................................................204 

Policy SP545: Radcliffe Observatory Quarter ................................................................................................................................205 

Policy SP556: Ruskin College Campus ..........................................................................................................................................206 

Policy SP567: Ruskin Field ..............................................................................................................................................................207 

Policy SP578: Slade House .............................................................................................................................................................208 

Policy SP589: Summertown House, Apsley Road .........................................................................................................................209 

Policy SP5960: Union Street Car Park............................................................................................................................................210 

Policy SP601: University of Oxford Science Area and Keble Road Triangle ...............................................................................211 

Policy SP612: Valentia Road Site ...................................................................................................................................................212 

Policy SP623: West Wellington Square ..........................................................................................................................................213 

Policy SP63: Bayards Hill Primary School Part Playing Fields .....................................................................................................216 

Policy SP646: William Morris Close Sports Ground.......................................................................................................................216 

37



4 
 

Glossary ......................................................................................................................................................................................................218 

Appendix 1: Strategic policies..........................................................................................................................................................................236 

1.1 - List of strategic policies .......................................................................................................................................................236 

1.2 List of saved development plan documents ..........................................................................................................................237 

Appendix 2: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................239 

2.1 Category 1 employment sites: ..............................................................................................................................................239 

2.2 Category 2 employment sites: ..............................................................................................................................................239 

Appendix 3: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................241 

3.1 Method for calculating affordable housing contributions relating to residential development ..................................................241 

3.2 Method for calculating affordable housing contributions relating to student development....................................................242 

3.3 Affordable housing viability cascade for large sites ..............................................................................................................243 

3.4 Employer linked housing sites ..............................................................................................................................................243 

3.5 Student threshold calculation ................................................................................................................................................243 

3.6 3.5 HMO calculation ..............................................................................................................................................................244 

3.7 3.5 Privacy, daylight, and sunlight: the 45 and 25 degree guideline.............................................................................................245 

Appendix 4: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................248 

4.1 Health Impact Assessment ...................................................................................................................................................248 

Appendix 5: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................250 

5.1 SAC and SSSI Sites .............................................................................................................................................................250 

Appendix 6: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................251 

6.1 Design checklist ....................................................................................................................................................................251 

6.2 Oxford’s Conservation Areas ................................................................................................................................................253 

Appendix 7: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................254 

7.1 Transport Assessments ........................................................................................................................................................254 

7.2 Travel Plans ...........................................................................................................................................................................257 

7.3 Vehicular parking standards ...................................................................................................................................................260 

7.4 Minimum Bicycle Cycle Parking standards ...........................................................................................................................261 

7.5 7.3 Shower and comfort facilities provision ..................................................................................................................................263 

Appendix 8: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................263 

8.1 Marketing expectations .........................................................................................................................................................263 

Monitoring Framework ....................................................................................................................................................................................265 

 
 
  

38



5 
 

 
 

Foreword 
 

We live in a fast-changing world, where how we communicate, do business, work and shop 
are evolving more rapidly than our predecessors thought possible. But some things do not 
change – the need for a secure home, a job that brings dignity as well as a means of 
support, the opportunity to bring up a family, to make and keep friends, all in a place that 
offers the opportunity to live, not merely to exist. 

 
Oxford is a wonderful city, with a beauty and a history that brings visi tors here from all over 
the world. We  are a centre of learning and innovation on a global scale, and we have much 
of which we can be rightly proud. But we are also a city where inequali ty is stark - where 
decent and affordable housing is out of reach for so many of our ci tizens, and where poor air 
quality damages the lives of many more. 

 
We need to make sure that Oxford continues to be a successful and attractive city; a place 
that people enjoy living and working in, as well as visi ting. Oxford’s Local Plan is a vital 
document that sets out the shape of our city, and how it will look and feel in years to come. It 
wi ll guide and shape new developments, so that they respect the past and present of Oxford, 
while improving i ts future by supporting our ci ty’s people and their environment. 

 
This new Local Plan will determine the homes, jobs, community faci lities and infrastructure 
for the next twenty years, striking the right balance between the different pressures that 
Oxford and its people face. It also sets out our priorities as a city. It makes a priority of 
providing affordable housing, and good quality jobs. It focuses growth and development on 
district centres, not just on the city centre, to make sure that facilities and services are close 
to home and more convenient for local residents. It priori tises walking, cycling and public 
transport to help tackle congestion and pollution on our streets. 

 
A Local Plan needs to respect the city of previous generations while shaping the city of the 
generations to come. That is what this Local Plan aims to achieve. 

39



6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Introduction 

 
Strengths, challenges and vision for Oxford 

 
 

i. Oxford is an attractive place to live, work, study and visi t. Its success means 
there is a high demand for land, with knock-on consequences for prices and 
infrastructure provision. The pressures of success can be seen in the high house 
prices, congestion and poor air quality in certain areas. The vision of the Plan is 
to bui ld on the positive aspects of Oxford and deal positively with the issues. 

 
 

Strengths and roles of Oxford 
 

Table 1: Oxford’s strengths and role 

Economy knowledge economy and research 

Oxford is in a fortunate and positive position, having a broad, diverse and active economy. 
The city has one the highest concentrations of knowledge intensive businesses in the UK. 
Oxford’s role in the regional and national economy is vi tal. 
It is the ‘service centre’ for the Oxfordshire economy, having the fastest growing and best 
educated workforce, and also being the main centre of research and spin-outs in the county. 
Positive indicators of the strength and success of Oxford’s economy include the very low 
levels of unemployment, 
the good rate of new companies being set up, and that established employers are keen to 
move into the city. 

 
Retail and tourism 

 
Oxford’s high streets are full and active and the vacancy rates are low. The market is 
confident for the future with significant investment planned and being delivered, such as the 
new Westgate centre, which opened in October 2017. Oxford is a major draw for visitors 
from overseas, domestic tourists and day visi tors. It attracts approximately 7 million visi tors 
per year, generating £780 million of income for local Oxford businesses. 

 
Life, culture, health and well-being 

 
Oxford offers the opportunity for a high quality of life for its residents. It is a desirable place 
to live. The population is diverse and youthful giving the city li fe and vibrancy. The range of 
amenities, facili ties and services available in Oxford mean it punches well above i ts weight 
for a city of this size. Oxford has excellent museums and cultural opportunities and hospitals 
offering cutting edge research and treatments. 

 
History and urban environment 

 
The wealth of historic and architectural assets in Oxford is a significant draw for investors, 
visitors, and those looking to locate in the city. Beyond the world renowned historic core, 
Oxford is made up of a series of communities with clear and distinct identities and 
character that bind those that live there. 

40



7 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Natural environment 
 

Oxford is a city with a rich natural environment; the two rivers and their valleys and areas of 
real significance in terms of landscape and biodiversity are located in close proximity to large 
parts of the community. Areas for informal and formal recreation are easily accessible, and 
are important for people’s health and wellbeing. They provide a vital green lung to the 
compact city, and provide space for formal and informal recreation. 

 
Travel 

 
Oxford is a compact city with a well-established pattern of sustainable travel. Cycling rates 
are high, bus services are comprehensive and frequent, and rail services are expanding and 
being improved. Consequently the population of the city is less reliant on the private car than 
in most other British cities. 

 
Environmental responsibility 

 
The City Council has pledged to achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions within the 
second half of the century. It intends to maintain i ts position as a leading UK Local Authori ty 
in tackling climate change and intends that by 2050 it wi ll use only 100% renewable energy. 

41



8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Heritage importance, including 
historic skyline; 

• Large parts at risk of flooding and 
climate change will increase 
extent, severity and frequency. 

 
Constrained city 

• Much undeveloped land in the Green 
Belt; 

• Areas of national and international 
biodiversity interest which need 
protecting.  

Managing rapid growth 
• Population increased by 12% in 

last decade; 
• Significant economic and 

population growth expected to 
continue over the Plan period;  

• Challenges include pressure on 
infrastructure, declining 
affordability and skills shortages;  

• Must accommodate growth in a 
way that builds on characteristics 
that make Oxford special.  

 
 
 
 

Traffic congestion and air quality 
• Medieval streets often narrow and not well 

suited to motorised vehicles so conflict for 
limited space between different transport 
types; 

• Areas of poor quality in the centre, district 
centres and ring road junctions, attributable to 
road t raffic; 

• In Oxford 5.6% of all mortality is attributable to 
long-term exposure to fine particulate matter 
(PM2.5); 

• Low Emission Zone (LEZ) int roduced for the 
city centre in 2014 led to improvements but 
levels of some pollutants are still above target 
levels, requiring us to take action now. 

Need shift to sustainable travel  
• With predicted growth, a 

continuation of existing travel 
behaviour would threaten to over- 
burden the transport network, 
compromising the character of 
Oxford, quality of li fe and 
economic success; 

• Challenge to shift more journeys 
on to walking, cycling, public 
transport and reduce need to 
travel;  

• Ensure attractiveness of 
sustainable modes of travel to 
areas outside centre, to where 
travel by bus has remained static 
over the last decade.  

 
 
 

Vision 
 

ii. Oxford’s Local Plan vision is linked to the City Counci l’s Oxford’s Vision 2050. 
Vision 2050 brings together people’s aspirations and hopes for the city in the 
future. In that vision Oxford will be a global centre for the knowledge-based 
economy, and all residents will benefit from the strong economy. Deprivation and 
inequali ty will be reduced, Oxford’s diverse communities will have a strong sense 
of togetherness and people will be able to live fulfilled, happy and healthy lives. 
Oxford will be an affordable place to live. It will also have an attractive, clean and 
healthy environment, where heri tage and the natural environment are protected. 

Cost and supply of housing 
• Greatest affordability issue of any city in 

the UK; 
• Average house prices more than 1716 

times average wage (Centre for Cities,  
2019);  

• Major employers including NHS, BMW 
and schools are reporting skills shortages 
linked to high house prices, which are 
affecting ability to attract firms;  

• Universities concerned they will be unable 
to attract top academics and researchers;  

• Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) identifies 
housing need between 24,000 and 
32,000 

Efficient use of Land 
• With increasing pressure for 

growth and development land 
scarce, efficient use of land is 
increasingly important;  

• Creates challenges in creating a 
high quality environment; 

• A significant amount of housing need 
will need to be met elsewhere in 
Oxfordshire. 

Educational attainment 
• While 43% of Oxford’s population 

was qualified to degree level (2011 
Census, estimated risen to 60%), 
22% of people aged 16+ have fewer 
than 5 GCSEs at C or above; 

• Education and skills deprivation 
is particularly concentrated in the 

• communities to the east and 
south east of Oxford; 

• Creates a barrier to local people 
accessing jobs in the knowledge- 
intensive activities Oxford’s 
economy is built around.  

Diagram 1: Oxford’s 
Issues and Challenges 

Ensuring wide benefits of 
economic growth 

• Challenge to guide economic growth 
so that its benefits are felt widely, in 
a way that helps overcome social 
disparities; 

• After housing costs, 1 in 4 
children live below the poverty 
line;  

• Men in the most deprived areas live 9 
years less on average than those in 
the least deprived areas.  

42



9 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

iii. The Oxf 
consider 
faces. O 
with a liv 
environ 
live, wor 

 
 

Table 2: We wan 
 

A centre for 
learning, 
knowledge and 
innovation 

 
 
 
 
 
ord Local Plan 2036 looks ahead 20 years 

ation to how it can best address the press 
oxford will continue to grow and develop. T 
eable and sustainable environment that b 
mental needs, ensuring that the city remain 
k and visit. 
 
 
t Oxford in 2036 to be: 
 

• Be at the forefront of research and 
innovation;  

• Be a global centre for research, education 
and healthcare;  

• Be home to high-tech firms and start-ups;  
• Have a well-educated work force; and 

 
 
 
 
 
and beyond, giving 

ures and challenges Oxford 
his growth will be associated 
alances economic, social and 
s a highly desirable place to 
 
 
 
 
 

• Have an appropriately skilled local 
work force which provides a pool of 
talent to support businesses and 
institutions. 

A prosperous city 
with opportunities 
for all 

• Continue to have a diverse, globally 
competitive economy led by innovation;  

• Have low unemployment; 
• Have used training, skills, and 

apprenticeships to address the divide 
between the prosperous and the deprived 
parts of the city; and 

• See the benefits of being a high- 
performing, smart economy, such as  
a clean, well-designed city with quality 
infrastructure. 

An 
environmentally 
sustainable city 

• Be an exemplar of low carbon development;  
• Have made progress towards the council’s 

commitment to achieve net zero greenhouse 
gas emissions in Oxford this century; 

• Have led the way in developing and adopting 
new technologies to help create a clean and 
green environment; 

• Insist on high levels of energy efficiency; 

• Produce energy from local, renewable 
and low carbon sources; 

• Be resilient to the impacts of climate 
change;  

• Have reduced private car travel and a 
good network of safe and accessible 
cycling and walking routes; and 

• Have greatly reduced vehicle 
emissions through the use of zero 
emission vehicles, including buses.  

An enjoyable city 
to live in and visit 

• Benefit from high quality new architecture 
and public realm which integrates well with 
the existing historic environment, townscape 
and landscape character;  

• Access to high quality green spaces, cultural 
and community facilities;  

• Have a network of open spaces rich in 
biodiversity offering multiple benefits to 
health and wellbeing 

through their social, environmental 
and recreational value;  

• Accommodate its visitors 
successfully, particularly in the city 
centre, having reduced confl icts 
between different users; and 

• Inspire people to find joy in their 
surroundings and interaction from 
their environment.  

A strong 
community 

• Have reduced inequalities;  
• Offer a range of housing types, sizes and 

tenures to suit the varied needs of our 
population;  

• Provide a wide range of facilities and 
services within easy access; 

• Provide spaces and opportunities for 
social interaction bringing people 
together;  

• Be made up of diverse yet cohesive 
communities; and 

• Engender a sense of civic pride.  

A healthy place • Offer the opportunity for healthy li festyles;  
• Provide homes and environments that offer 

good living standards; 
• Offer access to excellent healthcare 

• Support high participation in sport and 
recreation; 

• Provide healthy travel choices; and 
• Benefit from significant improvements 

in air quality  

43



10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment 
 
 

iv. A Sustainability Appraisal is an appraisal of the economic, environmental, and 
social effects of a plan. The intention is that it is undertaken from the start of the 
preparation of a plan to help ensure decisions lead to sustainable development. 
In June 2016 we published a Sustainabi lity Appraisal Scoping Report. This 
identi fies baseline information regarding, economic, social and environmental 
issues within Oxford and identifies other plans and guidance, to European level, 
that have a bearing on the formulation of plans within Oxford. This is summarised 
in the Sustainabili ty Appraisal. 

 
v. The Sustainabi lity Appraisal assessed the policies and objectives of the Oxford 

Local Plan 2036 against the Sustainabili ty Appraisal objectives in order to confirm 
general consistencies between the two sets of objectives. The SA was produced 
alongside the Local Plan 2036 to predict and evaluate the effects of the 
document. It ensures that all aspects of sustainabi lity were properly considered 
and suggestions were made for improving sustainabi lity. These have been 
incorporated into the policies where appropriate. 

 
vi. The Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) is a process used to assess the 

impacts of policies against the conservation objectives of a European site and to 
determine whether they would adversely affect the integri ty of that si te. The City 
Council undertook a screening process to determine whether or not the proposals 
of the Local Plan will have a significant effect on the Oxford Meadows Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC). It concluded that an Appropriate Assessment was 
required to assess the potential impacts of the Local Plan on the SAC; alone and 
in combination with other plans or projects. This assessment concluded that the 
policies of the Local Plan can be implemented without having an adverse effect 
on the integri ty of the SAC. 

44



11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Full page picture of George Street not replicated in this draft, but will remain in the 
final version 

45



12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Spatial Strategy 

 
This Plan will support the vision of Oxford as a growing and developing city. This growth will  
be associated with a liveable and sustainable environment that balances economic, social 
and environmental needs, ensuring that the city remains a highly desirable place to live, 
work and visi t. 

 
Addressing the housing issue is a key priori ty and this Plan will  aim to provide more homes 
while protecting and enhancing the Oxford’s unique historic and natural environment. The 
Plan seeks to support the growth in the Oxford economy in key sectors linked to its 
economic strengths and contributing to advancements in learning and innovation locally, 
nationally and globally. 

 
The focus of new development will be on intensifying development on previously developed 
land as this is not only best practice but essential in a constrained urban environment like 
Oxford. 

 
The Oxford Local Plan 2036 reflects the this presumption in favour of sustainable 
development by incorporating clear policies as to how this presumption is to be applied to 
development across the city. 

 
Policy S1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

 
When considering development proposals the Counci l wi ll take a positive approach that 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It wi ll work proactively with applicants to find solutions jointly 
which mean that applications for sustainable development can be approved where 
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area. 

 
Planning applications that accord with Oxford’s Local Plan (and, where relevant, with 
neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date 
at the time of making the decision then the Counci l wi ll grant permission unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and unless: 

 
a) any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National 
Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; or 

 
b) specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 

46



13 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Spatial application of the strategy 

 
1.1 This Plan supports the role and function of the City Centre,district centres and transport nodes, 

as the most sustainable locations for new development. Oxford is made up of several main 
centres (see Spatial Strategy Diagram). These areas act as centres for the local community, 
and also function as transport hubs. These centres are vibrant places to be, with a mix of uses 
and people working, learning, shopping, meeting and visi ting for leisure. It is important to build 
on the opportunity for activities to cluster together, such as offices, student accommodation and 
the universities, or medical research and clinical practice. 

 
1.2 These centres are well connected to their surrounding residential areas by public transport, 

walking and cycling networks. Directing new developments that attract lots of people to these 
existing centres reduces the need to travel because of the variety of facili ties in one place and it 
also maximises the opportunity to use existing routes and networks to travel by walking, cycling 
and public transport. 

 
1.3 Oxford has developed at the confluence of two rivers in a ‘green bowl’. Its built heri tage, 

especially i ts dreaming spires, is iconic. The connection between the bui lt environment and 
Oxford’s setting within the wider landscape is part of Oxford’s special character. The network of 
green fingers that extend from the surrounding countryside along the river and canal corridors 
and into the heart of the city are a vital part of Oxford’s character. 

 
City Centre 

 
1.4 The role of Oxford city centre as a primary focus for shopping, employment, leisure, education 

and cultural activities as well as a major tourist destination is vi tally important to the overall 
success of Oxford. This varied role and mix of uses mean that it draws people in from all over 
the city, the county, and much further afield. It is performing very successfully against a range of 
measures, the range of services and amenities it offers is high, retail vacancies are low and 
visitor numbers are high. This success has however led to problems with congestion, air quality 
and over-crowding of the pavements and public realm. To address these problems and to 
accommodate some of the growth predicted it will be important to manage the competing 
interests in the city centre. 

 
1.5 Much of the city centre is covered by the central conservation area and contains the medieval 

core of the university. The city centre also includes the W est End, which is the area of the city 
centre with the main opportunity for growth. This area is considered as an Area of Change in 
Chapter 9. The Central Area Conservation Appraisal has identified principal issues in the central 
conservation area, which are: 

 
• pressure on public space in the core area streets from pedestrian saturation and 

buses 
• lack of accessible squares and green space 
• controlled access to green space 
• uncertain  retai l future 
• design of new buildings 
• managing the setting 
• conservation area boundary on the western side 

 
1.6 There are opportunities to manage the competing interests in the city centre. This may be 

possible through a review of the access and transport arrangements (for example by removing 
unnecessary trips/miles journeyed); 

47



14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

providing opportunities to access “town centre uses” in alternative locations (for example 
providing for more faci lities in district or local centres); and reviewing the role of specific 
streets/areas of the city centre to provide for different needs (for example a restaurant district 
or tourist focused area) and increasing the public realm and capacity of streets. The 
Conservation Area Appraisal identifies opportunities to enhance the conservation in ways 
that would sustain the city’s cultural, economic and social prosperity: 

 
• rebalance the space within streets from vehicles to pedestrians 
• identi fy sites for a new network of ‘micro parks’ where people can stop and dwell in 

streets 
• increase public access to existing green spaces and the waterways 
• promote development of opportunity sites in ways which contribute to and celebrate 

the characteristics of the city that make it so distinctive and special 
 

Cowley Centre 
 

1.7 Cowley Centre (including Templars Square and the John Allen Centre) is second in Oxford’s 
hierarchy of centres as the Primary District Centre. This recognises the special qualities and 
features of the Cowley Centre that elevate i ts status above the other District Centres. These 
include the scale of retail and service provision (it scores much higher in national rankings of 
shopping centres than the other District Centres), the range of retail on offer (especially strong 
on comparison goods and low vacancy rates) the size of the catchment area and its importance 
to users (many of whom would visit the Cowley Centre in place of the City centre), its role as a 
public transport interchange, and i ts capacity to accommodate growth and opportunities for 
redevelopment. 

 
1.8 Planning permission was granted for a large-scale redevelopment scheme in 2017 which 

represents a significant investment (£60 million) in the quality of the buildings and public realm 
and a strengthening of the range and quanti ty of facili ties provided (including residential 
development). This reinforces the status of the Cowley Centre and i ts importance in the 
hierarchy of centres. Beyond this scheme, there continue to be opportunities for redevelopment 
of adjacent si tes within and around the District Centre. The City Council wi ll encourage schemes 
which make more efficient use of the sites available and strengthen and diversify the range of 
services and faci lities on offer to the local community and its wider catchment area. 

 
East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre 

 
1.9 The Cowley Road is the main centre for a large and diverse population of East Oxford including 

many students; it provides for the convenience shopping needs for the local area but generally 
plays a less important role in terms of the retail provision than other District Centres. It is 
however particularly strong in terms of leisure and service provision. It is a vibrant, diverse and 
dynamic street which is an important part of its character and one that is treasured by local 
residents, city wide and visitors alike. An important part of i ts identi ty is the role it plays in the 
evening economy with the O2 Academy, Ultimate Picture Palace Cinema and a wide range of 
restaurants, bars, cafes and takeaways. In addition there are large community faci lities such as 
the East Oxford Health Centre and Oxford Central Mosque and community features such as the 
farmer’s market and annual Cowley Road Carnival which add to vibrancy and community feel. 

 
1.10 The Cowley Road is a busy arterial route into St Clements and the city centre at one end, and 

Oxford Business Park and BMW at the other. It runs through a highly populated area and the 
character of the district centre reflects this. 

48



15 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Headington District Centre 
 
 

1.11 Headington District Centre is focussed on the main arterial of London Road. The majority of 
retail and services are concentrated around the crossroads of London Road with Windmill Road 
and Old High Street. The centre provides a range of convenience retai l facili ties but fewer 
comparison shops. It does however, have a good range of retail services including banks and a 
local market. A large proportion of the food and drink offering is independent. As a centre it 
primarily provides for its local resident population, having its own library in Bury Knowle Park 
and St Andrew’s CoE Primary School to the eastern edge of the district centre. 

 
1.12 A distinctive feature of Headington is the large potential catchment from local institutions and 

businesses. The district centre is very close to the John Radcli ffe Hospital and to the Oxford 
Brookes University campus. These are both sites with large numbers of workers, students and 
visitors and whilst in recent years each of those sites has invested in their own town centre use 
faci lities, there is an opportunity to try and capture more of this potential market. As the 
Headington Hospitals grow and develop there is an opportunity for better physical connections 
between them and the district centre will be key to faci litating this. 

 
Summertown District Centre 

 
1.13 Summertown District Centre is focussed on the main arterial of Banbury Road and on the 

adjacent South Parade. The retail balance in Summertown District Centre is more in favour of 
comparison shopping and it benefi ts from some independent retailers and higher end national 
chains. There is a strong representation of services and community and leisure faci lities with the 
Ferry Sports Centre, including a swimming pool, and the North Oxford Centre. There are also 
many schools in the Summertown area, both state and private. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Half page picture of children with football not replicated in this draft, but will remain 

in the final version 

49



16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.14 As the Headington Hospitals grow and develop there is an opportunity for better physical 
connections between them and the district centre will be key to facili tating this. The centre has 
an attractive feel with interesting shops, coffee shops and a weekly farmers market. 
Summertown is an attractive location for employers and employees; there are a significant 
number of office developments in the district centre and around the fringes. It offers good public 
transport, clustering benefi ts with other office and service uses, and a vibrant centre for 
lunchtime and after work browsing. 

 
Blackbird Leys District Centre 

 
1.15 1.15Blackbird Leys District Centre provides some small scale convenience retail faci lities for the 

local community; however the stronger aspect is the range of community facili ties including the 
leisure centre, swimming pools, community centre, library, college and public house. These 
collectively provide a strong heart for the local community; along with open space and playing 
fields. In the case particularly of the college and the pools, they also attract people from a much 
wider area to use their faci lities. 

 
 

1.16 Surveys showed that users of the Blackbird Leys District Centre expressed a strong preference 
for accessing the Cowley Centre for their comparison shopping rather than making the trip to 
the city centre, this emphasises the importance and role of the Cowley Centre Primary District 
Centre. 

 
1.17 There are significant redevelopment opportunities at the Blackbird Leys District centre. 

 
Areas of change 

 
1.18 As well as the district centres there are other areas of the city where significant change is 

expected or best directed. These are discussed in Chapter 9 and each has a site allocation 
within it. The other areas of change are: 

 
1.19 Cowley Branch Line 

This area already contains the Oxford Business Park and Science Park and the BMW Mini 
plant. This area is suitable for intensification of employment uses and for new and increased 
density residential development. 

 
1.20 The Old Road area, Headington 

This has traditionally housed hospitals and more recently has become an important centre of 
medical research. There is increasing and extremely beneficial cross-over between research 
and medical practice. The long- term existence of hospitals in this area and their co-location 
also brings benefits in terms of there being an established infrastructure network. Therefore, this 
area is a key focus for new medical research faci lities and medical use. 

 
1.21 Osney Mead and the West End 

This area to the west of the city centre provides the main opportunities for growth of the city 
centre and for growth in a central location of innovation and industry, particularly linked to the 
main university campus. 

 
1.22 Marston Road/Headington Hill 

This area contains some significant academic sites, including Oxford Brookes’ Headington Hill 
campus and sites opposite and acquired by the Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies. The 
insti tutions have aspirations of growth at these sites, which needs to be managed carefully in 
this sensitive area. 

50



17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.23 Northern Gateway/Oxford North 
This site has already been allocated and is the subject of the Northern Gateway Area Action 
Plan which remains forms part of the Oxford Development Plan alongside the Oxford Local Plan 
2036. The AAP makes provision for 90,000m2 of employment land (restricted to the science, 
research and development fields) and 500 new homes. This site wi ll come forward for 
development during the Local Plan period and will have a significant impact on the supply of 
specialised employment floorspace and deliver one of the largest housing sites in the city. 
Therefore whilst it is not subject to an allocation in this Local Plan it will nonetheless constitute 
an area of change in the context of the vision for the city. Once built upon only the employment 
floorspace part of the scheme would be considered a Category 1 employment site under Policy E1 of 
this Local Plan. The Local Plan alters one element of the area covered by the AAP in relation to land at 
Pear Tree Farm. The allocation of Policy SP29 supersedes the AAP land use requirements for this specific 
element of the site. This relationship is shown on the policies map. 

 
1.24 Barton 

Similarly the Barton site, located in the north east of the city between Barton and Northway, is 
the subject of an Area Action Plan which forms part of the Oxford Development Plan. The AAP 
makes provision for up to 800 new homes, a primary school, some retail and associated 
uses. Outline permission has been granted to deliver 885 houses; wWork has commenced on 
the early phases of the development and whilst the site is not an allocation in this Local Plan its 
development over the plan period will also consti tute an area of change in the context of the 
vision for the city. 

 
Key elements of the Local Plan strategy 

 
Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring prosperity and opportunities 
for all 

 
1.25 Objectives 

 
• To build on Oxford’s economic strengths as a global centre for research, learning and 

health care 
 

• To remain at the heart of the Oxfordshire economy and an important  net 
contributor to the national economy through its key strengths in the knowledge 
intensive businesses (such as education, health, science and technology) and as a 
leading environmentally sustainable city 

 
• To reduce inequali ties across Oxford, particularly in employment, health and 

education 
 

• To provide a diverse range of employment opportunities to meet the needs of the 
city’s businesses and residents, allowing Oxford to grow and function sustainably, 
and with a skilled workforce ready to fi ll the employment opportunities that arise 

 
 

1.26 Oxford is in a fortunate and positive position, having a broad, diverse, active and growing 
economy. The Local Plan seeks to help support Oxford’s role as a fast-growing city, generating 
economic growth for the local and national economy. The Local Plan protects the most 
important employment sites; however no new employment sites are identified. Instead the 
policy approach seeks to make the best use of all existing sites through intensification and 
modernisation to accommodate the forecast demand for new employment floorspace over the 
plan period. 

51



18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.27 Site allocations in Chapter 9 aim to ensure best use is made of important employment si tes such 
as the Oxford Business Park and Science Park, as well as maximising the potential for health 
sites to diversify to provide linked research and development. Planned employment growth 
including 

52



19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Full page of “Diagram 2: Spatial Strategy Diagram” not replicated in this draft, but 
will remain in the final version 

53



20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

that at Northern Gateway aims to ensure that the forecasted economic growth envisaged in the 
economic gstrategy, Housing and Growth Deal and the Local Industrial Strategy can be 
accommodated. 

 
1.28 The city has one the highest concentrations of knowledge intensive businesses in the UK. It  

has the fastest growing and one of the best educated workforces in the country and is the main 
centre of research and spin-outs in the county. Oxford has real strengths in the knowledge 
economy. There is a wealth of research and development being undertaken directly and indirectly 
linked to the universities and medical research organisations. This has resulted in many other 
companies being attracted to the city owing to the quality of the workforce and clustering effect. 
The Local Plan supports the growth of these sectors and puts in place measures to manage 
the effects of success. 

 
1.29 Whilst Oxford has real strengths in the knowledge economy, other B1 office uses and B2 industrial 

uses make an important contribution to the economy of Oxford, offering a range of employment 
opportunities for all residents. Through the use of employment site categories the plan seeks to 
balance these uses to ensure that this diverse employment base is maintained. 

 
1.30 The Plan seeks to secure opportunities for local employment, training and businesses from large 

developments to share the benefi ts of growth. Due to the nature of most housing growth in Oxford 
through small scale sites, most school provision will need to be made by growing existing schools. 

 
1.31 The Local Plan takes a clear approach to restrict the future growth of private colleges and 

language schools to ensure that land is available for more important uses to be developed such 
as housing and student accommodation for the universities or B1 office use. 

 
A pleasant place to live, delivering housing with a mixed and balanced community 

 
1.32 Objectives 

 
• To deliver as much housing as possible whilst balancing other important needs of the 

city’s residents and businesses 
 

• To deliver affordable housing and ensure that it meets the requirements of those in 
need 

 
• To plan for an appropriate mix of housing sizes, types and tenures to meet the 

needs of existing and future residents as far as possible 
 

1.33 Addressing the need for housing is the number one priority of the City Council. The Counci l 
wi ll make full use of the range of tools and mechanisms at its disposal to ensure housing is 
delivered to meet the needs of the city. In the Local Plan this has involved allocating or allowing 
for housing development on as many sites as possible including some that are greenfield land 
and Green Belt, as well as increasing densities and bui lding heights where possible to make the 
most efficient use of land. The Local Plan places the greatest priori ty on the development of 
housing. The policy approach on site allocations has been to allocate as many sites as possible 
for housing where deliverable. 

54



21 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.34 There is not the capacity within Oxford’s administrative boundary to meet all housing need. As far 
as possible, this need should be met within Oxford or very close to its boundaries, as this will 
enable new development to be connected to areas of employment and other facili ties by 
sustainable modes of transport. Any urban extensions to Oxford will therefore be well integrated 
into the city and will maximise the benefit of existing infrastructure. The Oxfordshire districts have 
agreed to accommodate Oxford’s unmet housing need (see paragraphs 3.10-3.11) Discussions 
with the other Oxfordshire districts regarding Oxford’s unmet housing need are progressing 
positively; three of the neighbouring districts have agreed to accommodate an element of this 
need and are progressing with their own Local Plan reviews to faci litate this. The next stage is to 
work collectively across the county in the production of Work has begun on the Joint Strategic 
Spatial Plan, The Oxfordshire Plan 2050, which will identi fy broad areas for the accommodation 
of growth in the next round of Local Plans. 

 
1.35 In Oxford there is a chronic shortage of Affordable Housing which can take many forms. The Local 

Plan strongly supports the provision of housing that is affordable in perpetuity, that is permanently 
affordable. Social rented housing is vital to provide homes for those in particular housing 
need and the Local Plan continues to priori tise this. 

 
1.36 The Local Plan introduces a new policy approach aimed at helping key employers in the city 

to make housing provision to help meet the need of their staff. In recognition of the issues 
that employers face in recruiting and retaining staff due to the unaffordabi lity of housing in the 
city, the Local Plan allows in some circumstances employers to meet their own need and add to 
the overall supply of housing in the city. 

 
1.37 Provision of good quality, well managed student accommodation will continue to be required in 

Oxford. However it often competes for sites with general housing and a wide range of 
organisations seek to deliver it. The Local Plan therefore places restrictions on the locations 
suitable for student accommodation and limits its occupancy to students at one of the two 
universities on academic courses of over a year. This balance supports the two universities and 
continues the priori tisation of general housing. 

 
1.38 Given the need and lack of affordability of housing in Oxford, it is important that innovative 

approaches to housing provision are pursued, to enable a broad range of supply. Private rented 
housing is likely to be the most achievable option for many. Ways to deliver this affordably 
so that attractive housing can be found for workers needed to support the functioning of the city’s 
economy will be important. Shared housing, including co-housing and new purpose built HMOs 
will also be important ways to ensure delivery of new housing. While a small contributor to 
Oxford’s overall housing provision, there is an increasing demand created by those choosing to 
live on our waterways. The Local Plan commits to protect existing provision and to explore 
opportunities to increase moorings and services. 

 
1.39 The Local Plan seeks to ensure that developments are of a high quality and provide for their 

occupants needs into the future with the necessary flexibi lity as li festyles, behaviours and 
technologies change. The Local Plan incorporates the national space standards, the optional 
building regulation on accessible homes and standards for outdoor amenity space to 
ensure that designs provide adequate space for occupants, maximise useable space and provide 
scope to adapt for future requirements. 

55



22 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Making wise use of our limited resources and securing a good quality local 
environment 

 
1.40 Objectives 

 
 

• To achieve improved air quali ty and high levels of energy efficiency, renewable 
energy provision and water conservation, maximising Oxford’s potential in low carbon 
technologies 

 
• To ensure efficient use of land by seeking opportunities for faci lities to be multi- 

functional and by maximising efficient use of scare land 
 

• To manage water flow and to help protect people and their property from the impacts 
of flooding 

 
• To achieve significant progress towards its net zero greenhouse gas emissions 

aspiration across Oxford, with the City Counci l leading by example by continuing to 
reduce its own emissions and increase its use of renewable energy 

 
1.41 The Local Plan recognises that addressing climate change is one of the core land use planning 

principles and the Local Plan contains policies to mitigate and adapt to climate change in line with 
the provisions and objectives of the Climate Change Act 2008. 

 
1.42 New development is expected to incorporate sustainable design and construction principles 

of the highest environmental standards in order to reduce carbon emissions, conserve water, 
minimise waste and flood risk and also incorporate measure to enhance biodiversity. 

 
1.43 The focus of new development wi ll be on intensifying development on previously developed land. 

This consolidating approach to developing the city in future is not only best practice but essential 
in a constrained urban environment like Oxford. The Plan will seek to identi fy sites that are 
underused for example with low-rise buildings and unused spaces, or in a use that does not make 
most efficient use of land, such as large surface-level car parks. The redevelopment of such sites 
will help to accommodate the development needs of the city in a sustainable and efficient way; 
locating new development alongside existing uses, faci lities and public transport connections. 
Land is a finite resource and Oxford is particularly constrained. Due to the limited amount of 
development space, intensification of uses on sites will be an important way to 
accommodate growth. This wi ll need to be delivered to a high quality and include consideration 
of density, indoor and outdoor space standards and heights. 

 
1.44 A large area of the city is at some risk of flooding and a lot of development already exists in the 

high risk areas which do not incorporate features such as SuDs, which help to mimic the natural 
drainage arrangements of the site. The Local Plan policy approach is to allow very careful re- 
development of existing brownfield sites in Flood Zone 3b to make the best use of existing 
sites in sustainable locations. The flood alleviation scheme will help to convey water away from 
development infrastructure and help to reduce flooding in the most at risk areas. 

56



23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.45 The City Counci l wants to promote strong, vibrant and healthy communities and reduce 
health inequalities. Developments which help to deliver these aims will be supported. For major 
development the Counci l wi ll require a HIA which would provide detai ls of implementation and 
monitoring. 

 
1.46 Most air pollution in Oxford comes from diesel and petrol powered modes of transport, although 

domestic and employment emissions will become more significant over the lifetime of the Plan. 
In addition to contributing to air pollution, transport also contributes to carbon emissions. The 
abili ty to reduce harmful emissions will depend on a variety of measures. These include reducing 
the need to travel, promoting development that can be accessed by sustainable modes of 
travel such as walking and cycling, measures that discourage car use, such as minimizing 
public and private parking and providing infrastructure to support low emission vehicles 
and sustainable modes of travel, such as bike parking and electric charging points. It is 
important in areas of poor air quali ty, that development is located and designed to minimize the 
potential negative impacts of air quality on its inhabitants in addition to ensuring the development 
itself does not contribute to air pollution. 

 
Protecting and enhancing Oxford’s green setting, open spaces and waterways 

 
1.47 Objectives 

 
• To protect and enhance a network of multi-functional green spaces and ensure easy 

access to high quality green space 
 

• Enhance green spaces so they deliver multiple benefits to health and wellbeing, are 
rich in biodiversity, and help the city adapt to climate change 

 
1.48 Green spaces are particularly valuable in a compact ci ty such as Oxford, and will become more 

important with the population increasing. Oxford’s waterways are a fundamental part of Oxford’s 
character, landscape and setting. The green and blue network brings a multi tude of benefits 
including environmental (biodiversity, water management and air quality) to social (wellbeing, 
heri tage and sense of place) and economic (direct jobs, tourism and creating an attractive 
business environment). The Local Plan focuses on ensuring that green spaces are as high- 
quality and as multi-functional as possible, with public access particularly valued, as well as 
ensuring a network of green spaces connecting wildli fe corridors and green accessible routes. 
Along all of Oxford’s waterways, new development that preserves these functions and in 
particular that enhances the recreational value, transport value and setting of these areas 
is to be encouraged. This network will be protected and enhanced where possible and a positive 
approach to the sensitive development of residential and temporary visitor moorings adopted, in 
recognition of the contribution made to Oxford’s housing supply by lawful opportunities to live on 
our waterways. 

 
1.49 The most important sites and species for biodiversity and geodiversity wi ll be protected. The City 

Council wi ll require assessment of a proposals impact on biodiversity, where appropriate on-site 
mitigation measures and then compensation measures to off-set  any  loss.  The Local Plan  will 
seek to ensure a net gain in biodiversity. ensure that there is no net loss in biodiversity. 

57



24 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.50 The City Counci l considers that exceptional circumstances exist to justi fy a Green Belt boundary 
review due to the need to support Oxford’s economic success and i ts dependence on the delivery 
of additional housing to meet housing need. This Local Plan de-designates 8 X sites and allocates 
them largely for housing development. This Local Plan reiterates that planning permission will 
not be granted for inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

 
 

Enhancing Oxford’s unique built environment 
 

1.51 Objectives 
 

• To preserve and enhance Oxford’s exceptional bui lt form with i ts legacy of 
archaeology and monuments, historic buildings, modern architecture, important 
views and distinctive townscape characteristics 

 
• To ensure that all new development delivers a high quality of urban design, place 

making, architecture and public realm, integrating the bui lt and historic environment 
with modern needs 

 
1.52 New development in Oxford will be expected to be of a high design quali ty that respects and 

enhances the character and appearance of the area in which it is located and draws from this to 
create an individual character drawing on the context. Developments should be easy to 
understand and move through, be capable of adaptation for alternative uses, and help create an 
attractive and expanded public realm. This Local Plan identifies key areas for change where 
multiple sites in close proximity offer an opportunity to apply good placemaking principles on a 
wider scale. 

 
1.53 Oxford’s long history is reflected in its outstanding bui ldings and features. This vast number and 

wide range of historic assets is a real benefit and advantage to the city and it is fundamental to 
the national identity of the city. The Local Plan seeks to deliver new development in a way that 
respects and complements compliments this rich history, the historic buildings, parks and 
gardens; waterways; conservation areas, archaeology and areas of distinct local character and 
townscape. The emphasis of the plan is on the proactive positive management of change, 
reflecting the city’s capacity to move forward while preserving its irreplaceable heritage. New 
development should be of a quali ty that upholds the city’s international reputation and adds the 
next layer of Oxford’s future heri tage. 

 
1.54 There are important views of Oxford’s world famous and unique skyline from within the city, from 

the surrounding meadows and hi llsides and across the city. The views of the skyline of the historic 
centre are fundamentally important to Oxford and must be protected. Development of new higher 
buildings in the right locations is an important part of accommodating growth over the plan period. 
New interventions in the historic skyline must make a positive contribution if they are to be 
supported alongside views of Oxford’s ‘dreaming spires’. 

 
1.55 The public’s main experience of buildings is from streets and public spaces. This Plan puts in 

place a series of policies and approaches designed to ensure that the quality of the public 
realm in Oxford is enhanced; this includes requiring high quality safe design that creates 
attractive and pleasant spaces designed with the needs of all users and offering choice; adjusting 
the balance between road users in favour of pedestrians and cyclists and using ensuring that 
street furniture and materials are attractive and will stand the test of time. It wi ll be important in 
Oxford that the best use is made of every public space, particularly in the city centre and in the 

58



25 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

district centres where more development is anticipated. Opportunities for the creation of new 
public spaces, particularly in the city centre where people can gather socially and rest should be 
explored. 

 
Ensuring efficient movement into and around the city 

 
1.56 Objectives 

 
• To ensure growth in the proportion of people walking and cycling to access jobs and 

faci lities 
 

• To provide enhanced faci lities for walking and cycling, ensuring they are the primary 
modes for travel around the city 

 
• To ensure walking and cycling routes are complemented with well managed and 

attractive public transport routes, and that car use is minimised 
 

1.57 The approach of the Local Plan is to ensure that new development is located on established 
sustainable transport networks. The spatial focus for new development that attracts large 
numbers of people is on district centres and the city centre. This is to help ensure these 
developments are easily reached by sustainable means of travel and that linked trips are 
maximised. Reducing the need to travel into the city centre by locating faci lities and services in 
district centres will relieve pressure on the arterial roads. 

 
1.58 Walking is an essential component of almost all journeys and it has many advantages over other 

modes. Oxford’s compact nature makes it a very walkable city. The spatial strategy expressed by 
the Local Plan encourages walking because of the co-location of facilities, safeguarding of 
routes and connections through new developments and positive design of the pedestrian 
environment. 

 
1.59 Oxford’s established cycling culture and the relatively compact and flat urban area mean that 

cycling levels are already high. The Local Plan seeks to encourage more cycling and in particular 
more people to cycle by providing for more safe cycle routes (especially off-road through 
development sites and parks, where appropriate) and more cycle parking and changing faci lities. 

 
1.60 Over the Plan period there are likely to be improvements to Oxford Rail Station, to the links with 

Oxford Parkway Station and the potential reopening of the Cowley branch line for passenger 
trains. The Local Plan recognises the opportunities these bring and safeguards the land needed 
for new stations and land needed for improvements to the line. The majori ty of public transport 
journeys in Oxford are made by bus, and so the City Council wi ll work with the County Counci l 
and bus companies to improve bus routes and facilitate bus rapid transit as set out in the 
Oxford Transport Strategy, particularly where they improve accessibi lity or have public realm 
benefits. 

 
1.61 Opportunities for successful car free housing and workplaces are high in Oxford because of the 

number of Controlled Parking Zones, the avai labi lity of walking and cycling routes, and excellent 
public transport options. The Local Plan (along with additional measures proposed through the 
Local Transport Plan) wi ll effect a reduction in the provision of residential and workplace 
parking through improvements to alternative modes, 

59



26 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

parking restrictions and management measures, and the encouragement to redevelop car 
parks for higher value uses. Over the plan period i t is anticipated that improvements in 
technology, the growth of the sharing economy and the atti tude to car ownership are 
anticipated to enhance this approach. 

 
1.62 Most air pollution in Oxford currently comes from diesel and petrol powered modes of transport. 

The Local Plan sets out and supports a variety of measures to reduce emissions and therefore 
improve air quali ty including reducing the need to travel, promoting walking and cycling, 
discouraging car use through minimizing public and private parking and providing 
infrastructure to support low emission vehicles and sustainable modes of travel. During 
the Plan period a City Centre Zero Emission Zone will be introduced in phases. In addition, new 
development will be expected to provide electric charging points. 

 
1.63 Cycling in Oxford is an important and growing mode of transport. The City Counci l wishes to 

continue to encourage this active and sustainable form of travel and will seek to ensure that 
new developments provide secure and convenient cycle parking. 

 
Providing communities with facilities and services and ensuring Oxford is a vibrant 
and enjoyable city to live in and visit 

 
1.64 Objectives 

 
• Promote district centres as the hubs for local community focus and identity, with 

transport interchange and activity and providing a range of social, leisure, sport and 
cultural facilities appropriate to Oxford’s diverse communities alongside housing and 
employment  opportunities 

 
• To ensure that development is supported by the appropriate infrastructure and 

community facilities 
 

• Maintain the regional role of Oxford city centre as a primary focus for shopping, 
employment, leisure and cultural activities, with district centres playing an increased 
and complementary role 

 
1.65 Oxford has an established network of centres (see Spatial Strategy Diagram) with the city centre 

at the heart supported by the district centres. The strategy of the Local Plan is for district centres 
to play an extended role in accommodating growth and developing their function as ‘hubs’ 
for the local communities. This approach offers the opportunity to provide faci lities more locally 
for communities, reducing the need to travel and easing the pressure on the City Centre. The 
Local Plan seeks to build on the strengths of each of the district centres (whether that is a focus 
on employment, community facili ties, retai l or the evening economy for example) and the 
opportunities they provide for public transport connections and provision of other infrastructure 
and faci lities. 

 
1.66 The Local Plan also makes provision for district centres to play an enhanced role in 

accommodating a wide range of town centre uses complementing those provided in the City 
Centre. Whilst the city and district centres will sti ll play an important role in providing the city’s 
retail faci lities (in the shopping frontages), changing shopping patterns and the need to locate a 
wide range of faci lities in accessible locations means that the Local Plan provides for a move 
away from the traditional retai l focus to a new approach for the high street with increased 
employment, entertainment and cultural uses and more housing developed on the upper levels 
and outside of the core shopping frontages. 

60



27 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.67 Tourism is an important element of Oxford’s economy. The city is world famous and attracts an 
increasing number of visitors and overnight stays; it is a top ten destination of the national tourism 
industry. The Local Plan seeks to manage the negative impacts of day visitors through the 
management of coaches and congestion of the arterial roads and public realm of the city centre; 
and encourage tourists to stay longer through granting permission for short-stay 
accommodation and tourist attractions in locations where they are easi ly accessible through 
sustainable modes and where they can be good neighbours. 

 
1.68 Oxford has a rich infrastructure of cultural and social activi ties and venues, from theatres, 

museums, cinemas, galleries, sports and music venues to restaurants and pubs. These uses help 
to keep the centres vibrant and active and add greatly to the local quality of life. The Local 
Plan seeks to encourage the development of the uses within the city and district centres and 
protect them from being lost through redevelopment to other higher land value uses. 

 
1.69 A wide range of community, leisure, sport, recreation and cultural faci lities appropriate to Oxford’s 

diverse communities are supported. The Local Plan seeks to retain existing facilities, unless 
suitable and accessible alternatives are proposed. New faci lities that support the growth of 
the city and enhance its sustainability, such as state schools, primary healthcare faci lities and 
community centres will be supported; new development that actively supports and sustains 
community wellbeing is to be welcomed. 

 
1.70 The scale of housing need in Oxford is so large that even if every site came forward for housing, 

we would still not satisfy i t. A similar challenge exists for economic development; there are many 
and diverse needs and pressures on the city. A strong and healthy city is characterised by i ts 
abili ty to cater for the needs of its residents, workers and visi tors. Given this it is important to 
allocate or protect si tes for employment, retail, education, health, recreation and range of other 
uses alongside those for housing. The Local Plan seeks to strike the right balance between 
providing for these competing uses whilst making as much significant progress towards 
accommodating more homes. 

 
Delivering the Strategy 

 

1.71 In order to deliver the Vision for Oxford 2036, the spatial strategy and plan objectives, the 
provision of infrastructure will need to be funded and delivered in a timely manner to support 
development. 

 
1.72 It is important to ensure that roads, local services and facili ties can cope with the increased 

demand resulting from the new development proposed to deliver the spatial strategy, objectives 
and the vision for Oxford 2036. Effective demand management, (for example, SMART metering 
and other mechanisms for managing the demand for energy and water efficiency, and travel 
planning), and making better use of existing infrastructure, wi ll play an important part in supporting 
the delivery of new development required to deliver the spatial strategy for Oxford in 2036. 

 
1.73 Where new development creates a need for new or improved infrastructure, contributions from 

developers will be sought to make the development acceptable in planning terms. New 
development should also make best use of infrastructure demand management. In some cases, 
the cumulative impact of individual applications may be considered when assessing infrastructure 
requirements, taking account of other planning obligations 

61



28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

such as affordable housing. Contributions from a particular development will be fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the contribution to the cumulative impact from the 
relevant scheme; and if necessary address any immediate unacceptable short term 
problems. 

 
1.74 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a tari ff in the form of a standard charge on new 

development, which Oxford, as a CIL Charing Authori ty, sets to help the funding of infrastructure. 
The principle behind CIL is for those who benefi t financially from a planning permission to pay 
towards the cost of funding the infrastructure needed to support development. Since most 
development has some impact on infrastructure, it follows that it should contribute to the cost of 
providing or improving infrastructure. 

 
Policy S2: Development Contributions 

 
Developer contributions will be sought where needs arise as a result of new 
development. 

 
Developer contributions will be used to ensure the necessary physical, social and 
green infrastructure is in place to support development. Contributions will be used 
to mitigate the adverse impacts of development (including a proportional 
contribution to address the cumulative impact of development proposals. The City 
Council wi ll, where appropriate seek to secure such measures through planning 
obligations. Pooled contributions will be used, where appropriate, to facili tate the 
necessary infrastructure in line with the development. 

 
Physical, social and green infrastructure and provision for i ts maintenance may be 
required to support new development. The City Counci l wi ll, where appropriate, 
seek to secure such measures by means of planning obligations, conditions 
attached to a planning permission, funding through the Counci l’s Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or other mechanisms  

62



29 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring 

prosperity and opportunities for all 
Oxford is home to a third of the county’s josbs and the city is a focal point for higher 
education, research and science. Oxford’s buoyant economy presents challenges in 
ensuring that an adequate supply of labour, housing and infrastructure continues to 
keep pace with employment growth over the long-term. Sustainable growth needs to 
be achieved whilst ensuring the city’s unique heri tage and high quality environment is 
protected. 

 
The city’s local economic performance and aspirations are set within a wider sub-  
regional and national context which influence some of the city’s economic aspirations  
and plans. The Oxfordshire Strategic Economic Plan (March 2017) sets out the long  
term vision and ambitions for economic growth in the county. The overall  vision is that 
by 2030 “Oxfordshire will be recognised as a vibrant, sustainable, inclusive world leading  
economy, driven by innovation, enterprise and research intelligence.” The Local 
Industrial  Strategy (LIS) positions Oxfordshire and Oxford as one of the top three  
clusters in the world for a number of technologies. The National Infrastructure  
Commission report on the potential of the Oxford-Milton Keynes-Cambridge Growth  
Corridor and the announcement of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal with the  
government recognises the importance of Oxfordshire’s knowledge intensive economy 
with its two universities and many associated research insti tutions. 

 
 

i. Employment Land Assessment 
 

2.1 The Employment Land Assessment (2018) looked at the whole range of employment si tes across 
the city and assessed them against cri teria including access and location, quali ty of buildings and 
environment, neighbourliness and others. The ELA forecast that between 2016 and 2036 there is 
a need for 135,004m2 of additional employment floorspace: 

 
• total projected demand for new B1A/B/C floorspace of 113,535m2; and 
• projected demand for B2/B8 floorspace of 21,470m2 

 
2.2 The report concluded that the majori ty of employment demand during the plan period will be for 

B1 floorspace. This reflects the findings from previous economic studies and the views of property 
agents secured through the assessment. 

 
2.3 The need for more employment floorspace over the plan period emphasises the strong need to 

protect existing employment si tes. Oxford is a very tightly constrained city and the competing 
demands on the limited land supply are strong, not least for housing. The Development Plan Local 
Plan includes one additional employment site at Northern Gateway, as detailed in the Northern 
Gateway Area Action Plan. Additional employment land could be provided through the 
intensification of uses at existing employment sites including Osney Mead, Unipart, and the BMW 
Mini plant. There is some remaining land allocated for employment uses at both Oxford Business 
Park and the Science Park. 

63



30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.4 The pressure on employment si tes to be lost to other uses is high, and once lost, they rarely revert 
back to their original use. Oxford City Council introduced an Article 4 Direction which removes the 
permitted development right to change employment floorspace to residential use on Key 
Protected Employment Sites. This means that such proposals now require planning permission. 
The City Counci l intends to modify the Article 4 Direction to reflect the policies in this Plan on 
adoption. 

 
2.5 Existing employment si tes which are not performing well or which make inefficient use of land will 

be encouraged to modernise, to better uti lise the space. In some limited circumstances, such 
sites which will also be considered for alternative uses. As such, the Local Plan sets out a 
hierarchical approach to employment categories, stating how existing employment sites will be 
supported to ensure appropriate levels of protection and intensification. The sites range from 
Category 1 and 2 sites, which are afforded most protection, to Category 3 and B8 uses which 
have more flexibi lity and potential to be released from employment uses for other purposes to 
ensure the best use of land. The policy also provides flexibility to ensure start-up and incubator 
businesses are supported throughout the hierarchy. 

 
Employment sites 

 
2.6 Category 1 sites are nationally and regionally important to the knowledge economy or are 

significant employers or sectors in Oxford, primarily B1 (office) and B2 (industrial) uses with some 
B8 uses. Many of these sites are large, and they often include a range of uses. Examples include 
important hospital and university research sites, hi-tech manufacturing, bio-engineering 
companies and the BMW Mini plant. 

 
2.7 Category 2 sites provide local services and often include a mix of B1 and B2 uses1. These sites 

have been assessed in the Employment Land Assessment against set cri teria and identified as 
performing well and having long-term potential for employment uses. They provide a valuable 
employment contribution and important supporting infrastructure for the larger employment uses 
in Oxford. These businesses meet local needs and are less likely to be found on Oxford’s large 
employment sites. They may offer skilled manual work and lower skilled jobs which are important 
to delivering a diverse range of employment opportunities, and local services in Oxford. 

 
2.8 Oxford’s significant contribution to the local, regional and national economy means that it is 

important to protect Category 1 and 2 sites, both for their current role in Oxford’s economy and 
because of their potential for intensification, which would help to meet the demand for new 
employment space and respond to any future development requirements and technological 
change. Equally it is important that there is some flexibili ty within the policy to allow for potential 
changes in circumstance, and to ensure the strongest employment base possible, which will 
sometimes rely on the abili ty to develop supporting uses. For this reason, the policies include 
some criteria to allow consideration of development of other some other uses on Category 1 and 
2 employment sites in particular circumstances. 

 
 

2.9 Category 3 sites mainly comprise smaller sites and those not performing as well as Category 2 
sites, for example because they are not as well located, or because they do not perform such an 
important economic function, nor are likely to be able to in the future. Should these sites become 
avai lable for redevelopment, they should be considered for housing will be first required to explore 
the potential for other employment uses, and then subject to criteria to explore alternative uses in 
order to help deliver the broader aims and strategy of this Local Plan. 

 
1 B-class uses are defined by the Town and County Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 and include 
office, research and development, light industry, general industry, warehouse and distribution 

64



31 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.10 B8 warehousing uses can be helpful in supporting local employers in sectors such as 
manufacturing. However they typically have a low job density and do not make efficient use of 
land which is particularly important given the shortage of land in Oxford. Some B8 uses are 
essential for Oxford to ensure that important employers are able to maintain their supply chain; 
for example with BMW-Mini/Unipart. Where a B8 use does not have this strong link to the wider 
economy and does not represent the most efficient use of land, it will be encouraged to convert 
and intensify into other employment uses (B1, B2) with a greater worker density. New B8 uses 
will only be allowed in exceptional circumstances where there is a specific link to a Category 1 
site. particular locally identified need. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy E1: Employment sites  
 
Intensification of uses: 
Planning permission will be granted for the intensification, modernisation and 
regeneration for employment purposes of any employment site if it can be demonstrated 
that  the development: 

 
i. allows for higher-density development (with more employment floorspace and jobs 

per hectare) that seeks to makes the best and most efficient use of land; and 
ii. does not cause unacceptable environmental impacts and effects. 

 
Employment categories: 
Category 1 and 2 employment si tes are listed in Appendix 2.1 and 2.2, and Category 1 
employment sites are shown on the Policies Map. All other employment si tes are 
Category 3 employment si tes. 

 
Category 1 sites 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in any loss of 
employment floorspace on Category 1 sites. No other non-employment uses will be 
permitted on Category 1 sites except: 

 
a) residential development for staff linked to the employer (where this is permitted 

under Policy HE3); or 
 

b) other complementary uses that support the successful economic function of the 
site. provided that they support directly the main economic function of the site; or 

 
c) sStart-up or incubator businesses will also be supported, if it can be 
demonstrated that they will not cause any negative impact on the main economic 
function of the site 

 
 
Category 2 sites 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in the loss of 
employment floorspace on Category 2 sites, except where: 

65



32 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

c) the redevelopment creates new housing or community use; and 
 

d) the number of employees in B class uses on the site when the site was at full 
capacity is retained; and 

 
e) more efficient use of land can be demonstrated. 

 
 

Category 3 sites 
Planning permission will only be granted for the loss of any employment floorspace on 
Category 3 sites to residential development subject to the following cri teria: 

 
f) the site or building is no longer suitable for its existing business use owing to i ts 

changing operational needs; and 
 

g) no other future occupiers can be found through the production of evidence to show 
the premises or site has been marketed unsuccessfully both for i ts present use 
and for potential modernisation or regeneration for alternative employment- 
generating uses, including start-up businesses or local community uses, for a 
period of at least 6 months (see Appendix 2.3 for detai ls of the marketing evidence 
expected). 

 
Category 1 and 2 employment si tes are listed in Appendix 2.1 and 2.2, and Category 1 
employment sites are shown on the Policies Map. All other employment si tes are 
Category 3 employment si tes. 

 
Proposals for residential development on Category 3 employment sites will be assessed 
by a balanced judgement which will take into account the following objectives: 

 
f) the desirabili ty of meeting as much housing need as possible in sustainable locations 
within the city; 
g) the need to avoid loss of or significant harm to the continued operation or integrity of 
successful, and/or locally-useful, or high-employment businesses and employment sites, 
and to avoid impairing business operations through the juxtaposition of incompatible 
residential uses; 
h) the essential importance of creating satisfactory residential living conditions and a 
pleasant residential environment with a sense of place, connected by safe walking routes 
to shops, schools, open space, community facili ties and public transport; and 
i) the desirabi lity of achieving environmental improvements such as remediation, planting, 
biodiversity gains, sustainable development forms, improvements in highway conditions 
and the improvement of living conditions for existing residents. 

 

Approach to B8 uses and car showrooms in Oxford 
 

Planning permission will only be granted for new or expanded B8 uses the loss of B8 
space (on any category site), where it can be shown that the B8 use is essential to 
support the operational requirements of a Category 1 employment si te but not otherwise. 
Planning permission will also be granted for the loss of B8 space (on any category site) 
where it is not essential to support a Category 1 employment si te. it is not essential to 
supporting a Category 1 employment site, for the following uses in priori ty order: 

 
h) if it can be demonstrated that there is no demand for other B1 and B2 employment 

uses and other non-residential uses that support the local economy or community 
(through the production of evidence to show the premises or si te has been 
marketed unsuccessfully for its present use); 

66



33 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

ii. Teaching and research 
 

2.11 The success of Oxford’s economy is shaped by the presence of i ts two universities; The University 
of Oxford and Oxford Brookes University. In addition and linked to this, Oxford is also a major 
centre for teaching hospitals and home to a number of acute and specialist medical research 
organisations. This benefi ts the city’s economy in a number of ways: i ts research capabili ties, the 
ready supply of graduates and clustering effect mean that Oxford is an attractive location for a 
range of companies, and it is also in a position to foster home-grown spin-off businesses. 

2.12 The world renowned University of Oxford is ranked first in the Times Higher Education W orld 
University Rankings 20182. It has around 13,000 employees 3 (not including those employed 
solely by the colleges or by Oxford University Press or casual workers). Oxford Brookes University 
is the highest placed UK institution in the 2018 QS rankings of world universities under 50 years 
old and has earned recognition for the quality of a large number of its teaching areas 4. Oxford 
Brookes employs 2,800 full-time equivalent staff5. 

 
2.13 Thus the two universities have a significant economic impact on the city as direct employers, 

purchasers of goods and services, hosts to over 30,000 students and in the research and 
development opportunities that they facili tate and inspire. 

 
2.14 Oxford’s cluster of medical research organisations and faci lities together employ around 17,000 

people or 13% of Oxford’s total workforce. These assets link closely with healthcare research 
undertaken at the universities who both have plans to expand medical and clinical research, thus 
creating more opportunity for discovery and growth. The health sector in Oxford is a catalyst for 
the wider region’s biotechnology sector which in 2017 comprised 163 companies of which 496  

were based in Oxford. Oxford has numerous strengths in particular biotechnology subsectors, 
including drug discovery and development, diagnostics, medical technology and imaging. 

 
2.15 The City Counci l is committed to supporting the sustainable growth of the two universities and 

thus maximising the related economic, social and cultural benefits which they bring to Oxford. 
Due to the limited availabi lity of land and the competing demands for development si tes in the 
city, it is important that the universities are encouraged to focus growth on their own sites; both 
insti tutions have indicated that they have the potential to deliver more of their own needs through 
redevelopment. In addition to the universities and schools in Oxford, the city also has a large and 
established market in other forms of education provision; the Oxford name attracts potential 
students from across the world. There are a large number and wide range of language schools 
and private colleges in Oxford. It is also important that their growth and impacts of these 
educational insti tutions areis managed, in particular any associated growth in student 
accommodation (see Policy H8: Provision of new student accommodation and Policy H9: Linking 

 
2 www.timeshighereducation. com/world-university- rankings/2018/world-ranking#survey-answer 
3 www.ox.ac.uk/about/ facts-and-figures/staff- numbers?wssl=1 
4 www.topuniversities.com/ university-rankings/top-50- under-50/2018 
5 www.brookes.ac.uk/about- brookes/at-a-glance 
6 Nomis April 2018 

 
i)    if it is proposed for housing. 

Planning permission will be granted for redevelopment of an existing car showroom for 
housing where the site is considered suitable for such an alternative use. 

 
Beyond this approach, i In all cases the suitabi lity of the proposed use will be assessed 
against the site specific circumstances. 

67



34 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

the delivery of new university academic faci lities to the delivery of university provided residential 
accommodation). Unchecked growth in student numbers without provision of student 
accommodation would have a detrimental impact on the avai labili ty and price of homes for the 
general population. The policy requires that any additional student accommodation need created 
is matched by a corresponding provision of suitable student accommodation. This will not 
necessari ly be purpose built student accommodation; use of university accommodation out of 
term time and homestay accommodation may also be suitable for some insti tutions. 

 
2.16 Policies relating to the development of the hospital and university sites should be read in 

conjunction with the relevant site policies in Chapter 9 of this Local Plan. 
 

 

iii. New academic or administrative floorspace for private 
colleges/language schools 

 

2.17 In addition to the universities and the schools in Oxford, the city also has a large and established 
market in other forms of education provision; the Oxford name attracts potential students from 
across the world. There are a large number and wide range of language schools and private 
colleges in Oxford7; many of these are located in the city primarily to use the ‘Oxford’ brand and 

 
7 Examples of types of Language Schools, Private Schools and Colleges include: Further Education 
Colleges; Adult Learning Colleges; Higher Education Colleges; Independent Schools; Summer 

Policy E2: Teaching and research 
 
Planning permission will be granted to support the growth of the hospitals, through 
the redevelopment and intensification of their si tes in Headington as set out in the 
site allocations, including to increase their teaching and research function. 

 
Applications for all new education, teaching and academic insti tutional proposals 
(other than the expansion of schools providing statutory education) should clearly 
demonstrate how they support the objectives of and accord with the wider policies of 
this development plan. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for new or additional academic or 
administrative floorspace for educational insti tutions if it can be demonstrated that 
Policy H9 is met or, where this policy does not apply, that a suitable form of student 
accommodation for all students will be provided, with controls in place to ensure that 
the provision of accommodation is in step with the expansion of student places. 

 
In particular, Pplanning permission will be granted to support the growth of the 
University of Oxford through the redevelopment and intensification of academic and 
administrative floorspace on existing University of Oxford and college sites. 

 
Planning permission will be granted to support the growth of Oxford Brookes 
University through the redevelopment and intensification of academic and 
administrative floorspace on their existing sites at Headington Hill and Gipsy Lane. 

 
The expansion of both universities must be accompanied by the provision of student 
accommodation as necessary and in accordance with Policy H8. 

 
Planning permission will be granted to support the growth of the hospitals, through 
the redevelopment and intensification of their si tes in Headington as set out in the 
site allocations, including to increase their teaching and research function. 

68



35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

do not necessarily have an operational need to be in Oxford. The 2017 report by Cambridge 
Centre for Housing and Planning Research found that 37% of all students in Oxford are at various 
non-university institutions. The private colleges and language schools that responded to the 
survey (55% of identified institutions) gave their maximum likely number of students they have on 
courses at any one time. This added up to 20,892 students, although many of these students are 
on very short courses (such as those on summer language courses). 

 
2.18 Such institutions offer some economic benefi t to the city in that they are direct employers (albeit 

in many cases this is short-term seasonal work) but the economic impact and contribution to the 
economic objectives of the Local Plan is much more limited than that of the two universities in 
that they are only language teaching establishments. Many premises in these uses have a low 
employment density and therefore do not make very efficient use of land. There has been 
significant growth in the number and size of such language schools, private colleges and their 
student accommodation since 2012. 

 
2.19 Students at private colleges and language schools often require purpose built student 

accommodation which reduces opportunities avai lable for accommodation for those who need 
general housing or student accommodation for one of the two universities. 

2.20 For these reasons and the severe shortage of land in Oxford, the Local Plan takes a strict 
approach to restrict any further growth of these insti tutions to allow opportunities for land and 
development opportunities to be directed to meeting more pressing needs, such as housing, 
student accommodation for the Universities or B1 uses. 

 
2.21 The approach allows for, and will encourage, existing language schools and private colleges to 

make more efficient use of their current floorspace. The abi lity also remains for summer schools 
to use university floorspace out of term time. 

 
2.22 With regards to this policy restriction on growth there are exclusions for specific reasons: 

 

 The City of Oxford College is excluded as it provides state-funded further education 
to local people including sixth form, vocational courses, 
apprenticeships and supports young people who are not in education, employment or 
training (NEETs). This is a vital role in Oxford’s economy in that it enables the 
provision of additional educational opportunities for secondary school age pupi ls in 
the context of the current under performance of secondary education in Oxford. 

 
• Ruskin College is excluded due to its unique social benefits in providing vocational 

degrees, apprenticeships and access programmes for adults with few or no 
qualifications seeking to change the lives of those who need a second chance in 
education. 

 
 Independent schools and boarding schools are also excluded as they provide 

primary and secondary education. 
 
 

 
 
 

Language Schools; Term-time language Schools; University Preparation Colleges; Private Tutorial 
Colleges; Private Schools for International Students; and Independent Preparatory Schools. This 
excludes schools. 

Policy E3: New academic or administrative floorspace for private colleges/ 
language schools 

69



36 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Iv iii Securing opportunities for local employment, training and businesses 
 

2.23 New development offers a significant opportunity to secure real benefits for the local community 
beyond those directly related to the use provided. The construction phase of a development offers 
the chance for local people to be employed in the bui lding industry; Community Employment 
Plans (CEPs) Employment and Skills Plans (ESPs) linked to legal agreements can make 
provision for example for apprenticeships  and  training  or links  to  local  schools  and colleges. 
Similar mechanisms can be used to secure commitment from the developer to procuring material 
and labour locally, keeping the income in the local community which then gets recycled in local 
shops and services. This approach can also be extended into the operational phase of 
development with agreements to secure a proportion of the longer-term workforce or supply chain 
locally for example. Another option is to commit to paying employees the Oxford Living Wage and 
only using contractors who pay this higher level than the National Living Wage. 

Planning permission will not be granted for new or additional academic or administrative 
floorspace for private colleges on sites not currently in use as a private college on 1 
January 2018. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for new or additional academic or administrative 
floorspace on existing private college sites i f the proposal does not result in: 

 
a) a net loss of B1 floorspace or floorspace that could potentially be used for B1; or 
b) a net loss of residential accommodation or floorspace that could potentially be 

used for residential accommodation; or 
c) an increased need for student accommodation in addition to that already provided 

for in Oxford. 
 
In addition i t must be demonstrated that the new development has a clear and direct 
contribution to all four economic objectives of the Local Plan: 

 
• To build on Oxford’s economic strengths as a global centre for research, learning 

and health care 
• To remain at the heart of the Oxfordshire economy and an important contributor to 

the national economy in i ts key strengths in the knowledge intensive businesses 
(such as education, health, science and technology, and as a leading 
environmentally sustainable city) 

• To reduce inequali ties across Oxford, particularly in employment, health and 
education 

• To provide a diverse range of employment opportunities to meet the needs of the  
city’s businesses and residents, allowing Oxford to grow and function sustainably,  
and with a skilled workforce ready to fill the employment opportunities that arise” 

 
The following institutions are exempt from the requirements of this policy: 

 
• City of Oxford College (Activate Learning); and 
• Ruskin College; and 
• Independent schools providing statutory primary and secondary education 

 
The City Council wi ll support the appropriate growth of these institutions through the 
expansion or modernisation of their existing or allocated sites. 

70



37 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2.24 The City Council is keen to make sure that every opportunity to secure community employment 
training and procurement benefi ts from new development is explored and pursued where 
possible. Thus, applicants are encouraged to submit an ESP alongside all  major development proposals. 
ESPs Much of this wi ll should be employer-led and the approach taken will vary according to the 
size of the scheme, the type of development, and the long-term ownership/ management regime. 
Community Employment Plans Employment and Ski lls Plans have an important role in securing 
the opportunities that arise from new development. These issues should be considered in all 
major developments; and the City Council wi ll require information demonstrating the applicants 
approach alongside planning applications. The level of detail and commitment to such social 
clauses will vary according to the scale and type of development. Where appropriate the City 
Council wi ll secure these commitments through a legal agreement. The City Counci l supports the 
growth of social enterprises and co-operatives. 

 
Policy E4: Securing opportunities for local employment, training and businesses 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for development over 45 residential units or 
1000m2 non-residential floorspace where it is accompanied by detai led information 
demonstrating that the applicants can secure the opportunities for: 

 
a) Securing construction jobs for local people 
b) Providing construction apprenticeship  opportunities 
c) Linking with local schools and colleges 
d) Procuring a proportion of construction materials locally 
e) Securing jobs for local people in the operational phase 
f) Procuring a proportion of on-going supply chain needs locally 
g) Paying all employees (other than apprentices) the Oxford Living Wage 
h) Only using contractors who commit to paying the Oxford Living Wage 
i) Other social clauses as appropriate to the development 

 
The City Council wi ll secure these commitments through the use of legal agreements. 

71



38 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Full page picture of Oxford Canal not replicated in this draft, but will remain in the 
final version. 

72



39 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
3. A pleasant place to live, delivering housing with a mixed and 

balanced community 

It is important we try to provide for all  types of household needs and circumstances, including  
families, single people, the elderly and those with special needs. Good quality, affordable housing  
helps enable stable and secure family lives. We can be healthier and happier if we have decent 
homes close to schools, healthcare and transport links. Good housing can improve our social,  
environmental and economic well-being. It helps create stronger communities that can attract 
investment and skilled workers. 

 
Part 1: Meeting housing needs 

 
i. The scale of new housing  provision 

 

3.1 To support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes (as stated in 
the NPPF), i t is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward where i t 
is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that    
land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay.   Commented [OCC1]: Italics to be removed 

 
3.2 This Plan has clear strategic objectives that aim to create mixed and balanced communities, both 

across Oxford and at a more local level, within the overall priority of delivering new homes. The 
City Council wi ll plan to encourage a range of tenancies and household types, with no one group 
being dominant over others. This helps to bui ld sustainable, lifetime communities. Within this 
context, policies identify the size, type and tenure of homes required for different groups in the 
community (including, but not limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with 
children, older people, students, people with disabili ties, people who rent their homes and people 
wishing to commission or bui ld their own homes). 

 
3.3 The City Counci l has taken some difficult decisions and made some bold choices in drafting the 

policies of this Plan priori tising the delivery of housing whilst striking an appropriate balance with 
the other needs of a sustainable city. A comprehensive approach has been taken to identi fying 
all possible deliverable sites for development. In this Plan the City Counci l has carefully 
considered the contribution that new policies on building heights, increased density, open spaces, 
parking levels and others can make to maximising the efficient use of land available for housing. 
The housing target is a minimum rather than maximum number of units. Where proposals are 
presented for housing development on unallocated brownfield sites, the City Counci l will take a 
positive approach, applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development (Policy S1). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The scale of new housing need 

73



40 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.4 The urgent need for more homes and the constrained supply in Oxford is well documented and 
frequently features in the press and research studies 8. The constrained housing supply and 
increasing unaffordability of homes in Oxford have significant sustainabi lity impacts for those 
living and working in the City. Housing provision is a key determinant in attracting and retaining 
people to support the economy of the city, and the wider region. The current shortage of housing 
in Oxford also has environmental and social impacts, such as the congestion on roads around 
the city caused by employees travelling into the city to work, and the disconnection of networks 
of family and friends as people move to more affordable areas to live. 

 
3.5 The main evidence for housing need in Oxford continues to be the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment (SHMA) which was commissioned by the six Oxfordshire local authorities. 
This partnership of the 5 District Counci ls and the County Council forms the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board. The SHMA identi fies the overall scale of housing need, as well as the mix of housing and 
range of tenures which the local population is likely to need in the 20 year period to 2031. It 
considers household and population projections, taking account of migration and demographic 
change. It also addresses the need for all types of housing, including affordable housing needs, 
and the needs of different groups in the community. The SHMA brings this information together 
to identi fy the ‘objectively assessed need’ (OAN) for each district within the ‘housing market area’. 

 
3.6 The Oxfordshire SHMA 2014 covers the period unti l 2031, so a roll-forward was commissioned 

by the City Council in order to understand housing need to 2036. The SHMA roll-forward has used 
the same methodology as the previous SHMA, but has used the most up-to-date household 
forecasts and has re-calculated the implications of economic growth. A new calculation of housing 
need based on the Government’s standard methodology set out in ‘Planning for the Right Homes 
in the Right Places: Consultation Proposals’ (2017) was not undertaken for a number of reasons. 
It is considered that exceptional circumstances justi fied the use of an alternative approach, as 
allowed for in the NPPF (paragraph 60). In particular all Oxfordshire Counci ls in this current round 
of local plans are working to deliver the housing need identified in the 2014 SHMA and it is 
important that Oxford’s Plan is consistent with the plans prepared and made by other Counci ls, 
and that the preparation and adoption of the Plan is not delayed. Moreover, the Counci ls have 
received Growth Deal funding to deliver these homes. The SHMA roll-forward has reflected 
current and future demographic trends and market signals, which reflect Oxford’s particularly 
young and dynamic population demographic. 

 
 

3.7 The 2018 SHMA roll-forward to 2036 found that, in order to meet Oxford’s affordable housing 
need in full, based on a policy of 50% delivery of affordable housing, 1,356 dwellings per annum 
would be required. As identi fied above, affordabili ty is a critical factor for Oxford. The Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal with Government, signed by all of the local authorities in Oxfordshire 
in February 2018, commits the Oxfordshire authorities to work together to deliver 100,000 homes 
in the 20 year period to 2031. The assumption bui lt in to this overall figure was that 1,400 dwellings 
per annum were identified as required in Oxford to 2031. Therefore, the housing target remains 
as it was in the 2014 SHMA, namely 1,400 per annum. Furthermore, in Autumn 2017 the National 
Infrastructure Commissions (NIC) work on the Oxford – Milton Keynes – 

 
Cambridge corridor was published9. This report identified the important economic potential of the 
corridor and i ts constituent clusters and the need for an additional 1 million new homes along the 
corridor to be provided in the period to 2050. The NPPF says that the NIC recommendations and 
the government’s response to them will be a material consideration in future planning decisions. 

 

8 Eg Cities Outlook 2018, Centre for Cities: www.centreforcities.org/wp-content/ uploads/2018/01/18- 
01-12-Final-Full-Cities-Outlook-2018.pdf 
9 Partnering for Prosperity: A new deal for the Cambridge- Milton Keynes-Oxford Arc, National 
Infrastructure Commission 

74



41 
 

 
 

Projections 
 

 
Completions 

 

Target  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The housing which is being planned for through this Local Plan is important in contributing to 
meeting the target for the corridor. 

 
Setting a capacity-based housing requirement target 

 

3.8 The need for new homes for Oxford over the plan period to meet affordable housing need and 
the commitments of the growth deal is much higher than the city can realistically accommodate 
within its administrative boundaries. However there are very significant constraints on the capacity 
of the city – physically with the city’s tight administrative boundary and Green Belt, and 
environmentally with large areas of national or international biodiversity interest and areas within 
flood zone 3b functional flood plain, as well as heritage and townscape considerations. The 
Oxford Housing and Economic Land Avai lability Assessment (HELAA) assesses the availabili ty, 
suitabili ty and likely economic viabi lity of land to meet the identified need for housing over the 
plan period. 

 
Diagram 3: Housing Trajectory 2016-2036 [UPDATED DIAGRAM SHOWN 

BELOW] 
 
 
 

Dw
el

lin
gs

 

75



42 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.9 In recognition of these significant constraints and limitations Oxford City Counci l has taken the 
pragmatic and realistic decision, in consultation with neighbouring authori ties, to set a capacity- 
based housing requirement target. This rolls-forward the prior recognition by Inspectors for the 
previous Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016, and the Oxford Core Strategy, which both used a 
constraint  and  capacity-based  target.  As  such  this  Plan  sets   a   capacity   based   housing  
requirement  target.   This   provides   for   a  minimum  housing  requirement   target of 10,884 
8,620 new homes to be delivered by 2036. This reflects the capacity and availabi lity of land/sites 
in the city, the need to provide for a mix of homes to support the growth of sustainable 
communities, the need to provide land for other essential uses (such as employment, retai l, health 
and education faci lities, and other community and leisure faci lities) and the need to respect the 
historic, bui lt, and natural environment of the city. A 10% discount has also been applied to the 
total capacity figure calculated in the HELAA to reflect historic rates of non-delivery of sites. 

 
Managing Oxford’s unmet housing need 

 
3.10 In 2016 the Oxfordshire Growth Board confirmed that Oxford was unable to meet its proportion 

of the SHMA figures due to the constrained nature of Oxford. For Oxford the OAN in the 2014 
SHMA is a range of between 24,000 to 32,000 additional new homes required for the period 2011 
to 2031 (or 1200 to 1600 per year). The approach taken by the Oxfordshire Growth Board was 
that the mid-point of this range should be taken as the starting point for assessing the level of 
need and unmet need (i.e. 28,000). Based upon extensive evidence, the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board agreed an apportionment of homes to be provided within each of the districts. This 
agreement was signed by all but one of the district counci ls. The assumed capacity for Oxford 
was 10,000 dwellings. 

 
3.11 The Local Plans for the other Oxfordshire districts are delivering 13,100 14,300 dwellings to meet 

Oxford’s unmet need, as follows: 
 

Cherwell Local Plan Partial Review: 
Oxford’s unmet needs 

4,400 
(Plan submitted March 2018 Examination 
Autumn 2018) 

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033 3,7504,950 
(Plan yet to be submitted March 2019) 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan Part 2 2,200 
(Examination July 2018) 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2,750 
(Adopted September 2018) 

Total provision towards Oxford’s unmet 
needs by 2031 

13,100 14,300 

 
 
 

3.12 The Oxfordshire authori ties have committed to producing a new Joint Statutory Spatial Plan 
(JSSP) for Oxfordshire for the period to 2050. The JSSP will provide the strategic planning 
framework for Oxfordshire and will be submitted for examination by March 2020. The JSSP will 
deal with the key strategic planning matters for Oxfordshire; it will deal with the key elements 
relating to housing and economic growth needs and the infrastructure to support it. This wi ll 
include dealing with any objectively assessed housing need from Oxford in the period 2031-50 
which cannot be met within Oxford’s administrative boundary, and the apportionment of homes 
provided in other districts. 

76



43 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

ii. Delivering affordable homes 
 

3.13 The provision of affordable homes is a key element of creating and maintaining mixed and 
balanced communities. One of the biggest issues facing residents in Oxford is the unaffordabi lity 
of homes, to rent or to buy. Oxford is one of the least affordable places in the country, resulting 
from a combination of high land values, reducing land availabi lity, and a shortage of homes. This 
means that housing is so expensive in absolute terms and compared to average salaries, that 
many people are priced out of the market. As such, delivering housing that is affordable in Oxford 
is a key priority of the City Council to help ensure that Oxford is a sustainable and inclusive city. 

 
3.14 Social rent (the most discounted form of affordable housing to rent) is the only option for many 

people. It is also the form of housing targeted to those in greatest housing need. If this option is 
unavailable, people who are unable to afford alternative tenures may resort to living in sub- 
standard or overcrowded housing conditions, or may have to move out of the city altogether  in 

Policy H1: The scale of new housing provision 
 
Provision will be made for at least 10,884 8620 new homes to be bui lt in Oxford over the 
plan period 2016-2036. This equates to a delivery of 431 dwellings per annum. To reflect 
anticipated delivery over the plan period the housing target per annum reflects a stepped 
trajectory, as follows: 
2016/17 to 2020/21: 475 dpa 
2021/22 to 2035/36: 567 dpa 

This wi ll be achieved by: 

a) making site allocations in this Plan (see Chapter 9 site allocations); and 
b) promoting the efficient use and development of land/sites, including higher 

densities and building heights in appropriate locations (see Chapter 6 on Heritage 
and Design); and 

c) ensuring that all new housing developments contribute to the creation and/or 
maintenance of mixed and balanced communities. 

 
Housing will be delivered from the following sources: 
Deliverable sites from the HELAA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7600 
Windfalls  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60pa x17 = 1,020 
Total 2016-2036. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8620 

77



44 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

order to find more suitable and affordable accommodation. For this reason, of the 50% affordable 
housing requirement, 40% is expected to be social rented housing. 

 
3.15 The delivery of genuinely affordable housing has long been a priori ty of the City Council. In 

successive Plans the City Council has adopted a series of policies that require the delivery of a 
high percentage of affordable housing on site from larger schemes, and requires contributions 
towards the cost of delivering affordable housing on smaller si tes and from commercial 
development. Monitoring shows that the City Counci l has been successful in securing delivery of 
affordable homes through these mechanisms10. 

 
 
 
 

3.16 Securing new affordable housing on sites as part of larger developments is one way that homes 
can be provided. The Counci l wi ll therefore seek that on residential development sites of 10 or 
more units, a proportion of affordable housing is provided on-site. For smaller residential 
developments of 4-9 units a financial contribution will be sought in lieu of on-site provision. For 
residential uses where onsite provision may not be appropriate (e.g. student accommodation) 
then a financial contribution will be sought, which will be secured through a  planning  condition.  
This  requirement   is  exempted  for  university  campus  sites  and  for  redevelopment of existing  
purpose-built  student  accommodation  that  is currently  and  will continue  to  be owned and/or 
managed by the universities. This is in recognition of the onus placed on the universities by Policy H9 
and also in recognition  of  the  character  of  the  campus  sites themselves where the provision of 
student housing is directly connected with academic  and  teaching  activity  and  will  not  impair  
provision  of  market  or  affordable   housing. 

 
3.17 Affordable housing must be truly affordable to those that need i t. The Government defines 

affordable housing as comprising social rent, affordable rented, and intermediate housing (such 
as shared ownership, starter homes and rent to buy) provided to eligible households whose needs 
are not met by the open market. However the high land values and the affordability gap in Oxford 
is so extreme that many of the models used elsewhere for making housing more affordable, do 
not achieve genuine affordabi lity for people looking to rent or to buy in Oxford. The Housing 
Tenancy Strategy11 looks at overall earnings and tenure costs in Oxford. The benchmark for 
affordabili ty in this study is that rent and/or mortgage costs should be 35% or less of net household 
income. Some affordable home ownership models may not be affordable in Oxford or may only 
benefit a very small portion of households. The Government’s definition of affordable rent is 80% 
of market rents. Affordable rent in Oxford exceeds Local Housing Allowance levels and cannot 
be considered genuinely affordable in Oxford. In Oxford, to achieve genuine affordabi lity as set 
out in the Housing Tenancy Strategy, rents would need to be further reduced from 80% of market 
rents. Of the 50% affordable housing requirement, 10% is expected to be intermediate housing 
that is genuinely affordable in Oxford. 

 
3.18 The City Council recognises the role of small-scale house bui lders in delivering new homes in 

Oxford, and the importance of small si tes to the supply of new housing, the majority of which are 
sites of less than 10 homes due to the urban and constrained nature of sites in Oxford. The City 
Council has tested i ts approach, including undertaking viabili ty study to assess the level of 
affordable housing contribution that could reasonably be required from new residential 
developments. This has shown that the affordable housing requirements, as set out in the policy 
to be viable (in light of all other policy requirements), including the contributions required from 
smaller developments. Owing to Oxford’s significant need for affordable housing and because the 
majority of Oxford’s housing is delivered from small si tes, contributions will be required from sites 

 

10 AMR https://www. oxford.gov.uk/info/20067/ planning_policy/746/annual_ monitoring_report 
11 Tenancy Strategy 2018-2023- Appendix C to be updated annually 

78



45 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

of 4-9 units. These sites have made significant contributions to delivering affordable housing, and 
they will be needed in future to help deliver affordable housing. 

 
 
Policy H2: Delivering affordable homes 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for residential development if affordable homes are 
provided in accordance with the following criteria: 

 
a) Contributions from On self-contained residential developments (C2 and C3, including 

retirement homes, sheltered housing, but excluding student accommodation and 
employer-linked  housing): 

 
i. Affordable homes from larger sites:  

Wwhere sites* have a capacity for 10 or more homes (gross) or exceed 0.5 ha, a 
minimum of 50% of units on a site should be provided as homes that are truly 
affordable in the context of the Oxford housing market (defined in the Glossary). At 
least 40% of the overall number of units on a site should be provided as on-site 
social rented dwellings. The remaining element of the affordable housing may be 
provided as intermediate forms of housing provided that they are affordable in the 
Oxford market. The affordable homes must be provided as part of the same 
development (“on-site”) to ensure a balanced community. Where affordable 
housing is provided onsite it should incorporate a mix of unit sizes (see policy H4 
on housing mix). 

 
ii. Affordable homes through financial contributions from smaller sites: 

Where sites* have a capacity of 4-9 homes (gross), a financial contribution will be 
sought towards the provision of affordable housing elsewhere in Oxford. The 
contribution required will be equivalent to 15% of the gross development value (see 
Appendix 3.1). 

 
* site area includes everything within the red line boundary of the planning 
application, which may include existing properties which are being materially 
altered. 

 
b) For new student accommodation of 25 or more 20 student units (or 10 or more 4 self- 

contained student units), a financial contribution should be secured towards delivering 
affordable housing elsewhere in Oxford. The contribution will be calculated using the 
formula in Appendix 3.2. The contribution will be required only from the number of 
units creating a net gain. Alternatively, the affordable housing contribution can be 
provided on-site where both the City Counci l and the applicant agree that this 
provision is appropriate. For mixed-use developments of student accommodation with 
general housing a pro-rata approach will be used to determine whether a contribution 
is required, and how much this should be. 

 
Contributions towards affordable housing provision from new student accommodation will 
not be sought where: 

i) The proposal is within an existing or proposed student campus site, as defined in 
the glossary; or 

ii) The proposal is for redevelopment of an existing purpose-bui lt student 
accommodation site which at the date of adoption of the Plan is owned by a 
university and which will continue to be owned by a university to meet the 
accommodation needs of its students. 

79



46 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
iii. Employer-linked affordable housing 

 
3.19 Employers in Oxford are facing significant challenges in recruiting and retaining staff as a result 

of the lack of availabili ty and affordability of housing. There is not only a shortage of homes in 
Oxford, but a shortage of homes that are affordable to local people working in Oxford. Many of 
these workers are unable to afford market housing or even private rented accommodation in the 
City. Many people find themselves living outside of Oxford with expensive and time consuming 
commutes into the city, or living in shared accommodation in Oxford that is too small for their 
needs. People are discouraged from taking jobs in Oxford if they cannot afford to live close 
enough to their place of work. People with no option but to rent a room in a house-share prevents 
them from moving on with their lives with a partner or family. 

 
3.20 As a result many employers, including critical services such as the NHS, are having recruitment 

and retention difficulties. Assisting employers based in Oxford with recruitment and retention 
problems would support the Local Plan objectives in three ways: economic (productivity of the 
employer and local investment); housing (provision of affordable housing); and sustainabili ty 
(opportunity to live closer to place for work, increased energy efficiency and reduced emissions). 

 
3.21 This policy provides an alternative approach to that of Policy H2 on affordable housing. On named 

sites Policy H3 it would allow employers to address their own recruitment and retention issues on 
their own land by providing housing for their employees at a rent affordable to them. If employers 
can deliver 100% homes for rent at a level that is genuinely affordable to their employees, in 
perpetuity, on their sites as employer-linked accommodation (that meets the definition of 
affordable housing in the Glossary) then this could free up social rented homes or places on the 
housing waiting list and would help the employer address their recruitment difficulties. Employers 
important for Oxford were identi fied and contacted to find interest in this policy. The policy is 
restricted to specified sites as listed in Appendix 3.4. For most of the specified sites, employer- 
linked housing will only be one element of uses, for example hospital uses will be retained on the 
hospital si tes. If market housing is also to be provided, policy H2 will apply to that element of the 
housing. In the event that a landowner chooses to deliver employer linked affordable housing 
under Policy H3 on a site identi fied in Appendix 3.4 and market housing is also to be provided on 
that si te, Policy H2 is engaged in respect of that market housing. However, the employer linked 
affordable housing so provided can only be relied to meet the requirement for the intermediate 
element within Policy H2. The employer linked affordable housing provided could not be relied to 
meet the social rented tenure requirement within Policy H2. 

If an applicant can demonstrate particular circumstances that justify the need for a viabi lity 
assessment, and through an open book exercise demonstrate the affordable housing 
requirement to be unviable, a cascade approach should be worked through with the City 
Council unti l development is viable, as set out in Appendix 3.31. PPG para 7 

 
Across all types of development, where the number of dwellings proposed falls below the 
relevant thresholds set out above to require affordable housing, the Council wi ll consider 
whether or not the site reasonably has capacity to provide the number of dwellings that 
would trigger a requirement to make a contribution towards affordable housing. This is to 
ensure that developers may not circumvent the policy requirement by artificially subdividing 
sites or an inefficient use of land. 

 
This policy will apply to all types of residential development including conversions and 
changes of use. 

 
* See Appendix 3.3 for more detai ls 

80



47 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.22 By exempting these developments from the normal requirements for affordable homes, the City 
Council is offering a significant opportunity for those employers to provide for their own needs and 
address the sector of society between those able to access traditional affordable housing and 
those able to access market housing for sale or rent. Application of this alternative approach is 
dependent on a series of criteria that collectively ensure that benefits truly outweigh the 
compromises. For example, the employer-linked housing must meet many of the features of 
traditional affordable housing and be available to a true cross-section of employees. 

 
3.23 It is important that that the housing provided through this policy remains affordable in perpetuity 

and the City Council wi ll secure this through a legal agreement. In the event that over time, the 
employer no longer has a need for the employer linked housing, the legal agreement wi ll also 
ensure that 50% of the units are transferred to a registered provider or the City Counci l’s housing 
company as affordable housing, with at least 40% as social rented tenure, and not sold on the 
open market. This claw- back approach will ensure that the city does not lose out on the provision 
of valuable affordable housing (one of the main objectives of this Plan) through misuse of this 
policy or changing circumstances over time. 

 

Policy H3: Employer-linked affordable housing 
 
Planning permission will be granted on specific si tes (as listed in Appendix 3.4) for 
affordable housing for rent. On these sites an affordable housing approach will need to be 
agreed with the Council setting out how the proposed affordable homes will be developed 
and managed by the employers (or their development partners on their behalf) to meet the 
housing needs of their employees. Where this policy is applied the standard affordable 
housing requirements of Policy H2 will not apply, except to any market housing element 
on the site, or under those circumstances identi fied under criterion h). 

 
All the following cri teria must be met demonstrated as part of the planning application and 
will be secured through any relevant planning permission to to apply this policy: 

 
a) the employer has an agreed affordable housing approach in place setting out 

access criteria and eligibili ty, rent policy and rent levels, approved by the City 
Council, with an appropriate review mechanism in place and reviewed every five 
years; and 

 
b) 100% of the housing should be available to be occupied by those employees who 

meet the requirements of the affordable housing approach agreed with the counci l 
and be avai lable in perpetuity; and 

 
c) the occupation of such housing will be limited to households where at least one 

member works for the employer linked to the site (for the duration of their 
employment). This also applies to social care workers who work for but are not 
employed directly by Oxfordshire County Counci l and to some NHS staff; and 

 
d) an occupancy register should be kept and made available for inspection by the 

City Counci l at any time; and 
 

e) planning applications must be accompanied by a detailed explanation and 
justi fication of the approach proposed and the mechanisms for securing the 
requirements of this policy. 

 
A legal agreement wi ll be required to secure the benefi ts of this policy. In addition the legal 
agreement wi ll be used to: 

81



48 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Part 2: Creating a balanced and mixed community 

 
iv. Mix of dwelling sizes 

 
3.24 The NPPF requires local planning authori ties to plan for a mix of homes based on current and 

future demographic trends, markets trends and the needs of different groups in the community. 
In addition, local authori ties must identify the size, type, tenure and range of homes that is 
required to reflect local needs to ensure that mixed and balanced communities are created. 

 
3.25 The mix of dwelling sizes in Oxford differs from the surrounding areas as it tends to be higher 

density development and typically smaller homes, with a higher than average proportion of 1 and 
2 bed properties (43% compared to 34% across the Oxfordshire Housing Market Area, HMA) 

 
3.26 It is particularly important that a range of affordable housing types come forward, in order that 

specific needs can be met. The Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment identi fies the 
particular need for affordable homes. This evidence, alongside that provided by the mix of unit 
sizes required according to the affordable housing register (together taking into account factors 
such as the need to downsize and the existing housing stock) has informed the % requirements 
in Policy H4. This mix does not apply to homes delivered under Policy H3. 

 
 

f) agree the allocations policy; 
 

g) ensure that in periods agree an appropriate re-letting of units in the 
property where there are vacant units for more than 6 months the employer works 
with the City Council’s housing team who will ensure those units are offered to 
those on the housing register; 

 
h) agree that if the employer findsdecides they no longer have a need for the 

housing, the affordable housing requirements detai led under Policy H2 will be 
applied. 50% of the housing must be managed by a Registered Provider or the City 
Council’s housing company, with 40% retained for social rent. 

Policy H4: Mix of dwelling sizes 
 
Planning permission will be granted for residential development that is demonstrated to 
deliver a balanced mix of dwelling sizes to meet a range housing needs and create mixed 
and balanced communities. 

 
Proposals for 25 or more homes (gross) (C3 residential), or sites of 
0.5 ha. and greater, and which are outside of the city centre or district centres, will be 
expected to comply with the following mix of unit sizes for the affordable element, where it 
is feasible (this does not apply to employer-linked affordable housing): 
1 bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .20-30% 
2 bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .30-40% 
3 bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .20-40% 
4+ bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .58-1510% 
5+ bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3-5% 

 
Sites below the threshold or within the city centre or a district centre should demonstrate 
how the proposal has had regard to local housing demand, including for affordable 
housing demonstrated by the housing register. 

82



49 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

v. Development involving loss of dwellings 
 

3.27 Given the scale of the objectively assessed housing need in Oxford it wi ll be important to ensure 
that the existing stock of homes is protected, particularly those that are best suited for family living; 
otherwise the benefi ts of building new housing would be undermined. However, the lack of 
avai lable land and sites can constrain development of important community facilities needed 
locally. 

 
3.28 The policy approach is to resist any net loss of any dwelling, but with some flexibi lity to allow a 

loss where there are exceptional justifications. Some flexibility is important to allow faci lities 
important to the local community (those identified in Policy H5) to come forward. Often these uses 
will be classed as ‘ town centre uses’, which attract moderately large numbers of people, in which 
case it wi ll be expected that they will be located in the city centre or a district centre, or can 
demonstrate that a sequential approach has been followed. 

 

 

vi. Houses in Multiple Occupation 
 

3.29 A House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is a shared house occupied by three or more unrelated 
individuals, as their only or main residence, who share basic amenities such as a kitchen or 
bathroom (see Glossary). It is estimated that 20% of Oxford’s population live in an HMO indicating 
the important role they play in meeting housing needs in Oxford. For many people, HMO offer the 
only available and affordable solution than renting individually or buying a property when prices 
are so high in Oxford. 

Policy H5: Development involving loss of dwellings 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for any development that results in the net loss of 
one or more self-contained dwellings on a site, including family homes (loss of an HMO 
converted from a self- contained dwelling would be considered a loss of a self-contained 
dwelling), except in one of the following circumstances: 

 
a) where essential modernisation is proposed to make living accommodation 

acceptable and it can be shown that loss of a unit is essential for operational 
reasons or to secure space standards; or 

 
b) a change of use of a C3 dwelling or dwellings to a non-self- contained C2 extra 

care, specialist or supported housing, sheltered accommodation or care home is 
proposed; or 

 
c) a change of use of a dwelling to form a primary health care faci lity, chi ldren’s 

nursery or community hub providing community benefits and for which the 
applicant can demonstrate a local need. In such cases, the following criteria should 
all be satisfied: 

 
i. it must be demonstrated that the unit retains capacity to be turned back into a 

residential unit in future; and 
 

ii. the scale and nature of the proposed use is compatible with neighbouring uses 
and with the surrounding area, and is not likely to give rise to unacceptable 
impacts and effects from noise, nuisance, traffic, or on-street parking. 

83



50 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3.30 In some areas of Oxford however, high concentrations of HMO are resulting in changes to the 
character of the local area, and can contribute to local parking problems and large numbers of 
transient households. This has led to concerns in some communities that their communities are 
becoming unbalanced because the number of short-term tenants with less-established 
community ties has increased. 

 
3.31 In February 2012 an Article 4 Direction was brought into force that means that planning permission 

is also now required in Oxford for change of use of a C3 dwelling house to a C4 ‘small’  HMO with 
3-6 occupiers. 

 
3.32 Purpose-built HMO could help to reduce some of the potential management issues or neighbour 

conflicts, because issues like car and cycle parking and bin storage would be fully addressed at 
the planning application stage and properly integrated into the design rather than existing 
buildings having to be adapted or retrofitted. Being designed for the purpose, they will also meet 
space standards and current building regulations. Purpose-built HMO in appropriate locations 
could also help to provide staff accommodation for key employers which have highlighted the 
issues with recruitment and retention resulting from affordabi lity issues. 

 
3.33 The policy approach is designed to manage how and where new HMO are allowed by setting 

criteria to control how they are provided and managed and by restricting HMO numbers where 
there is already a high concentration of existing HMO. The City Council wi ll use its planning 
powers and the opportunities provided by the Article 4 direction to prevent over-concentration of 
HMO in areas where there are already significant numbers. The City Council considers that more 
than 20% of bui ldings in HMO use within a 100 metre length of street wi ll result in over- 
concentration. 

 
3.34 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate that the property fully complies with its ‘Amenities and 

Facili ties for Houses in Multiple Occupation: Good Practice Guidance’ or any Oxford City Counci l 
publication that updates or supersedes this. It is important that adequate provision should be 
made for refuse storage and collection. Cycle and car parking policy for HMOs is set out in Policies 
T4 and T6. 

 

Policy H6:  Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
 
Planning permission, where sought for the change of use of a dwelling in Use Class C3 to 
an HMO, will only be granted where: 

 
a) the proportion of buildings used in full or part as an HMO within 100 metres of 

street length either side of the application site does not exceed 20%; and 
 

b) the development complies with the space standards set out in Policy H15; and 
 

c) the development complies with the City Counci l’s good practice guidance on HMO 
amenities and faci lities, or any equivalent replacement document. 

 
For the purposes of this policy, street length is defined as: 

 
• the frontage either side of the proposed development, including frontage that 

wraps around corners or that is broken by a road or footpath; and 
 

• the frontage either side of the point directly opposite the proposed development, 
including frontage that wraps around corners or that is broken by a road or 
footpath; and 

84



51 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

vii. Community-led  and self-build housing 
 

3.35 Self-bui ld and custom housebuilding is a key element of the government’s agenda to increase 
supply and tackle the housing crisis. Self-bui ld and custom housebuilding is defined in the 
Housing and Planning Act as: “…the building or completion by— (a) individuals, (b) associations 
of individuals, or (c) persons working with or for individuals or associations of individuals of houses 
to be occupied as homes by those individuals. But it does not include the building of a house on 
a plot acquired from a person who builds the house wholly or mainly to plans or specifications 
decided or offered by that person.” 

 
3.36 As required by the Self Build and Custom House Building Act 2015, the City Counci l keeps a 

register of individuals and associations who have expressed an interest in acquiring serviced plots 
for self and custom bui ld. In May 2018 there were 52 entries on the Register. The intention of the 
Act is that LPAs grant suitable development permission for serviced plots to match demand on 
their register, although there is no mechanism for ensuring applications come forward. 

 
3.37 Community-led housing projects can be delivered through a number of approaches, including 

group self-bui ld and cohousing. Community- led housing requires that meaningful community 
engagement occurs throughout the process, with the local community group or organisation 
ultimately owning or managing the homes to the benefit of the local area/ specified community 
group. It can provide many benefits, for example enabling communities to deliver projects that 
meet local needs, giving greater social benefi ts including community support for older people. 

 
3.38 The approach of the policy is to help encourage sufficient self-bui ld and custom housebuilding to 

come forward to meet demand, to support community-led housing, and to guide decisions on 
applications that come forward for these housing types. It is anticipated that proposals for 
community-led housing will include shared outdoor amenity space, as allowed for in Policy H16 
and the car parking standards, as allowed for in Policy T4. 

 

• all bui ldings opposite the frontages described above. 
 
Appendix 3.5 illustrates how this will be applied. 

 
Applications for changes from C4 HMO to a Sui Generis HMO must be compliant with 
points b and c above. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for new purpose-bui lt Houses in Multiple Occupation, 
where they are in accordance with the above criteria. 

Policy H7:  Community-led housing and self-build housing 
 
Community-led  housing 
There are several organised groups with ambitions for providing community-led housing in 
Oxford. Proposals for community-led housing will be supported because of the benefits 
they are expected to bring in terms of community cohesion, permanent affordabi lity and 
sustainable  development. 

 
Self-build housing 
Proposals for self-bui ld housing will be supported as a way of enabling people to meet 
their own housing needs, particularly community-led collective self-bui ld. 

85



52 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Part 3: Providing for specialist housing needs 

 
viii. Student accommodation 

 
3.39 The large number of students resident in Oxford has an impact on the avai labi lity of 

general market housing. Students who live outside purpose- bui lt accommodation tend to 
house-share in the private rental market. This affects the availabi lity and costs of larger 
houses in the general market. However, if developing student accommodation were to be 
given a higher priority than general housing then this could compromise the delivery of 
housing in Oxford, and in particular the delivery of affordable housing. It is important that 
policies are in place to control these uses, particularly as they often compete for the same 
sites. 

 
3.40 The Assessment of Student Housing Demand and Supply in Oxford includes a baseline 

analysis of the current structure of the student population, its current accommodation, and 
the future plans of the different educational insti tutions. Growth of students at each 
university of 1-2% per annum is expected. The Assessment also found that 37% of all 
students in Oxford are at the various non-university institutions. Of the insti tutions that 
responded to the survey, 6 were found to own or long-term lease purpose-bui lt 
accommodation, with a total number of rooms of 530. A further 1,504 rooms in purpose- 
built student accommodation were found to be short-leased to these institutions. This 
includes the use of university accommodation for summer school students during the 
holidays. Several institutions had plans to increase provision of purpose-bui lt student 
accommodation. While some of this is off-si te accommodation, much of it is within the 
insti tutions’ main academic sites. 

 
Location of new student accommodation and occupancy restrictions 

 
3.41 It is appropriate that some additional student accommodation should continue to be 

provided in order to meet the need generated by the two universities increasing the 
number of full time students. Accommodating university students in purpose-bui lt halls 
and other university-provided accommodation can help to reduce the demand from 
students on the general housing stock. However there is a very limited number of sites in 
Oxford and the priori ty of the Local Plan is to deliver general housing on suitable sites. 
Aiming to accommodate all students in purpose- built student accommodation would 
therefore conflict with the overall strategy and vision for Oxford, which is to balance 
different needs and particularly to maximise provision of general and affordable housing. 
It is also the case that not all students will choose to live in university-provided 

On residential sites of 50 units or more, 5% of the site area developed for residential 
should be made avai lable as self-bui ld plots. Employer- linked affordable housing, student 
accommodation, C2 accommodation and residential development in conversions or on 
brownfield sites where only flatted development is provided are excluded from this 
requirement. Plots wi ll be part of the 50% market housing element of the scheme, unless 
they are to be conditioned to be brought forward as housing that meets the affordable 
housing definition. Plots should have services (water, foul drainage and electrici ty supply) 
to the boundary and access to the public highway. Plots should also have surface water 
drainage, telecommunications services, and gas (or district heating) where available. 

 
A legal agreement wi ll be used to ensure that if the self-bui ld plots have not sold after 12 
months of marketing, then dwellings should be built and brought forward in the normal 
way, in accordance with other policies including regarding affordable housing and housing 
mix. 

86



53 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

accommodation. Furthermore, student halls wi ll not be appropriate in all locations 
because of their potential adverse impact on local communities. 

 
3.42 The policy approach aims to ensure new student accommodation is bui lt only in suitable 

locations, and is limited to those on courses of a year or more who are receiving the 
greatest and longest term educational benefit. It prioritises students of the two universities 
to assist with the economic aims of the Plan in supporting the universities. Student 
accommodation should be limited in occupancy to students of the two universities. This is 
compliant with the Plan’s economic strategy as outlined in Chapter 2. This is to achieve 
the best balance between competing demands and to be clear about priori ties for the use 
of scarce resources in the city. 

 
Linking the delivery of new/redeveloped and refurbished university academic facilities 
to the delivery of university provided residential accommodation 

 
3.43 In order to balance competing demands in Oxford, the policy approach is to restrict the 

number of students that each university is permitted to have living outside of university- 
provided accommodation. This wi ll be achieved by not permitting new, redeveloped or 
refurbished academic floorspace unless the university has fewer than the threshold 
number of student numbers living outside of university-provided accommodation. The 
policy applies to university students on full-time taught degree courses of an academic 
year or more. These are the categories of student most suited to living in student 
accommodation. Student teachers, medical students and post-graduate research 
students (who could also be viewed as employees of the university) are amongst those 
categories of students not covered by the policy. These students help support key 
economic sectors and services in Oxford, might be working on placements outside of the 
city for much of their course (for example teaching and nursing students) and have very 
different accommodation needs. The policy approach acknowledges 

 
 

that accommodation needs of undergraduates, postgraduates and staff and those on 
work placements are all di fferent and should be addressed individually. It is anticipated 
that the use of the Employer Linked Housing Policy H3 will help to meet some of these 
housing needs. 

 
3.44 Most of the University of Oxford’s growth is expected to be in post-graduate students, 

both taught and research. Oxford Brookes University in recent years has seen increased 
growth in undergraduate and full-time students, and fewer students from within 
Oxfordshire (who are more likely to live at home). Therefore, despite increases in 
provision of accommodation by Oxford Brookes University there has also been a 
significant increase in the number of students living outside of university accommodation. 
To reflect the current situation, the policy allows for no more than 2,500 University of 
Oxford full-time taught degree students and no more than 3,500 Oxford Brookes 
University full-time taught degree course students to live outside of university-provided 
accommodation. This wi ll ensure any increase in students resulting from improved 
academic accommodation will be matched by increased accommodation provision. 
Because of the number of new rooms expected to come forward in the next few years, 
these thresholds will reduce to 1,500 University of Oxford students by 2022 and 3,000 
Oxford Brookes University students by 2022. These figures reflect what it is considered 
can reasonably be achieved, with consideration of sites already in the pipeline, or 
allocated and able to come forward. These thresholds will be reconsidered as part of the 
Local Plan review cycle. 

87



54 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3.45 The reference to students not living in accommodation provided by either University of 
Oxford or Oxford Brookes University excludes those students who were resident in 
Oxford before applying to study at the university and who continue to live at their home 
address while studying. Full details of how the universities will be assessed against the 
threshold are provided in Appendix 3.5. 

 

Indoor amenity space 
 

3.46 Communal space is important for residents of student accommodation. Shared indoor 
space ensures that occupants have space to gather, socialise and hold events. The 
nature of provision will depend on the scale of development, and could be a common 
room, or an informal lobby area. 

 
Loss of student accommodation 

 
3.47 It is important that existing student accommodation sites are not lost to other uses. 

Proposals that would lead to the loss of student accommodation will only be acceptable if 
an equivalent amount of new student accommodation is available for occupancy, within a 
reasonable and acceptable timeframe, by students of the same university or institution. 
The new provision must take into account the mix, occupancy and affordability of the 
rooms being lost. 

 
Vacation uses 

 
3.48 Policy H8 limits occupation to full-time students enrolled on courses of one academic year 

(including vacation periods). This restriction does not apply outside the semester or term- 
time. This ensures the opportunity for efficient use of the bui ldings for short-stay visi tors, 
such as conference delegates or summer language school students. However, it is 
important that these visitors are also managed and that the institution undertakes to sign 
a management agreement with short-stay visi tors, which includes reference to not 
bringing a car into Oxford (allowing use of park and ride sites only). 

 
Management and parking restrictions 

 
3.49 It is important that student accommodation is well managed such that it results in no 

unacceptable impact on amenity for local residents, including through any increase in cars 
brought into an area. Only operational and disabled parking should be provided for new 
student accommodation. Operational parking should be available for students and their 
families, for a limited period, arriving and departing at the start and end of semesters or 
terms. Appropriate management controls will be secured, including that student 
housing will be excluded from the schedule of streets in the traffic regulation order that 
creates the Controlled Parking Zone so that students cannot apply for parking permits. an 
undertaking that students do not bring cars to Oxford. The City Counci l wi ll seek 
management controls to be secured by planning conditions or obligations which commit 
the operator to getting an undertaking from their tenants, which will be monitored and 
enforced by the landlord. 

 

Policy H8:  Provision of new student accommodation 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for student accommodation in the following 
locations: 

88



55 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 

• on or adjacent to an existing* university or college campus or academic site, or 
hospital and research site, and only if the use during university terms or semesters 
is to accommodate students being taught or conducting research at that site; or 

 
• In the city centre or a district centre; or 

 
• On a site which is allocated in the development plan to potentially include student 

accommodation. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for student accommodation if: 

 
a) student accommodation will be restricted in occupation to full- time students 

enrolled in courses of one academic year or more, subject to the provisions of 
criterion e below; and 

 
b) new student accommodation (other than accommodation developed by an 

insti tution on a campus site) wi ll be restricted in occupation in perpetuity to 
students attending the University of Oxford, Ruskin College or Oxford Brookes 
University; and 

 
c)b)for developments of 20 or more bedrooms, the design includes indoor 
communal amenity space for students to gather and socialise; and 

 
d)c)a management regime has been agreed with the City Counci l that wi ll be 
implemented on first occupation of the development (to be secured by a planning 
obligation); and 

 
e)d)the development complies with parking standards that allow only operational 
and disabled parking, and the developer undertakes and provides a mechanism to 
prevent residents from parking their cars anywhere on the site, and anywhere in 
Oxford (unless a disabled vehicle is required), which the developer shall thereafter 
monitor and enforce; and 

 
f)e)a management strategy is agreed i f i t is intended there will be occupants other 
than students meeting the definition set in criterion a of the named institutions 
outside of term times. 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for developments that would lead to the loss of 
student accommodation unless new student accommodation is available for occupancy, 
within a reasonable and acceptable timeframe, by students of the same university or 
insti tution. New accommodation should be equivalent in amount, mix and affordabili ty to 
the rooms being lost. 

 
*An existing university or college campus or academic site is one that exists at the time 
the Plan is adopted. 

Policy H9: Linking the delivery of new/redeveloped and refurbished university 
academic facilities to the delivery of university provided residential 
accommodation 

89



56 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

ix. Accessible and adaptable homes 
 
 

3.50 Achieving mixed and balanced communities requires the City Counci l to plan for people’s 
different needs. The City Counci l wishes to see new homes bui lt that are accessible to all 
who may wish to live in them, and visit them, including those with disabi lities. 

 
 

3.51 It is important to consider the demands and requirements people will have from their 
homes, and how these will change over the plan period. In particular, addressing how 
homes can be made adaptable to the changing needs of their inhabitants will be an 
important consideration. These changes include adaptations in the size and composition 
of households, the potential for adult chi ldren and older parents moving back in to the 
family home, and an ageing population. Ensuring all new homes are adaptable is also a 
more efficient use of resources as a home that is adaptable will have a longer functional 
life. 

 
3.52 Oxford has a relatively young population compared to neighbouring districts and the UK, 

mainly because of the large number of students. The trend of Oxford having a younger 
population than average is set to continue, but people are living longer and there will be 

Planning permission will only be granted for new/redeveloped or refurbished academic, 
research or administrative accommodation for the University of Oxford where it can be 
demonstrated that: 
a) the new accommodation would not generate or facili tate any increase in student 
numbers; or 
b) that the number of their full-time taught course students living in Oxford in non- 
university- provided accommodation does not exceed 2,500 at the time of the application. 
This threshold will be reduced to 1,500 at 01 Apri l 2022. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for new/redeveloped or refurbished academic or 
administrative accommodation for Oxford Brookes University where it can be 
demonstrated that: 
c) The new accommodation would not generate or facili tate any increase in student 
numbers; or 
d) that the number of their full-time taught course students living in Oxford in non- 
university- provided accommodation does not exceed 4,000 3,500 at the time of the 
application. This threshold will be increased to 4,500 i f: reduced to 3,000 

i) at 01 Apri l 2022.on 01 Apri l 2023 a scheme delivering a net increase of at least 
500 student bedrooms has not been developed at Clive Booth Student Village 
(Site SP18); and/or Oxford Brookes is able to demonstrate that they are unable to 
secure additional nomination rights to meet the threshold. This threshold would 
return to 4,000 once the additional 500 student bedrooms are delivered and/or 
secured. 
ii) on 01 April 2030 Oxford Brookes is able to demonstrate that they are unable to 
meet the threshold because they are unable to secure new nomination rights to 
replace expiring nomination rights. 

 
The reference to students not living in accommodation provided by either University of 
Oxford or Oxford Brookes University excludes those students who were resident in Oxford 
before applying to study at the university and who continue to live at their pre-application 
home address while studying. Appendix 3.5 explains how the threshold will be calculated. 

90



57 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

an increase in the number of older people resident in the city, particularly those over 75. 
As it is projected that Oxford will have a greater proportion of older residents making up 
its population, there will be changing housing requirements over the Plan period. 
Providing opportunities for residents to maintain their independence is very important and 
can considerably alleviate pressure on health and social care. In addition, there are 
around 18,000 people (12.4% of the population) in Oxford with long a term health problem 
or disabili ty. Some of those will need specialist adaptations to their homes, so providing 
housing that is adaptable will play an important role in ensuring that these people have an 
adequate choice of homes available to them. 

 
3.53 The government introduced an optional Bui lding Regulation requirement in ‘Approved 

Document M: access to and use of bui ldings’ in March 2016 2017. Local authori ties can 
adopt a policy to provide enhanced accessibility or adaptabili ty through Requirement 
M4(2) Accessible and adaptable dwellings and/or M4(3) Wheelchair user dwellings. 

 
 

 
x. Older persons and specialist and supported living accommodation 

 
3.54 Many people with disabi lities are likely to want to live in their own homes. However, other 

households may require more specialist housing designed to meet their needs, which 
may include extra-care or Registered Care Homes. The County Council’s strategy is to 
seek to provide more community based alternatives to Registered Care Homes, rather 
than increasing provision of them. Additional extra care units in the city would help to 
achieve this aspiration. Specialist dementia care schemes are being developed across 
the County to meet countywide needs. Needs for particular groups such as those 
requiring care homes offering specialist nursing for people with dementia could potentially 
be met in the city by provision of specialist units within any new extra care scheme, for 
example. 

 
3.55 Specialist housing may be self-contained (C3) or non-self-contained (C2), and can 

include: 
• retirement housing- usually new bui ld housing focussing on older owner-occupiers 

(and including affordable homes), suitable for those who wish to downsize; 
• sheltered housing- self-contained accommodation with an emergency alarm 

system, communal faci lities and sometimes a resident warden; 
• Extra-Care housing- this has additional care support for residents who may be 

less independent. It may be aimed at older people or younger people with 
particular care needs, and can be delivered as affordable housing and also be 
avai lable for owner-occupiers; 

• Residential Care schemes such as nursing homes. These may be for older 
people, or other groups requiring specialist nursing, for example people with 
dementia. 

Policy H10: Accessible and adaptable homes 
 
Proposals for residential development should ensure that all affordable dwellings and 15% 
of general market dwellings on sites of 10 or more dwellings are constructed to the 
Category 2 standard as set out in the Building Regulations Approved Document M4. 5% of 
all dwellings for which the City Counci l is responsible for allocations or nominations, on 
sites of more than 20 dwellings on sites of 4 or more dwellings should be provided to 
Category 3 (wheelchair user) standards (or at least 1 dwelling for sites below 20 units). 

91



58 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Supported living schemes such as those provided for people who have mental or 
physical disabi lities and who require a resident support worker. 

 
3.56 The Oxfordshire SHMA found relatively little need for additional provision of specialist 

housing for older people in Oxford, with a net need in the 20-year period to 2031 of 33 
units. In 2016 the City Council undertook a review of older person’s accommodation in 
Oxford. The review considered the current provision of sheltered and other housing 
options for older people aged 55+ in Oxford, alongside the competing needs12. The 
review found that there is a range of sheltered and general needs accommodation 
provided in Oxford. Demand and take-up is relatively low, and the waiting list for extra 
care schemes is relatively short. The review states: “it would appear that the current level 
of supply in Oxford is generally meeting the current level of demand for this type of 
accommodation (that is extra care).” One recommendation of the review was that, given 
the rising life expectancy and quality of health in older age groups, that the City Counci l 
should focus on accommodating older people aged 75+ and those persons who are 
younger but with significant health needs, and this would be expected to free up enough 
homes to ensure needs can be met. 

 
3.57 Although there is not a significant current need for additional specialist older persons or 

care accommodation, there is still expected to be a need for additional provision of care 
accommodation during the Plan period, including of specialised dementia-care housing. 
Therefore, existing extra- care accommodation should be protected unless it is to be 
replaced elsewhere or unless it can be shown that it is surplus to requirements. Also, 
provision of new extra-care and elderly persons’ accommodation is generally supported. 
It is important it is well designed, with good access to local facilities, and that it is well 
integrated into a mixed community. 

 

 
 
 

12    https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/2556/review_of_older_persons_accommodation_-  
_february_2016 

Policy H11: Older persons and specialist and supported living accommodation 
 
Planning permission for elderly-persons and supported and specialist care 
accommodation will only be granted where i t: 

 
a) is located with good access to local facili ties and services including public 

transport, shops and healthcare facili ties; and 
 

b) is located close to or as part of a mixed community and will contribute positively to 
the creation and maintenance of mixed and balanced communities; and 

 
c) is appropriate for its intended residents and the neighbourhood in terms of form, 

scale and design; and 
 

d) includes gardens and amenity space of appropriate size and quality; and 
 

e) meets the affordable housing requirements of Policy H2. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for the loss of existing specialist care 
accommodation unless it can be demonstrated that provision is to be replaced or that 
there is a not a need for the facility. This may be secured by a legal agreement. 

92



59 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

xi. Accommodation for travelling communities 
 

3.58 The Cherwell, Oxford City, South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Gypsy, Traveller 
and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 2017 assesses current and 
future needs for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation. Because 
Oxford has no existing sites, there are therefore no waiting lists that can be used to 
demonstrate demand. Demand can also be measured by assessing whether there are 
members of the travelling community living in bricks and mortar. The Assessment 
concluded is that there is no current or forecast need for sites in Oxford. If si tes do come 
forward in the city, they will be judged against the criteria in the following policy as well as 
all other relevant policies of the Plan, for example Green Belt policy. 

 
 
 

 
xii. Homes for boat dwellers 

 
3.59 Residential boats and their dwellers on both permanent and temporary visi tor moorings, 

contribute to the cultural and housing diversity of Oxford and provide a type of 
accommodation that can be more affordable. Much of the boat-dwelling community relies 
on the existence of residential moorings, which are defined as having planning 
permission for long-term mooring in a fixed location, and for occupation as a household’s 
sole or main residence. 

 
3.60 Furthermore, there are boat-dwellers whose transitory nature generates a significant 

demand for the supply of temporary moorings with a range of appropriate restrictions on 

Policy H12: Homes for travelling communities 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for residential pitches in Oxford for gypsy, 
traveller, and travelling showpeople if all of the following cri teria are met: 

 
a) sites have adequate accessibi lity by walking, cycling and public transport to 

faci lities and services including shops, healthcare, education and employment; and 
 
 

b) sites are acceptable in respect of vehicular access, parking and services and there 
is adequate access for emergency services; and 

 
c) there is adequate access to or provision of faci lities and servicing, including water 

supply, electricity and disposal faci lities for sewage and waste; and 
 

d) the development site is not a biodiversity site, scheduled monument, registered 
park and garden or public open space; and 

 
e) sites are not located in Flood Zones 3a or 3b; and 

 
f) sites are located, and can be managed, so as not to result in any significant 

conflict with existing land uses; and 
 

g) the proposed development wi ll not cause any adverse visual impacts. 

93



60 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

length of stay. This group includes those who identi fy as Bargee Travellers as well as 
those who continuously cruise through Oxford city and neighbouring areas. 

 
3.61 A dedicated Oxford Boat Dwellers Accommodation Needs Assessment 2018 was 

undertaken to better understand current provision of moorings and services and to 
determine need. The study showed that there is a demand/need for 41 new residential 
moorings in Oxford. This demand relates to the numbers of people already using 
unauthorised moorings as residential moorings. Efforts to meet this need will include 
creation of new residential moorings with access to adequate services, but also by 
providing social housing accommodation suitable for those currently living in unauthorised 
moorings. This may even be more affordable for people than obtaining a mooring, with a 
suitable boat, in an authorised residential mooring. 

 
3.62 There are not many potentially suitable new sites for moorings within Oxford, because of 

constraints such as the need to maintain safe navigation on the main channel of the 
Thames and Cherwell. However, by multi-agency working with navigation authorities and 
landowners, there is potential to increase the number of residential moorings. In 
particular, working to dredge some existing sites would allow new space for moorings, 
and working with landowners to change some visi tor moorings to residential moorings 
would also help to meet needs. The needs assessment also identified that temporary 
moorings with access to vital services such as potable water and waste disposal, and 
suitable for a range of visi tors and length of stay, could also have a role to play. 

 
 
 

3.63 The following policy sets out criteria against which potential new moorings will be 
assessed. Regard should be had to other policies of the Plan, and some have particular 
relevance, especially that for proposals in Green Belt a ‘very special circumstances’ case 
will need to be demonstrated. Mooring spaces for permanent moorings must enable a 
suitable and safe living environment. The potential impact of the development, for 
example on Green Belt and biodiversity, should also be considered. It is important that 
new residential moorings do not conflict with the Canal &and River Trust’s or the 
Environment Agency’s operational requirements or interfere with navigational safety. The 
Environment Agency is responsible for the management of the River Thames, River 
Cherwell and other river channels that join their main course. The Canal &and River Trust 
is responsible for the management of the Oxford Canal. Both have set out policies on the 
approach to residential mooring on the waterways they manage. The Environment 
Agency maintains a policy of not allowing permanent moorings on the main channel of 
the River Thames and supports the creation of new residential moorings in off-river 
channels and basins. 

 

Policy H13: Homes for boat dwellers 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new residential moorings on Oxford’s 
waterways where all of the following criteria are met: 

 
a) they do not have negative impacts on navigation and navigational safety or 

operational requirements of the waterway; and 
 

b) the biodiversity of the water, i ts margins and nearby nature conservation sites will 
be maintained or enhanced; and 

 
c) there is adequate access for emergency services to ensure safety; and 

94



61 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Part 4: Ensuring a good quality living environment for our residents 
 

xiii. Privacy, daylight and sunlight 
 

3.64 Ensuring all homes are bui lt with adequate privacy, daylight and sunlight (internal and 
external) helps to ensure the wellbeing of residents. It is also important to consider the 
impacts on neighbouring residential properties to ensure they do not lose their sense of 
privacy. This is particularly important in the context of Oxford, where high density 
development is expected in order to make efficient use of land. 

 
3.65 When planning new developments, regard should always be paid to the impact of 

windows overlooking other homes’ windows (including French windows and patio doors) 
and gardens. Potential for unacceptable overlooking will depend on the proximity of 
windows to neighbours’ habitable rooms and gardens and the angles of views and 
gardens. 

 
3.66 New homes’ access to daylight and sunlight will depend both on the way new and 

existing bui ldings relate to one another, and the orientation of windows in relation to the 
path of the sun. In particular, windows that are overshadowed by buildings, walls, trees or 
hedges, or that are north- facing, wi ll receive less light. The policy approach will ensure 
that new development provides adequate daylight and privacy, and will not reduce 
privacy and daylight in existing development to an unacceptable level. 

 

d) sites have adequate accessibi lity by walking, cycling and public transport to 
faci lities and services including shops, healthcare, education and employment; and 

 
e) there is adequate access to or provision of faci lities and servicing, including water 

supply, electricity and disposal facili ties for sewage and waste; and 
 

f) use of any adjacent paths will not be impeded; and 
 

g) the proposed development wi ll not cause any adverse visual impacts or restrict the 
ambition for increased access to and opportunities to enjoy enhanced water 
related infrastructure facili ties for all residents. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for additional temporary visi tor moorings only where 
residential moorings are not suitable and provided they: 

 
h) do not cause environmental damage or nuisance; and 

 
i) do not interfere with navigation; and 

 
j) make adequate provision for refuse and sewage disposal faci lities. Any new refuse 

and sewage disposal points should be sited so as not to detract from the canal or 
river scene. 

Policy H14: Privacy, daylight, and sunlight 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new development that provides reasonable 
privacy, daylight and sunlight for occupants of both existing and new homes. Proposals 
should demonstrate consideration of all of the following cri teria: 

95



62 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

xiv. Internal space standards 
 

3.67 It is important to ensure that new homes are of an adequate size and layout to provide 
high quali ty, functional homes that meet the needs of a wide range of people, and take 
into account how those needs might change over time. This should apply to development 
at all scales, from large strategic sites down to infi ll development, which represents an 
important contribution to meeting Oxford’s housing need. 

 
3.68 The increasing pressure to deliver homes leads to increased pressure to deliver smaller 

homes. This could result in housing that is unacceptable in terms of internal space 
because it doesn’t offer occupiers appropriate living standards or meet the national aim 
that everyone should have access to a decent home. The pressure to make efficient use 
of land, and the fact that dense development is to be encouraged, makes it particularly 
necessary to ensure that the internal living environment of new homes is adequate. 

 
3.69 The government introduced a nationally described space standard in March 2015. Local 

authorities now have the option to adopt the nationally described space standards, or 
have no space standard at all; space standards cannot be set locally. The City Council 
has carefully considered the local need for space standards and the viabili ty impact of 
taking such an approach and decided to adopt the nationally described standards. In 
addition minimum bedroom sizes for HMOs are governed by the Licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 2018. 

 
3.70 This will ensure that new developments are designed and bui lt to provide adequate space 

for occupants. It wi ll be important to ensure that designs maximise the useable space 
within housing, through functional layout, and provide scope to adapt and modify housing 
to meet future requirements. The demand for housing in Oxford means that a small 
proportion of larger and family homes will be provided in the form of flats or apartments; 
ensuring adequate space and quality environments will play a crucial role in changing the 
perception of apartments and their suitabi lity as family homes. 

a) whether the degree of overlooking to and from neighbouring properties or gardens 
resulting from a proposed development significantly compromises the privacy of 
either existing or new homes (or existing other uses where there might be a 
safeguarding concern, particularly schools); and 

 
b) the orientation of windows in both existing and new development in respect of 

access to daylight, sunlight and solar gain (i .e. natural heating from direct sunlight); 
and 

 
c) existing and proposed walls, hedges, trees and fences, in respect of protecting or 

creating privacy, and also in respect of their impact on overshadowing both 
existing and new development.; and 

 
To assess access to privacy, sunlight and daylight, the 25° and 45° guidelines will be 
used, as i llustrated in Appendix 3.6, alongside other material factors. On constrained sites 
with proposals for specialist accommodation, developers may use other methods to 
demonstrate that dwellings will receive adequate daylight. 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for any development that has an overbearing 
effect on existing homes. 

96



63 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

xv. Outdoor amenity space standards 
 

3.71 Provision of outdoor amenity space brings many benefi ts, including to biodiversity, 
permeable surfaces and the health and wellbeing of residents. Outdoor amenity space 
enhances development and the area surrounding the development. Where high density 
development is expected and where many sites are infi ll development, standards for 
outdoor amenity space become increasingly important in order to ensure the health and 
wellbeing of residents. However, flexibili ty is also important so that design can respond to 
the often complicated needs of infi ll and mixed development sites and to ensure 
maximum use of the outdoor amenity space that is provided. 

 
3.72 New homes should provide some open space that allows the occupants to enjoy fresh air 

and light in privacy. Where appropriate, balconies or private terraces should be provided 
for flats. A private garden can be shared between flats, although all 3 bedroom flats 
should have direct access to an area of private amenity space. Houses with 2 or more 
bedrooms should provide direct access to outdoor amenity space with adequate space 
for children to play in, and for family activi ties. This should be equivalent in size to the 
original footprint of the dwelling. It could be provided as shared amenity space, although 
there should always be an area of private amenity space. Private outdoor areas should 
allow space for outside dining and/or clothes drying, with reasonable circulation, which 
will require a minimum dimension of 1.5 metres deep by 3 metres long. 

 
3.73 There are many important considerations in the design of usable and attractive private 

amenity space. Public and private space should be clearly delineated through the use of 
landscaping and design, without the need for signs. Orientation to ensure adequate 
sunlight will affect the usabili ty of the space, although should be considered in terms of 
the whole fabric of the design. Different types of space should be designed into the same 
larger communal space, with attention to providing areas to play, sit, shelter, sunny areas 
and grass. Communal outdoor amenity space should be adaptable to changing needs, 
allowing opportunities for residents to influence the design of their amenity space and 
introduce food growing areas if desired. However as there may be little interest in 

 
13 www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housingstandards-nationally-describedspace- 
standard 
14   www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111167359/regulation/2 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/616/regulation/2/made 

Policy H15: Internal space standards 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new dwellings that provide good quali ty living 
accommodation for the intended use. All proposals for new bui ld market and affordable 
homes (across all tenures) must comply with the MHCLG’s Technical Housing Standards 
– Nationally Described Space Standard Level 113. 

 
The standards for bedroom sizes and dimensions will be applied to new-bui ld HMOs and 
other communal accommodation including extra care housing and student 
accommodation. 

 
For properties converted to HMO, bedroom sizes should be in accordance with the 
Government’s mandatory minimum room sizes for licensed HMO14. 

97



64 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

gardening amongst residents so easi ly maintained communal spaces will be important, 
which are uncluttered and have high quali ty, resi lient materials and trees and other low- 
maintenance planting. 

 
3.74 Policy DH1: ‘High quali ty design’ should also be referred to when designing outdoor 

amenity space. 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy H16: Outdoor amenity space standards 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for dwellings that have direct and convenient 
access to an area of private open space (in addition to bin or bike storage space), to meet 
the following specifications: 

 
a) 1 or 2 bedroom flats and maisonettes should provide either a private balcony or 

terrace of usable level space, or direct access to a private or shared garden; 
 

b) flats and maisonettes of 3 or more bedrooms must provide either a private balcony 
or terrace of useable level space with a minimum dimension of 1.5 metres depth 
by 3 metres length, or, in the case of ground floor flats, direct access to a private 
garden or shared garden with some private space. These private outdoor areas 
should allow space for outside dining and/or clothes drying, with reasonable 
circulation, which will require a minimum dimension of 1.5 metres depth by 3 
metres length; 

 
c) houses of 1 or more bedrooms should provide a private garden, of adequate size 

and proportions for the size of house proposed, which will be considered to be at 
least equivalent in size to the original bui lding footprint. Where a directly accessible 
private outside area is provided, the remaining requirement for outdoor amenity 
space could be met by provision of shared private amenity space. The private 
outdoor areas should allow space for outside dining and/or clothes drying, with 
reasonable circulation, which will require a minimum dimension of 1.5 metres deep 
by 3 metres long. 

 
d) the following factors will be material in assessing whether adequate space has 

been provided: 
 

i. the location and context of the development, in relation to the layout of existing 
residential plots, and proximity to public open space; and 

 
ii. the orientation of the outdoor area in relation to the path of the sun; 

 
iii. the degree to which enclosure and overlooking impact on the proposed new 

dwellings and any neighbouring dwellings; and 
 

iv. the overall shape, access to and usabi lity of the whole space to be provided; and 
 

v. clear delineation between public and private space; and 

98



65 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Making wise use of our resources and securing a good 

quality local environment 
 

It is important to think about how we can make best use of our natural resources such 
as land, water and energy because we have a limited supply and our choices can have 
significant environmental impacts. As Oxford’s population increases, there will be 
increasing pressure on these resources. It is therefore important to plan 
developments to minimise their use of resources. 

 
Oxford is a small city with a tight urban boundary. This means that there is limited 
land available for development. We need to consider how to make best use of the land 
we do have to provide the homes and jobs we need. 

 
 
 
 
 

   
Commented [OCC2]: Paragraphs to be bold consistent with 
rest of the Plan. 

 

i. Sustainable design and construction 
 

Carbon reduction 

vi.  for communal spaces that there is a variety of space, including provision of space 
to sit and to play, and that space is adaptable to the changing needs of residents, 
being easy to maintain with resilient materials, but with opportunities for communal 
gardening or food growing. 

We need to ensure that buildings and people can adapt to the changing climate 
already evident in the form of more extreme weather conditions being experienced in 
the city and beyond. The impacts of climate change can result in flooding, drought 
and overheating. These impacts affect the city’s residents, have financial implications 
and can result in the decline of some plant and animal species. New development 
must be designed to adapt to these risks with the introduction of specific design 
measures and green infrastructure features that can help to mitigate some of these 
risks and where possible address damage caused by previous development. 

99



66 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.75 The City Council aims to tackle the causes of climate change by ensuring developments 
use less energy and assess the opportunities for using renewable energy technologies. 
The City Council is committed to a 100% exceed an 80 % reduction in total carbon 
dioxide (CO2) emissions produced in the City by 2050 from 1990 levels to limit climate 
change. Thus, it is crucial that planning policy limits carbon dioxide emissions from new 
development wherever possible and supports sensitive energy efficiency improvements 
to existing buildings. In addition, policy seeks to ensure that the gap between the 
designed and as built energy performance of new bui ldings is as little as possible. 

 
1.76 When a bui lding is constructed, the accessibility of i ts location, its density and mix of 

uses, its detailed design, its orientation, and the mechanical services and materials 
chosen can all have a major impact on i ts energy efficiency. The City Counci l wi ll require 
all schemes to consider sustainable development principles from the start of the design 
process and include these in their Design and Access Statement and/or Sustainabili ty 
Statement. 

 
BREEAM 

 
1.77 BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method) is a tool 

for assessing the environmental sustainabili ty of a development. The BREEAM standards 
will be applied to non-residential developments including conversions, extensions and 
changes of use). The Home Quality Mark (2015) is another way of demonstrating the 
standard of a new residential dwelling, which includes measures for low CO2, sustainable 
materials, good air quality and natural daylight. The City Counci l wi ll encourage schemes 
to use the Home Quali ty Mark. The use of Passivhaus standard is also encouraged in 
demonstrating energy efficient design. 

 
Monitoring 

 
1.78 The local plan supports the monitoring of development proposals of schemes (threshold 

5+ dwellings or 1000m2) in the form of post construction testing in order to improve our 
understanding of these issues and also to ensure that performance standards for low 
carbon bui ldings are linked to as-bui lt performance. 

 
Sustainable retrofitting of existing buildings 

 
1.79 In Oxford, existing domestic bui ldings contributed 31%15 of the city’s carbon emissions in 

2015. Therefore, retrofitting the existing bui lding stock presents an opportunity to help 
meet the carbon reduction targets for the city. The Local Plan supports sustainable 
retrofi tting measures for existing bui ldings. Such measures can range from low cost 
measures such as loft and cavity wall insulation to complete refurbishment of buildings 
and their systems. The low energy refurbishment of homes could help reduce fuel bills 
and create a better environment for occupiers, which will be particularly important for the 
most vulnerable groups, including those living in fuel poverty. The City Counci l has 
produced Technical Advice Notes on External Wall Insulation and the Heritage Energy 
Efficiency Toolkit to provide information to developers as to how to maximise the 
opportunities for retrofitting bui ldings. 

 
1.80 Oxford has a wealth of Listed Buildings and traditional bui ldings in Conservation Areas. 

These bui ldings present a considerable challenge when considering how on-site 
renewables can be incorporated and carbon emissions reduced. The Counci l supports all 

 
15 www.gov.uk/government/ statistics/uk-local-authority- and-regional-carbon- dioxide-emissions- 
national- statistics-2005-2015 

100



67 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

measures to retrofit listed and historical bui ldings in a sensitive manner and has produced 
the Heritage Energy Efficiency Tool (HEET). This guidance helps assess energy 
efficiency improvements for historic bui ldings16. 

 
Water Efficiency 

 
1.81 An optional water efficiency standard was introduced in 2015 following the Housing 

Standards Review. This higher option standard for new development of 110 litres per 
person per day as set out in Bui lding Regulations Part G2 can be applied where there is 
an evidence based need that the area is water stressed. The area of South East England 
in which Thames W ater operates and Oxford is located, has been classified by the 
Environment Agency as being under serious water stress. Thus to ensure adequate water 
supply during the plan period new development will be expected to meet higher water 
efficiency standards as set out in Policy RE1. For non-residential development the Local 
Plan sets a minimum standard that must be achieved within the BREEAM 
assessment17. Opportunities to harvest grey water should be encouraged and developed, 
where possible, in new development. 

 
 

 

16 www.oxford.gov.uk/ info/20064/conservation/325/ heritage_energy_efficiency_ tool_heet 
17 https://www.breeam.com/ BREEAM2011SchemeDocument/ content/08_water/wat01.htm 

Policy RE1: Sustainable design and construction 
 
Planning permission will only be granted where it can be demonstrated that the following 
sustainable design and construction principles have been incorporated, where relevant: 

 
a) Maximising energy efficiency and the use of low carbon energy; 

 
b) Conserving water and maximising water efficiency; 

 
c) Using recycled and recyclable materials and sourcing them responsibly; 

 
d) Minimising waste and maximising recycling during construction and operation; 

 
e) Minimising flood risk including flood resilient construction; 

 
f) Being flexible and adaptable to future occupier needs; and 

 
g) Incorporating measures to enhance biodiversity value. 

 
Energy Statements 
An Energy Statement wi ll be submitted to demonstrate compliance with this policy for 
new-bui ld residential developments (other than householder applications) and new-
build non-residential schemes over 1,000m2. on schemes of five more residential 
dwellings or 1000m2. The Energy Statement wi ll include details as to how the policy will 
be complied with and monitored once installed. 

 
Carbon reduction in new-build residential developments (other than householder 
applications): 
Planning permission will only be granted for development proposals for new bui ld 
residential dwellinghouses or 1,000m2 or more of C2 and (including student 
accommodation), C4 HMO or Sui Generis HMO floorspace and student accommodation 
developments (or 25 student rooms or more) which achieve at least a 40% reduction 

101



68 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

in the carbon emissions from a code 2013 Building Regulations (or future equivalent 
legislation) compliant base case. This reduction is to be secured through on-site 
renewable energy and other low carbon technologies (this would broadly be equivalent to 
25% of all energy used) and/ or energy efficiency measures. The requirement wi ll increase 
from 31 March 2026 to at least a 50% reduction in carbon emissions. After 31 March 2030 
planning permission will only be granted for development proposals for new bui ld 
residential dwelling houses or 1,000m2 or more of C2 (including student accommodation), 
C4 HMO or Sui Generis HMO floorspace residential and student accommodation (25 or 
more non self-contained student rooms) development that is are Zero Carbon. 

 
Carbon reduction in new-build non- 
residential developments schemes of over 1000m2 or more: 
Planning permission will only be granted for non-residential development proposals that 
meet BREEAM excellent standard (or recognised equivalent assessment methodology) in 
addition to the following reductions in carbon emissions which are also required. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for development proposals over of 1,000m2 or 
more which achieve at least a 40% reduction in the carbon emissions compared with 
a code 2013 Building Regulations (or future equivalent legislation) compliant base case. 
This reduction is to be secured through on-site renewables and other low carbon 
technologies and/ or energy efficiency measures. The requirement wi ll increase from 31 
March 2026 to at least a 50% reduction in carbon emissions. 

 
Monitoring 
To ensure that the Counci l can monitor the effectiveness of renewable and low carbon 
technologies, non-residential, C2, and C4 and Sui Generis developments will be required 
to install appropriate energy metering and monitoring equipment. and a Display Energy 
Certificate (DEC). The DEC would be secured by planning condition. DEC assessments 
must be made avai lable to the Counci l for the three years after occupation and a DEC 
rating of A will be expected by the end of the three year period. C3 developments will be 
required to install appropriate energy metering (smart meters). 

 
Heat networks 
The City Council wi ll encourage the development of city wide heat networks. If a heat 
network exists in close proximity to a scheme it is expected to connect to it and this wi ll 
count towards the development’s carbon reduction requirements. Evidence will be 
required to demonstrate why connection to the network is not possible. 

 
Water efficiency – residential development: 
Proposals for new residential developments are to meet the higher water efficiency 
standards within the 2013 Building Regulations (or equivalent future legislation) Part G2 of 
water consumption target of 110 li tres per person per day.  

 
Water efficiency – non-residential development:  
Proposals for non-residential development are to meet the minimum standard of four 
credits under the BREEAM assessment. 

 
 

ii. Efficient use of land 
 

1.82 The NPPF emphasises that “planning policies and decisions should promote the effective 
use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and 

102



69 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions”. Oxford’s 
previously developed land has been identified in the Brownfield Register, and making the 
best use of this land will be encouraged throughout the lifetime of this plan. 

 
1.83 Using scarce resources efficiently is vi tal to ensuring Oxford’s sustainable growth and 

development. Oxford is a small, constrained city with a growing population. Its total area 
is approximately 4,600km2 with some very densely developed urban areas. The river 
corridors of the Thames and Cherwell penetrate as extensive green and blue wedges into 
the heart of the city. These corridors, together with their flood plains, form much of the 
city’s 1,287m2 of Green Belt land. 

 
1.84 Oxford has a good record for re-using previously developed land efficiently. Some parts 

of the city, including town and district centres, are densely populated but nonetheless 
have capacity to accommodate further residential development sensitively. This approach 
should, as it promotes more sustainable and cohesive communities, have a number of 
positive environmental and economic effects as development is concentrated in areas 
where it will support existing faci lities and services. However, given that previously 
developed land can only meet a limited supply of Oxford’s economic and housing need; 
there is a need to look at a range of additional greenfield sites to see if any are suitable to 
help meet needs. Policy G3 sets out the policy approach to the release of some 
greenfield sites which could be suitable for development, which include Green Belt si tes. 

 
1.85 Higher density residential development of 100 dwellings per hectare (dph) is expected in 

the city and district centres. However, owing to Oxford’s historic centre it is acknowledged 
that this density of development is not always appropriate. 

 
 
 

Policy RE2: Efficient use of land 
 
Planning permission will only be granted where development proposals make efficient use 
of land. 

 
Development proposals must make best use of site capacity, in a manner compatible with 
the site i tself, the surrounding area and broader considerations of the needs of Oxford, as 
well as addressing the following cri teria: 

 
a) the density must be appropriate for the use proposed; 

 
b) the scale of development, including bui lding heights and massing, should conform 

to other policies in the plan. It is expected that sites at transportation hubs and 
within the city and district centres in particular will be capable of accommodating 
development at an increased scale and density, although this will also be 
encouraged in all other appropriate locations where the impact of so doing is 
shown to be acceptable; 

 
c) opportunities for developing at the maximum appropriate density must be fully 

explored; and 
 

d) built form and site layout must be appropriate for the capacity of the site. 
 
High-density development (for residential development this will indicatively be taken as 
100dph) is expected in the city centre and district centres. 

103



70 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

iii. Flooding risk management 
 

1.86 Flooding is the most widespread and frequently occurring of natural hazards. Both the 
NPPF and the Flood and Water Management Act (2010) highlight the need for effective 
flood risk management strategy and proactive local plan policies that take account of 
flood risk and water supply consideration to ensure the impacts of climate change are 
fully considered and mitigated. 

 
 

1.87 The Oxford City Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 1 (November 2017) concludes 
that a considerable proportion of Oxford is at some risk of flooding. Large parts of the bui lt 
up areas of South and West Oxford and Lower Wolvercote currently have a 1% or greater 
annual risk of flooding (Flood Zone 3). Flood risk in Oxford is predominantly fluvial 
flooding from rivers but there is also some flood risk to properties from other sources 
including surface water, sewer, groundwater, and flooding from artificial sources such as 
reservoirs and canals. 

 
1.88 The NPPF directs development away from areas of high risk from flooding, and where 

development within these areas is necessary, makes it safe for users without increasing 
the risk of flooding elsewhere (sequential test and exception tests). A level 1 Strategic 
Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) provides the necessary information for the sequential 
and exception test to be applied to support the initial allocation of si tes for development. 

 
1.89 The most recent flood events in Oxford were in January 2014, November 2012 and July 

2007, each of which resulted in significant disruption to the city. New development has 
the potential to interfere with existing drainage systems, decrease floodplain storage, 
reduce permeable surface areas and increase the volume and speed of runoff through a 
catchment, ultimately leading to significant changes to river catchment characteristics and 
subsequently increase flood risk. 

 
1.90 Proposals for minor household extensions in the flood plain can have a cumulative impact 

resulting in increased flood risk as flood storage areas are lost to development. As such, 
householder extensions proposed in either Flood Zone 2 or 3 will require a site specific 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to be carried out to assess risk on and off site and 
mitigation measures provided to reduce these risks. 

 
1.91 In some areas of Oxford a lot of development already exists in areas at the highest risk of 

flooding. This is generally older development that won’t incorporate features such as 
SuDs that minimise the impacts of flooding on the existing properties and that minimise 
the risk of flooding elsewhere. The NPPF allows only water-compatible uses and 
essential infrastructure in Flood Zone 3b. This prevents reuse of existing bui ldings in 
areas at highest risk of flooding. The approach of the Local Plan policy is to allow very 
careful re-development of existing brownfield sites in Flood Zone 3b. This is to make best 
use of existing sites in the generally sustainable location of Oxford and also because new 
development has the potential to improve the flood risk situation. The policy sets out 
conditions for development in Flood Zone 3b that wi ll ensure the flood risk situation is 
improved. Conditions include that the overall bui lt footprint is not increased and that flood 
storage is not lost. 

 
The Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme 

104



71 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1.92 The Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme, a partnership project18, will help to convey water 
away from development infrastructure and will help greatly in reducing flooding in the 
most at risk areas. It wi ll bring considerable benefi ts to the city in terms of reduced risk of 
flooding to homes, businesses, major roads and the rai lway. The land required for the 
route of the OFAS will be safeguarded in perpetuity to enable delivery. 

 

 
18 Flood management in the city is primarily managed by the Oxford Area Flood Partnership (OAFP) 
which includes the Environment Agency, Network Rail, Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County 
Council, Vale of White Horse District Council and Thames Water PLC. 
19 The functional floodplain is defined as ‘Flood Zone 3b’, and corresponds to the 5% (1 in 20 year) 
chance of flooding on the EA flood model. 

Policy RE3:   Flood risk management 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for development in Flood zone 3b19 except where 
it is for water-compatible uses or essential infrastructure; or where it is on previously 
developed land and it wi ll represent an improvement for the existing situation in terms of 
flood risk. All of the following cri teria must be met: 

 
a) it wi ll not lead to a net increase in the bui lt footprint of the existing bui lding and 

where possible lead to a decrease; and 
 

b) it wi ll not lead to a reduction in flood storage (through the use of flood 
compensation measures) and where possible increase flood storage; and 

 
c) it will not lead to an increased risk of flooding elsewhere; and 

 
d) it will not put any future occupants of the development at risk. 

 
 
New development wi ll be directed towards areas of low flood risk (Flood Zone 1). In 
considering proposals elsewhere, the sequential and exception tests will be applied. 

 
Planning applications for development within Flood Zone 2, 3, on sites larger than 1 ha in 
Flood Zone 1 and, in areas identi fied as Critical Drainage Areas, must be accompanied by 
a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to align with National Policy. The FRA must 
be undertaken in accordance with up to date flood data, national and local guidance on 
flooding and consider flooding from all sources. The suitabili ty of developments proposed 
will be assessed according to the sequential approach and exceptions test as set out in 
Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted where the FRA demonstrates that: 

 
a) e)the proposed development will not increase flood risk on site or off site; and 

 
b) f)safe access and egress in the event of a flood can be provided; and 

 
c) g)details of the necessary mitigation measures to be implemented have been 

provided. 
 
Minor householder extensions may be permitted in Flood Zone 3b, as they have a lower 
risk of increasing flooding. Proposals for this type of development will be assessed on a 
case by case basis, taking into account the effect on flood risk on and off site. 

105



72 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

iv. Sustainable drainage systems 
 

1.93 Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) may include water conservation (e.g. rainwater 
collection, grey water recycling, low water use WC’s and appliances) as well as surface 
water drainage (e.g. soakaways, porous hard surfaces, swales, streams and balancing 
ponds; minimal use of pipes and culverts). SuDS are designed to mimic the natural 
drainage arrangements of a site, and are used to manage surface water flows, providing 
an important tool in minimising flood risk. The design of SuDS should be considered at 
the earliest possible stages of the planning process so that they can be incorporated into 
the design, and the best management practices can be used. Wherever possible, multiple 
benefits from SuDS should be sought, such as the provision of open space, wi ldlife 
improvements and water conservation. If SuDS cannot be provided on site, consideration 
should be given to making a contribution to off-si te measures. 

 
1.94 The City Council deal with proposals requiring SuDS on minor developments (up to 9 

dwellings, non-residential floor area less than 1000m2, or si tes under 1 hectare in size). 
Oxfordshire County Counci l as Lead Local Flood Authori ty respond on all applications for 
all Major Developments (10 or more dwellings, non- residential floor area of 1000m2 or 
more, or sites over 1 hectare in size). 

 
1.95 The Flood and Water Management Act 201020 addresses the threats of flooding and 

water scarcity. Under the Flood Risk Regulations 2009, the Environment Agency is 
responsible for managing flood risk from main rivers, the sea and reservoirs. Lead local 
flood authorities (LLFAs) are responsible for local sources of flood risk, in particular 
surface run-off, groundwater, and ordinary watercourses. LLFAs are statutory consultees 
on major development. Local authorities are responsible for ensuring that requirements 
for preliminary flood risk assessments are met. 

1.96 W here development proposals require a Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy 
evidence should be provided within this strategy that demonstrates agreement between the 
developer and sewage undertaker on the avai lable infrastructure capacity to accommodate 
the additional foul water. It may be appropriate to phase development so that initial 
additional flows from the proposed development do not exceed the capacity avai lable prior to 
upgrading of the foul drainage network. Up to three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake such works. 

 
 

 
 
 

20 Available at www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/pdfs/ ukpga_20100029_en.pdf 

Where development si tes are within the proposed defended area of the Oxford Flood 
Alleviation Scheme (OFAS), which will provide protection up to the 1 in 100 year (1%) 
flood scenario, both the defended and undefended data may be taken into 
consideration. Where properties lie within Flood Zone 3b, defended levels will be taken 
into account with regards to whether the development is appropriate, on the condition that 
flood mitigation measures are included up to the undefended level, to provide some 
protection in the event of a breach. 

Policy RE4: Sustainable and foul drainage, surface and groundwater flow 
 
All development proposals wi ll be required to manage surface water through Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) or techniques to limit run-off and reduce the existing rate of 

106



73 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

run-off on previously developed sites 21. Surface water runoff should be managed as close 
to its source as possible, in line with the following drainage hierarchy: 

 
a) store rainwater for later use; then: 

 
b) discharge into the ground (infi ltration); then: 

 
c) discharge to a surface water body; then: 

 
d) discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain or other drainage system; and 

finally: 
 

e) discharge to a combined sewer. 
 
 

Details of the SuDS shall be submitted as part of a drainage strategy or FRA where 
required. 

 
Applicants must demonstrate that they have had regard to compliance with the SuDS 
Design and Evaluation Guide SPD/ TAN for minor applications development and 
Oxfordshire County Council guidance for major development. 

 
Surface and groundwater flow and groundwater recharge: 

 
Planning permission will not be granted or development that would have an adverse 
impact on groundwater flow. The City Counci l will, where necessary, require effective 
preventative measures to be taken to ensure that the flow of groundwater wi ll not be 
obstructed. 

 
Within the surface and groundwater catchment area for the Lye Valley SSSI development 
wi ll only be permitted if it includes SuDS and where an assessment can demonstrate that 
there will be no adverse impact on the surface and groundwater flow to the Lye Valley 
SSSI. 

 
Development on the North Oxford gravel terrace that could influence groundwater flow to 
the Oxford Meadows Special Area of Conservation (SAC) will only be permitted if it 
includes SuDS and if a hydrological survey can demonstrate that there will be no 
significant adverse impact upon the integrity of the SAC. 

 
Foul Drainage 

 
Developers are encouraged to separate foul and surface water sewers on all brownfield 
sites delivering new development. For clarity this does not include householder 
extensions or conversions that input into the existing network. 

 
A Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy must be provided for all new bui ld residential 
development of 100 dwellings or more; non-residential development of 7,200sqm or more; 
or student accommodation of 250 study bedrooms or more. 

 
 
 
 

21 Oxford City Council SuDS Design and Evaluation Guide– https://www.oxford.gov.uk/ 
info/20000/planning/1282/ flood_risk_and_drainage_for_ planning 

107



74 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

v. Health, well-being, and Health Impact Assessments 
 
 

4.232The health and wellbeing of residents is an important priority for the City Council22 and 
Local Plan policies recognise the important link between the natural and bui lt environment 
and long-term health and wellbeing outcomes 23. A health enabling environment requires 
high quali ty urban design which includes green spaces that faci litate social interaction, 
creating environments that encourage healthier food choices and that faci litate the use of 
active modes, such as walking and cycling. To ensure that development promotes and 
contributes to a healthy living environment, proposals should consider health outcomes at 
pre-application stage. For major development a health impact assessment must be 
undertaken to maximise the opportunities for promoting healthy lifestyles within new 
development. The fundamental principles of how to carry out good quali ty Health Impact 
Assessments (HIAs) are set out in the Department of Health’s ‘Health Impact Assessment 
Tools’ (2010) 24. 

 

 
vi. Air quality 

 
4.243Improving local air quality, mitigating the impact of development on air quality and 

reducing exposure to poor air quality across Oxford is key to safeguarding public health 
and the environment. The whole of the city was declared an Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA) in September 2010. Air quality has been identi fied as having a negative 
impact upon the Oxford Meadows SAC. The City Counci l produced an Air Quali ty Action 
Plan (AQAP)26 to address the issue of AQMA which suggested a range of measures that 
wi ll be required to reduce emissions across Oxford. The AQAP addresses the integrated 
approach to air quali ty and carbon emissions from road transport. In 2014 a low 
emissions zone was introduced in the city centre. In addition, the plan’s support for car 

22 Oxfordshire’s ‘Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’ (JSNA) provides evidence based information 
about Oxfordshire’s population and the factors affecting health, wellbeing, and social care needs: 
http://insight. oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/joint- strategic-needs-assessment Public Health England’s 
‘Local Health tool’ provides a ward level overview of the health and wellbeing status of the local 
population:  http://localhealth.org.uk/#v=map13;l=en 
23    https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%20- 
%20Healthy%20Place-shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20agenda%20-%20final.pdf 
24 www.gov.uk/government/ uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/216008/ dh_120106.pdf  
25 Major developments as defined by The Town and Country Planning (Development Management  
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
26 More information on AQMA and AQAP is available at 
www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20216/air_quality_management/206/air_quality_management_in_oxford 

Policy RE5: Health, wellbeing, and Health Impact Assessments 
 
Oxford City Counci l wi ll seek to promote strong, vibrant and healthy communities and 
reduce health inequali ties. Proposals wi ll be supported which help to deliver these aims 
through the development of environments which encourage healthier day-to-day 
behaviours and are supported by local services and community networks to sustain 
health, social and cultural wellbeing. Measures that wi ll help contribute to healthier 
communities and reduce health inequali ties must be incorporated in a development. 

 
For major development25 proposals, the Counci l wi ll require a Health Impact Assessment 
to be submitted, which should include details of implementation and monitoring. This must 
provide the information outlined in the template provided at Appendix 4. 

108



75 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

free developments and the promotion of electric vehicles are ways of reducing the high 
levels of air pollution across the city and protecting the Oxford Meadows SAC. 

 
4.254It is important that any negative impacts on air quali ty from new development are 

mitigated and that exposure to poor air quality is minimised or reduced. Special attention 
will be given to developments that are expected to cause traffic increases, and to the type 
of energy centres/ combustion systems that are expected to be installed on-site. 

 
 

 
vii. Managing the impact of development 

 
4.265Standards of amenity (the attractiveness of a place) are major factors in the health and 

quality of life of all those who live, work and visi t Oxford. Oxford’s constrained nature 
results in the close proximity of many uses. This, combined with the railway and major 
roads (A34 and the Ring Road), can result in noise, light and air pollution. Policy RE7 
seeks to ensure that standards of amenity are protected. 

Policy RE6: Air quality 
 
Planning permission will only be granted where the impact of new development on air 
quality is mitigated and where exposure to poor air quality is minimised or reduced. 

 
The exposure of both current and new occupants to air pollution during the development’s 
operational and construction phases, and the overall negative impact that proposals may 
cause to the city’s air quality, wi ll be considered in determining planning applications. 
Where additional negative air quality impacts from a new development are identified, 
mitigation measures will be required to ameliorate these impacts. 

 
Sensitive uses including residential development, schools and nurseries should be located 
away from areas of poor air quality, with site layout designed to reduce impact and with 
any residual impact mitigated through air quality measures. 

 
Planning applications for major proposals (10 or more dwellings or 1000 square metres) 
which would carry a risk of exposing individuals are likely to expose residents to 
unacceptable levels of air pollution must be accompanied by an Air Quality Assessment 
(AQA). 

 
Where the Air Quality Assessment indicates that a development would cause harm to air 
quality, planning permission will not be granted unless specific measures are proposed 
and secured to mitigate those impacts. 

 
Planning applications for proposals that involve significant demolition, construction or 
earthworks will also be required to submit a dust assessment as part of the AQA, to 
assess the potential impacts and health risks of dust emissions from those activities. Any 
appropriate site-specific dust mitigation measures will be secured as part of the 
Construction Management Plan (CMP). 

 
Further guidance on meeting the requirements of the policy is set out in the Oxford City 
Council’s Air Quality Planning Application Guidance Note and the up to date IAQM 
guidelines which applicants are expected to follow. 

109



76 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4.27 - Applicants must ensure that any transport impacts likely to occur as a result of the 
development are assessed and managed in compliance with Policy M2. 

 

 
viii. Noise and vibration 

 
4.286Noise and vibration have a significant effect on amenity and people’s health and 

wellbeing. The management of noise should be an integral part of development proposals 
and considered as early as possible. The management of noise is about encouraging the 
right acoustic environment in the right place at the right time. This is important to promote 
good health and a good quality of life within the wider context of achieving sustainable 
development. Managing noise includes improving and enhancing the acoustic 
environment and promoting appropriate soundscapes. This can mean allowing some 
places or certain times to become noisier within reason, whilst others become quieter. 

 
4.297Consideration of existing noise sensitivi ty within an area is important to minimise potential 

conflicts of uses or activi ties. The City Counci l will seek to ensure that noise sensitive 

Policy RE7: Managing the impact of development 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for development that: 

 
a) ensures that the amenity of communities, occupiers and neighbours is protected; 

and 
 

b) does not have unacceptable unaddressed transport impacts affecting 
communities, occupiers, neighbours and the existing transport network; and 

 
c) provides mitigation measures where necessary. 

 
The factors the City Council wi ll consider in determining compliance with the above 
elements of this policy include: 

 
d) visual privacy, outlook; 

 
e) sunlight, daylight and overshadowing; 

 
f) artificial lighting levels; 

 
g) transport impacts, including the assessment of these impacts within the Transport 

Assessments, Travel Plans and Delivery and Servicing Management Plans Policy 
T2; 

 
h) impacts of the construction phase, including the assessment of these impacts 

within the Construction Management Plans; 
 

i) odour fumes and dust; 
 

j) microclimate; 
 

k) contaminated land; and 
 

l) impact upon water and wastewater infrastructure 

110



77 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

developments (residential, educational and health care faci lities) are separated from 
major sources of noise, or that appropriate attenuation measures are taken. Such 
attenuation measures should be included on plans. In cases where noise sensitive 
development 
is proposed in close proximity to an existing noise generating use (e.g. music venues and 
pubs) the Counci l wi ll consider whether the introduction of the sensitive use might 
threaten the continued operation of the existing premises, which might mean the 
development is inappropriate in that location. Measures to mitigate the impacts of noise 
and vibration associated with demoli tion and construction will be secured by legal 
agreement through Construction Management Plans which form part of the Transport 
Assessment. 

 
 

 
 

ix. Land quality 
 

4.3028 Oxford has a number of closed landfi ll sites of varying ages, some of which are still 
actively producing landfill gas. There are also previously developed sites that have been 
contaminated by historic industrial processes. The presence of contamination can affect 
or restrict the use of land but development can address the problem for the benefit of the 
wider community and bring the land back into beneficial use. 

 
4.3129 Land contamination may be associated with sites previously used for industry but can 

also arise from natural sources as well as from human activities. In assessing whether 
land contamination is an issue that needs to be taken into account when a planning 
application is submitted, the Council will have regard to a range of information sources 
including its database of potentially contaminated sites, information provided by 
developers and third parties, and the advice from the Counci l’s Environmental Health 
department. 

Policy RE8: Noise and vibration 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for development proposals which manage noise 
to safeguard or improve amenity, health, and quality of life. 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that wi ll generate unacceptable 
noise and vibration impacts. 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development sensitive to noise in locations 
which experience high levels of noise, unless it can be demonstrated, through a noise 
assessment, that appropriate attenuation measures will be provided to ensure an 
acceptable level of amenity for end users and to prevent harm to the continued operation 
of existing uses. 

 
Conditions will be used to secure such mitigation measures and operational 
commitments. 

 
Measures to mitigate the impacts of noise and vibration associated with demolition and 
construction will be secured by legal agreement through Construction Management Plans 
(Refer to Policy MT2)  

111



78 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Policy RE9: Land quality 
Planning applications where proposals would be affected by contamination or where 
contamination may present a risk to the surrounding environment, must be accompanied 
by a report which: 

 
a) details the investigations that have been carried out to assess the nature and 

extent of contamination and the possible impacts it may have on the development 
and its future users, biodiversity, the natural and built environment; and 

 
b) sets out detailed mitigation measures to allow the development to go ahead safely 

and without adverse effect, including, as appropriate: 
 

i. removing the contamination; 
 

ii. treating the contamination; 
 

iii. protecting and/or separating the development from the effects of the 
contamination; 

 
iv. validation of mitigation measures 

 
Where mitigation measures are needed, these will be required as a condition of any 
planning permission. 

112



79 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5. Protecting and enhancing Oxford’s green and blue 

infrastructure network 
 

It is important to ensure that Oxford is a healthy and attractive place to live, work and visi t, 
that biodiversity is protected and enhanced where possible, and that the city is able to deal 
with the impacts of climate change. Green spaces and our waterways play a very important 
role in helping to achieve this. In a compact ci ty where development needs to be 
accommodated, i t is the quality and accessibility of a network of spaces that will be 
important. 

 
i. Green and Blue Infrastructure Network 

 
 

5.1 Oxford benefi ts from a wide range of green spaces such as parks, amenity space, natural 
and semi-natural spaces, historic si tes, floodplains and sites of importance to biodiversity 
and nature conservation. The Blue Infrastructure Network is interwoven and interlinked 
with the Green Infrastructure Network, and enhances the experience and function of i t. 
The key waterways are the River Thames, River Cherwell and the Oxford Canal. There 
are also many brooks and streams, for example Bayswater Brook and Northfield Brook, 
which often form part of wi ldlife and movement corridors. These green and blue spaces 
and features perform important functions both individually and as part of a wider network: 

• Social Functions contributing to health and wellbeing, heritage, sense of place 
and tranquilli ty 

• Environmental Functions supporting biodiversity, water management and air 
quality 

• Economic Functions supporting jobs, tourism and an attractive business 
environment 

 
5.2 It is important to protect a network of green and blue spaces across Oxford for different 

needs such as recreation, biodiversity and flood protection. The Oxford Green 
Infrastructure Study identifies Oxford’s green spaces and assesses their social, 
environmental and economic functions. This information has been used to identi fy a 
network of multi-functional green spaces, many of which are part of the network of 
watercourses that require protection through the Local Plan as part of the Green and Blue 
Infrastructure  Network. 

 
5.3 To maintain the existing recreational resource of waterways in the city for residents and 

visitors it is important to prevent the loss of existing water- based recreational facilities, 
including centres for boating activities such as college boathouses, boat hire bases, boat 
passenger services, rowing clubs and businesses providing support services for boat 
users. The importance of the network of waterside paths for cycling, running and walking 
should also be protected and enhanced. 

 
5.4 Most of the city’s parks have a range of functions and are an important recreational 

resource. These are protected as part of the Green and Blue Infrastructure Network. 
Some open spaces have a specialist function that is protected, which might be 
biodiversity, Green Belt, allotments or open air sports. These sites might be in or outside 
of the Green and Blue Infrastructure Network. Policies G2, G4, and G5 set out specific 
considerations in relation to these sites. Any open space shown on the Policies map as 
protected by Policy G1, G2, G4 or G5 is considered to have public value and to meet the 
definition of open space set out in the Glossary. The requirements of Policy G1 apply to 
all sites designated as such on the Policies map, even if they are also protected by G2, 
G3, G4 or G5. 

113



80 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

ii. Protection of biodiversity and geo-diversity 
 

5.5 Oxford benefi ts from a concentration of high-quali ty, ecologically important sites. 
Designated sites range in a hierarchy from internationally protected sites to nationally and 
locally designated sites. The Oxford Meadows Special Area of Conservation (SAC), part 
of which is within Oxford’s boundary, has been designated by the European Commission 
because of its international importance for biodiversity interest. There are also 12 Sites of 
Special Scienti fic Interest (SSSIs), designated by Natural England for their national 
interest. Many sites also have a local nature conservation interest and are protected 
as Local Nature Reserves, Local W ildli fe Sites (LWS) or Oxford City W ildli fe Sites 
(OCWS) (see Glossary definition). Oxford City Council offices hold a copy of the “Living 
List” of locally designated biodiversity si tes, and online mapping is kept updated. This list 
of sites will be reviewed and maintained throughout the Local Plan period. There are also 
undesignated sites that support nationally or internationally protected species, Red Data 
Book species or habitats and species of principal importance (listed under S41 of the 
Natural Environmental and Rural Communities Act, 2006). 

 
The Biodiversity Impact Assessment metric 

 
 

5.6 Green spaces that do not have local or national protection for their wi ldlife value, or do not 
support protected species and habitats, are still likely to have some biodiversity value, 
which could often be mitigated by improvements to remaining green spaces, or the 

Policy G1:  Protection of Green and Blue Infrastructure Network 
 
Green and open spaces and waterways of the Green and Blue Infrastructure Network are 
protected for their social, environmental and economic functions and are defined on the 
Policies Map. 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that would result in harm to the 
Green and Blue Infrastructure network, except where it is in accordance with policies G2- 
G9 are met.except where: 

 
a) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 

or better provision elsewhere in a suitable location; and 
 

b) it can be demonstrated that there will be no harm to any biodiversity network 
function; and 

 
c) a Any loss of water-based recreation faci lities, support services for boat users 

or other faci lities that enable the enjoyment of the blue infrastructure network, is 
to must be replaced by a facili ty in another equally accessible and suitable 
location.; and 

 
d) adequate mitigation measures to achieve a net improvement in green infrastructure 

provision in the locality are proposed; and 
 

e) any relevant criteria of the policies G2-G5 are met. 

114



81 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

introduction of green roofs and walls, for example. If any biodiversity loss cannot be 
avoided or mitigated on-site, then biodiversity compensation may be acceptable. 

 
5.7 Where mitigation or compensation measures are proposed, a biodiversity metric should 

be applied for all major developments on greenfield sites or brownfield sites where 
vegetation has developed. The biodiversity metric should be used to calculate the 
biodiversity value of a site before and after development; this calculation shows whether 
the development is likely to cause a loss or gain to biodiversity. There are a number of 
recognised biodiversity accounting metrics that have been developed, including one 
developed locally by Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre27. The biodiversity 
calculators take account of the fact that it will take time for a new habitat to get to a target 
condition, and often a larger area will be required to compensate for loss of a site. The 
Biodiversity TAN provides advice on avai lable biodiversity calculators and their use. 

 
 

 

27   http://www.tverc.org/cms/content/biodiversity-impact-assessment. 

Policy G2:  Protection of biodiversity and geo-diversity 
 
Development that results in a net loss of sites and species of ecological value will not be 
permitted. 

 
Sites and species important for biodiversity and geodiversity wi ll be protected. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any development that would have an adverse impact on 
sites of national or international importance (the SAC and SSSIs), and development will 
not be permitted on these sites, save where related to and required for the maintenance or 
enhancement of the site’s importance for biodiversity or geodiversity.  

 
Development proposed on land immediately adjacent to the SSSIs should be designed 
with a buffer to avoid disturbance to the SSSIs during the construction period. 

 
On sites of local importance for wi ldlife, including Local Wildli fe Sites, Local Geological 
Sites and Oxford City W i ldlife Sites, on sites that have a biodiversity network function, and 
where there are species and habitats of importance for biodiversity that do not meet 
criteria for individual protection, development wi ll only be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances whereby: 

 
a) there is an exceptional need for the new development and the need cannot be met 

by development on an alternative site with less biodiversity interest; and 
 

b) adequate onsite mitigation measures to achieve a net gain of biodiversity are 
proposed; and 

 
c) where this is shown not to be feasible then compensation measures will be 

required, secured by a planning obligation. 
 
Compensation and mitigation measures must offset the loss and achieve an overall net 
gain for biodiversity. For all major developments proposed on greenfield sites or 
brownfield sites that have become vegetated, this should be measured through use of a 
recognised biodiversity calculator. To demonstrate an overall net gain for biodiversity, the 
biodiversity calculator should demonstrate an improvement of 5% or more from the 
existing situation. Offsetting measures are likely to include identi fication of appropriate off- 
site locations/projects for improvement, which should be within the relevant Conservation 
Target Area i f appropriate  or within the locality of the site  When assessing whether a site 

115



82 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

iii. Green Belt 
 

5.8 Green Belt is a strategic planning policy tool designed primarily to prevent the spread of 
development and the coalescence of urban areas. The Oxford Green Belt offers 
important protection to the historic setting of the city and it must continue to be protected 
where it is important to this aim. 

 
5.9 Through a Green Belt review process associated with the preparation of this Local Plan 

some sites in the Oxford Green Belt have been identi fied for release. Detai ls of the 
approach to particular sites proposed for release from the Green Belt and of the sites 
released from the Green Belt are given in Chapter 9. It is important that the remaining 
areas of Green Belt are protected in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, in order that their function and purpose of protecting Oxford’s historic setting 
is retained. 

 
 

 
iv. Allotments and community food growing 

 
5.10 Allotments are important community spaces, enabling people to grow food close to their 

homes. They can provide benefi ts to physical and mental health and well-being, 
sustainabili ty and biodiversity. An increase in population is likely to lead to an increased 
demand for allotments. Increased housing densities also mean that there is likely to be 
less garden space available and allotments and other areas available for community food 
growing will be particularly important to enable people to grow their own food. The Oxford 
Green Spaces Strategy notes the importance of allotments being available close to 
homes. There are waiting lists for many allotment sites in Oxford, and most si tes are in 
full or almost full active cultivation, demonstrating a strong demand for allotment space in 
the city. These are an important recreational and community resource requiring protection 
and, where possible, enhancement by the provision of better facili ties or by bringing 
unused plots back into use. Allotments are protected because of their various benefi ts. 
Some are also protected as part of the Green Infrastructure Network. The City Counci l 
wi ll support attempts by allotment associations to widen the community role of their 
allotment si tes, to enhance sites and bring any disused plots back into cultivation. 

 

 

is suitable for compensation, consideration will be given to the access, enjoyment and 
connection to nature that the biodiversity site to be lost has brought to a locality. 
A management and monitoring plan might be required for larger si tes. The calculation 
should be applied to the whole site. 

Policy G3: Green Belt 
 
Save where otherwise provided for within this Local Plan, pProposals for development in 
the Green Bbelt wi ll be determined in accordance with national policy. Planning 
permission will not be granted for inappropriate development within the Green Belt, in 
accordance with national policy. 

 
The Green Belt Boundary is defined on the Policies Map. 

Policy G4: Allotments and community food growing 

116



83 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

v. Outdoor sports 
 

5.11 Oxford possesses many playing fields and other areas for outdoor sports, such as tennis 
courts. These are an important recreational resource requiring protection and, where 
possible, enhancement by the provision of better faci lities. 

 
5.12 Many outdoor sports areas are owned by colleges or private schools and are not 

necessari ly available for public use, which means that there is a lot of potential to 
increase public use of sports pitches, for example though joint use agreements. 

 
5.13 Many outdoor sports areas are of special significance for their contribution to other green 

space functions, such as being part of the biodiversity network. These are also 
designated as part of the Green and Blue Infrastructure Network. It is important to protect 
outdoor playing pitches because of the city’s shortfall and anticipated growth in the 
population of Oxford over the Plan period, and also because any outdoor sports space 
has potential to be improved to increase its benefits. 

 
5.14 Replacement faci lities should be better in terms of quanti ty and quali ty. In suitable 

circumstances, the alternative provision could be in the form of significant improvements 
to existing outdoor sports faci lities, such as the provision of pavilions/changing faci lities, 
improved drainage or an all- weather surface, 3GD pitches and floodlights, which would 
enable it to be more intensively used as an all-weather facili ty. Where this increased 
quality would also lead to significantly increased capacity beyond that which already 
existed, then this is likely to be considered an acceptable replacement. 

 
5.15 School playing fields are considered important outdoor sports facilities and are protected 

as such. In exceptional circumstances, the City Counci l will grant permission for the 
development of a school playing field where it is satisfied that the local education 
authority has investigated and established that the site wi ll not be required in the longer 
term (up to 2036) for school playing field or school use, and it is not part of the Green 
Infrastructure  Network. 

 
5.16 There is great potential in Oxford to enhance the public accessibi lity of open space (see 

Glossary definition). The City Council wi ll work with private landowners to increase 
access to existing green spaces and to seek public access to private and insti tutional 
faci lities through sharing schemes and joint user agreements which will be secured 
through a planning condition or a planning obligation. This wi ll be important to ensure 
there remains excellent access to sport and recreation faci lities as Oxford’s population 
continues to grow. 

 
5.17 Indoor sport and recreation facili ties (see Glossary definition) are also important to 

supporting the health and wellbeing of communities. Often these faci lities are linked to 
outdoor faci lities and help enhance their usefulness and capacity, for example changing 
rooms and pavi lions. Indoor sport and leisure faci lities are also protected pursuant to 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in the loss of 
protected allotment sites or plots. Protected allotment sites are shown on the Policies 
Map. 

 
On new residential developments of 50 or more dwellings, the provision of new community 
food growing space may form part of the open space provision required under Policy G9. 

117



84 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

policy G5 unless they are shown to be surplus or are to be replaced. Some indoor sport 
and recreation faci lities have a much wider community function. These facili ties will be 
also be considered as community faci lities and proposals relating to these will be 
considered under Policy V7. 

 

 
 

vi. Residential garden land 
 

5.187Development on residential gardens has made a significant contribution to Oxford’s new 
housing stock in recent years. However, large areas of adjoining private gardens can add 
to the character of an area. They can provide wildlife habitats, a store for surface water 
following rainfall, and cumulatively help to regulate local and global climate. 

 
5.198Policy G6 is designed to strike a balance between the contribution of gardens to local 

character, and the need to ensure that suitable land can be used for well-designed 
residential development. Development can continue to come forward on appropriate sites 
in residential areas, but the policy also ensures that any negative impacts on biodiversity 
or townscape are properly dealt with. In applying Policy G6, the City Council will expect all 
existing houses to retain an area of private garden. The definition of residential garden 
land is set out in the Glossary. 

Policy G5: Outdoor sports Existing open space, indoor and outdoor sports and 
recreation facilities 

 
The City Council wi ll seek to protect outdoor sports faci lities existing open space, sports 
and recreational buildings and land. 

 
Existing open space (not covered by Policies G1, G2, G3 and G4), indoor and outdoor 
sports and recreational faci lities should not be lost unless: 

 
a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quanti ty and quality in a suitable location; or 
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use 

 
Outdoor sports facilities: 
Where development wi ll lead to the loss of an outdoor sports faci lity, proposals must 
compensate for this loss with improved provision in terms of quantity and quality. 
Consideration will be given to the need for different types of sports pitches as identified in 
the Playing Pitch Study. Any replacement provision should be provided in a suitable 
location equally or more accessible by walking, cycling and public transport, and 
accessible to local users of the existing site where relevant. 

 
Outdoor Sports facili ties are shown on the Policies Map. 

 
The City Council will, where the opportunity to do so arises, seek public access to private 
and institutional facili ties through sharing schemes and joint user agreements. 

118



85 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

vii. Other green and open spaces 
 

5. 19 Most green and open spaces in Oxford are protected as part of the Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Network, for their biodiversity value, as allotments, as part of the Green Belt 
or for outdoor sport. However, there are some sites which do not meet any of the criteria 
for protection. Because of the exceptional need for development within Oxford it is 
appropriate to consider development proposals for these sites in exceptional 
circumstances, following the approach set out in Policy G7. 

 
 
 

Policy G6:  Residential garden land 
 
Planning permission will be granted for new dwellings on residential garden land provided 
that: 

 
a) the proposal responds to the character and appearance of the area, taking into 

account the views from streets, footpaths and the wider residential and public 
environment; and 

 
b) the size of plot to be developed is of an appropriate size and shape to 

accommodate the proposal, taking into account the scale, layout and spacing of 
existing and surrounding bui ldings, and the minimum requirements for living 
conditions set out in Policies H15 and H16; and 

 
c) any loss of biodiversity value on the site wi ll be fully mitigated, and where 

practicable measures to enhance biodiversity through habitat creation or 
improvement are incorporated. 

Policy G7: Other green and open spaces 
 
Proposals for development on green and open spaces which are not protected by Policy 
G1 and which have not been allocated for development, must be accompanied by detai led 
information (in the Design and Access Statement or Planning Statement) demonstrating 
that: 

 
a) there is an exceptional need for the development that it can be demonstrated 

overrides the existing benefits it provides; and 
 

b) the development will bring benefi ts to the community, for example through delivery 
of community-led housing; and 

 
c) there are not suitable alternative sites where development could reasonably be 

located that would result in less or no harm; and 
 

d) the proposals wi ll lead to improvements in biodiversity or amenity value; and 
 

e) consideration has been given to the layout of any proposed development in order 
to avoid impacts on biodiversity and any other important features of any green 
space within a development si te, such as its contribution to townscape or the 
setting of a 
heri tage asset; and 

119



86 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

viii. Protection of existing Green Infrastructure features 
 

5.20 Green infrastructure features include hedgerows and trees. Existing green infrastructure 
features should be incorporated in new developments wherever possible. 

 
5.21 Trees perform a number of important functions. Individual trees, groups of trees, areas 

and woodlands can have amenity value relating to the character and appearance of a site 
and its setting. The urban tree population as a whole is also important in terms of 
ecosystem services such as reducing flooding, modifying the urban heat island effect, 
supporting biodiversity, reducing air pollution and carbon sequestration and storage. In 
cities these benefits often correlate to the tree canopy cover of the tree population, or 
‘urban forest’ , as a whole. Therefore developments should incorporate established trees 
as well as the planting of new trees. In addition to protecting existing trees that are 
important for amenity in an area, consideration should be given to protection and 
enhancement of tree canopy cover. Policy G8, sets out the approach to be taken if 
protection of trees is not feasible, as part of the development. 

 
 

 
ix. New public open spaces and incorporation of Green Infrastructure 

features in new development 
 

5.22 New residential development brings new people to an area, which increases demand on 
public open spaces. Larger developments which are more self- contained in particular 

f) any proposals adjacent to watercourses should demonstrate how the watercourse 
will be protected and promoted as part of the development. 

Policy G78: Protection of existing Green Infrastructure features 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in the loss of green 
infrastructure features such as hedgerows, trees or woodland where this would have a 
significant adverse impact upon public amenity or ecological interest. It must be 
demonstrated that their retention is not feasible and that their loss will be mitigated. 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development resulting in the loss or 
deterioration of ancient woodland or ancient or veteran trees except in wholly exceptional 
circumstances. Planning permission will not be granted for development resulting in the 
loss of other trees, except in the following circumstances: 

 
a) it can be demonstrated that retention of the trees is not feasible; and 

 
b) where tree retention is not feasible, any loss of tree canopy cover should be 

mitigated by the planting of new trees or introduction of additional tree cover (with 
consideration to the predicted future tree canopy on the site following 
development); and 

 
c) where loss of trees cannot be mitigated by tree planting onsite then it should be 

demonstrated that alternative proposals for new Green Infrastructure will mitigate 
the loss of trees, such as green roofs or walls. 

120



87 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

require some on-site public open space. Usable public spaces will be small parks which 
should have a variety of uses, for example a nature area, seating, a playground and a 
kick-about area. The aim of the Policy is to achieve on-site public open space provision 
on sites where a large enough area could be provided to be useable and worthwhile 
public open space. W here appropriate, applicants will be expected to enter into a legal 
agreement to ensure that the new public space is properly maintained, by means of a 
financial contribution to the City Counci l. If the City Counci l agrees that on-site provision 
is not practical, a financial contribution may instead be accepted towards alternative 
provision in the area. 

 
Biodiversity  enhancement 

 
5.23 Opportunities should be taken to enhance biodiversity and create new habitats in new 

developments. This will be through incorporation and enhancement of existing features 
where possible, or through additions such as bird and bat boxes, and landscape planting 
which helps to maintain and create wildlife corridors. These measures should be 
proportionate to the size of development proposed. 

 
5.24 The Conservation Target Areas project identifies area of significance at county level as 

areas where conservation action will have the greatest benefi t. It is important to restore 
and manage these habitats for biodiversity and landscape interest. Four Conservation 
Target Areas are found within Oxford, which are Oxford Meadows and Farmoor CTA, 
Shotover CTA, Thames and Cherwell at Oxford CTA, Oxford Heights West CTA. 

 
Green and brown roofs and walls 

 
5.25 Green roofs and walls are simply roofs or walls that have been intentionally covered, in 

whole or in part, in vegetation. Green and brown roofs and walls can bring many benefi ts. 
In an urban area such as Oxford, where there is pressure to make the most of land and 
where there are areas of flood risk, uti lising roof space and walls to bring as many 
benefits as possible is particularly important. They can introduce valuable habitats to 
urban areas and are particularly effective in combination with other biodiversity 
enhancements. The costs associated with providing green/ brown roofs will vary 
according to the specification (including potential structural design implications to take 
into account any additional weight), but wi ll not add substantial costs to a development 
scheme. However, green roofs and walls can increase the life expectancy of the roof or 
wall and to increase development value and roof li fetimes. Green or brown roofs and walls 
should be designed with consideration of the particular needs of the scheme. The 
potential benefits of introducing green roofs and walls include: 
• adaptation to climate change through insulation and thermal efficiency; 
• supporting biodiversity; 
• reducing rainwater run-off; 
• aesthetic and amenity value including amenity space for food production or 

relaxation; 
• increasing energy efficiency; 
• sustainable drainage- decreasing the quantity or run-off and increasing quali ty; 
• managing air quality;  
• reduced noise levels; 
• improvements to appearance and resi lience of the bui lding; 
• creating a microclimate that enhances the operating efficiency of PV panels. 

 
Accessibility of public open space and enhancement to the recreational value of the 
Green and Blue Infrastructure Network 

121



88 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

5.26 Oxford possesses a well-used network of footpaths, bridleways and towpaths, which 
provide valuable public access to Oxford’s green spaces, and which often have intrinsic 
value as an important element of the enjoyment of green and blue infrastructure. They 
also often form, or have potential to form, an important part of Oxford’s off-road walking 
and cycling routes, including as commuter cycle routes. Where a site is to be developed 
close to a local footpath, bridleway or towpath, consideration should be given to how 
development could lead to improvements to and integration with the active travel network. 

 
5.27 There is potential to develop the recreational uses of each of the watercourses provided 

this is done without a detrimental impact on the waterside environment and biodiversity, 
particularly protected species. On the Thames there is the potential to develop modern 
river sport faci lities on land adjoining Donnington Bridge Road, catering for sports such as 
rowing, canoeing and sub-aqua. The Cherwell wi ll continue to be used for informal 
recreation such as punting. 

 
 

 

28 The requirement for a Design and Access Statement is set out in the Town and Country Planning 
(development Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2013, and is: 
(a) development which is major development; 
(b) where any part of the development is in a designated area, development consisting of— 
(i) the provision of one or more dwellinghouses; or 
(ii) the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space created by the development is 
100 square metres or more. 

Policy G89: New and enhanced Green and Blue Infrastructure Network Features 
 
Development proposals affecting existing Green Infrastructure features should 
demonstrate how these have been incorporated within the design of the new development 
where appropriate. This applies to protected and unprotected Green Infrastructure 
features, such as hedgerows, trees and small public green spaces. 

 
All proposals requiring a Design and Access Statement28 should demonstrate how new or 
improved green or blue infrastructure features 

 
 
wi ll be incorporated, which should contribute to the following, except where not relevant: 

 
i. public access 

 
ii. health and wellbeing, considering opportunities for food growing, recreation and 

play 
 

iii. biodiversity 
 

iv. creating linkages with the wider Green Infrastructure Network (and the 
countryside) 

 
v. climate change (including flood risk and sustainable drainage) 

 
vi. character/sense  of place 

 
vii. SuDS 

 
viii. connectivity of walking and cycling routes 

122



89 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Proposals for green or brown roofs and walls wi ll be supported. All major developments 
that include flat or gently sloping roofs should incorporate green or brown roofs where 
feasible, which should be designed to be low maintenance, or i f they are not a 
maintenance plan should be provided. 

 
For residential si tes of 1.5 hectares and above, new public open space of 10% of the area 
covered by residential development is required. For mixed-use sites, the area of 
residential use should be used for that calculation, and 10% of that space used as public 
open space. Where appropriate, applicants will be expected to enter into a legal 
agreement to ensure that the new public space is properly maintained, by means of a 
financial contribution to the City Council. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for developments that affect, or are likely to 
increase the use of Public Rights of Way i f, by planning condition or planning obligation, 
they safeguard and improve or add to the Public Rights of W ay network. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for new water-based recreation facilities or extensions 
to existing facili ties except where they would create unacceptable adverse environmental 
impacts or effects, or have an adverse effect on the environmental quali ty of Oxford’s 
waterways and their surroundings. 

123



90 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. Enhancing Oxford’s heritage and creating high quality new 

development 

Oxford is a world-renowned historic ci ty with a rich and diverse built heri tage. It is highly 
recognisable by i ts iconic skyline and i ts architecture. Oxford is also a dynamic city that must 
adapt and change. High quality design is key to managing this change positively, for the 
continued success of the city. Successful new design and the conservation and 
enhancement of the heri tage of Oxford should not be separated. Managing change in a 
way that respects and draws from Oxford’s heri tage is vital  for the continued success of the 
city. 

 
The value and benefi ts of good design and improvements to quality of li fe are so significant 
that good design is not a nice extra, it is essential. A successfully designed scheme will  be a 
positive addition to its surroundings. It may blend in or stand out, but it should not detract 
from existing significant positive characteristics in the area, and i t may add interest and 
variety. A well designed scheme will  meet the needs of all users and will stand the test of 
time. 

 
 

i. High quality design and placemaking 
 

Responding to site character and context 
 

6.1 A rigorous design process and design-led solutions are crucial to achieving new 
developments of high quality. Design should have a clear rationale and be informed by 
the unique characteristics of the site and i ts setting. To enable decision makers to 
properly understand and assess the final design, the design process must be clearly 
explained and justi fied. The design evolution should follow a logical order of 
morphological layers, as set out below. 

 
Contextual analysis of the site and its setting 

 
6.2 All new development should be informed and inspired by the unique characteristics of the 

site and its setting, and these considerations should go beyond the red line of the 
application site to adopt a truly placemaking approach. This contextual analysis must be 
the starting point for designing new development and this information should be set out in 
support of any pre-application enquiry or planning application. The contextual analysis 
should consider the history and development of the site and surrounding area, landscape 
structure, biodiversity, the pattern, character and appearance of streets, bui ldings and 
spaces. The level of detail in the analysis should be proportionate to the scale and 
complexity of the development proposals. As part of the contextual analysis, a constraints 
and opportunities plan should be created which will help visually draw out these crucial 
elements of the design development. Unique site features identified will present an 
opportunity to shape design and offer the 

124



91 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

opportunity for reinforcing existing character or creating an individual character drawing 
on the context. Constraints identified will help provide clarity about potential issues and 
open up the opportunity to explore imaginative solutions to them. Appendix 6.1 contains 
more information about what should be included in as part of the contextual analysis and 
constraints and opportunities plan. Existing site features can include, the topography, 
views in and out and across, points of connection, existing natural features and 
established character, but this list is not exhaustive. 

 
6.3 Regardless of the scale of development, it is likely that the site and its setting will contain 

biodiversity or at least it should present the opportunity for enhancement of this resource. 
The site wi ll also be located within an established landscape framework and may well 
contain natural features such as trees, interesting topography and water courses, for 
example. It is essential to identify these features first to ensure that they can be 
integrated as early as possible into the site layout. At the earliest stage the site’s natural 
resources should be understood so that the placement of bui ldings later makes the most 
of these opportunities. These will include the amount of daylight and sunlight it receives 
as well as climatic conditions like wind. Where possible, existing trees and planting 
should be retained, as this will help to establish character and provide interest more 
quickly. This design approach can also help to integrate new development with the 
surrounding area. 

 
Site layout informed by contextual analysis and movement needs 

 
6.4 The streets and paths we use are some of the most enduring features of our bui lt 

environment and Oxford has many excellent examples of highly permeable street 
networks such as those found in the historic core, East Oxford and Jericho. New 
development should seek to provide a clear hierarchy and choice of routes as well as 
direct and convenient access and must be designed for different modes of transport and 
different users, particularly encouraging walking and cycling. The quali ty of all routes in 
terms of how different people will experience them must be a key consideration, avoiding 
inactive edges and narrow pavements for example. Routes must be designed with all 
users in mind so that they are truly accessible. 

 
 

6.5 Depending on the street hierarchy, different streets will have different functions and 
require different designs and treatment, from a tree lined, formal, primary street to a 
calmer, narrower, tertiary street. Focal points and landmark bui ldings help aid people’s 
understanding of a place and can create memorable routes as well as variety and 
interest. 

 
Design of external areas 

 
6.6 Investing in the quali ty of the public realm and the space between buildings is as 

important as investing in the quality of new bui ldings, all of which together, create the 
places in which we live, work, visit and enjoy. Design should always be inclusive and the 
design of the public realm and outdoor spaces should cater for all potential users. 

125



92 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Moreover, the design of external spaces should seek to create opportunities for people to 
engage with a place through their senses. 

 
6.7 Good quality landscaping is a fundamental part of successful outdoor spaces. It is 

essential that landscape schemes/designs are evolved alongside architectural designs to 
ensure that there is a strong relationship between bui ldings and spaces. Trees and plants 
are important elements of any landscape scheme as they provide visual interest, adding 
colours, shapes 
and textures that provide a foil to bui ldings, helping to frame outside spaces and make 
them more attractive. The careful choice of hard surface materials can have a big impact 
on the success and overall quali ty of outdoor spaces. In selecting materials for hard 
surfacing, thought should be given to their durability, compatibi lity with the local context, 
and relationship with the overall design vision. It is also important to consider practical 
issues of any landscape scheme, such as lifespan (it is important that the benefi ts are 
long term) and how maintenance requirements will be managed over time. 

 
The built form 

 
6.8 Oxford has a rich legacy of bui ldings from iconic architectural set pieces to smaller 

domestic, medieval houses in the historic core and locally distinctive bui ldings within the 
many vi llages that now form part of the city. There is therefore a wealth of inspiration in 
terms of bui lding form and character and great opportunity for creative, high quality 
complementary character to enhance the existing bui lt form. 

 
6.9 New buildings and alterations to existing bui ldings should be of high quality design. They 

should respond appropriately to the existing form, materials and architectural detailing 
and should not have adverse impacts on existing and neighbouring bui ldings. Placement, 
style and proportions of doors and windows will be important, as will the choice of 
materials. 

 
Public art 

 
6.10 Public art is an excellent way to add interest, create a sense of place and provide a focal 

point. The public art could contribute to creating local distinctiveness, by saying 
something about the place it is in. It might reflect a historic use or event of the area, or the 
purpose of the new development. It can inject fun, quirkiness and a sense of 
personali ty. The Council will work with developers to bring about the incorporation of 
public art into schemes where this is important to establish or reinforce a sense of place 
and identity. Public art should not be seen as an embellishment of a scheme or appear as 
an add-on or afterthought. Rather, it should be part of design considerations from the 
start and integrated into the overall design concept. A developer wi ll be expected to show 
how public art has been designed in at an early stage. A temporary piece, an event or a 
curated space might be accepted if they offer something worthwhile. Creating multi- 
functional public art might help to achieve a well-loved design, for example public art that 
can be used as seating. Details of the public art should be submitted with a planning 
application. 

 

Secure by design 
 

6.11 High quality design means creating places that are safe for all, and where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of li fe or community 
cohesion and resilience. New developments should be designed to meet the principles 

126



93 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

and physical securi ty standards of the police’s Secure by Design scheme29 principles,. 
Secure by Design is proven to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour and provides 
a which provide a well-established approach for designing developments to minimise 
opportunities for criminal and anti-social behaviour, and for creating spaces that reduce 
the fear of crime. 

 
Design review and the pre-application process 

 
6.12 Design quality should be considered throughout the evolution and assessment of 

proposals. Early discussion between applicants, the local planning authori ty and local 
community about the design of emerging schemes is important for clari fying expectations 
and allowing for the opportunity for creative ideas and problem solving to add value. 

 
 

6.13 The City Counci l wi ll ensure that they have appropriate tools and processes for assessing 
and improving the design of development. These include internal design advice and 
review arrangements, which should be used as early as possible in the evolution of 
schemes. The Council has established a Design Review Panel which operates under the 
nationally accepted Design Review Principles and Practice guidance document. It is 
encouraged that all major development proposals are assessed by the Counci l’s in-house 
design team and then by the Panel as part of the pre-application process, in order that 
designs can be reviewed and improved at the informative stage prior to the formal 
determination of the application. 

 
6.14 In assessing applications, the Council will have regard to the outcome from these 

processes, including any recommendations made by Design Review Panel. However, the 
design review panel wi ll always remain as an advice panel and the Counci l wi ll not fetter 
its discretion in the determination of a planning application. 

 
 

 
ii. Views and building heights 

 
 
 

29  www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-guides 

Policy DH1: High quality design and placemaking 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for development of high quality design that 
creates or enhances local distinctiveness. 

 
All developments other than changes of use without external alterations and 
householder applications will be expected to be supported by a constraints and 
opportunities plan and supporting text and/or visuals to explain their design rationale in 
a design statement proportionate to the proposal (which could be part of a Design and 
Access Statement or a Planning Statement), which should cover the relevant checklist 
points set out in Appendix 6.1. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted where proposals are designed to meet the key 
design objectives and principles for delivering high quality development as set out in 
Appendix 6 1  

127



94 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6.15 Land is scarce in Oxford and there is an imperative to use land efficiently. Taller buildings 
can positively contribute to increasing density, enabling a more efficient use of land, and 
may also be an appropriate bui lt response to the existing context. 

 
 

6.16 In Oxford, particular care should be taken to consider whether a new development might 
be in the setting of the buildings that create the iconic ‘dreaming spires’. These bui ldings 
are a collection of nationally and internationally important bui ldings of historic and 
architectural significance. They sit in a compact area in the core of Oxford, which is raised 
slightly on a gravel terrace, giving more prominence to these historic bui ldings and 
meaning that Oxford’s unique skyline can be viewed as a single enti ty whose composition 
varies according to the direction of viewing. Oxford’s iconic historic skyline means that 
particular care needs to be taken over the design and placement of taller bui ldings. Taller 
buildings should not negatively impact on views of the iconic skyline. The impact on views 
from the historic core to the green hi lls surrounding Oxford is also important to consider. 

 
6.17 The skyline is characterised by i ts many pinnacles and the ‘spikiness’ of its silhouette. 

The fragi lity and small height and volume of the spires means the character of the skyline 
is particularly vulnerable to change and could easi ly be eroded by any bulky element in 
the skyline. 

 
Building heights and views 

 
6.18 It is important that design choices about bui lding heights are informed by an 

understanding of the site context and the impacts on the significance of the setting of 
Oxford’s historic skyline, including views in to it, and views within it and out of it. Taller 
buildings will be possible in many locations, but they must be designed to ensure they 
contribute to the existing character, and do not detract from the amenity of their 
surroundings. 

 
6.19 Guidance is contained in the Oxford High Buildings Study about the design of high 

buildings. The aim will be to ensure that variabi lity and interest in the skyline is 
maintained. 

 
The historic core area 

 
6.20 Although from certain points of view the towers and spires that make up the historic 

skyline seem to be spaced very widely, the area from which the silhouette emerges is, in 
fact, very compact and does not extend far beyond the old city wall within the central 
core. The area within a 1,200 metre radius of Carfax tower (defined on the Policies Map 
as the Historic Core Area) contains all the bui ldings that comprise the historic skyline. 
New buildings within the Historic Core Area have high potential to interfere with the 
character of the skyline, especially if their height is above that of Carfax Tower. These will 
be developments that exceed 18.2 m (60 ft) in height or ordnance datum (height above 
sea level) 79.3 m (260ft) (whichever is the lower). 

 
View cones 

 
6.21 View cones are drawn as triangles from important viewing points to encompass the width 

of the area containing bui ldings that consti tute Oxford’s historic skyline. The 10 identi fied 
view cones do not represent an exhaustive list of viewing points that provide an important 
view of Oxford’s skyline. There may be glimpses of the famous skyline in other locations, 
and tall bui ldings in particular that are proposed outside of the view cones might still have 
an impact on the historic skyline. 

128



95 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.22 Within view cones, proposed new bui ldings must not detract from the skyline and 
composition and even where they will not intrude directly on to it, their effect as a frame to 
it must be considered. However, it is not just a bulky intrusion into the skyline that might 
be damaging; the foreground is also an important element of a view. Development of a 
low and uniform height that does not recognise the importance of rooftop detai ling and 
modulation can detract from the view of the skyline in the whole, as well as having a 
negative effect on townscape. 

 
6.23 A View Cones Assessment (2015) has been endorsed by the City Council and is 

published on the City Counci l’s website. It examines the significance of views, identi fying 
their special qualities. The View Cones Assessment sets out a methodology for heritage 
assessment of the Oxford views and applies this to each of the 10 view cones. It 
describes and analyses the important features of the view cones. The Study enables a 
greater understanding of the significance of all parts of the view, not just the skyline. It is 
designed to aid understanding of the impact of proposals on views, and should be 
referred to, understood and reflected in designs within the View Cones and the setting of 
View Cones that might impact on the experience and heritage significance of the view. 
The contribution of elements of each view is described. A simplified render has been 
developed for each view and key characteristics are picked out with labels. This analysis 
should be used to help judge and explain the impact of any proposed development within 
view cones on the overall view. It should be remembered that, whi le some protected 
views are partly obscured by tree cover (especially in the summer) trees may become 
managed in the views in the future, so protection of the views is still important. 

 
6.24 Some views are from points outside the City Council’s administrative boundaries. The 

City Counci l will work with Vale of White Horse to ensure these view are protected. 
 

Roofscape and views 
 

6.25 Even where bui ldings do not intrude directly into the skyline they may form a frame to it 
and have to be designed accordingly. To create more visual diversity that enhances the 
experience of the skyline, articulation of roofscape, and relatively short units of building 
are encouraged, with features to create a break in the line. 

 
6.26 A maximum ridge or parapet length of 25 metres without either a substantial vertical or 

horizontal break or interrupting features is the guideline that wi ll be followed for Oxford’s 
skyline. The City Council wi ll resist the loss of any features, such as chimneys, if the loss 
would result in a simplification of the skyline. 

 
Quality design of high buildings 

 
6.27 Certain aspects of the design of high bui ldings require particular and specific 

consideration. W hether a bui lding is considered a high bui lding will depend on the 
context. The High Buildings Guidance Technical Advice Note (TAN) should be referred to. 
This includes guidance on differing heights across the city where the impacts from those 
heights will be minimal. Higher bui ldings may still be appropriate. The TAN also sets out 
design considerations for exceeding those heights. Policy DH2 sets out the requirements 
for technological representations of the visual impact of high buildings; non-technical 
representations may also be appropriate. Higher bui ldings will often be appropriate in 
district centres and on arterial roads. The massing, orientation, roofline, materials 
(including colour) and the relation of the bui lding to the street will also be important. Taller 
buildings will need to be designed to avoid potential negative impacts of overshadowing, 
reduced internal natural light and wind-tunnel effects. 

129



96 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy DH2: Views and building heights 
 

The City Council wi ll seek to retain significant views both within Oxford and from outside, 
in particular to and from the historic skyline. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any bui lding or structure that would harm the special significance of Oxford’s historic 
skyline. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for developments of appropriate height or massing, as 
demonstrated by the following criteria, all of which should be met: 

 
a) design choices regarding height and massing have a clear design rationale and 

the impacts will be positive; and 
 

b) any design choice to design bui ldings to a height that would impact on character 
should be fully explained, and regard should be had to the guidance on design of 
higher bui ldings set out in the High Buildings Study TAN should be followed. In 
particular, the impacts in terms of the four visual tests of obstruction, impact on the 
skyline, competition and change of character should be explained; and 

 
c) it should be demonstrated how proposals have been designed to have a positive 

impact through their massing, orientation, the relation of the bui lding to the street, 
and the potential impact on important views including both in to the historic skyline 
and out towards Oxford’s green setting. 

 
The area within a 1,200 metre radius of Carfax tower (the Historic Core Area) contains all 
the bui ldings that comprise the historic skyline, so new developments that exceed 18.2 m 
(60 ft) in height or ordnance datum (height above sea level) 79.3 m (260 ft) (whichever is 
the lower) are likely to intrude into the skyline. Development above this height should be 
limited in bulk and must be of the highest design quality. Applications for proposed 
development that exceeds that height will be required to provide extensive information so 
that the full impacts of any proposals can be understood and assessed, including: 

 
i. a Visual Impact Assessment, which includes the use of photos and verified views 

produced and used in a technically appropriate way, which are appropriate in size 
and resolution to match the perspective and detail as far as possible to that seen in 
the field, representing the landscape and proposed development as accurately as 
possible 

 
ii. use of 3D modelling so that the impact of the development from different locations 

can be understood, including any view cone views that are affected; and 
 

iii. an explanation of what the impacts will be in terms of the four visual tests of 
obstruction, impact on the skyline, competition and change of character; and 

 
iv. reference to how the guidance in the High Buildings Study Technical Advice Note 

has been followed. 
 

Any proposals within the Historic Core Area or View Cones that may impact on roofscape 
and the foreground part of views (including proposals where they are below the Carfax 
datum point, for example plant) should be designed carefully, and should meet all the 
following criteria: 

130



97 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

iii. Designated heritage assets 
 

6.28 National heritage lists are administered by Historic England. Assets on the lists are of 
clear national significance and include listed bui ldings, scheduled monuments and 
registered parks and gardens. Oxford’s historic core has a distinctive pattern of streets of 
Saxon origin and world-class bui ldings of interest from every major period of British 
architectural history from the 11th century onwards. 

 
6.29 Oxford has around 1,200 listed bui ldings, of which almost a quarter are grade I and II* 

listed. Oxford has 15 registered parks and gardens. These Historic Parks and Gardens 
are protected at a national level. Several of these parks and gardens have been 
assessed as being part of the Green Infrastructure network. Conservation areas are also 
designated heri tage assets. They are ‘areas of special architectural or historic interest, 
the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’. Oxford has 
18 conservation areas which are listed in Appendix 6.2 and defined on 
the Policies Proposals Map. They include a diverse range of qualities, reflecting the story 
of Oxford, from the medieval walled city to surrounding agricultural settlements, the open 
green space found in the Headington Hill Conservation Area to the meadows of the river 
valleys such as Wolvercote and Godstow. However, they all have the common element of 
containing features that link us to our past. The protection of these features needs to be 
properly managed, ensuring future generations will value and enjoy their special qualities. 

 
6.30 Heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource, so it is vital that they are conserved in a 

manner appropriate to their significance. Heritage significance can be represented in an 
asset’s form, scale, materials and architectural detail and, where relevant, the historic 
relationships between heri tage assets. Development that affects the setting of a heri tage 
asset should respond positively to the assets’ significance, local context and character to 
protect the contribution that the setting makes to the asset’s significance. In particular, 
consideration will need to be given to impacts from development that is not sympathetic in 
terms of scale, materials, details and form. 

 
6.31 Where development is proposed which affects a designated Heritage Asset a 
heri tage assessment will be required that is appropriate to the level of significance of the 
asset. The assessment needs to explain i ts significance and the impacts of the proposals. 
Substantial harm or loss of significance should be wholly exceptional and could only be 
justi fied if it is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm or 
loss, taking into account the significance and benefits of conserving the asset. Conservation 
area appraisals (where they exist) are the starting point for understanding significance and 
significant features and assets of conservation areas. Use of the Oxford Character Appraisal 
Toolkit can aid in developing an understanding of local context and significance, and is 
particularly encouraged in conservation areas in order to inform design and aid 

• they are based on a clear understanding of characteristic positive aspects of 
roofscape in the area; and 

• they contribute positively to the roofscape, to enhance any significant long views 
the development may be part of and also the experience at street level; 

 
Planning permission will not be granted for development proposed within a View Cone or 
the setting of a View Cone if it would harm the special significance of the view. 

 
The View Cones and the Historic Core Area (1,200m radius of Carfax tower) are defined 
on the Policies Proposals Map. 

131



98 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

understanding of its impacts. The council would be supportive of proposals that would 
improve upon the condition of heri tage assets that are identified as being at risk of being lost 
as a result of neglect, decay or inappropriate development, as long as it can be 
demonstrated that there would be no resultant harm to their setting or their significance. 

 
Policy DH3: Designated heritage assets 

 
Planning permission or listed bui lding consent will be granted for development that 
respects and draws inspiration from Oxford’s unique historic environment (above and 
below ground), responding positively to the significance character and distinctiveness of 
the heri tage asset and locali ty. 

 
In For all planning decisions for planning permission or listed bui lding consent affecting 
the significance of designated heri tage assets, great weight will be given to the 
conservation of that asset and to the setting of the asset where it contributes to that 
significance or appreciation of that significance). (including its setting where it contributes 
to significance). 

 
An application for planning permission A planning application for development which 
would or may affect the significance of any designated heritage asset, either directly or by 
being within i ts setting (including, where appropriate, its setting), should be accompanied 
by a heritage assessment that includes a description of the asset and i ts significance and 
an assessment of the impact of the development proposed on the asset’s significance. As 
part of this process full regard should be given to the detailed character assessments and 
other relevant information set out any relevant conservation area appraisal and 
management plan. 

 
The submitted heri tage assessment must include information sufficient to demonstrate: 

 
a) an understanding of the significance of the heri tage asset, including recognition of 

its contribution to the quality of life of current and future generations and the wider 
social, cultural, economic and environmental benefi ts they may bring; and 

 
b) that the development of the proposal and i ts design process have been informed 

by an understanding of the significance of the heri tage asset and that harm to i ts 
significance has been avoided or minimised; and 

 
c) that, in cases where development would result in harm to the significance of a 

heri tage asset, including its setting, the extent of harm has been properly and 
accurately assessed and understood, that it is justified, and that measures are 
incorporated into the proposal, where appropriate, that mitigate, reduce or 
compensate for the harm; 

 
Where the setting of an asset is affected by a proposed development, the heritage 
assessment should include a description of the extent to which the setting contributes to 
the significance of the asset, as well as an assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development on the setting and i ts contribution to significance. 

 
Substantial harm to or loss of Grade II listed bui ldings, or Grade II registered parks or 
gardens, should be exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of assets of the highest 
significance, notably scheduled monuments, Grade I and II* listed bui ldings, Grade I and 
II* registered parks and gardens, should be wholly exceptional. Where a proposed 

132



99 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

iv. Archaeological remains 
 
 

6.32 Much of Oxford’s history, especially in its historic core, lies buried beneath the ground. 
Listed bui ldings can also contain important archaeological evidence about their past, 
building techniques and traditions. Oxford has a rich archaeological heritage, from 
prehistoric times to the modern day. A better understanding and appreciation of the 
archaeology of Oxford and helps us to understand i ts heri tage. Archaeological remains 
can’t be renewed so it is essential they are managed carefully and treated with respect. It 
is important that Oxford’s archaeological legacy is protected and where the loss of 
archaeological assets can be justi fied opportunities to investigate and record 
archaeological remains are fully realised when development takes place. 

 
 

6.33 The unique archaeological heritage of the city encompasses a wide variety of asset 
types. Some of these are formally designated as Scheduled Monuments however many 
assets of comparable significance are not currently designated and warrant appropriate 
protection through the planning system. Notable assets include prehistoric domestic, 
ritual and funerary sites located across north Oxford and the remains of an important 
Roman pottery manufacturing industry to the south and east of ci ty. The town is also 
distinctive for i ts middle-late Saxon urban remains, its emergence as a major cloth trading 
town in the Norman period and for the numerous assets associated with Oxford’s 
development as an international centre for academic study including the remains of 
multiple religious institutions, academic halls and endowed colleges. Other assets of 
particular note include the town defences, the distinctive remains associated with the 
medieval Jewish Community and the Royalist Civil War defences. 

development will lead to substantial harm to or loss of the significance of a designated 
heri tage asset, planning permission or listed bui lding consent will only be granted if: 

 
i. the harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the 

harm or loss; and or all of the following apply: 
 

ii. the nature of the asset prevents all reasonable uses of the sites; and 
 

iii. no viable use of the asset itself can be found in the medium term (through 
appropriate marketing) that will enable its conservation; and 

 
iv. conservation by grant funding or similar is not possible; and 

 
v. the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefi t of bringing the site back into use; 

 
vi. a plan for recording and advancing understanding of the significance of any 

heri tage assets to be lost, including making this evidence publicly available, is 
agreed with the City Counci l. 

 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to a designated 
heri tage asset, this harm must be weighed against the public benefi ts of the 
proposal. The Clear and extensive justification for this harm should be set out in full in the 
heritage assessment. 

 
Conservation areas are listed in Appendix 6.2 and defined on the Policies Map. 

133



100 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.34 The policy is designed to ensure that the significance of Oxford’s exceptional 
archaeological legacy is sustained and that where the loss or harm of archaeological 
deposits is warranted development results in a thorough investigation of the impacted 
archaeology. The policy will ensure developers consider the potential existence of 
archaeological remains on a site at an early stage. 

 
6.35 The City Centre Archaeological Area (defined on the Policies Map) has an exceptionally 

high concentration of archaeological remains, as do some allocated sites (noted in 
Chapter 9 against the relevant si te allocation policies). Any significant breaking of the 
ground in these locations will require an archaeological assessment. An archaeological 
assessment may also be required outside of these areas, where it is suspected there are 
archaeological remains. There are known concentrations of past human activity in many 
parts of Oxford, and early discussion with the City Counci l to ascertain whether an 
archaeological assessment is required is strongly advised. 

 
6.36 Where deposits exist, information defining the extent and character of these should be 

included in the planning application. Early assessment and field evaluation to inform 
sensitive design is recommended. Design should aim to preserve significant archaeology 
in si tu. The presence of deposits or remains will require care in layout of designs to 
mitigate adverse effects that may result from poor siting of foundations, drainage features 
and hard landscaping. Where the loss of archaeological assets is warranted by the merits 
and public benefi ts of the development archaeological investigation and recording, public 
outreach, storage of artefacts and the publication and dissemination of results may be an 
acceptable alternative. In these cases, the potential for design that makes some 
acknowledgement of the understanding of the past that is gained through the 
archaeological discoveries should be considered. Understanding and incorporating 
archaeological remains into current designs will add interest and local distinctiveness. 

 
6.37 Owing to the richness of archaeological remains in Oxford, especially in the historic core, 

and because of the significant development pressures, many works are carried out that 
affect the archaeology of the central area. Such development may have cumulative 
impacts on certain asset types; there is a danger that allowing the recording of deposits 
rather than preservation in si tu for several individual developments will lead to significant 
degradation of the archaeological record. In those cases, further work to ensure adequate 
contextual assessment and mitigation may be required, that takes into account 
cumulative impacts. 

 

Policy DH4: Archaeological remains 
 
Within the City Centre Archaeological Area, on allocated sites where identified, or 
elsewhere where archaeological deposits and features are suspected to be present 
(including upstanding remains), applications should include sufficient information to define 
the character, significance and extent of such deposits so far as reasonably practical. This 
information should generally include : 

 
a) a Heritage Assessment that includes a description of the impacted archaeological 

deposit or feature (including where relevant its setting), an assessment of its 
significance and the impact of the proposed development on its significance, in all 
cases using a proportionate level of detail that is sufficient to understand the 
potential impact of the proposal. The Statement should reference appropriate 
records (including the information held on the Oxford Historic Environment 
Record); and 

134



101 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

v. Local heritage assets 
 

6.38 Oxford City Counci l maintains a list of local heri tage assets known as the Oxford Heritage 
Asset Register (OHAR), which is a register of bui ldings, structures, features or places that 
make a special contribution to the character of Oxford and i ts neighbourhoods through 
their locally significant historic, architectural, archaeological or artistic interest. The OHAR 
provides the opportunity to identify those elements of Oxford’s historic environment 
particularly valued by local communities. Buildings and structures on OHAR are not given 
any statutory protection from demoli tion. 

 
6.39 The policy will ensure that heri tage assets of local importance will be a material 

consideration when determining planning applications. The term ‘local heri tage assets’ 
has the same meaning as the term ‘non-designated heri tage assets’ in the NPPF. Locally 
important heri tage assets can be added to the list when they are identi fied. The cri teria for 
inclusion of the Oxford Heritage Asset Register are: 
- heri tage interest that can be conserved and enjoyed; and 
- value as heritage to the character and identi ty of the city, or area, or community; and 
- a level of significance greater than the general positive characteristics of the local area. 

b) if appropriate, a full archaeological desk-based assessment and the results of 
evaluation by fieldwork (produced by an appropriately quali fied contractor. Pre- 
application discussion is encouraged to establish requirements). In the City Centre 
Archaeological Area where significant archaeological asset types can be shown to 
be subject to cumulative impact from development, the desk-based assessment 
should contain appropriate contextual assessment of this impact. 

 
Development proposals that affect archaeological features and deposits wi ll be supported 
where they are designed to enhance or to better reveal the significance of the asset and 
will help secure a sustainable future for it. 

 
Proposals which would or may affect archaeological remains or features which are 
designated as heritage assets will be considered against the policy approach as set out in 
policy DH4 DH3 above. 

 
Archaeological remains or features which are equivalent in terms of their significance as to 
a scheduled monument are given the same policy protection as designated heritage 
assets. Proposals which affect the significance of such assets will be considered against 
the policy test for designated heritage assets set out in policy DH4 above. 

 
Subject to the above, proposals that will lead to harm to the significance of non-designed 
archaeological remains or features will be resisted unless a clear and convincing 
justi fication through public benefit can be demonstrated to outweigh that harm, having 
regard to the significance of the remains or feature and the extent of harm. 

 
Where harm to an archaeological asset has been convincingly justified and is 
unavoidable, mitigation should be agreed with Oxford City Council and should be 
proportionate to the significance of the asset and impact. The aim of mitigation should be 
where possible to preserve archaeological remains in si tu, to promote public enjoyment of 
heri tage and to record and advance knowledge. Appropriate provision should be made for 
investigation, recording, analysis, publication, archive deposition and community 
involvement. 

135



102 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The policy sets out cri teria describing a local heritage asset. If these cri teria are met an 
asset can be added to the Oxford Heritage Asset Register following approval at a 
Planning Committee or City Executive Board. Assets can be nominated by members of 
the public or during the planning application process. 

 
6.40 Local heritage assets and their setting often make a place special and they should be 

given consideration at the design stage to ensure that any adverse impacts are either 
avoided or mitigated and that local character is enhanced or conserved. 

 
6.41 Assets within conservation areas are not included in the Oxford Heritage Asset Register. 

Individual assets of local heritage significance in conservation areas are identi fied as part 
of the process of preparing a conservation area appraisal. They should be considered in 
planning applications that affect them or their setting in the same way as assets on the 
Oxford Heritage Asset Register. 

 

 
vi. Shopfronts and signage 

 
6.42 Outdoor advertisements and signs can impact on amenity and public safety, and 

therefore sometimes require advertisement consent planning permission. W ell- designed 
signs and advertisements will integrate well with bui ldings and the character of an area as 
well as meeting the commercial need for the advertisement. However, obtrusive designs 
and unthoughtful si ting of signs and advertisements can have a detrimental effect on 
visual amenity or on the character of an area, particularly in conservation areas. 

Policy DH5: Local Heritage Assets 
 
Assets will be considered for inclusion on the Oxford Heritage Asset Register if they have: 

 
• heri tage interest that can be conserved and enjoyed; and 

 
• value as heritage to the character and identity of the city, or area, or community; 

and 
 

• a level of significance greater than the general positive characteristics of the local 
area. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for development affecting a local heri tage 
asset or its setting (or setting of an asset) if it is demonstrated that due regard has been 
given to the impact on the asset’s significance and its setting and that it is demonstrated 
that the significance of the asset and i ts conservation has informed the design of the 
proposed development. the significance of the asset, and its conservation, has informed 
the design of the development proposed. In determining whether planning permission 
should be granted for a development proposals, which affects (directly or indirectly) a local 
heri tage asset (that is not designated), consideration will be given to the significance of 
the asset, the extent of impact on i ts significance, as well as the scale of any harm or loss 
to the asset as balanced against the public benefi ts that may result from the development 
proposals. public benefits that may result from the development proposals. 

 
Publicly accessible recording should be made to advance understanding of the 
significance of any assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their 
importance and the impact. 

136



103 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6.43 The policy approach will ensure that new or changed shopfronts adverts and signs that 
require planning permission (or listed buildings consent) and adverts and signs that 
require advertisements consent are of a design, size and materials that complement that 
character of bui ldings they are on and the surrounding public realm. The policy will 
ensure visual pollution and clutters are avoided and will help to maintain Oxford’s historic 
shopfronts. Compromises may need to be made to ‘corporate’ designs in particularly 
sensitive areas to meet the requirements of the policy, for example internally illuminated 
box fascias and projecting signs will not be generally appropriate in conservation areas. 

 
 

 
vii. External servicing features and stores for bikes, waste and recycling 

 
6.44 Bike storage is essential in Oxford, where travel by bike is already an important mode 

share, and where an increase is being encouraged. Retro- fi tting of bike stores can lead 
to poor faci lities, which detract from the overall design of a development. For flats 
particularly, convenient, secure cycle parking needs careful thought, early in the design 
process. 

 
6.45 Given that the total amount of waste generated in Oxford is expected to rise (due to the 

rise in the number of households) maximising the potential for residents to recycle as 
much waste as possible will be very important. Ensuring that there is adequate, well 
placed space for the range of bins required will enable this, and also ensuring that these 
bins do not detract from the appearance or amenity of the street. It should also be 
ensured that bins are located and stored in such a way that they can be collected 
efficiently. 

 
6.46 Servicing features such as meter cupboards, pipes and gutters, flues, vents, satellite 

dishes and aerials can sometimes be designed as an integrated element of the 
architecture that can contribute positively to the overall design of a bui lding or 
development architectural feature that benefits the overall design. Chimneys and 
drainpipes, for example, can help to break up the monotony of a terrace, showing the 
individual units within the whole. Detai ling of these features can be an important 
contributor to the character of an area. However, servicing features can also create a 
cluttered appearance and detract from design of an otherwise successful development. 

Policy DH6: Shopfronts and signage 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for the display of an advertisement, shopfront, 
sign or canopy new or changed shopfronts and advertisement consent will only be granted 
for signage and other forms of advertisement where the design, positioning, materials, 
colour, proportion and i llumination are not detrimental to assets with heri tage significance 
or visual or residential amenity, as demonstrated through the following criteria, all of which 
should be met: 

 
a) the design responds to and positively contributes to the character and design of 

existing buildings and surroundings; and 
 

b) public safety would not be prejudiced; and 
 

c) visual pollution and clutter are avoided; and 
 

d) historic shop fronts are retained 

137



104 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6.47 The aim of the policy is to ensure that provision for bins and bicycles is considered as an 
integral element of the design of a development, from the earliest stage in the design 
process whether they are included within the main buildings or as freestanding bui ldings. 
Consideration from an early stage in the design process will ensure that it is designed in 
the best way. Guidance on the numbers and sizes of bins that are required for different 
types of development and design and placement of stores is set out in the City Counci l’s 
Technical Advice Note on Waste Storage. This wi ll be revised to also include advice on 
bike storage. 

 
6.48 The policy approach seeks to ensure that careful consideration is given to the positioning, 

design and materials used for external servicing features. Where it would be 
inappropriate for them to be designed as an architectural element, they should be hidden 
as much as possible and located sympathetically, for example on less prominent 
elevations, grouped together and aligned where possible. 

 

Policy DH7: External servicing features and stores 
 
Bike and bin stores and external servicing features should be considered from the start 
of the design process. Planning permission will be granted where i t can be 
demonstrated that: 

 
a) bin and bike storage is provided in a way that does not detract from the overall 

design of the scheme or the surrounding area, whilst meeting practical needs 
including the provision of electric charging points where appropriate; and 

 
b) external servicing features have been designed as an integrated part of the 

overall design, or are positioned to minimise their impact; and 
 

c) materials used for detai led elements such as for stores or rainwater goods are  
of high quality so they enhance the overall design and will not degrade in a way 
that detracts from the overall design. 

138



105 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
7. Ensuring efficient movement into and around the city 

 
Oxford has the ambition to become a world class cycling city with improved air quali ty, 
reduced congestion and enhanced public realm. Road space within the city is clearly limited 
and to achieve its ambition there is a need to prioritise road space and promote the 
sustainable modes of travel, walking, cycling and public transport. 

 
 

iii. Promoting sustainable travel through prioritising walking, cycling, and 
public transport 

 
7.1 Oxford is a sub-regional hub and a focus for employment, retai l, leisure, culture and 

tourism. The city centre has a medieval road system, with narrow streets, and areas of 
great heri tage value. It has the ambition to become a world class cycling city with 
improved air quali ty, reduced congestion and enhanced public realm. Road space within 
the city is limited, so to achieve itsthis ambition there is a need to re-priori tise road 
space and in order to promote the sustainable modes of movementtravel, walking, cycling 
and public transport. 

 
 

7.2 The City Council, in i ts capacity as Local Planning Authority, has a key role to deliver 
change to the movement network through place shaping. Although it is Oxfordshire 
County Counci l as Local Highway Authori ty that has responsibi lity for transport policy with 
other strategic transport decisions being taken by Highways England, the rai l industry, 
and bus operators, the Local Plan has an important role in helping to implement and 
support transport projects and the principles of sustainable travel. It can have an important 
impact on movement in the city through its policies on density, design and location of new 
development, parking and requirements for infrastructure provision from new 
developments, in particular improvements to walking and cycling infrastructure. 

 
7.3 The Plan promotes sustainable travel in the forms of walking, cycling and public transport 

over private car use. High quali ty connections by bus, rai l, cycling and walking are all vi tal 
to the City’s future economic prosperity and social inclusiveness. These connections 
provide access to education, employment, business, retail, medical and leisure 
opportunities. Cycling and walking contribute towards reducing carbon emissions and 
improving air quali ty. As forms of active travel they can assist with the adoption of 
healthier li festyles and managing the use of the City’s transport network more effectively. 

 
7.4 An effective transportation system is fundamental to the vitali ty of the urban area yet the 

movement of people into and around Oxford continues to be a huge challenge with i ts 
highly constrained transport system. There is limited potential to increase space on the 
roads, therefore the use of road space must be managed carefully, particularly in the city 
centre, to optimise capacity. The Local Plan will support measures to maximise the 
opportunities for releasing road space for sustainable modes by adopting a different 
approach as to how vehicles, particularly private cars, use the streets. In the city centre, 
there is also a need to consider how buses access the centre and circulate within it to 
release space for improved public realm and cycling. 

139



106 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

7.5 The growth proposed in this Plan is supported by Oxfordshire County Council’s Oxford 
Transport Strategy (OTS) and by a transport and movement study30  for the city centre 
which was jointly commissioned with the County Counci l. 

 
7.6 The OTS has been prepared by Oxfordshire County Counci l as part of the Local 

Transport Plan: Connecting Oxfordshire 2015-2031 (LTP4). LTP4 established a number 
of proposals that have been developed further and brought forward in more recent work, 
including the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) and the National Infrastructure 
Commission (NIC). 

 
7.7 The OTS has three components, mass transit, walking and cycling and managing traffic 

and travel demand. A new mass transit31 network for Oxford will help meet future 
connectivity needs in the city. This wi ll deliver a step-change in travel choices for diverse 
movements within and into the city. A city-wide walking and cycling network must include 
continuous pedestrian and cycle routes and high quality spaces for pedestrians in areas 
of high footfall. Mass transit and walking and cycling improvements will be enabled and 
supported by an ambitious agenda of road space reallocation, and a much stronger focus 
on reducing traffic demand in the city. 

 
7.8 Both the City and County Councils recognise that for Oxford to function effectively there 

must be a radical shift away from people relying on the use of the private car towards 
more sustainable modes and the Local Plan policies reflect this. To prevent growth in car 
trips to and within Oxford, the County Council have proposals for increased Park and 
Ride capacity, including the addition of remote Park and Ride sites at Eynsham, 
Sandford, Cumnor, Lodge Hill and the A44 corridor. These sites, as well as existing Park 
and Ride sites, should be designed or improved- where appropriate and possible- to 
function as intermodal hubs that wi ll facili tate interchange between buses, private motor 
vehicles and the sustainable movement modes of bicycling and walking. These will work 
alongside other measures, including additional demand management proposals, to help 
to reduce the number of car trips into the centre of Oxford and to the Eastern Arc. In 
addition, measures for both road and cycling improvements along the corridor routes into 
Oxford will be undertaken during the plan period. 

 
Spatial strategy to encourage sustainable modes 

 
7.9 The following movement specific objectives are important to ensure people are provided 

with efficient, attractive and sustainable ways to move throughout the city: 
• Supporting the existing movement hierarchy prioritising  walking  and cycling  

and use of public transport, and reallocating road space according to this 
hierarchy; 

• Supporting the introduction of additional demand management measures 
alongside the existing measures, which may include traffic restrictions, road user 
charging and/or a workplace parking levy; 

• Changing traffic management, which could include the re-allocation of road 
space, whereby road space would be dedicated for segregated cycle routes, bus 
priority and the provision of wider footways and an enhanced public realm; 

• Allowing penetration of frequent public transport services and stops as close as 
possible to the city centre, district centres and employment and new residential 
sites, as well as improving interchange between modes; 

 
 

30 City Centre Public Realm and Movement Study Phil Jones Associates July 2018 
31 Mass transit in Oxford, will consist of rail, rapid transit (RT) and buses and coaches.  

140



107 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Optimising the capacity of the city centre and district centres for walking and 
cycling by creating a comprehensive and legible network and improved public 
realm; 

• Reducing congestion levels to ensure buses have minimum possible delay, to 
improve service to passengers, reduce pollution and remove the need for long 
schedule recovery times to provide a reliable city wide service; 

• Enabling growth in public transport passenger numbers, through more 
efficient “rapid transit” operating principles, infrastructure and vehicles; 

• Ensuring servicing and deliveries can be managed efficiently with particular focus 
on looking for alternatives to the first mile/last mile deliveries, for example cycle 
couriers; and 

• Implementing the Zero Emission Zone in the city centre. 
 

7.10 These key objectives seek to enhance the experience for people travelling to, from and 
within Oxford, and to make the city centre a more attractive place to be. Such measures 
would lead to a reduction in air and noise pollution, and a more inclusive environment 
with improved road safety. Air quality in the city centre is expected to improve further with 
the introduction of a Zero Emission Zone in the city centre32. Proposals for innovative 
forms of sustainable travel that would help deliver these objectives will be supported. 

 
Disabled access 

 
7.11 Access to the city centre and district centres and other faci lities, services and places of 

employment is essential for disabled people, regardless of their form of transport. The 
design and location of bus stops, footways, parking and cycling facili ties should be 
designed with the needs of people with disabi lities in mind. 

 
Scheduled coaches and tourist coaches 

 
7.121Coach travel is also important as a sustainable mode of travel. Oxford has several 

scheduled long-distance coach routes to the centre of London, to Cambridge and to 
Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted and Luton airports, which provide a popular alternative to 
car travel. The City Counci l wi ll support the County Counci l in achieving the optimum 
routes within the city centre to reduce the negative impacts of these coaches on both 
public realm and air quality, whi lst ensuring good access to the service remains. 

 
7.132Tourist coaches continue to present a challenge to the city in terms of the numbers 

entering the city, particularly during the summer months. Coach parking faci lities will 
continue to be provided at the Redbridge Park and Ride site. Drop off points for coaches 
will continue to be provided to the north and south of the city (St Giles and St Aldates, 
south of Speedwell Street). Coaches will only drop off and pick up in these locations and 
must then leave the city centre and go to longer stay parking (at Redbridge currently). To 
ensure coaches adhere to these arrangements enforcement is required to prevent the city 
from becoming an unauthorised coach parking area. 

 
Cowley Branch Line 

 
7.143The NIC recommended that the Cowley Branch Line should be reopened for passengers 

by the end of 2019, and a study is already underway to develop this project as part of the 
wider development of the Oxfordshire rail network. The reopening of the Cowley Branch 
Line for passenger services will bring obvious benefits for the city and is likely to lead to 

 
 

32 www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20216/air_quality_management/1227/oxford_zero_emission_zone_zez  

141



108 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

growth and intensification of uses at the Science Park, Business Park and in Blackbird 
Leys. 

 
7.154The City Council supports such a proposal, recognising the role i t would play in the East- 

West rail links between Oxford, Milton Keynes and Cambridge and the links offered to 
Oxford Station and Oxford Parkway. The Local Plan seeks to assist in its delivery by 
working with partners to faci litate the delivery of the branch line within the plan period. 
The potential station locations will be safeguarded through the Local Plan, as will 
safeguarded routes. 

 
7.165 The Plan will ensure, through the site allocation policies, that no development takes place 

which would inhibit the opening of the Cowley Branch Line to passenger traffic, by 
preventing developments which would be sensitive to noise and vibration close to the 
railway. The Plan will also look to safeguard bus, taxi and pedestrian and cycle routes to 
the rail halts, ensuring that sites around the new stations are as permeable as possible to 
enable good access. 

 
 

Policy M1: Prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for development that minimises the need to travel 
and is laid out and designed in a way that prioritises access by walking, cycling and public 
transport. 

 
Walking: 

 
In order to promote walking in the city and improve the pedestrian environment, 
development proposals must meet the needs arising from the development and take 
opportunities to achieve improvements. Proposals shall: 

 
a) ensure that the urban environment is permeable and safe to walk through and 

adequately lit, with good and direct connections both within and across the wider 
network; 

 
b) make improvements to the pedestrian environment including the provision of high 

quality crossings points where needed, seating, signage and landscaping; and 
 

c) support high quality public realm improvement works (refer to Policy DH1) and 
ensure that footways are sufficiently wide to accommodate the level of use. 

 
Cycling: 

 
In order to promote cycling in the city and ensure an accessible environment for cyclists, 
the Counci l will seek to ensure that development: 

 
d) provides for connected, high quali ty, convenient and safe (segregated where 

possible) cycle routes within developments and the wider networks that are 
permeable and can accommodate the anticipated growth in cycling; 

 
e) provides for accessible, conveniently located, secure cycle parking faci lities in both 

private and publicly-accessible locations (refer to Policy M5); and 
 

f) makes provision for high quality on-site faci lities that promote cycle usage, 
including changing rooms  showers  dryers and lockers  

142



109 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New pedestrian and cycle routes:  
 

New (or improved) pedestrian and cycle routes are shown on the proposals map. 
Proposals will be expected to facili tate and deliver these links to serve needs arising from 
development and where opportunities arise to secure improvements. Planning permission 
will not be granted for development that would jeopardise future delivery of these links. 

 
Public transport: 

 
In order to safeguard and promote the provision of public transport in Oxford development 
that will add to demands on public transport should contribute towards improvements to 
bus network infrastructure including pedestrian and cycle routes to bus stops, shelters, 
passenger seating, waiting areas, signage, timetable information and infrastructure 
relating to zero emissions. 

 
Financial contributions fairly and reasonably related to the development wi ll be sought 
towards the cost of new or improved bus services where the direct impact of development 
would make such measures necessary. existing services are not considered adequate. 

 
The City Council wi ll work with its partners to improve the ease and quality of access into 
and around Oxford by public transport, by: 

 
i. ensuring that road space is managed efficiently to support public transport – 

including rapid transit - through initiatives such as bus priority measures, 
infrastructure and demand management. 

 
ii. supporting the County Counci l in their management of both scheduled and tourist 

coaches entering and leaving the city; 
 

iii. improving the capacity and attractiveness of Park and Ride, particularly the 
development of remote sites closer to county towns; 

 
iv. promoting bus/rapid transit access to and between major employers, hospitals, 

schools and colleges in the Eastern Arc (including the Headington and Marston 
area), Wolvercote/Cutteslowe and Cowley and Littlemore; and 

 
v. ensuring sufficient space is provided particularly within the city centre and district 

centres 
 

Proposals for new development wi ll be expected to incorporate the measures set out 
above to meet the needs of the development and where the opportunity arises, to secure 
improvements. Developments should be designed to accommodate bus movements, 
where appropriate. 

 
Rail network: 

 
Proposals to enhance the City’s rail network will be supported, in particular the re- 
development of Oxford Station and additional rail capacity to accommodate more 
services, including opening of the Cowley Branch Line for passengers. Land for the 
provision of new stations at Oxford Business Park/Retai l Park (Cowley area) and Oxford 
Science Park (Littlemore area)(refer to Sites 9 & 10 chapter 9) and access routes to the 
stations and across the line is safeguarded. 

143



110 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

ii. Assessing and managing development 
 

7.176Key tools used to appraise and determine the transport impacts of a development 
proposal are transport assessments (TA)(refer to Appendix 7.1) and travel plans (TP). A 
TA is a comprehensive and systematic process to ensure that the transport impacts of the 
development are properly considered and where appropriate includes measures to help 
mitigate development impact. A TP is a package of measures tai lored to the needs of an 
individual si te and focused on reducing dependence on the private car. 

 
7.187TPs offer opportunities to reduce the carbon footprint of new development as occupants 

of the new building are required to shift away from using the private car, thus reducing 
congestion and emissions across Oxford. TPs should demonstrate how the occupants of 
the bui lding are actively encouraged to establish use of sustainable modes of transport. 
TPs, to be effective, need monitoring, managing and where necessary enforcing. If the 
proposal is for employment activities, employers need to ensure that employees abide by 
the TP with appropriate sanctions for non-compliance. Developers must demonstrate, in 
their TPs what incentives are being offered to facili tate the shift of travel mode from the 
private car. The TP will be reviewed, monitored and enforced as required (to be set out in 
a legal agreement). For some developments further assessments and/or plans may be 
required such as student accommodation plans or car parking plans. 

 
7.198 The movement of goods and materials by road can have a significant impact on the 

quality of the environment and the health and wellbeing of residents, in terms of noise, 
congestion and air pollution. These impacts are particularly severe in Oxford and the city 
centre in particular. As the city centre introduces the Zero Emission Zone some of these 
impacts will be reduced. However, commercial deliveries will always need to be made to 
Oxford and this should be done in the most sustainable way to reduce negative impacts. 

 
7.2019 Specific Delivery and Servicing Management Plans (DSPs) are required to be 

submitted for proposals that wi ll affect the city centre or district centre and also for sites in 
close proximity to residential areas. They should set out measures that wi ll be introduced 
to minimise impacts, such as managing delivery times and vehicles. The City Council 
encourages the use of cycle freight as an extension to cycle courier services by 
encouraging developers to make provision for cycle freight as part of their DSPs. This 
provides the potential to manage deliveries in a way that is zero carbon. 

 
7.2120 The Council will work with partners to promote the use of freight consolidation 

centres where possible. Within consolidation centres, goods are grouped together so that 
fewer delivery journeys are required by roads, thus reducing air pollution, congestion and 
noise across Oxford. This would be particularly beneficial in reducing delivery trips to the 
city centre businesses, including Oxford University and the colleges. 

 
7.2221 Developments must ensure Construction Management Plans (CMP) set out how the 

impacts arising from construction work are managed. Policy M2 sets out the requirements 
for a CMP. These The CMP should form part of the planning process. 

Proposals for improvements to Oxford Railway Station that increase network capacity, 
improve the design and quality of facilities and interchange and support the Cowley 
Branch Line will be supported. 

 
Sites for Cowley Branch Line stations and local access routes which are safeguarded and 
which should be improved by local development are defined on the Policies Map. 

144



111 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy M2: Assessing and managing development 
 

A Transport Assessment must be submitted for development that is likely to generate 
significant amounts of movement, in accordance with the requirements as defined in 
Appendix 7.1. 

 
Transport Assessments must assess the multi-modal impacts of development proposals 
and demonstrate the transport measures which would be used to mitigate the 
development impact. to ensure: 
a) there is no unacceptable impact on highway safety; 
b) there is no severe residual cumulative impact on the road network 
c) pedestrian and cycle movements are priori tised, both within the scheme and with 
neighbouring areas 
d) access to high quality public transport is faci litated, with layouts that maximise the 
catchment area for bus or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that 
encourage public transport use 
e) the needs of people with disabi lities and reduced mobili ty in relation to all modes of 
transport are addressed 
f) the development helps to create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which 
minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid 
unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and design standards; 
g) the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency vehicles is 
allowed for; and 
h) charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles is enabled in safe, accessible 
and convenient locations. 

 
A Ttravel Plan, which has clear objectives, targets and a monitoring and review procedure, 
must be submitted for development that is likely to generate significant amounts of 
movement have significant transport implications in accordance with the requirements in 
Appendix 7.2. Travel Plans must help to support outcomes (a) to (h) set out above. 

 
Where a Travel Plan is required under this policy and a substantial amount of the 
movement is likely to be in the form of delivery, service and dispatch vehicles, a Delivery 
and Service Management Plan will be required. 

 
Where a Delivery and Service Management Plan is provided this should set out how 
deliveries will be managed and demonstrate how impacts will be minimised including 
congestion, safety noise and how zero or ultra-low emission and last mile opportunities 
will be considered. 

 
A Construction Management Plan must be provided for developments of: 

 
- 20 dwellings or more; 
- 500m2 or more of non-residential floorspace; or 
- any size in a location where construction activi ties are likely to have a significant impact 
on the adjacent or surrounding road network. 

 
Where a A Construction Management Plan is provided this should set out how the 
construction phase of the development wi ll be managed. and in particular: 
- Time of operations 
- Noise Operations 
- Abatement Noise Techniques 
- Monitoring Noise Levels 

145



112 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

iii. Car Motor vehicle parking 
 

7.2322 Limiting the opportunities for parking within the city helps to reduce car use leading to 
reductions in air pollution, congestion and the creation of a more attractive environment 
for walking and cyclists. In reducing the availabi lity of public and private parking there will 
be fewer car trips as people shift mode to a more sustainable form of transport. 
Furthermore, parking across the city is not an efficient use of land, a key consideration in 
Oxford, where land is so constrained. 

 
7.2423 The Council may refuse planning permission for development where additional parking 

pressures arising from the development would severely compromise highway safety 
and/or severely restrict the abili ty of existing residents to park. 

 
7.2524 The City and County Councils are actively working towards covering the whole city 

with Controlled Parking Zones by 2036, if not earlier. The reduction of parking and car 
use within and around the city is essential if air quality is to be improved. In addition, to 
ensure that the fullest protection of the integrity of the Oxford Meadows SAC and to 
comply with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations Assessment, new residential 
development sites will need to be car-fee as set out in M3 and Appendix 7.3. 

 

Car-free and reduced car parking in residential developments 
 

7.2625 Opportunities for successful car free housing are high in Oxford because of the 
number of Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs), the avai labi lity of walking and cycling routes 
and faci lities and the excellent public transport options. Technology and attitudes to car 
ownership are anticipated to change, especially with improvements to public transport 
and cycling faci lities. Car clubs and other means of sharing and hiring cars provide an 
increasingly convenient and realistic alternative to the private car. Car clubs, which are 
already operating in the city, offer the opportunity in future years to use driverless cars 
and the potential for developing their fleet to include electric bikes. A reduction in the 
number of private non-residential car parking spaces will be sought during the plan 
period. 

 
7.2726 For many residential schemes, in particular those developments in the city centre or 

in close proximity to district centres, car-free developments are expected. Car-free 
development means that no car parking spaces are provided within the site other than 
those reserved for disabled people, car clubs and operational uses. 

 
7.2827 Policy H8 Student Accommodation states that the City Counci l wi ll secure an 

undertaking that students do not bring cars to Oxford. However some limited disabled and 

- Vibration Levels 
- Dust Levels 
- Wheel washing arrangements 
- Rodent Controls 
- Community Liaison 
- Traffic management incl. deliveries and contractors vehicles 
- Waste Materials 

 
Planning permission will only be granted i f the City Council is satisfied that adequate and 
appropriate transport-related measures will be put in place. 

146



113 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

operational parking spaces should be provided for service and delivery vehicles, which 
should also be avai lable, purely as a pick-up/drop-off faci lity, for students and their 
families arriving and departing at the start and end of terms. Alternative uses for these 
spaces could be avai lable during term time to maximise opportunities for the space e.g. 
amenity functions. 

 
Parking and Houses in Multiple Occupation 

 
7.2928 Some types of residential development may require provision of parking spaces. The 

number of people occupying Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) will often be higher 
than for a single household. The City Council wi ll expect that where a Sui Generis HMO 
(6 or more occupants) is proposed outside CPZ areas, parking (either on or off street) 
must be avai lable to reflect the standard set out in Appendix 7.3. Where there is a realistic 
possibility of a CPZ coming forward during the plan period no off-street parking would be 
required. 

 
Parking in non-residential developments and district centres 

 
7.3029 Major redevelopment of non-residential si tes is expected across Oxford during the 

plan period. Many of these sites already have substantial amounts of parking, including 
provision for disabled parking. Additional parking will not be allowed in the event of 
redevelopment and the reduction of parking is encouraged. 

 
7.3130 Any new developments for B1 use in the city centre and district centres do not 

require any parking provision except operational need, because the centres have good 
access to public transport and cycling and walking routes. 

 
Disabled access 

 

7.31 Access to the city centre and district centres and other faci lities, services and places of 
employment is essential for disabled people, regardless of their form of transport. The 
design and location of bus stops, footways, parking and cycling facili ties should be 
designed with the needs of people with disabilities in mind. Parking for disabled vehicles, 
both cars and cycles, must be accommodated in a way that does not detract from other 
functions of the street. 

 

Public parking 
 

7.32 The Local Plan recognises the need for some on and off-street parking to meet the 
requirements of those using the city centre and district and local centres for both business 
and pleasure. However, to achieve a modal shift in the way people travel into Oxford, 
away from the private car, to public transport, cycling and walking the Local Plan does not 
support a growth in either on or off-street public parking spaces in the city centre33 and 
district centres. As the County Counci l introduces changes to the movement of vehicles 
around the city and more demand management measures, throughout the plan period 
there is an expectation that on-street parking places in the city centre may be reduced in 
number and/or reorganised to enable more efficient flow of vehicles and to reclaim road 
spaces for the benefi t of cyclists and pedestrians. Where retained or created, parking for 
disabled vehicles must be accommodated in a way that does not detract from other 
functions of the street. 

 
33 The baseline for car parking numbers is the number of public car parking spaces across the city 
centre at March 2019 (after the closure of Oxpens) 1,942 off street (includes 556 spaces at Beckett 
Street for rail users only) and 255 on street car parking spaces. 

147



114 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7.33 The City Council wi ll continue to work with the County Council to facilitate measures to 
maintain and enhance Oxford’s overall accessibili ty to ensure people have realistic 
options other than to drive into the city and district centres. 

 
Policy M3: Motor vehicle parking 

 
In Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) or employer-linked housing areas (where occupants 
do not have an operational need for a car) where development is located within a 400m 
walk to frequent (15minute) public transport services and within 800m walk to a local 
supermarket or equivalent faci lities (measured from the mid-point of the proposed 
development) planning permission will only be granted for residential development* that is 
car-free. 

 
In all other locations, planning permission will only be granted where the relevant 
maximum standards set out in Appendix 7.3 are complied with. 

 
The need for Ddisabled parking provision must be considered provided in all residential 
developments in accordance with the standards set out in Appendix 7.3. 

 
Parking for car club vehicles must be provided in all residential developments with the 
standards set out in Appendix 7.3 

 
Planning permission for non-residential redevelopments will only be granted if it is 
demonstrated that there will be no increase in parking provision. 

 
Planning permission for additional parking provision within new developments will only be 
granted for spaces that are designated for disabled people, car clubs or where it can be 
demonstrated that there are essential operational or servicing needs (identified in the 
supporting TA and TP). 

 
The parking requirements for all non-residential development, whether expansions of 
floorspace on existing sites, the redevelopment of existing or cleared sites, or new non- 
residential development on new sites, will be determined in the light of the submitted 
Transport Assessment or Travel Plan, which must take into account the objectives of this 
Plan to promote and achieve a shift towards sustainable modes of travel. The presumption 
will be that vehicle parking will be kept to the minimum necessary to ensure the successful 
functioning of the development. 

 
In the case of the redevelopment of an existing or previously cleared site, there should be 
no net increase in parking on the site from the previous level and the Counci l wi ll seek a 
reduction where there is good accessibi lity to a range of facili ties. 

 
Where the proposal is for the expansion of an existing operation on an existing large site, 
a comprehensive travel plan should be submitted that looks at the development in the 
context of the whole site, and demonstrates that opportunities will be sought to enhance 
and promote more sustainable travel to and from the wider si te. The travel plan will be 
kept under review to ensure that future opportunities to encourage a shift towards 
sustainable modes of travel are taken. 

 
*For the purposes of this policy, residential development includes C3 dwellings, C4 and 
Sui Generis, Houses in Multiple Occupation, and all C2 development (residential 
insti tutions) 

148



115 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
iv. Provision of electric charging points 

 
7.34 The introduction of the Low Emission Zone in Oxford in 2014 has resulted in 
improved air quali ty; however levels of air pollution sti ll exceed target levels in some areas, 
in particular the city centre, at junctions on the ring road and in the district centres. 

 
7.35 Oxford City Centre Zero Emission Zone (ZEZ) will be introduced in a number of 
phases during the Plan period. To support the increase in the uptake of electrical vehicles 
the City Council have established a number of projects aimed at increasing vehicle charging 
across the city. This Plan supports the delivery of the ZEZ to improve air quali ty in the city 
centre, which at the same time reduces noise, decarbonises road transport and stimulates 
the green economy. 

 
7.36 Proposals for Zero Emission Vehicles will be supported by: 
• The introduction of a Zero Emission Zone; 
• Ensuring  that  new  developments  include adequate provision for charging 

infrastructure, including in public car parks; 
• The City Counci l facili tating the introduction of charging points in public 
places; and 
• Continuing to work with partners to support alternative fuel technologies. 

 
 
 

 

v. Cycle Bicycle parking 
 

7.37 Cycling in Oxford is an important and growing mode of transport. The 2011 census 
showed that 17.1% of journeys to work within Oxford were made by cycle, up from 14.9% in 
2001, making Oxford second only to Cambridge in terms of the proportion of people cycling 
to work. The City Counci l wishes to continue to encourage this active and sustainable form of 
travel and will seek to ensure that new developments provide secure and convenient cycle 
parking. Since 2017 dockless bikes have arrived in Oxford. These present more 
opportunities for alternative travel for both residents and visitors, but need to be 
accommodated in the streets of Oxford. 

 
7.38 A fundamental part of encouraging cycling is the provision of secure cycle storage 
within people’s homes and destinations such as shops, work places and transport 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 

149



116 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

interchanges. It is anticipated that ownership of electric bikes will expand and secure storage 
faci lities around the city wi ll be required. Cycle parking standards set out in Appendix 7.3 are 
minimum standards, which reflect the need for cycle storage shown by research evidence - 
Oxfordshire Cycling Design Standards A guide for Developers, Planners and Engineers 
Summer 201734. Sufficient, high-quality cycle parking is especially important for car-free 
developments. 

 
7.39 All cycle parking must, as far as is practical and reasonable, be enclosed within a 
secure store, or at least undercover. The location of cycle parking is also important: where 
cycle parking for residents or employees is not in a secure store, it should be located away 
from the street frontage, to maximise security. There must be convenient, level access 
between the bike store and the street that avoids having to wheel bikes through buildings or 
corridors. Short stay and visitor cycle parking is best located as near to the front door of the 
properties as possible. Cycle parking should make provision for the appropriate facili ties for 
the charging of electric bicycles. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

34 www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/roadsandtransport/ 
transportpoliciesandplans/newdevelopments/CyclingStandards.pdf https://www.cycling- 
embassy.org.uk/sites/cycling- 
embassy.org.uk/files/documents/OxfordshireCyclingDesignStandards.pdf 

Policy M5: BicCycle Parking 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for development that complies with or exceeds 
the minimum bicycle parking provision as set out in Appendix 7.47.3. 

 
Provision of bicycle parking lower than the minimum standards set out in Appendix 7.4 
may be acceptable for new student accommodation that is located close to the insti tution 
where most of i ts occupants will be studying and/or where i t is adequately demonstrated 
through a transport assessment that there is existing unused cycle capacity avai lable, in 
appropriate locations and of an appropriate design standard on site, to accommodate the 
increased number of bedrooms. 

 
CBicycle parking should be, well designed and well-located, convenient, secure, covered 
(where possible enclosed) and provide level, unobstructed external access to the 
street. CBicycle parking should be designed to accommodate an appropriate amount of 
parking for the needs of disabled people, bicycle trailers and cargo bicycles, as well 
as and facilities for electric charging infrastructure. 

 
For new non-residential development, the City Council wi ll seek the provision of showers 
and changing faci lities in accordance with the thresholds and minimum standards set out 
in Appendix 7.4. 

 
Where opportunities to do so arise in relation to development, consideration should be 
given for the provision of space for storage of dockless bicyclesbikes. 

150



117 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8. Providing communities with facilities and services and 
ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in 
and visit 

The opportunity to participate in cultural activi ties is important, whether i t be through leisure, 
recreation, community events or learning, as i t is fundamental to how people experience and 
perceive the places the communities they live in, work in and visi t. Availability of a variety of 
facilities and shops attracts people to district centres and the city centre and helps to keep 
them vibrant. 

 
 
Part 1: Ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in and visit 

 
i. Ensuring the vitality of centres 

 
 

8.1 Oxford as a sub-regional centre provides a wide range of services and faci lities to 
both the city’s residents and those living in the sub-regional catchment area. Thus it is 
important that the vibrancy and vitali ty of Oxford’s centres are maintained and enhanced 
through the plan period. The city centre, district and local centres offer the opportunity to 
access a wide range of ‘town centre uses’ including retail, leisure, entertainment, office, arts, 
culture and tourism. These functions make an important contribution to Oxford’s economy 
and employment opportunities and are vital to the long-term sustainabi lity of the city and 
make Oxford an attractive place to live, work and invest. 

 
8.2 Oxford has both a strongly performing city centre and a network of district centres 
offering a wide range of services and facili ties and also a series of local centres which 
provide for much of their neighbourhoods’ day-to-day needs. The vision for this Plan is to 
build on these strengths and focus growth in these centres (see Chapter 1). 

 
8.3 Oxford’s hierarchy of centres will be used to direct ‘ town centre uses’ to the most 
appropriate location with regard to their scale, function and character. Oxford’s centres will 
be the first option for locating growth and development. Priority wi ll be given to those centres 
higher on the hierarchy. As set out in the NPPF a sequential test will also be applied to 
proposals for town centre uses, with sites within centres prioritised over edge of centre 
locations and edge of centre locations preferred over out of centre locations. In considering 
planning applications for ‘town centre uses’, the City Council wi ll require details of the 
application of this sequential test and also require an impact assessment (for applications 
over the identi fied threshold). 

 
8.4 Policy V1 sets a local threshold for impact assessments to be provided in respect of 
proposals comprising over 350m2 gross of retail and leisure floorspace which are to be 
located outside centres or allocated sites. 

 
 

Policy V1: Ensuring the vitality of centres 

151



118 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

ii. Shopping Frontages in the city centre 
 

8.5 Oxford is a world- class city with a prosperous economy and a historic core that 
attracts tourists from around the world. The city centre fulfi ls many functions both regional 
and local and will continue to be the main focus for retail together with a wide range of 
leisure and cultural uses. The city centre contains much of the academic core of the 
University of Oxford and is a centre of employment. There are key areas of significant 
change within the city centre where future development and regeneration will be 
concentrated. However, this will require new infrastructure and innovative approaches to 
ensure people can move around the city by walking, cycling and public transport within an 
improved public realm. 

 
8.6 Retai l patterns and behaviours have been changing in recent years with a growth in 
online shopping making the future of high streets uncertain. However current evidence and 
market predictions indicate that there will sti ll be an important role of destination shopping 
where shopping becomes part of a broader day out linked with eating out and other leisure 
activi ties. The development of the Westgate Shopping Centre, reopened 2017, with its 
numerous eating and drinking outlets, cinema and other leisure activi ties mixed in with the 
retail units is a good example of this trend. 

 
8.7 The vision for the city centre is for it to continue to be the primary location for retai ling 
as well as other town centre uses. It is also encouraged that proposals add to the diversity 
and range of uses avai lable to shoppers and visitors to the centre, enhancing their 
experience. The Westgate Centre provides for much of the forecast retai l need for the Plan 
period, and will have an effect on shopping patterns and the operation of the other shopping 
streets of the city centre. Whilst some of the retail focus will shift towards the new stores 
provided at the Westgate, this in turn will offer other shopping streets of the city centre the 
opportunity to refocus, provide for smaller chains and independent retailers, and offer 
additional town centre uses. 

 
8.8 Policy V2 provides guidance for the appropriate mix of uses (identified through 
percentages allocated to use classes) in designated shopping frontage across the city 

Planning permission will be granted for the development of town centre uses (retail, 
leisure, entertainment, office, arts, culture and tourism) within the defined city, district and 
local centre boundaries, provided the use is appropriate to the scale and function of each 
centre and reflects its distinctive character. 

 
Oxford’s city, district and local centres are shown on the Policies Map. 

 
Proposals for development of town centres uses outside a centre must demonstrate 
compliance with the ‘sequential test’  (that is: development should be located in town 
centres, then in edge of centre locations and only if suitable sites are not available should 
out of centre sites be considered). 

 
Planning applications for retail and leisure development outside centres which are 350m2 

(gross) or more, must be accompanied by an ‘impact assessment’ and as part of such an 
assessment, demonstrate with evidence that there will be no adverse impact on the vitali ty 
and viability of the existing centres, and that good accessibi lity is available for walking, 
cycling and public transport. Sites allocated for retail development in section 9 (Areas of 
Change and Site Allocations) wi ll be exempt from the requirement to submit a retail impact 
assessment. 

152



119 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

centre. These percentages have been informed through assessment of strategic trends and 
interrogation of recent survey datasets. 

 
Policy V2: Shopping Frontages in the city centre 

 
Planning permission will only be granted at ground floor level within the city centre for the 
following uses: 
a) Class A1 (retai l) uses; or 
b) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses where the proposed development would not result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 60% of the total number of units within the 
defined Primary Shopping Frontage or 40% of units in the rest of the Secondary Shopping 
Frontage; or 
c) Other town centre uses where the proposed development would not result in the 
proportion of units at ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 60% of the total 
number of units in the Primary Shopping Frontage or below 40% of the total number of 
units in the rest of the Secondary Shopping Frontage and where the proportion of Class A 
units at ground floor level does not fall below 85% in the Primary Shopping Frontage or 
the rest of the Secondary Shopping Frontage., and in all cases where proposals for these 
other town centre uses: 
i) promote the diversity of and range of uses available to shoppers and visitors to the 
centre, enhancing their experience; and 
ii) promote an active street frontage both in terms of increasing footfall and retaining 
an active window display. 

 

Planning permission will  be granted for development of upper storeys for housing, student 
accommodation and other uses appropriate to a town centre as long as the functioning of the 
ground floor unit(s) in the shopping frontage is not undermined. 

 
In exceptional circumstances, planning permission will be granted for changes of use from 
A1 or other A class uses to other town centre uses that would lead to a breach of 
the ground floor percentage thresholds, if it is demonstrated that changes in the retai l 
circumstances of Oxford city centre mean that there is no longer demand for the existing 
levels of A1 or other A class units, and if sufficiently robust evidence is provided to clearly 
demonstrate that the uses proposed would not adversely impact the function, vi tality and 
viabili ty of the particular street frontage i tself or the shopping frontage as a whole. The 
following criteria must all be satisfied: 
d) marketing of the property for its existing use for at least a year, at a realistic price, 
and evidence of lack of interest clearly shown to demonstrate a lack of viabili ty; and 
e) evidence of changing retail needs in Oxford city centre; and 
f) it would not result in such a concentration of a particular Class A use, other than 
Class A1 (retai l), that it would lead to a significant interruption of the shopping frontage, 
reducing i ts character, attractiveness and function (considered to be if there are more than 
4 adjoining units within the same use class (other than A1)); and 
g) it promotes the diversity of and range of uses avai lable to shoppers and visi tors to 
the centre, enhancing their experience; and 
h) it would make better and more efficient use of the upper floors where relevant, 
introducing new uses, such as residential and or office space for start-ups and incubator / 
innovation uses; and 
i) g) it promotes an active street frontage both in terms of increasing footfall and retaining 
an active window display. 

153



120 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

iii. The Covered Market 
 

8.98 The City Council recognises the importance of the Covered Market in adding to the 
range of shopping provision in the heart of Oxford, as well as for i ts unique heri tage. It is a 
Grade II Listed Building dating from the 1770s and extensively re-bui lt and enlarged in the 
19th century. It provides accommodation for a range of traditional Class A1 uses such as 
florists, butchers, bakers, jewellers and clothing, many of which are family-owned business 
and which contribute to i ts distinctive character. In addition, there is a range of caterers, 
many with eat-in food, which occupy about 25% of the units. The City Council wish to 
maintain, enhance and promote the character and offer of the covered market. It is also 
encouraged that proposals for uses other than A1, A3, A4 or A5 add to the diversity and 
range of uses avai lable to shoppers and visitors to the market, enhancing their experience. 

 
8.109 The City Counci l’s leasing strategy was updated in 2015. This is part of a toolkit to be 
used by the Market’s Manager to deliver the vision and objectives for the Covered Market, 
which is that it continues to host high quality independent retailers and innovative caterers 
and is a must-visit experience. 

 
8.11 Policy V3 provides guidance for the appropriate mix of uses (identified through 
percentages allocated to use classes) in the Covered Market. These percentages have been 
informed through assessment of strategic trends and interrogation of recent survey datasets. 

 

 
35 The mix of uses is established in the outline planning permission 13/02557/OUT 

Planning permission will not be granted within the Westgate Shopping Centre where i t 
would result in a change to the established and approved mix of uses35, which are as 
follows: 
j) h) Class A1 (retai l) uses: no less than 60% 
k) i) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses: no less than 20% 
l) j) Class D2 (assembly and leisure) uses: the existing library floorspace should be 
maintained 

 
The Shopping Frontages are defined on the Policies Map. 

Policy V3: The Covered Market 
 
Planning permission will only be granted within the Covered Market for the following uses: 
a) Class A1 (retai l) uses; or 
b) Class A3, A4 and A5 (restaurant, pub and take-away) uses where the proposed 
development would not result in the proportion of units at ground floor level in Class A1 
use falling below 50% of the total number of units within the market; or 
c) Other appropriate town centre uses (excluding for example offices (B1a) and 
hotels) where the proportion of A1 does not fall below 50% of the total number of units 
within the Covered Market and where the total proportion of Class A1, 3, 4 and 5 uses 
does not fall below 80% of the total number of units within the market. 

 
All proposals for uses other than A1, A3, A4 or A5 should provide evidence to 
demonstrate that the proposed uses would not adversely impact the character, function, 
vi tality and viabili ty of the market by satisfying the following criteria: 
i) it promotes the diversity of and range of uses avai lable to shoppers and visitors to 
the market  enhancing their experience; 

154



121 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
iv. District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages 

 
8.1210 Oxford benefits from a network of district and local centres that provide a wide range 
of amenities for their local communities and in the case of district centres, on a much wider 
basis, beyond the city centre. There are significant benefi ts to be secured from providing 
faci lities more locally for communities; this can help to reduce the need to travel and the 
need to access the city centre, easing the pressure on the main arterial roads into the city 
centre. In addition, by developing and expanding the offer at district centres, the critical mass 
for developing public transport and cycling links directly to (from outside the city or the Park 
and Ride sites) and directly between the district centres can be created. This would help 
make it possible to travel to and between district centres without having to go via the city 
centre, relieving pressure on the network. 

 
8.1311 As set out in the Vision, a key part of the strategy for the Local Plan  is to develop 
this network of centres further, to provide more faci lities and amenities in local communities 
to reduce the need to travel and  to accommodate much of the projected need for town 
centre uses. Throughout this Plan a range of policies set out a distinctive role for the district 
centres establishing their importance to the overall strategy. Each of the District Centres 
provides a different mix of facili ties and amenities and hashave very different characteristics, 
strengths and opportunities. Development that promotes the diversity and range of uses 
avai lable to shoppers and visitors to the centre is encouraged. 

 
8.14 Policy V4 provides guidance for the appropriate mix of uses (identified through 
percentages allocated to use classes) in designated shopping frontages across the district 
centres and local centres. These percentages have been informed through assessment of 
strategic trends and interrogation of recent survey datasets. 

 
 

  

 
 

 

 

Policy V4: District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages 
 
Planning permission will only be granted at ground floor level within District and Local 
Centre Shopping Frontages for the following uses: 

 
District Centres:  

 
Cowley Centre District Centre: 

 
a) Class A1 (retai l) uses; or 
b) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses where the proposed development would not result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 60% of the total number of units within the 
defined Shopping Frontage; or 
c) Other town centre uses where the proportion of A1 does not fall below 60% of the 
total number of units within the defined Shopping Frontage and where the proportion of 

155



122 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Class A uses does not fall below 85% of the total number of units defined within the 
Shopping Frontage. 

 
East Oxford-Cowley Road, Headington, and Summertown District Centres: 
d) Class A1 (retai l) uses; or 
e) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses where the proposed development would not result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 50% of the total number of units within the 
defined Shopping Frontage; or 
f) Other town centre uses where the proportion of A1 does not fall below 50% of the 
total number of units within the defined Shopping Frontage and the proportion of Class A 
uses does not fall below 85% of the total number of units within the defined Shopping 
Frontage. 

 
East Oxford - Cowley Road District Centre: 

g) Class A1 (retail) uses; or 
h) Class A2-A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away)  
uses where the proposed development would not result in the proportion of units  
at ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 45% of the total  number of units  
within the defined Shopping Frontage; or 
i) Other town centre uses where the proportion of A1 does not fall below 45% of 
the total number of units within the defined Shopping Frontage and the 
proportion of Class A uses does not fall below 85% of the total number of units 
within the defined Shopping Frontage. 

 
Blackbird Leys District Centre: 
g) j) Class A1 (retai l) uses; or 
h) k) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses where the proposed development would not result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 40% of the total number of units within the 
defined Shopping frontage; or 
i) l) Other town centre uses where the proportion of A1 does not fall below 40% of the 
total number of units within the defined Shopping Frontage and the proportion of Class A 
uses does not fall below 85% of the total number of units within the defined Shopping 
Frontage. 

 
Local Centres:  
j)m) Class A1 (retai l) uses; or 
k)n) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses where the proposed development would not result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use falling below 40% of the total number of units within the 
defined Shopping Frontage; or 
l)o) Other town centre uses where the proportion of A1 does not fall below 40% of the 
total number of units within the defined Shopping Frontage and the proportion of Class A 
uses does not fall below 85% of the total number of units within the defined Shopping 
Frontage. 

 
In all centres, planning permission will be granted for development of upper storeys for 
housing, student accommodation and other uses appropriate to a town centre as long as 
the functioning of the ground floor unit(s) in the shopping frontage is not undermined. 

156



123 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
v. Sustainable tourism 

 
8.152 Tourism is an important element of Oxford’s economy and generates £780m of 
income. Oxford attracts 7 million visi tors and provides employment for some 10,600 people. 
However, this volume of tourists does present challenges for the infrastructure and 
management of the city. The city is world famous and attracts an increasing number of 
visitors and overnight stays; it is a crucial destination of the national tourism industry. The 
city has many important established tourist attractions, such as the Ashmolean Museum and 
Modern Art Oxford. The City Counci l wi ll support extension and enhancement and promote 
greater use of all existing attractions. 

 
8.163 However, a very large number of tourists make very short visi ts, often only for part of, 
or one day. The economic benefits to the city of these short visits are slight, while the impact 
of these visits is significant. Many of these short-visi t tourists arrive on coaches, which adds 
to the pressures on the highway network, adds to congestion and requires land for parking. 
These transport impacts are addressed in Section 7 on Transport. 

 
8.174 Policies which faci litate longer stays will result in greater spend in Oxford’s shops and 
restaurants which will in turn boost their viability and Oxford’s economy. In addition to 
tourists the short-stay accommodation market is very strong for business travellers in Oxford 
and provision of more accommodation would additionally help support the economy 
objectives of this Plan. When Oxford’s hotel occupancy and room rates are compared with 
those of comparable cities, there is significant unmet demand and potential for growth in all 
varieties of short-stay accommodation. 

In exceptional circumstances, in all centres, planning permission will be granted for 
changes of use from A class uses to other town centre uses that would lead to a breach of 
the ground floor percentage thresholds, if it is demonstrated that changes in the retai l 
circumstances of the local or district centres means that there is no longer demand for the 
existing levels of A1 or other A class units, and if sufficiently robust evidence is provided to 
clearly demonstrate that the uses proposed would not adversely impact the function, 
vi tality and viabili ty of the shopping frontage as a whole. The following cri teria must all be 
satisfied: 
m)p) marketing of the property for its existing use for at least a year, at a realistic price, 
and evidence of lack of interest clearly shown to demonstrate a lack of viabili ty; and 
n)q evidence of changing retail needs in the district centre; and 
o)r) the proposal would not result in such a concentration of a particular Class A use, 
other than Class A1 (retail), that it would lead to a significant interruption of the shopping 
frontage, reducing i ts character, attractiveness and function (considered to be if there are 
more than 4 adjoining units within the same use class (other than A1)); and 
p) it promotes the diversity of and range of uses available to shoppers and visitors to 
the centre, enhancing their experience; and 
q) it would make better and more efficient use of the upper floors where relevant, 
introducing new uses, such as residential and or office space for start-ups and incubator / 
innovation uses; and 
r)s) it promotes an active street frontage both in terms of increasing footfall and 
retaining an active window display. 

 
The Shopping Frontages in each District Centre and Local Centre are defined on the 
Policies Map. 

157



124 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8.185 The amount and diversity of short-stay accommodation to support this aim will be 
achieved by permitting new sites in the city centre and on Oxford’s main arterial roads, and 
by protecting and allowing the expansion of modernising existing sites to support this use. 

 
8.196  A feature of the Oxford holiday and short term let market is the use of student 
accommodation in the university holidays. Use of student accommodation to cater for the 
conference and holiday let markets at times when it would otherwise be vacant is an efficient 
way to provide for these needs. 

 
8.2017 Increasingly, short-term lets of domestic properties are being marketed as holiday 
lets and for those who work in Oxford during the week. The way that properties are being let 
means that no planning application to change use from a domestic property is currently 
required. Currently few regulations apply and business rates are rarely applicable, but the 
City Counci l wi ll continue to monitor this situation. 

 
8.2118 Improvements to the quality of existing attractions will be encouraged, with new 
attractions that add to diversity in Oxford. It is important that any new attractions are located 
where they are easi ly accessible by public transport, in particular the city centre, and where 
such uses can contribute to regeneration. 

 

 

36 Abingdon Road, Banbury Road, Botley Road, Cowley Road, Iffley Road, London Road, Marston 
Road, Oxford Road, Woodstock Road 

Policy V5: Sustainable tourism 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for the development of new sites for holiday and 
other short stay accommodation in the following locations: in the City Centre, in District 
Centres, on sites allocated for that purpose, and on Oxford’s main arterial roads where 
there is frequent and direct public transport to the city centre36. This locational requirement 
does not apply to proposals to refurbish or expand existing sites. 

 
Proposals for new, refurbished or expanded holiday and short stay accommodation must 
also meet all the following criteria: 
a) it is acceptable in terms of access, parking, highway safety, traffic generation, 
pedestrian and cycle movements 
b) there is no loss of residential dwelling; and 
c) it will not result in an unacceptable level of noise and disturbance to nearby 
residents. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for the change of use from holiday and other 
short-stay accommodation when any of the following criteria are met: 
d) no other occupier can be found following a realistic effort to market the premises 
as set out in Appendix 8.1, for continued use as holiday and other short stay 
accommodation (whether or not of the same form the existing use); or 
e) evidence of non-viabi lity is submitted; or 
f) the accommodation is in a location unsuitable for the use as demonstrated by 
being contrary to the location requirements or any of the cri teria a-c above. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for new tourist attractions where proposals meet all of 
the following criteria: 
g) they are realistically and easily accessible by walking, cycling or public transport 
for the majori ty of people travelling to the site; and: 
h) they will not cause environmental or traffic impacts; and: 
i) they are well related to any existing or proposed tourist and leisure related areas.; 
and 

158



125 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

vi. Cultural and social activities 
 

8.2219 Oxford has a rich infrastructure of cultural and social activities and venues, from 
theatres, museums, cinemas, galleries, sports and music venues to restaurants and pubs. 
These uses help to keep the centres vibrant and active and add greatly to the local quality of 
life. However, such uses can be vulnerable to redevelopment pressures from higher land 
value uses. The City Counci l wants to encourage such uses to develop, modernise and 
adapt for the benefit of the communities they serve. 

 
8.2320 The City Counci l wi ll encourage new proposals for cultural and social uses in the city 
centre and district centres as appropriate town centre uses that can add vibrancy and 
activi ty. Development that adds to the cultural diversity of Oxford is encouraged. Existing 
faci lities will be protected in accordance with the policy. 

 
 

j) they add to the cultural diversity of Oxford. 

Policy V6: Cultural and social activities 
 
Planning permission will be granted for proposals which add to the cultural and social 
scene of the city within the city and district centres provided the use is appropriate to the 
scale and function of the centre. 

 
Proposals for cultural, entertainment, leisure and tourism (not accommodation) uses will 
only be permitted where the following criteria are met: 
a) they are realistically and easily accessible by walking, cycling or public transport 
for the majority of people expected to travel to and from the site; and 
b) they will not cause unacceptable environmental or traffic harm or adversely affect 
residential amenity; and: 
c) there is no negative cumulative impact resulting from the proposed use in relation 
to the number, capacity and location of other similar uses (existing or committed) in the 
area; and 
d) they add to the cultural diversity of Oxford; and 
e)d) policies V1 and V2 are complied with. 

 
Public houses 

 
Planning applications for the change of use of a public house must be accompanied by 
evidence to demonstrate that the continuation of the use of the premises as a public 
house is not viable. It must be demonstrated that: 
e)a) all reasonable efforts have been made to market the premises for its existing use 
(refer to Appendix 8.1); and 
f)b) all reasonable efforts have been made to support and improve the operation and 
management of the business; and 
g)c) it is demonstrated that suitable alternative public houses exist to meet the needs of 
the local community. 

 
Where a building is to be demolished or substantially re-developed; the impact on 
character, design and heritage and to the wider streetscape must be demonstrated to be 
insignificant. 

159



126 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Part 2: Providing  communities  with facilities and services 

 
vii. Infrastructure and cultural and community   facilities 

 
8.241 It is important that new development in Oxford is supported by the appropriate 
infrastructure and community facili ties. Providing and improving access to educational, 
health and community faci lities greatly improves the quali ty of life for residents, builds strong 
communities and also helps to address inequali ties. 

 
8.252 The City Counci l, working with other Oxfordshire Authori ties under the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board has a good track record of securing external and central government funding 
to help deliver infrastructure including as part of the Housing and Growth Deal. Partners of 
the Growth Board will continue to seek to secure additional infrastructure funding where 
avai lable to support the growth of the city and county. 

 
8.263  Cultural and community facili ties can be very wide ranging. In seeking social 
inclusion and a high quality of life, the City Counci l’s approach is to make accessible a 
diverse range of facilities, from performance venues to libraries. Sometimes co-locating 
multiple facili ties on a single site can be an efficient way to improve accessibi lity. Community 
faci lities can include community centres, schools, chi ldren’s centres, meeting venues for the 
public or voluntary organisations, public halls and places of worship, leisure and indoor 
sports centres, pavilions, stadiums, public houses, club premises or arts bui ldings that serve 
a local community. Other types of bui ldings might also be classed as, and function as, 
community faci lities. These are important in meeting social, leisure, cultural and religious 
needs of Oxford’s diverse communities. 

 
8.274 The City Council will seek to protect existing faci lities and will support improvements 
and more intensive use of existing sites. Sometimes facili ties might not be fit-for-purpose or 
provide poor accessibi lity where improvements on site or nearby might be more sustainable. 
Co-locating multiple facilities on a single site can be an efficient way to improve both quali ty 
and accessibi lity. 

 
8.285 Where community facili ties (including sports facili ties and schools) are provided, the 
City Counci l will seek to secure community benefits through sharing schemes and joint user 
agreements. 

 
8.296 The City Counci l has been working closely with partners including the County Counci l 
as the Local Education Authori ty and the NHS Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group to 
plan for the future needs of the city and will continue to work in partnership to ensure that 
new development is provided with access to school places and medical facilities, and that 
existing access is improved. Over the lifetime of the plan it is very likely that there will be 
more changes in the ways that education and health services are delivered and provided. 
Close partnership working will be essential to ensure that communities continue to have the 
best possible access to facili ties. 

 
8.3027 The majority of planning permissions will be liable for a Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) payment towards the funding of infrastructure in Oxford. The City Counci l wi ll 
continue to use legal agreements and conditions to secure other benefits (including 
affordable housing and community access to faci lities through joint user agreements) in line 
with the policies of this Plan and consistent with the CIL regulations. The City Council will 
also continue to work with a range of partners and organisations to secure funding towards 
the cost of infrastructure through a range of mechanisms. 

160



127 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8.3128 The City Council will keep the Infrastructure Delivery Plan regularly reviewed, and 
use this to prioritise the infrastructure necessary to support the growth of Oxford. 

 
 

 
 
viii. Utilities 

 
8.3229 It is important that new development in Oxford is serviced by the appropriate utili ties 
infrastructure. Developers will need to ensure that they have explored the connection and 
capacity practicalities with electrici ty, gas, water, sewerage and digital communications 
providers. This wi ll be a conversation that needs to take place between the developer and 
utili ties providers at various points through the development process, starting from earliest 
design and planning and on into the construction phase. The City Council wi ll also seek 
reassurance from developers proposing major development that they have also explored 
these issues with providers at the planning application stage and that a satisfactory 
arrangement can be delivered. 

 
8.3330 The City Council will seek to ensure that all new development, and wherever possible 
all residents and businesses, have access to superfast full-fibre speeds of internet 
connectivity. Oxford’s strengths in the knowledge economy (see Chapter 2: Economy) 
provide a real opportunity for it to drive forward the research, testing and development of 
digital technologies. Partners in the academic, research, technology and public sectors have 
come together as Smart Oxford, a strategic programme to develop and promote Oxford as a 
smart city. The aim of Smart Oxford is to provide a test bed for world class researchers and 
innovators which will generate growth and jobs to advance economic and social prosperity, 
and help improve the quali ty, effectiveness and efficiency of city services. The City Council 
recognises this as a rare opportunity to both support an emerging market sector and to 
secure benefits on the ground for the city’s residents and businesses. 

 

Policy V7: Infrastructure and cultural and community facilities 
 
The City Council wi ll work with service providers to improve access to social and 
community infrastructure and in particular from new development. 

 
The City Council wi ll seek to protect and retain existing cultural and community facilities. 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in the loss of such 
faci lities unless new or improved facili ties can be provided at a location equally or more 
accessible by walking, cycling and public transport. In principle, applications to extend 
capacity, improve access and make more intensive cultural/community use of existing 
sites will be supported. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for the alteration and expansion of existing schools, 
primary healthcare facili ties and community centres. Planning permission will be granted 
for new state schools, primary healthcare facilities and community centres where the City 
Council is satisfied that the following criteria are satisfied: 
a) the location is easily accessible by walking, cycling and public transport; and 
b) the proposal will meet an existing deficiency in provision or access, or the proposal 
wi ll support regeneration or new development; and 
c) the proposal wi ll not result in an unacceptable environmental impact. 

Policy V8: Utilities 

161



128 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

8.34 Digital Infrastructure comprises physical telecommunications components such as 
fixed broadband and mobile connectivi ty, which improves the lives of citizens and business 
productivi ty. The NPPF, Future Telecoms Infrastructure Review (FTIR), and other policy 
documents issued by Building Digital UK (BDUK), all refer to the importance of high-quali ty 
digital infrastructure to the UK economy. 

 
8.35 Delivery of full fibre broadband infrastructure, as well as mobile infrastructure including 
5G, is a priori ty to achieve the government’s targets set out in the FTIR. 
The counci l recognises the importance of this and has implemented a range of 
complementary ini tiatives aimed at achieving government targets for full fibre and 5G 
coverage. This includes setting up a digital infrastructure partnership with all Oxfordshire 
district councils as well as Oxfordshire County Counci l. This partnership collectively agrees 
under a Memorandum of Understanding to collaborate on all aspects of digital infrastructure 
delivery and attracting commercial operators to invest in building digital infrastructure both in 
the city and the county as a whole. 

 

Planning applications (except householder applications) must be supported by information 
demonstrating that the proposed developer has explored existing capacity (and 
opportunities for extending it) with the appropriate utilities providers. Planning permission 
will not be granted where there is insufficient evidence on utilities capacity to support the 
development and that the capacity wi ll be delivered to meet the needs of the development. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for B1/B2 employment over 1000 square metres 
where provision is made for high quali ty digital facili ties. The City Counci l wi ll work with 
providers to deliver the expansion of high quality digital infrastructure throughout Oxford. 
The siting and appearance of uti lities infrastructure should be designed to minimise 
impacts on amenity and to be as unobtrusive as possible. 

Policy V9: Digital Infrastructure 
 
Planning permission will be granted for all new major developments where: 

 
a) They are served by full fibre broadband capable of gigabit download speeds; and 
b) The full fibre broadband connections are avai lable at the point of releasing for sale 
where relevant, and that the cost of the services are at market rates, preferably offering 
broadband services from more than one service provider; and 
c) Developers work with a recognised network carrier to design appropriate duct 
infrastructure for the installation of fibre broadband by a range of operators; and 
d) Other forms of digital infrastructure, such as faci lities supporting mobile phone 
broadband, are included wherever possible. 

 
Planning permission will be granted for new electronic communications infrastructure 
where: 

 
i) It is supported by the necessary evidence to justi fy the proposed development in 
accordance with the requirements of national policy; and 
ii) Proposed equipment is sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate; 
and 
iii) It can be demonstrated that electronic communications infrastructure is not expected to 
cause significant and irreversible interference with other electrical equipment, air traffic 
services or instrumentation operated in the national interest; and 
iv) Adverse impacts on the successful functioning of existing digital infrastructure are 
avoided  W here this is not practicable  appropriate mitigation shall be provided; and 

162



129 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

v) It does not result in the International Commission guidelines on non-ionising radiation 
protection being exceeded; and 
vi) Appropriate pre-application consultation in accordance with national policy has been 
undertaken. 

163



130 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Picture of workmen on scaffolding 
 
 
 
 
9. Areas of Change and Site Allocations 
9.1 A site allocation is a planning policy that describes what type of land use, or mix of uses, 

would be acceptable on a specific site or whether the site is protected for certain types of 
development. The purpose of the site allocations is to allocate sites for bui lt development 
or to maintain a type of bui lt development on a site. Site allocations are important 
because they give guidance and certainty to developers and landowners and they help 
local people understand what may happen in their neighbourhood in the future. They 
provide a positive policy towards redevelopment of the site and help ensure the right type 
and amount of development happens in the right place, in accordance with the Strategy 
of this Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. A sequential approach 
should be taken to the site layout of development proposals for Site Allocations in Flood 
Zones 2 and 3 in accordance with the NPPF. 

 
9.2 This chapter highlights Areas of Change within the city, and sets out specific site 
allocation policies. Areas of change are the areas of the city where significant change is 
expected or best directed. These areas include the district centres and also areas where 
there are significant clusters of potential development sites. For each area of change, key 
considerations are summarised and also a vision is set out that new developments within the 
area should help deliver where relevant. The impact of development of si tes in these areas 
needs to be considered in terms of the wider context of the area and other potential 
developments and this is to be achieved by the AOC policies. Within most of the areas of 
change are also individual si te allocation policies. Sites allocated in this Plan will be 
expected to delivery the minimum net number of homes shown in the site policies (where 
stated). The minimum number shall be exceeded where it is possible to do so consistent with 
the other policies in the Plan. The homes should be delivered as general market and 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy H2 unless it is expressly stated in the site 
allocation policy that student accommodation or employer-linked affordable housing are 
suitable on the site. Other specialist forms of housing will be considered on their merits. If 
communal accommodation is to be provided, the minimum quantum shall be calculated on 
the basis of the national policy ratio (or any amendment or replacement thereof). The ratio at 
the time of adoption of the Local Plan is that 2.5 new student bed spaces is considered as 
the equivalent of 1 new home and for other communal accommodation 1.8 bed spaces is 
considered as equivalent to 1 new home. On mixed-use sites, if only part of the site is being 
brought forward and the proposal does not include residential development, the potential to 
achieve the minimum housing capacity on remaining parts of the site when they come 
forward for development will be considered. Site allocation policies are accompanied by a 
range of icons used to quickly identi fy key features of the site. These icons are as follows: 

164



131 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9.3 Legend of icons/symbols 
 

110 10 metre buffer to watercourse (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that is adjacent to or includes a watercourse. Opportunities should be taken to protect 
and enhance the watercourse that is on or adjacent to the site. At least a 10 metre buffer 
should be retained between the watercourse and the bui lt development. 

 
Potentially Contaminated Sites 
Red icon: (symbol to be added on final version) A site that has been identi fied as having 
potentially significant contamination issues. Applications will be required to demonstrate that 
contamination issues can be resolved during the planning application stage and will be 
required to undertake an appropriate contamination site investigation as part of any secured 
planning permission. 

 
Orange icon: (symbol to be added on final version) A site that has been identified as having 
potential contamination issues. Applications will be required to undertake an appropriate 
contamination site investigation as part of any secured planning permission. 

 
Significant noise (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that is subject to significant environmental noise from one or more sources. 
Applications are required to be accompanied by an Acoustic Design Statement on 
submission. 

 
Potential air quali ty concern (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that has the potential to raise concerns in terms of air quality. Where development is 
proposed, applicants must demonstrate that necessary mitigation measures are 
incorporated. However, it is a requirement of Oxford City Council that all the applications for 
major development in the city submit an air quality assessment, whether or not the poor air 
quality symbol is present. 

 
Archaeological interest (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that has known archaeological interest or potential interest, or is in the City Centre 
Archaeological Area. Other sites may also require further archaeological assessment and 
evaluation. Sufficient information should be provided to define the character and extent of 
known or potential archaeological deposits. Development will not be permitted if the 
applicant fails to demonstrate that there will be no loss or damage to important historic 
features or their setting. (A site without this symbol does not necessarily have no 
archaeological potential. The potential may instead be unclear or unknown.) 

 
Basement development (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that lies within an area with potentially high groundwater. Basement development 
could act as a blockage to groundwater flows and cause groundwater flooding. Where 
basement development is proposed, applicants will be expected to assess the feasibility of 
underground development in relation to groundwater flows. 

 
Groundwater recharge (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that is on or near the North Oxford gravel terrace and development of which could 
potentially have an impact on the groundwater flow, as well as the recharge of groundwater 
to the Oxford Meadows SAC. Development proposals must be accompanied by a 
hydrological survey assessing the impact of development proposals on groundwater and 
must incorporate sustainable drainage. 

 
Improving walking and cycling (symbol to be added on final version) 

165



132 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A site where opportunities are present to increase connectivi ty and sustainable movement 
and transport through improvements to walking and cycling links. 

 
Sensitive to the Cowley Branch Line (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that lies on or adjacent to the Cowley Branch Line. Development of this site should not 
compromise the reopening of this line for passengers which also includes safeguarding land  
for new stations. 

 
Proximity to rail way (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that is close to a railway. To eliminate any risk to railway operations and to ensure the 
safe operation of the railway, applicants must demonstrate that the design of development 
considers guidance provided by Network Rail. 

 
Site within the Eastern Arc (symbol to be added on final version) 
A site that is within the geographical area of the Eastern Arc. The Eastern Arc is comprised 
of the outer wards in the east, south, and south-east of Oxford that the Local Transport Plan 
4 has identified as an area where future travel demand will be focused. Opportunities should 
be taken to enhance pedestrian and cycle links to a future Eastern Arc Rapid Transit (EART) 
station. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Oxford City Centre 
 

9.4 Context 
Much of the city centre is covered by the Central Conservation Area and contains the 
medieval core of the university. The city centre also includes the West End, which is the 
area of the city centre with the main opportunity for growth (see separate section below). 
There are opportunities to manage the competing interests in the city centre. This may be 
possible through a review of the access and transport arrangements (for example by 
removing unnecessary trips/miles journeyed); providing opportunities to access “town 
centre uses” in alternative locations (for example providing for more facilities in district or 
local centres); and reviewing the role of specific streets/areas of the city centre to provide 
for different needs (for example a restaurant district or tourist focused area) and 
increasing the public realm and capacity of streets. 

 
9.5 Key heritage considerations 

The Central Area Conservation Appraisal has identi fied principal issues in the Central 
Conservation Area, which are: 

 Pressure on public space in the core area streets from pedestrian saturation and 
buses 

 Lack of accessible squares and greens space 
 Controlled access to green space 
 Uncertain retail future 
 Design of new bui ldings 
 Managing the setting 

166



133 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Conservation area boundary on the western side 
 

9.6 Building heights and density 
The city centre is particularly sensitive to high bui ldings because it is the location of the 
historic bui ldings that create the skyline and taller bui ldings Policy DH2 will be particularly 
relevant in this location. The city centre does have much higher density development, and 
is a suitable location for i t. 

 
9.7 Vision 

The Central (City and University) Conservation Area Appraisal identi fies opportunities to 
enhance the conservation in ways that would sustain the city’s cultural, economic and 
social prosperity. Development would be supported that sufficiently meet the cri teria of 
policies in the wider plan and which are able to demonstrate that they take Planning 
permission will only be granted for new development within the area where it can be 
demonstrated that it takes opportunities to deliver the following, where relevant: 

 Rebalance the pace space within streets from vehicles to pedestrians 
• Identi fy sites for a new network of ‘micro parks’ where people can stop and dwell 

in streets 
 Increase public access to existing green spaces 
 Promote development of opportunity sites in ways which contribute to and 

celebrate the characteristics of the city that make i t so distinctive and special. 
 

Area of Change: West End and Osney Mead 
 

9.8 Context 
The West End is the south west corner of the city centre, including Oxford Station. Osney 
Mead sits on the other side of the river, but with good connectivity to Oxford Station and 
potential to be better integrated with the city centre via a bridge to the West End. Much of 
the area is under- utilised and does not reflect Oxford’s international reputation or live up 
to its potential. 

 
9.9 The West End Area Action Plan 2007-2016 was adopted in 2008. Developments such as 

the Westgate Centre and public realm improvements at Frideswide Square and Castle 
Mill Stream have started to bring improved connectivi ty and enhance the quali ty of the 
area. As Oxford University increases i ts ownership of land at Osney Mead there is an 
increased potential to further integrate and enhance this whole area to the south west of 
the centre and around the station. 

 
9.10 Key heritage considerations 

There is a great deal of historic interest contained within the West End, which must be 
given the appropriate level of consideration when new developments are proposed to 
ensure that the combination of new and old are well designed and the historic features 
are respected and enhanced. Many historic bui ldings and street patterns remain in the 
area and should be used to guide design of new development. The visual impact of new 
development could add a contemporary element to views of Oxford’s historic skyline and 
existing historic bui ldings, without destroying their character. 

 
9.11 Key considerations are the setting of Listed Buildings, the historic character of the Central 

Conservation Area in Jericho and Osney, avoiding visual competition to the city centre 
skyline and in elevated views from the city centre. Osney Mead is particularly sensitive in 
terms of views, being prominent in the View Cones from Raleigh Park and Boars Hill. 

 
9.12 Building heights and density 

167



134 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Development at 15m will create competition in the views from St Mary’s. Development at 
18m will create competition in the views from Boars Hill. Development exceeding 15m 
should be very carefully considered and designed in terms of the impact of the height. 

 
9.13 As well as avoiding bui ldings that obscure the skyline, the impacts of lower development 

on the foreground part of the view must achieve an enhancement of the area. 
 

9.14 Vision Policy AOC1: West End and Osney Mead 
Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the area of change 
where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to deliver the following, 
where relevant: 

• Create high-density urban living that makes efficient use of land 
 Maintain a vibrant mix of uses 
 Has regard to the framework set out in the West End Design Code 
• Maximise the area’s contribution to Oxford’s knowledge economy 
 Enhance public realm along the waterways 
 Enhance connectivity throughout the area, including along and across waterways 
 Enhance the pedestrian and cycling experience 
 Ensure that the heri tage of the area informs and guides new development 

proposals 
 Create easy and attractive transport interchange 
 Reduce car parking 

 
9.15 West End 

This site includes a huge variety of bui ldings and uses including retai l, residential, 
community, cultural and evening economy uses, City of Oxford and Cherwell Valley 
College, University of Oxford colleges and offices, community centre, and the city’s key 
areas of public transport provision and interchange, including Oxford Station and 
Gloucester Green bus and coach station. 

 
 

9.16 To ensure that the development makes the best use of the site and is well designed the 
design code should be followed. It is expected that the site will be developed as part of a 
comprehensive regeneration plan for the area. With a number of different landowners 
within the site this would help delivery and ensure that piecemeal development does not 
prejudice the overall aim of a comprehensive regeneration of the site. 

 
9.17 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network is 
required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such works. 

 
9.178Residential development at sites in West End in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through 

the sequential test. A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Level 2 was undertaken for three 
specific sites: Fire Station, Rewley Road; the Island site and; the Oxpens site. This was to 
assess part b) of the Exception Test. The SFRA Level 2 considered that the development 
proposed was appropriate. Additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to 
demonstrate compliance with part b) of the Exception Test at the planning application 
stage for the Island site and the Oxpens site. This is to be undertaken through a site- 
specific flood risk assessment supporting the planning application. The site specific flood 
risk assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. 

168



135 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.189Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 
development proposed would create through the redevelopment of si tes in the West End, 
upgrades to the network are likely to be required. As such early discussion with the Gas 
Network is recommended to ensure that the timely delivery of infrastructure takes place to 
support development. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Minimum 
number 

a. Oxford Station and Becket 
Street Car Park 

 20 

b.   Student Castle Osney Lane 206 
c.    Worcester Street Carpark   18 
d.   Island Site   40 
e.   Oxpens. 450 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Osney Mead 
 

Site area: 17.4 hectares/42.99 acres 
Ward: Jericho and Osney 
Landowner: A number of landowners own various plots. The University of Oxford is the 

largest landowner 
Current use: Industrial Estate 
Flood Zone: FZ 3b 

169



136 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.1920 The site comprises the Osney Mead Industrial Estate. Surrounding land uses are 
agriculture, residential and employment. Access is from Ferry Hinksey Road and Osney 
Mead. 

 
9.201The estate is a Category 2 Employment si te. It is in a central location that offers one of 

the few opportunities for a range of employment uses in the city, particularly in such an 
accessible location close to the train station. It is important that its role in creating a 
diverse employment base is maintained, as the site is an important part of Oxford’s 
employment land supply. The site is not intensively used, and changes in technology and 
use of space and the type of employment mean that the employment function could be 
provided in a smaller space, as well as being enhanced. There is significant potential to 
intensify uses of the site and introduce new uses. There should be no loss in the number 
of jobs in B use classes at the site. The largest landowner at the site is the University of 
Oxford. The site presents an excellent opportunity to create an innovation park in a 
central location close to the core of the university, that wi ll contribute to Oxford’s role in 
the knowledge and high-tech economy. Academic uses linked to this could also be 
located at the site to maximise the benefit of linkages between academic research and 
innovation. 

 
9.212Although currently separated from it, a new link across the river should be provided to 

integrate the site with the city centre. It wi ll also connect the site with the new student 
development next to Oxpens. Therefore, if the connection is in place, the site should 
begin to function as an extension of the city centre. It would therefore be suitable for 
residential use that may include student accommodation and employer-linked housing or 
market housing. Delivery of housing should support and complement the employment 
function of the site. 

 
9.223The site is suitable for medium high density development that is low to medium rise. 

Osney and Botley is characteristically low rise and also the site is sensitive in terms of 
views. It is within the High Building Area and view cone. The High Buildings Technical 
Advice Note shows that bui ldings of 15m will create competition in views out from St 
Mary’s Tower. Bui ldings at 18m will create competition in the view from Boars Hill. The 
Assessment of the Oxford View Cones Study 2015 also shows that low-rise development 
is in the foreground of key views into historic core. Any negative impact on views into or 
out of the historic core must be avoided. 

 
9.234 New high-quali ty public open space should be created on the site. The relationship and 

connection between the site and the canal and river should be improved. The site is 
adjacent to the River Thames and pedestrian and cycle access from the site to the tow 
path should be retained. Footpaths to and through the site should be provided and 
enhanced. The physical and visual permeabili ty of the design will be important. 

 
 

9.245Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justified through the 
sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this si te to 
examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is safe). 
The Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment considered the proposed development was 
appropriate and additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate 
compliance with the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be 
undertaken through a site- specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site 
specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate how the development wi ll be safe 
otherwise planning permission will not be granted. It is recognised that the FRA may not 
be able to demonstrate a dry risk/ low hazard rating route to dry land. Therefore in order 
to achieve safe access and/ or egress for this site to satisfy the Exception Test there may 
be a greater reliance on on-site measures, emergency planning, and evacuation 

170



137 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

procedures, alongside offsite mitigation, to ensure that it is safe for i ts li fetime taking 
account of the vulnerabili ty of i ts users without increasing the burden on emergency 
services. Development should be made safe by mitigating the potential impacts of 
development through design and resilient construction measures. It should be designed 
and constructed such that the health and welfare of people is appropriately managed. 

 
9.256Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

Area of Change: Cowley Centre District Centre 
 

9.267 Context 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

171



138 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Cowley Centre and the area around Between Towns Road provide an important hub, 
with transport interchange, community facili ties and retail available. It is important for the 
local community and those from further afield for whom it is their main centre. The area 
includes the Templars Square Shopping Centre as well as multi-storey car parks, office 
blocks and flats of 3-4 storeys and other social, leisure and community uses such as pubs 
and cafes, some of which are as low as 1 storey. 

 
9.278The City Council wi ll encourage schemes which make more efficient use of the sites 

avai lable and strengthen and diversify the range of services and faci lities on offer to the 
local community and its wider catchment area. 

 
9.289Key heritage considerations 

Potential for impact on the historic character of the adjoining Temple Cowley and 
Beauchamp Lane Conservation Areas and potential of tall buildings to affect views out 
from St Mary’s Tower. 

 
9.2930 Building heights and density 

High density development with residential at 100+ dph. Development is varied in height 
currently, with some 1-2 storey bui ldings to the Hockmore Tower which is 8 storeys of 
residential sitting above the Cowley Centre. At 12m (approximately 4 storeys) and above 
buildings may create a skylining effect in views from St Mary’s Tower and will need 
careful design and justification. 

 
9.301Vision 

“To enhance the public realm to accommodate improved pedestrian connectivi ty across 
Between Towns Road and an improved pedestrian and cycle experience, whilst 
remaining a public interchange hub and important hub”. 

 
Policy AOC2: Cowley Centre District Centre 

9.312 Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the district 
centre area of change where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant: 

• Enhance the public realm; 
• Improve connectivi ty across Between Towns Road; 
• Make more efficient use of land by consolidating uses and through infill and taller 

development; 
• Improve access and visual links to the green space, enhance the existing public realm 

and look for opportunities to create new areas of well defined, attractive public open 
space 

• Introduce more residential development, including on the upper floors of existing 
commercial premises, other than existing offices that are protected; 

• Reduce the number of multi-storey car parks; 
• Increased heights along Between Towns Road; 
• Provide the range of retail units and type of environment that will attract high quali ty 

operators; additional quality cafés, restaurants and bars; attractive public realm; 
• Support new employment on upper floors; 
• Better reveal and enhance heri tage assets and their setting. 

 
 

Cowley Centre, Between Towns Road 
 

Site area: 3.65 hectares/9.02 acres 
Ward: Cowley 

172



139 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

9.323This site includes the Templars Square shopping centre and a range of other uses. The 
shopping centre and surrounding area is dated and is in need of improvement. Cowley 
Centre is a Primary District Centre in Oxford’s retai l hierarchy as set out in the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036. A mix of town centre and community uses are encouraged here. 

 
9.334To ensure that the development makes the best use of the site, delivers the policy 

requirements and is well designed, i t is desirable for the site to be developed 
comprehensively. This could potentially be through a Cowley Centre masterplan which 
would help delivery and ensure that piecemeal development does not prejudice the 
overall aim of a comprehensive regeneration of the area. 

 
9.345The design of development should consider the special character of the Beauchamp 

Lane Conservation Area and should significantly improve the design of the public 
realm, demonstrating compliance with the requirements of Policy DH3. Development 
should take opportunities to improve bus stopping areas, signage and faci lities. 

 
9.36 Water supply network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether upgrades to the water supply capacity 
network are required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any 
such works. 

 

 
Area of Change: Blackbird Leys District Centre 

 
9.357Context 

Landowner: Oxford City Counci l but Zurich Assurance have a long lease 
Current use:  Mixed use including retail, residential and car parks 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 

 
commercial leisure; 

 
 

 

 

 

173



140 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Blackbird Leys is located on the outer ring of the Eastern By-Pass along the south east 
edge of the city limits. It is approximately 5 km from the City Centre and is well connected 
by public transport. It is the largest post 1960s suburb of Oxford, and is divided into two 
parts, a large 1960’s development and a more recent residential area. The District Centre 
is located at the centre of the 1960s estate with major employment si tes to the north, an 
industrial park north east, a science park to the south west and the Kassam Stadium to 
the south. It currently comprises community facili ties, a health centre, shopping parade, 
library, leisure centre and two schools. There is no strong retai l or commercial offer and 
public space is fragmented and dominated by the highway. 

 
9.368The area is typified by curvilinear road layouts with cul-de-sacs and interconnecting 

pedestrian routes, centred on extensive accessible green space. It contains a large 
number of suburban houses and flats which are mostly two or three storey, but include 
two 15 storey tower blocks which are landmark features of the area. The Northfield Brook 
creates a belt of open space which includes areas of nature conservation interest and the 
Spindleberry Nature Park. A mature avenue of Horse Chestnuts on Windale Avenue 
leads to a group of historic agricultural bui ldings with an architectural style which derives 
from the context of rural Oxfordshire. At the heart of the District Centre is the Church of 
the Holy Family, an iconic 1960s heart shaped building with a paraboloid roof, designed 
as part of a designated area of ecumenical experiment. 

 
9.379Key heritage considerations 

Potential impact on the Oxford Stadium Conservation Area. The potential of tall bui ldings 
to affect views out from St Mary’s Tower. 

 
9.3840 Building heights and density 

High density, largely flatted residential development of 100+ dph. Development is 
predominantly lo 2-3 storeys, but tower blocks reach 42.6m. At 15m and above bui ldings 
may create a skylining effect in views from St Mary’s Tower and will need careful design 
and justification. 

 
9.3941 Vision 

“To create a high quality environment that builds on the community function of the district 
centre.” 

 
Policy AOC3: Blackbird Leys Area of Change 

9.402Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the district 
centre area of change where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant: 

• Improve permeabili ty and connectivi ty to existing suburban residential development 
• Consider the potential for a future rai l link to the city centre and connectivi ty to this 
• Intensify development to create a high density centre that retains and improve 

community faci lities, taking opportunities for co-location 
• Introduce more residential development 
• Enhance existing bui ldings and improve their relationship to the street by creating active 

built frontages 
• Rationalise car parking 

 
 
 

Blackbird Leys Central Area 
 

Site area: 8.10 hectares/20.01 acres 

174



141 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
9.413Blackbird Leys District Centre is located to the south of the city in the heart of Blackbird 

Leys. It is well served by public transport to and from the Cowley Centre and Oxford city 
centre, as well as by local cycle and pedestrian routes. It is important for the Blackbird 
Leys community and includes faci lities such as the community centre, library and leisure 
centre. Blackbird Leys is a regeneration area and improved local faci lities, shops, new 
housing, educational and employment opportunities are appropriate. Blackbird Leys is 
one of Oxford’s four district centres in the retail hierarchy and a mix of town centre and 
community uses are encouraged here. 

 
9.424To ensure that the development makes the best use of the site, delivers the policy 

requirements and is well designed, it is expected that the site will be developed as part of 
a comprehensive regeneration plan for the area. With a number of different landowners 
within the site this would help delivery and ensure that piecemeal development does not 
prejudice the overall aim of a comprehensive regeneration of the site. The site includes 
the tower block sites where there may be potential to develop residential on the land 
around the base of the towers. Consideration should be given to potential impacts on the 
Oxford Stadium Conservation Area and views out from St Mary’s Tower. Development 
must demonstrate compliance with the requirements of Policy DH3. 

 
9.45 Both the water supply network capacity and the sewerage network capacity in this area 

are unlikely to be able to support the demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames W ater, funded by the applicant, wi ll be necessary to determine 
whether upgrades to the water supply capacity and sewerage network are required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such works. 

 

 

Area of Change: East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre 

Ward: Blackbird Leys 
Landowner: Various including Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire Counci l and Oxford and 

Cherwell Valley College 
Current use: Mixed use 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

175



142 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.436Context 
In spatial terms the District Centre is more elongated than the others, and town centre 
uses can be found along the whole length of the street. The Cowley Road is a busy 
arterial route into St Clements and the city centre at one end, and Oxford Business Park 
and BMW at the other. It runs through a highly populated area and the character of the 
district centre reflects this. Surveys show that during the day time it is visited by local 
people who live and work close enough to walk to the centre; the catchment area during 
the evening is however much wider with the whole area being a draw to a much bigger 
population. 

 
9.447Key heritage considerations 

The setting and heritage considerations include the historic character of Bartlemas and St 
Clement’s and Iffley Road Conservation Areas, as well as Central and Headington Hill. 

 
9.458Building heights and density 

Existing development in the area is predominantly 2-4 storeys, with a maximum of 25.6m. 
Development at 15m could create competition with the view to the city centre skyline from 
Crescent Road and Rose Hill and also competition and change of character in elevated 
views to the south- east from the city centre. Care will also have to be taken to ensure 
taller buildings do not impact on attractive views of the south western hills gained from 
elevated streets to the east of Cowley Road. Development exceeding 15m should be very 
carefully considered and designed. 

 
9.469Development sites within the district centre should generally be high density development 

of 100dph+ consisting of 1/2/3 bed apartments and 2/3/4 bed courtyard houses. 
 

9.4750 Vision 
“To recognise the existing character and valued facilities of the centre and build on these 
to support i ts long-term future as a vibrant, attractive centre.” 

 
Policy AOC4: East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre 

9.4851 Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the district 
centre area of change where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant: 

• Consolidation of a retail core and a clearer definition of the primary shopping area; 
• Improve the quality of bui ldings and their relationship to the street, shopfronts and 

signage 
• Acknowledge the current restaurant and leisure provision; 
• New residential development  wi ll be  promoted  on  the upper  floors  of existing 

commercial premises, other than existing offices that are protected; 
• Support new employment on upper floors; 
• Public realm improvements for cyclists and pedestrians 
• Enhancement and new opportunities for public open space such as tree planting, 

redesigns etc 
• Better reveal and enhance heritage assets and their setting 

 
 
 
 
 

Area of Change: Summertown District Centre 
 

9.4952 Context 

176



143 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Summertown District Centre is located to the north of the city along the Banbury Road, a 
major radial route and gateway into the city centre. It is well served by public transport, 
cycle and pedestrian routes and is a vibrant centre with a good retail mix, some major 
employers, a sports centre, University bui ldings and a theatre. It is characterised by 2-3 
storey, moderate sized terraced properties whose lower floors have been converted to 
shop frontages and large 3-4 storey commercial bui ldings of varying quality with retail 
uses at ground floor. Banbury Road is wide with on street, short term parking, good public 
realm, contemporary street furniture and mature trees that make an important contribution 
to the townscape. To the east and west of the district centre, streets form a regular 
pattern of Victorian terraced housing and vi llas of architectural integri ty leading to the 
River Thames and Cherwell flood plains. A number of independent schools are located 
adjacent to the centre. The Summertown North Oxford Victorian Suburb Conservation 
Area is immediately to the south. 

 
9.503Opportunities for development within the centre are primari ly linked to the Diamond Place 

site for which a Supplementary Planning Document has been adopted. The Diamond 
Place site is of significance to the Summertown area because of i ts size, its location 
behind the shopping frontage and its current uses, all of which give potential for 
development to bring considerable benefits. There is an excellent opportunity to develop 
the site in a way that enhances the local area, without loss of the important functions it 
already performs. The vision for that site is that a mix of uses will bring extra activi ty to 
create a successful place which will have its own identi ty as a quieter, more tranquil part 
of the district centre, offering an attractive public open space for people to stop and enjoy. 

 
9.514Key heritage considerations 

The setting of listed bui ldings and the character of the adjoining North Oxford Victorian 
Suburb Conservation Area. 

 
9.525Building heights and density 

Existing development in the area is predominantly 2-4 storeys, with a maximum of 28.9m. 
Development at 18m will create competition in the views from/across Elsfield and Boars 
Hill. Development at 24m will create skylining in the views from St Mary’s. Development 
exceeding 18m should be particularly carefully considered and designed in terms of the 
impact of the height. 

 
9.536Development sites within the district centre should generally be high density development 

of 100dph+ consisting of 1/2/3 bed apartments and 2/3/4 bed courtyard houses. 
 

9.547Vision 
“To build on the mix of uses, vibrancy and distinct character of the district centre.” 

 
Policy AOC5: Summertown District Centre 

9.558Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the district 
centre area of change where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant: Within the district centre: 

• Rationalise the expanse of public and work place car parking that exists to make more 
efficient use of land; 

• Build on i ts independent offer by enhancing the variety and choice of retailers; 
• Support new residential and employment on upper floors; 
• Create new areas of public realm; 
• Build on the existing mix of uses by creating a high density environment that contributes 

to the vibrancy of the place; 
• Better integrate the landscape setting of Summertown with the district centre; 
• Improve pedestrian and cycle links to wider strategic routes into and out of the city; 

177



144 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Create a new neighbourhood of high density, contemporary housing; and 
• Create areas of amenity for new and existing neighbourhoods. 

 

Summer Fields School Athletics Track 
 

 
9.569This site comprises playing fields in private use by Summer Fields School. In summer an 

athletics track is painted onto the grass. The School is able to relocate this facili ty within 
its relatively extensive grounds. 

 
9.5760 The site adjoins the Ferry Car Park. Access to the Athletics Track site would be from 

the Banbury Road, through the redeveloped Diamond Place site. The Diamond Place 
SPD requires access through the site into the Athletics Track site to be designed-in. 

 
9.5861 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely delivery 
of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
Diamond Place and Ewert House, Summertown 

 

 
9.5962 This site comprises car parks, office and academic use. The University of Oxford 

intend to relocate the Examination Halls of Ewert House to an alternative site and the 
City Counci l is seeking to make better use of the car parks. The site is entirely within the 
designation of Summertown District Centre so a mix of town centre uses should be 
encouraged here. Development should not compromise the successful development of 

Site area: 1.38hectares/3.41 acres 
Ward: North 
Landowner: Summer Fields School 
Current use:   Playing Fields 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 

Site area: 1.73 hectares/4.27 acres 
Ward: St Margarets 
Landowner: Mainly Oxford City Counci l and University of Oxford 
Current use:   Public car parks, academic, offices 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

178



145 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

the adjacent Summertown strategic si te (residential development). There is high potential 
for archaeological interest as the site is adjacent to cropmarks of likely prehistoric or 
Roman date. 

 
9.603The City and County Counci l are seeking to reduce the use of the private car within 

Oxford and a reduction in car parking would discourage car use although the car park is 
important to local traders and i ts total loss would be detrimental. The City Council has 
undertaken a review of its public car parks and considers that there is potential for 
development above the car park which will result in the loss of some car parking spaces. 
Sufficient car parking spaces should be retained at a level at which the City Council 
considers is reasonable to serve the local area bearing in mind the quali ty of public 
transport to the area and the current level of usage of the car park. 

 
9.614The retained car parking could be in a different form such as beneath ground level 

(undercroft), decking or surface level with buildings above. Parking beneath ground is less 
likely to be appropriate here due to i ts potential impact on groundwater and any such 
proposal wi ll need to assess its effect on groundwater. High quali ty design will be 
expected in order to deliver a safe parking environment with active frontages to ensure a 
sense of safety and vitality with easy and clear access to shops. Provision must be made 
for a temporary car park during construction. 

 
9.625Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
276 Banbury Road 

 

 
 
 

 
Residential  development; 

 
student accommodation. 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.35 hectares/ 0.86 acres 
Ward: Summertown  
Landowner:  4 Urban Consulting Ltd 

179



146 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
9.636This site in the Summertown district centre includes several retai l units at ground floor 

level and offices above, with a single storey bui lding to the north of the site used as 
Majestic Wine W arehouse. 

 
9.647The site is at a visually prominent location and is an important part of the street scene of 

Banbury Road. High quality design with active frontages will be required to ensure a 
sense of vi tali ty with easy and clear access to shops and other uses on the site. 

 

 
Area of Change: Headington District Centre 

 
9.658Context 

The centre reflects part of the historical, rural character of the area with remnants of stone 
buildings and boundary walls, which play an important part of the area’s character. The 
street varies in width through the centre with wide pavements fronting properties in 
places. The district centre is surrounded by inter and post-war housing and Victorian and 
Edwardian terraces. Bury Knowle Park, a historic parkland, is located to the east of the 
centre, Old Headington Conservation Area is located to the north and Headington Quarry 
to the east. 

 
9.669Key heritage considerations 

The setting of listed bui ldings within the area and also the impact on the historic character 
of adjoining Conservation Areas (Headington Hill, Old Headington and Headington 
Quarry). 

 
9.6770 Building heights and density 

The centre is characterised by 2-3 storey, moderate sized terraced properties whose 
lower floors have been converted to shop frontages and large 3-4 storey commercial 
buildings of varying quali ty that infi ll plots. There may be an opportunity to redevelop 
some of these sites in a more intensive way which would still be in keeping with the 
character and the function of the centre. At 15m (approximately 5 storeys) and above 
buildings may create a skylining effect in views in from Elsfield and will need careful 
design and justification. 

 
9.6871 Vision 

“To enhance the public realm to accommodate improved pedestrian connectivi ty across 
Between Towns Road and an improved pedestrian and cycle experience, whilst 
remaining a public interchange hub and important hub.” 

Current use: Retail on ground floor, offices above 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 

180



147 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy AOC6: Headington District Centre 
9.6972 Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the district 

centre area of change where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant: 

• Improve connectivi ty across London Road; 
• Make more efficient use of land by consolidating uses and through infill and taller 

development; 
• Enhance the public realm 

 
Area of Change: Cowley Branch Line 

 
9.703Context 

The area surrounding the Cowley branch line is a major employment hub with the large 
employers of BMW Group, Unipart, Oxford Science Park and Oxford Business Park. The 
area consists of large scale, low density, modern commercial developments, many of 
which are visually prominent. The landscape is semi-rural and the Northfield and 
Littlemore Brookes are important ecological features. 

 
9.714The opening up of passenger services along Oxford’s Cowley Branch Line would provide 

an alternative public transport solution to opening up the Eastern Arc to the city centre. 
The branch line currently extends just over three miles eastwards from Kennington 
Junction, which is situated approximately two miles south of Oxford station. The proposal 
would include potential stations at Oxford Science Park and Oxford Business Park. 

 
9.725 Key heritage considerations 

Potential impact on the historic character of the adjoining Oxford Stadium and Littlemore 
Conservation Areas. Potential impact on listed buildings in the surrounding area 
(particularly  Littlemore). 

 
9.736Building heights and density 

High density residential and employment development that makes efficient use of land 
will be expected. Development would need to be relatively tall (21m) before affecting 
views from St Mary’s Tower. Bui ldings above this height wi ll need careful design and 
justi fication. Consideration should also be given the nature of surrounding uses and 
impact on conservation areas and listed bui ldings. 

 
9.747Vision 

“To ensure good connectivi ty by providing enhanced pedestrian and cycle access to the 
proposed stations.” 

 
Policy AOC7: Cowley Branch Line 

9.758Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the area of change 
where i t can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to deliver the following, 
where relevant: 

• To enhance existing tree cover and semi-rural landscape 
• To retain wildli fe corridor function of the brooks 
• To safeguard land for proposed stations and access 
• To make more efficient use of space through intensification of existing sites and 

rationalisation of parking and reduction in surface-level car parking 
• Improved connectivi ty between different parts of the area 

 

Unipart 

181



148 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

9.769This large Category 1 employment site is an important site in providing employment land 
to deliver the objectives of the Local Plan 2036. 

 

 
Oxford BMW Mini MINI Plant Oxford 

 

9.7780 This is an important Category 1 employment site in Oxford and as such should be 
protected to ensure it delivers the economic objectives of the Local Plan 2036. 

 
 

Site area: 30.63 hectares/75.69 acres 
Ward: Lye Valley 
Landowner: Unipart Group 
Current Use: Unipart Group 
Flood Zone:   FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 69.9 hectares/172.73 acres 82.13 hectares / 202.95 acres 
Ward: Lye Valley 
Landowner: BMW 
Current Use: Car Plant 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

182



149 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

The Oxford Science Park 
 

9.7881 This site is a Category 1 employment site and as such is a key site for delivering the 
Oxford Local Plan’s aim of managed economic growth to 2036. The site, established in 
1991 is at the forefront of providing employment opportunities based around research and 
development. The site contains some undeveloped plots and it is anticipated that an 
additional estimated 2,800m2 of floorspace can be provided. 

 
9.7982 Development proposals should take into consideration the potential presence of Saxon 

and Roman archaeological remains and the nearby listed bui lding. Proposals would be 
required to demonstrate that they comply with the requirements of Policies DH3 and 
DH4. There is potential for archaeological remains from the Saxon and Roman periods 
which will need to be considered. The site lies in close proximity to a listed bui lding. 

 
9.803 Slow worms are present on sites in surrounding areas. To allow them to move between 

areas a buffer should be retained along the railway corridor. More vulnerable 
development will be expected to be directed away from Flood Zone 3b. 

 
9.814Access to the site is heavi ly dependent upon the private car. Opportunities to enhance 

transport links to the site to provide an alternative from the private car wi ll be encouraged. 
This wi ll include ensuring that any opportunities to re-open the Cowley Branch Line are is 
pursued and supports ing the County Council’s appropriate measures, as agreed by the 
Local Planning Authori ty in consultation with the Highways Authori ty to improve bus 
services to the Eastern Arc. These alternative transport opportunities will increase 
sustainabili ty and reduce need for cars. This is very much a place driven by the motor 
car. 

 
9.825Future development of the site should maximise opportunities to enhance external areas 

to provide useful outdoor spaces and encourage activity outdoors. Existing recreational 
faci lities, such as football/tennis courts but this could be integrated into the landscape to 
improve the quali ty of outdoor space and setting for bui ldings. This attention to design 
should provide an “enhanced sense of place” for the science park. Design of future 
buildings should take the opportunity to demonstrate the principles of science and 
technology and innovation in the architecture. 

 
 

 

A reduction in car parking provision on site wi ll be required and oOpportunities should be 
sought to enhance and promote more sustainable travel modes to the BMW Oxford 
Mini MINI Plant Oxford. 

Site area: 26.51 hectares/65.51 acres 27.1 hectares /66.96 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Prudential and Magdalen College, and Oxford City Council 
Current Use:  Science Park and Vacant 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

 

183



150 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Oxford Business Park 
 

 
9.836This site is a Category 1 Employment si te and as such is a key site for delivering the 

Oxford Local Plan’s aim of managed economic growth to 2036. Owing to the constrained 
nature of Oxford, the category 1 sites have been afforded most protection to ensure that 
their employment uses are maintained. The wider business park has already had 
permitted a number of anci llary non-Class B uses and further such uses would be 
inappropriate as they would prevent the delivery of employment on this site. There are a 
few remaining plots sti ll to be developed on the business park. These will provide 
valuable B1 provision to meet the city’s need. 

 
9.847Oxfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan seeks to reduce car parking on major 

employment sites within Oxford. As such both the City and County Council will actively 
seek measures which will provide opportunities for people to travel to the site other than 
by private car. Improved bus connectivi ty to the Eastern Arc from across the city wi ll be 
supported. Access to this site would be enhanced considerably with the opening up of the 
Cowley Branch Line to passengers. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Planning permission will be granted for B1 employment uses that directly relate to 
Oxford’s key sectors of research led employment at The Oxford Science Park. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their merits. Planning permission will not be 
granted for any other uses. Development should be designed to enhance the external 
appearance of the science park and to optimise opportunities to enhance the landscape 
and provide attractive public open space for the occupants. The re-opening of the Cowley 
Branchline will provide a realistic alternative to the private car for gaining access to 
the sience science park. 

 
A reduction in car parking provision on site wi ll be required and oOpportunities should be 
sought to enhance and promote more sustainable travel to and from the park. 

 
A buffer should be retained along the rai lway corridor to allow for the movement of the 
protected species. 

 
Development should not have an adverse impact upon the wildlife corridor or any 
archaeological  remains. 

Site area: 35.4 hectares/84.48 acres 
Ward: Cowley 
Landowner: Goodman 
Current Use: Vacant previously developed land 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

Policy SP1011: Oxford Business Park 

184



151 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Sandy Lane Recreation Ground and Land to the Rear of the Retail Park 
 

 
9.858 This site is comprised of the land adjacent to the Oxford Retail Park and currently a 

disused car park (1.11ha) which was once used for storage of production cars, unti l in 
1995 permission was given for use of the site as a car park for Rover employees. The site 
is adjacent to the Cowley Branch line which forms the eastern and south eastern 
boundary to the site. As such part of the site, the area currently being used as a car park, 
must be safeguarded so that a small station allowing passenger access to the branchline 
can be developed when the branchline is re-opened for passenger trains. The larger, 
western part of the site has been used for sports pitches, providing two full sized football 
pitches and one junior pitch. However, there is no evidence of this formal use and the site 
is now used for more informal recreational purposes. The site is generally flat, although 
access is taken from Blackbird Leys Road which is elevated above the site resulting in a 
level difference. The eastern bypass runs parallel to the north-western boundary of the 
site. There is planting adjacent to both the bypass and rai lway line. 

 
9.869The site is surrounded by fairly low density and low height development, which has 

allowed views of the hi lls and fields to the south to be retained. The centre of the site 
would be most suitable for higher bui ldings, but even here heights of more than 4 storeys 
would be likely to be unsuitable. There is room within the site for the 2 full sized and one 
junior sized playing pitches to continue to be provided, alongside residential development 
and a platform for the Cowley Branchline. 

 
9.8790 The western part of the site, adjacent to Blackbird Leys Road, is most suitable for 

residential development, where it can be better connected to existing residential areas, 
and close to public transport, walking and cycling routes. The site should be reconfigured 
to allow retention and improvement of sports pitches on the eastern part and residential 
development on the western part. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 5.15 hectares/ 12.73 acres 
Ward: Blackbird Leys 
Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current Use: Green open space with sports pitches; vacant car parking area off 

Ambassador Ave. 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

185



152 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Northfield Hostel, Sandy Lane West 
 

 
9.8891 Northfield Hostel was previously in use as accommodation for pupi ls at Northfield 

School. It is now unoccupied and Oxfordshire County Counci l would like to relocate the 
school elsewhere in Oxfordshire. 

 
9.8992 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely delivery 
of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.7 hectares/ 1.73 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Oxfordshire County Counci l 
Current Use: Former Hostel for Northfield Special School (currently unoccupied) 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

186



153 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy 
 

9.903 This site comprises spare land at the edge of is part of the playing fields of Oxford 
Academy. It is at a lower level than the rest of the playfields, and not an intrinsic or well- 
used part of the outdoor sport offer. The site is adjacent to new development at Denny 
Gardens, and there is potential to access the site through Denny Gardens. The site is 
suitable for residential development, which could be employer-linked housing provided for 
employees of the academy trust. 

 
9.914 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
 

Kassam Stadium sites, Grenoble Road 
 

 
9.925This site consists of two plots. Plot A includes the Kassam football stadium and car 

parking. Plot B is to the north east of Plot A and is an overflow car park for the football 
stadium. The sites are located within an area that includes employment, residential, open 
space and commercial leisure and is on the edge of the regeneration area of Blackbird 
Leys. Access is from Grenoble Road and there are a number of public rights of way 
crossing the site. The north east part of Plot A is a former landfi ll si te but there is a high 
potential for archaeological interest on other parts of that plot. 

Site area: 0.58 hectares/ 1.43 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Oxfordshire County Council (Freehold Owner) City Counci l 
Current Use:  School playing field 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Site area: 6.71 hectares/16.58 acres (Plot A) 
2.29 hectares/5.66 acres (Plot B) 

Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Firoka Ltd and Oxford City Council 
Current Use: Football stadium, commercial leisure, food and drink, retail and car parking 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

187



154 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.936The car park is overflow for Oxford United Football Club (OUFC) who consider that the 
land, including that around the stadium, could be used more efficiently by providing the 
car parking in other ways and introducing new development around the stadium. This si te 
is suitable for a variety of uses. A sufficient and appropriate level of car parking should be 
re-provided, but there should be no increase in parking spaces and opportunities should 
be identified to improve sustainable modes of transport to the area. Some small shops 
anci llary to the stadium complex would be suitable providing that they will not act as 
‘destination’ retai l shops. It is important to ensure that any retai l units are of an 
appropriate scale so that they do not conflict with the viability of retai l units in Blackbird 
Leys district centre. 

 
9.947Slow worms are present on sites in surrounding areas. To allow them to move between 

areas a buffer should be retained along the railway corridor. More vulnerable 
development will be expected to be directed away from Flood Zone 3b. 

 
 

9.98 Water supply network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 
anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether upgrades to the water supply capacity 
network are required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any 
such works. 

 
 

Knights Road 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

188



155 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
9.959 This site comprises of some poor quality open space. It is adjacent to Spindleberry 

Nature Park and the Kassam Stadium. The site was allocated for development in the 
Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026. 

 
9.96100 The site is suitable for residential use. Development should enhance the quality and 

safety of the area. The relationship between new development and remaining green 
areas, particularly Spindleberry Park should be carefully considered. More vulnerable 
development will be expected to be directed away from Flood Zone 3b. The site does 
not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the site must be 
assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated or 
compensated for. 

 
9.97101 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 

 
Area of Change: Marston Road 

 
9.98102  Context 

The area around the south west part of Marston Road includes several currently 
underutilised sites with development potential. It is also a sensitive area because of 
proximity to important parks, its proximity to the River Cherwell and the presence of 
several listed bui ldings and some significant archaeological interest as the site is near 
identi fied Civi l War defences and the Fairfax siege line. A visual connection to the 
historic significance of the area remains as the open spaces capture the relationship 
between the parliamentary cease line and no man’s land where firing happened from 
the hi ll down to the town. It is important that development in this area takes place with 
regard to the sensitivities and in a holistic manner. 

Site area: 2.25 hectares/ 5.56 acres 
Ward: Littlemore Northfield Brook 
Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current Use:   Open space 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

189



156 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.99103 The area creates a sense of a breathing space and distinct break with St Clements, 
with both Headington Hill and Marston Road having a relatively wide open street feel. 
This distinctive and positive character should be maintained, but there are also 
opportunities to create a more active street frontage on the eastern side of Marston 
Road and for development to address Headington Park better, creating a better 
relationship between development and the park, and extending the greenery of the park 
through development sites. 

 
9.1004 Key heritage considerations 

Potential impact on the historic character of the Headington Hill, St Clement’s and Iffley 
Road and Beauchamp Lane Conservation Areas. 

 
9.1015 The setting of Listed Buildings including Headington Hill House and St Clement’s 

Church. 
 

9.1026 The importance of the green setting to views from the historic core and across the 
Cherwell Meadow. 

 
9.1037 Visual competition and change of character in elevated views to the east from the city 

centre, obstruction or visual competition and change in character in views to the centre 
from Raleigh Park and South Park. 

 
9.1048 Building heights and density 

Development should make more efficient land, whilst being conscious of the importance 
of the semi-rural setting of the area and heri tage considerations including views within 
the area and out from and in to the historic core. 

 
9.1059 Policy AOC8: Marston Road 

Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the area of change 
where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to deliver the following, 
where relevant: 

• Maintain the heri tage significance of the setting of Headington Hill Hall 
• Maintain the frontage of St Clements Church and ensure the setting is not 

compromised 
• Maintain the rural character of Cuckoo Lane whilst taking opportunities to 

enhance its function as a walking and cycling route. 
• Retain the spacious rural feel. 
• Develop the inactive frontages along the Marston Road 
• Improved connectivi ty between different parts of the area 
• Ensure protection of the New Marston SSSI 

 
Government Buildings and Harcourt House, Marston Road 

 

9.10610 The site is adjacent to student accommodation in John Garne Way and opposite 
academic uses of the Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies (OCIS) a Recognised 
Independent Centre of the University of Oxford. The pedestrian and cycle way of 
Cuckoo Lane runs through the middle of the site and is rural in character enclosed by 

Site area: 2.36 hectares/3.16 5.83 acres 
Ward: Headington Hill and Northway 
Landowner: Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies (OCIS) 
Current use: Storage area for OCIS / Temporary vehicle rental. Army cadets and part 

vacant. 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

190



157 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

mature vegetation. In terms of its ecological features the site is within a wildli fe 
corridor and in the vicinity of a SLINC and within 600m of the New Marston Meadows 
SSSI. It should be retained as a green route as well as being enhanced for cycling and 
walking. The site is adjacent to the Headington Hill and the St Clements and Iffley Road 
Conservation Areas. There is a high potential for archaeological interest as the site is 
near identified Civi l W ar defences and the Fairfax siege line. Any new development 
would be required to demonstrate compliance with the requirements of Policies DH3 
and DH4. 

 
9.10711  OCIS is keen to use this si te as an expansion to their existing site on the opposite 

side of the road for student accommodation, visiting lecturers, staff and their families 
with some anci llary teaching and social space. This type of allocation would enable 
OCIS to focus their development around their existing site. This site is on the Marston 
Road with good public transport links to the city centre and hospitals. Student 
accommodation would be suitable on the part of the site adjacent to existing student 
accommodation. It has There is footpath access from the site along Cuckoo Lane to the 
Oxford Brookes University Headington campus. Consideration must be had of the 
impact of proposals on the Headington Hill Conservation Area. There is no footway 
along Marston Road for part of the site. Any new development should include a footway 
and a pedestrian crossing to integrate the site with the Islamic Centre opposite. 

 
9.10812 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

191



158 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth Student Village 
 

 
9.10913 This site is home to academic and teaching facili ties of Oxford Brookes and student 

accommodation. The entrance to the Headington Hill Hall site is from Headington Hill, 
opposite Oxford Brookes’s main teaching and academic centre at Gipsy Lane. The Clive 
Booth student vi llage stretches down to Marston Road. Oxford Brookes has plans to 
develop this site to create a vibrant academic community with better faci lities for 
students, staff and the community, using the estate more efficiently. As well as enabling 
Oxford Brookes to relocate from their Wheatley campus, it will also contribute to their aim 
of reducing the number of students living outside of university-managed accommodation, 
as a significant increase in the number of student rooms can be accommodated in a 
redeveloped Clive Booth Student Village. 

 
9.1104 Headington Hill Hall and Lodge House are both listed bui ldings and much of the site falls 

within the Headington Hill Conservation Area. The conservation area has a highly 
sensitive relationship with i ts setting. The well-treed slopes of the hill are important to 
the setting of the City Centre Conservation Area in views from the west, making an 
important contribution as the green backdrop in the famous views of the city of 
‘dreaming spires’ and providing a number of features of historic or architectural interest 
in these views. Furthermore, the special historic interest of the conservation area 
includes the abili ty to look out from a number of viewpoints over the city of Oxford and 
towards the ‘dreaming spires’. The character of views over the city and from the historic 
core must be conserved. The grounds of Headington Hill Hall create an attractive 
parkland landscape setting. The site is steeply sloping in parts. Design must in 
accordance with Policy DH3, respond appropriately to the characteristics of the site, 
ensure it has a positive impact on the setting of the listed bui ldings and conservation 
area and the impact on views, particularly from the historic core. Enhancing the 
landscape setting of the site wi ll be particularly important. There are a large number of 
significant mature trees and some important tree groups, many of which will need to be 
preserved. Overall, there must be no loss of tree canopy in the long term. Development 
should have a positive impact on the relationship between buildings and the parkland 
setting. Development that rises above the treeline will need to be very carefully 
considered and justified. The New Marston Meadows SSSI is within 600m of the site and is 

Planning permission will only be granted i f i t can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact on the New Marston Meadows SSSI. 

 
Development proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be 
accompanied by an assessment of groundwater and surface water flows. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. 

 
A biodiversity survey may be required to assess the biodiversity value of the site and 
where appropriate it should be demonstrated how harm will be avoided, mitigated or 
compensated. 

Site area: 10.05 hectares/24.83 acres 
Ward: Headington Hill and Northway 
Landowner: Oxford Brookes 
Current use: Academic institutional and student accommodation 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

192



159 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

sensitive to changes in the flows and quality of water in the river Cherwell  due to it being in 
floodplain. 

 
9.1115 Development proposals should improve the pedestrian and cycle connectivi ty around 

the site, following desire lines between different parts of the site and from Gipsy Lane. 
 

 

 
Land surrounding St Clement’s Church 

 

 
9.1126 The site surrounds the Grade II* listed St. Clement’s Church and its cemetery. It is 

mainly greenfield, with a number of substantial trees that screen the site from the church 
and road. The site also contains Air Training Corps huts on the southern side. The ATC 

 
 
 

   SYMBOL TO BE ADDED 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 1.61 hectares/3.98 acres 
Ward: St Clement’s 
Landowner: Magdalen College 
Current use: Greenfield, green open space 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

193



160 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

huts are a public amenity.• With careful design, scope exists for residential development 
that improves access, permeability, and experience of the site. A small area of the 
western part of the site lies in flood zone 2. The New Marston Meadows SSSI is within 
600m of the site and is sensitive to changes in the flows and quality of water in the river 
Cherwell due to being in its floodplain. There have been issues previously with sewage 
leakages, therefore the network capacity needs to be considered. 

 
9.1137 Careful design development would be required to accommodate development whilst 

conserving and enhancing the Conservation Area and the setting of the Church. The 
Conservation Area appraisal identifies the open character of this part of Marston Road 
and the way in which St Clement’s church is set within a green enclave as key features. 
To conserve this character, development should be set back from Marston Road, and 
kept relatively low. New development must respond to the setting, framing, and 
response to the Grade II* listed church. Due to the heri tage interest of the site, 
development should demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. A new vehicular access 
from Marston Road should be made at the northern part of the site to ensure the more 
sensitive area to the south is protected. 

 
9.1148 There is a still a clear visual relationship between the river and its meadows, the church 

and the green slope of Headington Hill, with views from the church across the Cherwell 
and towards Magdalen College, which should be referenced in new development. The 
southern part of the site lies within the South Park view cone and the impact of 
development on views of the historic core should be carefully considered. 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

194



161 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Area of Change: Old Road 
 

9.1159 Context 
This area includes several hospitals and is also increasingly the focus of medical 
research. It is beneficial to link clinical practice at the hospitals strongly with university 
research. Recent development at the Old Road Campus on the former Park Hospital 
site has introduced cutting-edge medical research facili ties to the area. Faci litating 
further development of medical research, linked to clinical practice carried out in the 
hospitals, is part of the Plan’s strategy. Development in this area should integrate with 
the wider Headington area and should avoid negative impacts from traffic generation. 

 
9.11620 The area is in a sensitive location, having an attractive and important natural setting, 

with tree cover that is important in the views out from the historic core and which 
contributes to the positive character of the area. This is also a residential area, set within 
the urban area of Oxford, and any development must consider how potential negative 
impacts on residents will be avoided; in particular development should avoid traffic 
generation that increases congestion in this already busy area. However, more intensive 
and efficient use of the sites could be made. There are many low bui ldings, and 
predominant heights are 2-4 storeys. 

 
9.11721  Key heritage considerations 

Any impact on the historic character of the Headington Hill, St Clement’s and Iffley Road 
and Beauchamp Lane Conservation Areas. 

 
9.11822 The setting of Listed Buildings including Headington Hill House and St Clement’s 

Church. 
 

9.11923 The importance of the green setting to views from the historic core and across the 
Cherwell Meadow. 

 
9.1204 Visual competition and change of character in elevated views to the east from the city 

centre, obstruction or visual competition and change in character in views to the centre 
from Raleigh Park and South Park. 

 
9.1215 Building heights and density 

More intensive use of sites to make more efficient use of land, especially of surface- 
level car parks and 1-2 storey bui ldings generally 4-5 storeys, potential for some 
buildings up to 24m (higher would need considerable justification and careful design), 
but also some buildings should be low around the edges of the sites in consideration of 
neighbouring uses and the rural setting. 

 
9.1226 Vision Policy AOC9: Old Road 

Planning permission will only be granted for new development within the area of change 
where it can be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities to deliver the following, 
where relevant: 

• Uses should enhance or support use of the area of medical and clinical research 
and practice 

• Intensification should take place on existing sites 
• Many of the sites include large and separated areas of surface-level parking, 

which should be rationalised. 
• Buildings higher than existing will often be appropriate, but at 24m a skylining 

effect will be created, affecting important views out from St Mary’s tower. 

195



162 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Maintain and enhance the natural, rural edge setting along Boundary Brook, 
Warneford Meadow and the Lye Valley along the south and east 
boundary. This is an attractive and important natural setting providing a pleasant 
contrast with the large scale and footprint utili tarian bui ldings of the hospital. 

• Better relate the development si tes with their natural setting, improving access 
and intervisibili ty. 

• New buildings should be inspired by this natural setting in terms of orientation, 
form and materials. 

• A masterplan approach for individual si tes or across the sites is encouraged. 
• New buildings should have active frontages to avoid creating large bui ldings and 

dead, quiet streets. 
• Retain the backdrop of mature trees and views to i t to help new development 

better assimilate into the landscape. 
 

Churchill Hospital Site 
 

 
9.1237 The Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust is confident that their future operational 

requirements can be met on the site through redevelopment and by making more 
efficient use of land. Some areas of the site will no longer be required by the Trust and 
will become available for alternative uses. 

 
9.1248 Many of the current bui ldings on the Churchi ll Site are low-quali ty, single-storey 

buildings and floorspace could be increased on the site by redeveloping these bui ldings 
at an appropriate density and scale. Bui ldings from the original hospital used during the 
Second World War have been retained and these are non-designated heritage assets. 
They make a positive contribution in terms of their visual interest and in providing a 
historical reference to the interesting history of the site. Their value should be 
recognised in future proposals and should be used to inspire and enrich the identi ty, 
character and quali ty of new development on the site. 

 
9.1259 The Plan Strategy focuses hospital related development on the existing sites in 

Headington and Marston. Hospital related uses should remain the main focus of the site. 
Focussing development on existing sites creates opportunities for shared trips to the 
sites which would reduce traffic movement, provide opportunities to reduce parking on 
the site and provide an incentive for improved public transport to the site. This should 
remain the aim for any alternative uses developed on the site. Oxfordshire County 
Council’s Local Transport Plan seeks to reduce car parking on all the hospital si tes within 
Oxford but the City Council would need to be satisfied that any new development would 
not lead to added parking pressure on surrounding residential areas. 

 
9.12630 It would be beneficial for the hospital if the site were to be developed for uses where 

the close proximity of the hospital is important. Employment uses which have a 
particular need to be located close to the hospital, such as pharmaceutical companies 
needing access to patients for research purposes, would be suitable. Employer-linked 
housing that supports the main uses of the site wi ll also be supported. Complementary 
uses which would also be suitable but which should not dominate the new development 
on the site are general residential and student accommodation, because the site is 

Site area: 22.73 hectares/56.17 acres 
Ward: Churchi ll 
Landowner: Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Current use:  Hospital 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

196



163 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

already established for accommodation of those linked to the hospital, it could also be 
used for student accommodation that supports other uses on the site. Retail 
development should be small scale units so as they do not act as destination shops. 

 
9.12731 The site has a natural, rural edge setting with Boundary Brook and Warneford 

Meadow running along the south and west boundaries and the Lye Valley SSSI 
adjacent along the south and east boundary. This is an attractive and important natural 
setting providing a pleasant contrast with the large scale and footprint uti litarian 
buildings of the hospital. There is an opportunity to better relate the site with its natural 
setting, improving access and inter-visibili ty and linkages, and using the natural setting 
to inspire new buildings. Opportunities should also be taken to establish a more direct 
and pleasant route within the site to connect Hi ll Top Road towards Headington, Wood 
Farm and Lye Valley. 

 
9.12832 This is a large site so its redevelopment wi ll inevitably involve creation of many new 

buildings. These should be designed to create active frontages and to avoid creating 
large bui ldings and dead, quiet streets. 

 
9.12933  The site is raised up above the golf course, Warneford Meadow, Lye Valley. 

Therefore height impact of bui ldings must be considered from these surrounding areas. 
 

9.1304 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 
development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
academic institutional; 

 
 

 
Residential development 

 
student accommodation; 

 

 

197



164 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre 
 

9.1315 The Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre is a modern hospital si te with 2 or 3 storey bui ldings. It 
has significant roads on two sides (Old Road and Windmill Road) and adjacent 
residential development to the north and west. Large institutional frontages are set back 
from the roads, with open space mainly in the centre of the site. There is scope for 
intensification of the site with more efficient use of the space, including rationalising car 
park provision, better designed and sited open spaces and potentially increased heights. 

 
9.1326 The Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust would like to undertake further 

improvements to the vacant parts of the site. Hospital related uses should remain the 
primary use of the site. Employer-linked housing that supports the main uses of the site 
wi ll also be supported. Focussing development on existing sites creates opportunities 
for shared trips to the sites which would reduce traffic movement, provide opportunities 
to reduce parking on the site and provide an incentive for improved public transport to 
the site. Oxfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan seeks to reduce car parking 
on all the hospital si tes within Oxford. 

The site would only be suitable for academic insti tutional uses provided that the 
requirements of Policy H9 are met. i t can be demonstrated that there are no more than the 
threshold number of students of the relevant university living outside of university provided 
student accommodation (in accordance with Policy H9). 

 
New buildings should be designed to create active frontages and avoid creating large 
areas of inactive frontage and dead streets. Design should draw inspiration from the non- 
designated heri tage assets, drawing inspiration from them to inspire and enrich the 
identi ty, character and quality of new development on the site. Evidence should be 
provided to demonstrate that there is not a negative height impact from surrounding areas. 

 
Development proposals must not prejudice bus access through the site. Improvements to 
public transport access will be required. The development will be expected to minimise car 
parking spaces on site. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate how the development 
mitigates against traffic impacts and maximises access by alternative means of transport. 
Mitigation measures will be required to ensure that proposals do not lead to increased 
parking pressure on nearby residential streets. Footpaths should be created across the 
site. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the Lye Valley SSSI. Development 
proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be accompanied by 
an assessment of groundwater and surface water. Development proposals must 
incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. Important trees 
should be retained. A buffer zone should be provided during the construction period to 
avoid disturbance to the adjacent SSSI.  

Site area: 8.37 hectares/20.68 acres 
Ward: Headington 
Landowner: Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Current use: Hospital, medical research, vacant previously developed land 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

198



165 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.1337 A more holistically designed and integrated layout creates a more efficient use of land 
and also improves the experience of using the site, especially for pedestrians. New 
development should improve pedestrian and cycle connections into and through the 
site, better integrating the site into the surrounding street network and residential areas. 
Development should better address the surrounding environment. The mature trees and 
greenery fronting Old Road contribute positively to the character of Old Road and 
should be retained. The Rock Edge and Lye Valley SSSI’s are in close proximity to the 
site. There is high potential for archaeological interest as Roman remains have been 
found in the area. 

 
 

Old Road Campus 
 

9.1348 The site is home to Oxford University’s Medical Science Division. Opportunities for 
further development of this use on this site are supported and would comply with the 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 6.41 hectares/15.84 acres 
Ward: Churchi ll 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Medical research 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

199



166 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

strategy of focusing medical research faci lities in Headington. The line of large mature 
trees and the stone wall along the Old Road boundary of the site make a positive 
contribution to the character of Old Road and should be retained. The green corridor 
along Boundary Brook should be maintained and the finger of mature trees and 
vegetation bisecting the site downwards from Old Road should be preserved and 
integrated into any new development on site. The existing stable, house, and stone wall 
at corner of Old Road and Churchi ll Drive tell a story of the heri tage of the site, and best 
efforts should be made to retain them in situ and repurpose/integrate them into new 
development. Any new development should faci litate views towards landmark mature 
trees and green spaces and significant buildings on the site and in the neighbouring 
Churchi ll Hospital site. 

 
9.1359 Scope exists for increases in height of development that makes an intensive and 

efficient use of the remaining land on the site; the existing context of bui lt form on site 
and large tall trees surrounding the boundary helps to mitigate potential impacts of 
height and softens the transition to neighbouring areas. 

 
9.13640 The site is close to a large area of Roman occupation so there is a high potential for 

archaeological interest within the site. 

 
 

Warneford Hospital, Warneford Lane 
 

9.13741  The bui ldings on the site are used by Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust but they 
are in need of major refurbishment or redevelopment to comply with modern NHS 
standards. Replacement of the non-listed bui ldings on the site wi ll be considered as part 
of any scheme but the listed bui ldings should be retained. Development opportunities 
are also constrained by the need to protect the landscaped grounds in front of the main 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Site area: 8.78 hectares/21.7 acres 
Ward: Churchi ll 
Landowner: Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 
Current use:  Hospital, research, playing fields 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

200



167 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

hospital bui ldings, trees on site and the amenity of neighbouring residential properties. 
The site does not include Warneford Meadow which is a registered Town Green. 

 
9.13842 The landowner would like to relocate hospital facili ties into new bui ldings on the 

playing fields. The loss of the sports faci lity is considered justified only due to the need 
for and benefits of new hospital development. The playing fields should be re-provided 
or a contribution made to another facility. The landowner may not require all the playing 
fields for hospital use. Being an existing campus site of Oxford Health NHS Foundation 
Trust, the site would also be suitable for employer-linked housing or student 
accommodation. 

 
9.13943 Development should be designed to enhance the listed buildings and their setting, 

Warneford Meadow and the mature trees and parkland setting. Views across and 
through the site of the historic buildings and of mature trees towards South Park, Old 
Road and the Churchi ll Hospital should be retained. Because of the character of the 
historic buildings and parkland and the semi-rural setting, development of 3-4 storeys is 
likely to be appropriate, subject to careful massing. Lower bui ldings heights to transition 
with the meadow to the south would help to retain the tranquil feel of the orchard and 
meadow. Due to the heri tage interest of the site, development should demonstrate 
compliance with Policy DH3. Opportunity to draw a green link from Warneford Meadow 
into the site should also be considered to assist with biodiversity and legibili ty. 

 
9.144 Both the water supply network capacity and the sewerage network capacity in this area 

are unlikely to be able to support the demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames W ater, funded by the applicant, wi ll be necessary to 
determine whether upgrades to the water supply capacity and sewerage networks are 
required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such works. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
student accommodation; 

 
 

academic institutional; 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

201



168 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Sites Released from Green Belt 

 
9.1405 The City Council considers that exceptional circumstances existed to justi fy alterations 

to the Green Belt boundary, due to the acute housing need, housing affordability and 
inequali ty. The Plan goes as far as possible to identify suitable housing sites within the 
built up area but these can only provide for a relatively small proportion of Oxford’s 
housing needs. The Green Belt Study (LUC, 2017) assessed the potential release of 
sites SP23-SP30 from the Green Belt. These sites have been released from the Green 
Belt because their impact on it ranges from between a low to a moderate impact rating 
on the overall purposes of the Green Belt. The following sites have therefore been 
released from the are in Green Belt and are allocated for development. currently, 
although the Green Belt Review as part of the Local Plan proposes their removal (as 
well as the removal of the land at St Catherine’s College, which is shown on the Polices 
Map as site SP66, but which does not have a detailed site allocation policy because 
development of the site has largely happened as only minor elements are proposed. 
Furthermore, the site is small and separated from the rest of the Green Belt by a wall 
and the removal from Green Belt is intended to formalise the existing situation. 

 
Marston Paddock 

 

9.1416 The site is comprised of a single pasture field with a few trees and shrubs and well-treed 
hedgerows to the east and north. The current urban edge is defined by the residential 
park home site to the north. The site is a contained flat si te with mature trees and 
hedgerows to the north east of the site. 

 
9.1427 The Green Belt Study (LUC 2017) found that the A40 represents a strong barrier 

between the site and the wider countryside to the east and north and the open fields to 
the south/south-east have a degree of separation from the wider countryside. 

The development wi ll be expected to minimise car parking spaces on site. Applicants will 
be expected to demonstrate how the development mitigates against traffic impacts and 
maximises access by alternative means of transport. The playing fields should be re- 
provided or a contribution made to another facili ty. To minimise impact upon the very 
sensitive Lye Valley SSSI, planning permission will only be granted i f i t can be proven that 
there would be no adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the Lye Valley 
SSSI. Development proposals should reduce surface water run off in the area and should 
be accompanied by an assessment of groundwater and surface water. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. 

 
Development must not lead to water supply and sewerage network problems for existing 
or new users. Applicants may need to fund an assessment of water supply and sewerage 
capacity. 

 
Development should not have an adverse impact upon the setting of the Headington Hill 
conservation area. 

Site area: 0.78 hectares/1.93 acres 
Ward: Marston 
Landowner: Aubrey-Fletcher 
Current use: Paddock Land 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

202



169 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.1438 The site is on the edge of Marston vi llage adjacent to existing residential and the Old 
Marston Conservation Area. Low density residential development is considered to be 
possible without harm to the Conservation Area. Careful design will be needed in order 
to ensure that the setting of the Conservation Area is conserved and enhanced. 10% of 
the site will be required for new public open space which should be sited to make 
existing residents feel welcome to use it. 

 
9.1449 Access to the site is via Butts Lane and Church Lane, which are of single carriageway 

width. Proposals for the development of this site would need to demonstrate that access 
arrangements would not be detrimental to highway safety. 

 
 

St Frideswide Farm 
 

 
9.14550 The site comprises mainly arable farmland. It is adjacent to the urban edge of Oxford, 

with fenced and lit tennis courts and hockey pitches to the south and some housing and 
the A4165 to the west. It lies on ground that slopes gently downhill towards the river 
Cherwell in the east and is visually part of extensive farmland to the north and east. 

 
9.14651 The Green Belt Study (LUC, 2017) assessed the potential release of the site from 

Green Belt as having a moderate impact on the overall purposes of the Green Belt. To 
compensate for the loss of Green Belt, connectivi ty and enhancements to surrounding 
sports and recreation and public rights of way should be implemented. 

 
9.14752 Land to the north and east of the site has been proposed as a strategic housing site 

by Cherwell District Council. This would mean that the new Green Belt boundary will be 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 3.95 hectares/ 9.76 acres 
Ward: Wolvercote 
Landowner: Croudace Homes/Christ Church 
Current use:   Arable farmland 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

203



170 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

beyond the strategic housing site. Development within St Frideswide Farm should take 
place with regard to the potential development site to the north, within Cherwell District 
Council. 

 
9.14853   The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the 

site must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated 
or compensated for. The hedgerows should be retained as part of the design where 
possible and to the east a hedgerow boundary with native trees should be established to 
create a boundary with the remaining Green Belt. 10% of the site will be required for 
new public open space which should be sited to make existing residents feel welcome to 
use it. 

 
9.14954 Access to the site would need to be taken from the A4165 Oxford Road. 

 
 

 
Hill View Farm 

 

9.1505 The site is comprised of hedged farmland and riverside meadow with some farm 
buildings, trees and shrubs and some mown areas. The site adjoins the defined urban 
edge at its south-eastern corner, on Mill Lane, next to Hill View Farm house and an 
associated property, which are in the Green Belt but outside of the site. The A40 
Northern Bypass defines the north- eastern edge of the site. 

 
9.1516 There is a slight detachment between the site and the existing urban settlement edge, 

as allotments form the northern tip of the defined urban area. However the bui ldings to 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 3.52 hectares/ 8.7 acres 
Ward: Marston 
Landowner: M K Dogar Limited 
Current use: Greenbelt agricultural bui ldings 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

204



171 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

the south of the allotments, the Bradlands development, are prominent three-storey 
flats, so there is no significant separation between Marston and the site. The sense of 
separation from the urban edge gradually increases with distance from it. The openness 
of the Cherwell Valley, penetrating into the heart of Oxford, makes an important 
contribution to the City’s historic setting and special character, but this parcel is 
peripheral within that area. The river itself meanders westwards along the edge of 
Sunnymead, so the parcel is some distance from the valley floor floodplain, but the 
north-south orientation of the river to the south means that high bui ldings would still 
encroach on the perceived openness of the valley. 

 
9.1527 The site is adjacent to the Old Marston Conservation Area. Careful design will be 

needed in order to ensure that the setting of the Conservation Area is conserved and 
enhanced. Development must be sensitive to both the Green Belt and the character of 
the Old Marston Conservation area. Relatively low-density and low height residential 
development will be required. 

 
9.1538 The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the site 

must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated or 
compensated for. The hedgerows should be retained as part of the design where 
possible. 10% of the site will be required for new public open space which should be 
sited to make existing residents feel welcome to use i t. 

 
9.1549 Access to the site will need to be taken from Mill Lane and localised improvements will 

be required in order to demonstrate that two vehicles can pass each other along the 
duration of Mill Lane. 

 

 
Land West of Mill Lane 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 1.99 hectares/ 4.92 acres 
Ward: Marston 

205



172 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
9.15560 This flat agricultural site is surrounded by mature hedgerow. It forms part of the rural 

edge to Old Marston. 
 

9.15661   The site is in close proximity to the Conservation Area. Consideration should be 
given to the setting of the vi llage. The development of si tes along the northern edge will 
coalesce with A40 and create a new urban edge to the city and vi llage. An access road 
from A40 already exists and there may be opportunities to create a cluster of sites 
around this if adequate separation from the vi llage can be achieved to protect its 
character and setting. Development proposals should have consideration in their design 
of the setting of the village in accordance with the requirements of Policy DH3. 

 
9.15762 Release of 112b-1 in isolation was assessed by the Green Belt study as having 

moderate harm to the Green Belt. Development of this parcel would not represent a 
significant expansion of the urban form and the parcel does not represent a significant 
proportion of the settlement gap between Marston and Sunnymead. Although the 
Cherwell Valley makes an important contribution to the city’s historic setting and special 
character, this site is peripheral within that area. The A40 also limits the relationship of 
this si te with the wider countryside. 

 
9.15863   The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the 

site must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated 
or compensated for. The hedgerows should be retained as part of the design where 
possible. 10% of the site will be required for new public open space which should be 
sited to make existing residents feel welcome to use i t. 

 
9.15964 There are currently two points of access to the site from Mill Lane. Localised 

improvements are likely to be required to Mill Lane in order to demonstrate that two 
vehicles can pass each other along the duration of Mill Lane. 

 
9.1605 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current use: Greenbelt agricultural land 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

206



173 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Park Farm 
 

 
9.1616 The site comprises of a pasture field and a small area of hardstanding contained by a 

dense conifer line. Hedges line Hertford College Recreation Ground to the north and a 
pasture field to the south. It is located between the urban edge of New Marston and the 
buildings of Park Farm. 

 
9.1627 Development of the site would create an area of development beyond a consistent 

boundary line. The impact on the wider Green Belt is limited because of the relatively 
small size of the site and because development would not encroach closer to the river. 
Careful design is required to minimise impacts on the Green Belt. The site is suitable for 
housing development set carefully within the landscape. Consideration should be given 
in design to the impact on views from Headington. 

 
9.1638 The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the site 

must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated or 
compensated for. It is also within 200m of the New Marston Meadows SSSI, which is 
sensitive to changes in the flows and quality of water in the river Cherwell due to being 
in its floodplain. There have been issues previously with sewage leakages; therefore the 
network capacity needs to be considered. The existing hedgerows and trees on the site 
should be retained as part of the design where possible. 10% of the site wi ll be required 
for new public open space which should be sited to make existing residents feel 
welcome to use i t. 

 
9.1649 The site is currently accessed via a private road leading from Edgeway Road, which will 

require localised widening in order to accommodate the development. Consideration will 
also need to be given to the Marston Cycle Path which runs along the site’s eastern 
boundary providing a connection between Marston and the city centre via University 
Parks. 

 
9.16570 Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through the 

sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this si te 
to examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is 
safe). The Level 2 SFRA considered the proposed development was appropriate and 
additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate compliance with 
the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be undertaken through a 
site-specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site specific flood risk 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. 

 
9.16671 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the 
timely delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

Site area: 1.56 hectares/ 3.85 acres 
Ward: Marston 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use:   Green open space 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ3a for sequential test 

207



174 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Pear Tree Farm 
 

9.16772 The site contains the bui ldings of Pear Tree Farm, adjacent mobile phone mast and 
fields. It is contained to the east by the rai lway line and associated vegetation and to the 
southwest by a belt of trees marking the route of a former railway line and the urban 
edge. The contained character of the site and the amount of development within it 
already limit the extent to which any development would be perceived as sprawl and the 
perception of the site as part of the gap between Oxford and Kidlington. 

 
9.16873 The land to the north lies in Cherwell and is safeguarded for potential future 

development. Development of the Pear Tree Farm site should allow for future 
connectivity with any development of the site in Cherwell, which should give potential for 
vehicular, pedestrian and cycle links. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

management plan. 
 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 2.01 hectares/ 4.97 acres 
Ward: Wolvercote 
Landowner: Merton College 
Current use:   Agriculture 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

208



175 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.16974 The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the site 
must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated or 
compensated for. 10% of the site wi ll be required for new public open space which 
should be sited to make existing residents feel welcome to use it. 

 
9.1705 Access to the site could be achieved via the adjacent land to the north, over which 

Merton College has rights of access. 
 

9.176 The sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 
anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether upgrades to the sewerage network 
are required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 

 
9.1717 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
 

 
Land East of Redbridge Park & Ride 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 3.64 hectares/ 8.99 acres 
Ward: Hinksey Park 
Landowner:  Oxford City Council 
Current use:   Greenbelt agricultural land 

209



176 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

9.1728 The site comprises meadow land used for grazing. It has a soft, green riverside edge 
that borders Weirs Mill stream, a tributary of the Thames that runs along the eastern 
edge of the site. This edge planting should be retained, as should views through the site 
to it. 

 
9.1739 The Abingdon and Southern By-Pass roads create considerable noise which would 

need to be ameliorated through careful design and siting of housing. There is a broken 
planting screen at present which should be reinforced whilst retaining the views through 
the site to the landscape beyond. Any development could be medium/high density but 
the height should retain views, giving consideration to the views from Hinksey Hill. 

 
9.17480   The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the 

site must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated 
or compensated for. Consideration should also be given to the location within 200m of 
the Iffley Meadows SSSI, which is sensitive to changes in the flows and quality of water 
in the two arms of the river Thames due to being in its floodplain. 10% of the site wi ll be 
required for new public open space which should be sited to make existing residents 
feel welcome to use i t. 

 
9.17581 W eirs Mill Stream is one of the few locations in the city with potential for new 

residential moorings. These should be provided as part of the development, with access 
through the site to the bankside and necessary servicing provided. 

 
9.17682 Vehicular access to the site would be from Abingdon Road and may require either a 

connection into the existing signalised junction of Abingdon Road/ Old Abingdon Road 
or a connection into the existing traffic signals for the buses accessing the Redbridge 
Park and Ride site opposite. Two points of access would also be required for 
pedestrians and cyclists: one to the west connecting with the bus stops at Park and Ride 
site; and the other to the north connecting with existing bus stops on Abingdon Road. 
The existing cycle track that runs along the western boundary should be retained. 

 

Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

210



177 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
St Catherine’s College Land 

 

 
9.17783 The site is visually separated from for the wider Green Belt by a wall. Some of the 

Green Belt area has already been developed and there is a small remaining parcel of 
undeveloped land. Development could take place without harm to the integri ty and 
purpose of the Green Belt. The site is within the central conservation area and in close 
proximity to listed bui ldings, and the design of development proposals development 
must be designed carefully to preserve and enhance their character in accordance with 
the requirements of Policy DH3. 

 

 
Other sites 

 
Banbury Road University Sites 

 

Planning permission will only be granted if it can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the Iffley Meadow SSSI. 
Development proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be 
accompanied by an assessment of groundwater and surface water. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. A 
buffer zone should be provided during the construction period to avoid disturbance to the 
SSSI. 

Site area: 0.61 hectares/1.51 acres 
Ward: Holywell 
Landowner: St Catherine’s College 
Current use:   Academic Insti tutional 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 1.95 hectares/4.81 acres (Plot A) 
0.52 1.19 hectares/1.28 2.94 acres (Plot B) 

211



178 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 

9.17884 This site comprises three separate plots close to each other, in two distinct areas. 
They are currently in academic use. Plot A includes some staff housing and student 
accommodation. There is high potential for prehistoric and Roman archaeological 
interest. 

 
 

9.17985   Many of the buildings contribute to the character of the North Oxford Victorian 
Suburb conservation area or are listed. The two areas to the north are historically part of 
the late C19/early C20 development of North Oxford by St John’s College and retain 
evidence of the planned “setting out” of this part of the city at that time with large 
detached or semi-detached vi llas set back from the street behind boundary walls and 
the remains of front gardens. The area to the south sits immediately to the north of the 
grade II* listed The Old Parsonage. The pair of late C19 vi llas that front Banbury Road 
are listed and form an important group up to and including No 21 Banbury Road. They 
would need to be retained in any future development proposal, and any new designs 
would be expected to comply with Policy DH3. 

 
9.1806 Any major redevelopment is unlikely to be suitable but there is some potential to 

intensify the existing use whilst respecting both plot patterns and boundary treatments. 
Development should be of a scale that respects the surrounding bui ldings. 

 
9.1817 Further academic uses on the site would help focus these uses onto existing sites in line 

with the strategy. Plots A and C lie within an area with potentially high groundwater. 

 

Ward: 
0.64 hectare/1.58 acres (Plot C) 
North 

Landowner: University of Oxford and Hertford College 
Current use: Non- residential institution, staff housing, student accommodation 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

Policy SP312: Banbury Road University Sites 
 
 
 
 
Planning permission will be granted for academic institutional uses, student 
accommodation, and/or residential development employer-linked housing at the Banbury 
Road University Sites. Residential development could include employer-linked affordable 
housing in accordance with Policy H3. The minimum number of homes to be delivered is 
60. Other complementary uses will be considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 

 
The site would only be suitable for redevelopment or addition of academic insti tutional 
uses provided that the requirements of Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that 
there are no more than the threshold number of students of the relevant university living 
outside of university provided student accommodation (in accordance with Policy H9). 

 
Development must retain and enhance the listed buildings. Careful design must ensure 
that development proposals contribute towards the character of the conservation area and 
preserve and enhance nearby listed bui ldings and their setting. 

212



179 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 

Bertie Place Recreation Ground and Land Behind Wytham Street 
 

 
9.1828 This site is comprised of two separate plots. Plot A is a public recreation ground and 

Plot B is overgrown land formerly used for landfill. Plot A is suitable for a new primary 
school if one is required. It is also suitable for residential development. Plot B is suitable 
only for a replacement recreation ground and school playing fields. 

 
9.18391 Vehicular access to Plot A must be taken via Bertie Place and a suitable turning head 

must be provided within the development.. Pedestrian access to the site should be 
provided from Bertie Place, from the pathway at the northern end of the site off Wytham 
Street, and from the alleyway between 378 and 380 Abingdon Road. The National Cycle 
Network Route 5 currently passes through the site and development proposals should 
either provide for its retention or replacement by a suitable alternative route. The new 
recreation ground on Plot B should include the provision of pedestrian links from both 
Bertie Place and Wytham Street via John Towle Close. 

 
9.18492   There is potential for there to be slow worms on the site. These are protected 

species, although their habitats are not, and if found they can be relocated to alternative 
sites. Slow worm sites should not be isolated from other potential wi ldlife corridors so, if 
they are able to be retained on site, a buffer should be retained along the river and 
railway corridors. The Iffley Meadows SSSI is located within 600m east of the site to 
the . It is sensitive to changes in the flows and quali ty of water in the two arms of the 
Rriver Thames due to being in its floodplain, and as such it can be impacted by 
contamination through surface water runoffs. 

 
9.18593 Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justified through the 

sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this si te 
to examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is 
safe). The Level 2 SFRA considered the proposed development was appropriate and 
additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate compliance with 
the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be undertaken through a 

Pedestrian and cycle links should be enhanced through Plots A and C and to the 
University Science Area and Radcliffe Observatory Quarter. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the New Marston SSSI. 
Development proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be 
accompanied by an assessment of groundwater and surface water. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. 
All proposals should minimise impact on air quality during construction phase and after 
implementation, particularly if they comprise of employment uses. 

Site area: 0.66 hectares/1.63 acres (Plot A) 
2.60 hectares/6.42 acres (Plot B) 

Ward: Hinksey Park 
Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current use: Recreation Ground and vacant land 
Flood Zone: FZ3a for sequential test (for whole site) 

213



180 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

site-specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site specific flood risk 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. It is recognised that the FRA may not be able to 
demonstrate a dry risk/ very low hazard rating route to dry land. Therefore in order to 
achieve safe access and/ or egress for this si te to satisfy the Exception Test there may 
be a greater reliance on on-site measures, emergency planning, and evacuation 
procedures alongside offsi te mitigation to ensure that it is safe for i ts lifetime taking 
account of the vulnerabili ty of i ts users without increasing the burden on emergency 
services. Development should be made safe by mitigating the potential impacts of 
development through design and resilient construction measures. It should be designed 
and constructed such that the health and welfare of people is appropriately managed. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

214



181 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Canalside Land, Jericho 

 

 
9.18694 This former boatyard and workshop site has been vacant and derelict since 2006. 

Part of the site to the north is sti ll used by a boat hire faci lity while garages and open 
space occupy the land owned by the City Counci l. The site is in a sensitive area within 
the Jericho conservation area and adjacent to the Grade 1 listed St Barnabas Church. 

 
9.18795  Having been the previous site for a boatyard, and with the capacity to accommodate 

it, this site is considered suitable to replace these faci lities. The operating boatyard 
should include a wet dock, and allow craneage for narrowboats with possible supporting 
chandlery and associated workshop faci lities. Other uses that should be provided on the 
site are residential, a sustainably sized community centre, a public open space or 
square and a new bridge over the canal for pedestrians and cyclists. The canal hire 
base at the northern part of the site should be retained. 

 
9.18896 Building heights should reflect the form and scale of surrounding development, 

particularly surrounding the area of public open space and should not exceed 3 storeys. 
Finished design should respect the waterfront heritage of the site, the conservation area 
and Grade 1 Listed Building. Potentially the wall separating the Church and the 
proposed new square can be demolished to open up the square and views of the Grade 
1 listed bui lding. Designs would be expected to be in compliance with the requirements 
of Policy DH3. 

 
9.18997 Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justified through the 

sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this site 
to examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is 
safe). The Level 2 SFRA considered the proposed development was appropriate and 
additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate compliance with 
the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be undertaken through a 
site-specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site specific flood risk 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. It is recognised that the FRA may not be able to 
demonstrate a dry risk/ low hazard rating route to dry land.  Therefore in order to 
achieve safe access and/ or egress for this si te to satisfy the Exception Test there may 
be a greater reliance on on-site measures, emergency planning, and evacuation 
procedures, alongside offsite mitigation, to ensure that it is safe for its lifetime taking 
account of the vulnerabili ty of i ts users without increasing the burden on emergency 
services. Development should be made safe by mitigating the potential impacts of 
development through design and resilient construction measures. It should be designed 
and constructed such that the health and welfare of people is appropriately managed. 

 
9.1908 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 

Site area: 0.49 hectares/1.21 acres 
Ward: Jericho and Osney 
Landowner: Administrators, Oxford City Counci l, Canal & River Trust British Waterways, 
Church of England 
Current use: Part boat hire base, garages, open space, derelict workshops, boat repair 

yard 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ3a for sequential test 

215



182 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
 

Court Place Gardens, Iffley Village 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 3.89 hectares/9.61acres 
Ward: Rose Hill and Iffley 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: University of Oxford graduate housing 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ3a for sequential test 

216



183 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.1919 This site is currently poor quali ty graduate student accommodation. There is a listed 
building on the site and the existing development does not enhance the setting of the 
listed bui lding or the conservation area. The west side of the site is open space with 
dense tree coverage and should not be developed. 

 
9.192200 There is potential to make better use of the site whilst respecting and improving the 

setting of the listed bui lding. Development designs would be expected to comply with 
the requirements of Policy DH3. The existing graduate student accommodation should 
be replaced with new graduate accommodation or with residential dwellings, which may 
include employer-linked affordable housing, or a mix of both uses. The site is not within 
an area that satisfies the student accommodation Policy HP4 so there should be no net 
increase in students living on the site. Opportunities should be explored to open up 
footpaths for pedestrians through the site. More vulnerable development will be 
expected to be directed away from the portion of the site within Flood Zone 3b. The site 
is almost directly adjacent to the Iffley Meadows SSSI, which is sensitive to changes in 
water quality and surface water flows due to its location within a floodplain. 

 
9.193201 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the 
timely delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
Cowley Marsh Depot, Marsh Road 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 1.70 hectares/4.20 acres 
Ward: Cowley Marsh 
Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current use:   City works depot 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

217



184 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.194202 The site is currently in use as a depot by the City Counci l, which is likely to relocate. 
Due to the bulk and nature of the existing depot, the redevelopment of the site should 
help improve the setting of Cowley Marsh Recreation Ground, provided that it is well 
designed, and is likely to lead to a reduction in vehicle movements. The site is suitable 
for residential development. 

 
 

Faculty of Music, St Aldates 
 

 
9.195203 The site is currently occupied by the University of Oxford’s Faculty of Music which is 

due to be relocated to the Radcli ffe Observatory Quarter si te. The current Faculty of 
Music site is a sensitive location as i t backs onto Christ Church meadow, is in a 
Conservation area and is close to the listed bui ldings of Christ Church College. Care will 
be needed in design in order to demonstrate that the setting of the listed bui ldings and 
Conservation Area are conserved and enhanced. There is a high potential for 
archaeological interest such as the site of the Crutched Friars. Careful design will be 
needed to conserve and enhance the setting, and proposals would be required to 
demonstrate compliance with Policies DH3 and DH4. 

 
9.196204 The site is si tuated on St Aldate’s and is unlikely to be suitable for uses that require 

parking or generate much traffic. Continuing the academic use of the site would be most 
appropriate and the incorporation of some student accommodation in this city centre site 
would be suitable. 

 
9.197205 Residential use within this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through the 

sequential test although policies in the Core Strategy relating to development in the 
flood plain will also need to be complied with. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.32 hectares/0.79 acres 
Ward: Holywell 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Academic institutional 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

218



185 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Former Barns Road East Allotments 
 

 
9.198206 The site is comprised of disused allotments, with some trees and shrubs and some 

mown areas. There is currently no vehicular access to the site with pedestrian and cycle 
access achievable via Kersington Crescent to the north. To the south of the site there is 
a cycle track which can be accessed via Barns Road. Access to the site could be 
achieved with the demoli tion and reconfiguration of the layout of one of the existing 
blocks of flats on Kersington Crescent. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.5 hectares/ 1.24 acres 
Ward: Cowley 
Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current use: Disused allotments/garden area 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 

219



186 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields 
 

9.199207 The former Iffley Meads Playing Fields were once part of St Augustine School. The 
adjacent school is now the Iffley Academy, which uses the adjacent playing fields, but 
not the Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields site. The site is currently and has been for 
many years a disused, fenced off grassed area. The site is in a largely residential area 
and is suitable for residential development. The site could be used for employer-linked 
housing, as long as it is the only County Council si te brought forward for this use. 

 
9.208 j,Further evidence is required on whether the site is surplus to recreational/ sports 

requirements and school requirements. There is need to negotiate access via adjoining 
land, as access to site is currently via school which is accessed via Augustine Way. 

 
9.2009 A minimum of 10% of the site should be for public open space which should be 

accessible for existing residents. It is likely that this space will be best provided as an 
extension to Donnington Recreation Ground. The development should be designed to 
ensure active frontages face onto the open space. The site does not have any 
biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the site must be assessed as part of 
a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated or compensated for. 

 
9.20110 The site is currently can be accessed via the Iffley Academy School situated off 

Augustine Way. Any redevelopment of the site would need to ensure that access to the 
site can be achieved without being detrimental to the school. 

 

Site area: 2.04 hectares/ 5.04 acres 
Ward: Rose Hill and Iffley 
Landowner: Oxfordshire County Counci l 
Current use: Former School Playing Field 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

220



187 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Grandpont Car Park 
 

9.20211 The site comprises of a surface-level car park used as a remote car park by County 
Council staff. It is a narrow, linear si te screened on all sides by tall trees. The site is in a 
largely residential area and is suitable for residential development. The site could be 
used for employer-linked housing, as long as it is the only County Council si te brought 
forward for this use. The development must be designed with consideration to the rural 
and open character of the publicly valuable and accessible open space to the north. 
Tree screening should be retained as far as possible. 

 
9.20312 Access would need to be through the existing relatively narrow street network. As the 

site is used currently as a car park, development of the site is likely to lead to a 
reduction in vehicular access movements. 

 

Jesus College Sports Ground, Herbert Close 
 

 
9.20413 This site is private open space currently an open, grassed field occupied by a number 

of sports pitches with small ancillary structures associated with the sports activities. The 
site is to the south east of Bartlemas Close, which is a historic lane. A hedgerow 
provides a distinct break both physicaland visual between the settlement of Bartlemas 
and the wider Bartlemas conservation area and the site. 

 
9.20514 Views of and from Bartlemas are restricted due to vegetation and bui ldings; however 

development of the site would inevitably have some impact on the sense of rural 
isolation that the current undeveloped playing fields reinforce. Therefore, any 

proposals will be expected to incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems and may 
be required to be accompanied by a groundwater study. 

Site area: 0.44 hectares/ 1.09 acres 
Ward: Hinksey Park 
Landowner: Oxfordshire County Counci l 
Current use: County council ground level parking 
Flood Zone: FZ2 

 
 
 
 

Site area: 0.55 hectares/ 1.36 acres 
Ward: Cowley Marsh 
Landowner: Jesus College 
Current use: Private sports pitch 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

221



188 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

development would need to be designed with bui ldings of form, massing (roof profiles) 
height and façade materials that allow the bui lt forms to recede in the backdrop to views 
from and across Bartlemas. In addition, landscape design would need to be a 
fundamental consideration at the earliest design stage, to enhance the contribution that 
existing trees and hedgerows make to the rural setting of the Bartlemas settlement, 
listed bui ldings and the conservation area. All elements of the design would be 
assessed for compliance with the requirements of Policies DH2, DH3 and DH4. 
Development should result in enhancement of the hedgerow along the southern side of 
the lane. 

 
9.20615 In the light of Policy H8’s approach to locating student accommodation, the site is not 

suitable for student accommodation as i t is not directly adjacent to a main thoroughfare, 
within the city centre or a district centre or on an existing teaching campus. Residential 
development would be an appropriate use on this site. The loss of the sports facili ty is 
considered justified because of the need for and benefi ts of new housing. Public sports 
faci lities should be reprovided or facili ties nearby improved to increase capacity to 
match that which has been lost. 

 
9.20716 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

222



189 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

John Radcliffe Hospital Site 
 

 
9.20817 The Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust is confident that their future operational 

requirements can be met on the site through redevelopment and by making more 
efficient use of land. Some areas of the site will no longer be required by the Trust for 
hospital uses and will become available for alternative uses. Proposals must consider 
their impact upon the Old Headington Conservation Area, ensuring that their design 
complies with the requirements of Policy DH3. 

 
9.20918 The Core Strategy Local Plan focuses hospital related development on the existing 

sites in Headington and Marston. Hospital related uses should remain the main focus of 
the site. Focussing development on existing sites creates opportunities for shared trips 
to the sites which would reduce traffic movement, provide opportunities to reduce 
parking on the site and provide an incentive for improved public transport to the site. 
This should remain the aim for any alternative uses developed on the site. Oxfordshire 
County Counci l’s Local Transport Plan seeks to reduce car parking on all the hospital 
sites within Oxford. 

 
9.2109 It would be beneficial for the hospital if the site was developed for uses where the 

proximity of being adjacent to the hospital is important. Employment uses which have a 
particular need to be located close to the hospital, such as pharmaceutical companies 
needing access to patients for research purposes, would be suitable. It would also be 
beneficial to locate primary healthcare and a patient hotel on the site. Employer-linked 
housing that supports the main uses of the site wi ll also be supported. Complementary 
uses which would also be suitable but which should not dominate the new development 
on the site are general residential and student accommodation. Retail development 
should be small scale units so as to not act as destination shops. 

 
9.21120 This site is within an area where development is likely to exacerbate surface and/or 

foul water flooding. There is an opportunity to address excess of runoff at the John 
Radcliffe Hospital site by ensuring that any development at the site reduces rather than 
maintains existing levels. This could take the form of ponds, wetlands or an on-site 
attenuation feature. 

 
 
 

Site area: 27.75 hectares/68.57 acres 
Ward: Headington 
Landowner: Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Current use:  Hospital 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 

223



190 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Land at Meadow Lane 
 

 
9.21221 The site comprises of land used for horse grazing, with some trees and shrubs. The 

site si ts within the Iffley village envelope and has potential for some sensitive housing 
infill. Any development proposals would be expected to conserve and enhance the 
unique characteristics of the Iffley conservation area in order to comply with the 
requirements of Policies DH2 and DH3. This should conserve and enhance the unique 
characteristics and appearance of the Iffley conservation area. The bui lding line should 
be followed on the frontage and the semi-rural frontage on Church Way should be 

i. further hospital related uses, including the redevelopment of existing bui ldings to provide 
improved facili ties on the John Radcli ffe Hospital Site. 

 
ii. Other suitable uses which must have an operational link to the hospital and are: 

 employment B1(b), B1(c) and B2; 
 patient hotel; 
 extra care accommodation, including elderly persons accommodation; 
 primary health care; 
 employer-linked  housing; 
 education; 
 academic institutional 

 
iii. Complementary acceptable uses: 

 residential  development; 
 employer-linked affordable housing; 
 student accommodation; 
 small scale retai l units provided that they are anci llary to the hospital; 

Other complementary uses will be considered on their merits. Planning permission will not 
be granted for any other uses. 

 
Careful design must ensure that development proposals contribute towards the character 
of the conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby listed bui ldings and their 
setting. 

 
Development proposals must not prejudice bus access through the site. Improvements to 
public transport, and walking and cycling access and the reduction in car parking provision 
on site wi ll be required and where required by Policy M2 this should be set out within a 
transport assessment or travel plan and reflected in the agreed masterplan. in accordance 
with Oxfordshire County Counci l’s Local Transport Plan. 

 
A drainage strategy will need to be produced by the developer in liaison with the City 
Council, Thames Water and the Environment Agency, to establish the appropriate 
drainage mitigation measures for any development. Planning permission will only be 
granted if sufficient drainage mitigation measures are incorporated into the design of 
proposals. 

Site area: 0.989 hectares/2.443 acres 
Ward: Iffley Fields 
Landowner: Donnington Hospital Health Trust 
Current use:   Grassland/pony paddock 
Flood Zone: FZ3b 

224



191 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

retained, as well as the stone wall boundary and trees, particularly at Church W ay. 
Development should be relatively low- density and two-storey with front and rear 
gardens and stone-walled boundaries. The impact of development on views through the 
riverside edge landscape of the Cherwell meadows to the west, and views back to Iffley 
from the west should be considered. 

 
9.21322 Access to the site can be achieved from Church Way or Meadow Lane. There is an 

existing field gate access to the site from Church Way. A biodiversity survey has found 
that the site does not meet the criteria for an Oxford City Wildli fe Site. However, the 
biodiversity value of the site and impact of development understood, avoided and 
mitigated or compensated for. 

 
9.21423 Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through the 

sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this si te 
to examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is 
safe). The Level 2 SFRA considered the proposed development was appropriate and 
additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate compliance with 
the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be undertaken through a 
site-specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site specific flood risk 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. 

 
9.21524 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
Lincoln College Sports Ground, Bartlemas Close 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Site area: 2.34 hectares/5.78 acres 
Ward: Cowley Marsh 
Landowner: Lincoln College 

225



192 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

9.21625  The site is currently private open air sports facili ties for Lincoln College who consider 
it surplus to requirements as they plan to share the pitch of Jesus College to the north. 
The site has limited access to outside groups on an ad hoc basis. The site lies off the 
north-eastern side of Cowley Road to the north east of a suburban housing block that 
sits between Bartlemas Close, Belvedere Road, Kenilworth Avenue and Barracks Lane. 

 
9.21726 Residential development would be an appropriate use on this si te. The loss of the 

majority of the sports faci lity is considered justified because of the need for and benefi ts 
of new housing. Sports provision must be retained unless an alternative provision is 
made or contributions are made to improving a local facili ty such that its capacity 
increase replaces what is lost. If an alternative site is found then 10% of the site wi ll be 
required for new public open space which should be sited to make existing residents 
feel welcome to use i t. 

 
9.21827 Any development should be designed with bui ldings of form, massing (roof profiles) 

height and façade materials that allow the bui lt forms to recede in the backdrop to views 
from and across Bartlemas. In addition, landscape design would need to be a 
fundamental consideration at the earliest design stage, to enhance the contribution that 
existing trees and hedgerows make to the rural setting of the Bartlemas settlement, listed 
buildings and the conservation area and as a result development should demonstrate 
compliance with Policy DH3. Development should result in enhancement of the 
hedgerow along the southern side of the lane. 

 
9.21928 The treatment of landscape at the perimeter of the sites must be given consideration 

where the impact on the setting of Bartlemas and on the setting of the listed bui ldings 
within the settlement must be an important consideration in the design process. 

 
9.2209 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. Any investigations 
required are to be funded by the applicant. 

 
9.230 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network 
is required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 

 

Current use: Private sports pitch 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 

  
 

 

 

226



193 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Littlemore Park, Armstrong Road 
 

9.22131 The site is within a predominantly employment area close to Littlemore and 
Sandford-on-Thames and is accessed off Armstrong Road. There are some trees on the 
west end of the site. 

 
9.22232 The Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust would like to focus employment that is 

linked to the hospitals, such as pharmaceutical research, onto hospital sites, in 
particular the Churchill Hospital site. The policy for the Churchi ll Hospital site (SP9) and 
the John Radcliffe Hospital (SP24) includes provision for employment to faci litate this 
relocation. If this could be achieved, the Littlemore Park site would be most suitable to 
delivering new residential development. 

 
9.22333 The site is adjacent to listed hospital bui ldings so the impact on these bui ldings and 

their setting must be considered. As a result, development should also demonstrate 
compliance with Policy DH3The existing ecological provision on the site must be 
understood and enhanced. Landscaping should consider the brook to the south of the 
site. The former playing field should be relocated or facili ties improved elsewhere. 
Because of the listed bui ldings and importance of landscape to their setting, 
development of medium density and height is likely to be suitable. 

 
9.22434   The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the 

site must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated 
or compensated for. 

 
9.22535 A pedestrian and cycle route across the site, as indicated on the Proposals Map, 

should be included as part of any development on the site. Residential development 
would be very segregated from neighbouring communities so adequate pedestrian and 
cycle links must be incorporated. These should consider access to the railway and 
connectivity to the business park site to the south, and to the vi llage. More vulnerable 
development will be expected to be directed away from Flood Zone 3b. 

The sports provision pitch must be retained on the open space unless the loss of the 
sports provision can be otherwise compensated for in line with the requirements of Policy 
G5 an alternative suitable site is found. If an alternative site is found the City Counci l must 
be satisfied that i t wi ll be delivered. The Lincoln College Sports Ground site wi ll sti ll be 
expected to provide 10% new public open space as part of the residential development. 

 
Careful design must ensure that development proposals contribute towards the character 
of the Bartlemas Conservation Area and preserve and enhance nearby listed buildings 
and their setting. Development proposals should encourage active frontages onto 
Barracks Lane and the new public open space. The new public open space should be 
located along the frontage adjacent to the Conservation Area. Development should be 
designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the Lye Valley SSSI. 

Site area: 65.44 hectares/13.44 15.4 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust 
Current use:  Vacant previously developed land 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

227



194 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.22636 Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through the 
sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this si te 
to examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is 
safe). The Level 2 SFRA considered the proposed development was appropriate and 
additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate compliance with 
the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be undertaken through a 
site-specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site specific flood risk 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. 

 
9.22737 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the 
timely delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. Any investigations 
required are to be funded by the applicant. 

 
9.238 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network 
is required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 

 
 

Manor Place 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

228



195 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
9.22839   This site consists of a mix of disused hard and grass tennis courts, abandoned 

private allotments and an orchard. It is a sensitive site as it is close to a number of listed 
buildings, the Holywell Cemetery and within the Central Conservation Area with a 
number of large trees on site. Any development would need to ensure that there was no 
adverse impact upon the setting of the listed bui ldings and the Central conservation 
area. There is high potential for archaeological interest on the site with Civil War 
defences having been excavated previously. Due to the heritage and archaeological 
significance of the site, development will need to demonstrate compliance with Policy 
DH3 and Policy DH4. 

 
9.22940 The most appropriate vehicular access would be to widen and extend the existing 

pedestrian and cycle access from Manor Place to the north of the site, incorporating 
land in Merton College’s ownership. Access via Holywell Mill Lane to the south is 
unlikely to be deliverable as it is not under the control of Merton College and the visibi lity 
at the junction with St Cross Road is substandard. 

 
9.23041 In order to minimise traffic movements, the most appropriate uses for the site are 

either student accommodation or car free residential. The loss of the former sports 
faci lity is considered justi fied only due to the need for and benefits of new housing or 
student accommodation. 

 
9.23142 Residential use of the site in Flood Zone 3a has been justified through the sequential 

test. The site satisfied all but one part of the Exception Test (relating to reducing overall 
flood risk) but this remaining part would be difficult to fulfi l until the proposed 
development is designed. A site specific flood risk assessment is needed before the 
criterion for residential use can be firmly satisfied. The site is also within 200m of the 
New Marston Meadows SSSI, which is sensitive to changes in the flows and quali ty of 
water in the river Cherwell due to being in its floodplain. There have been issues 
previously with sewage leakages; therefore the network capacity needs to be 
considered. 

 
9.23243 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 
As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the 
timely delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
 
 

Site area: 1.24 hectares/3.06 acres 
Ward: Holywell 
Landowner: Merton College 
Current use: Vacant former tennis courts, allotments and orchard 
Flood Zone: FZ2 but FZ1 for sequential test 

 
 
 
 
 

 

229



196 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Manzil Way Resource Centre 
 

 
9.23344 The site comprises of low-rise buildings, with car parking and small areas of grass 

and trees. The site is used for adult mental health therapy activity and associated 
administration. The Oxford Health NHS Trust’s ongoing review of healthcare facili ties 
might find that this si te is needed, but it is more likely that additional need will be 
incorporated into W arneford or Littlemore sites, which have capacity. This site is a 
suitable site for a healthcare faci lity or for residential development. This site is one of 
only a few sites owned by the Oxford Health NHS Trust, and also presents an 
opportunity for them to develop employer-linked housing on the site. 

 
 

Nielsen, London Road 
 

 
Careful design must ensure that development proposals contribute towards the character 
of the conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby listed bui ldings and their 
setting. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the New Marston SSSI. 
Development proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be 
accompanied by an assessment of groundwater and surface water flows. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. A 
buffer zone should be provided during the construction period to avoid disturbance to the 
SSSI. 

 
A planning application must be accompanied by a site-specific flood risk assessment and 
development should incorporate any necessary mitigation measures. 

Site area: 0.75 hectares/ 1.85 acres 
Ward: St Clement’s 
Landowner: Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 
Current use: Healthcare, offices, restaurant/café and flats 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Site area: 4.84 hectares/11.96 acres 

230



197 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
9.23445 This site contains an office development which only occupies a small proportion of 

the site. There is an opportunity to use this site more efficiently by introducing further 
development. Residential would be the most appropriate. The frontage onto the A40 
could create a landmark as a gateway into the city. 

 
9.23546 As a Category 2 Employment site, any redevelopment would be expected to retain or 

increase the existing level of employment (employees) on site. This could be achieved 
by a replacement employment generating use. Small scale employment units, whi lst 
potentially having a lower employee density than the existing use, would create a 
greater range of job opportunities in line with the Core Strategy. 

 
9.247 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network 
is required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 

 
 

Ward: Quarry and Risinghurst 
Landowner: Shaviram Group 
Current use:    Employment (B1) 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

231



198 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Old Power Station 
 

 
9.23648 This site consists of an old power station which is owned and occupied by the 

University of Oxford, used currently mainly for storage. The City Council granted 
planning permission in 1969 for the change of use of the site for education purposes. 
The site is suitable for student accommodation and housing, including employer- linked 
housing, or for intensification of i ts current academic use. The site is on the Oxford 
Heritage Asset Register. The power station was bui lt at Cannon Wharf in 1892 for the 
Oxford Electric Company Ltd, with coal and cooling water supplied by the river. It 
continued in operation as the city’s main source of electrici ty unti l 1969. The bui lding 
illustrates the development of West Oxford as an industrial suburb with large industrial 
building set amongst the narrow streets of housing that continued to be built up to the 
end of the 19th century. Development should reflect the heritage interest of the site. 

 
9.23749 The site is directly adjacent to the boundary of the Osney Island Conservation area, 

which derives i ts unique character from the well preserved Victorian bui ldings that have 
had limited 20th Century intervention. Any proposals should have regard to this setting 
and to the visual impact development this si te would have on the character of the 
area. Due to the heri tage interest of the site, development should demonstrate 
compliance with Policies DH3 and DH5. 

 
9.23850 Residential development at this site in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through the 

sequential test. A Level 2 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment was carried out for this si te 
to examine part b) of the Exception Test (which relates to whether the development is 
safe). The Level 2 SFRA considered the proposed development was appropriate and 
additional mitigation and/ or analysis may be required to demonstrate compliance with 
the Exception Test at the planning application stage. This is to be undertaken through a 
site-specific FRA supporting the planning application. The site specific flood risk 
assessment must demonstrate how the development will be safe otherwise planning 
permission will not be granted. 

 
9.23951  The allocation proposes development including residential, (this is more vulnerable 

use based on the flood vulnerabi lity classification). Care should therefore be taken when 
deciding where best to locate different elements of the development. In view of the flood 
risk issues at the site, ground raising may be required to raise certain parts of the site. 

 
9.24052 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

Applicants will be required to demonstrate that there is adequate waste water capacity 
both on and off the site to serve the development and that i t would not lead to problems 
for existing or new users. 

Site area: 0.32 hectares/0.79 acres 
Ward: Holywell 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use:    Mainly storage 
Flood Zone: FZ3b 

232



199 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Oriel College Land at King Edward Street and High Street 
 

9.24153  This site consists of a number of properties including a listed bui lding. As a city 
centre location, the site is suitable for a number of uses although with the ground floor 
designated as a mix of primary, secondary and street specific frontages, Class A uses 
should be maintained here subject to Local Plan policies. Any development would need 
to ensure that there was no adverse impact upon the setting of the listed bui lding and 
conservation area, and therefore should demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 

 
9.24254 The site is 600m from the Magdalen Grove SSSI, however this is a geological site 

and as such i t would only be subject to impacts in the case of a direct land take. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.26 hectares/0.64 acres 
Ward: Holywell 
Landowner: Oriel College 
Current use: Mix of A1, A2, A3, A4, B1 and C2 uses 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

233



200 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Oxford Brookes University Marston Road Campus 
 

 
9.24355 The site comprises of the former Milham Ford School, which closed in 2003 and is 

currently in use as the Oxford Brookes Marston Road Campus. Oxford Brookes may 
cease educational use on the site and to dispose of it within the Plan period, in which 
case the site would be suitable for residential use. Access to the site is via Mary Price 
Close and McCabe Place off Harberton Mead and from Jack Straw’s Lane, which is 
likely to be the most suitable access if the site is redeveloped. 

 
9.24456   The former school bui lding, bui lt in the late 30s, early 40s is an imposing bui lding, 

built in a neo Georgian style with a triangular stone portico containing a carved Oxford 
crest. Four tall elegant Cotswold limestone Ionic columns surround the front door. All the 
red brickwork of the original 1939 building has the attractive chevron or diamond 
pattern, adding to the striking symmetry of the frontage. The site lies within the setting of 
the Headington Hill Conservation Area and it has an important relationship to the 
conservation area. Therefore, development should demonstrate compliance with Policy 
DH3. 

 
9.24557 The tree and hedge lined boundaries along Jack Straws Lane and Harberton Mead 

are important features of the character of the area. 
 

9.24658 The site is adjacent to the Milham Ford Nature Park, on the site of the former school 
playing fields. The strong relationship between the bui lding and landscaped setting of the 
open space should be retained. The Nature Park includes areas of formal play and a 
tapestry of habitats. The New Marston Meadows SSSI is within 600m of the site and is 
sensitive to changes in the flows and quality of water in the river Cherwell due to being 
in its floodplain. There have been issues previously with sewage leakages, therefore the 
network capacity needs to be considered. 

 
9.24759 Development proposals should be carefully considered, giving regard to the form of 

the existing bui lding and the impact on the green setting of the Nature Park. 

 

Site area: 1.18 hectares/ 2.92 acres 
Ward: Headington Hill and Northway 
Landowner: Oxford Brookes University 
Current use:   Educational faci lities 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

234



201 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Oxford Stadium (Greyhound Stadium) 
 

9.24860 The site is comprised of the former Oxford greyhound racing stadium, which has also 
been used for speedway. The stadium last hosted speedway in 2008. A number of 
commercial and community leisure uses occupy the site currently, including Karting 
Oxford. The site is accessed from Sandy Lane. 

 
9.24961  The greyhound racing and speedway events at Oxford Stadium were popular and 

well attended. These represents important leisure activities which should be resumed at 
the Oxford Stadium (alongside additional appropriate and compatible leisure and 
hospitality uses). It is recognised that the existing faci lities at Oxford Stadium are likely 
to require investment and modernisation to meet the current and future expectations of 
operators and spectators. The City Council considers that there exist opportunities to 
bring forward enabling residential development within the current car park to facili tate 
such investment and modernisation. 

 
9.25062 The Oxford Stadium was designated as a Conservation Area in 2014, following i ts 

addition to the City Counci l’s Heritage Assets Register. It is considered to have heri tage 
significance, with the location and character of the stadium illustrating the socio- 
economic character of Oxford’s eastern suburbs during the 20th Century. It is 
representative of inter-war sport and entertainment within the city as part of Oxford’s 
early 20th Century growth in response to development as a manufacturing centre. The 
character and appearance of the area derives from its heritage interest and provides 
physical evidence that represents the collective memory of those working communities 
and their leisure pursuits. It has community value, contributes to local distinctiveness 
and is a nationally rare form of development. Preserving i ts spatial character is 
important therefore to understanding the heritage of the area. 

 
9.25163 The opportunity exists to provide enabling residential development within the 
existing Stadium car park. This residential development should preserve and where possible 
enhance the significance of the conservation area of which it is a part and should provide for 
retention and enhancement of the community uses of the Stadium. The established use as a 
stadium should not be affected by permitting of new residential developments in 
proximity. The City Counci l has undertaken viabili ty testing that demonstrates that 
resumption of the use of the Stadium as a greyhound racing and speedway venue can be 
achieved, supported by enabling housing development to fund its modernisation and 
faci litate recommencement of greyhound racing or speedway if necessary. Any planning 

Planning permission will only be granted if it can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the New Marston SSSI. 
Development proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be 
accompanied by an assessment of groundwater and surface water flows. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. 

 
All proposals should minimise impact on air quality during construction phase and after 
implementation, particularly i f they comprise of employment uses. 

Site area: 3.37 hectares/ 8.33 acres 
Ward: Blackbird Leys 
Landowner: Galliard Homes 
Current use: Stadium used for community and leisure uses with associated parking 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

235



202 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

permission for enabling residential development wi ll be required to include a commitment 
(through a planning obligation) to carry out, as part of the development, an agreed scheme 
for refurbishment and modernisation of the Stadium to facili ty recommencement of i ts former 
leisure uses. If it can be demonstrated that greyhound racing or speedway cannot viably be 
brought back then residential-led development (supported by appropriate uses) can go 
ahead. It must be demonstrated that active market testing has taken place, that a 
development partner has been actively sought, and that there has been engagement with 
the national governing bodies. 

 
9.25264  Enabling residential development and modernisation works to the Stadium itself 

should conserve and enhance the character of the Conservation Area. The abi lity to 
understand the area as a heritage asset is dependent on preserving i ts spatial character 
including not only the individual buildings but also the spaces between them such as the 
tracks, pits and greyhounds paddocks that illustrate the purpose of the bui ldings and 
contribute to the special historic interest and character and appearance of the area. 

 
9.25365 There should be no increase in parking and a loss of car parking is likely to be 

acceptable as long as it can be demonstrated that access arrangements will be 
adequate to support the leisure uses. This might be by improving links across the 
railway nearby car parking. Any opportunity to link to a new Cowley Branchline station 
should be taken. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

heritage significance. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

236



203 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Oxford University Press Sports Ground, Jordan Hill 
 

 
9.25466 The site is currently open air sports facili ties for Oxford University Press and is 

adjacent to existing residential properties and Jordan Hill Business Park. Outside groups 
are able to use the pitches on an ad hoc basis but demand for the pitches has 
diminished and it is now not viable to operate. 

 
9.25567 Residential development would be an appropriate use on this si te and some 

complementary B1 uses may be suitable due to the site being adjacent to the Jordan 
Hill Business Park. The loss of the majority of the sports facili ty is considered justified 
due to the need for and benefi ts of new housing. However, sports provision must be 
retained unless an alternative provision is made or contributions are made to improving 
a local facili ty such that its capacity increase replaces what is lost. If an alternative site is 
found then 10% of the site wi ll be required for new public open space which should be 
sited to make existing residents feel welcome to use i t. 

 
9.25668 Any significant increase in traffic is likely to impact upon the nearby Wolvercote and 

Cutteslowe roundabouts. Development wi ll be subject to appropriate mitigation 
measures. 

 
9.269 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network 
is required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 

 

its former uses or for alternative community and leisure uses, in accordance with this 
policy. 

Site area: 3.65 hectares/9.02 acres 
Ward: Wolvercote 
Landowner: Oxford University Press 
Current use: Private sports ground 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

237



204 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

No.1 Pullens Lane 
 

9.25770 The site is comprised of a detached 1960s two-storey house and garage and 
substantial garden. The existing use of site is residential and there are surrounding 
residential uses. The site would be suitable for residential development, of general 
housing, elderly accommodation or specialist and supported accommodation. The site is 
located on Pullens Lane, a quiet narrow private road that adjoins Headington Road and 
is set within the Headington Hill Conservation Area. There is a single narrow access to 
the site at present through a gap in boundary vegetation leading to an informal off-street 
parking space for a car. Any development that results in increased traffic generation and 
intensification in use of Pullens Lane will be subject to appropriate mitigation measures. 

 
9.25871 The site is within the Headington Hill Conservation Area. Any proposals should have 

regard to the quiet and rural character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
Inappropriate levels of traffic generation must be avoided. Important soft landscaping 
features should be retained. 

 
9.25972   The site does not have any biodiversity protections, but the ecological value of the 

site must be assessed as part of a planning application and any harm avoided, mitigated 
or compensated for. The hedgerows should be retained as part of the design where 
possible. 

 
9.26073 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

provide 10% new public open space as part of the residential development. Development 
should encourage active frontages onto the new public open space. 

 
Development should be designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the Port 
Meadow SSSI and will be subject to appropriate traffic mitigation measures. 

Site area: 0.42 hectares/ 1.04 acres 
Ward: Headington Hill and Northway 
Landowner: Carebase Ltd ? 
Current use: Residential 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

238



205 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Radcliffe Observatory Quarter 
 

9.26174 This site is within an area of predominantly attractive University and residential 
buildings. The site excludes the listed bui lding of the former St Paul’s church but any 
development would need to ensure that there was no adverse impact upon the setting of 
any listed bui ldings or conservation area, and should demonstrate compliance with 
Policy DH3. Whilst there has already been considerable academic development on the 
site, further applications are expected. Being an existing university campus site, the site 
is suitable for further academic uses including student accommodation and employer- 
linked housing. Development wi ll be considered against the endorsed masterplan for the 
site. 

 
9.26275 The site is within walking distance (600m) of the Port Meadow SSSI which forms Part 

of the Oxford Meadows SAC. It is sensitive to air quality changes due to the proximity to 
the railway line, and changes in hydrology. As the SAC is within walking distance to 
proposed housing sites, there is susceptibili ty to recreational pressure as a result of 
increased visitor numbers. 

 
9.276 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network 
is required. 

 

Site area: 2.27 hectares/5.61 acres 
Ward: North 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Vacant with some academic development 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 

  [SYMBOL TO BE ADDED] 
 

 
 

 
 

 

239



206 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Ruskin College Campus, Dunstan Road 
 

 
9.26377 Ruskin College is an adult residential college providing educational opportunities for 

adults with little or no quali fications. There are nine bui ldings on site including the listed 
Rookery and wall, set within landscaped grounds with some large trees. The bui ldings 
are used for academic purposes, student accommodation, student faci lities, 
administration and tennis courts as well as three bui ldings which are currently vacant. 
The site has a masterplan which was endorsed by the North East Area Committee in 
2008 but with some issues that required further attention. Evidence for Iron Age activity 
and Roman pottery production has been recorded from this site so it has significant 
archaeological potential. Due to this potential, development should demonstrate 
compliance with Policy DH4. 

 
9.26478 The site is suitable for further academic uses, student accommodation, public open 

space and sports facili ties. In accordance with Policy E3 only academic facilities of 
Ruskin College or the universities would be considered suitable. Any development 
would need to ensure that there was no adverse impact upon the setting of the listed 
buildings, wall and Old Headington conservation area, and therefore should 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 

 

A reduction in car parking provision on site will be required. Pedestrian and cycle links 
through and to the site, including to the University Science Area, should be maintained 
and enhanced. 

 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that there is adequate waste water capacity 
both on and off the site to serve the development and that i t would not lead to problems 
for existing or new users. 

 
Development should be designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the Oxford 
Meadows SAC. Proposals should be accompanied by an assessment of potential 
recreational pressure on the Oxford Meadows SAC that may arise from increased 
numbers of visi tors, along with plans to mitigate this impact as necessary. 

 
All proposals should minimise impact on air quality during construction phase and after 
implementation. 

Site area: 1.86 hectares/4.60 acres 
Ward: Headington 
Landowner: Ruskin College 
Current use: Academic insti tutional, student accommodation and sports faci lities 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 

 

240



207 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Ruskin Field 
 

 
9.26579 Ruskin Field sites lies to the north of Ruskin College on Dunstan Road. Much of the 

area is not suitable for development because it would have a substantial negative 
impact on the appearance, setting and character of the Old Headington Conservation 
Area and is also visually sensitive from the Elsfield View Cone. The southernmost third 
of Ruskin Fields is allocated as a potential development site. 

 
9.26680 Development of the allocated part of the site would need to be carefully and 

sensitively designed to preserve and enhance the setting of the listed building and the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. Therefore, development should 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 

 
9.26781 Design should reflect the constraints and opportunities of this part of the site, 

including the existing pond, mature trees and hedges, views from the listed building to 
the north, retaining gaps and views through the site to the north and views of the site 
from the north. 

 
9.26882 The creation of a pedestrian / cycle access into the site from Stoke Place would be 

supported. Vehicular access to the site is not possible via Stoke Place or from the A40, 
although it is acknowledged that there is an existing field gate access from the A40. 
Vehicular access to the site would need to be through the college, which means the site 
is most suitable for expansion of the college or employer-linked housing relating to the 
college, although the college could provide an access road for general housing. 

 

accordance with Policy H3. Development could include open space, sports facili ties and 
allotments. Other complementary uses will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 

 
Development must retain and enhance the setting of the listed bui lding and wall. Careful 
design must ensure that development proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby listed bui ldings and their setting. 

 
A reduction in car parking provision on site wi ll be required and pPedestrian and cycle 
links through and to the site should be enhanced. 

Site area: 1.19 hectares/2.94 acres 
Ward: Headington 
Landowner: Ruskin College 
Current use: Green open space, college fields 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 
 
 

 

241



208 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Slade House 
 

9.26983 The site was previously used as an NHS care facility, but is currently used for staff 
training and office accommodation, not at full capacity. A number of bui ldings on the site 
are currently vacant. The Oxford Health NHS Trust’s ongoing review of healthcare 
faci lities might find that this site is needed, but it is more likely that additional need will be 
incorporated into W arneford or Littlemore sites, which have capacity. This site is a 
suitable site for a healthcare faci lity or for residential development. Residential 
development could be market housing. However, this site is one of only a few sites 
owned by the Oxford Health NHS Trust, and also presents an opportunity for them to 
develop employer-linked housing on the site. 

 
9.27084  The site is within 200m of the Shotover and Brasenose W ood SSSI, which is 

sensitive to recreational pressure. Access to the site is taken via Horspath Driftway and 
Agwar Stone Road. If redeveloped, consideration should be given to the creation of 
pedestrian and cycle links through the site to the neighbouring residential areas 
off Agwar Awgar Stone Road. 

 

 

linked affordable housing. Other complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for any other uses. 

 
New development should be informed by the landscape character and potential impact on 
views from the north in terms of choice of si ting, height, form and appearance. Careful 
design must ensure that development proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby listed bui ldings and their setting. 

Site area: 1.68 hectares/ 4.51 acres 
Ward: Lye Valley 
Landowner: Oxford Health NHS Trust 
Current use: Former NHS care facili ty 
Flood Zone:   FZ1 

 
 
 

  [CONTAMINATION SYMBOL ADDED] 
 

 

 
 

 

242



209 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Summertown House, Apsley Road 
 

 
 

9.27185 This site is currently graduate accommodation and an associated nursery. There is 
some potential to make more efficient use of the site by developing further graduate 
accommodation on open areas. There is a listed building in the centre of the site and 
any development would be expected to preserve and enhance the house and its setting 
and would need to demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. Given that the site is a 
university campus site it would be suitable for employer-linked housing. 

 
 

9.27286 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 
development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 

potential recreational pressure on the SSSI that may arise from increased numbers of 
visitors, along with plans to mitigate this impact as necessary. 

 
Development should be designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the Lye 
Valley SSSI. 

 
All proposals should minimise impact on air quality during construction phase and after 
implementation, particularly i f they comprise of employment uses. 

Site area: 0.29 hectares/0.72 acres 
Ward: Summertown 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Graduate student accommodation and nursery 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

243



210 
 

 
 
 
 

Union Street Car Park 
 

9.27387 This site is within the busy Cowley Road District Centre which has a variety of uses 
including retail, restaurants, residential and student accommodation. There is high 
potential for archaeological interest on the site as it is within the general area of a poorly 
understood Civil War parliamentary siege line. 

 
9.27488 The City and County Council are seeking to reduce the use of the private car within 

Oxford and a reduction in car parking would discourage car use although the car park is 
important to local traders and i ts total loss would be detrimental. The City Council has 
undertaken a review of its public car parks and considers that there is potential to 
develop residential or student accommodation above the car park which will result in the 
loss of some car parking spaces. Sufficient car parking spaces should be retained at a 
level at which the City Council considers is reasonable to serve and safeguard the 
vitality of the local area bearing in mind the quality of public transport to the area and the 
current level of usage of the car park. Supporting information justifying the proposed 
level of car parking spaces should accompany any application. The retained car parking 
could be in a different form such as beneath ground level (undercroft), decking or 
surface level with bui ldings above. 

 
 

 
University of Oxford Science Area and Keble Road Triangle 

 

 
9.27589   This site is in the scientific core of the University of Oxford and includes four plots 

each containing a number of bui ldings in academic use. Some of the buildings are listed 
and development would be expected to have regard to these and the Conservation 
Area. There is high potential for archaeological interest on the site as it is in an area with 
Bronze Age barrows, Iron Age and Roman activity and Civi l War defences. Due to both 
the archaeological and heritage interest of the site, development should demonstrate 
compliance with Policies DH3 and DH4. The site is adjacent to designated Green Belt 
land and is within 600m from the New Marston Meadows SSSI.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 12.4 hectares/30.64 acres 
Ward: Holywell 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Academic institutional 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

244



211 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

9.27690 The University would like to develop many of its bui ldings within the site to improve 
the quality of the academic facili ties and add some new floorspace. Development wi ll 
be considered against any endorsed masterplan for the site which would help ensure 
that development occurs as part of a comprehensive plan for the area and seek to add 
character and have regard to the listed buildings and Conservation Area. 

 
 

Valentia Road Site 
 

 
9.27791 Valentia Road is a small area of land currently in use as an informal kick around area 

and a small play park. Some of the site, to the northern end could be developed for 
housing, whilst leaving some recreational space to the south. Although development 

 
 
[CONTAMINATION AND GROUNDWATER 

 
 
 
 
SYMBOLS ADDED] 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.76 ha 
Ward: Churchi ll 
Landowner: Oxford City Counci l 
Current use: Recreational area 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

245



212 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

would result in the loss of some public open space in this part of Headington, the loss is 
considered justified because of the need for and benefi ts of new housing. 

 
9.27892 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
West Wellington Square 

 

 
9.27993  This site is within the conservation area, to which many of the bui ldings make a 

positive contribution. There is a high potential for archaeological interest as it is the site 
of the W ellington W orkhouse and a line of Civi l War defences. As a result of the heri tage 
and archaeological interest of the site, development should demonstrate compliance 
with Policies DH3 and DH4.  Access is limited to a single width carriageway between 
two bui ldings off Walton Street and is not suitable for any material increase in traffic 
movements. 

 
9.28094 The site could contribute to the University’s need to provide additional graduate 

accommodation and staff housing. Given that the site is a university campus site, it 
would be suitable for employer-linked housing. The site would be likely to continue to 
contain some university academic functions, although most of those existing on the site 
currently wi ll be relocated to the Radcliffe Observatory Quarter. 

 
9.28195 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network are likely to be required. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Site area: 0.88 hectares/2.17 acres 
Ward: Carfax 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Academic institutional uses 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

246



213 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

As such early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the 
timely delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 
 

Wolvercote Paper Mill, Mill Road 
 

 
9.296 The main site (Plot A) is a former paper mill located between the residential area of 

Lower W olvercote vi llage and the A34, and partly within the W olvercote with Godstow 
Conservation Area. The site boundary includes part of Duke’s Meadow to the north of 
the site (Plot B). Any proposals wi ll be expected to preserve and enhance the character 
and setting of the conservation area. Part of the site may be noisy as it is adjacent to the 
A34. 

 
9.297 Plot A is suitable for residential development. Complementary small scale employment 

units, employing a maximum of 50 people in total to reflect the previous level of 
employment on site, and community faci lities would also be suitable. Residential 
development would increase the pressure on primary school places which the County 
Council are able to address by the expansion of existing schools. Small areas of Plot A 
are within the Green Belt so bui lt development wi ll not be permitted in these areas. 

 
9.298 The site is within 200m of the Oxford Meadows Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 

Plans which could affect a SAC must be assessed under the European Habitats 
Directive37. The allocation of the site has been assessed by a Habitats Regulation 

 
 

37 Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Fauna and Flora 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 4.95 hectares/12.23 acres (Plot A) 
  1.77 hectares/4.37 acres (Plot B) 
Ward: Wolvercote 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use:   Vacant former paper mill 
Flood Zone: FZ2 but FZ1 for sequential test (for whole site) 

247



214 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Assessment (HRA)38 which concluded that development of the W olvercote Paper Mill 
site is unlikely to significantly affect surface water runoff to the SAC or significantly 
increase recreational pressure on the SAC. 

 
9.299 It also concluded that with safeguards included within the policy wording, there will be 

no adverse effects on the air quality and water quality of the SAC. Such effects can only 
be properly assessed and mitigated through the design process at the planning 
application stage. Historically the site 
operated as a paper mill and any development that leads to a reduction in lorry traffic 
compared to the previous use is likely to result in no worsening of air quali ty but this 
must be supported by an air quality assessment. Groundwater flow from the North 
Oxford gravel terrace may have an important role in maintaining water levels in the 
Wolvercote Common and Port Meadow areas of the SAC. It is important that 
development proposals are accompanied by a hydrological survey and include provision 
for sustainable drainage. Hydrocarbon contaminants must not spread to the SAC. 

 
9.300 Plot B is within the Green Belt and will not be granted permission for any inappropriate 

development as defined in national planning guidance. Proposals will be expected to 
create extensive new public open space for the site and the local community on Plot B. 
This wi ll reduce recreational pressure on the SAC. The site includes part of Duke’s 
Meadow which is a SLINC so opportunities should be taken to improve the biodiversity 
of the site. The public open space must include dog waste bins so as to provide a 
suitable alternative to walking dogs on the SAC. 

 
9.301 Sewerage network capacity in this area is unlikely to be able to support the demand 

anticipated from this development. Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the sewerage network 
is required. Up to three years lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 

 
9.302 Residential use on Plot A in Flood Zone 3a has been justi fied through the sequential test 

although policies in the Core Strategy relating to development in the floodplain will also 
need to be complied with. More vulnerable development wi ll be expected to be directed 
away from Flood Zone 3b. 

 
 

 
38 Sites and Housing DPD Habitats Regulations Assessment (February 2012 Nov 2011) Oxford City 
Council 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

248



215 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Bayards Hill Primary School Part Playing Fields 
 

 
9.282303 This site is currently used as school playing fields. The eastern part of the playing 

field, adjacent to the Barton Leisure Centre, wi ll be released for employer-linked housing 
to be occupied by those staff working for the Community Schools Alliance Trust. This 
loss of playing field is justified owing to need for and benefi ts of providing some 
employer linked housing for the educational trust. 

 
9.283304 Given the existing pressures in the Gas Network and the increases that the new 

development proposed would create, upgrades to the network may be required. As such 
early discussion with the Gas Network is recommended to ensure that the timely 
delivery of infrastructure takes place to support development. 

 

 
Careful design must ensure that development proposals contribute towards the character 
of the conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby listed bui ldings and their 
setting. 

 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that there is adequate waste water capacity 
both on and off the site to serve the development and that i t would not lead to problems 
for existing or new users. 

 
The City Counci l’s Appropriate Assessment has shown that development on this si te must 
incorporate sustainable drainage to avoid an impact on groundwater flows to the SAC. A 
hydrological survey must accompany a planning application to show that the development 
has been designed to avoid adverse impacts on groundwater flows. 

 
Development should be designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact on the Port 
Meadow SSSI. A biodiversity survey will be expected to assess the biodiversity value of 
the site and it should be demonstrated how harm will be avoided, mitigated or 
compensated. 

 
Development proposals should be accompanied by an assessment of potential 
recreational pressure on the SSSI that may arise from increased numbers of visitors, 
along with plans to mitigate this impact as necessary. 

 
All proposals should minimise impact on air quali ty during the construction phase and after 
implementation, particularly if they comprise of employment uses. A planning application 
must be accompanied by a site specific assessment of the impact of development 
proposals on air quality, which must also show that the development proposals wi ll not 
create an adverse impact on the SAC. 

Site area: 1.96 ha/ 4.84 acres 
Ward: Barton & Sandhills 
Landowner: Oxfordshire County Council Community School Alliance Trust 
Current use:   School Playing Field 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

249



216 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

William Morris Close Sports Ground 
 

9.284305 The site is open space, with previous use as sports pitches for the Rover Sports and 
Social Club. The site is now a fenced off grassed area. It is surrounded by residential 
development on three sides and a school on the fourth side. 

 
9.285306 Residential use would be an appropriate use on this si te. The loss of the majori ty of 

the sports facili ty is considered justified because of the need for and benefits of new 
housing. However, sports provision must be retained unless alternative provision is 
made or contributions are made to improving a local facili ty such that i ts capacity 
increase replaces what is lost. 10% of the site will be required for new public open 
space, which should be sited to make existing residents feel welcome to use i t. 

 
9.286307 The site is close to the Crescent Road view cone and there is a view from the site 

across Headington Hill with glimpses of the spires. This should be considered and 
celebrated in design, with access to the view facili tated. Connection improvements 
should also inform the alignment of design proposals and additional pedestrian/cycle 
connection to adjacent residential development should be created. The entrance to the 
site should be viewable from Barracks Lane and should complement the school. Routes 
should be as permeable and circulatory as possible. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Site area: 1.24 hectares/ 3.06 acres 
Ward: Cowley Marsh 
Landowner: Cantay Estates Ltd 
Current use: Cricket pitch and associated car parking 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

 
 
 

  [SYMBOL TO BE REMOVED] 
 

 

250



217 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

82. Other complementary uses will be considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 

 
The playing pitch sports provision must be retained unless an alternative suitable 
provision is made the loss of the sports provision can be otherwise compensated for in 
line with the requirements of Policy G5. If an alternative provision site is found made the 
City Counci l must be satisfied that it will be delivered. 

 
The William Morris Close site wi ll be expected to provide 10% new public open space, 
which must be sited to be welcoming to existing residents. Development proposals should 
encourage active frontages to the new public open space. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be proven that there would be no 
adverse impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the Lye Valley SSSI. Development 
proposals should reduce surface water runoff in the area and should be accompanied by 
an assessment of groundwater and surface water. Development proposals must 
incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable management plan. 

251



218 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Glossary 

 
Academic Year 
A period of one year (12 months), aligned to the duration of a course upon which a student is enrolled 
at a single university, college or other academic institution. This includes the full period of term/ 
semester times and all vacations. 

 
Academic Accommodation 
See University Facilities. See Campus 

 
Administrative Accommodation 
See University Facilities. See Campus 

 
Affordable housing 
Housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including housing that 
provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers). The most recent 
Tenancy Strategy will be used to assess whether proposed forms of affordable housing are genuinely 
affordable in Oxford. 
Affordable housing will also comply with one or more of the following definitions: 

a. Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: 
i) the rent is set in accordance with the Government’s rent policy for social rent (see separate 
definition) or affordable rent, or is at least 20% below local market rents (including service 
charges where applicable); ii) the landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included 
as part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered 
provider. This may also include employer-linked housing); and iii) it includes provisions to 
remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled 
for alternative affordable housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for 
rent is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is 
known as Affordable Private Rent). 

 
b. Starter homes: is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and 

any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of a starter home should 
reflect the meaning set out in statute at the time of plan-preparation or decision-making. 
Income restrictions should be used to limit a household’s eligibility to purchase a starter home 
to those who have maximum household incomes of £80,000 a year or less (or £90,000 a year 
or less in Greater London). 

 
c. Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local market 

value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. Provisions 
should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount for future eligible households. 

 
d. Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that provides a route 

to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership through the market. It includes 
shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low cost homes for sale and rent to buy (which 
includes a period of intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should 
be provisions for the homes to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or 
for any receipts to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision, or refunded to 
Government or the relevant authority specified in the funding agreement. 

 
Affordable rented housing 
Rented housing that has similar characteristics as social rented housing (see below) except that it is 
outside the national rent regime, thus subject to other rent controls that require it to be offered to 
eligible households at a rent of up to 80% of local market rents, on a minimum 2-year fixed-term 
tenancy. Providers will be expected to consider the Local Housing Allowance for the area, and any 
cap on total household benefit payments, when setting rents. Affordable rented housing is not the 
same as social rented housing, and cannot therefore be substituted for social rented. 

 
Allocated parking 

252



219 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Car parking spaces that are reserved for the exclusive use of a particular residential property. 
Common forms of allocated parking include driveway and frontage parking within the curtilage of a 
building, private garages that are large enough to accommodate a car, and private parking courts 
where spaces are reserved for use by a specific property. 

 
Allocation 
Land identified (with or without planning permission) within a Development Plan Document for a 
particular land use or mix of uses. 

 
Ancient/veteran trees 
These are as defined in the NPPF, which in 2018 states: A tree which, because of its age, size and 
condition, is of exceptional biodiversity, cultural or heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. 
Not all veteran trees are old enough to be ancient, but are old relative to other trees of the same 
species. Very few trees of any species reach the ancient life-stage. 

 
Ancillary use 
A land use on a site that is of an appropriate scale to only serve new development on the site. 
Ancillary retail should not act as ‘destination’ retail shops and must not conflict with the viability of 
retail units in district centres. 

 
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
The Annual Monitoring Report monitors how the Council is performing against the timescales set out in 
the LDS and measure progress made in respect of the documents being prepared. It reviews the 
effectiveness of the adopted planning policies; and monitors the extent to which policies and targets in 
adopted documents are being achieved against a range of indicators. It is usually published by the  
City Council in December each year. 

 
Appropriate Assessment 
An assessment which forms a stage within the Habitats Regulation Assessment. 

 
Area Action Plan (AAP) 
A Development Plan Document that forms part of the Local Development Framework. AAPs are used 
to provide the planning framework for areas subject to significant change or where conservation is 
needed. A key feature is a focus on implementation. Once adopted, the AAP forms the planning  
policy and spatial framework for the development of the area. 

 
Article 4 direction 
An order that can be imposed by the City Council to formally remove permitted development rights of 
development, meaning that planning permission is required locally for specific types of changes. 

 
Balance of Dwellings 
The relative proportions of homes of different sizes, which will be suitable for different types of 
households (e.g. single people, couples, small and larger families). The Balance of Dwellings SPD 
contains the details of this in relation to Oxford. 

 
Backland development 
A term commonly used to describe the development of land at the rear of existing residential 
buildings, usually on parts of former residential gardens. 

 
Biodiversity 
This refers to the variety of plants and animals and other living things in a particular area or region. It 
encompasses habitat diversity, species diversity and genetic diversity. Biodiversity has value in its 
own right and has social and economic value for human society. 

 
Biodiversity Calculator 
Biodiversity calculators are used to assess whether a project would result in a loss of biodiversity, no 
overall loss or a net positive outcome. Existing biodiversity ‘units’ are calculated by considering the 
distinctiveness, condition and size of a habitat. The anticipated number of ‘units’ following 
implementation of proposals are then also calculated. Considerations include the time it will take for 
newly introduced biodiversity features to achieve their biodiversity potential. 

253



220 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blue Infrastructure 
A strategic network of managed infrastructure and natural features designed to manage urban water 
systems, including flood management and the maintenance of good water quality. It usually works in  
combination with green infrastructure to mimic natural processes as much as possible. 

 
Brownfield Land 
Both land and premises are included in this term, which refers to a site that has previously been used 
or developed and is not currently fully in use, although it may be partially occupied or utilised. It may 
also be vacant, derelict or contaminated. This excludes open spaces and land where the remains of 
previous use have blended into the landscape, or have been overtaken by nature conservation value 
or amenity use and cannot be regarded as requiring development. 

 
Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) 
A method of assessing, rating and certifying the sustainability of buildings. The assessment evaluates 
the performance of buildings under a number of categories, including energy, water use, health and 
wellbeing, pollution, transport, materials, waste, ecology and management processes. 

 
Building Regulations 
The Building Regulations set standards for the design and construction of new buildings and many 
alterations to existing buildings. Part L of the regulations cover carbon dioxide emissions from energy 
use through heating, fixed lighting, hot water and building services. Part L does not cover emissions 
related to energy use from cooking or from plug-in electrical appliances such as computers. 

 
Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 
A bus-based public transport system designed to improve capacity and reliability relative to a 
conventional bus system. Typically, a BRT system includes roadways that are dedicated to buses, 
and gives priority to buses at intersections where buses may interact with other traffic; alongside 
design features to reduce delays caused by passengers boarding or leaving buses, or purchasing 
fares. 

 
Campus 
Accommodation occupied by an educational institution and comprising academic institutional uses 
including academic (teaching, seminar and lecturing spaces), research (laboratories and special 
facilities) and/or administrative uses (offices and administrative functions). 

 

Car Club 
A scheme that encourages vehicle sharing, such as car pools or city car clubs. 

 
Car-free development (residential) 
Accommodation for people who are prepared to knowingly, and willingly, relinquish their right to keep 
a private car in Oxford. Such development will be subject to appropriate conditions and/or planning 
obligations. For example, developments proposed within a controlled parking zone would not be 
eligible for a resident’s parking permit. 

 
City Centre 
A regional centre serving a wide catchment. It embraces a wide range of activities and is 
distinguished by areas which perform different main functions. 

 
Climate change adaptation 
Adjustments to natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic factors or their 
effects, including changes in rainfall and rising temperatures. 

 
Climate change mitigation 
Actions to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate system, primarily through reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

 
Cluster flat 
A sub-unit of accommodation within a larger development under common management by, or on 
behalf of, an institution. Rooms within a cluster flat will be individually let to tenants by a provider of 

254



221 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

institutional accommodation, e.g. a university, college, or hospital, but within each cluster flat tenants 
usually have exclusive use of communal kitchen/lounge and sometimes bathroom facilities. Most 
cluster flats will have their own front door within the accommodation block. 

 
Code for Sustainable Homes (CSH) 
The national standard for the sustainable design and construction of new homes. The Code aims to 
reduce carbon emissions resulting from fuel usage for lighting, heating and power, and to create 
homes that are more sustainable. It has been mandatory for all new homes to be rated against the 
Code since 2008. The standard is currently set to CSH Level 3, increasing to CSH Level 4 in 2013. 
The current goal is to achieve zero-carbon homes (CSH Level 6) in 2016. 

 
Co-housing 
An intentional community of self-contained private homes organised a shared space, often created 
and managed by their residents. 

 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) 
Sometimes known as co-generation, Combined Heat and Power is the use of a single piece of plant  
to generate both heat and electricity. In conventional power generation large quantities of energy in 
the form of heat are wasted. CHP is much more efficient. Although not a renewable technology, it can 
be combined with sustainable fuels to provide low-cost heating that has a minimal carbon footprint. 

 
Commitment 
Proposals for development that are the subject of a current full or outline planning permission, or 
unimplemented allocations in the Local Plan. 

 
Community Hubs 
Multipurpose centres hosting a range of activities and local and public services, and from which 
community led services are delivered. They are often managed by a dedicated community 
organisation but may also be owned or managed by public agencies or local authorities with 
substantial input from the community. 

 
Community Led Housing 
Community led housing schemes are a means of delivering housing which allows for people to be 
more involved in the process of meeting their specific needs and wants. These are developments 
driven by groups that are formed on the basis of a geographical connection or any other characteristic 
the members have in common. There are various approaches that can be followed in delivering 
housing this way, and can encompass new build, regeneration or the use of existing buildings. 
Schemes that are community led generally have the following characteristics that make them distinct 
from other forms of development: 

 A requirement that the benefits of the scheme to the local area and/or specified community 
must be clearly defined and legally protected in perpetuity 

 A presumption in favour of community groups that are taking a long term formal role in the 
ownership, management and/or stewardship of the homes  

 A requirement that the community must be integrally involved throughout the process in key 
decisions, whether or not they initiate and manage the development process, or build the 
homes themselves. 

 
Community Employment Plans (CEPs) Employment and Skills Plans (ESPs) 
Schemes delivered by a developer often as a planning obligation designed to provide local 
employment, apprenticeships and training opportunities, or to encourage existing local workforce 
schemes, associated with development sites. 

 
Complementary use 
A secondary land use on a site that is both auxiliary and appropriate to the primary use. The 
complementary use should combine with the primary use to add vitality to a site, but is less important 
than the primary use. A complementary land use should generally not cover more than 25% of the 
gross floor area of the proposed development. 

 
Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) 

255



222 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A measure of changes in the price level of a representative sample of consumer goods and services 
typically purchased by households. 

 
Construction Management Plan (CMP) 
The purpose of a CMP is to outline the proposed approach of a developer to implement a built 
scheme and manage construction works. It typically contains comprises of details of on-site 
procedures and processes, sequencing of the build programme, proposed construction methodology 
and proposals on traffic and environmental management measures. The number of items included in 
the plan is often dependent on the scale and complexity of the scheme. The Plan is submitted to the 
planning authority for approval, following which it must be strictly followed, with any changes requiring 
further approval from the authority. 

 
Items that might be included in a construction management statement include: 

 Drawings and plans  
 Access arrangements for vehicles, plant and personnel 
 Location of offices, unloading/loading areas, reception, site facilities, and so on 
 Screening and hoarding details. 
 Storage areas 
 Control measures for dust and mud 
 Site waste management plan 
 Lighting of the site 
 Drainage control measures 
 Access and protection arrangements for the public  
 Points of contact and complaints procedures. 

 
Conversion 
The change of use of a building, which involves significant physical changes to its internal and/or 
external structure or layout. This includes the sub-division of a large dwelling into smaller dwellings 
(which may also include extensions to the existing building), or changing a traditionally non-residential 
building into one or more residential units. 

 
Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) 
In residential areas, these are often called ‘Resident Parking Zones’. In such areas, parking of cars 
and other motor vehicles is generally limited to eligible residents only. In Oxford, those living in 
student accommodation will always be excluded from being eligible for a parking permit. Car-free 
homes, and some newer homes that have their own off-street parking, will also be excluded. 

 
Core Strategy 
A Development Plan Document that forms part of the Local Development Framework and contains 
policies against which planning applications are assessed. 

 
Corporate Plan 
A document which sets out the core ambitions and priorities of the City Council. 

 
Custom housebuilding 
See Self Build. 

 
Delivery 
A term used in national planning policy. To be judged ‘sound’ Plan policies must (among other things) 
be deliverable. 

 
Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (DSMP) 
A DSMP sets out a strategy for how deliveries and the servicing of a development would be 
managed, how impacts such as congestion and noise will be minimised, and how zero or ultra-low 
emission and last mile opportunities will be considered. 

 
Design and Access Statement 

256



223 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

A report accompanying and supporting a planning application, explaining how a proposed 
development is a suitable response to the site and its setting, and demonstrate that it can be 
adequately accessed by prospective users.. 

 
Development Plan Document (DPD) 
Documents that collectively deliver the spatial planning strategy for the local planning authority’s 
area. They include Development Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 
Disabled parking 
Car parking that is designed and specifically allocated for mobility impaired users, who hold a Blue 
Badge. These spaces may be legitimately used by Blue Badge holders travelling in the vehicle as a 
driver or passenger, or by vehicles collecting or dropping off blue badge holders. 

 
District Centres 
District centres comprise groups of shops often containing at least one supermarket or superstore, 
and a range of non-retail services, such as banks, building societies and restaurants, as well as local 
public facilities such as a library. 

 
Duty to Cooperate 
A legal duty that requires local planning authorities to work with neighbouring authorities and key 
public bodies to maximise the effectiveness of Local Plan preparation in relation to strategic cross 
boundary matters. 

 
Dwelling (or Dwellinghouse) 
A self-contained unit of residential accommodation occupied by a single person or by people living 
together as a family, or by not more than six residents living together as a single household, including 
where care is provided for residents. A self-contained unit of accommodation. All rooms (including 
kitchen, bathrooms and toilets) are behind a single door which only occupants of that unit of 
accommodation can use. 

 
Employment Floor Space 
Total footprint of a development allocated to employment usage. 

 
Employment Land Assessment (ELA) 
A study produced on behalf of the council assessing the quality and quantity of all employment land 
and premises (B1, B2 and B8) within the city and comparing the employment land supply against the 
forecast demand for employment use to test whether there is sufficient land of the right quality and in 
the right location to meet the identified needs. 

 
Employment-generating Development 
Development in B use classes, or directly supporting and linked to them. 

 
Employer-linked affordable housing 
Housing that is provided on specified sites by key employers in the city for staff carrying out their 
work. The housing should be rented at levels that are affordable to a cross-section of the key 
employer’s employees, and should be available at affordable rents in perpetuity. 

 
Examination in public (EIP) 
A process used to test the soundness of Development Plan Documents managed by an independent 
Planning Inspector. 

 
Extra-Care Housing 
A type of specialised housing for older and disabled people. It is purpose-built self-contained 
accommodation in which 24-hour personal care and support can be offered and where various other 
services are shared. 

 
Family home (Family sized dwelling) 
A self contained house (or bungalow) of 2 or more bedrooms (or self contained flat with 3 or more 
bedrooms) often with direct access to private amenity space, described as such as they are deemed 
likely to encourage occupation by a family including children. The acceptable minimum floorspace and 

257



224 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

layout will be based on the National Space Standards i.e. minimum 2 bedroom, 3 person dwelling 
(61m2) and 3 bedroom, 4 person dwelling (74m2). 

 
Flood Zones 
Areas with different probabilities of flooding as set out in Planning Policy Statement 25 the Planning 
Practice Guidance: Flood Risk and Coastal Change: 

 
 

• Flood Zone 1 – low probability (less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability) 
• Flood Zone 2 – medium probability (between 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual probability) 
• Flood Zone 3a – high probability (1 in 100 or greater annual probability) 
• Flood Zone 3b – the functional floodplain (1 in 20 or greater annual probability). 

 
Geodiversity 
Refers to the range or diversity of naturally occuring occurring geological features (rocks, minerals, 
fossils, structures), geomorphological features (landforms and processes), soil and water that 
compose and shape the physical landscape. It does not normally refer to human made landforms 
such as landscaping, concrete surfaces or other infrastructure. 

 
Green Belt 
An area of undeveloped land, where the planning policy is to keep it open to (amongst other 
purposes) prevent urban sprawl and preserve the setting and special character of Oxford and its 
landscape setting. 

 
Green Infrastructure 
A strategically planned and managed network of green spaces and other environmental features that 
perform ecological and sustainability functions within an urban area, along with providing spaces for 
public amenity. 

 
Greenfield 
Formerly defined as land which has not been previously developed. There is no formal definition of 
greenfield land since the revocation of the Town and Country Planning (Residential Development on 
Greenfield Land) (England) Direction 2000 in 2007. 

 
Gross Internal Area (GIA) 
The floor area of a building measured to the internal face of the perimeter walls at each level. 

 
Gross Value Added (GVA) 
Gross value added (GVA) measures the contribution to an economy of an individual producer, 
industry, sector or region. It is used in the calculation of gross domestic product (GDP). GDP is 
commonly estimated using one of three theoretical approaches: production, income or expenditure. 
When using production or income approaches, the contribution to an economy of a particular industry 
or sector is measured using GVA. 

 
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) 
A process used to assess the impacts of proposals and land-use plans against the conservation 
objectives of a European site and to ascertain whether it would adversely affect the integrity of that 
site. 

 
Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 
A process used to assess the health impacts of plans, policies and projects in different sectors. 

 
Heritage asset 
A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape positively identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions. Heritage assets are the valued components 
of the historic environment. They include designated heritage assets and assets identified by Oxford 
City Council during the process of decision-making or through the plan-making process (including 
local listing). 

258



225 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Household 
One person or a group of people who have an accommodation as their only or main residence and 
share the living accommodation and/or share at least one meal a day. 

 
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 
A strategic assessment reviewing the supply of potential sites to meet future needs for housing, and 
for economic growth. 

 
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 
Formerly the national housing and regeneration agency. Its role was to create opportunities for people 
to live in high-quality, sustainable places. It provides funding for affordable housing, brings land back 
into productive use and improves quality of life by raising standards for the physical and social 
environment. Replaced by Homes England in January 2018. 

 
House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
An HMO is generally a house or flat that is shared by three or more people who are not related as 
family members. A small HMO (technically called a Class C4 HMO) includes, in broad terms, small 
shared houses or flats occupied by between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals who share basic amenities 
(such as a kitchen and/or bathroom). A large HMO (technically called a Sui Generis HMO) is the 
same as a small HMO except that it is shared by more than 6 people, and sometimes subject to 
slightly different planning rules. Student and/or key worker accommodation are excluded from this 
definition. Full guidance is set out in CLG Circular 08/2010. 

 
A house, flat or building will be a house in multiple occupation (HMO) if it meets the definition under 
the Housing Act 2004 s254 or s257. A HMO is usually a house or flat that is shared by 3 or more 
people, who are unrelated, form more than 1 household and is their only main residence. There are 2 
types of HMO: C4 HMO, and sui generis HMO. A C4 HMO is a small house or flat that is occupied by 
3-5 unrelated people who share basic amenities such as the bathroom and/or kitchen. A sui Generis 
HMO is the same as a normal C4 HMO except that it is a large house or flat occupied by 6 or more 
unrelated people and can be subject to slightly different planning rules. 

 
Housing Associations 
Independent societies, bodies of trustees or companies established for the purpose of providing low- 
cost social housing for people in housing need on a non-profit-making basis. Any trading surplus is 
used to maintain existing homes and to help finance new ones. 

 
Indoor sport and recreation facilities 
This may include, for example, swimming baths, skating rinks, gyms, dance halls, indoor courts and 
leisure centres as well as facilities linked to outdoor sports such as pavilions and changing rooms. 

 
Infill development (houses and flats) 
Developments of houses and flats that do not include a new access road, so that all vehicular access 
to private properties is directly from an existing street or close. This can include the sub-division of 
existing dwellings, extensions to existing buildings to create new homes, or the sub-division of a 
residential plot (including gardens) to create new homes. 

 
Intermediate housing 
Housing at prices and rents above those of social rent, but below market or affordable housing prices 
or rents. These can include shared equity (shared ownership and equity loans), intermediate rent and 
other low cost homes. The Council will consider the suitability of other forms of intermediate housing, 
such as low-cost market housing, in light of its genuine affordability to those in housing need. 

 
NB: Key worker housing is defined separately from intermediate affordable housing. 

 
Key worker 
The broad definition of key worker is someone employed in a frontline role delivering an essential 
public service where there have been recruitment and retention problems. In Oxford, a key worker is 
any person who is in paid employment solely within one or more of the following occupations: 

 NHS: all clinical staff except doctors and dentists 

259



226 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 Schools: qualified teachers in any Local Education Authority school or sixth form college, or 
any state-funded Academy or Free School; qualified nursery nurses in any Oxfordshire 
County Council nursery school 

 Universities and colleges: lecturers at further education colleges; lecturers, academic 
research staff and laboratory technicians at Oxford Brookes University or any college or 
faculty within the University of Oxford 

 Police & probation: police officers and community support officers; probation service officers 
(and other operational staff who work directly with offenders); prison officers including 
operational support 

 Local authorities & Government agencies: those providing a statutory service, including but 
not limited to social workers; occupational therapists; educational psychologists; speech and 
language therapists; rehabilitation officers; planning officers; environmental health officers; 
clinical staff; uniformed fire and rescue staff below principal level 

 Ministry of Defence: servicemen and servicewomen in the Navy, Army or Air Force; clinical 
staff (with the exception of doctors and dentists). 

 Unregistered Workforce (Support Workers): In Health roles may include: Assistant 
Practitioner, Care Assistant, Healthcare Support Worker, Maternity Support Worker, Nursing 
Assistant, Occupational Therapy Assistant, Physiotherapy Assistant, Radiography Assistant, 
Speech and Language Therapy Assistant, Senior Care Assistant. In Adult Social Care roles 
may include: Activities worker, Day Care Assistant, Day Care Officer, Domiciliary care worker, 
Home care worker, Nursing Assistant (in a nursing home or a hospice), Personal Assistants, 
Reablement Assistant, Residential Care Worker, Senior Home Care Worker, Support Worker. 

 
Key worker housing 
Housing that includes a condition of tenancy or lease that all least one full-time occupier of each unit 
or sub-unit must, at the point of that person’s first occupation, be a key worker as defined in this 
document. Key worker housing can also be social rented housing, or intermediate affordable housing, 
but only if it complies with the definitions for affordable housing set out in this document. This may be 
in the form of self-contained units or shared accommodation. 

 
Last mile opportunities 
The ‘last mile’ refers to the transfer of trunk freight deliveries to local distribution across towns and 
cities. This is often in the form of small diesel vans and has a major effect on air quality and traffic 
congestion. Last mile opportunities refers to opportunities for the transfer of trunk freight deliveries to 
local logistic hubs facilitating onward distribution on foot, by bicycle and by small electric vehicles. 

 
Lifetime Homes 
Ordinary homes incorporating 16 design criteria that can be universally applied to new homes at 
minimal cost. Each design feature adds to the comfort and convenience of the home and supports the 
changing needs of individuals and families at different stages of life. The standards are not  
compulsory and have been superseded by new national technical housing standards. Local  
authorities can provide additional accessibility requirements through the optional 
Building REgualations Regulations M4 (2) [Category 2], and/or M4 (3) [Category 3]. 

 
Listed Buildings 
A building deemed to be of special architectural or historical interest is placed on a statutory list 
maintained by Historic England. Such buildings cannot be demolished, extended or altered without 
special permission from a local planning authority, which typically consults with Historic England 
before determining an application. The designation regime is set out in the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 
Listed buildings are classified into three grades: 

 Grade I buildings are of exceptional interest 
 Grade II* buildings are particularly important buildings of more than special interest 
 Grade II buildings are of special interest warranting every effort to preserve them. 

 
Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 
Areas in Oxfordshire and Berkshire which include important and rare habitats and species. 

 
Low-parking development 

260



227 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Development which has overall associated parking provision that is significantly below maximum 
parking standards. Such development will be subject to appropriate conditions and/or planning 
obligations. For example, developments proposed within a controlled parking zone would normally not 
be eligible for a resident’s parking permit. 

 
Local Development Framework (LDF) 
A non-statutory term used to describe the portfolio of Development Plan Documents, Supplementary 
Planning Documents, the Statement of Community Involvement, the Local Development Scheme and 
Annual Monitoring Report. 

 
Local Centres 
Local centres include a range of small shops of a local nature, serving a small catchment. Typically, 
local centres might include, amongst other shops, a small supermarket, a newsagent, a sub-post 
office and a pharmacy. Other facilities could include a hot-food takeaway and launderette. Small 
parades of shops of purely neighbourhood significance are not classified as local centres. 

 
Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
A three year project plan for preparing planning documents and provides the starting point for the 
local community to find out what the City Council’s current planning policies are for the area. It 
includes ‘milestones’ to inform the public about opportunities to get involved with the plan making 
process and to let them know the likely dates for involvement. 

 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA) 
Rate set by the Valuation Office Agency that is used to calculate housing benefit for tenants renting 
from private landlords. 

 
Local List 
See Oxford Heritage Asset Register (OHAR). 

 
Low carbon energy 
Low carbon energy uses fossil fuels in a manner which ensures a very high rate of efficiency (e.g. 
gas-fired combined heat and power, or CHP). Low carbon technologies use much less carbon dioxide 
in the production of usable energy than traditional forms of energy generation, such as power  
stations. 

 
Major Development 
As defined in The Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015, development that involves one or more of the following works: 

a. the winning and working of minerals or the use of land for mineral-working deposits; 
b. waste development; 
c. the provision of dwellinghouses where the number to be provided is 10 or more, or if the 

development is to be carried out on a site having an area of 0.5 hectares or more; 
d. the provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the 

development is 1,000 square metres or more; 
e. development carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more. 

 
Measured internally (houses and flats) 
For self-contained dwellings (e.g. houses and flats), this will be from the insides of the external walls 
separating each unit of accommodation from each other, from any communal areas such as 
communal hallways, lift shafts and staircases, or from the outdoors. The width of internal walls should 
be included in this calculation. 

 
Measured internally (all other residential development) 
For student accommodation and other non-self-contained residential development, the internal area 
will be measured from the insides of the external walls, and will include all communal or shared facility 
areas (such as communal lobbies, staircases, common rooms, hallways, kitchens and shared 
bathrooms used by more than one household). The width of internal walls should be included in this 
calculation. 

 
More vulnerable development 

261



228 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Development that, due to its nature, is more vulnerable to flood risk. It includes residential, student 
accommodation and hospitals and is defined in national planning guidance. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
A document setting out the Government’s planning policies for England and how they are expected to 
be implemented. It was published by the Department for Communities and Local Government (now 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)) consolidating several 
previously issued Planning Policy statements and Planning policy guidance notes. 

 
Natural Resource Impact Analysis (NRIA) 
An evaluation of the use of natural resources and environmental impacts and benefits arising from a 
proposed development, based on the assessment of a range of factors including energy efficient 
design, renewable energy generation, use of materials and water management. The requirement to 
undertake NRIAs for residential developments of 10+ dwellings was removed when Part L of the 
Building Regulations was updated to require improved energy efficiency standards in all residential 
developments. 

 
Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 
An assessment of the level of demand of housing types and range of tenures likely to be needed in a 
housing market area over the period of a local plan, and the scale of housing supply necessary to 
meet that demand. 

 
Open book negotiation 
An approach where the developer shares the figures in its financial appraisal with the local authority, 
in order to make the negotiations transparent, and reduce the risk of dispute. 

 
Open space 
All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water (such as rivers, canals, 
lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a 
visual amenity. 

 
Operational parking (residential) 
Car parking required for essential services and maintenance to the residential properties, and for use 
by delivery vehicles, by medical or care staff, or the emergency services. Operational car parking in 
residential developments specifically excludes parking for cars used by residents or their personal 
visitors, except when needed for loading, repairs and maintenance. 

 
Oxford Brookes University existing campus sites: 

 Contiguous Headington interests, including Gipsy Lane, Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth 
Student Village 

 Oxford Brookes University Marston Road Campus  
 

Oxford City Wildlife Site (OCWS) 
Sites of local importance for wi ldlife and nature, because of either connectivi ty, rare or 
exceptional features, habitat provision, diversity and/or local value for naturalness, learning 
and appreciation of nature.  

 
Oxfordshire Growth Board 
A joint committee comprising of the six Oxfordshire councils and other partners set up to enable 
collaboration and delivery of projects related to economic development, strategic planning and 
growth. 

 
Oxford Heritage Asset Register (OHAR) 
A register of buildings, structures, features or places that make a special contribution to the character 
of Oxford and its neighbourhoods through their locally significant historic, architectural, archaeological 
or artistic interest. These are not necessarily on the statutory list and no additional legal requirements 
or responsibilities are placed on property owners beyond those required for planning permission or 
building regulation approval. 

262



229 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Oxford Local Plan 
The Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016 is the adopted Local Plan containing policies and proposals for 
Oxford, which will gradually be replaced by the Local Development Framework. 

 
Oxford Housing Company Limited (OHCL) 
A housing company wholly owned by the City Council, established to undertake regeneration 
schemes, develop new build housing on council land and purchase and manage affordable housing 
from developers on private land. 

 
Oxfordshire Local Investment Plan (LIP) 
A non-statutory document that sets out priorities for delivering housing growth, economic 
development, regeneration and infrastructure. Prepared in Oxfordshire by the Spatial Planning and 
Infrastructure Partnership as result of the ‘Single Conversation’ with the Homes and Communities 
Agency. 

 
Parking court 
A communal parking area shared by a number of houses and/or flats. Allocated spaces that are within 
a single bounded dwellinghouse or former dwellinghouse curtilage, or are accessed directly from the 
public highway, do not fall within this definition. 

 
Patient hotel 
Accommodation available to those that need to be close to a hospital overnight, but who do not need 
a hospital bed, for example outpatients and families of hospital patients. 

 
Photovoltaic cells 
A renewable source of energy that converts solar energy into electrical energy. 

 
Planning Condition 
A planning condition can be attached to a planning permission to restrict the use of that development, 
or to require particular actions to be taken by the developer or owner to mitigate the impact of 
development. This may sometimes need to happen before the approved development can start 
(sometimes referred to as a pre-commencement condition). 

 
Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) and Planning Policy Statements (PPS) 
Documents that formerly set out the government’s national policies on different aspects of land use 
planning in England. They are now consolidated within the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). 

 
Planning Obligations 
See Section 106 Agreements. 

 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
A web-based resource that brings together national planning practice guidance for England. 

 
Policies Map 
A map of Oxford forming part of the Local Development Framework and illustrating particular areas of 
land to which policies apply. 

 
Previously Developed Land (PDL) 
Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings). 
The definition covers the curtilage of the developed land. Private residential gardens are not defined 
as previously developed land. 

 
Private Registered Provider (PRP) 
A non-state or local authority organisation that buys, builds and manages affordable housing, often in 
partnership with the local housing authority (i.e. local council). They can be either profit making or 
non-profit making. A register is maintained by the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH) holding details 
of annual accounts and certificates of registration for all approved PRPs. 

 
Proposed Submission 

263



230 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The stage of the plan making process that follows the Preferred Options document. It sets out  
detailed wording of the policies that the City Council proposes to submit to the Secretary of State. The 
Proposed Submission undergoes a formal consultation period to allow people to make comments. 

 
Protected Key Employment Site 
Sites identified in the Oxford Local Plan as key employment generating sites. These are subject to an 
Article 4 direction requiring planning permission for changes of use from offices (B1a) to residential 
uses. 

 
Public open space (or Public Realm) 
Areas of publicly accessible outdoor land that are maintained, landscaped and managed to allow 
social and recreational use by a variety of users. To be publicly accessible, it must be open to all 
members of the public all of the time. Where reasonably justified, it may be permissible to close such 
land to the general public during hours of darkness, or on a limited number of days of the year for 
maintenance purposes. The terms of use of public open space which is privately maintained may be 
set out in conditions attached to the planning application or as part of a planning obligation. 

 
Regeneration Framework 
A document that sets out the regeneration challenges facing Oxford and provides a framework for 
Oxford City Council to work with local and regional partners to respond to these challenges. 

 
Registered Provider (RP) 
An organisation that buys, builds and manages affordable housing, often in partnership with the local 
housing authority (i.e. local council). They include housing associations. 

 
Renewable energy 
Energy that uses technologies which generally rely on the elements (e.g., sunlight, wind, rain), 
biomass, or on generating energy from the earth itself. 

 
Residential garden land 
Outdoor land within the private or shared curtilage of a residential property or properties, which has 
been or is used primarily for relaxation, growing plants, drying clothes and other private domestic 
activities. This includes gardens, patios and terraces for houses, flats, houses in multiple occupation 
(HMOs), guest houses, residential care homes and any other building that was originally built as a 
house which has not been substantially altered. 

 
Residential garden land includes all landscaped areas, whether turfed or planted, or otherwise, and all 
paths, domestic sheds, private driveways and small ancillary outbuildings. However it excludes large 
communal car parking areas and large communal storage or utility buildings. 

 
Research Accommodation 
See University Facilities. 

 
Residential Moorings 
This is a long-term/ mooring base for a vessel or floating structure with planning permission and 
navigation authority consent for use as a person’s sole or main residence. The vessel may leave the 
mooring from time to time to go cruising, undergo repair etc. for any period of time. 

 
Section 106 Agreements (s106) 
Section 106 agreements (also known as planning obligations or planning legal agreements) are 
created under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. They are legally binding 
obligations that are attached to a piece of land and are registered as local land charges against that 
piece of land. They are negotiated, usually in the context of planning applications, between local 
planning authorities and people with an interest in a piece of land. They are intended to make 
acceptable development that would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. They enable 
councils to secure contributions towards services, infrastructure and amenities to support and 
facilitate a proposed development. 

 
Secured by Design 

264



231 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The national police crime prevention initiative aiming to ‘design out’ crime to help people live in a safer 
society. 

 
Self-build 
Refers to homes that are built with primary or significant input into the final design and layout from the 
initial owner or occupier. Often self-build projects the owner/occupier directly organises the design  
and construction, while custom building involves a specialist developer to help deliver the project. The 
Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning Act 2016) 
provides a legal definition of self-build and custom housebuilding, and does not distinguish between 
the two. The definition applies to homes that are built by individuals or associations of individuals, or 
persons working on their behalf. In considering whether a home is a self-build or custom build home, 
relevant authorities must be satisfied that the initial owner of the home will have primary input into its 
final design and layout. 

 
Self-contained accommodation 
An independent unit of accommodation with kitchen, bathroom and toilet facilities, provided for the 
exclusive use of the household living within. 

 
Serviced plot 
Sites that are ‘shovel ready’, i.e. land that is suitably laid out and ready for construction, with planning 
permission, access to the public highway and services/utilities provided within its boundary. 

 
Sequential test 
A systematic approach ranking sites in order, starting with the most appropriate location for 
development followed by increasingly unsuitable options e.g. whether brownfield or greenfield land; 
City centre or out-of-centre. 

 
Shared ownership housing 
A form of intermediate affordable housing which is partly sold and partly rented to the occupiers, with 
a Registered Provider (normally a housing association) being the landlord. Shared ownership housing 
should normally offer a maximum initial share of 25% of the open market value of the dwelling. The 
annual rental charges on the unsold equity (share) should be no more than 2.75% of this share. 

 
Sheltered Housing 
Self-contained accommodation for elderly or disabled people which form part of an overall 
development and with some shared facilities and on-site support personnel. See also Cluster Flat. 

 
Short Stay Accommodation 
Accommodation providing residential tenancies, typically provided on a daily basis, principally for short 
stays by visitors. Accommodation will typically be in self-contained space consisting of complete 
furnished rooms or areas for living/dining and sleeping, with amenities (e.g. television, internet) 
included in the rent. This accommodation type and includes hotels and bed and breakfast. 
Aparthotels or serviced apartments are treated as residential uses, for which affordable housing 
provision is sought, and are not considered as short stay accommodation for the purpose of the 
policy. 

 
Site of Local Importance for Nature Conservation (SLINC) 
A site containing habitats, plants and animals important in the context of Oxford. 

 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Areas identified by Natural England as being of special interest for their ecological or geological 
features. Natural England is the government’s advisor on the natural environment. 

 
Social rented housing 
Homes that are let at a level of rent set much lower than those charged on the open market. The rent 
will be calculated using the formula as defined in the Rent Standard Guidance of April 2015 (updated 
in May 2016) or its equivalent or replacement guidance (relevant at the time of the application). 

 
Soundscape 

265



232 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The acoustic environment (sounds generated and detected from all sources) as perceived, 
experienced and/or understood by a person or people in a particular context/setting. 

 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
Special Areas of Conservation are areas that have been designated at a European level as important 
for nature conservation. 

 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) 
An assessment of the flooding issues that affect the city; it provides the flood risk information needed 
to inform planning policies. 

 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 
A study of the opportunities that exist to meet housing need. 

 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
The SHMA is a technical study that assists local planning authorities understand how many homes  
will be needed over a given period, which also considers the housing needs of specific groups in 
society such as older people, minorities and people with disabilities. Information sources for the  
SHMA can include house prices and rates of change in house prices, household migration and search 
patterns, and other relevant contextual data such as travel to work areas. 

 
Student accommodation 
Accommodation whose main purpose is to house students of sixteen years of above, registered on 
full- time courses of an academic year or more in Oxford. 

 
Sui generis 
Land uses that do not fall within any use class in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended). 

 
Supported and Specialist Care Accommodation Housing that is for occupation by residents who 
required specialist services or support in order to enable them to live, or to adjust to living, 
independently within the community. It will offer a high level of support in order to support those who 
would otherwise need to live in a care home. Groups with specific support needs may include those 
with disabilities (including learning disabilities), the homeless, teenage parents, refugees and those 
with drug or alcohol problems. 

 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
Part of the LDF that supplements and elaborates on policies and proposals in Development Plan 
Documents. Supplementary Planning Documents do not form part of the statutory development plan. 

 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
A social, economic and environmental appraisal of strategy, policies and proposals – required for the 
Regional Spatial Strategy and Development Plan Documents and sometimes Supplementary 
Planning Documents. 

 
Sustainable Development 
Meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs. Resolution 42/187 of the UN General Assembly. 

 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems are a sequence of water- management practices and facilities 
designed to drain surface water and protect against flooding. These include porous roads, high-level 
road drainage, swales, soakaways, filter trenches, wet and dry attenuation ponds and ditches. SUDS 
helps mimic natural drainage processes and can provide benefits in terms of sustainability, water 
quality and amenity. 

 
Technical Housing Standards 
Nationally described space standards, setting out minimum recommended requirements for the Gross 
Internal (floor) Area of new dwellings at defined levels of occupancy as well as floor areas and 
dimensions for key parts of the home, notably bedrooms, storage and floor to ceiling height. 

266



233 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tenure 
The conditions under which land or buildings are held or occupied. There are up to 4 categories: 

 Owner-occupied - including accommodation that is owned outright or is being bought with a 
mortgage 

 Rented privately - defined as all non-owner-occupied property other than that rented from 
local authorities and housing associations plus that rented from private or public bodies by 
virtue of employment 

 Rented from housing associations 
 Rented from Local Authorities. 

 
Transport Assessment (TA) 
An assessment that reviews all potential transport impacts of a proposed development with the aim of 
minimising any adverse consequences. 

 
Unallocated parking 
Car parking that is not allocated to a specific residential property or properties. Unallocated parking 
must be available to all residents and visitors of the proposed development (except relating to any 
restrictions on car-free homes). Examples of unallocated parking are on-street parking (whether or not 
in a controlled parking zone), and private parking courts or private roads that are subject to enforced 
permit parking (provided parking spaces are not reserved for specific properties). 

 
 

University Facilities 
Accommodation belonging to the University of Oxford comprising of academic, research and 
administrative uses. 

 Academic uses: teaching, seminar and lecturing spaces 
 Research: laboratories and special facilities  
 Administrative: offices and administrative functions. 

See Campus 
 

Use Classes Order 
This refers to the different categories for uses of land and buildings as defined by planning legislation 
(Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)). Planning permission is 
usually required to change from one use class to another, although there are exceptions where the 
legislation allows changes between uses. Planning permission may also not be required if an existing 
and proposed use both fall within the same use class. 

 
The general use classes are as follows: 

 Class A- shops (including some services) 
• Class B – further business and industrial activities 
• Class C – hotels, hostels and dwellings  
• Class D – non-residential institutions 
• Sui generis – other uses that do not fit within the above classes. 

 
These classes are further subdivided into more specific usages. 

 
Viability 
Viability means whether something is financially feasible to develop. This will depend on the value of 
the land in its current use, the cost of development (including construction, planning requirements and 
cost of finance), the risks involved, and the expected level of developer profit. 

 
Windfalls 
Windfall sites are dwellings which have not been specifically identified in the local plan process. 

 
Wheelchair accessible home, or home easily adaptable for wheelchair use 
A home that allows either immediate occupation by a wheelchair user, or easy adaptation when the 
need arises. Such homes will have much in common with lifetime homes, but with some additional 
features. 

267



234 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Zero Carbon Home 
This is a dwelling whose carbon footprint of does not add to overall carbon emissions. However the 
Government have stated that Zero Carbon will only apply to those carbon dioxide emissions that are 
covered by building regulations. 

 
45° Guidance 
Often referred to as the ‘45° code’ or ’45° rule’. A tool used by architects and planning officers, which 
gives an initial assessment of whether a proposed new dwelling will maintain an adequate standard of 
sunlight and daylight within existing and proposed homes. 

268



235 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Abbreviations 
AMR – Annual Monitoring Report 
AAP – Area Action Plan 
BREEAM – Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method 
CPZ – Controlled Parking Zone 
ECP – Electric Charging Point 
ELA – Employment Land Assessment 
GIA – Gross Internal Area 
GVA – Gross Value Area 
HCA – Homes and Community Agency 
HELAA – Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
HMO – House of Multiple Occupation 
HRA – Habitats Regulation Assessment 
JSSP – Joint Statutory and Spatial Plan 
LWS – Local Wildlife Site 
NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework 
NRIA – Natural Resource Impact Analysis 
OCWS – Oxford City Wildlife Site 
OAN – Objectively Assessed Need 
PPG – Planning Policy Practice Guidance 
SA – Sustainability Appraisal 
SAC – Special Area of Conservation 
SFRA – Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
SHMA – Strategic Housing Marketing Assessment 
SHLAA – Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
SLINC – Site of Local Importance for Nature Conservation 
SPRA – Source Pathway Receptor Analysis 
SSSI – Site of Special Scientific Interest 
SUDS – Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
UKBAP – UK Biodiversity Action Plan 

269



236 
 

Appendix 1: Strategic policies 
1.1 - List of strategic policies 

E1: Employment sites 

E2: Teaching and research 

E3: New academic or administrative floor space for private colleges/language schools 

E4: Securing opportunities for local employment, training and business 

H1: The scale of new housing provision 

H2: Delivering affordable homes 

H3: Employer linked affordable housing 

H6: Houses in Multiple Occupation 

H8: Provision of new student accommodation 

H9: Linking the delivery of new/redeveloped and refurbished university academic facilities to 
the delivery of university provided residential accommodation 

H15: Internal space standards 

H16: Outdoor amenity space standards 

RE1: Sustainable design and construction 

RE2: Efficient use of land 

RE3: Flood risk management 

RE5: Health, well-being, and Health Impact Assessments 

RE6: Air quality 

G1: Protection of Green and Blue Infrastructure Network 

G2: Protection of biodiversity and geodiversity 

G3: Green Belt 

G4: Allotments and community food growing 

G5: Outdoor sports 

G6: Residential garden land 

G7: Other green and open spaces 

G8: Protection of existing Green Infrastructure features 

G9: New and enhanced Green Infrastructure features 

DH1: High quality design and placemaking 

DH2: Views and building heights 

DH3: Designated heritage assets 

DH4:  Archaeological remains 

270



237 
 

M1 T1: Prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport 

M2 T2: Assessing and managing development 

M3 T3: Car parking 

V1: Ensuring the vitality of centres 

V2: City Centre Shopping Frontages 

V3: The Covered Market 

V4: District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages 

V5: Sustainable tourism 

V6: Cultural and social activities 

V7: Infrastructure and cultural and community facilities 

V8: Utilities 

Site allocations: All Category 1 employment sites 
 
1.2 List of saved development plan documents 

Barton Area Action Plan 

Northern Gateway Area Action Plan 
 
 

Site allocations: all Category 1 employment sites 

1.2 Table showing which preferred options were assessed as being 
“strategic” 

 
Preferred 
Option (SA 
Assessment) 

Full list of strategic 
policies 

Why is policy as “strategic”? 

Option 1: Protection 
of Category 1 
Employment Sites 
Option 2: Protection 
of Category 2 
Employment Sites 

E1: Employment sites Protecting existing employment sites and allowing 
them to grow through modernisation and 
intensification is a key element of the plans strategy. 
This is a strategic policy. 

 E2: Teaching and research Ensuring the continued success of Oxford’s two 
universities brings benefits to, not only the city’s 
economy butalso the regional and national economy. 
The hospitals and universities provide a huge 
contribution to the plan’seconomic objectives and 
cumulative account for just under 30,000 jobs in 
Oxford. This is a strategic policy because its supports 
the growth of these key organisations in a sustainable 
manner. 

271



238 
 

 E3: New academic or 
administrative floorspace 
for private colleges/ 
language schools 

The economic benefits that private colleges/ 
language schools, bring to the city is more limited 
than the well-established universities and hospitals. 
Ensuring the appropriate growth of the organisations 
covered by this policy works in conjunction with the 
policy approach set out in the previous policy. It is 
strategic 
in nature as those organisations that wish to 
expand need to demonstrate how they contribute to 
the economic objectives of the plan. 

 E4: Securing 
opportunities for local 
employment, training and 
business 

Oxford is one of the most expensive places to live in 
the country. This policy is inextricably linked to the 
economicobjectivesof the plan. It isdirectlyaimed at 
reducing employment inequalities and providing local 
people the skills they need to find and stay in work. It 
is strategic in nature because it affects people across 
the whole of the city. 

Option 9: Overall 
housing target for the 
plan period 

H1:The scale of new 
housing provision 

This policy is, by its very nature, strategic. 

Option 11: 
Determining the 
approach to setting the 
level of the affordable 
housing requirement 

H2: Delivering affordable 
homes 

 

 H3: Employer linked 
affordable housing 

 

 H6: Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

HMOs are more and more becoming an affordable 
way for people to live and work in the city. Ensuring 
that there is a balance between HMOs and 
traditional family housing in a street ensures that 
areas are not dominated by one particular housing 
type. It ensures that mixed and balanced 
communities can be created throughout the city. 
Given that it affectsall streets in Oxford, this policy is 
considered to be strategic. 

 H8 Provision of new student 
accommodation 

 

 H9: Linking  the 
delivery of 
new/redeveloped and 
refurbished university 
academic facilities to the 
delivery of university 
provided residential 
accommodation 

 

272



239 
 

Appendix 2: 
Chapter 2 - Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring 
prosperity and opportunities for all 
 
2.1 Category 1 employment sites: 
 

The following university/research sites: 
• University of Oxford Science Area and Keble Road Triangle; Old Road Campus; Radcliffe 

Observatory Quarter; Northern Gateway/Oxford North 
 

The following hospital research sites: 
• John Radcliffe Hospital; Nuffield Orthopaedic Hospital; Churchill Hospital; Warneford Hospital 

 
The following major publishing sites: 
• Oxford University Press 

 
The following major manufacturing /research sites: 
• BMW (Mini); Unipart 

 
The following major Science/Business Parks: 
• Oxford Science Park; Oxford Business Park 

 
The following larger knowledge –sector office uses: 
• Oxford Centre for Innovation 

 
2.2 Category 2 employment sites: 
 

City Centre 
One St Aldates Oxford Town Hall 
7,95-96,109-113, 121 St Aldates 
Post Office, St Aldates 
Blue Boar Court, Blue Boar Street Clarendon House, 
Cornmarket 
Oxford University Officers’ Training Centre, Oxpens Road 6 Beckett Street 
1-3 Cambridge Terrace (tbc) Employment Exchange, 
Floyds Row Speedwell House, Speedwell Street Albion 
House, Albion Place Hogrefe House, Albion Place 
6 Brewer Street 10A,13,13A New Road 
County Hall, New Road 40 Pembroke Street 
Littlegate House, St Ebbe’s Street Ramsay House, St Ebbes Street 
North Bailey House, 12 New Inn Hall Street Thomas Hull House, New Inn 
Hall Street 29,52 New Inn Hall Street 
Boswell House, 1-5 Broad Street 13-16 Magdalen Street 
3-7 Worcester Street 
17-33 Beaumont Street University Student Hub, Turl Street 1-16 
King Edward Street 
3 George Street Mews 
Chester House, 21-27 George Street 1-3, 14-16, 40 George Street 
Hayes House, 75 George Street Threeways House, George Street 

273



240 
 

  
 

 

 

 

West End, Botley Road 
King Charles House, Park End 
Street 9, 14 B, 27-30,40-41 Park 
End Street Cantay House, 36-39 
Park End Street 28-38 Hythe 
Bridge Street 
R/O 165-167 Botley Road 
New Barclay House, Botley Road 
Osney Mead Industrial Estate 

Central Oxford and Jericho 

Lucy Properties, Walton Well Road 
Eagle House, Walton Well Road 
35A Great Clarendon Street 
28-31 Little Clarendon Street 
Oxford University Offices, Wellington Square 
1, 30, 35, 45-46 St Giles 

Woodstock Road, Banbury Road 
Clarendon Business Centre, 
Woodstock Road 39-42, 57 
Woodstock Road 
Jordan Hill Business Park, 
Banbury Road Barclay House, 
Banbury Road 
Clarendon Business Centre, Prama House, Banbury 
Road Mayfield House, 256 Banbury Road 
43-47,66,69-71, 76, 265,267-269, 228 -240, 264, 285 Banbury Road 
Cranbrook House, 287 
Banbury Road Oxfam House, 
274 Banbury Road Lambourne 
House, 311-321 Banbury Road 
Summertown Pavillion, 16-24 
Middle Way 20 Linton Road 

St Clements and Marston Area 
Enterprise Centre, Standingford House, Cave 
Street 
1-4 The Plain 
27-28 St Clements Street Angel Court, St Clements 

London Road 
Nielson, London Road 

75 London Road 
Kennet House, 108-11- London Road 
116-120 London Road 

274



241 
 

 
 
2.1 Marketing evidence 

 
 A site should be marketed for its existing use for a minimum period of at least 6 months. 
 The applicant should then submit a supporting statement to accompany a planning application 

for a change of use. 
 It should contain evidence to confirm the length of time the site has been marketed for; details of 

the agent used; information to show where this marketing has taken place for example in the local 
press, through signs on site, on the internet and/or in journals or publications used by the trade. 

 The statement needs to confirm the price the site was advertised for to show that it has been 
pitched at a ‘reasonable’ rate to generate interest from potential operators. 

 Finally there needs to be a summary of the interest received and the reasons why offers have not 
been accepted. 

 
 

Appendix 3: 
Chapter 3 - A pleasant place to live, delivering housing with a mixed and 
balanced community 

 
3.1 Method for calculating affordable housing contributions relating to residential 

development 
 
Policy H2 requires that sites that provide (or have capacity to provide) 4 to 9 dwellings make a 
financial contribution toward delivery of affordable housing in Oxford, towards achieving mixed and 
balanced communities. The City Council considers that a clear and simple approach is appropriate for 
calculating this contribution, which relates to the scale and kind of development on the site. 

Cowley Road, Cowley, Watlington Road, Horspath, Sandy Lane West 
Cowley Road Workshop 100a Cowley Road 
Harrow Road, Industrial Estate, Watlington Road 
Cowley Business Centre 
Ashville Way, Watlington Road 
The Old Music Hall, 106-108 Cowley Road 
Pony Road, Horspath 
Former Blackwells Publishing, Marston Street 
County Trading Estate, Watlington Road 
Bullingdon House, 174B Cowley Road 
Oxford Bus Company, Watlington Road 
Crown House, 193 Cowley Road 
Bridge View, 12 Watlington Road 
Newtec Place, Magdalen Road 
2-3, 5-1- Chancerygate Business Centre, Transport Way 
21 Between Towns Road 
Church Missionary Society, Watlington Road 
St Luke’s Church Temple Road 
1-3 Watlington House, Watlington Way 
213,244 Barnes Road 
Former Pickfords Site, Sandy Lane West and Spring Lane 
Fenchurch Court, Bobby Fryer Close 
Lazarus House and Bishop Mews Transport Way 
Nuffield Industrial Estate, Sandy Lane West 
Horspath Industrial Estate 
Chiltern Business Centre, 198 Garsington Road 

275



242 
 

There is an industry ‘rule of thumb’ that the price a developer can afford to pay for a site for a housing 
scheme is roughly 30% - 40% of the value of the houses that you could build on it. On this basis, the 
cost of the land that would ideally be available for affordable housing is roughly 15-20% of the total 
sale value (representing 50% of the land area). 

 
The City Council will calculate a financial contribution from qualifying site as what would have 
been the cost of providing the land for affordable housing on that site. For clarity, the Council will 
use the ‘rule of thumb’ that this will be 15% of the total sale value of the properties to be built – 
this is a conservative estimate of the land value given the high value of land in Oxford. 

 
The sale value will be derived from marketing information (this will usually be publicly available). If 
the developer considers that this does not reflect the actual sale value, they must demonstrate 
this by providing a copy of the contract of sale for each unit, as soon as the sales of half the units 
have completed. The sum will be calculated and must be paid prior to the sale or occupation of 
more than 50% of the units. 

 
The following formula will be used to calculate the financial contribution: In addition to this, a 5% 
administration charge will be levied on the calculated sum payable. 

 
The combined sale value of all homes 
on the site on completion X 0.15 The sum payable 

 
 
 
3.2 Method for calculating affordable housing contributions relating to student 

development 
 
Policy H2 requires that a site that provides new purpose-built student accommodation makes a 
financial contribution towards affordable housing delivery in Oxford. 

 
The City Council would, ideally, seek 50% of the value of the land being developed as a financial 
contribution from student accommodation developments. This would represent the cost of 
providing what would have been the land for affordable housing development, should the site 
have come forward for residential development. On the evidence of the viability study, this level of 
contribution would make most developments unviable. Therefore, the City Council will seek a 
standard financial contribution, based on the ‘development surplus’ of sites assessed as viable in 
the viability study. This figure works out as £143 per m2, which has been rounded down to £140 
per m2. The City Council will seek a standard development contribution based on the amount of net 
additional residential floorspace measured internally. The figures to use in the calculation will be 
included in the Annual Monitoring Report. 

 

The following formula will be used to calculate the financial contribution: 
 

 
This figure will be reviewed annually to reflect the All-in Tender Price Index published by the 
Building Cost Information Service of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. In addition to this, a 
5% administration charge will be levied on the calculated sum payable. 

Residential floorspace, 
measured internally  140 per m2 (at the time of 

adoption of the plan) 
  

The sum payable 

276



243 
 

 

3.3 Affordable housing viability cascade for large sites 
 

If on large sites (of 1025 or more units) that are delivering significant infrastructure or social benefits it 
can be robustly proven that meeting the affordable housing target will make a site unviable, developers 
and the City Council will work through a cascade approach in the following order until a scheme is 
made viable: 

 Firstly, reduce the percentage of affordable housing provided (to a minimum of 40% of all homes) 
by reducing the intermediate housing element only; 

 Secondly, at 40% affordable housing, reintroduce an element of intermediate housing 
incrementally up to a maximum 8% of all homes; 

 Thirdly, make a financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision, to be calculated using the 
approach set out in Appendix 2. 

 
Robust evidence must be in the form of an independent viability appraisal. The City Council will expect 
the developer to negotiate on an “open book” basis which relates to the particular site circumstances 
that have resulted in the development’s non-viability. 

 
The City Council will always expect developers to have considered the financial implications of 
affordable housing policy requirements, and local market indicators, when purchasing the land for 
development. 

 
3.4 Employer linked housing sites 
 

 Campus sites of the colleges of the University of Oxford and of Oxford Brookes. These are 
sites with academic accommodation existing at the time of the submission adoption of the Local 
Plan, and where academic institutional use would remain on the site, even with the development 
of some employer-linked housing. 

 Edge of Playing Fields Oxford Academy 
 Edge of Playling Fields Bayards Hill Primary School 
 Grandpont car park (or) Iffley Mead 
 Old Power Station 
 Radcliffe  Observatory Quarter 
 Slade House (or) Manzil Way Resource Centre 
 Manzil Way Resource Centre 
 Warneford Hospital 
 Summertown House, Apsley Road 
 West Wellington Square 
 Osney Mead (how to limit) 
 Court Place Gardens 
 John Radcliffe Hospital 
 Churchill Hospital 
 Nuffield Orthopaedic Hospital 

 
3.5 Student threshold calculation 
 
Policy H9 applies to full-time taught course students. To inform each Annual Monitoring 
Report the universities will be asked to provide information relating to their student numbers 
and the number of student accommodation rooms they provide. A snapshot of information 
will be requested from a point in time in the Autumn of the monitoring year in question. The 
monitoring year is the one-year period from 1st April - 31st March. The ‘snapshot’ figures 
provided for the Annual Monitoring Report will be representative of the monitoring period and 

277



244 
 

applicable to policy H9. If a university is shown in the snapshot to be in breach of threshold 
but are able to demonstrate a reduction in numbers during the year that brings them under 
their threshold this will be accepted as an update by the City Council alongside an 
application for development of academic, research or administrative facilities. 

 

The universities will be asked to state how many students they have and specify how many 
of them are in each of the following categories. The following categories of students are not 
relevant for the purposes of Policy H9 and they will be excluded from the total number used 
in the calculation under Policy H9. There may be students who fall into more than one of 
these categories and they should not be excluded more than once: 

 
 Part-time and short-course students 
 Students studying a research based post-graduate degree 
 Students studying a Further education course or a foundation degree 
 Vocational course students who will at times during their course be training on work- 

placements including student teachers and health care professionals who have a 
split study arrangement between the university and the NHS including student 
nurses, midwifery students, paramedics, physiotherapists, occupational therapists 
and student doctors 

 Students with a term-time address outside of the city (OX1, 2, 3, 4) 
 Students living within the city (OX1, 2, 3, 4) prior to entry onto a course 
 Students not attending the institution or studying at a franchise institution 
• Students studying outside Oxford (e.g. at Oxford Brookes’ Swindon campus) 
 Specific course exclusions (BTh Theology and MTh Applied Theology) 
 Students who also have an employment contract with the university 
 Students on a year abroad and other placement students away from the university 

 

The universities will also be asked to provide information about the number of student rooms 
they are providing. This will also be a snapshot figure covering same time as the student 
numbers information provided. The following student accommodation types will be counted 
as university-provided accommodation: 

 
 Purpose built student halls managed by the university 
 Rooms in other student halls for which the university has nomination rights secured. 
 Other university leased or owned housing stock 

 
 
The number of students who meet the definition of the policy (i.e. the total number of 
students minus the exclusions detailed above) will be subtracted from the total number of 
student rooms provided by the university and the resulting figure will be taken to represent 
the number of students living outside of university provided accommodation in Oxford. 

 
 
 

3.6 3.5 HMO calculation 
 
Policy H15 states that planning permission will only be granted for the change of use of a dwelling in 
Use Class C3 to an HMO where the proportion of buildings used in full or part as an HMO within 100 
metres of street length either side of the application site does not exceed 20%. 

 
The illustration below shows what is meant by this. The buildings highlighted in the example below would 
all be included in assessing whether the 20% threshold has been exceeded. It should be noted that, 
for the purposes of applying these guidelines: 

278



245 
 

i. Buildings containingflats are countedas an HMO only if any one of the flats within the building 
are being used as an HMO; 

ii. Non-residential buildings are counted as an HMO only if any part of the building is in residential 
use as an HMO; 

iii. Buildings NOT counted as an HMO include all single dwellings that are occupied by a family, a 
homeowner together with up to two lodgers, or by up to 6 people receiving care (e.g. supported 
housing schemes for people with disabilities). Also NOT counted as HMOs are social housing, care 
homes, children’s homes, religious communes, and all buildings occupied by students and managed 
by the educational establishment (this includes student accommodation), as well as all buildings 
entirely used for non-residential purposes; 

iv. Any building that lies partially within the 100 metres will be included in the calculation. 
 
In counting individual properties, the City Council will have regard to the number of houses, flats 
or buildings that are licensed HMOs, or for which a licence application is pending. The Council may 
also count any other property for which reasonable evidence exists that the property is in use as an 
HMO. 

 
3.7 3.5 Privacy, daylight, and sunlight: the 45 and 25 degree guideline 

 

Many factors are significant in assessing whether new dwellings will enjoy adequate sunlight and 
daylight, both internally and externally, and the same factors must be taken into account when assessing 
the impact of new development on existing dwellings. 

 
Reflected light and the amount of sky visible affect daylight within a room or garden. Applicants 
must consider the function of the room or that part of the garden, and also whether other windows 
serve the affected room. Existing features including boundary walls, trees, proposed buildings and 
any change in ground level between sites are all relevant factors which also need to be taken into 
account. 

 
Applicants must also consider the impact on outlook - it is important not to create conditions which are 
overbearing (oppressive or claustrophobic) for existing or future occupiers. 

279



246 
 

While development proposals will be considered in the light of these factors, as a guideline to 
assess their impact on daylight, sunlight and outlook, the City Council will use the guidelines 
illustrated below. In normal circumstances, no development should intrude over a line drawn at an 
angle of 45° in the horizontal plane from the midpoint of the nearest window* of a habitable room and 
rising at an angle of 25° in the vertical plane from the cill. If a main window to a habitable room** in 
the side elevation of a dwelling is affected, development will not normally be allowed to intrude over a 
line drawn at an angle of 45° in the vertical plane from the cill. 

 

 
Example 1 
A single storey extension as shown below is generally acceptable if the projection is limited as shown 
in Plan (A). It may not be acceptable if the projection intrudes beyond the 45° line as shown in Plan 
(B). 

 
 

 
 
 

Example 2 
If the 45° rule is broken, generally the proposal will still be acceptable if the line drawn outwards at 
45° is tilted upwards at 25° from the cill level, and is unbroken by the highest part of the extension. 
This is shown as Drawing (C). The example shown as Drawing (D) is unlikely to be acceptable. 

* For the purpose of these guidelines, patio doors and glazed French doors 
will also be treated as windows. Cill level will be judged in accordance with 
other principle windows in the same part of the dwelling, or in neighbouring 
dwellings 

 
** For the purpose of these guidelines, habitable rooms include kitchens as well 
as living rooms, dining rooms, studies, bedrooms and/or playrooms 

280



247 
 

 
 

Example 3 
If a main window to a habitable room in the side elevation of a dwelling is affected, development will 
not normally be allowed to intrude over a line drawn at an angle of 45° in the vertical plane from the 
cill. 

281



248 
 

 
 
 

Appendix 4: 
Chapter 4 - Making wise use of our resources and securing a good quality 
local environment 

 
4.1 Health Impact Assessment 

 
What is a Health Impact Assessment? 
A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) helps to ensure that health and wellbeing are being properly 
considered in planning policies and proposals*. It is important that development promotes and 
contributes to a healthy living environment, and HIAs ensure that proposals consider health outcomes 
prior to the submission of a planning application. 

 
Why undertake a Health Impact Assessment? 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recognises that the planning system ‘should aim to 
achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places**. 

 
HIAs help to promote the creation of sustainable and healthy environments by: 
• Ensuring that proper consideration has been given to potential health impacts when preparing, 

evaluating and determining development proposals. 

282



249 
 

• Ensuring developments contribute to the creation of a healthy society. 
• Ensuring the needs of local people have been assessed and addressed. 
• Maximising potential beneficial health and wellbeing impacts of a particular development, and taking 

action to minimise potential negative health impacts. 
 

 
When is a Health Impact Assessment Required? 
A HIA is required for development proposals of 10 or more dwellings or 1000m2, and should be 
submitted as part of the pre-application stage or the later planning application submission. 

 
How to undertake a Health Impact Assessment: 
Firstly, in order to undertake a HIA it will need to be established whether a rapid or full HIA is required. 
The following diagram explains that a ‘Full’ HIA is likely only required from nationally significant 
applications. Therefore, applicants will likely only be required to undertake a ‘Rapid’ HIA, explained 
further below. We welcome desktop HIAs from other developments outside of our HIA criteria, however 
these are not compulsory. 

 

*www.healthyurbandevelopment.nhs.uk/our-services/delivering- healthy-urban- 
development/  health-impact-assessment/ 

 
**NPPF (2018), p.27 

283



250 
 

Rapid HIA Template: 
A Rapid HIA is less resource intensive and can be conducted to quickly identify both potential positive 
and negative impacts of a development. Further information on conducting a Rapid HIA can be found at: 

 
http://www.healthyurbandevelopment.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/HUDU-Rapid-HIA-Tool-3rd-edition- 
April-2017.pdf 

 

and a fillable template can be found 
 
 

http://www.healthyurbandevelopment.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/HUDU-Rapid-HIA-Tool-3rd- 
edition-April-2017-self-completion-form.pdf. 

 

An example of a Rapid HIA can be found below. 
 

 
 
Appendix 5: 
Chapter 5 - Protecting and enhancing Oxford’s green and blue 
infrastructure network 

 
5.1 SAC and SSSI Sites 

 
SAC Sites 
• Oxford Meadows SAC 

 
SSSI Sites 
• Brasenose Wood & Shotover Hill SSSI 
• Hook Meadow & The Trap Grounds SSSI 
• Iffley Meadows SSSI 
• Littlemore Railway Cutting SSSI 
• Lye Valley SSSI 
• Magdalen Grove SSSI 

284



251 
 

• Magdalen Quarry SSSI 
• New Marston Meadows SSSI 
• Pixey & Yarnton Meads SSSI 
• Port Meadow with Wolvercote Common & Green SSSI 
• Rock Edge SSSI 
• Wolvercote Meadows SSSI 

 
 

Appendix 6: 
Chapter 6 - Enhancing Oxford’s heritage and creating high quality new 
development 

 
6.1 Design checklist 

 
The questions below should be used as a checklist to inform design proposals and be used as a guide 
to designing new development in a logical way that follows morphological layers and is inspired and 
informed by the unique opportunities and constraints of the site and its setting. Proposals will be 
assessed against how they respond to the site character and context and follow the morphological 
layers design process. 

 
Responding to site character and context 
• What are the features, opportunities and constraints of the site and its setting? This could include 

existing landscaping, trees and hedgerows, water, notable and attractive views in, out and across 
the site, access points, landscape character, levels, archaeology, buildings or structures of historical or 
local interest as well as potential barriers like utilities, noise, pollution, major roads and railway lines 
etc. Have you produced a constraints and opportunities plan to show how these features have been 
identified and helped inform the design proposal? What elements in the surrounding area have been 
identified as making a positive or negative contribution to local character? A contextual analysis 
should be produced which examines the character of the surrounding area and is used to inform the 
design of new development. What are potential threats to positive character or opportunities to 
enhance character? 

• Are there any heritage assets that may be affected by the development (this may include the setting of 
a heritage building or buildings, including in wide ranging views to the historic skyline)? How 
should development respond to these? 

• What is the design rationale for the site and proposal? 
 

Natural Features and Resources 
• How could the physical and natural features of the site such as solar orientation, wind shelter, levels 

been used positively and imaginatively to maximise their benefits as natural resources? 
• How could the existing landscape character or features be incorporated early into the landscaping 

of the proposal? How could you ensure a joined up network of open spaces to create continuous 
wildlife corridors? 

• How could existing habitats be supported and biodiversity enhanced? 
• How have sustainable drainage systems been incorporated into the open space network? 

 
Movement 
• What existing access points could you use and how could you enhance the permeability of the site 

and access to surrounding areas? Have you maximised opportunities for creating access links for 
pedestrians and cyclists? 

• Do the roads, streets and paths link up together to avoid dead ends? 
• What is the street hierarchy across the site and is this clear? How has this been defined? 
• Has the location of open space and buildings been determined before the introduction of streets? 
• Have you prioritised the needs of pedestrians, people with disabilities, cyclists and public transport 

285



252 
 

users over the needs of motorists? 
• Have you taken account of different users’ experiences and needs as they travel through the site? 

 
Designing development blocks, density and uses 
• What is the best block arrangement for the site context? Have perimeter blocks been used? 
• How has the arrangement of blocks been informed by the features identified during the constraints 

and opportunities plan? How does the density relate to the surrounding context and make the best 
use of the site? 

• How have focal points been incorporated into the layout to create interesting street scenes and 
help people navigate around the site? These could be focal buildings (new or existing), existing 
landscaping, an important view for example. 

• How have buildings been placed to make the most of the benefits of daylight and sunlight? 
• What is the rationale for the proposed uses and mix of units? 
• How do the buildings and edges of the site relate to the surrounding area in a positive way? 

 
Design of external areas 
• Are all spaces clearly defined and have a purpose? This should include well defined private and 

public spaces, including a choice of open space. 
• Are all external public spaces such as streets and parks overlooked by windows serving habitable 

rooms in buildings and adjacent activity? 
• Has left over space and awkward corners been avoided? 
• Does the landscaping provide opportunities for sensory richness? 
• What type of street furniture, floorscape materials, lighting and public art is proposed (where 

appropriate)? (public art which contributes to local distinctiveness should be provided on all 
schemes of 20 dwellings or more (gross) or aver 2000m2. Details of the public art should be 
submitted with a planning application).  

• How is car parking integrated into the development so that it doesn’t have a negative impact on the 
experience of using outside spaces? How has landscaping been used to help integrate parking into 
the street scene? 

• How will lighting impact on the surrounding area? 
• Have Secure by Design principles been incorporated? 

 
Plots and buildings 
• How do new buildings respect the surrounding character or have a distinctive but complementary 

character informed by the unique characteristics of the site? 
• Have the needs of all users been considered from the outset and how has this influenced the final 

design? 
• How does the design of the new buildings make the most of the opportunities and constraints of the 

site and its setting? 
• How does the scale of the new development relate to its surroundings? If an increase in scale is 

proposed, what is the design rationale for this? 
• Have green and brown roofs been incorporated into the development? 

 
Ensuring quality 
• Has a contextual analysis been used to inform design, detailing and materials choices? 
• How do materials chosen reinforce the overall design concept and respect the local context? 
• If a contrast is chosen, what impact will this have on existing character? 
• How have materials been chosen to maximise energy efficiency? 
• Have natural materials been chosen be long-lasting without degradation of their aesthetic appeal or 

functionality? 
• Will materials chosen wear and weather well, and be long-lasting? 
• How will materials used for detailed elements such as rainwater goods enhance the overall design? 
• Are hard landscaping materials consistent with the overall design of the development and do they 

facilitate sustainable drainage? 
• How easy will it be to maintain, repair or source matching materials? Have the materials been proven 

286



253 
 

to be robust and weather well? 
• Has a palette of high quality materials been used to create a calm background for buildings and 

that is easy to maintain? 
• Have you explored sharing conduits or trenches for utilities and servicing so that the amount of street 

or pavement that needs to be excavated for future maintenance of the utilities is limited? 
• Are all publicly visible boundaries robust and use durable, attractive materials? 
• What is the proposed approach for future maintenance of buildings, landscaping, streets and open 

spaces, public art, sustainable drainage systems etc? 
 
Design and alteration of buildings 
• Do alterations to existing buildings respect the form, scale, character and appearance of the existing 

building? 
• What style of development has been chosen and how will that impact on surrounding character? 
• How does the building relate to the existing streetscene, appearance and established building lines? 
• What are the characteristic aspects of roofscape in the area and how do proposals contribute 

positively to the roofscape (i.e. to enhance any significant long views the development might be part 
of and also the experience of the place at street level) 

• How will visual interest be created by attractive detailing, high quality materials, depth and shadow 
lines and fenestration? 

• Have building details such as windows and entrances are designed with consideration of any positive 
characteristics in the area and the impact on internal spaces in terms of daylight, privacy, temperature 
and views? 

 
6.2 Oxford’s Conservation Areas 

 
Oxford has 18 Conservation Areas at present. They include a diverse range of qualities from the 
compact college environment found in the city centre, the open green space found in the 
Headington Hill Conservation Area, to the vast meadows in Wolvercote and Godstow. See all 
Conservation Areas on a map. 

 
Architectural styles and landscape qualities are diverse but they all have the common element of 
containing features that contribute to our historic past. It is the protection of these elements that need to 
be properly managed, ensuring future generations will value and enjoy their special qualities. 

 
Oxford’s Conservation Areas: 
• Bartlemas 
• Beauchamp Lane 
• Binsey 
• Central (University and City) 
• Headington Hill 
• Headington Quarr 
• Iffley 
• Jericho 
• Littlemore 
• North Oxford Victorian Suburb 
• Old Headington 
• Old Marston 
• Osney Town 
• Oxford Stadium, Sandy Lane 
• St Clement’s and Iffley Road 
• Temple Cowley 
• Walton Manor 
• Wolvercote with Godstow 

287



254 
 

Appendix 7: 
Chapter 7 - Ensuring efficient movement into and around the city 

 
7.1 Transport Assessments 

 
Where Transport Assessment (TA) is required for a development proposal, it should be submitted with 
the planning application. The City Council may agree to the scope of TA being reduced if the 
development proposal is in a suitable location and in line with planning policy. TA should address the 
desirable modal split and provide for a package of measures designed to reduce the role of car travel 
to the site. If the potential modal split is difficult to predict, TA will need to consider whether and how 
far it may vary. TA should be easy to understand by non-technical people. 

 
Thresholds 
TA will generally be required if the development: 
a) is likely to generate car traffic, particularly at peak time, in an already congested area; 
b) is likely to introduce new access or traffic (any mode) onto a trunk road or other dual carriageway; 
c) is likely to generate significant amounts of traffic in or near the City centre Air Quality Management 

Area (AQMA), i.e. proposals in the Transport Central Area (TCA); 
d) is for new or expanded school facilities; and 
e) would be refused on local traffic grounds but where proposed measures set out to overcome any 

adverse impacts. 
 

Proposals over 500m2 or which may generate 100 vehicle movements or 5 freight movements per day 
will require at least a basic TA. 

 
For residential development in Oxford, this equates to developments of 20 dwellings or more. 

 
Applicants may find it useful to complete the “Site Audit” document produced by Oxfordshire County 
Council (2002). 

 
Proposals over the following thresholds will require detailed TA: 

 

Food Retail 1,000m2 
Non-food retail 1,000m2 
Leisure 1,000m2 
Cinemas and conference 1,000m2 
Stadia 1,500 seats 
B1 including offices 2,500m2 
B2 industry 5,000m2 
B8 distribution and 10,000m2 
Hospitals 2,500m2 
Higher and further education 2,500m2 
Residential 40 dwellings 
Freight  movements 10 per day 

For mixed-use schemes, detailed TA will be required where the combined effect of the uses proposed 
exceeds 10 freight or 200 vehicle movements a day, based on the general assumption that 100 
vehicle movements are generated by 500m2 commercial floorspace or 20 dwellings. 

288



255 
 

  
Contents 
All TA must include a non-technical summary and must address: 
a) location and layout including access points; 
b) size, in terms of site area and floorspace per activity; and/or number of dwellings and number of 

bedrooms per dwelling; and use of the site e.g. staff, students, patients, visitors; 
c) proposed uses and activities; and 
d) issues such as timing and type of access requirements 

 
Where full TA are required, these must additionally address the following: 
e) Potential travel characteristics: accessibility by all modes and predicted modal split. TA should consider 

ease of access and catchment areas by travel-to-site times for each mode. 
f) Measures: influencing travel patterns and minimising the need for parking using measures to improve 

access by walking, cycling or public transport in order to minimise non-essential car travel. TA should 
consider appropriateness of location, scale, density and uses of the site and development. 

g) Impact appraisal and mitigation: maximising accessibility by sustainable transport modes such as 
through minimising prominence of car parking, management of access and parking, and 
organisational policies. TA should determine whether the development is acceptable or not in terms of 
the transport impacts, and propose measures to mitigate the impacts in terms of accessibility, 
integrating modes of travel, reducing environmental impact and promoting safety. 

 
Checklists for preparing a TA 
The following tables have been adapted from Oxfordshire County Council’s Transport Assessment 
Guidelines. Note that this information is for guidance only, and developers should agree the scope of 
a TA, including expected content, with the planning department of the City Council in consultation with 
the Local Highway Authority. 

 

Basic TA Template 
Note that the level of detail may vary depending on the size and location of development, and the 
local context. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Half page of street traffic scene not replicated in this draft but will 
remain in the final version. 

289



256 
 

 

290



257 
 

 
 
 

7.2 Travel Plans 
 
If a Travel Plan (TP) is required for a development proposal, it should be submitted with the planning 
application. 

 
Thresholds 
TPs must be submitted alongside planning applications if the development: 
a) is likely to generate significant amounts of travel in or near the City centre Air Quality Management 

291



258 
 

Area (AQM A), i.e. proposals within the Transport Central Area (TCA); 
b) is for new or expanded school facilities; and 
c) would be refused on local traffic grounds but where the TP sets out to overcome any adverse impacts. 

 
Proposals over the following thresholds will require a TP: 

 

Food Retail 1,000m2 
Non-food retail 1,000m2 
Leisure 1,000m2 
Cinemas and conference 1,000m2 
Stadia 1,500 seats 
B1 including offices 2,500m2 
B2 industry 5,000m2 
B8 distribution and 10,000m2 
Hospitals 2,500m2 
Higher and further education 2,500m2 

 
TPs must recognise the potential for modal shift and therefore the early stages of the TP are likely to 
focus on those car drivers “most able” or “most likely” to change their mode of travel. This does not 
mean that other categories should be neglected. Greater effort in terms of more measures will be 
needed in the longer term to address the needs of those less likely to switch from driving. 

 
• For example, people living within 2km of a site may be able to walk, cycle or catch the bus. 

Car drivers living between 2km and 8km from a site may reasonably be able to change to 
cycling or the bus, and those living between 8km and 16km may be able to use public 
transport. Car sharing is likely to be a realistic option for longer journeys or journeys where 
alternative modes are not possible. 

 
The reasons for car use, the distances travelled, and from where journeys start and finish must be 
assessed. There are many ways that information could be assessed and represented in the TP. 

 
• For example, on a proposal to expand an existing site, surveys of current staff would be useful. 

For a relocated organisation, current staff surveys could indicate travel habits at the new site. An 
isochrome map can be useful in indicating distances from a site, accessibility by various modes, 
or potential catchment areas. 

 
Modal split targets are normally displayed as percentages. However, this does not address the issue 
of rising staff numbers for example, and over time may in fact hide an increase in the number of cars 
being brought to a site. Targets should be stated as actual numbers as well as percentages. 

 
Contents 
There is no right or wrong way to present a useful and effective TP. However, the following 
guidelines should be considered: 

 
Background: 
Information about the organisation must be stated clearly, including: 
a) Staff details such as numbers (for example, full-time/part-time, staff on payroll/fulltime equivalents*), 

times of travel (for example, Monday to Friday at 9am and 5pm or shift pattern), where they travel 
from, and how they currently travel; 

b) Site assessment including current links (pedestrian/cycle/vehicular) into and within the site, cycle 
facilities, accessibility by public transport, accessibility of nearby shops and services, and car 
parking 

292



259 
 

c) Assessment of non-staff travel (for example, visitors, deliveries, fleet vehicles); 
d) Attitudes of staff towards travel to and from the site and towards their travel needs. 

 

 

Objectives: 
The statement of objectives should identify the motivation behind the TP and clearly state its purposes. 
(For example, reasons for a TP include reductions in car usage (especially single occupancy 
journeys at peak times), and increased use of walking, cycling and public transport). It may be relevant 
to address: 
a) Reducing traffic speeds, improved road safety and personal security (especially for people on foot or 

cycle); and 
b) More environmentally friendly delivery and freight movements, including home delivery services. 

 
* TP good practice example of an objective: “To maximise opportunities for staff and students to travel to 

the University and to undertake University business using transport modes other than the private car” - 
Oxford Brookes University (1999) 

 
Measures: 
The TP must identify what needs to be done to achieve its objectives and what measures need to be 
implemented. 

 
* TP good practice examples of measures: “include green travel teaching in curriculum” - Headington 

Junior School (2002) “covered cycle parking and shower and changing facilities within each 
building” - Oxford Science Park (2001) 

 
Targets: 
Targets must be specific, measurable, realistic and split into identifiable time frames based on the short 
term, medium term and long term and preferably dated by month and year. 

 
* TP good practice examples of targets: Medium term: introduce home working: 2-3 years (information is 

provided about who is responsible, cost bracket, funding source and monitoring criteria) 
 
Monitoring and Review: 
The effects of TPs must be monitored and they must state clearly how monitoring will take place 
(for example by stating what will be monitored by whom and when). Baseline data must therefore be 
provided (for example, as part of the background information). T he outcome of monitoring may suggest 
that a review of the measures and/or targets is necessary. (For example, it is not necessarily a bad 
thing to discover through monitoring that a measure is no longer feasible, but new measures will then 
need to be set in order to meet the objectives of the TP.) 

 
Enforcement: 
The TP must set out arrangements for appropriate enforcement action in case agreed targets are not 
met. 

* Some staff may be part-time or job-share, so the number of posts in an organisation 
and the number of staff it employs may differ. Full-time equivalents (FTEs) are the 
number of equivalent full-time posts in an organisation. 

293



260 
 

 
7.3 Vehicular parking standards 

 
Residential Parking Decision Flow Diagram: 

 

 

Vehicular parking standards: 
Policy M3 sets out Oxford City Council’s policy on providing parking for new residential developments 
which would not be car free. The standards below should be read alongside Policy M3 and its 
supporting text. 

 

Dwellings of any size* 1 space per dwellings (to be provided 
within the development site, where 
feasible) and car club parking up to 0.2 
per dwellings 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Parking standards to be decided case 
by case on their merit. 

Houses ( of any size) including HMOs 1 space per house ( may be 
allocated or unallocated) 

Flats ( of any size) Car-free, plus operational, disabled 
and car club parking up to 0.2 
spaces per dwelling 

Wheelchair accessible or adaptable houses 
and flats 

1 space per dwelling, to be 
provided on-plot within the curtilage of 
the dwelling (must be designed in 
accordance with Part M of Building 
Regulations for wheelchair users) 

Retirement  homes 1 space per 2 residents’ rooms 

Sheltered/extra care homes 1 space per 2 homes plus 1 space 
per 2 staff 

294



261 
 

Nursing homes 1 space per 3 residents’ rooms plus 1 
space per 2 staff 

 Student  Accommodation 0 spaces per resident room. 
Operational parking and disabled 
parking to be considered on a case by 
case basis in accordance with Policy 
H8. 

 

*Any parking provided on plot to be excluded from a permit for any future CPZ and only 1 permit to be 
provided per dwelling on street where not provided on plot. 

 
 
Disabled Parking: 
On developments of 4 or more homes, wheelchair accessible or adaptable homes should provide 
allocated disabled parking, irrespective of location. On sites of 20 or more homes disabled parking 
should be provided for at least 5% of dwellings. Provision for disabled parking will be 
considered on a case by case basis and be determined through pre-application 
meetings/planning applications in the light of their Transport Assessment and Travel 
Plan. Disabled parking Where disabled parking is provided it should have level access to, and 
be within 50 metres of the building entrance which it is intended to serve. 

 
 
 
Powered Two Wheelers: 

Residential 1 space per 5 dwellings 
Non-residential developments 1 space per 400m2 up to 

2000m2, 1 space per 
1000m2 thereafter. 

Non-residential development: 
 

Existing employment uses No additional increase in parking 
All other uses To be determined through pre- 

application meetings/planning 
applications in the light of their 
Transport Assessment and Travel Plan. 

 
7.4 Minimum Bicycle Cycle Parking standards 

 

Houses and flats up to 2 bedrooms At least 4 2 spaces per dwelling 

Houses and flats of 3 or more bedrooms At least 3 spaces per dwelling 

Student Accommodation At least 4 3 spaces for every 4 
study bedrooms unless site specific 
evidence indicates otherwise in 
accordance with Policy M5. 

HMOs At least 1 space per occupant 

295



262 
 

Hotel/Guest Houses At least 1 spaces per 5 non-resident 
staff (or other people). Plus 1 space 
per resident staff 

Shops (A1) other than non-food retail 
warehouses, financial and professional 

1 space per 113m2 

Businesses (B1) 1 space per 90m2 or 1 space per 
5 staff or other people 

Food and drink (A3-5) 1 space per 40m2 public floor space 
Non-food retail warehouses 
including garden centres (A1) 

1 space per 400m2 

General industry (B2)/warehousing/distribution 
(B8)/ traders’ merchants (A1) 

As B1 up to 235m2. 1 space 
per 5 staff (or other people). 

Places of assembly including cinemas, 
theatres, stadiums and concert halls. 

4 spaces per 10 seats up to 1,000 
seats; 
1 space per 100 seats thereafter. 

Places of worship/community centres/public 
halls 

2 spaces per 20m2 of 
seating/assembly floor space 

Libraries 1 space per 200m2 
 

Medical clinics/dentists 1 space per treatment room plus 1 
space per 5 staff or other people. 

Hospitals 1 space per 5 staff or other people 

Public sports facilities 1 space per 5 staff (or other 
people) plus additional provision to 
be determined on its merits with the 
following guideline; 1 space per 
105m2. In the TDAs, additional 
provision should be increased to 
1:55m2 and in the TCA to 1:35m2. 

Primary/junior  schools 1 space per 10 5 pupils. 
Plus 1 space per 3 staff (or other 
people). 

Secondary/senior schools 1 space per 2 pupils. 
Plus 1 space per 3 staff (or other 
people). 

Non-residential higher/further education 1 space per 2 students (based on 
anticipated peak number of 
students on-site at any one time). 
Plus 1 space per 5 staff. 

Other developments To be treated on their individual merits, 
guided by the general principle of 1 
space per 5 people. 

 

Cycle parking provision should be made on the site. If there is a shortfall of on-site parking provision, 
a contribution may be sought towards off-site cycle parking or associated facilities, based on the 
standards set out in this appendix. 

 
These standards acknowledge rights of permitted development and changes of use, particularly from B2 

296



263 
 

and B8 uses to B1 business use. The standards will be applied to ensure that there would be 
adequate provision if permitted development were carried out, unless applicants are willing to accept a 
condition restricting their permitted developments rights in this respect. 

 
The reference to staff should be taken to mean the peak number of staff expected to be onsite at any 
one time, whether part-time or full-time. 

 
The standards are intended as minimum standards for new development and where appropriate, change 
of use. One space means that one bicycle can be secured. A bike stand for example Sheffield style 
stand, can provide two cycle-parking spaces. 

 
Cycle parking should be future proofed to ensure that the infrastructure to support the charging of 
electric bikes is supported. 

 
 
7.5 7.3 Shower and comfort facilities provision 

 
The City Council will seek the provision of shower, changing and locker facilities in commercial 
developments on the following basis: 

 

Office (B1) 1 shower per 500m2 up to 
1,000m2 1 shower per 
4,000m2 thereafter 

Warehousing (B8) and Retail warehouses 
(A1) 

1 shower per 5,000m2 up to 
10,000m2 1 shower per 
8,000m2 thereafter 

Other 1 shower per 2,500m2 up to 
10,000m2 1 shower per 
4,000m2 thereafter 

The application of these standards will be subject to the merits of each proposal. Except where 
specified, all areas quoted refer to gross floor space measured externally i.e. where proposals are 
submitted to extend, consolidate or reconfigure an existing site, these standards may be applied to the 
site as a whole rather than just the additional floor space, in order to ensure adequate provision on the 
site. 

 
 
Appendix 8: 
Chapter 8 - Providing communities with facilities and services and 
ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in and visit 
8.1 Marketing expectations 

 
• A property should be marketed for its existing use as a public house or live performance 

venue for a minimum period of at least 12 months. 
• The applicant should then submit a supporting statement to accompany a planning application 

for a change of use from a public house/live performance venue. 
• It should contain evidence to confirm the length of time the site has been marketed for; details of 

297



264 
 

the agent used; information to show where this marketing has taken place for example in the local 
press, through signs on site, on the internet and/or in journals or publications used by the trade. 

• The statement needs to confirm the price the property was advertised for to show that it has been 
pitched at a ‘reasonable’ rate to generate interest from potential operators. 

• Finally there needs to be a summary of the interest received and the reasons why offers have not 
been accepted. 

298



265 
 

Monitoring Framework 
 
Local authorities have a statutory duty to monitor the effectiveness of their planning policies. 
This is established in Regulation 34 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012, which requires LPAs to collect the relevant data and make it 
publicly available as part of an Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR). The Regulations 
prescribes what must be monitored, as follows: 

 
 

Regulation 34 (1) Progress with the Local Development Scheme (LDS). Specifically, 
• the title of local plans or Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) in 
the LDS, for each: the timetable for preparation should be specified, the 
stage the document has reached in its preparation, and whether the 
documents are behind schedule, identifying why it is the case if relevant 
• identifying LPs or SPDs adopted, specifying the date of 
adoption/approval. 

Regulation 34 (2) State when a policy is not being implemented, setting out the reasons 
why this is the case & identifying steps (if any) to implement. 

Regulation 34 (3) Housing delivery Include data on the number of net additional dwellings 
and net additional affordable dwellings. 
a) in the period in respect of which the report is made, and 
b) since the policy was first published, adopted or approved. 

Regulation 34 (4) Neighbourhood planning Details to be provided where an authority has 
made a neighbourhood development order or neighbourhood 
development plan. 

Regulation 34 (5) Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Include information specified in 
Regulation 62 (4) of the CIL Regulations 2010. The report should include 
details of CIL receipts and CIL expenditure for the reported year and 
provide summary details of CIL expenditure 

Regulation 34 (6) Duty to Co-operate Details to be provided of what action was taken 
during 
the period of the report in relation to the Duty to Cooperate, such as joint 
working, meetings, consultations. 

Regulation 34 (7) Make up-to-date data available as soon as possible in accordance with 
Regulation 35 – which requires a local authority to make documents 
readily 
available for inspection and comment at appropriate locations and 
online, for a minimum period of 6 weeks with respect to the local plan. 

299



266 
 

  
 

 
To meet these statutory requirements a monitoring framework, as set out below, has been 
produced to outline how the effectiveness the local plan policies will be monitored. It is 
comprised of indicators and targets specific to individual policies while cross-referencing to 
relevant parts of the Core Strategy. The indicators and targets that form the monitoring 
framework have been developed to be flexible enough to allow for adaptation as wider 
conditions change or as improved methods to monitor policies become available. As such 
they will be subject to regular review. 

 
The monitoring framework does not specifically include development management statistics 
on performance, other than those that directly relate to an identified indicator within the 
framework. Prior approvals are also monitored separately. 

 
It is expected that the monitoring data will be available for collection on at least an annual 
basis, unless indicated otherwise. For policies where clear outputs are required, such as 
those relating to housing delivery, specific targets have been included in the Monitoring 
Framework. This approach will help identify whether an annual target has been met and 
whether shortfalls exist. Performances against such targets can help to determine how well 
the Plan is working or what parts will require review or deletion. 

 
 
 
 
 

Street view down George Street not replicated in this 
draft but will remain in final version. 

 
 
 
 
 

Frideswide Square/Park End Street view not replicated 
in this draft but will remain in final version. 

300



267 
 

For policies where it is not appropriate to attach a clear target, the framework will make use 
of indicators that lend themselves to identifying broad trends that can determine a direction 
of travel. This can include either an increase or a decrease in a recorded indicator. 

 
For policies that provide helpful background information and where a specific target is not 
appropriate, the collected data will be labelled as a contextual indicator. 

 
 
Monitoring Site Policies 

 
Landowners and developers were involved in the development of the site allocation policies 
at a number of stages including the call for sites and commenting on the draft policies at the 
various consultation stages. This has given the authority a good understanding of which 
sites may be available, their potential uses and deliverability. This close liaison with 
landowners and developers will need to continue into the pre-application and planning 
application stages of the process to ensure the acceptability of any proposed development. 

 
The successful implementation of the allocations made in this document is dependent on the 
timely delivery of the infrastructure required to support it. As such the involvement of the 
various service and utility providers has been vital to ensure that they are aware of the level 
of growth projected to enable the identification and addressing of any particular capacity 
issues, ensuring that allocated sites are deliverable. 

301



268 
 

Monitoring Framework: Policies 
 

LP chapter LP 
Policy Title Implementation/Assessment 

method Indicators Target Information Source 

Economic 
Strengths 

 
 
 
 
 
 

E1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Employment Sites 

 
 
 

• Site plans 
 

• Economic Statement 
 

• Transport 
Assessment/Transport Plan 

a) Refusals or appeal decisions for 
developments resulting in loss of 
employment floorspace on 
Category 1 and 2 sites 

 
b) Net loss of employment 
floorspace on Category 3 sites 

 
c) Applications for changes of use 
from office to residential which are 
subject to notification to the 
council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

No net loss of employment floorspace comprising 
Category 1 and 2 sites 

 
 
 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

E2 

 
 
 

Teaching and Research 

 
• Design & Access Statement 

 
• Evidence of compliance with 

policy H8 

 
Net loss/increase in floorspace 
allocated for 
teaching/research/healthcare uses 
for Universities and hospitals 

 
 

No set targets but net increase over plan period in 
University teaching/research floorspace and hospitals 
floorspace 

 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• CIL/S106 

Monitoring 

 

E3 

New academic or admin 
floorspace for private 
colleges/language 
schools 

 Site and Floor Plans 
 

 Design & Access statement 

Net loss of B1 or residential 
floorspace resulting from change of 
use or redevelopment 

Other than exemptions, no net loss of B1 (including 
space with potential to function as B1) or residential 
floorspace 

 

DM Monitoring 

 
 

E4 

 
Securing opportunities 
for local employment, 
training and businesses 

 Management Plan 
 

 Evidence of compliance with 
legal agreement terms 

   
Schemes delivered through 
development of qualifying schemes 

   
No set targets but net increase in job and training 
opportunities created. 

 DM Monitoring 
 

 CIL/S106 
Monitoring 

Housing  
 
 

H1 

 
 
 

The scale of new 
housing provision 

  
 
 

Number of new homes delivered 
(completed) within the Plan period. 

a) A minimum of 10884 8500 new homes over the 
plan period. 

b) 425 dDwellings delivered per annum over the 
plan period as follows: 
2016/17 to 2020/21: 475 dpa 
2021/22 to 2035/36: 567 dpa 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Housing Services 
 

• Commercial data - 
e.g. Home 
Builders 
Federation 

302



269 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

H2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Delivering affordable 
homes 

 
 
 
 

• Site Plans showing allocated 
affordable housing units 

 
• Affordable housing 

statement - demonstration 
cascade policy is complied 
with 

 
• Viability appraisal if required 

 
a)i)Percentage of onsite affordable 
homes provided in larger 
developments (10 or more homes) 
    ii)Financial contributions from 
smaller developments (4 - 9 
homes) 
equivalent to 15% of gross 
development value. 

 
b)Level of financial contributions 
from non self-contained residential 
developments 

 
c)Level of financial contributions 
from student accommodation 
developments of 20+ rooms 

 
 
 
 
 

a) On qualifying development sites (10+ homes or 
exceeding 0.25ha): 50% affordable provision, of which 
40% is social rented 

 
b)No set target on financial contributions, the AMR will 
include report on contributions collected towards 
affordable housing provision. 

 
 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL Monitoring 
 

• Housing Services 

 
 

H3 

 

Employer linked 
affordable housing 

• Site plans 
 

• Evidence of compliance 
according to legal 
agreements 

 
a) Number of affordable homes 
delivered on specified sites within 
the Plan period. 

 
 

No set targets 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Applicant 
submitted 
information 

 
 
 
 
 

H4 

 
 
 
 
 

Mix of dwelling sizes 

 
 
 

• Site and Floor Plans 
 

• Design & Access statement 

 
 
 
 
 

Completions by dwelling size of 
qualifying schemes 

 

On qualifying sites (25+ homes [C3 residential] or sites 
of 0.5+ ha, o/s of the city centre or district centres): 

 
1 bedroom homes: 20-30% 
2 bedroom homes: 30-40% 
3 bedroom homes: 20-40% 
4 bedroom homes:  5-10% 
5+ bedroom homes: 3-5% 

 
 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

H5 

 
 
 

Development involving 
loss of dwellings 

• Plans 
 

• Evidence of necessity or 
demand for new use and no 
unacceptable impacts to 
neighbouring amenity 

 
a) Number of permitted changes of 
use from residential to other uses 

 
b) Net loss/gain of dwellings over 
plan period? 

 
 
 

No net loss of residential dwellings over plan period 

 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

H6 

 
 
 

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) 

• Design and Access statement 
showing compliance with 
guidance 

 
• Evidence of HMO proportion 

in adjoining area to 
application site 

 
a) Number of permitted changes of 
use that that meet policy criteria 

 
b) Percentage of approved purpose 
built HMOs that meets policy 
criteria 

 

a)100% compliance with policy criteria by converted 
and purpose built HMO properties. 

 
B)Proportion of buildings used as HMOs in vicinity of 
subject site (100m either side) does not exceed 20% 

 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

303



270 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

H7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community-led Housing 
and Self-build Housing 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Site plan showing allocated 
land, means of access 

 
• Evidence of marketing 

 

a)Site area allocated for self- 
build/community led housing on 
suitable development sites 

 
b)Number of community led and 
self build housing completions in 
plan period - CIL exemptions. 

 
c)Percentage of unsold self build 
plots brought forward after 12 
months of marketing 

 
d)Number of entries on Council 
self-build register 

 
 
 
 

a) 3ha of land [equivalent to 5% of site area of 
qualifying sites (50+ units)] 

 
b) 0% take-up of allocated allocated plots as self build 
developments. 

 
C) AMR will include report on the number of new 
entries in self-build register. 

 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Self build register 
 

• CIL monitoring 

 
 
 
 
 

H8 

 
 
 
 
 

Provision of new 
student accommodation 

• Site location plan 
 

• Evidence of growth need 
 

• Plans showing room layouts 
and communal areas 

 
• Design & Access statements 

 
• Management Strategy 

 
 

Net reduction/increase in 
floorspace allocated to student 
accommodation, including 
footprint of amenity space 
(outdoor amenity, parking etc) 
within City and District centres 

 
 

a) No net reduction in existing student 
accommodation floorspace without equivalent 
reprovision. 

 
b) No new student accommodation outside of 

policy designated locations 

 
 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

H9 

Linking the delivery of 
new/redeveloped and 
refurbished university 
academic facilities to the 
delivery of university 
provided residential 
accommodation 

 
 
 

• Evidence of compliance with 
student number threshold 

a) Net reduction/increase for in 
admin floorspace over plan period. 

 
B) Rate of reduction in number of 
full time students living in non- 
university provided 
accommodation within Oxford. 

 
a)Net increase in university academic/admin/research 
floorspace 

 
B) Threshold for Oxford University by 01/04/22: 1500 

 
Threshold for Oxford Brookes University at 
01/04/22: 4000 3000 

 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• University 

enrolment data 

 
 
 
 
 

H10 

 
 
 
 

Accessible and 
Adaptable Homes 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
including evidence of policy 
compliance 

a) Percentage of affordable and 
market dwellings in approved 
developments constructed to M4 
(2) standard. 

 
b) Percentage of dwellings in 
approved developments 
comprising of 4+ units constructed 
to M4(3) standards. 

 
a) Compliance: 
Affordable dwellings - 100%; Market dwellings - 15% 

 
b)Compliance: 
5% of all dwellings on sites of 20 or more dwellings that 
include on site affordable housing where City council is 
responsible for nominations (or a minimum of one 
dwelling for developments below 20 units) 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
• BC completion 

notices 
• Housing Team? 

304



271 
 

  
 
 
 

H11 

 
 
 

Older Persons and 
Specialist and Supported 
Living Accomodation 

• Site Plans 
 

• Plans showing layouts and 
amenity spaces 

 
• Design & Access Statement 

including evidence of policy 
compliance 

 
 

Net reduction/increase in 
floorspace used for older persons, 
specialist and supported living 
accommodation 

 
 
 

No net reduction in existing older persons, supported 
living accommodation without equivalent reprovision 

 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

H12 

 
 

Homes for Travelling 
Communities 

• Site plan showing access etc 
 

• Evidence of sufficient 
servicing, access and no 
negative impacts to 
neighbours or land 

 
a) Part of Duty to Cooperate (DTC) 

 
b) Number of gypsy and traveller 
pitches in Oxon 

 
 
 

Refer to Oxon target if set 

 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 
 
 

H13 

 
 
 
 
 

Homes for Boat Dwellers 

 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
or plans showing adequate 
servicing 

 
• Evidence from EA showing 

no negative impacts 

a) Approved applications that are 
subject to an unresolved objection 
by the body/agency responsible for 
managing the relevant waterway or 
on the grounds of adverse impacts 
to the environment or free 
movement. 

 
b) Number of applications for new 
residential moorings 

 
 
 
 
 

No residential mooring applications approved with 
unresolved objections – see c.f. AMR indicator 

 
 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

H14 

 
 

Privacy, daylight and 
sunlight 

 
• Plans 

 
• Daylight and Sunlight 

Assessments if required 

a) Approved developments that 
satisfy policy criteria 

 
b) Refusals or appeal decisions on 
the grounds of adverse impacts on 
privacy, daylight and sunlight 

 
 

Target inappropriate as implementation depends 
heavily on site context 

 
 
 

n/a 

 
 
 

H15 

 
 
 

Internal space standards 

 
• Plans 

 
• Design & Access Statement 

showing compliance 

a) Approved developments that 
satisfy policy criteria 

 
b) Refusals on the grounds of 
failing to meet internal space 
standards 

 
 

No applications approved involving creation of 
dwellings below National Space Standards 

 
 
 

n/a 

 
 
 

H16 

 
 
 

Outdoor amenity space 

 
• Plans 

 
• Design & Access Statement 

showing compliance 

a) Approved developments that 
satisfy policy criteria 

 
b) Refusals or appeal decisions on 
the grounds of insufficient outdoor 
amenity space 

 
 

Target inappropriate as implementation depends 
heavily on site context 

 
 
 

n/a 

305



272 
 

Resources and 
Environment 

 
 
 
 
 

RE1 

 
 
 
 

Sustainable Design and 
Construction 

 
 
 

• Energy Statement 
 

• Water Use Strategy 

 
 

a)Carbon reduction strategy in 
qualifying new build developments 

 
b) Water efficiency methods in 
compliance with policy 
requirements 

a) 40% reduction in carbon emissions compared to a 
code compliant base case 2013 Building Regulations (or 
future equivalent legislation). 

 
Requirement will increase to zero emissions over plan 
period (50% reduction by 2026, 100% by 2030). 

 
b) 100% compliance for all new residential 
development with Part G2 of water consumption target 
(110 litres per person per day) of 2013 Building 
Regulations (or future equivalent legislation). 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Applicant 
submitted 
information 

 
 

RE2 

 
 

Efficient Use of Land 

• Site plan 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
showing density of qualifying 
schemes 

 
a) Contextual indicator 

 
b) Built area densities of 

approved schemes 

 
a) No set targets 

 
b) No net increase in overall densities beyond 

what identified as suitable 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RE3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Flood Risk Management 

 
 
 
 
 

• Site specific FRA for relevant 
sites 

 
• Details of mitigation 

measures 

 
a) Net increase/reduction of built 
footprint on high risk flood areas 

 
b)Net increase/reduction in flood 
storage 

 
c)Approved applications that are 
subject to an unresolved objection 
by the body/agency responsible for 
managing the relevant waterway or 
on the grounds of adverse impacts 
to the environment or free 
movement. 

 
 
 

a) No net increase in built footprint of previously 
developed land on Flood Zone 3b area 

 
b) All approved schemes to be accompanied by site 
specific flood risk assessments 

 
c)No approvals subject to objections from 
Environmental Agency 

 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Environment 
Agency 

 
 

RE4 
Sustainable Drainage, 
Surface and 
Groundwater Flow 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Surface/groundwater 
assessments as required 

Approvals subject to objections 
from FRM officers or relevant 
agencies 

 
No approvals with unresolved objections from relevant 
officers/agencies 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 
 

RE5 

 
 
 

Health, Wellbeing and 
Health Impact 
Assessments 

 
 
 

• Health Impact Assessments 
for qualifying schemes 

a) Contextual Indicator 
 

b) Health and Quality of Life 
indicators contained in 
JSNA 

 
c) Programmes, facilities, 

infrastructure etc delivered 
through development 

 
 
 

No set targets but showing outcomes delivered through 
development 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL/S106 
Monitoring 

306



273 
 

  
 
 

RE6 

 
 
 

Air Quality 

 
• Design and Access Statement 

 
• Air Quality Report as 

required 

a) Contextual indicator 
 

b) Approvals subject to 
objections from 
Environmental Health 

 
c) Regional/Local data from 

Air Quality Index 

 
a) No set targets but showing outcomes delivered 

through development 
 

b) No approvals with unresolved objections from 
relevant officers/agencies 

 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• Environmental 

Health 

 
 
 
 
 
 

RE7 

 
 
 
 
 

Managing the impact of 
development 

• Site plan showing access etc 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
 

• Construction Management 
Plan 

 
• Transport Plan 

 
• Waste Management Plan if 

required 

 
a) Statutory requirements 

with respect to 
Environmental Protection 
legislation 

 
b) Refusals or appeal 

decisions on the grounds of 
unduly adverse impact of 
development on 
neighbouring/local amenity 

 
 
 
 
 

Multiagency delivery and dependent on context, 
therefore set target inappropriate 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Environmental Health 

 
RE8 

 
Noise and Vibration 

• Design and Access Statement 
 

• Noise Impact Assessment 

Statutory requirements with 
respect to Environmental 
Protection legislation 

Multiagency delivery and dependent on context, 
therefore set target inappropriate 

 
Environmental Health 

 
RE9 

 
Land Quality • Land contamination 

assessment as required 

Statutory requirements with 
respect to Environmental 
Protection legislation 

Multiagency delivery and dependent on context, 
therefore set target inappropriate 

 
Environmental Health 

Green Setting  
 
 

G1 

 
 

Protection of Green and 
Blue Infrastructure 
Network 

• Site plan 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
 

• Landscaping details 
 

• Biodiversity survey 

 
 

Proposals for Development that 
affects existing Green and Blue 
infrastructure 

 
 
 

No net loss/degradation of existing Green and Blue 
infrastructure 

 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• Natural England 

data 

 
 

G2 

 
Protection of 
Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 

• Site plans 
 

• Biodiversity/Geodiversity 
survey 

a)Number of approvals that impact 
special sites 

 
b)Net reduction of special sites 
footprint from baseline 

 
 

No net reduction in areas of special sites 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Natural England 
data 

 
 

G3 

 
 

Green Belt 

• Open Space Assessment 
 

• Biodiversity/Geodiversity 
survey 

 

Type and scale of development 
within Green Belt land 

a) No inappropriate development in Green Belt 
land 

 
b) No reduction in site area beyond amended 

boundaries 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Natural England 
data 

307



274 
 

  
 
 
 

G4 

 
 
 

Allotment and 
community food 
growing 

 
 

• Site plans - indicating no loss 
of existing allotment sites 

 
• Open Space Assessment if 

required 

 
a) Net loss/gain in footprint of 

protected allotment sites 
 

b) New community food 
growing spaces delivered 
as part of development 

 
 

a) No net reduction in footprint of protected 
allotment sites 

 
b) No set targets for new community food 

growing spaces 

 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

G5 

 
 
 

Outdoor sports 

• Open Space Assessment 
 

• Travel assessment/plan 
 

• Construction Management 
Plan 

a)Net reduction/increase in site 
area of outdoor sports facilities 

 
b)Areas of new sports/recreation 
space delivered through 
development 

 
a) No net reduction in outdoor sports/recreation 

facilities without reprovision of equivalent or 
suitable facilities. 

 
b) No set targets for new outdoor sports facilities 

 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• CIL/S106 

Monitoring 

 
 

G6 

 
 

Residential garden land 

• Site plan 
 

• Landscaping Details 
 

• Tree survey if required 

 
Approvals for development that are 
subject to objections from Council 
tree officers, and/or other relevant 
agencies (Natural England etc) 

 
a) No applications approved with unresolved 

objections. 
 

b) No net loss of land of biodiversity importance. 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 

G7 

 
 

Other Green and Open 
Spaces 

 Open Space Assessment 
 

 Evidence of need or demand 
for scheme 

Approvals for development or tree 
works that are subject to 
objections from Council tree 
officers, and/or other relevant 
agencies (Natural England etc) 

 
 

No applications approved with unresolved objections. 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 
 

G8 G7 

 
 
 

Protection of existing 
green infrastructure 
features 

• Tree survey as required 
 

• Biodiversity survey 
 

• Landscape details 
 

• Evidence of need or demand 
for scheme 

 
 

Approvals for development or tree 
works that are subject to 
objections from Council tree 
officers, and/or other relevant 
agencies 

 
 
 
 

No applications approved with unresolved objections. 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Natural England 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

G9 G8 

 
 
 
 
 
 

New and enhanced 
green infrastructure 
features 

 
 
 

• Site plan 
 

• Open Space Assessment 
 

• Biodiversity survey 
 

• SUDS 

 
a)Provision of public open space in 
qualifying developments. 

 
B) Approvals for development that 
are subject to objections from 
Council tree officers, and/or other 
relevant agencies (Natural England 
etc) 

 
c)Areas of new/enhanced 
infrastructure delivered through 
development 

 
 
 

a) For qualifying residential sites (1.5+ ha): 10% 
allocated as public open space; For mixed use sites: 
10% of residential proportion of development. 

 
B) no applications approved aprpoved with unresolved 
objections. 

 
C) No set target for new infrastructure 

 
 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL Monitoring 

308



275 
 

Design and 
Heritage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DH1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

High Quality Design and 
Placemaking 

 
 
 
 

• Site Plans 
 

• Plans showing internal 
layouts and outdoor spaces 

 
• Landscaping details 

 
• Design & Access Statement 

showing compliance 

a) Approved developments 
that satisfy policy criteria 

 
b) Number of appeals 

dismissed where design is 
the main issue 

 
c) Amount of new open space 

and landscaping as part of 
new development. 

 
d) Number of built 

environment-related 
awards for projects 

 
e) Number of applications 

granted contrary to officer 
advice where design was 
an important factor 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Target inappropriate as implementation depends 
heavily on site context 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 

DH2 

 
 

Views and building 
heights 

 
Plans 

 
Verified views? 

 
Approvals for development that are 
subject to objections from Council 
officers, and/or other relevant 
agencies (Historic England etc) 

 
 

No applications approved with unresolved objections. 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 
 

DH3 

 
 

Designated Heritage 
Assets 

• Plans 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
 

• Heritage Statement 

 
a) Number of buildings on HE 

buildings at risk register 
 

b) Number of listed buildings 
lost/demolished 

a) No increase in the number of listed buildings on 
Buildings at Risk register 

 
b) No permissions granted for development 

resulting in substantial harm or loss to 
nationally listed heritage assets. 

 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• Historic England 

 
 
 

DH4 

 
 
 

Archaeological Remains 

 
• Design & Access Statement 

 
• Heritage Statement - 

including archaeological 
evaluation as required 

a)Number of upheld appeals 
against refusals citing harm to 
archaeological impacts 

 
b) Approvals for development that 
are subject to objections from 
relevant officers/agencies 

 
 

a) No upheld appeals 
 

b) No approvals with unresolved objections from 
relevant officers/agencies 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• Historic England 

309



276 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DH5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Heritage Assets 

 
 
 
 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
 

• Heritage Statement 

a) Number of local heritage 
assets lost/demolished as a 
result of development 

 
b) Number of new additions 

to the Oxford Heritage 
Asset Register 

 
c) Approvals for development 

that are subject to 
objections from relevant 
officers/agencies 

 
d) % of applications for listed 

building consent submitted 
with a detailed heritage 
impact assessment 

 
 
 
 
 
 

a) No approvals with unresolved objections from 
relevant officers/agencies 

 
b) No loss of local heritage assets as a result of 

development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 

DH6 

 
 

Shopfronts and Signs 

• Plans 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
showing compliance 

Approvals for development that are 
subject to objections from relevant 
officers/agencies 

 
Target inappropriate as implementation depends 
heavily on site context 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

 
 

DH7 

 
External servicing 
features and stores 

• Plans 
 

• Design & Access Statement 
showing compliance 

a) Contextual indicator 
 

b) Approved developments 
that satisfy policy criteria 

 
Target inappropriate as implementation depends 
heavily on site context 

 
 

DM Monitoring 

Efficient 
Movement 

 
 
 
 

M1 

 
 
 

Prioritising walking, 
cycling and public 
transport 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Transport Assessment/Travel 
Plan 

a) Contextual indicator 
 

b) Transport infrastructure 
improvements delivered as 
part of development 

 
c) Walking, cycling and public 

transport usage levels at 
main cordons 

 
 
 

No set targets but positive overall trends, e.g. reduction 
in vehicular traffic at cordons, increased modal shift to 
sustainable transport – see c.f. AMR indicator. 

 
 

• CIL/S106 
Monitoring 

 
• County Council - 

Highways 

 
 
 
 

M2 

 
 
 

Assessing and Managing 
Development 

 
 

• Transport Assessment/Travel 
Plan 

 
• Construction Management 

Plan 

a) Contextual indicator 
 

b) Refusals on the grounds of 
insufficient assessment of 
impact of development 

 
c) Approvals subject to 

objections from relevant 
officers or agencies 

 
 

a) Target inappropriate as implementation 
depends heavily on site context 

 
b) No set targets but showing outcomes delivered 

through development 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• County Council - 
Highways 

 
• CIL Monitoring 

310



277 
 

  
 
 
 

M3 

 
 
 
 

Car Parking 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Transport Assessment/Travel 
Plan 

a) Net loss/gain of car parking 
spaces 

 
b) Parking provision for 

qualifying resi, non-resi 
schemes 

 
c) Number of applications 

refused on car 
parking/servicing grounds 

 
 
 
 

Net reduction in allocated car parking spaces serving 
non-residential dwellings 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• County Council - 
Highways 

 
 

M4 

 
Provision of electric 
charging points (ECP) 

• Plans 
 

• Transport Assessment/Travel 
Plan 

 
Number of ECPs delivered through 
development 

 
Minimum 10% provision for ECP in approved non- 
allocated parking 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• County Council - 
Highways 

 
 
 
 
 

M5 

 
 
 
 
 

Cycle Parking 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Transport Assessment/Travel 
Plan 

a) Contextual indicators 
 

b) Cycle parking standards 
 

c) Net loss/gain of cycle 
parking spaces 

 
d) Number of applications 

refused on car 
parking/servicing grounds 

 
 
 
 

No set targets but showing outcomes delivered through 
development 

 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL Monitoring 

Vibrant and 
Enjoyable 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ensuring the vitality of 
centres 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Planning/D & A statement- 
including impact assessment 
with evidence of no adverse 
impact on viability of centres 

 
• Justification evidence if town 

centre use developed 
elsewhere 

a) Contextual indicator 
 

b) Development of 
appropriate main town 
centre uses within city 
centre and district/local 
centres. 

 
c) Approvals for development 

of town centre uses 
outside of a centre 

 
d) Public realm 

works/enhancements as a 
result of development 

 
 
 
 
 

a) No set targets but showing outcomes delivered 
through development 

 
b) No town centre uses approved in inappropriate 

locations 

 
 
 
 
 

• DM monitoring 
 

• S106 monitoring 

311



278 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shopping frontages in 
the city centre 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Evidence of compliance with 
thresholds 

 
• Justification evidence for 

proposals that result in 
breach of thresholds, 
including: 
-sufficient marketing 
evidence 
-evidence of changing retail 
needs 
-impact assessment with 
evidence of no adverse 
impact on function, 
attractiveness or character 
of city centre 
-promotion of increased 
footfall and active frontage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a) Proportion of retail and 
other class A floorspace 
within shopping frontages 

 
b) Proportion of town centre 

uses within shopping 
frontages 

 
 
 
 

a) Class A2 - A5 proposals: Proportion of Class A1 uses 
does not fall below 60% within primary shopping 
frontage or 40% within the rest of shopping frontage 

 
b) Other town centre proposals: Class A1 uses does not 
fall below 60% within primary shopping frontage or 
40% of total number of units of the shopping frontage, 
and where proportion of ground floor units does not 
fall below 85% in primary shopping shopping frontage 
or rest of shopping frontage 

 
c) Proposals within Westgate shopping centre: 
-Class A1 (retail) uses: no less than 60% 
-Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, 
restaurant, pub and take-away) uses: no less than 20% 
-Class D2 (assembly and leisure) uses: the existing 
library floorspace should be maintained 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DM monitoring 

 
 
 
 
 

V3 

 
 
 
 
 

The Covered Market 

 
 
 
 

• Evidence of compliance with 
use thresholds 

 

a) Proportion of retail and 
other town centre uses 
within CM site 

 
b) Approvals subject to 

objections from relevant 
officers/agencies 

a) No net loss of units within Covered Market sets 
below baselines as follows: 
Class A2-A5 - 80% 

 
b) Proportion of A1 does not fall below 40% of the 

total number of units within the defined 
Shopping Frontage and the proportion of Class 
A uses does not fall below 85% of the total 
number of units within the defined Shopping 
Frontage. 

 
 
 
 
 

DM monitoring 

 

312



279 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

District and Local Centre 
Shopping Frontages 

 
 
 
 

• Plans 
 

• Evidence of compliance with 
thresholds 

 
• Justification evidence for 

proposals that result in 
breach of thresholds, 
including: 
-sufficient marketing 
evidence 
-evidence of changing retail 
needs 
-impact assessment with 
evidence of no adverse 
impact on function, 
attractiveness or character 
of city centre 
-promotion of increased 
footfall and active frontage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a) Development of town 
centre uses within District 
and Local Shopping 
Frontages 

 
b) Proportion of retail and 

other class A floorspace 
within shopping frontages 

 
c) Proportion of town centre 

uses within shopping 
frontages 

 
 
 

a) Cowley Centre District Centre: 
o Class A2 - A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take- 
away) proposals: Proportion of Class A1 uses at ground floor level does not 
fall below 60% of the total number of units within defined shopping frontage 
o Other town centre proposals: Class A1 uses does not fall below 60% of 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage and proportion of 
class A uses does not fall below 85% of total number of units within defined 
shopping frontage 

 
b) East Oxford-Cowley Road, Headington, and Summertown District Centres: 
o Class A2 - A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take- 
away) proposals: Proportion of Class A1 uses does not fall below 50% of the 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage 
o Other town centre proposals: Class A1 uses does not fall below 50% of 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage and proportion of 
class A uses does not fall below 85% of total number of units within defined 
shopping frontage 

 
c) Blackbird Leys District Centre: 
o Class A2 - A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take- 
away) proposals: Proportion of Class A1 uses does not fall below 40% of the 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage 
o Other town centre proposals: Class A1 uses does not fall below 40% of 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage and proportion of 
class A uses does not fall below 85% of total number of units within defined 
shopping frontage 

 
d) Local Centres: 
o Class A2 - A5 (financial and professional services, restaurant, pub and take- 
away) proposals: Proportion of Class A1 uses does not fall below 40% of the 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage 
o Other town centre proposals: Class A1 uses does not fall below 40% of 
total number of units within defined shopping frontage and proportion of 
class A uses does not fall below 85% of total number of units within defined 
shopping frontage 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DM monitoring 

 
 
 
 
 
 

V5 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainable Tourism 

• Site plans 
 

• Design and Access statement 
showing no adverse impacts 
to neighbouring amenity 

 
• Transport Plan/Transport 

Assessment 
 

• Evidence of viability, need or 
demand for accommodation 

 

a) Development of new or 
approved changes of use 
for short stay 
accommodation premises 
in the city centre, district 
centres and allocated sites 

 
b) Development of new 

tourist attractions 

 
 
 
 

a) No net increase in short stay accommodation 
premises above baseline set in Local Plan Core 
strategy – see c.f. AMR indicator 

 
b) Net increase in longer stay accommodation 

 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL Monitoring 

 

313



280 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cultural and social 
activities 

 
• Design and Access statement 

showing no adverse impacts 
to neighbouring amenity 

 
• Transport Plan/Transport 

Assessment 
 

• Evidence of viability, need or 
demand for development 

 
• Justification/Marketing 

Evidence for proposals 
involving loss of public 
houses or live performance 
venues 

 
 
 
 
 

a)Development of cultural, 
entertainment, leisure and tourism 
uses 

 
b)Approvals for changes of use of 
public houses or live performance 
venues 

 
 
 
 
 
 

a) No set targets but showing outcomes delivered 
through development 

 
b) No net loss of assets of community value without 
equivalent reprovision 

 
 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL Monitoring 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Infrastructure and 
cultural and community 
facilities 

 
 

• Plans 
 

• Design and Access statement 
showing no adverse impacts 
to neighbouring amenity 

 
• Transport Plan/Transport 

Assessment 
 

• Evidence of viability, need or 
demand for development 

a) Net loss/gain of cultural 
and community facilities 
including: 

 
b) Education/training facilities 

(sqm) 
Community meeting places 
(sqm) 
Indoor sports facilities 
(sqm) 
Primary healthcare 
facilities 

 
c) Number of Assets of 

Community Value 
registrations 

 
 
 
 
 
 

a) No net loss of cultural and community facilities 
without equivalent reprovision 

 
b) Net increase in community facilities 

 
 
 
 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• S106 Monitoring 

 
 
 
 

V8 

 
 
 
 

Utilities 

 
 
 

• Evidence - water and 
sewerage infrastructure 

a) Provision of strategic and 
service infrastructure to 
support new development 

 
b) Refusals on the grounds of 

insufficient 
utility/infrastructure 
capacity to support 
development 

 
 

a) Multiagency delivery, therefore set target not 
appropriate 

 
b) No set targets 

 
 

• DM Monitoring 
 

• CIL Monitoring 

 
 
 

V9 

 
 
 

Utilities 

 
 
 
• Evidence – broadband and digital 

infrastructure 

a) Provision of appropriate 
duct infrastructure for the 
installation of fibre 
broadband 

b) Other forms of digital 
infrastructure 

 
 

a) Multiagency delivery, therefore set target not 
appropriate 

 
b) No set targets 

 
 
• DM Monitoring 

 
• CIL Monitoring 

314



281 
 

Monitoring Framework: Sites 
 

Site Policy Ref Location Acceptable uses Site Specific Requirements Potential dDelivery 
Pathway/Partnerships 

 
 
 

SP1 

 
 
 

West End 

 Mixed use development including residential and 
student accommodation 

 Planning permission will only be granted for 
redevelopment of station and Becket Street Car Park 
if it improves station, creates a strong sense of arrival 
to Oxford and is in Accordance with Oxford Station 
SPD. 

 
 

• Oxpens and Island Site applications must 
be accompanied by site specific FRAs and 
details of mitigation measures. 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 

SP2 

 
 

Osney Mead 

• Mixed use development including employment uses, 
academic uses, student accommodation, employer 
linked affordable housing and market housing. 

 
• Development of innovation quarter is encouraged. 

 
 

• Site specific FRA with details of mitigation 
measures. 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 
 
 

SP3 

 
 
 
 

Cowley Centre, Between Towns Road 

 
 

• Retail led mixed use development including 
commercial leisure, community facilities, 
employment uses and residential development. 

 
• Other town centre uses may also be appropriate. 

• Regard should given to any Cowley Centre 
masterplan and proposals must not 
prejudice comprehensive development of 
the whole site. 

 
• Improved bus stopping facilities 

 
• Improved public realm with high design 

standard 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County Council 

 
• Local bus 

companies 
 
 
 

SP4 

 
 
 

Blackbird Leys Central Area 

• Mixed use development including retail, start-up 
employment units, residential and community 
facilities. 

 
• Other appropriate district centre uses including 

education, live/work units, sport and commercial 
leisure. 

• Consideration must be given to 
regeneration plan for Blackbird Leys area 
and proposals must not prejudice the 
comprehensive development of whole 
site. 

 
• Assessment of onsite and neighbouring 

waste water capacity 

 
 
 

As part of development 

 
 

SP5 

 
 

Summer Fields School Athletics Track 

 
 

• Residential dwellings only 

 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle access 
across whole site 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County Council 

315



282 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SP6 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Diamond Place and Ewert House, 
Summertown 

 
 
 
 
 

• Mixed use development including residential, 
employment and student accommodation uses 

 
• Other town centre uses may be appropriate 

• Ground floor level retail 
 

• Sufficient car and cycle parking at 
reasonable levels to serve local area 

 
• Local temporary car parking provision 

during construction phase 
 

• Cycle stands on site 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 
and through site 

 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 

 
 
 

SP7 

 
 
 

276 Banbury Road 

 Housing 
 

 Student accommodation 
 

 Short stay accommodation 
 

 Other town centre uses 

 
 

 Uses resulting in active frontages onto 
Banbury Road and in compliance with 
Policy V4 to be located on ground floor 
level 

 
 
 

As part of development 

 
 
 

SP8 SP7 

 
 
 

Unipart 

 
 

• B1/B2 employment uses, B8 uses where they support 
employment activities on site 

 
 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
and enhancement of sustainable travel 
options 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 
 
 

   SP9 SP8 

 
 

Mini Plant Oxford 
Oxford BMW Mini Plant 

 
 

• B1/B2 employment uses, B8 uses where they support 
employment activities on site 

 
 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
and enhancement of sustainable travel 
options 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 
 

SP10 SP9 

 
The Oxford Science Park (Littlemore & 
Minchery Farm) 

 
• B1 employment uses 

 
• Buffer alongside railway corridor 

 
• Reduced on site car parking provision 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 
 

SP11 SP10 

 
 
 

Oxford Business Park 

 
 

• B1/B2 employment uses only 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
and enhancement of sustainable travel 
options 

 
• Biodiversity survey, esp of undeveloped 

plots 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 

316



283 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SP12 SP11 

 
 
 
 
 

Sandy Lane Recreation Ground and 
Land to the Rear of the Retail Park 

 
 
 

• Residential dwellings 
 

• Enhanced outdoor sports facilities - at least 2 full 
sized football pitches and one junior pitch. 

• Some appropriately sited land should be 
safeguarded to allow for future 
development of a passenger station for 
the Cowley Branchline. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any 
other uses. 

 
• Residential development should be 

located on the western part of the site 
with access from Blackbird Leys Road. 

 
 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 

SP13 SP12 

 
 

Northfield Hostel, Sandy Lane West 

• Residential, education or extra care accommodation 
 

• Residential uses will only be granted if site is no 
longer needed for a school and hostel. 

 
 

It must be demonstrated that there is no unmet 
need for extra care accommodation. 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 

SP14 SP13 

 

Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing only 

 

- 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 
 

SP15 SP14 

 
 
 

Kassam Stadium Sites 

• Residential dwellings 
 

• Ancillary commercial leisure, education and small 
scale local shops 

 
• Public open space 

 
• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 

 
• Active frontages facing onto new open 

space 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 
 
 
 

SP16 SP15 

 
 
 
 
 

Knights Road 

 
 
 

• Residential dwellings 
 

• Public open space 

• Biodiversity survey 
 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Site specific Flood Risk assessment 
 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

SP17 SP16 Government Buildings site and 
Harcourt House 

• Residential, student accommodation and academic 
institutional uses 

• SUDS, biodiversity survey required As part of development 

 
 
 

SP18 SP17 

 
 
 

Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth 
Student Village 

• Additional academic/teaching facilities 
 

• Associated sport, social, leisure facilities 
 

• Student accommodation 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing 

 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle access 
across whole site 

 
• Minimised on site car parking 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County Council 

317



284 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SP19 SP18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Surrounding St Clement’s Church 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Residential dwellings only 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Ground/surface water study 
 

• Development should be set back from the 
Marston Road to maintain the open 
character of this part of Marston Road and 
the green setting of the Church. 

 
• Trees along the frontage and surrounding 

the church should be retained. 
 

• Consideration should be given to 
conservation area setting and context of 
Grade II* listed church partially within a 
view cone and fronting open river valley to 
the west 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As part of development 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SP20 SP19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Churchill Hospital Site 

 
 
 
 
 

Further hospital uses, and other uses with operational link to 
hospital or complementary acceptable uses, eg: 

 
• Employment B1(b), B1( c), B2 
• Patient hotel 
• Primary health care 
• Employer linked affordable housing 
• Education/academic institutional 
• Student accommodation 
• Small scale retail units if ancillary to hospital 

• Developments must comply with Policy H9 
 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
with mitigation measures against 
increased parking pressure on 
neighbouring residential streets 

 
• Enhancement of sustainable travel options 

 
• Developments must not prejudice bus 

access to site 
 

• Tree survey, with important trees retained 
 

• Groundwater and surface water 
assessment 

 
• Buffer zone to SSSI 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As part of development 

318



285 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SP21 SP20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Further healthcare facilities and medical research 
including staff and patient facilities 

 
• Employer linked affordable housing 

• Developments must comply with Policy H9 
 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
with mitigation measures against 
increased parking pressure on 
neighbouring residential streets 

 
• Developments must not prejudice bus 

access to site 
 

• Enhancement of sustainable travel options 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 
and through site 

 
• Groundwater and surface water 

assessment 
 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Buffer zone to SSSI 
 

• Assessment of onsite and neighbouring 
waste water capacity may be required 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 

• Local bus 
companies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SP22 SP21 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Old Road Campus 

 
 
 
 
 
 

• Additional medical teaching and research facilities 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
with mitigation measures against 
increased parking pressure on 
neighbouring residential streets 

 
• Assessment of traffic and transport 

impacts of development 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 
and through site 

 
• Groundwater and surface water 

assessment 
 

• Details of SUDS 

 
 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 

 
 
 
 
 

SP23 SP22 

 
 
 
 
 

Warneford Hospital 

• Healthcare, hospital and medical research facilities 
 

• Residential uses, including employer 
linked affordable housing 

 
• Student accommodation 

 
• Education/academic institutional 

 
• Employment B1(a), B1(b) uses provided operational 

link to hospital uses 

 
 
 
 

• Assessment of water supply and sewerage 
capacity 

 
• Details of SUDS 

 
 
 
 
 

As part of development 

319



286 
 

 

SP24 SP23 

 

Marston Paddock 
• Residential dwellings only 

 
• Public Open Space 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 

SP25 SP24 

 

St Frideswide Farm 
• Residential dwellings only 

 
• Public Open Space 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 

SP26 SP25 

 

Hill View Farm 
• Residential dwellings only 

 
• Public Open Space 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 

SP27 SP26 

 

Land West of Mill Lane 
• Residential dwellings only 

 
• Public Open Space 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 

SP28 SP27 

 
 

Park Farm 

 
• Residential dwellings only 

 
• Public Open Space 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

 
• SUDS 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 

SP29 SP28 

 
 

Pear Tree Farm 

 
• Residential dwellings only 

 
• Public Open Space 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 
 

• Active frontages facing onto new open 
space 

 
• Biodiversity survey on application 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 
 

SP30 SP29 

 
 
 

Land East of Redbridge Park & Ride 

 
 

• Residential dwellings only, including residential 
moorings with associated servicing facilities. 

 

• Groundwater and surface water 
assessment 

 
• Buffer zone to SSSI 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• British 

Waterways? 

SP31 SP30 St. Catherine's College Road • Student accommodation and other university related 
development 

• Biodiversity survey As part of development 

 
 

SP32 SP31 

 
 

Banbury Road University Sites 

• Academic institutional uses 
 

• Student accommodation 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing 

 
• Groundwater and surface water 

assessment 
 

• Buffer zone to SSSI 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 

SP33 SP32 

 
 

Bertie Place Recreation Ground and 
Land Behind Wytham Street 

 
• Residential development on Plot A 

 
• New school if playing fields provided on Plot B 

 
• Site specific Flood Risk Assessment 

 
• Biodiversity survey 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County Council 

320



287 
 

 
 
 
 

SP34 SP33 

 
 
 
 

Canalside Land, Jericho 

• Residential use 
 

• Public open space 
 

• Community centre of suitable size 
 

• Replacement operating boatyard and winding yard 
 

• New pedestrian and cyclist bridge over Oxford canal 

 
• Site specific Flood Risk Assessment 

 
• Details of SUDS 

 
• Impact assessment of increased visitor 

numbers with mitigation measures 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County Council 

 
• British 

Waterways? 

 

SP35 SP34 

 

Court Place Gardens 
• Graduate student accommodation 

 
• Employment linked housing 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Ground/surface water study 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

SP36 SP35  
Cowley Marsh Depot 

• Residential dwellings only • On site depot must be relocated prior to 
development 

As part of development 

 
 

SP37 SP36 

 
 

Faculty of Music 

• Academic institutional uses 
 

• Student accommodation 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing 

• Developments must be compliant with 
Policy H8 

 
• Consideration should be given to character 

of conservation area and context of 
nearby listed buildings 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

SP38 SP37 Former Barns Road East Allotments • Residential dwellings only - As part of development 
 
 
 

SP39 SP38 

 
 
 

Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields 

 
• Residential dwellings or employer linked affordable 

housing if no other County site is used for this 
purpose 

 
• Public open space 

• Biodiversity survey 
 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Groundwater survey if required 
 

• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 
 

SP40 SP39 

 
 
 

Grandpont Car Park 

 
 

• Residential dwellings or employer linked affordable 
housing if no other County site is used for this 
purpose 

 
 
 

- 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 
 
 
 

SP41 SP40 

 
 
 
 

Jesus College Sports Ground 

 
 
 
 

• Residential dwellings with new public open space at 
sports ground 

• Consideration should be given to 
Bartlemas conservation area and 
enhancements to nearby listed buildings 
and their setting. 

 
• Minimum 25% of site as public open space 

 
• Active frontages facing onto new open 

space and Barracks Lane 

 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 

321



288 
 

 
 
 
 
 

SP42 SP41 

 
 
 
 
 

John Radcliffe Hospital Site 

Further hospital uses, and other uses with operational link to 
hospital or complementary acceptable uses, eg: 

 
• Employment B1(b), B1( c), B2 
• Patient hotel 
• Primary health care 
• Employer linked affordable housing 
• Education/academic institutional 
• Student accommodation 
• Small scale retail units if ancillary to hospital 

 
 
 
 

• Details of SUDS 

 
 
 
 
 

As part of development 

 
SP43 SP42 

 
Land at Meadow Lane 

 
• Residential dwellings 

• Biodiversity survey 
 

• Site specific flood risk assessment 

 
As part of development 

 
 
 

SP44 SP43 

 
 
 

Lincoln College Sports Ground 

 
 
 

• Residential dwellings with new public open space 

• Existing cricket pitch must be retained on 
the open space unless an alternative 
suitable site is found 

 
• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 

 
• Active frontages facing onto new open 

space 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 
 
 

SP45 SP44 

 
 
 
 

Littlemore Park 

 
 

• B1 employment uses and complementary 
appropriate uses 

 
• Residential development acceptable provided 

equivalent reprovision of employment area and no 
overall loss of employment site area city wide 

• Playing field reprovided or contribution 
made to another facility 

 
• Site specific flood risk assessment 

 
• Biodiversity survey 

 
• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 

and through site 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 
 

• County 
Council? 

 
 
 
 

SP46 SP45 

 
 
 
 

Manor Place 

 
 
 

• Student accommodation, car free residential 
development or mixture of both 

• Details of SUDS 
 

• Ground/surface water study 
 

• Site specific flood risk assessment 
 

• Buffer zone during construction to 
safeguard New Marston SSSI 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 

 
 

SP47 SP46 

 
 

Manzil Way Resource Centre 

• Improved health care facilities 
 

• Associated administration 
 

• Residential dwellings including employer 
linked affordable housing 

• If market housing and employer 
linked affordable housing are to be 
provided, sufficient market offer must be 
provided to ensure affordable housing 
provision to comply with Policy H2. 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
SP48 SP47 

 
 

Nielsen, London Road Thornhill Park 

 
• Residential led dwelling 

• Employment generating development 
(category 2) must be retained on site 

• S106 

 

322



289 
 

    • As part of 
development 

 
 

SP49 SP48 

 
 

Old Power Station 

 Student accommodation, residential development or 
mixture of both 

 
 Academic Institutional uses 

 
• Site specific flood risk assessment 

 
 

As part of development 

 
 

SP50 SP49 

 
Oriel College land at King Edward 
Street and High Street 

• Student accommodation, residential development or 
mixture of both 

 
• Suitable town centre uses 

 
• Active frontage maintained at ground floor 

level 

 
 

As part of development 

 
 
 

SP51 SP50 

 
 
 

Oxford Brookes Marston Road Campus 

• Academic institutional uses 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing 
 

• Residential dwellings only acceptable if university 
vacates the site 

 
 

• Details of SUDS 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 
 
 

SP52 SP51 

 
 
 

Oxford Stadium (Greyhound stadium) 

• Revival of stadium for greyhound racing and/or 
speedway 

 
• Other complementary community or leisure uses 

 
• Residential dwellings in areas that would not impact 

operation or heritage impact (e.g. car park) 

 
• No increase in car parking levels 

 
• Adequate access to site to support leisure 

uses 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SP53 SP52 

 
 
 
 
 

Oxford University Press Sports Ground, 
Jordan Hill 

 
 

• Residential dwellings 
 

• Public open space at Oxford University Press Sports 
Grounds. 

 
• Complementary B1 employment uses would also be 

suitable. 

• Existing cricket pitch must be retained on 
the open space unless an alternative 
suitable site is found 

 
• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 

 
• Active frontages facing onto new open 

space 
 

• Safeguarding of Port Meadow SSSI along 
with appropriate traffic mitigation 
measures. 

 
 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

SP54 SP53 No.1 Pullens Lane • Residential dwellings • Biodiversity survey As part of development 

323



290 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SP55 SP54 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Radcliffe Observatory Quarter 

 
 
 

• Academic institutional uses 
 

• Student accommodation 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing 

• Development must comply policy H9 
 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 
and through the site 

 
• Impact assessment of potential visitor 

pressure on Port Meadow SSSI 
 

• Assessment of onsite and neighbouring 
waste water capacity 

 
 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 

 
 
 
 

SP56 SP55 

 
 
 
 

Ruskin College Campus 

• Academic uses 
 

• Student accommodation 
 

• Employer linked affordable housing 
 

• Development may include open space, sports 
facilities and allotments 

• Reduction in onsite car parking provision 
 

• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 
and through the site 

 
• Consideration should be given to Old 

Headington Conservation area and 
enhancements to nearby listed buildings 
and their setting. 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 
 

• County 
Council? 

 

SP57 SP56 

 

Ruskin Field 

 
• Expansion of college or residential use which may 

include employer linked affordable housing 

• Consideration should be given to Old 
Headington conservation area and 
enhancements to nearby listed buildings 
and their setting. 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 
 
 

SP58 SP57 

 
 
 
 

Slade House 

 
• Improved health care facilities 

 
• Associated administration 

 
• Residential dwellings including employer 

linked affordable housing 

• Development must comply policy H2 
 

• Impact assessment of potential visitor 
pressure on Brasenose & Shotover Park 
SSSI 

 
• Ground/surface water assessment 

 
• Details of SUDS 

 
 
 
 

As part of development 

 

SP59 SP58 

 

Summertown House 
• Student accommodation 

 
• Employer linked affordable housing 

• Consideration should be given to impact 
on the character of the nearby listed 
building 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
 
 

SP60 SP59 

 
 
 

Union Street car park 

 
• Residential uses 

 
• Student accommodation 

 
• Car parking at Union Street Car Park 

 

• Local temporary car parking provision 
during construction phase 

 
• Cycle stands must be provided on site 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 

324



291 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    SP61 SP60 

 
 
 
 
 
 

University of Oxford Science Area and 
Keble Road Triangle 

 
 
 
 
 

• Academic institutional with associated research uses 

• Development must comply with Policy H9 
 

• Development must retain and enhance 
existing listed buildings 

 
• Enhancements to public realm through 

rationalisation of car parking 
arrangements 

 
• Enhanced pedestrian and cycle links to 

and through site 
 

• Traffic impact assessment with mitigation 
measures as required 

 
 
 
 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 

SP62 SP61 Valenita Road • Residential dwellings - As part of development 
 
 
 

SP63 SP62 

 
 
 

West Wellington Square 

 
• Academic institutional 

 
• Student accommodation 

 
• Employer linked affordable housing 

 
• Consideration should be given to impact 

on the character of the nearby listed 
building 

 
• Reduction in onsite car parking 

• S106 
 

• As part of 
development 

 
• County 

Council? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SP64 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wolvercote Paper Mill 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Residential dwellings 

Public open space 

Complementary small scale employment units and 
community facilities 

 Residential and any employment, 
community uses must be located on Plot A 
only 

 
 No inappropriate development on Green 

Belt land 
 

 Consideration should be given to 
Wolvercote with Godstow conservation 
area and enhancements to nearby listed 
buildings and their setting. 

 
 Site specific assessment of impact on air 

quality during construction and post- 
implementation, showing no impact on 
Oxford Meadows SAC 

 
 Impact assessment of potential visitor 

pressure on Port Meadows SSSI 
 

 Details of SUDS 
 

 Hydrological survey/Groundwater and 
surface water flows 

 
 Biodiversity survey 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• S106 
 

 As part of 
development 

325



292 
 

SP65 SP63 Bayard's Hill Primary School Part 
Playing Fields 

• Employer linked affordable housing only - As part of development 

 
 
 

SP66 SP64 

 
 
 

William Morris Close Sports Ground 

 
 

• Residential dwellings 
 

• Public open space 

• Existing cricket pitch must be retained on 
the open space unless an alternative 
suitable site is found 

 
• Minimum 10% of site as public open space 

 
• Active frontages facing onto new open 

space 

 
• S106 

 
• As part of 

development 

 

326



Report to Oxford City Council 

by Jonathan Bore MRTPI and Nick Fagan MRTPI 

Inspectors appointed by the Secretary of State  

Date:  15 May 2020 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

(as amended) 

Section 20 

Report on the Examination of the 

Oxford Local Plan 2036 

The Plan was submitted for examination on 22 March 2019. 

The examination hearings were held between 3 December and 19 December 2019. 

File Ref: PINS/G3310/429/7 

Appendix 2

327



 
 

2 
 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

Introduction  6 

Assessment of Legal Compliance  7 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  7 

Assessment of Soundness  8 

Issue 1: Whether the plan’s calculation of housing need is sound  8 

Issue 2 – Whether the Plan’s capacity-based housing requirement is 

soundly based and whether a 5 year housing land supply can be 

demonstrated from adoption and maintained 

                                   

12 

Issue 3 – Whether the Plan takes a sound approach towards meeting 

the housing needs of different groups in the community 

            

16 

Issue 4 – Whether the Plan’s approach towards business 

development and teaching and research are sound 

             

22 

Issue 5 – Whether there are exceptional circumstances for altering 

the boundary of the Green Belt, and whether the plan’s policy 

towards the protection of the Green Belt is sound 

                

25 

Issue 6 – Whether the Plan’s policies towards sustainable design and 

construction, flood risk management, drainage and other 

environmental matters are sound 

 

26 

Issue 7 – Whether the plan’s policies for biodiversity, the Green and 

Blue Infrastructure Network, open space, sports and recreation are 

sound 

 

29 

Issue 8 – Whether the plan’s policies for enhancing Oxford’s heritage 

and creating high quality new development are sound 

             

30 

Issue 9 – Whether the plan’s policies for transport and movement 

are sound 

            

31 

Issue 10 – Whether the plan’s policies in respect of retailing, town 

centre uses, tourism and cultural development are sound 

             

33 

Issue 11 – Whether the plan’s policies concerning infrastructure 

provision are sound 

            

35 

Issue 12 - Whether the Plan’s site allocations are sound 36 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 45 

 

328



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

3 

 

Abbreviations used in this report 

 

dpa Dwellings per annum 

HELAA Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment 
LHN Local Housing Need 

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

MM Main Modification 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
OAN Objectively Assessed Need 

ONS Office for National Statistics 

PPG Planning Practice Guidance 
SAC Special Area of Conservation 

SHMA Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  

329



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

4 

 

Non-Technical Summary 

 

This report concludes that the Oxford Local Plan 2036 provides an appropriate 
basis for the planning of the District, provided that a number of main modifications 

(MMs) are made to it. Oxford City Council has specifically requested us to 

recommend any MMs necessary to enable the Plan to be adopted. 

 
All the MMs were subject to public consultation over a six-week period and were 

subject to sustainability appraisal by the Council. In some cases we have amended 

their detailed wording and added consequential modifications where necessary.  
We have recommended their inclusion in the Plan after considering all the 

representations made in response to consultation on them. 

 

The Main Modifications can be summarised as follows: 
 

• The housing requirement: the establishment of a new capacity-based 

housing requirement figure and a new stepped trajectory for the number of 
homes to be built per year, to ensure a sound and deliverable plan. 

 

• Affordable housing: the deletion of requirements for small housing 
developments and campus-located student housing developments to 

contribute towards affordable housing, and the clarification of policy towards 

employer-linked affordable housing, in the interests of effectiveness and to 

ensure alignment with national policy. 
 

• Student accommodation: the deletion of a policy resisting new student 

housing other than for occupation by students from the two Universities and 
Ruskin College, in the interests of soundness; and a modification to the 

criteria requiring the provision of new student accommodation in connection 

with new academic-related development, to ensure the policy is effective. 
 

• Employment policies: the establishment of new criteria for development on 

certain employment sites to allow for flexibility and positive planning; the 

removal of the restriction on the establishment and expansion of private 
colleges; and the deletion of a policy relating to local recruitment, local 

procurement and wage levels. 

 
• Standards: adjustments and clarifications in relation to space standards for 

homes, energy, carbon reduction and water use to reflect national guidance 

and local circumstances.  
 

• Flood risk and drainage: the deletion of the reference in the policy to the 

Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme because key details of the project are not 

known, and the provision of new wording relating to foul and surface water 
drainage, in the interests of effectiveness. 

 

• Green and Blue Infrastructure: the alignment of the open space, sport and 
recreation policies with national policy in the NPPF. 

 

• Heritage assets: the alignment of policies with national policy in the NPPF. 

 
• Shopfronts and advertisements: modifications to ensure that the policies and 

text accurately reflect the legislative background. 

330



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

5 

 

 

• Movement: the provision of criteria for assessing developments, based on 

the NPPF; and new and modified policy and text concerning transport 
assessments, travel plans, construction management plans, vehicle parking 

and cycle parking, all in the interests of effectiveness. 

 

• Town centres: modifications to improve clarity and to delete ineffective 
requirements. 

 

• Telecommunications and digital infrastructure: the introduction of a new 
policy and text to reflect national policy in the NPPF. 

 

• Areas of Change: the introduction of new policies to ensure the plan’s 
intentions in these areas carry the weight of development plan policies. 

 

• Site policies: in the interests of positive planning, the deletion of negative 

wording throughout and the introduction of a more flexible approach towards 
complementary uses; the inclusion of minimum figures for the number of 

homes on allocated sites; various site policy modifications regarding uses 

and development criteria; and the deletion of policies relating to sites 
already under construction.  

 

 
 

  

331



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

6 

 

Introduction 

1. This report contains our assessment of the Oxford Local Plan in terms of 

Section 20(5) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).  

It considers first whether the Plan’s preparation has complied with the Duty to 
Co-operate.  It then considers whether the Plan is sound and whether it is 

compliant with the legal requirements. The National Planning Policy 

Framework 2019 (paragraph 35) makes it clear that in order to be sound, a 

Local Plan should be positively prepared, justified, effective and consistent 

with national policy. 

2. The starting point for the examination is the assumption that the local 

planning authority has submitted what it considers to be a sound plan. The 
Oxford Local Plan, published for consultation between 1 November and 28 

December 2018 and submitted in on 22 March 2019, is the basis for our 

examination.  

Main Modifications 

3. In accordance with section 20(7C) of the 2004 Act, the Council requested that 

we should recommend any main modifications [MMs] necessary to rectify 

matters that make the Plan unsound or not legally compliant and thus 
incapable of being adopted. Our report explains why the recommended MMs 

are necessary.  The MMs are referenced in bold in the report in the form MM1, 

MM2, MM3 etc, and are set out in full in the Appendix. 

4. Following the examination hearings, the Council prepared a schedule of 

proposed MMs and carried out sustainability appraisal of them. The MM 

schedule was subject to public consultation for six weeks. We have taken 

account of the consultation responses in coming to our conclusions in this 
report and in this light we have made some amendments to the detailed 

wording of the main modifications and added consequential modifications 

where these are necessary for consistency or clarity. None of the amendments 
significantly alters the content of the modifications as published for 

consultation or undermines the participatory processes and sustainability 

appraisal that has been undertaken.  Where necessary we have highlighted 

these amendments in the report. 

Policies Map  

5. The Council must maintain an adopted policies map which illustrates 

geographically the application of the policies in the adopted development plan. 
When submitting a local plan for examination, the Council is required to 

provide a submission policies map showing the changes to the adopted policies 

map that would result from the proposals in the submitted local plan. In this 

case, the submission policies map is numbered Document CSD.8.  

6. The policies map is not defined in legislation as a development plan document.  

Its role is to illustrate geographically the application of policies in the plan. If 
the geographic illustration of a policy is flawed, the policy will be unsound. In 

such circumstances, therefore, the Council will need to draw up a proposed 

change to the submission policies map. This is the case in respect of Policies 

SP24 to SP31: the sites to which these policies refer are removed from the 

Green Belt, but the submission policies map still shows them in the Green Belt.  

332



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

7 

 

7. When the Plan is adopted, in order to comply with the legislation and give 

effect to the Plan’s policies, the Council will need to update the adopted 

policies map to include all the changes proposed in the Oxford Local Plan 
2036, including the removal of sites SP24 to SP31 from the Green Belt as 

discussed above, and the further changes published alongside the MMs 

incorporating any necessary amendments identified in this report. 

Assessment of Legal Compliance 

8. Our examination of the legal compliance of the plan is summarised below.  

9. The plan has been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Local 

Development Scheme. 

10. Consultation on the plan and the main modifications was carried out in 

compliance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.  

11. Sustainability Appraisal has been carried out. 

12. The scope of the Habitats Regulations Assessment 2017, its methodology and 
conclusions meet the requirements of the Habitats Directive and associated 

guidance. 

13. The plan includes policies designed to secure that the development and use of 

land in the local planning authority’s area contribute to the mitigation of, and 
adaptation to, climate change. These include the spatial distribution of 

development, the encouragement of sustainable modes of travel, and policies 

towards sustainable design and construction, flood risk management, drainage 

and the green and blue infrastructure network. 

14. The plan complies with all relevant legal requirements, including those of the 

2004 Act (as amended) and the 2012 Regulations. 

15. We have had due regard to the aims expressed in S149(1) of the Equality Act 
2010. The plan takes these aims into account, notably in respect of its policies 

to meet the housing needs of all sectors of the community. 

Assessment of Duty to Co-operate  

16. Section 20(5)(c) of the 2004 Act requires that we consider whether the 
Council has complied with any duty imposed on it by section 33A in respect of 

the Plan’s preparation. 

17. The Duty to Co-operate Statement (COM.1) sets out the various steps the 
Council has taken to cooperate with neighbouring authorities and other 

prescribed bodies at the key stages in the preparation of the Local Plan. The 

Council has had extensive discussions at all stages of the plan with all the 

prescribed bodies and the relevant issues have been considered in a wide 
range of discussion and meeting forums. The issues that have been considered 

include an initiative, agreed with other Oxfordshire local authorities, for the 

distribution of Oxford’s unmet housing need. This is discussed further under 
Issue 1. The issues discussed under the Duty to Co-operate are well 

documented in the Duty to Co-operate Statement and there is no need to 

repeat them here. We are satisfied that where necessary the Council has 

333



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

8 

 

engaged constructively, actively and on an on-going basis in the preparation 

of the plan and that the Duty to Co-operate has therefore been met. 

Assessment of Soundness 

Main Issues  

18. Taking account of all the representations, the written evidence and the 

discussions that took place at the examination hearings, we have identified 12 

main issues upon which the soundness of the Plan depends.  Under these 

headings our report deals with the main matters of soundness rather than 

responding to every point raised by representors. 

Issue 1 – Whether the plan’s calculation of housing need is sound 

Introduction: overall housing need  
 

19. Oxford’s overall housing need is 1,400 dwellings per annum (dpa) as indicated 

in paragraph 3.7 of the submitted plan. This is derived from the 2018 
Objectively Assessed Need Update (HOU.5), itself an update of the 2014 

Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (HOU.3).1 It is a 

substantially higher figure than the local housing need (LHN)2 calculation of 

810 dpa uncapped, or 746 dpa capped.  
 

20. The housing need figure of 1,400 dpa reflects the number of homes required 

to meet Oxford’s affordable housing need of 678 dpa, or 13,560 affordable 
homes over the 20-year plan period. Most affordable housing is delivered as a 

percentage of the total number of homes in market housing schemes; in 

Oxford this is 50%, based on viability evidence, as required by Policy H2. So if 

50% of the new homes on every housing site in Oxford were affordable, the 
total number of homes theoretically required to deliver 678 dpa would be 

1,356 dpa. In practice, the percentage of affordable homes achieved overall is 

likely to fall below 50% owing to site-specific and development-related 
adjustments and the fact that non-major sites do not qualify (see Issue 3). 

Consequently, even at 1,400 dpa, affordable housing delivery would be likely 

to fall below overall affordable housing need.  
 

21. The 1,400 dpa is referred to as a housing need figure rather than a 

requirement because only a proportion of the number of homes required to 

meet it can be accommodated within Oxford. The soundness of this need 
figure and the calculations that have led to it are discussed below. 

 

Housing affordability and equality 
 

22. Oxford stands out among cities as having unusual housing problems which 

point towards a higher level of housing need than that derived from the 

 
1 HOU.5 provides an update, solely for Oxford, to the 2014 Oxfordshire SHMA (HOU.3), 
using 2014 and 2016-based household projections and 2014-based sub-national population 
projections, together with economic growth forecasting. The economic growth assessment 
includes sector-based forecasting and the analysis of growth and economic activity rates 
and is soundly based. Both HOU.3 and HOU.5 employ commonly-used and reliable 
methodologies. 
2 Calculated under the standard method using 2014-based household projections. 

334



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

9 

 

standard method calculation. The median affordability ratio in 2018 was 

11.12, against an England ratio of 8.0. But the Centre for Cities3 publication 

“Cities Outlook 2018” (HOU.29) shows Oxford as the least affordable city in 
Britain with average house prices 17.3 times higher than average earnings. 

The latter is based on simple overall averages rather than income and price 

bands, and it points towards a severely skewed housing market with a strong 

bias towards more expensive homes compared with income distribution. Whilst 
there are inevitably year-on-year variations in these figures, all affordability 

calculations show that, over the long term, homes in Oxford have been 

consistently much less affordable than nationally, and all calculations show 
that there has been a significant long-term deterioration in housing 

affordability in the city (PSD.15). The equality analysis in “Cities Outlook 

2018” also indicates that Oxford is the second most unequal city in the country 
in terms of Office for National Statistics (ONS) data on the income of 

residents, which includes wages, pensions, benefits and other income. The 

city’s successful economy is driving housing costs up. Housing unaffordability 

and limited supply have a significant impact on the ability to access suitable 
housing; they have major implications for affordable housing need; they place 

constraints in the way of economic growth; and they do not encourage 

sustainable movement patterns. 
 

23. Known housing costs bear this out. Entry-level costs to buy start from about 

£243,500 for a flat and rise to more than £500,000 for a detached home. In 
terms of rental costs, average lower quartile cost (across all dwelling sizes) is 

£1,025 per month (2017 figures from HOU.5) Set against this, as many as 

18% of households have incomes below £20,000 per year with a further third 

in the range of £20,000 to £40,000. The overall average (median) income of 
all households in the City is around £40,700 with a mean income of £53,500 

(HOU.5, with data derived from ONS modelled income estimates, and the 

English Housing Survey).  

24. The factors described above, and the limited supply of new homes, have led to 

what can reasonably be described as a crisis of affordable housing need in the 

city. HOU.5 states that the situation in Oxford is one where there is a clear, 

acute affordable housing need beyond that in any of the comparators it 

examines.  

The calculation of affordable housing need 

25. The elements of the affordable housing need calculation are discussed in this 
section. They were a focus of scrutiny in the plan’s examination because the 

scale of affordable housing need is central to the calculation of overall housing 

need. In 2017, 4,035 households were living in unsuitable housing or were 
without housing across Oxford: around 7% of the estimated total number of 

households living in the City. This excludes households living in affordable 

housing, student-only households, and 90% of owner occupiers. Two-thirds 

are likely to have insufficient income to afford market housing, which indicates 
that 2,666 households in Oxford do not have their basic housing needs met 

and cannot afford to meet these needs in the market. Of these, 788 do not 

have housing (HOU.5). This is broadly corroborated by data from the Housing 

Register. 

 
3 Centre for Cities is an independent, non-partisan research organisation. 

335



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

10 

 

26. Affordable housing need from newly forming households is calculated at 669 

new households per annum to 2036 (HOU.5 table 32 and para.6.29), derived 

from core demographic projections, and based on a calculation that 51.5% of 
newly forming households aged under 45 would be in need of such housing. 

This assessment is reliable, being calculated from the change in households in 

specific 5-year age bands under 45, relative to numbers in the age band below 

5 years previously. This embeds changes arising from both inward and 
outward migration and there is no need to make further adjustments for 

migration. The figure of 51.5% is founded on Oxford-specific evidence 

including that outlined above and appears realistic given the known 
demographic, income and housing market characteristics of Oxford. It 

therefore has a strong sense of realism about it and is more relevant than the 

lower figures of 20-35% typically found in areas such as Buckinghamshire and 
Bedfordshire which were put forward as comparators in the examination 

hearings. 

27. The affordable housing calculation also includes 331 existing households falling 

into affordable housing need each year, a figure derived from the continuous 
recording of lettings in social housing (MHCLG CoRe data, HOU.5, para 6.30) 

which records the annual average of those who are provided with affordable 

housing over a 3-year period. Those in short-term need are thus excluded. 
Dissolving households or those whose fortunes change for the better are 

accounted for through re-lets. Since both calculations are confined to the 

affordable housing sector there is no imbalance in this approach.  

28. The methodology, assumptions and inputs of the affordable housing 

calculation are sound. The model has been used by other planning authorities 

in Oxfordshire and elsewhere and has been found sound at other local plan 

examinations. It is derived from Oxford-specific information and the 

methodology is based on that in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 

Delivering housing to meet overall housing need 

29. The approach taken by the plan, to establish a figure for overall housing need 
which is closely related to affordable housing need, differs from that of some 

other local plans (such as Guildford) where there would have been practical 

difficulties in achieving the necessary housing delivery rates. But in 

Oxfordshire, local authorities have for some time been preparing plans to 
accommodate Oxford’s identified housing needs within the context of the 

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and there are clear objectives for higher 

levels of delivery.  

30. The Growth Deal took 100,000 new homes as its ambition for Oxfordshire for 

the period 2011 to 2031, and 1,400 dpa as an assumption for Oxford’s 

housing needs for that period. These figures were derived from the 2014 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), which employed sound 

methodologies commonly used in Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 

calculations in line with relevant national guidance, and remains the most 

recent Oxfordshire-wide SHMA. They reflected strong evidence from market 
signals and affordable housing needs of the need to significantly boost housing 

supply. Market deliverability was assessed as part of this process and indeed 

the 2018 OAN Update re-examined deliverability. 100,000 dwellings equates 
to a simple growth rate of 2.4% of housing stock and this is realistic; 

336



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

11 

 

nationally 17 local authorities achieved over 2% from 2016/17 to 2017/18 

including Cherwell and Vale of White Horse.  

31. The Growth Deal is intended to provide substantial funds for affordable 
housing and infrastructure improvements to support these ambitions, to 

address the county’s severe housing shortage and expected economic growth. 

It has secured £215m of Government investment to support the new homes 

and associated infrastructure across Oxfordshire including £60m for affordable 
housing and £150m for infrastructure improvements. The Council have 

indicated that overall £600m has been secured from different sources.4 PPG 

states that the existence of a growth deal may be a circumstance where it is 
appropriate to consider whether actual housing need is higher than the 

standard method indicates. The submitted plan’s housing need figure of 1,400 

dpa aligns with the assumptions of the Growth Deal (albeit relating to a plan 
period rolled on 5 years5) and with those of other Oxfordshire authorities who 

have proceeded with their development plans.  

32. A substantial proportion of overall housing need will be met in the districts of 

Cherwell, South Oxfordshire, Vale of White Horse and West Oxfordshire. 
Document PSD.3, the updated housing trajectory, refers to the Memorandum 

of Cooperation between these authorities (GDL.13 and COM.3). MM6 updates 

paragraph 3.11 of the plan and sets out the amounts of development 
proposed to be accommodated by them for the period 2011 to 2031. A 

significant proportion of Oxford’s unmet needs to 2031 have already been 

addressed in the adopted Vale of White Horse Part 2 Local Plan and the West 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031; and substantial allowances to meet Oxford’s 

unmet need are also included in the Partial Review of the Cherwell Local Plan 

2031 and the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034, which are currently both at 

examination. 

33. It is therefore clear that there are favourable circumstances in Oxfordshire 

which will enable the delivery of the number of homes needed to address the 

serious problem of housing affordability in Oxford and to meet a high 

proportion of the city’s affordable housing needs. 

Environmental constraints 

34. It has been suggested that the housing need figure should be reduced, or that 

development needs should be met away from the city, in response to 
environmental constraints. This point needs to be considered in two parts: the 

city itself and the wider Oxfordshire area.  

35. As far as the city itself is concerned, its character and beauty, heritage, green 
and blue infrastructure (explained in the plan’s glossary), biodiversity and 

other important environmental issues are adequately protected by the policies 

in sections 5 and 6 of the plan (subject to the main modifications discussed 
later in this report); this is clearly evident from the Sustainability Appraisal 

(CSD.4 and CSD.5). The Sustainability Appraisal highlighted potential negative 

effects on flood risk, so the plan contains a bespoke strategy agreed with the 

Environment Agency and this is referred to in this report under Issue 6. 
Section 7 of the plan contains strong policies to encourage the use of 

 
4 Matter 1 Statement paragraph 1.10, and for more detail see the Local Industrial Strategy 
5 This is explained in PSD17 

337



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

12 

 

sustainable transport which would assist in protecting quality of life, air quality 

and the character of the streets in the historic centre. And, as discussed under 

Issue 2, the capacity of the city to accommodate new housing has been 
appropriately evaluated. Growth can be accommodated without notable impact 

on the historic centre or the green setting of the city. As regards Green Belt, 

the matter of exceptional circumstances for the release of land from the Green 

Belt is discussed below under Issue 4. 

36. As regards environmental considerations in the wider Oxfordshire area, these 

are a matter for the local authorities themselves, but it is notable that the 

local plans referred to above, two of which are already adopted and two are at 
examination, have already addressed the growth needs for the majority of the 

Oxford Local Plan period. They have rigorously evaluated the balance between 

growth and environmental considerations, and have been subject to 

sustainability appraisal.  

37. Limiting the growth of the city would have serious effects on the ability to 

meet housing need, including affordable housing; attempting to meet Oxford’s 

housing and employment needs in locations further away from the city would 

encourage less sustainable movement patterns.  

Conclusion on Issue 1 

38. The situation in Oxford, with its stark inequalities and a very large and 
growing number of households unable to access market housing, clearly 

justifies the plan’s approach. The plan’s assessment of the overall housing 

need for Oxford, established at 1,400 dpa, is sound. The need figure is 
evidence-based and is founded on sound methodologies, including the up-to-

date needs assessment as set out in the 2018 OAN Update. It is important to 

emphasise that it has not been derived from Growth Deal assumptions, it is 

not a policy-based uplift, and it is not rooted in a circular argument. It is fully 
justified by the serious housing affordability issues in Oxford and the very 

clear inequalities of access to housing within the city. There are no convincing 

environmental or delivery grounds that indicate that a lower figure for housing 
need should be set. 

 

39. The examination hearings took place before the Covid-19 epidemic. Whilst the 

short-term effects are here for all to see, there is currently no evidence that 
the fundamental assumptions and requirements of the plan in respect of 

housing need, or indeed any other strategic matter, will be affected to the 

extent that its soundness will be undermined. 
 

Issue 2 – Whether the plan’s capacity-based housing requirement is 

soundly based and whether a 5 year housing land supply can be 

demonstrated from adoption and maintained 

The capacity-based housing requirement 

40. Oxford is a busy, successful city and the plan seeks to strike a balance 

between the needs of its many important land uses such as housing, 
employment, educational, recreational, community and other uses, whilst at 

the same time protecting the character of the city. The spatial strategy, which 

is set out in the first section of the plan, aims to intensify new development on 

338



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

13 

 

previously developed land. This is reinforced by Policy RE2: Efficient Use of 

Land, which addresses matters such as site capacity, density and scale. 

41. The submitted Plan’s overall housing target as set out in Policy H1: The Scale 
of New Housing Provision, is 8,620 dwellings or 431 dpa. This reflects the 

limited capacity of Oxford to accommodate new dwellings (because the 

administrative area is drawn fairly tightly around the built up area) and was 

based on the 2017 Housing and Economic Land Assessment (HELAA). 
Following the plan’s submission, both the trajectory and the HELAA have been 

updated in a revised housing trajectory (PSD.3) to give a new capacity figure 

for Oxford of 10,884 homes. This takes into account the changed definition of 
deliverable sites, changed national policy and guidance on windfall calculations 

including garden land, and nationally prescribed ratios for student only 

households and other communal accommodation. MM6 incorporates the 
revised capacity-based figure of 10,884 homes into Policy H1 as a minimum 

housing requirement. 

42. The capacity of Oxford has been thoroughly scrutinised to ensure that it can 

accommodate as much of its housing need as possible. The sites that make up 
the capacity figure were identified through a wide range of methods and 

sources which included call for sites exercises, desktop map searches, the 

assessment of previously identified sites and all open spaces. Two large 
development areas allocated under previously adopted area action plans will 

be built during the plan period: these are the Northern Gateway, which makes 

provision for 500 new homes as part of a larger allocation including business 
floorspace, and the Barton site, which provides for 800 new homes. But it is 

clear from all the evidence that there are significant constraints on the city’s 

ability to accommodate further substantial amounts of new housing within its 

boundaries. The methodology and the contents of the HELAA have been 
subject to a great deal of professional scrutiny throughout the plan-making 

process including a review on behalf of neighbouring local authorities. The 

HELAA has been thorough; it is consistent with PPG and is sound. 

43. During the examination, and particularly during the hearings, the Council 

demonstrated extensive and impressively detailed knowledge about site 

availability in the city and it is clear that they have thoroughly considered the 

sites referred to in the Cundall Report (Unlocking Oxford’s Development 
Potential, HOU.16) as well as omission sites and other sites put forward by 

representors. Some sites have not been included in the plan because they are 

not available or are in active use; others are, for example, subject to heritage, 
ecological or flood risk constraints or would conflict with Green Belt objectives. 

The site selection process was robust. 

44. However, one significant shortcoming of the plan is that it does not actually 
specify the number of new homes that are expected to be built on each of the 

allocated sites. The Council’s intention was to refer to the HELAA’s figures, but 

the HELAA does not have the weight of a development plan, and unless the 

plan itself contains this information, it will be ineffective because it will provide 
inadequate guidance for developers, stakeholders and decision makers and 

give insufficient assurance that the plan can deliver the housing requirement.  

45. The Council have therefore put forward a series of main modifications to 
incorporate minimum requirements for the number of new homes on many of 

339



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

14 

 

the allocations into the plan.6 They are MM45 (Policy SP1, 734 homes), MM48 

(Policy SP2, 247 homes), MM54 (Policy SP3, 226 homes), MM55 (Policy SP4, 

200 homes), MM57 (Policy SP5, 120 homes), MM58 (Policy SP6, 160 homes), 
MM63 (Policy SP12, 120 homes), MM65 (Policy SP13, 30 homes), MM68 

(Policy SP14, 20 homes), MM69 (Policy SP15, 150 homes), MM70 (Policy 

SP16, 80 homes), MM72 (Policy SP17, 70 homes), MM75 (Policy SP18, 200 

homes), MM80 (Policy SP24, 39 homes), MM81 (Policy SP25, 125 homes), 
MM82 (Policy SP26, 110 homes), MM83 (Policy SP27, 75 homes), MM84 

(Policy SP28, 60 homes), MM85 (Policy SP29, 122 homes), MM86 (Policy 

SP30, 162 homes), MM87 (Policy SP31, 31 homes), MM88 (Policy SP32, 60 
homes), MM89 (Policy SP33, 30 homes), MM91 (Policy SP36, 80 homes), 

MM92 (Policy SP37, 40 homes), MM93 (Policy SP38, 25 homes), MM94 

(Policy SP39, 84 homes), MM95 (Policy SP40, 22 homes), MM96 (Policy 
SP41, 28 homes), MM98 (Policy SP43, 29 homes), MM99 (Policy SP44, 90 

homes), MM100 (Policy SP45, 270 homes), MM103 (Policy SP48, 534 

homes), MM105 (Policy SP50, 7 homes), MM106 (Policy SP51, 59 homes), 

MM109 (Policy SP53, 130 homes), MM110 (Policy SP54, 11 homes), MM111 
(Policy SP55, 48 homes), MM114 (Policy SP59, 20 homes), MM115 (Policy 

SP60, 20 homes), MM116 (Policy SP61, 20 homes), MM117 (Policy SP62, 12 

homes), MM118 (Policy SP63, 18 homes), MM120 (Policy SP65, 30 homes), 

and M121 (Policy SP66, 82 homes).  

46. These figures are reliable as they come from the evaluation of the sites by the 

HELAA or from up to date information about development proposals, and their 
insertion into the plan is important to ensure that it is effective. They also 

demonstrate the plan’s commitment to use land efficiently on these sites. 

47. However, the figures for the minimum number of homes in MM90 as 

consulted upon (Policy SP34, 23 homes), MM108 (Policy SP52, 100 homes), 
and MM132 (Policy SP35, 64 homes) are not recommended for the reasons 

given in Issue 12. 

48. Overall, these site allocations should allow the delivery of a large number of 
homes on a good mix of sites, including an appropriate number of sites with 

an area under one hectare, and it is clear that careful consideration has been 

given to the importance of housing when balancing the needs of different land 

uses. Housing is an important component of many of the site allocations, 
either on its own or as part of mixed-use schemes or in association with open 

space. The plan’s allocations seek to meet housing needs as far as possible 

whilst also aiming to meet the needs of other important activities in the city, 
having regard to site characteristics and location. The argument that the 

submitted plan has prioritised employment land over housing does not, 

overall, bear scrutiny and this is discussed below under Issue 4. 

49. To encourage further residential development within the city, MM35 and 

MM37 modify, respectively, Policy V2: Shopping Frontages in the City Centre 

and Policy V4: District and Local Shopping Frontages, to allow for the 

development of the upper storeys above shops for housing, student 
accommodation and other uses. In addition, Policy H5: Development Involving 

 
6 Where student homes are part of the allocation, the figure given is for the equivalent 
number of self-contained homes, based on a conversion rate of 2.5 student units to one 
self-contained home. 

340



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

15 

 

Loss of Dwellings rightly places strict limitations on the circumstances in which 

a net loss of dwellings may be accepted.  

50. It is clear from all the evidence that, where sites are suitable for contributing 
to housing in the city, they have been allocated appropriately. The main 

modifications to the capacity-based housing requirement, and the housing 

trajectory, are discussed below. 

Housing delivery and the 5 year housing land supply 

51. Housing Delivery (OCC.8), the HELAA (PSD.2) and the note to accompany the 

updated trajectory (PSD.3) contain a sound assessment of this subject; the 

delivery trajectory is well informed by a detailed knowledge of current 
planning status and from information from developers and owners of sites.  

 

52. The delivery calculation includes an allowance of 136 dpa from windfalls from 
years 4 and 5. PSD.3 explains how the Council has arrived at its average 

windfall allowance based on the extrapolation of historic windfall rates since 

2011/12. The change in national policy towards the potential for development 

of garden land has also been considered. The method of identifying housing 
sites and delivery rates, and the quantification of the windfall rate, are sound 

and in accordance with national policy and guidance. Whilst it is arguable that 

the supply of windfall sites is finite, there is no indication at the present time 
that the rate is likely to fall. There is also no convincing evidence at present 

that the plan’s restrictions on residential car parking, and the requirement for 

car-free housing in certain areas, would act as a brake on the number of 
windfalls from suburban infill-type sites; the strong demand for homes in 

Oxford is likely to influence land values such that sites will continue to come 

forward. But in any case, the supply of windfalls can be monitored and any 

issues that do arise can be addressed in the future. 
 

53. Turning to the 5 year housing land supply calculation7, this includes all minor 

sites with planning permission, all major development sites with detailed 
permission, and major development sites without planning permission where 

there is clear evidence that they will come forward, and windfalls are included 

only in the final two years to avoid double counting.  

54. Achieving the modified housing requirement of 10,884 dwellings over the plan 
period would require delivery at the rate of 544 dpa on a linear trajectory. This 

was not achieved in the first three years of the plan period starting in 2016. In 

addition, in the two years 2019/20 to 2020/21 the Housing Delivery Test is 
expected to fall below the 85% threshold and the City Council will need to 

apply a 20% buffer to its housing requirement for 2020/21 for the purposes of 

establishing a five year land supply. In that year and the next the 5 year 
supply would fall short against the linear trajectory. Beyond that point, the 

supply position would improve.  

55. There is no point in establishing a trajectory which would render the relevant 

housing policies in the plan immediately out-of-date within the terms of 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF. Consequently, the Council propose a housing 

requirement of 475 dpa in the first five years of the plan period (2016/17 to 

 
7 The Council have stated that it is not their intention to fix the figure through the local plan 
examination for the purposes of NPPF paragraphs 73(b) and 74. 

341



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

16 

 

2020/21) stepping up to 567dpa for the remainder of the plan (OCC.8). This is 

governed by the requirement to meet the housing requirement within the plan 

period; exceed the previous Core Strategy housing requirement of 400dpa in 
any given year; and to deliver a housing land supply of six years or more to 

ensure flexibility. From 2020/21 it would provide 6.2 years’ supply, rising to 

9.8 years in 2024/25. This stepped housing requirement is a reflection of the 

reality of housing delivery in the constrained conditions of Oxford, and is 
required to ensure that the plan does not fail through an inability to meet the 

requirement for a 5 year housing land supply. 

56. MM6 introduces a stepped trajectory of 475 dpa from 2016/17 to 2020/21 
followed by an increase to 567 dpa from 2021/22 to 2035/36 in recognition of 

the time passed since the start of the plan period and the need to increase 

delivery. The stepped trajectory reflects the reality of expected delivery rates. 
The modification is necessary to ensure that the plan is up to date and 

incorporates realistic delivery rates. 

 

Conclusion on Issue 2 

57. Subject to the main modifications discussed above and elsewhere, the plan’s 

capacity-based housing requirement is sound and the plan’s site allocations 

and policies give importance to the provision of new housing, whilst striking an 
appropriate balance between residential use and the needs of other land uses 

according to site circumstances and need. The housing trajectory, as modified, 

is soundly based and the evidence indicates that, against that trajectory, a 5 
year supply of homes will be maintained. 

 

58. We referred to the Covid-19 epidemic under Issue 1. Its future impact on 

housing delivery rates cannot be known at present, but the 5 year housing 
supply from the anticipated date of adoption appears robust enough to deal 

with some variations in delivery, whilst the monitoring of housing completions 

should enable any timely action to be taken if it proves necessary. 
 

Issue 3 – Whether the plan takes a sound approach towards meeting the 

housing needs of different groups in the community 

Affordable housing 

59. Affordable housing need, and Oxford’s overall figure for housing need, have 

been discussed under Issue 1. Given the compelling evidence of need, the 

Council have rightly sought to secure as much affordable housing as possible 
and this is reflected in Policy H2: Delivering Affordable Homes, which seeks a 

minimum of 50% of units on larger sites as affordable homes, with at least 

40% of the total number of homes provided as social rented dwellings. 
Through co-operation, consistency has been achieved with the South 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034 which seeks 50% affordable housing on sites 

adjacent to Oxford City; in addition, the adopted West Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2031 seeks 50% in designated areas.  

60. Policy H2(a) requires affordable housing in connection with self-contained 

residential developments in Use Class C2 Residential Institutions and C3 

Dwellinghouses. This includes retirement homes and sheltered housing. There 
is no reason why affordable homes cannot be delivered through certain Use 

342



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

17 

 

Class C2 developments, or that affordable housing itself should not fall within 

Use Class C2. Paragraph 61 of the NPPF states that the type and tenure of 

housing needed for different groups in the community, including older people 
and people with disabilities, should be reflected in planning policies and 

neither the NPPF nor the PPG make a distinction between C2 and C3 uses in 

this regard. 

61. However, part (a)(ii) of Policy H2 seeks contributions towards the off-site 
provision of affordable housing on sites of 4 to 9 homes. Paragraph 63 of the 

NPPF makes clear that affordable housing should not be sought for 

developments of this size. The PPG on Planning Obligations repeats this and 
states that the Community Infrastructure Levy is the most appropriate 

mechanism for capturing developer contributions from small developments. In 

addition, despite the acknowledged scale of affordable housing need, there is 
no compelling local reason to require such contributions within Oxford because 

neighbouring districts are taking a large proportion of its housing need, and 

are therefore meeting a large part of the city’s assessed affordable housing 

requirement. Affordable housing contributions on small sites within the city 
would only provide 2% to 3% of the total expected supply of affordable homes 

to meet Oxford’s need (OCC.1.AB). Policy H2(ii) is therefore ineffective as well 

as being inconsistent with national policy. 

62. Policy H2(b) requires a financial contribution towards affordable housing from 

new student accommodation of 20 units, calculated according to a formula set 

out in Appendix 3.2 of the plan; or for affordable housing to be provided on 
site. As a general principle, and leaving aside the site size issue (see above) 

and campus issue (see below), this approach is justified in Oxford, given the 

scale of affordable housing need. Many sites that provide new student 

accommodation could equally be suitable for ordinary homes, from which 50% 
affordable housing would be sought, so this policy maintains an appropriate 

supply of affordable homes and ensures that the provision of ordinary self-

contained homes is not disadvantaged in the market in comparison with 
student homes. It is reasonable for the plan to require the provision of 

affordable housing in this way to achieve the planning objective of meeting 

and balancing the housing needs of all groups in a constrained city. Such a 

requirement would fairly and reasonably relate to the development and would 
still leave development viable. The financial contribution should however apply 

to developments of 25 or more units, rather than 20 units, having regard to 

the minimum site size point addressed above, and using the conversion rate of 

2.5 student homes to one self-contained dwellinghouse. 

63. But there are student housing sites which can only be developed as such. 

These are on university campus sites where the provision of student housing is 
closely connected to academic and teaching facilities. Their development for 

student accommodation does not raise any opportunity cost, in the sense that 

they cannot be developed for market or affordable homes. They are likely to 

have higher build costs arising from the standards of construction and finish 
demanded by long term capital investment and from the attention to design 

demanded by the character of their surroundings. Moreover, the universities 

are required by Policy H9 to provide such accommodation in connection with 
the development of academic and teaching facilities where this would breach a 

numerical cap on the number of students living off-campus. In these 

circumstances the requirement in Policy H2(b) to provide affordable housing 

343



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

18 

 

contributions is not sound because it is unduly onerous and would not fairly 

and reasonably relate to the development. It is appropriate to make an 

exception for such sites.  

64. The Council are right to resist expanding the policy to adjacent sites and other 

sites, since this would undermine the clarity and effectiveness of the policy. 

Under the Planning Acts, arguments for other exceptions in specific 

circumstances can obviously still be considered on their merits. 

65. MM7 makes the necessary changes to Policy H2 and its explanatory text. It 

deletes the requirement for affordable housing contributions from small sites 

of 4 to 9 dwellings, seeks such contributions from new student accommodation 
with a net gain of 25 or more student units (equating 2.5 student units to one 

ordinary self-contained dwelling) and exempts developments within existing or 

proposed student campus sites, for which MM11 provides a Glossary 
definition. MM130 deletes the precise costs in the financial contribution 

calculation in Appendix 3.2, which would become outdated during the life of 

the plan, and refers instead to the Annual Monitoring Report. MM9 updates 

the mix requirement for larger affordable homes in Policy H4 in the interests of 
clarity. These modifications are required for soundness, effectiveness and to 

ensure compliance with national policy.  

Employer-linked affordable housing 

66. Policy H3: Employer Linked Affordable Housing allows for affordable housing to 

be developed by employers or their development partners on certain sites, to 

meet the needs of their employees. These sites are identified in Appendix 3.4 
of the plan. In such developments, the standard affordable housing 

requirements of Policy H2 do not apply, except to any market housing element 

on the site. The policy is designed for employers who need to provide 

affordable homes for employees to assist in addressing staff recruitment and 
retention, a significant problem given the challenge for many people, such as 

hospital workers, of meeting Oxford’s housing costs. Policy H2 would seek an 

additional requirement of 50% affordable housing from any additional market 

housing that was provided on site.  

67. Given the level of affordable housing need in Oxford, and in particular the 

need for affordable housing for rent, the general approach taken by Policy H3 

is sound. Criteria are necessary to ensure that these sites are developed for 
genuine affordable housing in accordance with the definition, and it is 

therefore reasonable to expect the developer to agree the allocations policy 

with the Council.  

68. However, the effectiveness of this initiative is compromised because the plan 

does not adequately recognise the role of employer-linked affordable housing 

in meeting affordable housing need. It is not mentioned as a form of 
affordable housing in the Glossary, and the bespoke nature of the housing mix 

required on employer-linked affordable housing is not acknowledged by Policy 

H4. Further, Policy H3 does not explain clearly how Policy H2 would apply to 

any market housing element provided in conjunction with employer-linked 
affordable housing. The policy is also over-prescriptive in respect of both the 

review mechanism and the management criteria that would apply in the event 

that the employer no longer needed the housing.  

344



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

19 

 

69. MM8 therefore modifies Policy H3 and its supporting text to explain that, 

where market housing is included, the employer-linked affordable housing can 

be regarded as intermediate affordable housing for the purposes of Policy H2, 
and it also simplifies the review and management requirements. MM67 

provides greater flexibility by allowing for general residential development as 

well as employer-led affordable housing on the relevant site allocations. MM9 

modifies Policy H4 to make it clear that the housing mix prescribed for 
affordable housing does not apply to employer-linked affordable housing, since 

this may require bespoke solutions for each site. MM122 adds employer-

linked affordable housing to the definition of Affordable Housing in the 
Glossary whilst MM47 gives additional clarity to a number of site allocation 

policies by making it clear that employer-linked housing is intended to be 

affordable housing. A further detailed point, arising from the main 
modifications consultation, is that the wording in Appendix 3.4 should be 

modified (as part of MM8) to clarify that employer-linked affordable housing 

can be brought forward at both SP47: Manzil Way Resource Centre and SP58: 

Slade House. These changes are required for soundness and effectiveness.    

Student housing 

70. Policy H8: Provision of New Student Accommodation states that planning 

permission will only be granted for student accommodation on or adjacent to 
university, college, academic, hospital and research sites, in the city centre or 

district centres, or on a site allocated as being suitable for student 

accommodation. This differs from Policy HP5 of the Sites and Housing Plan 
(2013) which also allows for student accommodation to be located adjacent to 

main thoroughfares. The submitted plan introduces more stringent locational 

criteria partly because of the risk of introducing disturbance, especially at 

unsociable hours, into predominantly residential neighbourhoods away from 
main campuses and student facilities. There is evidence of such occurrences. 

The criteria also help to maintain an appropriate balance between market and 

affordable housing and student housing throughout the city. This part of the 

policy is sound. 

71. Part (b) of Policy H8 restricts the occupation of developments for new student 

accommodation (other than institutions on campus sites) to students 

attending the University of Oxford, Ruskin College or Oxford Brookes 
University. This has similarities to Policy E3, which does not allow new or 

additional floorspace for private colleges on new sites, and places severe 

restrictions on any expansion within existing private college sites. Policy E3 is 
dealt with under Issue 4, but the approach of both policies in this respect is 

unsound. Policy H8(b) gives a considerable advantage to the universities and 

Ruskin College, in respect of the provision of student housing and nomination 
rights, over other colleges who may also have a need for student housing. 

Planning policies which favour certain organisations and occupiers over others, 

within the same land use, do not have any foundation in the NPPF. All housing 

needs must be taken into account. MM11 deletes H8(b) in the interests of 

soundness. 

72. Part (e) of Policy H8 requires developers to enter an undertaking to provide a 

mechanism that would prevent students parking their cars anywhere on site 
and anywhere in Oxford. Preventing parking anywhere in Oxford would be 

unenforceable and MM11 removes this aspect of the requirement and adds an 

345



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

20 

 

explanation to the supporting text to indicate that student housing will be 

excluded from the schedule of streets in the statutory instrument that creates 

the controlled parking zones. (In their main modification consultation 
response, the County Council reasonably suggest “traffic regulation order” in 

the wording and this is inserted into MM11.)  

73. Policy H9 links the delivery of new, redeveloped and refurbished university 

academic facilities to the delivery of university-provided residential 
accommodation. It only allows the expansion of academic, research and 

administrative accommodation at the University of Oxford and Oxford Brookes 

University if the number of students living in non-university provided 
accommodation does not exceed certain thresholds. The PPG states that 

strategic policy-making authorities are encouraged to consider options which 

would support both the needs of the student population as well as local 
residents before imposing caps or restrictions on students living outside 

university-provided accommodation. But the threshold system has been tried 

and tested in Oxford in previous plans and is a workable means of balancing 

the housing needs of the very large student population against the city’s many 
other housing needs and land uses. It is also a system that, subject to the 

specific threshold numbers, has been developed by consensus.  

74. Oxford Brookes University considers that the threshold applied to it by the 
submitted plan, which would become more restrictive on 1 April 2022, would 

be unfeasible and would prevent the physical growth of academic facilities. A 

further problem, applying to both universities, is that the wording of the policy 
could prevent the growth of academic or administrative facilities even if they 

had no impact on student numbers. MM12 addresses these difficulties; it 

introduces higher thresholds by agreement with Oxford Brookes University, 

including the potential for upward adjustment if a scheme for at least 500 
student bedrooms has not been developed at Clive Booth Student Village 

(Policy SP18) and/or if the university demonstrates that it has been unable to 

secure additional nomination rights to meet the threshold. MM12 also 
introduces a new Appendix 3.5 to explain in detail how the number of students 

would be calculated for the purposes of the thresholds, and it makes clear, in 

relation to both universities, that the policy would not apply where the new 

academic or administrative accommodation would not generate or facilitate an 

increase in student numbers. 

75. MM50 modifies several of the site allocation policies to remove the 

requirement to demonstrate that there are no more than the threshold 
number of students of the relevant university living outside university-

provided student accommodation, instead providing a cross reference to Policy 

H9.  

76. These modifications are required to ensure the policy is effective. 

Housing mix  

77. Policy H4: Mix of Dwelling Types seeks a balanced mix of dwelling sizes to 

meet a range of housing needs and to create mixed and balanced 
communities. The mix of sites has been referred to under Issue 2. The site 

allocations provide a good mix of larger and smaller sites with a variety of 

characteristics. The mix of unit sizes expected of the affordable housing 

346



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

21 

 

element of any scheme larger than 25 units is set out in Policy H4: Mix of 

Dwelling Sizes; this comes from the Oxfordshire SHMA and the affordable 

housing register, with appropriate adjustments, and is sound. 

Gypsies and travellers 

78. The Cherwell, Oxford City, South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse Gypsy, 

Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment has 

concluded that there is no current or forecast need for sites in Oxford. There 
are no existing sites. If sites are proposed in the city, Policy H12: Homes for 

Travelling Communities sets out criteria under which they would be 

considered. Its approach is sound. 

Houses in multiple occupation 

79. The plan makes adequate provision for the housing needs of other groups in 

the community in accordance with the NPPF. Policy H6: Houses in Multiple 
Occupation establishes the circumstances under which permission may be 

granted for the change of use of a dwelling to a house in multiple occupation. 

The policy is sound but MM10 alters the Glossary to clarify the definition of a 

house in multiple occupation in the interests of effectiveness. The issue of 

space standards raised by Policy H15 is dealt with below. 

Community-led and self-build housing 

80. Policy H7: Community-led Housing and Self-build Housing adequately 
addresses this sector by requiring 5% of the residential site area on sites of 50 

or more homes to be made available for self-build plots.  

Accessibility 

81. Oxford has a relatively young population, but is projected to have a greater 

proportion of older residents in the future and there will be changing 

accessibility requirements over the plan period. Policy H10 provides for 

accessibility needs by requiring all affordable dwellings and 15% of general 
market dwellings to be constructed to Building Regulations Document M4 

Category 2 standard. The submitted policy required 5% of all dwellings to be 

provided to Category 3 standards but, in the interests of soundness and 
effectiveness, MM13 brings the policy into line with national guidance on 

optional technical standards by indicating that this requirement applies to 

dwellings for which the Council is responsible for allocations or nominations, 

and makes it clear that this applies on sites of more than 20 dwellings. Subject 
to this modification, the policy is sound and in accordance with NPPF 

paragraph 127 and footnote 46.  

Space standards 

82. Policy H15 seeks to apply Nationally Described Space Standard Level 1 to new 

market and affordable homes. This is appropriate in the circumstances of 

Oxford in which there is limited space within the city and pressure to deliver 
smaller homes. However, paragraph 2 of the policy aims to apply Nationally 

Described Space Standards to new build houses in multiple occupation and 

other communal accommodation including extra care housing and student 

accommodation. The Council have subsequently acknowledged that the 

347



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

22 

 

standards should not apply to student accommodation and extra care homes 

which have different needs and functional requirements. As regards houses in 

multiple occupation, room sizes are governed by the Licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 

2018. In addition, paragraph 3 of the policy is unnecessary as it duplicates 

existing regulations relating to licensed houses in multiple occupation. MM14 

deletes this part of the policy in the interests of effectiveness. 

Conclusion on Issue 3 

83. Subject to the main modifications detailed above, the plan takes a sound 

approach towards meeting the housing needs of different groups in the 

community. 

Issue 4 – Whether the plan’s approach towards business development and 

teaching and research are sound 

The overall strategy for business development and employment sites 

84. The buoyant economy of Oxford and Oxfordshire is a leading centre for 

technology, innovation and research and is acknowledged as such in the 

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and the National Infrastructure 
Commission report on the Oxford-Milton Keynes-Cambridge corridor. The 2018 

Employment Land Assessment forecasts a need for about 135,000 square 

metres of additional employment floorspace in the city by 2036, the great 
majority being new B1 floorspace. The NPPF places significant weight on the 

need to support economic growth and indicates that areas should be able to 

capitalise on their performance and potential. Strategies should positively and 
proactively encourage economic growth and should make provision for clusters 

of data-driven, creative or high-technology industries.  

85. The plan does not allocate any wholly new sites solely for employment, but its 

reliance instead on existing commitments and other potential opportunities, 
together with some mixed use allocations, is sufficient to address the identified 

need. The Northern Gateway /Oxford North is a previous area action plan 

allocation which will provide 90,000 square metres of science and research 
and development; there is undeveloped land at the Oxford Science Park and 

the Oxford Business Park which is addressed by Policies SP10 and SP11; and 

certain other existing employment sites and areas have the potential for 

intensification.  

86. Similarly, it is appropriate for Policy E1 to protect Category 1 and Category 2 

Employment Sites that are nationally and regionally important to the 

knowledge economy, or are significant employers of sectors in Oxford, or are 
well-performing sites providing local services. These sites are listed in 

Appendix 2 of the plan. In a constrained city, and in the light of national policy 

described above, it is important that such land is retained for employment to 

meet forecast needs.  

87. It is evident that, overall, the plan’s strategy does not exhibit an excessive 

bias towards employment land at the expense of housing land supply, as has 

been frequently alleged. With the exception of the matters discussed below, 

Policy E1, and the plan overall, strike the right balance. 

348



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

23 

 

88. Policy E1 does however have a number of flaws. The first of these is that it 

only allows for the intensification, modernisation and regeneration of 

employment sites if the development is of higher density with more 
employment floorspace and jobs per hectare. The problem with this is that it 

fails to take account of the needs of businesses on these sites; for example, 

capital investment to improve productivity may reduce rather than increase 

employment densities, whilst change and innovation may not necessarily 

demand more building floorspace.  

89. The second concern with Policy E1 is that it only allows for other uses on 

Category 1 sites if these relate directly to the main economic function of the 
site, which could work against the provision of, for example, creches and small 

on-site shops on large employment sites.  

90. The third problem with Policy E1 concerns Category 3 Employment Sites. 
These are sites which are less well located for business or which do not 

perform such an important economic function; some could have the potential 

for residential development, but Policy E1 places unnecessary impediments in 

the way of such development. It requires that an applicant must demonstrate 
that the site is no longer suitable for its existing business use and that that no 

other occupiers can be found following a minimum of 6 months marketing. The 

policy is thus inconsistent with the stated objective at 1.32 of the submitted 
plan to deliver as much housing as possible whilst balancing other important 

needs.  

91. Finally, Policy E1 would have the effect of preferring B8 storage and 
distribution, and car showrooms, in circumstances where residential 

development could be appropriate, which does not appear consistent with the 

plan’s priority in respect of the need to make the most of residential 

development opportunities within the city.   

92. MM3 deletes the requirements for more floorspace and jobs per hectare and it 

also allows for complementary uses and supports start up or incubator 

businesses on Category 1 sites. It provides greater clarity in respect of the 
circumstances in which B8 uses and car showrooms may be developed, and 

where such floorspace can be lost. It also allows for residential development 

on Category 3 employment sites subject to a balanced judgement which takes 

into account the nature of the site and existing employment uses and the 
ability to achieve a good residential environment. This modification is 

necessary for soundness. 

93. A further main modification, MM1, is required to explain that, in respect of 
Policy E1, the Category 1 employment site at the Northern Gateway / Oxford 

North will be limited only to the employment floorspace part of the scheme 

when built out, and to explain that Policy SP29 supersedes the AAP land use 
requirements for its part of the site. This modification is required for 

effectiveness.  

Teaching and research 

94. The University of Oxford and Oxford Brookes University are of great 
importance to education and to the economy. Policy E2 allows for their 

expansion, subject to meeting Policy H8 and the student accommodation 

requirements of Policy H9, both of which were discussed under Issue 3. It also 

349



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

24 

 

supports the growth of the hospitals including intensification of their sites and 

increased teaching and research.  

95. Policy E3 however specifically resists any new or additional academic or 
administrative floorspace for private colleges (except Nuffield College) other 

than in very limited terms. It appears to be founded on the idea that they are 

of lower economic value than the two universities, and/or that they do not 

need to be in Oxford, so that in this constrained city their land use demands 
should be restrained. But this is an unfair and unequal policy because these 

colleges provide a variety of non-university education and training, for local 

people and people from elsewhere, in different walks of life. Among many 
things, they provide further education, adult education and language teaching. 

They are an integral part of the local economy, and they have their own 

development needs. Restricting the growth of this sector is contrary to the 
NPPF’s objectives to support growth and to seek opportunities to meet the 

development needs of the area. Policy E3 is not positively prepared and is 

unsound.  

96. MM4 deletes Policy E3 in its entirety and it alters Policy E2 to allow for 
proposals for all new education, teaching and academic institutional proposals 

where they support the plan’s policies and objectives and where student 

accommodation is provided in step with the expansion of student places. This 

modification is required to ensure a sound plan. 

Securing opportunities for local employment, training and business 

97. Policy E4 indicates that planning permission will only be granted for 
development of over 45 homes or 1,000 square metres of non-residential 

floorspace where applicants can secure construction and operational jobs for 

local people, provide construction apprenticeship opportunities, link with local 

schools and colleges, procure a proportion of construction materials and 
supply chain needs locally, pay all employees the Oxford Living Wage and only 

use contractors who commit to the same. The policy says that these 

requirements will be sought by legal agreement. 

98. The policy is connected to the local industrial strategy, and the NPPF talks 

about planning policies having regard to such strategies. But, as in this case, 

local industrial strategies often include initiatives that do not fall within 

planning and do not belong in a local plan, which is an evidence-based land 
use planning document. The policy is not justified on the evidence and most of 

it strays into areas that are not relevant to planning. Oxford is far from being 

an island; businesses operate in competitive markets and their choices are 
influenced by local, regional, national and international factors. They need to 

be flexible and, subject to national statute and policy, they need to make their 

own decisions about the skills they need, their pay rates, their procurement 
and their supply chain needs, in order to remain competitive. As for the 

employment market, a construction or operational job is just as valuable to 

the economy and just as valuable to the individual concerned, whether that 

person lives within or outside Oxford. 

99. The policy would prevent larger-scale business and housing investment from 

taking place unless a legal agreement is in place to deliver the policy 

requirements. This is not a positively prepared policy; nor do aspects of the 

350



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

25 

 

policy requirements, such as local procurement and wage levels, meet the 

requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations or national 

policy in paragraph 56 of the NPPF, in the sense of being necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning terms, being directly related to the 

development, and being fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind.  

100. Nor is the policy evidence-based, in that there is no evidence that local 

planning authority intervention in all these matters will make any substantive 
improvement to economic conditions in an already buoyant Oxford. Rather, 

preventing development from taking place unless the applicant can satisfy the 

planning authority on a range of business decisions is more likely to deter 
growth, to the detriment of the local economy and employment market. This 

would be contrary to the NPPF which places significant weight on the need to 

support business growth and productivity.  

101. For these reasons, MM5 deletes Policy E4 in its entirety. There is of course 

merit in encouraging links between the business community and the local 

authority in the area of skills development, and MM5 alters the supporting text 

to encourage applicants to submit an employment and skills plan along with 
major development proposals. This is not a policy and it must be emphasised 

that there is no compulsion to comply with it, but it acknowledges that there 

may be benefits in encouraging developers to work with the local authority on 
these matters. However, for reasons of soundness and consistency, we have 

included in MM5 the removal of the whole section in the supporting text which 

states “Similar mechanisms can be used to secure commitment from the 
developer to procuring material and labour locally” through to “…only using 

contractors who pay this higher level than the National Living Wage”, because 

this repeats the deleted policy and assumes such agreements can be made in 

relation to planning permissions when in fact they would fail the CIL tests. As 
the deletion of the policy has already been subject to consultation, this 

deletion relating only to the supporting text does not raise any new issues. 

Conclusion on Issue 4 

102. Subject to the main modifications referred to above, the plan’s approach 

towards business development, and teaching and research, is sound. 

Issue 5 – Whether there are exceptional circumstances for altering the 

boundary of the Green Belt, and whether the plan’s policy towards the 

protection of the Green Belt is sound  

103. Oxford is surrounded by its own Green Belt. There is a compelling need for 

new housing, as set out in Issue 1. Consistent with the spatial strategy, 
referred to under Issue 2, the plan has made the most of the opportunities 

available to deliver new housing.  

104. Despite this, only a proportion of the housing required to meet the city’s needs 
can be delivered within its boundaries on non-Green Belt sites. Neighbouring 

authorities can accommodate some of Oxford’s needs and an apportionment 

has been agreed, as discussed under Issue 2. They have sought to make the 

most of urban land and site allocations and, in the case of South Oxfordshire, 
the draft Local Plan has found it necessary to alter Green Belt boundaries in 

sustainable locations near Oxford. It is evident that all options have been 

looked into, and the three criteria set out in paragraph 137 of the NPPF have 

351



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

26 

 

been met. All the circumstances point to the conclusion that exceptional 

circumstances exist at the strategic level to alter the defined Green Belt in 

suitable locations within the city’s boundaries to allow for the provision of 

homes to help meet the city’s housing needs.  

105. The plan alters the Green Belt boundary to enable the development of the 

sites referred to in Policies SP24 to SP31. The Green Belt Study (2017) found 

these sites as having a low to moderate effect on the purposes of the Green 
Belt. Document BGP.11 contains a summary of the analysis. They would either 

not extend the urban edge significantly, or would not be significant in the 

landscape, or would be adequately contained by boundaries so they have little 
impact on sprawl. They are mostly related to, or seen in the context of, 

existing built features. Their development would have an effect on the 

openness of the Green Belt locally, but they are relatively small and mostly 
disparately located, delivering between 31 and 162 homes each, and represent 

only minor encroachment into the countryside. They would have little or no 

effect on the setting of the historic city. Yet in total they would provide the 

equivalent of 724 homes, making an important contribution towards meeting 

Oxford’s housing needs.  

106. The analysis is convincing. The alteration of the Green Belt boundary in each 

of these cases, and cumulatively, would not significantly affect the openness of 
the Oxford Green Belt or generate urban sprawl, and the Green Belt would 

continue to fulfil its NPPF-defined purposes. 

107. There are therefore both strategic level and local level exceptional 
circumstances to alter the Green Belt boundary to allow for development on 

these sites. MM79 expands paragraph 9.145 of the plan to clarify the reasons 

for the alteration of the Green Belt boundary in the interests of effectiveness.  

108. Policy G3: Green Belt indicates that, save where otherwise provided for in the 
plan, proposals for development in the Green Belt will be determined in 

accordance with national policy. This gives the incorrect impression that the 

plan partly diverges from national Green Belt policy. MM21 deletes the 

exception. 

Conclusion on Issue 5 

There are exceptional strategic and local level circumstances for altering the 

boundary of the Green Belt and, subject to the main modifications described 

above, the plan’s policy towards the protection of the Green Belt is sound. 

Issue 6 – Whether the Plan’s policies towards sustainable design and 

construction, flood risk management, drainage and other environmental 

matters are sound 

Sustainable design and construction 

109. Policy RE1: Sustainable Design and Construction sets out a number of 
principles for development which aim, among other things, to achieve 

efficiency in energy and water consumption, the conservation of materials and 

the minimisation of waste. For new development, the policy seeks a 40% 

reduction in carbon emissions from a particular baseline, rising to at least 50% 
after 2026 and, in the case of new residential development, zero carbon from 

352



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

27 

 

March 2030. It also seeks the higher water efficiency standard of 110 litres per 

person per day for residential development. 

110. It is not necessary to refer in this report to the legislative and policy 
framework relating to climate change, or the scope available to local 

authorities to address matters such as energy efficiency. These things are 

explained in clear and convincing detail in the Council’s Document BGP.4: 

Carbon-Related Issues (Climate Change and Fuel Poverty) and they provide 
evidential justification for the Council’s approach. Local planning authorities 

may set energy efficiency standards in their development plan policies that 

exceed the energy efficiency requirements of the Building Regulations. The 
approach has been viability tested; the Oxford City Council Economic Viability 

Assessment (SUP.3) included an allowance for policies related to sustainability. 

The approach taken by the plan is sound, and does not conflict with the 

current national policy framework taken as a whole.  

111. However, the policy does not clearly explain what the baselines are and is not 

specific enough about what development the carbon targets apply to. In 

addition, it contains an over-prescriptive requirement for the intrusive 
monitoring of private developments by the Council for three years after 

occupation. MM15 establishes the baselines, clarifies the application of the 

policy and deletes the detailed monitoring requirements, leaving monitoring 
measures to be described within energy statements and discussed on an 

individual project basis. Subject to MM15, Policy RE1 is sound. 

Flood risk management 

112. Policy RE3: Flood Risk Management sets out the Council’s policy on this 

subject, which has been developed in consultation with the Environment 

Agency and is supported evidentially by the Oxford City Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment Level 1 (2017). New development is first and foremost directed to 
areas of low flood risk (Flood Zone 1). However, the flood risk assessment 

concludes that a considerable proportion of Oxford is at some risk of fluvial 

flooding, so the policy seeks Site Specific Flood Risk Assessments in 

appropriate locations.  

113. Large parts of the built up areas of South and West Oxford are in Flood Zone 

3, and much existing development is located in Zone 3b which carries a high 

risk of flooding. It is important to make the most of urban land in sustainable 
locations, so the plan allows for development on previously developed land in 

Zone 3b provided it improves the flood risk situation, and also allows for minor 

householder extensions on a case-by-case basis. MM16 includes some revised 
wording taken from COM.4, the Council’s Statement of Common Ground with 

the Environment Agency. This seeks, for development in Zone 3b, a decrease 

in the footprint of the building and an increase in flood storage where this is 
possible. This is appropriate to ensure the effectiveness of the policy. MM42 

adds to paragraph 9.1 of the plan the need for a sequential approach to the 

site layout of development proposals for allocations in Flood Zones 2 and 3, in 

accordance with the NPPF. MM46 and MM52, also derived from COM.4, 
modify the explanatory text of a number of site allocations in Flood Zone 3 to 

explain matters relating to the flood risk exception test and to require the 

submission of a comprehensive flood risk management strategy. 

353



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

28 

 

114. Policy RE3 refers to the Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme and contains 

requirements about the basis on which flood risk will be calculated within the 

defended area of the flood scheme. Paragraph 4.18 of the explanatory text 
states that the land required for the route of the scheme will be safeguarded 

in perpetuity to enable delivery. The problem is that the scheme has been 

delayed and the route has not been fixed. It is not possible to safeguard land 

when the route is not known, and for the same reason, there are insufficient 

details of the defended area.  

115. The Environment Agency say that this is a fully funded project being 

progressed by 10 partners including Oxford City Council and is expected to 
come forward in the plan period. But without detail, the policy and text will not 

be effective or sound because the area to which they apply cannot be defined 

in the plan or shown on the policies map. In the interests of soundness, MM16 
deletes the part of paragraph 4.18 which refers to safeguarding, as well as the 

section of Policy RE3 which refers to the defended area. The remainder of 

paragraph 4.18 remains as a description of the purposes of the scheme. 

Should the scheme come forward it can be incorporated into any plan review. 

Sustainable drainage, surface and groundwater flow 

116. Policy RE4 deals with this subject but does not provide enough information 

about what is expected of applicants for larger schemes. To address this, 
MM17, which reflects the Statement of Common Ground with the Environment 

Agency (COM.4), seeks a foul and surface water drainage strategy for large 

development and encourages separate foul and surface water sewers on non-

householder brownfield sites.  

117. A number of site allocations contain requirements for applicant-funded 

investigations into the capacity of foul or surface water drainage or water 

supply. It is not for the plan to state who should fund such studies and this 
requirement is deleted by MM44. Consequently, MM17 inserts a new 

paragraph into the supporting text to Policy RE4 to explain how infrastructure 

capacity should be approached within the foul and surface water drainage 
strategy. MM17 also replaces a requirement for compliance with the 

Sustainable Urban Drainage System Design and Evaluation Guidance 

Supplementary Planning Document with a need to have regard to that 

document, because it is not a development plan document.  

Other environmental policies 

118. Policy RE.7: Managing the Impact of Development states that planning 

permission will only be granted for developments that, among other things, do 
not have unaddressed transport impacts; it is not clear what this means, and 

MM18 changes the requirement to refer to unacceptable transport impacts, as 

well as removing the reference to transport assessments, which are more 
appropriately dealt with under the relevant transport policies. This modification 

is required for clarity and effectiveness.  

119. The plan’s policies on the efficient use of land (Policy RE.2), health and 

wellbeing (Policy RE.5), air quality (Policy RE.6), noise and vibration (Policy 

RE.8 and land quality (Policy RE.9) are all sound. 

 

354



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

29 

 

Conclusion on Issue 6 

120. Subject to the main modifications described above, the plan’s policies towards 

sustainable design and construction, flood risk management, drainage and 

other environmental matters are sound. 

Issue 7 – Whether the plan’s policies for biodiversity, the Green and Blue 

Infrastructure Network, open space, sports and recreation are sound  

121. The Oxford Meadows Special Area of Conservation (SAC) lies within the plan 
area; Pixey and Yarnton Meads, Wolvercote Meadows and Port Meadow with 

Wolvercote Common and Green Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) all 

form part of it. The Habitats Regulation Assessment Appropriate Assessment 
(CSD.6, 2018) concludes that the Oxford Local Plan 2036 will not affect the 

integrity of the Oxford Meadows SAC through recreational impacts, impacts on 

water levels or quality, or air pollution. It recognises, in respect of the latter, 
the significance of the plan’s proposals for car-free development. Impacts on 

other SSSIs and local sites of nature conservation have also been taken into 

account (as summarised in BGP.17, Local Sites of Biodiversity Importance) 

and relevant protection measures have been included in Policy G2 and in the 

site allocation policies.   

122. Policy G1: Protection of Green and Blue Infrastructure Network protects green 

and open spaces and waterways, which are defined on the policies map. It 
sets out criteria allowing for exceptions to that protection, but these are not 

consistent with those in subsequent policies which address in more detail a 

variety of aspects of greenspace including, among other things, biodiversity 
and sport and recreation. Policy G1 therefore adds inconsistency and a lack of 

clarity, undermining the effectiveness of this part of the plan. MM19 deletes 

criteria (a) and (b) and adds a cross reference to the subsequent policies, 

which contain the relevant detail. The modification retains protection over 
water-based recreation facilities within Policy G1 since this is not covered in 

subsequent policies. 

123. Both the scope and the content of Policy G5: Outdoor Sports are inconsistent 
with paragraphs 96 to 98 of the NPPF in respect of outdoor sports and 

recreation. MM22 therefore extends the scope of the policy to match that of 

the relevant part of the NPPF and includes the same exception criteria. 

MM124 explains what is meant by Open Space. MM64 re-casts the wording 
of those site allocation policies where there is a requirement for open space 

retention, or off-site re-provision or enhancement, with an appropriate cross-

reference to Policy G5. These modifications are required for effectiveness and 

to ensure consistency with national policy.  

124. Policy G7: Other Green and Open Spaces refers to other spaces not protected 

by Policy G1. It is not clear what these are, and the policy contains a different 
and, in part, more stringent set of criteria for their protection than those 

relating to identified open space. These are not consistent with the NPPF in 

respect of outdoor sports and recreation, and the coverage of the policy 

overlaps with other policies such as those addressing biodiversity. Policy G5 as 
modified by MM22 is consistent with the NPPF and covers open space 

regardless of whether or not it is identified on the policies map, so Policy G7 is 

355



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

30 

 

unnecessary. MM23 therefore deletes the entire policy in the interests of 

soundness and effectiveness. 

125. Policy G2 protects sites and species important for biodiversity and 
geodiversity; MM20 adds for reasons of effectiveness the requirement for a 

buffer between development and SSSIs to avoid disturbance during the 

construction period. For the sake of clarity and effectiveness, MM20 and 

MM125 also define Local Wildlife Sites and Oxford City Wildlife Sites. 

126. Other policies relating to green and blue infrastructure are sound. Policy G3: 

Green Belt has been dealt with under Issue 5.  

Conclusion on Issue 7 

127. Subject to the main modifications described above, the plan’s policies for the 

Green and Blue Infrastructure Network, open space, sports and recreation are 

sound. 

Issue 8 – Whether the plan’s policies for enhancing Oxford’s heritage and 

creating high quality new development are sound 

128. The importance of protecting Oxford’s historic assets does not need to be 

discussed here. The plan treats this subject very seriously, addressing 
placemaking, views and building heights, heritage assets and archaeology and 

other relevant factors. There is no evidence that the plan falls short in 

according due weight to any of these issues. The main modifications in this 

area all relate to the detailed wording of the policies. 

129. Policy DH3: Designated Heritage Assets and Policy DH4: Archaeological 

Remains do not follow sufficiently closely the wording of Section 16 of the 
NPPF. MM26 and MM27 respectively bring the policies into line with the NPPF 

and MM26 adds additional references to the setting of heritage assets and, in 

the supporting text, to heritage assets at risk. 

130. Policy DH5: Local Heritage Assets sets out criteria for the inclusion on the 
Oxford Heritage Asset Register. This is not an appropriate plan policy since it 

does not relate to development and it belongs in the background text. In 

addition, Policy DH5 does not reflect national policy adequately in respect of 
the approach towards non-designated heritage assets. MM28 takes the 

reference to the Oxford Heritage Asset Register out of the policy into the 

supporting text and includes appropriate wording to ensure compliance with 

the NPPF in respect of non-designated heritage assets. 

131. A number of the site allocation policies contain requirements relating to nearby 

heritage assets, but the policy requirements are inconsistent with the NPPF 

and are open to criticism for leaving out assets that should be included, or vice 
versa. Since there is a clear framework in the NPPF for considering the impact 

of development on heritage assets, which is also included in Policy DH3 as 

modified, and Policy DH4, it is unnecessary to include further requirements 
within the policies themselves, although attention may be drawn to relevant 

heritage assets in the supporting text. MM53 deletes these policy 

requirements from the relevant site allocations in the interests of soundness 

and effectiveness and replaces them with a reference to the requirements of 

356



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

31 

 

Policy DH3 and where appropriate Policy DH4, together with relevant 

references to heritage assets in the supporting text. 

 
132. MM24 alters the supporting text and Appendix 6.1 to explain the context in 

which public art will be encouraged, rather than expecting it even when it may 

not be appropriate, and it adds a reference to floorscape to the appendix; 

MM25 indicates that regard should be had to the Council’s High Buildings 
Study Technical Advice Note, rather than compliance, since it is not a 

development plan document; and MM29 modifies Policy DH6 to ensure that 

the right terminology is used in respect of planning permission and 
advertisement consent. These modifications are all required for soundness. 

MM126, MM127 and MM128 provide appropriate cross references to national 

policy and guidance in the field of design and sustainable development to 
assist in an understanding of the policy context. 

 

133. Policy DH2: Views and Building Heights contains a very stringent set of criteria 

for development to ensure that significant views to and from the historic 
skyline are maintained.  Subject to the modification set out in MM25, the 

policy appears entirely effective and comprehensive in its coverage. Policy 

DH1: High Quality Design and Placemaking is also an effective policy, 
establishing, in conjunction with Appendix 6.1, key design principles and 

objectives for delivering high quality development. 

Conclusion on Issue 8 

134. Subject to the main modifications set out above, the plan’s policies for 

enhancing Oxford’s heritage and creating high quality new development are 

sound. 

Issue 9 – Whether the plan’s policies for transport and movement are 

sound 

135. Oxford is a focus for many activities but its centre is of great historic value and 

has many narrow streets which are busy with cyclists and pedestrians. Its 
ambition is to become a world class cycling city with improved air quality, 

reduced congestion and enhanced public realm. To achieve this, there is a 

need to prioritise road space and promote sustainable transport modes.  

136. Policy M1: Prioritising Walking, Cycling and Public Transport seeks to promote 
sustainable transport choices. The policy accords with national policy in the 

NPPF, but clarification is required as to when financial contributions towards 

bus services will be sought, so MM30 makes it clear that contributions should 
be fairly and reasonably related to the development where the direct impact of 

development would make such measures necessary.  

137. Policy M2: Assessing and Managing Development seeks a Transport 
Assessment for traffic-generating development as defined in Appendix 7.1. It 

also requires a Travel Plan for development that has significant transport 

implications in connection with the transport requirements in Appendix 7.2.  

These are intended to help reduce car travel and encourage the use of 
sustainable means of transport. However, the policy does not contain 

adequate criteria to assess whether a scheme is acceptable, and insufficient 

practical use is made of Transport Assessments and Travel Plans in, for 

357



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

32 

 

example, establishing appropriate levels of non-residential parking. 

Construction Management Plans are also mentioned in the policy and 

supporting text but without any detail. The policy needs to be clear about the 
circumstances under which a Construction Management Plan will need to be 

submitted.  

138. In the interests of effectiveness, MM31 adds new criteria to the policy to 

explain what measures are sought within a Transport Assessment to achieve 
appropriate transport outcomes; it explains when a Travel Plan is required; 

and it sets out when a Construction Traffic Management Plan must be provided 

and the actions it should contain. The non-residential parking issue is dealt 

with below. 

139. As regards parking, the background text to the plan Policy M3: Motor Vehicle 

Parking explains that Oxford provides good opportunities for car free housing 
because of the availability of walking and cycling routes and good public 

transport. Policy M3: Motor Vehicle Parking requires new residential 

development to be car free in Controlled Parking Zones, employer-linked 

affordable housing, close to public transport services and shopping facilities. 
Outside these areas, residential parking should be provided in accordance with 

the standards in Appendix 7.3. This policy is consistent with the plan’s overall 

strategy to reduce carbon emissions, encourage the use of sustainable 
transport modes and make the best use of land. The possible impact of car 

free parking on the rate of windfall development has already been discussed in 

connection with Issue 2.  

140. However, Policy M3 is not clear enough in respect of the parking required for 

non-residential developments. It refers to no increase in parking, but it is not 

clear what baseline this would be gauged against, particularly where 

redevelopment is involved, and it is inconsistent with the requirement to 
reduce parking contained in a number of site allocation policies, a clause which 

would not have due regard to the operational needs of some of the 

businesses. There is also inconsistency between the requirement for existing 
employment uses, other types of use, extensions to development on existing 

employment sites and parking on new employment sites.  

141. MM32 therefore modifies the policy by stating that the parking requirements 

for all non-residential development, including extensions, redevelopment or 
new development, will be determined in the light of the submitted Transport 

Assessment or Travel Plan, taking into account the objectives to achieve a 

shift towards sustainable travel modes. The presumption is that parking will be 
kept to the minimum necessary to ensure the successful functioning of the 

development. In conjunction with this, MM51 removes the requirement for a 

reduction in parking on a number of site allocations. This is effective because 
it enables the circumstances of each case to be considered whilst continuing to 

promote sustainable transport modes, and gives additional purpose to 

Transport Assessments and Travel Plans. MM32 also clarifies the position in 

respect of redevelopment and the expansion of existing operations on large 
sites, and, together with MM131 and MM123 it introduces various 

consequential clarifications and deletions, including case-by-case parking 

provision for disabled people. 

358



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

33 

 

142. Highways England have questioned whether MM32 and MM51 would result in a 

material increase in traffic on the Strategic Road Network. However, the plan’s 

Transport Model showed a minimal increase in traffic movements on the 
strategic road network as a result of the planned development within the 

Oxford Local Plan 2036.8  The Transport Model was run with no Local Plan 

mitigation measures, and as Policy M3 represents an improvement to the 

current situation it is unlikely that this modification would result in an increase 

in vehicle movements on the Strategic Road Network. 

143. Policy M4 appropriately seeks electric charging points whilst Policy M5 deals 

with bicycle parking. The latter has the potential for over-provision in some 
instances which would conflict with the need to make the best use of land. 

MM33 allows for reduced provision for student accommodation in certain 

defined circumstances and reduces the standard for dwellings to a realistic 

level. 

Conclusion on Issue 9 

144. With the main modifications in place as described above, the plan’s policies for 

transport and movement are sound. 

Issue 10 – Whether the plan’s policies in respect of retailing, town centre 

uses, tourism and cultural development are sound 

145. The Oxford Retail and Leisure Study (RTL.1) assessed the broader picture for 
retail and leisure in Oxford, carried out a detailed health check of the city 

centre and five existing district centres (Cowley Centre, Summertown, 

Headington, East Oxford-Cowley Road, and Blackbird Leys), and undertook 
extensive household and shopper surveys. The study is comprehensive. 

Document BGP.19, Retail, Leisure and Vibrancy of Centres, which draws on it, 

is an excellent explanation of the evidence that underpins this issue and there 

is no need to repeat its findings in detail. 

146. The plan aims to ensure that developments involving town centre uses are 

directed to the city centre, district centres or local centres as defined on the 

Policies Map. This assists in reducing the need to travel. It is in accordance 

with the NPPF and is consistent with the plan’s sustainable movement policies.  

147. To achieve this, Policy V1 states that proposals for the development of town 

centre uses outside a centre must demonstrate compliance with the sequential 

test, which is described in paragraph 86 of the NPPF. The policy sets the 
development threshold for the impact assessment at 350 square metres. 

Though substantially lower than the default threshold of 2,500 square metres 

in the NPPF, there is justification for this. The Retail and Leisure Study’s 
assessment of retail trends highlighted the dynamic growth in smaller 

convenience stores operated by the major grocers with a minimum gross 

floorspace of about 4,000 square feet (372 square metres). There is a risk that 
locating these smaller stores on the edge or outside of smaller local centres, 

for example as part of petrol filling stations, could harm the overall vitality and 

viability of the centres, particularly where they are dependent on small 

supermarkets and convenience shops to anchor their retail offer. In the 

 
8 This is set out in the Transport Technical Note attached to COM.6A, the addendum to the 
Statement of Common Ground with Natural England. 

359



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

34 

 

circumstances the impact assessment threshold of 350 square metres is 

justified. MM34 clarifies that sites allocated by the plan for retail development 

are exempt from the need to submit a retail impact assessment.  

148. Policy V2: Shopping Frontages in the City Centre seeks to maintain the 

primarily retail character of the city centre by allowing Use Class A1 retail use, 

whilst setting criteria for the proportion of non-retail and other town centre 

uses. Policies V3: The Covered Market and V4: District and Local Centre 
Shopping Frontages also contain criteria governing the proportion of non-retail 

uses within these areas, with Policy V4 setting different criteria for each of the 

district centres and for local centres.  

149. With regard to Policy V4, there is no soundness reason to make a distinction 

between the Templars Shopping Park and the Cowley Templars Square 

Shopping Centre within Cowley Centre District Centre, because although they 
cater for different types and sizes of retailer they form part of the same 

centre.  

150. With the exception of the issue discussed below, the criteria governing the 

proportion of retail and non-retail use in these centres are justified against the 
findings of the Oxford Retail and Leisure Study, which took into account trends 

in retailing including the growth of internet shopping and the effect of the new 

Westgate Centre on shopping patterns, as well as the health and 

characteristics of the district and local centres.  

151. Modifications are however required to these policies in certain respects. Firstly, 

the criteria relating to the proportion of Use Class A1 in East Oxford-Cowley 
Road needs to be adjusted as shown in MM37 to reflect the current proportion 

of A1 uses in the centre. Secondly, criteria (c)(i) and (ii) of Policy V2 only 

allow non-retail town centre uses where, among other things, they promote 

the diversity and range of uses available to shoppers and visitors, enhancing 
their experience. Similar criteria feature in Policies V3 and V4. This could lead 

to inconsistency, because it would require a case-by-case evaluation of the 

qualities of the proposal and the diversity of the centre’s uses, and 
uncertainty, because there would be nothing to inform an applicant as to 

whether any proposal would be acceptable. MM35, MM36 and MM37 remove 

these criteria from Policies V2, V3 and V4 respectively in the interests of 

soundness, and instead insert support for diversity into the supporting text. 
The use of upper floors, also dealt with by MM35 and MM37, has been 

discussed under Issue 2.  

152. The importance of tourism to the Oxford economy was assessed in the study 
“The Economic Impact of Tourism in Oxfordshire 2015”. Tourism issues are 

addressed clearly in BGP.13 “Hotels and Short Stay Accommodation” and 

there is no need to repeat the detail here.  

153. Policy V5: Sustainable Tourism allows for the development of holiday and 

other short stay accommodation in the City Centre, District Centres, on main 

arterial roads where there is good public transport, and on sites allocated for 

the purpose. It is recognised that Policy V5 does not in itself represent a 
proactive tourism strategy, but it is sound in that it represents, for tourism 

development, the spatial representation of the plan’s objective to support 

sustainable modes of travel. 

360



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

35 

 

154. MM38 as consulted upon was intended to clarify the application of Policy V5, 

but it would have had the negative consequence of preventing the expansion 

or modernisation of some existing tourist facilities and hotels contrary to the 
objective to modernise existing sites referred to in paragraph 8.15 of the plan. 

A change has therefore been made to MM38 to make it clear that the 

locational requirement applies only to new sites, not to proposals to refurbish 

or expand existing sites. Since this would be consistent with the plan’s 

objectives there are no consultation issues involved. 

155. Policy V6: Cultural and Social Activities allows for such uses subject to criteria 

relating to location and impact. These are sound except for the criterion which 
stipulates that they should add to Oxford’s cultural diversity. Rather like the 

shopping centre criteria relating to diversity, discussed above, this criterion 

could lead to inconsistent case-by-case decision making based on no published 
guidance, and it would not help an applicant to understand whether a 

particular proposal will be acceptable. MM39 deletes the criterion and inserts 

an expression of encouragement towards development which adds to cultural 

diversity in the supporting text. 

156. Policy V7: Infrastructure and Cultural and Community Facilities aims to retain 

social and community facilities and sets out criteria for applications for new 

state schools, primary healthcare facilities and community centres. MM40 
clarifies that this applies to alteration and expansion as well as new facilities 

and that it applies to all schools. This modification is required for effectiveness. 

Conclusion on Issue 10 

157. Subject to the main modifications described above, the plan’s policies in 

respect of retailing, town centre uses, tourism and cultural development are 

sound. 

Issue 11 – Whether the plan’s policies concerning infrastructure provision 

are sound 

158. New infrastructure is required in the wider Oxfordshire area to accommodate 

Oxford’s development needs and those of neighbouring districts. This is being 
addressed through the Growth Deal and through the development plans and 

infrastructure delivery plans of other Oxfordshire authorities. The provisions of 

the Oxford City Local Plan itself do not give rise to the need for major 

infrastructure projects within the city.  

159. Infrastructure requirements are however likely to arise from individual 

developments, and Policy S2: Development Contributions indicate that these 

will be sought where needs arise as a result of new development. Its wording 
predates the introduction of the community infrastructure levy in Oxford, so 

MM2 updates the policy to refer to the use of the levy, planning conditions, 

and planning obligations, in the interests of effectiveness. 

160. Policy V8 deals with utilities and the need for evidence of utilities capacity to 

support planning applications other than householder applications. The issue 

of funding research into capacity has already been dealt with under Issue 6 

(MM44). It also refers to digital infrastructure, but the plan does not contain 
an adequate policy in this regard and is therefore not consistent with the 

NPPF. 

361



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

36 

 

161. MM41 therefore deletes the brief reference to digital infrastructure in Policy 

V8 and introduces a new policy, V9, which indicates that planning permission 

will be granted for new development where it is served by digital 
infrastructure, subject to a number of criteria. Policy V9 also includes a section 

dealing with new electronic communications infrastructure in accordance with 

Section 10 of the NPPF. 

Conclusion on Issue 11 

162. Subject to the main modifications described above, the plan’s policies 

concerning infrastructure provision are sound. 

Issue 12 - Whether the Plan’s site allocations are sound 

General points 

163. This part of the report does not discuss every site allocation. If a site allocation 

is not mentioned, it is considered sound subject to any main modifications 
identified elsewhere in the report. The site selection process was robust (see 

Issue 2). Matters that have already been dealt with, and are not discussed 

under the site allocations, include:  

• the provision of minimum numbers of homes for the site allocations 

(Issue 2);  

• the clarification that employer-led housing should be affordable housing 

(MM47, Issue 3); 

• the clarification that sites listed as suitable for employer linked affordable 

or student accommodation would also be suitable for general residential 

(MM67, Issue 3); 

• the deletion of the detailed requirement in respect of the student 

accommodation threshold and its replacement with a cross reference to 

Policy H9 (MM50, Issue 3);  

• all Green Belt matters (Issue 5);  

• the deletion of over-prescriptive criteria relating to utilities capacity 

(MM44, Issue 6); 

• information about the flood risk exception test and a requirement to 
submit a comprehensive flood risk management strategy in sites in Flood 

Zone 3 (MM46 and MM52, Issue 6); 

• sports pitch retention or re-provision or open space improvement in line 

with Policy G5 (MM64, Issue 7); 

• the deletion from site allocations of criteria relating to heritage assets, 

with the insertion of cross references to Policies DH3 and DH4 as 

appropriate (MM53, Issue 8); and 

• the deletion of the requirement to reduce parking on several sites (MM51, 

Issue 9). 

362



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

37 

 

Flexibility 

164. Many of the site allocation policies explicitly state that planning permission will 

not be granted for any use other than that described in the policy. This 
stipulation does not demonstrate positive preparation because the plan cannot 

envisage every form of development that might be brought forward, and plans 

should be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated and activities 

that might be beneficial to the functioning of the main use. MM49 deletes the 
restriction from the site allocation policies and inserts wording to the effect 

that uses that are complementary to the main use will be considered on their 

merits. 

The site allocations 

Areas of Change 

165. The submitted plan sets out the Council’s approach to each of these areas in 
the background text, but some of this text contains policy-style requirements 

which should be expressed as policies. MM43 therefore introduces new 

policies AOC1 to AOC9 for, respectively, AOC1: West End and Osney Mead, 

AOC2: Cowley Centre District Centre, AOC3: Blackbird Leys Area of Change, 
AOC4: East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre, AOC5: Summertown District 

Centre, AOC6: Headington District Centre, AOC7: Cowley Branch Line, AOC8: 

Marston Road and AOC9: Old Road. The new policies largely retain the original 
text, adapted to make them work as policy, and they are sound in every case. 

MM43 explains that the impact of development in these areas needs to be 

considered within the area’s wider context. The City Centre is also included as 
an Area of Change, but a separate policy is not necessary because it is already 

covered by several policies.  

Policy SP1: Sites in the West End and Policy SP2: Osney Mead 

166. Policy SP1: West End Sites and Policy SP2: Osney Mead each contain new 
provisions under MM45 and MM48 facilitating a foot/cycle bridge across the 

Thames. This is necessary to help to integrate Osney Mead with the city centre 

and enhance its development potential. MM45 also clarifies that development 
under Policy SP1 should have regard to the West End Design Code, rather than 

follow it, because it is not a development plan document.  

Policy SP5: Summer Fields School Athletics Track  

167. Development on this site could have an impact on groundwater flow and the 
recharge of groundwater to the Oxford Meadows Special Area of Conservation. 

In the interests of soundness, MM56 adds a requirement to the policy that 

development proposals must be accompanied by a hydrological survey to 

assess the impact on groundwater. 

Policy SP7: 276 Banbury Road 

168. This site is under construction, so the policy is not necessary and is deleted by 

MM59. 

 

363



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

38 

 

Policy SP8: Unipart 

169. This large Category 1 employment site lies to the south east of Oxford. Policy 

SP8 allows for B1 and B2 uses, but only accepts B8 use where it supports the 
other employment activities on the site. However, after investigation, the 

Council considers the site to have lawful B8 use, and this is confirmed in the 

Statement of Common Ground between the Council and Unipart Group 

(COM.14). In order to reflect the site’s lawful use, MM60 allows for B8 use on 

the site without the restriction in the submitted plan.  

Policy SP9: Mini Plant Oxford 

170. To take into account operational requirements on this large employment site, 
MM61 allows for a reduction in employment floorspace as an exception to 

Policy E1. This is required for effectiveness. 

Policy SP14: Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy 

171. MM66 and MM68 clarify, respectively, paragraph 9.93 and the policy itself, by 

making it clear that the allocation only relates to spare land at the edge of the 

playing fields and development should not encroach on to the playing fields, 

for which qualitative improvements are sought.  

Policy SP17: Government Buildings and Harcourt House 

172. In the interests of flexibility, MM71 deletes unnecessary prescription relating 

to the positioning of student accommodation on the site. In view of the 
proximity of open space, and in order to make the best use of the site, MM72 

deletes the requirement for 10% of the site to be public open space, requiring 

the inclusion of landscaping instead. 

Policy SP18: Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth Student Village 

173. MM73 and MM75 refer to the presence of New Marston Meadows SSSI within 

600m of this site. The modifications, which include assessments of 

groundwater flow and the incorporation of sustainable drainage in any 
scheme, require applicants to demonstrate that there will be no adverse 

impact on surface and groundwater flow to the SSSI. In addition, MM74 

requires applications to investigate and address potential land contamination 
issues on the site. These modifications are required to ensure that the plan’s 

site allocations are consistent with its environmental objectives. 

Policy SP19: Land Surrounding St Clement’s Church 

174. The submitted plan includes this as a residential allocation, but in the interests 
of effectiveness MM76 provides greater flexibility by allowing for student 

accommodation and indicates that planning permission will also be granted for 

a nursery as a complementary use. 

Policy SP20: Churchill Hospital Site 

175. MM77 provides greater flexibility of use on this site by adding references to 

extra care accommodation including elderly persons’ accommodation, and 

complementary uses including residential development. 

364



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

39 

 

Policy SP21: Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre 

176. In order to give greater flexibility and make the best use of this site, MM78 

expands the number of acceptable uses by allowing for residential 

development and extra care accommodation. 

Policy SP31: St Catherine’s College Land 

177. This largely developed site is in Flood Zone 3b so, in the interests of 

soundness, MM87 requires a site-specific flood risk assessment, including 
mitigation measures, with any planning application to ensure that the site 

allocation is consistent with the plan’s environmental objectives. 

Policy SP34: Canalside Land 

178. The redevelopment of this site for a mixed use development has been pursued 

for some time, as set out in the Council’s adopted SPD. MM90 as consulted 

upon sets the minimum number of homes at 23 and indicates that the 
affordable homes on the site will be delivered on the site of the community 

centre, Canal Street.  

179. However, representations received in respect of the main modifications 

indicate that the existing community centre is not part of the site addressed 
by the policy and is in separate ownership. The policy cannot therefore depend 

on its future availability. This means that the specification by MM90 of a 

minimum of 23 homes on the site is not a reliable figure, and the policy cannot 
require homes to be delivered on the site of the community centre if it is not 

in the site allocation. An additional point in respect of MM90 is that the policy 

cannot require development to accord with the Canalside Supplementary 
Planning Document, which is not a development plan document and has not 

been examined (this is an issue already addressed in other MMs). The original 

policy, which sets out the range of uses for the site, is not unsound and MM90 

is not therefore recommended. 

Policy SP35: Court Place Gardens 

180. MM132 specifies a minimum of 64 homes for Court Place Gardens. However, 

following consultation on the main modifications, it is clear that a minimum 
number should not be specified because of the presence of nearby listed 

buildings, landscape and tree constraints and a nearby SSSI. Further design 

work is needed to ascertain the capacity of the site. MM132 is not therefore 

recommended.  

Policy SP39: Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields 

181. This housing allocation site was once a school playing field and the policy 

seeks the re-provision of the playing field or a contribution made to another 
facility. However, the field has not been used since 2003; it was held in 

reserve by the County Council but was not required, and it has never been 

publicly available as a playing field. In the circumstances the open space is 
clearly surplus to requirements; re-provision or a contribution are not 

appropriate within the terms of NPPF paragraph 97, are not required for 

mitigation and would not relate fairly and reasonably to the development. 

MM94 removes the requirement, to ensure compliance with NPPF paragraph 

365



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

40 

 

97 and NPPF paragraph 56 in relation to the tests for planning obligations. The 

policy seeks 10% public open space which is appropriate. 

Policy SP41: Jesus College Sports Ground 

182. The plan allocates this site for residential development but not student 

housing. Despite the existence of some graduate accommodation in the area, 

student housing would be incompatible with the locational strategy for student 

housing in Policy H8. The city has very few greenfield sites like this one on 
which general housing can be provided, and the plan is sound in seeking to 

make the most of this limited resource for general housing.  

183. The submitted policy seeks 25% of the site as public open space located on 
the Barracks Lane frontage, but this is not necessary since the development, 

of a minimum of 28 homes, is modest in scale; moreover, as this is a private 

open space, the policy cannot require public sports facilities on the site or a 
contribution to local sports facilities as this would not fairly relate to the nature 

of the site or the development. MM96 deletes this requirement. Policy G5 

would still require the retention of the sports pitches space or equivalent re-

provision (as discussed under Issue 7, MM64). It is likely that re-provision 
would take place in conjunction with nearby Lincoln College Sports Ground 

(Policy SP44). MM96 also requires green space to be retained along the 

Barracks Lane frontage to protect the character of the area. Subject to these 

modifications, the policy is sound. 

Policy SP42: John Radcliffe Hospital Site 

184. This busy site suffers from regular queueing to access the visitor car parks 
during the day, and this can hinder other vehicles, notably buses. This is not 

addressed effectively enough in the submitted policy. It is necessary to look at 

long term comprehensive solutions for transport and new uses, so MM97 

seeks transport assessments and travel plans in appropriate circumstances 
and cross-refers to the masterplan currently being produced by the Oxford 

University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for this site along with the Churchill 

Hospital (Policy SP20) and the Nuffield Centre (Policy SP21). To recognise the 
potential of the site, MM97 adds to the list of appropriate uses extra care 

accommodation, including elderly persons’ accommodation, together with 

complementary residential development including employer-linked affordable 

housing. The modification is required for effectiveness. 

Policy SP43: Land at Meadow Lane 

185. The submitted policy for this residential site does not adequately recognise the 

potential for impact on the Iffley Meadows SSSI. To ensure consistency with 
the plan’s environmental objectives, MM98 adds a requirement that 

development should be designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact on 

the SSSI; it requires a sustainable urban drainage system and the potential 

need for a groundwater study. 

Policy SP44: Lincoln College Sports Ground 

186. The submitted policy allows for residential development and public open 

space, together with the retention of the sports pitch or alternative provision. 
This area is said to be short of greenspace, but this is a private site. Therefore, 

366



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

41 

 

the inclusion of public open space as part of the development would be a 

public benefit. MM99 states that this should be located along the frontage 

adjacent to the Bartlemas Conservation Area, which would assist in preserving 
its setting. This modification is necessary to ensure that the policy is 

consistent with the plan’s objectives in respect of heritage assets. 

Policy SP46: Manor Place 

187. MM101 alters the policy to refer to the correct site name in the interests of 

consistency and effectiveness. 

Policy SP47 Manzil Way Resource Centre 

188. This site is for healthcare, administration and/or homes, but the submitted 
policy contains the requirement that if housing is to be provided there should 

be enough market housing to ensure that affordable housing is provided on 

site. This does not take into account site circumstances or the potential for a 
mixed-use scheme with a smaller number of homes and hence it prejudices 

suitable development solutions for the site. MM102 removes the requirement 

to ensure that the policy is effective. In addition, as discussed under Issue 3, 

the wording in Appendix 3.4 should be modified (as part of MM8) to clarify 
that employer-linked affordable housing can be brought forward here. These 

changes are required for soundness and effectiveness. 

Policy SP48: Nielsen, Thornhill Park, London Road 

189. This site is listed in Appendix 2 of the plan as a Category 2 Employment Site, 

but the criteria in Policy E2 for such sites are not relevant here because in 

2017 the site was subject to a prior approval application for the conversion of 
Nielsen House to 134 homes. The requirement in the submitted policy to 

retain the existing level of employment on site is incompatible with this. 

Having regard to the Statement of Common Ground (COM.10), MM103 and 

MM129 adopt a more effective approach by deleting the reference to Nielsen 
from the policy heading and from the list of Category 2 Employment Sites, and 

by allocating the site for a residential-led mixed use redevelopment, with a 

requirement to include some employment use.  

Policy SP49: Old Power Station 

190. This site is allocated for student accommodation and/or residential dwellings, 

and, having regard to the potential of the site, MM104 extends the range of 

possible uses to academic institutional use in the interests of a more flexible 

and effective policy. 

Policy SP51: Oxford Brookes University Marston Road Campus 

191. To make the best use of the site’s potential, in accordance the objectives of 
the NPPF and the plan, MM106 extends the range of uses to enable student 

accommodation to be built, linked to further academic uses.  

Policy SP52: Oxford Stadium 

192. The stadium formerly hosted greyhound racing and speedway, but owing to 

changes in organisation, social outlook and in patterns of attendance, it has 

367



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

42 

 

not seen these sports for several years. It is largely unused and, despite 

designation as a conservation area in 2014, it is a very unattractive site in 

poor condition. As a large urban brownfield site in a busy, constrained city, it 

represents a very serious long-term wasted resource.  

193. Policy SP52 seeks the restoration of greyhound racing and speedway at the 

stadium, with enabling residential development on the car park and, if these 

sports uses are shown not to be viable, it seeks an alternative community and 
leisure use. Although the Council’s evidence suggests that greyhound racing 

and speedway would be viable if supported by enabling housing development, 

considerable doubt is cast on this by the range of other evidence from the 
landowner, in terms of both viability and the future of these sports. There is 

also doubt about whether the 100 homes referred to in MM108 can realistically 

be accommodated on the site along with greyhound racing and speedway, 
having regard to the residential scale and density that would be required, the 

potential noise that the residents could be exposed to, and the difficulty of 

reconciling residential use with the operational parking needs of the sports 

uses.  

194. This report does not recommend the removal of references to greyhound 

racing and speedway from the policy; it is acknowledged that they are 

currently the Council’s preferred uses for the site. Nonetheless, it must be 
recognised that there is a significant prospect that they will not return. 

Meanwhile there is a compelling need for housing in Oxford, as well as an 

urgent need to transform the appearance of the site. A comprehensive 
redevelopment of the site could deliver far more homes than the 100 referred 

to in MM108. For the policy to be consistent with national policy and indeed 

with its own housing objectives, it needs to contain a commitment to the 

complete redevelopment of the site for housing and complementary uses if it 
is shown that greyhound racing and speedway cannot realistically be resumed. 

This is secured by MM107 and MM108, which also aim to ensure that such 

development references the heritage interest of the site. The inclusion of 100 
homes in MM108 is not recommended for the reasons given above. These 

modifications are necessary to ensure the policy is effective and consistent 

with national policy, to avoid the site continuing to remain unused. 

Policy SP55: Radcliffe Observatory Quarter 

195. This land may potentially be contaminated so, to ensure that the policy is 

consistent with the environmental and public health objectives of the plan, 

MM74 adds a requirement to this policy that applications should undertake a 

site investigation into contamination. 

Policy SP57: Ruskin Field 

196. This site is to the north of the Ruskin College Campus site. Only the 
southernmost part of the field is allocated as a potential development site 

because of the sensitivity of the northern part; development there could have 

an adverse impact on the Old Headington Conservation Area and the Elsfield 

View Cone. The expansion of the College would be appropriate on the 
allocated part of the site, as would residential development including 

employer-linked affordable housing and possibly other complementary uses. 

For the sake of clarity, MM112 sets out these acceptable uses. Development 

368



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

43 

 

on the southern (allocated) part of Ruskin Field can be designed so that it 

would not adversely affect the significance of the Conservation Area or listed 

buildings, and other relevant policies would ensure that its height is 

appropriate to its context.  

Policy SP58: Slade House 

197. This site is for healthcare, administration and/or homes, but the submitted 

policy contains the requirement that if housing is to be provided there should 
be enough market housing to ensure that affordable housing is provided on 

site. This does not take into account site circumstances or the potential for a 

mixed-use scheme with a smaller number of homes, and hence it prejudices 
suitable development solutions for the site. MM113 removes the requirement 

to ensure that the policy is effective. In addition, the wording in Appendix 3.4 

should be modified (as part of MM8) to clarify that employer-linked affordable 
housing can be brought forward here. This land may potentially be 

contaminated and MM74 adds a requirement to this policy that applications 

should undertake a site investigation into contamination. These modifications 

are required for soundness and effectiveness. 
 

Policy SP59: Summertown House, Apsley Road 

 
198. MM56 removes the requirement for a hydrological survey on this site since 

this is not needed in this location. 

 

Policy SP61: University of Oxford Science Area and Keble Road Triangle 

199. This land may potentially be contaminated and MM74 adds a requirement to 

this policy that applications should undertake a site investigation into 

contamination. 

Policy SP62: Valentia Road Site 

200. Development on this site would have the potential to affect surface water and 

groundwater flow to the Lye Valley SSSI. Consequently MM117 requires 
applications to produce an assessment of groundwater and surface water and 

requires schemes to reduce surface water runoff and contain sustainable 

drainage with a management plan. 

Policy SP64: Wolvercote Paper Mill 

201. This policy and the supporting text are deleted by MM119 because the site is 

being developed. 

Policy SP65: Bayards Hill Primary School Part Playing Fields 

202. This allocation is for residential development. MM120 clarifies in the interests 

of effectiveness that the site to be developed must not encroach upon the 

playing pitches and that qualitative improvements will be sought to the 

remaining playing field. 

 

 

369



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

44 

 

Policy SP66: William Morris Sports Ground 

203. MM74 removes the requirement for a site investigation into contaminated 

land on this site since there is no evidence of contamination. 

Conclusion to Issue 12 

204. Subject to the main modifications described above, the Plan’s site allocations 

are effective and in accordance with national policy, their local impacts are 

acceptable, and they are sound. 

  

370



Oxford Local Plan 2036, Inspectors’ Report 15 May 2020 
 

 

45 

 

Overall Conclusion and Recommendation 

 

205. The Plan has a number of deficiencies in respect of soundness for the reasons 

set out above, which mean that we recommend non-adoption of it as 
submitted, in accordance with Section 20(7A) of the 2004 Act. These 

deficiencies have been explored in the main issues set out above. 

206. The Council has requested that we recommend MMs to make the Plan sound 

and capable of adoption. We conclude that with the recommended main 
modifications set out in the Appendix, the Oxford Local Plan 2036 satisfies the 

requirements of Section 20(5) of the 2004 Act and meets the criteria for 

soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

 

Jonathan Bore 

Nick Fagan 

Inspectors 

 

This report is accompanied by an Appendix containing the Main Modifications. 

 

371



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE OF MAIN MODIFICATIONS 

Contents 

CHAPTER 1 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

CHAPTER 2 ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

CHAPTER 3 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

CHAPTER 4 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 41 

CHAPTER 5 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 50 

CHAPTER 6 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 59 

CHAPTER 7 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 67 

CHAPTER 8 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 76 

CHAPTER 9 ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 95 

GLOSSARY ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 183 

APPENDICES ..................................................................................................................................................................................................... 188 

Key: Text added is shown as red underlined and deleted text is shown as strikethrough. 

Note: For simplicity, both the Inspector’s Report and this Schedule use the same main policy numbering as the plan submitted for 
examination. There has been no attempt to re-number policies, or alter any cross references, as a result of changes arising from 
the main modifications. That will be a matter for the Council prior to publication and adoption. Any re-ordering in this Schedule is 
confined to changes in policy content.

Appendix  3

373



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

2 
 

CHAPTER 1 

Spatial application of the strategy  

Local Plan MM1  
 
 

12 1.23 Northern Gateway/Oxford North 
 
This site has already been allocated and is the 
subject of the Northern Gateway Area Action Plan 
which forms remains part of the Oxford 
Development Plan alongside the Oxford Local Plan 
2036. The AAP makes provision for 90,000m2 of 
employment land (restricted to the science, 
research and development fields) and 500 new 
homes. This site will come forward for development 
during the Local Plan period and will have a 
significant impact on the supply of specialised 
employment floorspace and deliver one of the 
largest housing sites in the city. Therefore whilst it is 
not subject to an allocation in this Local Plan it will 
nonetheless constitute an area of change in the 
context of the vision for the city. Once built upon 
only the employment floorspace part of the scheme 
would be considered a Category 1 employment site 
under Policy E1 of this Local Plan. The Local Plan 
alters one element of the area covered by the AAP 
in relation to land at Pear Tree Farm. The allocation 
of Policy SP29 supersedes the AAP land use 
requirements for this specific element of the site. 
This relationship is shown on the policies map.  

374



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

3 
 

Delivering the strategy 

Local Plan MM2 22 Policy S2 Developer contributions will be sought where needs 
arise as a result of new development.   
 
Developer contributions will be used to ensure the 
necessary physical, social and green infrastructure is 
in place to support development.  Contributions will 
be used to mitigate the adverse impacts of 
development (including a proportional contribution 
to address the cumulative impact of development 
proposals.  The City Council will, where appropriate 
seek to secure such measures through planning 
obligations. Pooled contributions will be used, 
where appropriate, to facilitate the necessary 
infrastructure in line with the development.  
 
Physical, social and green infrastructure and 
provision for its maintenance may be required to 
support new development. The City Council will, 
where appropriate, seek to secure such measures by 
means of planning obligations, conditions attached 
to a planning permission, funding through the 
Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or 
other mechanisms. 

 

375



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

4 
 

CHAPTER 2 

Policy E1: Employment Sites 

Local Plan MM3 23-25 2.2 - 2.3, and 2.9 - 2.10 2.2. The report concluded that the majority of 
employment demand during the plan period will be 
for B1 floorspace. This reflects the findings from 
previous economic studies and the views of 
property agents secured through the assessment.  
 
2.3 The need for more employment floorspace over 
the plan period emphasises the strong need to 
protect existing employment sites. Oxford is a very 
tightly constrained city and the competing demands 
on the limited land supply are strong, not least for 
housing. The Development Plan Local Plan includes 
one additional employment site at Northern 
Gateway, as detailed in the Northern Gateway Area 
Action Plan. Additional employment land could be 
provided through the intensification of uses at 
existing employment sites including Osney Mead, 
Unipart, and the BMW Mini plant. There is some 
remaining land allocated for employment uses at 
both Oxford Business Park and the Science Park.  
 
…2.9 Category 3 sites mainly comprise smaller sites 
and those not performing as well as Category 2 sites, 
for example because they are not as well located, or 
because they do not perform such an important 
economic function, nor are likely to be able to in the 

376



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

5 
 

future. Should these sites become available for 
redevelopment, they should be considered for 
housing will be first required to explore the 
potential for other employment uses, and then 
subject to criteria to explore alternative uses in 
order to help deliver the broader aims and strategy 
of this Local Plan. 
 
2.10 B8 warehousing uses can be helpful in 
supporting local employers in sectors such as 
manufacturing. However, they typically have a low 
job density and do not make efficient use of land 
which is particularly important given the shortage of 
land in Oxford. Some B8 uses are essential for 
Oxford to ensure that important employers are able 
to maintain their supply chain; for example with 
BMW-Mini/Unipart. Where a B8 use may be 
redeveloped for housing development does not 
have this strong link to the wider economy and does 
not represent the most efficient use of land, it will 
be encouraged to convert and intensify into other 
employment uses (B1, B2) with a greater worker 
density. New B8 uses will only be allowed in 
exceptional circumstances where there is a specific 
link to a Category 1 site. particular locally identified 
need. 
 

Local Plan  MM3 25 Policy E1  Planning permission will be granted for the 
intensification, modernisation and regeneration for 
employment purposes of any employment site if it 
can be demonstrated that the development: 

377



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

6 
 

 i) allows for higher-density development (with more 
employment floorspace and jobs per hectare) that 
seeks to makes the best and most efficient use of 
land; and ii) does not cause unacceptable 
environmental impacts and effects.    
 
Employment categories:  
 
Category 1 and 2 employment sites are listed in 
Appendix 2.1 and 2.2, and Category 1 employment 
sites are shown on the Policies Map. All other 
employment sites are Category 3 employment sites.  
 
Category 1 sites 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
development that results in any loss of employment 
floorspace on Category 1 sites. No other non-
employment uses will be permitted on Category 1 
sites except:  
a) residential development for staff linked to the 
employer (where this is permitted under Policy 
EH3); or  
b) other complementary uses provided that they 
support the successful directly the main economic 
function of the site..; or c) s  
 
Start-up or incubator businesses will also be 
supported, if it can be demonstrated that they will 
not cause any negative impact on the main 
economic function of the site  
 

378



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

7 
 

Category 2 sites  
 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
development that results in the loss of employment 
floorspace on Category 2 sites, except where:  
 
cd) the redevelopment creates new housing or 
community use; and  
de) the number of employees in B class uses on the 
site when the site was at full capacity is retained; 
and  
ef) more efficient use of land can be demonstrated.  
 
Category 3 sites  
Planning permission will only be granted for the loss 
of any employment floorspace on Category 3 sites to 
residential development subject to the following 
criteria:  
g) the site or building is no longer suitable for its 
existing business use owing to its changing 
operational needs; and  
h) no other future occupiers can be found through 
the production of evidence to show the premises or 
site has been marketed unsuccessfully both for its 
present use and for potential modernisation or 
regeneration for alternative employment- 
generating uses, including start-up businesses or 
local community uses, for a period of at least 6 
months (see Appendix 2.3 for details of the 
marketing evidence expected).  
 

379



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

8 
 

Category 1 and 2 employment sites are listed in 
Appendix 2.1 and 2.2, and Category 1 employment 
sites are shown on the Policies Map. All other 
employment sites are Category 3 employment sites. 
 
Proposals for residential development on Category 3 
employment sites will be assessed by a balanced 
judgement which will take into account the 
following objectives:  
 
f) the desirability of meeting as much housing need 
as possible in sustainable locations within the city;  
g) the need to avoid loss of or significant harm to 
the continued operation or integrity of successful, 
and/or locally useful, or high-employment 
businesses and employment sites, and to avoid 
impairing business operations through the 
juxtaposition of incompatible residential uses;  
h) the essential importance of creating satisfactory 
residential living conditions and a pleasant 
residential environment with a sense of place, 
connected by safe walking routes to shops, schools, 
open space, community facilities and public 
transport; and  
i) the desirability of achieving environmental 
improvements such as remediation, planting, 
biodiversity gains, sustainable development forms, 
improvements in highway conditions and the 
improvement of living conditions for existing 
residents.  
 
Approach to B8 uses and car showrooms in Oxford                                            

380



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

9 
 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for new or 
expanded B8 uses the loss of B8 space (on any 
category site), where it can be shown that the B8 
use is essential to support the operational 
requirements of a Category 1 employment site but 
not otherwise. Planning permission will also be 
granted for the loss of B8 space (on any category 
site) where it is not essential to support a Category 1 
employment site. it is not essential to supporting a 
Category 1 employment site, for the following uses 
in priority order: 
 
 i) if it can be demonstrated that there is no demand 
for other B1 and B2 employment uses and other 
non-residential uses that support the local economy 
or community (through the production of evidence 
to show the premises or site has been marketed 
unsuccessfully for its present use);  
j) if it is proposed for housing.  
Planning permission will be granted for 
redevelopment of an existing car showroom for 
housing where the site is considered suitable for 
such an alternative use. 
 
Beyond this approach In all cases the suitability of 
the proposed use will be assessed against the site 
specific circumstances.  
  

Policy E2: Teaching and Research  

381



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

10 
 

Local Plan MM4 26-27 2.15 The City Council is committed to supporting the 
sustainable growth of the two universities and thus 
maximising the related economic, social and cultural 
benefits which they bring to Oxford. Due to the 
limited availability of land and the competing 
demands for development sites in the city, it is 
important that the universities are encouraged to 
focus growth on their own sites; both institutions 
have indicated that they have the potential to 
deliver more of their own needs through 
redevelopment. In addition to the universities and 
schools in Oxford, the city also has a large and 
established market in other forms of education 
provision; the Oxford name attracts potential 
students from across the world. There are a large 
number and wide range of language schools and 
private colleges in Oxford. It is also important that 
their growth and impacts of these educational 
institutions is are managed, in particular any 
associated growth in student accommodation (see 
Policy H8: Provision of new student accommodation 
and Policy H9: Linking the delivery of new university 
academic facilities to the delivery of university 
provided residential accommodation). Unchecked 
growth in student numbers without provision of 
student accommodation would have a detrimental 
impact on the availability and price of homes for the 
general population. The policy requires that any 
additional student accommodation need created is 
matched by a corresponding provision of suitable 
student accommodation. This will not necessarily be 
purpose built student accommodation; use of 

382



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

11 
 

university accommodation out of term time and 
homestay accommodation may also be suitable for 
some institutions. 

Local Plan MM4 27 Policy E2 Planning permission will be granted to support the 
growth of the hospitals, through the redevelopment 
and intensification of their sites in Headington as set 
out in the site allocations, including to increase their 
teaching and research function.  
 
Applications for all new education, teaching and 
academic institutional proposals (other than the 
expansion of schools providing statutory education) 
should clearly demonstrate how they support the 
objectives of and accord with the wider policies of 
this development plan.  
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new or 
additional academic or administrative floorspace for 
educational institutions if it can be demonstrated 
that Policy H9 is met or, where this policy does not 
apply, that a suitable form of student 
accommodation for all students will be provided, 
with controls in place to ensure that the provision of 
accommodation is in step with the expansion of 
student places.  
 
In particular, Pplanning permission will be granted 
to support the growth of the University of Oxford 
through the redevelopment and intensification of 
academic and administrative floorspace on existing 
University of Oxford and college sites.  
 

383



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

12 
 

Planning permission will be granted to support the 
growth of Oxford Brookes University through the 
redevelopment and intensification of academic and 
administrative floorspace on their existing sites at 
Headington Hill and Gipsy Lane.  
 
The expansion of both universities must be 
accompanied by the provision of student 
accommodation as necessary and in accordance 
with Policy H8.  
 
Planning permission will be granted to support the 
growth of the hospitals, through the 9 
redevelopment and intensification of their sites in 
Headington as set out in the site allocations, 
including to increase their teaching and research 
function. 

Policy E3: New academic or administrative floorspace for private colleges/language schools 

Local Plan  MM4 28 Iii   
iii New academic or administrative floorspace for 
private colleges/ language schools  

Local Plan  MM4 28 2.17 In addition to the universities and the schools in 
Oxford, the city also has a large and established 
market in other forms of education provision; the 
Oxford name attracts potential students from across 
the world.  There are a large number and and wide 
range of language schools and private colleges in 
Oxford; many of these are located in the city 
primarly to use the ‘Oxford’ brand and do not 
necessarily have an operational need to be in 
Oxford.  The 2017 report by Cambridge Centre for 

384



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

13 
 

Housing and Planning Research found that 37% of all 
students in Oxford are at various non-university 
institutions.  The private colleges and language 
schools that responded to the survey (55% of 
identified institutions) gave their maximum likely 
number of students they have on courses at any one 
time.  This added up to 20,892 students, although 
many of these students are on very short courses  
(such as those on summer language courses).   

Local Plan  MM4 28 2.18 Such institutions offer some economic benefit to the 
city in that they are direct employers (albeit in many 
cases this is short-term seasonal work) but the 
economic impact and contribution to the economic 
objectives of the Local Plan is much more limited 
than that of the two universities in that they are 
only language teaching establishments.  Many 
premises in theses uses have a low employment 
density and therefore do not make very efficient use 
of land.  There has been significant growth in the 
number and size of such language schools, private 
colleges and their student accommodation since 
2012.  

Local Plan  MM4 28 2.19 Students at private colleges and languages schools 
often require purpose built student accommodation 
which reduces opportunities available for 
accommodation for those who need general 
housing or student accommodation for one of the 
two universities.  

Local Plan  MM4 28 2.20 For these reasons and the severe shortage of land in 
Oxford, the Local Plan takes a strict approach to 
restrict any further growth of these institutions to 
allow opportunities to be directed to meeting more 

385



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

14 
 

pressing needs, such as housing, student 
accommodation for the Universities or B1 uses.  

Local Plan  MM4 28 2.21 The approach allows for, and will encourage, 
existing language schools and private colleges to 
make more efficient use of their current floorspace.  
The ability also remains for summer schools to use 
university floorspace out of term time.  

Local Plan  MM4 28 2.22 With regard to this policy restriction on growth 
there are exclusions for specific reasons.  
- The City of Oxford College is excluded as it provides 
state-funded further education to local people 
including sixth form, vocational courses, 
apprenticeships and supports young people who are 
not in education employment or training (NEETS).  
This a vital role in Oxford’s economy in that it 
enables the provision of additional educational 
opportunities for secondary school age pupils in the 
context of the current under performance of 
secondary education in Oxford.  
- Ruskin College is excluded due to its unique social 
benefits in providing vocational degrees, 
apprenticeships and access programmes for adults 
with few or no qualifications seeking to change the 
lives of those who need a second chance in 

386



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

15 
 

education.  
- Independent schools and boarding schools are also 
excluded as they provide primary and secondary 
education.  

Local Plan   MM4 28 footnote 7 Examples of types of Language Schools, Private 
Schools and Colleges include: Further Eduation 
Colleges; Adult Learning Colleges; Higher Education 
Colleges; Independent Schools; Summer Language 
Schools; Term-time language Schools; University 
Preparation Colleges; Private Tutorial Colleges; 
Schools for International Students; and Independent 
Preparatory Schools.  This excludes schools.  

387



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

16 
 

Local Plan   MM4 29 E3 Planning permission will not be granted for new or 
additional academic floorspace for private colleges 
on sites not currently used as a private college on 1 
January 2018.  
Planning permission will only be granted for new or 
additional academic or 16trengths16ion16 
floorspace on existing private college sites if the 
proposal does not result in: 
a) a net loss of B1 floorspace or floorspace that 
could potentially be used for B1; or 
b) a net loss of residential accommodaiton or 
floorspace that could potentially be used for 
residential accommodation; or 
c) an increased need for student accommodation in 
addition to that already provided in Oxford.  
In addition it must be demonstrated that the new 
development has a clear and direct contribution to 
all four economic objectives of the Local Plan.  
- To build on Oxford's economic strengths as a global 
centre for research, learning and health care 
- To remain at the heart of the Oxfordshire economy 
as an important contributor to the national 
economy in its key strenghts in the knowledge 
intensive businesses (such as education, health, 
science, and technology, and as a leading 
environmental city 
- To reduce inqualities across Oxford, particularly in 
health and education 
- To provide a diverse range of employment 
opportunities to meet the needs of the city's 
businesses and residents, allowing Oxford to grow 
and function sustainably, and with a skilled 

388



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

17 
 

workforce ready to fill the employment 
opportunities that arise" 
The following institutions are exempt from the 
requirements of this policy:  
- City of Oxford College (Activate Learning); and  
- Ruskin College; and 
- Independent schools providing statutory primary 
and secondary education 
The City Council will support the appropriate growth 
of these institutions through the expansion or 
modernisation of their existing allocated sites.  

Policy E4: Securing opportunities for local employment, training and businesses 

Local Plan MM5 30 2.23-2.24 Iv iii Securing opportunities for local 
employment, training and businesses 

 
2.23 - New development offers a significant 
opportunity to secure real benefits for the local 
community beyond those directly related to the use 
provided. The construction phase of a development 
offers the chance for local people to be employed in 
the building industry; Community Employment Plans 
(CEPs) Employment and Skills Plans (ESPs) linked to 
legal agreements can make provision for example 
for apprenticeships and training or links to local 
schools and colleges. Similar mechanisms can be 
used to secure commitment from the developer to 
procuring material and labour locally, keeping the 

389



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

18 
 

income in the local community which then gets 
recycled in local shops and services. This approach 
can also be extended into the operational phase of 
development with agreements to secure a 
proportion of the longer-term workforce or supply 
chain locally for example. Another option is to 
commit to paying employees the Oxford Living 
Wage and only using contractors who pay this 
higher level than the National Living Wage.  
 
2.24 - The City Council is keen to make sure that 
every opportunity to secure community 
employment training and procurement benefits 
from new development is explored and pursued 
where possible. Thus, applicants are encouraged to 
submit an ESP alongside all major development 
proposals. ESPs Much of this will should be 
employer-led and the approach taken will vary 
according to the size of the scheme, the type of 
development, and the long-term ownership/ 
management regime. Community Employment Plans 
Employment and Skills Plans have an important role  
in securing the opportunities that arise from new 
development. These issues should be considered in 
all major developments; and the City Council will 
require information demonstrating the applicants 
approach alongside planning applications. The level 
of detail and commitment to such social clauses will 
vary according to the scale and type of 
development. Where appropriate the City Council 
will secure these commitments through a legal 

390



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

19 
 

agreement. The City Council supports the growth of 
social enterprises and co-operatives. 

Local Plan   MM5 31 E4 Policy E4:  Securing opportunities for local 
employment, training and businesses 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
development over 45 residential units or 1,000m2 
non-residential floorspace where it is accompanied 
by detailed information demonstrating that the 
applicants can secure the opportunities for:  
a) Securing constructions jobs for local people 
b) Providing construction apprenticeship 
opportunities 
c) Linking with local schools and colleges 
d) Procuring a proportion of construction materials 
locally 
e) Securing jobs for local people in the operational 
phase 
f) Procuring a proportion of on-going supply chain 
needs locally 
g) Paying all employees (other than apprenticeships) 
the Oxford Living Wage 
h) Only using contractors who commit to paying the 
Oxford Living Wage 
i) Other social clauses as appropriate to the 
development  
The CIty Council will secure these commitments 
through the use of legal agreements.  

 
 

391



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

20 
 

CHAPTER 3 
Policy H1: The scale of new housing provision  

Local Plan MM6  35 3.8, 3.9 Heading above paragraph 3.8: 
Setting a capacity-based housing 
requirement target 
 
Paragraph 3.9: 
In recognition of these significant 
constraints and limitations Oxford City 
Council has taken the pragmatic and 
realistic decision, in consultation with 
neighbouring authorities, to set a capacity-
based housing requirement target. This 
rolls-forward the prior recognition by 
Inspectors for the previous Oxford Local 
Plan 2001-2016, and the Oxford Core 
Strategy, which both used a constraint and 
capacity-based target. As such this Plan sets 
a capacity based housing requirement 
target. This provides for a minimum 
housing requirement target of 10,884 8,620 
new homes to be delivered by 2036… 
 

392



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

21 
 

Local Plan MM6 36 3.11 The Local Plans for the other Oxfordshire 
districts are delivering 13,100 14,300 
dwellings to meet Oxford’s unmet need, as 
follows:  

Cherwell Local Plan 
Partial Review: 
Oxford’s unmet 
needs 

4,400 (Plan 
submitted March 
2018 Examination 
Autumn 2018)  

South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2033 

3,750  4,950 (Plan 
yet to be 
submitted 
submitted March 
2019)  

Vale of White 
Horse Local Plan 
Part 2 

2,200 (Examination 
July 2018)  

West Oxfordshire 
Local Plan  

2,750 (Adopted 
September 2018)  

Total provision 
towards Oxford’s 
unmet needs by 
2031 

13,100 14,300 

 

393



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

22 
 

Local Plan MM6 37 H1  Provision will be made for at least 10,884 
8620 new homes to be built in Oxford over 
the plan 
period 2016-2036. This equates to a 
delivery of 431 dwellings per annum. To 
reflect anticipated delivery over the plan 
period the housing requirement per annum 
reflects a stepped trajectory, as follows: 
 
2016/17 to 2020/21: 475 dpa 
2021/22 to 2035/36: 567 dpa 
This will be achieved by: 

a) Making site allocations in 
this Plan (see Chapter 9 site 
allocations) 

b) Promoting the efficient use 
and development of 
land/sites, including higher 

c) Ensuring that all new 
housing developments 
contribute to the creation 
and/or maintenance of 
mixed and balanced 
communities. 

Housing will be delivered from the 
following sources: Deliverable sites from 
the HELAA……………….7,600 Windfalls 
60pax17 = ………………………………….1,020 
Total 2016-
2036…………………………………………8,620 
 

394



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

23 
 

Policy H2: Delivering affordable homes 

Local Plan MM7 38 3.16  Securing new affordable housing on sites 
as part of larger developments is one 
way that homes 
can be provided. The Council will 

therefore seek that on residential 

development sites of 10 or more units, 

a proportion of affordable housing is 

provided on-site. For smaller residential 

developments of 4-9 units a financial 

contribution will be sought in lieu of 

on-site provision. For residential uses 

where onsite provision may not be 

appropriate (e.g. student 

accommodation) then a financial 

contribution will be sought, which will 

be secured through a planning 

condition. This requirement is 

exempted for university campus sites 

and for redevelopment of existing 

purpose-built student accommodation 

that is currently and will continue to be 

owned and/or managed by the 

universities. This is in recognition of the 

onus placed on the universities by 

Policy H9 and also in recognition of the 

character or the campus sites 

themselves where the provision of 

student housing is directly connected 

395



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

24 
 

with academic and teaching activity 

and wil not impair provision of market 

or affordable housing.  

 

Local Plan MM7 38 3.18 3.18 The City Council recognises the role of 
small-scale house builders in delivering new 
homes in Oxford, and the importance of 
small sites to the supply of new housing, 
the majority of which are sites of less than 
10 homes due to the urban and constrained 
nature of sites in Oxford. The City Council 
has tested its approach, including 
undertaking viability study to assess the 
level of affordable housing contribution 
that could reasonably be required from 
new residential developments. This has 
shown that the affordable housing 
requirements, as set out in the policy to be 
viable (in light of all other policy 
requirements), including the contributions 
required from smaller developments. 
Owing to Oxford’s significant need for 
affordable housing and because the 
majority of Oxford’s housing is delivered 
from small sites, contributions will be 
required from sites of 4-9 units. These sites 
have made significant contributions to 
delivering affordable housing, and they will 
be needed in future to help deliver 
affordable housing. 

396



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

25 
 

Local Plan MM7 39 H2 Planning permission will only be granted for 
residential development if affordable 
homes are provided in accordance with the 
following criteria:  
 
a) Contributions from On self-contained 
residential developments (C2 and C3, 
including retirement homes, sheltered 
housing, but excluding student 
accommodation and employer-linked 
housing) i) Affordable housing from larger 
sites wWhere sites* have a capacity for 10 
or more homes (gross) or exceed 0.5ha, a 
minimum of 50% of units on a site should 
be provided as homes that are truly 
affordable in the context of the Oxford 
housing market (defined in the Glossary). At 
least 40% of the overall number of units 
should be provided as on-site social rented 
dwellings. The remaining element of the 
affordable housing may be provided as 
intermediate forms of housing provided 
that they are affordable in the Oxford 
market. The affordable homes must provide 
provided as part of the same development 
(“on-site”) to ensure a balanced 
community. Where affordable housing is 
provided on-site it should incorporate a mix 
of unit sizes (see policy H4 on housing mix).  
 
ii) Affordable homes through financial 
contributions from smaller sites: Where 

397



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

26 
 

sites* have a capacity of 4-9 homes (gross), 
a financial contribution will be sought 
towards the provision of affordable housing 
elsewhere in Oxford. The contribution will 
be equivalent to 15% of the gross 
development value (see Appendix 3.1).  
 
* site area includes everything within the 
red line boundary of the planning 
application, which may include existing 
properties which are being materially 
altered.  
 
b) For new student accommodation of 25 
or more 20 student units (or 10 or more 
self-contained student units), a financial 
contribution should be secured towards 
delivering affordable housing elsewhere in 
Oxford. The contribution will be calculated 
using the formula in Appendix 3.2. The 
contribution will be required only from the 
number of units creating a net gain. 
Alternatively, the affordable housing 
contribution can be provided on-site where 
both the City Council and the applicant 
agree that this provision is appropriate. For 
mixed-use developments of student 
accommodation with general housing a 
pro-rata approach will be used to 
determine whether a contribution is 
required, and how much this should be. 
Contributions towards affordable housing 

398



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

27 
 

provision from student accommodation will 
not be sought where:  
 

i) The proposal is within an 
existing or proposed student 
campus site, as defined in the 
glossary; or  

ii) The proposal is for 
redevelopment of an existing 
purpose-built student 
accommodation site which at 
the date of adoption of the Plan 
is owned by a university and 
which will continue to be 
owned by a university to meet 
the accommodation needs of 
its students.  
 
If an applicant can demonstrate 
particular circumstances that 
justify the need for a viability 
assessment, and through an 
open book exercises, 
demonstrate the affordable 
housing requirement to be 
unviable, a cascade approach 
should be worked through with 
the City Council until 
development is viable as set 
out in Appendix 3.13 PPG Para 
7.  
 

399



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

28 
 

Across all types of 
development, where the 
number of dwellings proposed 
falls below the relevant 
thresholds set out above to 
require affordable housing, the 
Council will consider whether 
or not the site reasonably has 
capacity to provide the number 
of dwellings that would trigger 
a requirement to make a 
contribution towards 
affordable housing. This is to 
ensure that developers may not 
circumvent the policy 
requirement by artificially 
subdividing sites or an 
inefficient use of land.  
 
This policy will apply to all types 
of residential development 
including conversions and 
changes of use.  
 
* See Appendix 3.3 for more 
details 

 
 

400



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

29 
 

Policy H3: Employer-linked affordable housing  

Local Plan MM8 40 3.21 …If employers can deliver 100% homes for 
rent at a level that is genuinely affordable 
to their employees, in perpetuity, on their 
sites as employer-linked accommodation 
(that meets the definition of affordable 
housing in the Glossary) then this could free 
up social rented homes or places on the 
housing waiting list and would help the 
employer address their recruitment 
difficulties 
…For most of the specified sites, employer-
linked housing will only be one element of 
uses, for example hospital uses will be 
retained on the hospital sites. If market 
housing is also to be provided, policy H2 
will apply to that element of the housing. In 
the event that a landowner chooses to 
deliver employer linked affordable housing 
under Policy H3 on a site identified in 
Appendix 3.4 and market housing is also to 
be provided on that site, Policy H2 is 
engaged in respect of that market housing. 
However, the employer linked affordable 
housing so provided can only be relied to 
meet the requirement for the intermediate 
element within Policy H2. The employer 
linked affordable housing provided could 
not be relied to meet the social rented 
tenure requirement within Policy H2. 

401



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

30 
 

Local Plan MM8 41 H3 Planning permission will be granted on 
specific sites (as listed in Appendix 3.4) for 
affordable housing for rent. On these sites 
an affordable housing approach will need to 
be agreed with the Council setting out how 
the proposed affordable homes will be 
developed and managed by the employers 
(or their development partners on their 
behalf) to meet the housing needs of their 
employees. Where this policy is applied the 
standard affordable housing requirements 
of Policy H2 will not apply, except to any 
market housing element on the site, or 
under those circumstances identified under 
criterion h). 
 
All the following criteria must be met 
demonstrated as part of the planning 
application and will be secured through any 
relevant planning permission: to apply this 
policy: 
 

a) the employer has an agreed 
affordable housing approach in 
place setting out access criteria and 
eligibility, rent policy and rent 
levels, approved by the City 
Council, with an appropriate review 
mechanism in place and reviewed 
every five years; and 

b) 100% of the housing should be 
available to be occupied by those 

402



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

31 
 

employees who meet the 
requirements of the affordable 
housing approach agreed with the 
council and be available in 
perpetuity; and 

c) the occupation of such housing will 
be limited to households where at 
least one member works for the 
employer linked to the site (for the 
duration of their employment). This 
also applies to social care workers 
who work for but are not employed 
directly by Oxfordshire County 
Council and to some NHS staff; and 

d) an occupancy register should be 
kept and made available for 
inspection by the City Council at 
any time; and 

e) planning applications must be 
accompanied by a detailed 
explanation and justification of the 
approach proposed and the 
mechanisms for securing the 
requirements of this policy. 

A legal agreement will be required to 
secure the benefits of this policy. In 
addition the 
legal agreement will be used to: 
 

f) agree the allocations policy; 
g) ensure that in periods  agree an 

appropriate re-letting of units in 

403



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

32 
 

the property  where there are 
vacant units for more than 6 
months the employer works with 
the City Council’s housing team 
who will ensure those units are 
offered to those on the housing 
register; 

h) agree that if the employer finds 
decides they no longer have a need 
for the housing, the affordable 
housing requirements detailed 
under Policy H2 will be applied. 
50% of the housing must be 
managed by a Registered Provider 
or the City Council’s housing 
company, with 40% retained for 
social rent. 

Policy H4:  Mix of dwelling sizes  

Local Plan MM9 43 H4 Proposals for 25 or more homes (gross) (C3 
residential), or sites of 
0.5 ha. and greater, and which are outside 
of the city centre or district centres, will be 
expected to comply with the following mix 
of unit sizes for the affordable element, 
where it is feasible (this does not apply to 
employer-linked affordable housing): 
1 bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . .20-30% 
2 bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . .30-40% 

404



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

33 
 

3 bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . .20-40% 
4+ bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . .58-1510% 
5+ bedroom homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . .3-5% 
 

Local Plan MM9 42 Para 3.26 It is particularly important that a range of 
affordable housing types come forward, in 
order that specific needs can be met. The 
Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment identifies the particular need 
for affordable homes. This evidence, 
alongside that provided by the mix of unit 
sizes required according to the affordable 
housing register (together taking into 
account factors such as the need to 
downsize and the existing housing stock) 
has informed the % requirements in Policy 
H4.This mix does not apply to homes 
delivered under Policy H3.  
 
 
 
 
 

Policy H6: Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 

Local Plan MM10 44 3.29 A house in Multiple Occupation (HMO) is a 
shared house occupied by three or more 
unrelated individuals, as their only or main 

405



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

34 
 

residence, who share basic amenities such 
as a kitchen or bathroom (see Glossary). 

Policy H8: Provision of new student accommodation 

Local Plan MM11 50 Para 3.49 It is important that student accommodation 
is well managed such that it results in no 
unacceptable impact on amenity for local 
residents, including through any increase in 
cars brought into an area. Only operational 
and disabled parking should be provided for 
new student accommodation. Operational 
parking should be available for students 
and their families, for a limited period, 
arriving and departing at the start and end 
of semesters or terms. Appropriate 
management controls will be secured, 
including that student housing will be 
excluded from the schedule of streets in 
the traffic regulation order that creates the 
Controlled Parking Zone so that students 
cannot apply for parking permits. an 
undertaking that students do not bring cars 
to Oxford. The City Council will seek 
management controls to be secured by 
planning conditions or obligations which 
commit the operator to getting an 
undertaking from their tenants, which will 
be monitored and enforced by the landlord. 

Local Plan MM11 50 H8 Planning permission will only be granted for 
student accommodation in the following 
locations:  

406



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

35 
 

 
• on or adjacent to an existing* university 
or college campus or academic site, or 
hospital and research site, and only if the 
use during university terms or semesters is 
to accommodate students being taught or 
conducting research at that site; or  
• In the city centre or a district centre; or  
• On a site which is allocated in the 
development plan to potentially include 
student accommodation.  
 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
student accommodation if:  
a) student accommodation will be 
restricted in occupation to fulltime students 
enrolled in courses of one academic year or 
more, subject to the provisions of criterion 
e below; and  
b) new student accommodation (other than 
accommodation developed by an 
institution on a campus site) will be 
restricted in occupation in perpetuity to 
students attending the University of Oxford, 
Ruskin College or Oxford Brookes 
University; and  
bc) for developments of 20 or more 
bedrooms, the design includes indoor 
communal amenity space for students to 
gather and socialise; and  
cd) a management regime has been agreed 
with the City Council that will be 

407



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

36 
 

implemented on first occupation of the 
development (to be secured by a planning 
obligation); and  
de) the development complies with parking 
standards that allow only operational and 
disabled parking, and the developer 
undertakes and provides a mechanism to 
prevent residents from parking their cars 
anywhere on the site, and anywhere in 
Oxford (unless a disabled vehicle is 
required), which the developer shall 
thereafter monitor and enforce; and  
ef) a management strategy is agreed if it is 
intended there will be occupants other than 
students meeting the definition set in 
criterion a of the named institutions outside 
of term times.  
 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
developments that would lead to the loss of 
student accommodation unless new 
student accommodation is available for 
occupancy, within a reasonable and 
acceptable timeframe, by students of the 
same university or institution. New 
accommodation should be equivalent in 
amount, mix and affordability to the rooms 
being lost.  
 
*An existing university or college campus or  
academic site is one that exists at the time 
the Plan is adopted. 

408



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

37 
 

 
 

Policy H9: Linking the delivery of new/redeveloped and refurbished university academic facilities to the delivery of university 
provided residential accommodation.  

Local Plan MM12 49 3.45 The reference to students not living in 
accommodation not provided by either 
University of Oxford or Oxford Brookes 
University excludes those students who 
were resident in Oxford before applying to 
study and the university and who continue 
to live at their home address while 
studying. Full details of how the universities 
will be assessed against the threshold are 
provided in Appendix 3.5. 

Local Plan  MM12 51 H9 Policy H9: Linking the delivery of 
new/redeveloped and refurbished 
university academic facilities to the 
delivery of university provided residential 
accommodation 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
new/redeveloped or refurbished academic, 
research or administrative accommodation 
for the University of Oxford where it can be 
demonstrated that: 

a. The new accommodation would 
not generate or facilitate any 
increase in student numbers; or 

b. that the number of their full-time 
taught course students living in 
Oxford in non-university provided 

409



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

38 
 

accommodation does not exceed 
2,500 at the time of the application. 
This threshold will be reduced to 
1,500 at 01 April 2022. 

 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
new/redeveloped or refurbished academic 
or administrative accommodation for 
Oxford Brookes University where it can be 
demonstrated that: 

c. The new accommodation would 
not generate or facilitate any  
increase in student numbers;  

d. or 
 the number of their full-time 
taught course students living in 
Oxford in non-university provided 
accommodation does not exceed 
4,000 3,500 at the time of the 
application. This threshold will be 
increased to 4,500 if: reduced to 
3,000   
i) at 01 April 2022.on 01 April 
2023 a scheme delivering a net 
increase of at least 500 student 
bedrooms has not been developed 
at Clive Booth Student Village (Site 
SP18); and/or Oxford Brookes is 
able to demonstrate that they are 
unable to secure additional 
nomination rights to meet the 
threshold. This threshold would 

410



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

39 
 

return to 4,000 once the additional 
500 student bedrooms are 
delivered and/or secured.  
ii) on 01 April 2030 Oxford Brookes 
is able to demonstrate that they are 
unable to meet the threshold 
because they are unable to secure 
new nomination rights to replace 
expiring nomination rights.  
 

The reference to students not living in 
accommodation provided by either 
University of Oxford or Oxford Brookes 
University excludes those students who 
were resident in Oxford before applying to 
study at the university and who continue to 
live at their pre-application home address 
while studying. Appendix 3.5 explains how 
the threshold will be calculated.  
 

Policy H10: Accessible and adaptable homes 

Local Plan   MM13 52 H10 Proposals for residential development 
should ensure that all affordable dwellings 
and 15% of general market dwellings on 
sites of 10 or more dwellings are 
constructed to the Category 2 standard as 
set out in the Building Regulations 
Approved Document M4. 5% of all 
dwellings for which the City Council is 
responsible for allocations or nominations 
on sites of more than 20 dwellings on sites 

411



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

40 
 

of 4 or more dwellings should be provided 
to Category 3 (wheelchair user) standards 
(or at least 1 dwelling for sites below 20 
units).  

Policy H15: Internal space standards  

Local Plan MM14 58 Para 3.69 The government introduced a nationally 
described space standard in March 2015. 
Local authorities now have the option to 
adopt the nationally described space 
standards, or have no space standard at all; 
space standards cannot be set locally. The 
City Council has carefully considered the 
local need for space standards and the 
viability impact of taking such an approach 
and decided to adopt the nationally 
described standards. In addition minimum 
bedroom sizes for HMOs are governed by 
the Licensing of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of 
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018. 

Local Plan MM14 58-59 H15 Planning permission will only be granted 
for new dwellings that provide good 
quality living accommodation for the 
intended use. All proposals for new build 
market and affordable homes (across all 
tenures) must comply with the MHCLG’s 
Technical Housing Standards – Nationally 
Described Space Standard Level 112.  
 

412



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

41 
 

The standards for bedroom sizes and 
dimensions will be applied to new-build 
HMOs and other communal 
accommodation including extra care 
housing and student accommodation.   
 
For properties converted to HMO, bedroom 
sizes should be in accordance with the 
Government’s mandatory minimum room 
sizes for licensed HMO13.  

 

CHAPTER 4  
Policy RE1: Sustainable design and construction  

Local Plan  MM15 62 4.4 4.4 The local plan supports the monitoring of 
schemes (threshold 5+ dwellings or 1,000m2) of 
development proposals in the form of post 
construction testing in order to improve our 
understanding of these issues and also to ensure 
that performance standards are linked to as-built 
performance. 

Local Plan MM15 63 RE1 Policy RE1: Sustainable design and construction  
Planning permission will only be granted where it 
can be demonstrated that the following sustainable 
design and construction principles have been 
incorporated, where relevant: 
 
a) Maximising energy efficiency and the use of low 
carbon energy; 

413



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

42 
 

b) Conserving water and maximising water 
efficiency; 
c) Using recycled and recyclable materials and 
sourcing them responsibly; 
d) Minimising waste and maximising recycling during 
construction; 
e) Minimising flood risk including flood resilient 
construction; 
f) Being flexible and adaptable to future occupier 
needs; and 
g) Incorporating measures to enhance biodiversity 
value. 
 
Energy Statements  
An Energy Statement will be submitted to 
demonstrate compliance with this policy for new 
build residential developments (other than 
householder applications) and new-build non-
residential schemes over 1000m2. on schemes of 
five more residential dwellings or 1000m2. The 
Energy Statement will include details as to how the 
policy will be complied with and monitored once 
installed. 
 
Carbon reduction in new-build residential 
developments (other than householder 
applications):  
Planning permission will only be granted for 
development proposals for new build residential 
dwellinghouses or 1,000m2 or more of C2 and 
(including student accommodation), C4 HMO or Sui 
Generis HMO floorspace and student 

414



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

43 
 

accommodation developments (or 25 student rooms 
or more) which achieve at least a 40% reduction in 
the carbon emissions from a code 2013 Building 
Regulations (or future equivalent legislation) 
compliant base case. This reduction is to be secured 
through on-site renewable energy and other low 
carbon technologies (this would broadly be 
equivalent to 25% of all energy used) and/ or energy 
efficiency measures. The requirement will increase 
from 31 March 2026 to at least a 50% reduction in 
carbon emissions. After 31 March 2030 planning 
permission will only be granted for development 
proposals for new build residential dwellinghouses 
or 1,000m2 or more of C2 (including student 
accommodation), C4 HMO or Sui Generis HMO 
floorspace residential and student accommodation 
(25 or more non self-contained student rooms) 
development that is are Zero Carbon. 
 
Carbon reduction in new-build non-residential 
developments schemes of over 1000m2 or more:  
Planning permission will only be granted for non-
residential development proposals that meet 
BREEAM excellent standard (or recognised 
equivalent assessment methodology) in addition to 
the following reductions in carbon emissions which 
are also required. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
development proposals over of 1,000m2 or more 
which achieve at least a 40% reduction in the carbon 
emissions compared with a code 2013 Building 

415



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

44 
 

Regulations (or future equivalent legislation) 
compliant base case. This reduction is to be secured 
through on-site renewables and other low carbon 
technologies and/ or energy efficiency measures. 
The requirement will increase from 31 March 2026 
to at least a 50% reduction in carbon emissions. 
 
To ensure that the Council can monitor the 
effectiveness of renewable and low carbon 
technologies, non-residential, C2, and C4 and Sui 
Generis developments will be required to install 
appropriate energy metering and monitoring 
equipment and a Display Energy Certificate (DEC). 
The DEC would be secured by planning condition. 
DEC assessments must be made available to the 
Council for the three years after occupation and a 
DEC rating of A will be expected by the end of the 
three year period. C3 developments will be required 
to install appropriate energy metering (smart 
meters). 
 
Heat networks  
The City Council will encourage the development of 
city wide heat networks. If a heat network exists in 
close proximity to a scheme it is expected to connect 
to it and this will count towards the development’s 
carbon reduction requirements. Evidence will be 
required to demonstrate why connection to the 
network is not possible. 
 
Water efficiency – residential development: 

416



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

45 
 

Proposals for new residential developments are to 
meet the higher water efficiency standards within 
the 2013 Building Regulations (or equivalent future 
legislation) Part G2 of water consumption target of 
110 litres per person per day. 
 
Water efficiency – non-residential development: 
Proposals for non-residential development are to 
meet the minimum standard of four credits under 
the BREEAM assessment. 
 

Policy RE3: Flood risk management  

Local Plan MM16 66 4.18 The Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme, a partnership 
project 18, will help to convey water away from 
development infrastructure and will help greatly 
in reducing flooding in the most at risk areas. It will 
bring considerable benefits to the city in terms of 
reduced risk of flooding to homes, businesses, 
major roads and the railway.  
The land required for the route of the OFAS will be 
safeguarded in perpetuity to enable delivery.  

Local Plan MM16 67 RE3 Planning permission will not be granted for 
development in Flood zone 3b19 except where it is 
for water-compatible uses or essential 
infrastructure; or where it is on previously 
developed land and it will represent an 
improvement for the existing situation in terms of 
flood risk. All of the following criteria must be met: 
 

417



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

46 
 

a) it will not lead to a net increase in the built 
footprint of the existing building and where 
possible lead to a decrease; and 

b) it will not lead to a reduction in flood 
storage (through the use of flood 
compensation measures) and where 
possible increase flood storage; and 

c) it will not lead to an increased risk of 
flooding elsewhere; and 

d) it will not put any future occupants of the 
development at risk. 

 
New development will be directed towards areas of 
low flood risk (Flood Zone 1). In considering 
proposals elsewhere, the sequential and exception 
tests will be applied. 
 
Planning applications for development within Flood 
Zone 2, 3, on sites larger than 1 ha in Flood Zone 1 
and, in areas identified as Critical Drainage Areas, 
must be accompanied by a Site Specific Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) to align with National Policy. The 
FRA must be undertaken in accordance with up to 
date flood data, national and local guidance on 
flooding and consider flooding from all sources. The 
suitability of developments proposed will be 
assessed according to the sequential approach and 
exceptions test as set out in Planning Practice 
Guidance. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted where the 
FRA demonstrates that: 

418



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

47 
 

a) the proposed development will not 
increase flood risk on site or off site; and 

b) safe access and egress in the event of a 
flood can be provided; and 

c) details of the necessary mitigation 
measures to be implemented have been 
provided. 

 
Minor householder extensions may be permitted in 
Flood Zone 3b, as they have a lower risk of 
increasing flooding. Proposals for this type of 
development will be assessed on a case by case 
basis, taking into account the effect on flood risk on 
and off site. 
 
Where development sites are within the proposed 
defended area of the Oxford Flood Alleviation 
Scheme (OFAS), which will provide protection up to 
the 1 in 100 year (1%) flood scenario, both the 
defended and undefended data may be taken into 
consideration. Where properties lie within Flood 
Zone 3b, defended levels will be taken into account 
with regards to whether the development is 
appropriate, on the condition that flood mitigation 
measures are included up to the undefended level, 
to provide some protection in the event of a breach. 

Policy RE4: Sustainable and foul drainage, surface and groundwater flow 

419



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

48 
 

Local Plan MM17 68 4.21 (New paragraph 
below entitled 4.22) 

4.22 Where development proposals require a Foul 
and Surface Water Drainage Strategy, evidence 
should be provided within this strategy that 
demonstrates agreement between the developer 
and sewage undertaker on the available 
infrastructure capacity to accommodate the 
additional foul water. It may be appropriate to 
phase development so that initial additional flows 
from the proposed development do not exceed the 
capacity available prior to upgrading of the foul 
drainage network. Up to three years lead in time 
could be required to undertake such works. 
 

Local Plan MM17 69 RE4 Policy RE4: Sustainable and foul drainage, surface 
and groundwater flow 
 
Insert following wording at the end of policy: 
 
Foul Drainage  
 
Developers are encouraged to separate foul and 
surface water sewers on all brownfield sites 
delivering new development.  For clarity this does 
not include householder extensions or conversions 
that input into the existing network.  
 
A Foul and Surface Water Drainage Strategy must be 
provided for all new build residential development 
of 100 dwellings or more; non-residential 
development of 7,200sqm or more; or student 
accommodation of 250 study bedrooms or more. 

420



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

49 
 

Local Plan  MM17 69 RE4 ….Applicants must demonstrate that they 
compliance with have had regard to the SuDS Design 
and Evaluation Guidance SPD/TAN for minor 
applications development and Oxfordshire County 
Council guidance for major development. 
applications.  

Policy RE7: Managing the impact of development  

Local Plan MM18 72 RE7 Planning permission will only be granted for 
development that:  
 
a) ensures that the amenity of communities, 
occupiers and neighbours is protected; and  
b) does not have unacceptable unaddressed 
transport impacts affecting communities, occupiers, 
neighbours and the existing transport network; and 
c) provides mitigation measures where necessary.  
 
The factors the City Council will consider in 
determining compliance with the above elements of 
this policy include:  
 
d) visual privacy, outlook;  
e) sunlight, daylight and overshadowing;  
f) artificial lighting levels;  
g) transport impacts, including the assessment of 
these impacts within the Transport Assessments, 
Travel Plans and Delivery and Servicing Management 
Plans Policy T2;  
h) impacts of the construction phase, including the 

421



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

50 
 

assessment of these impacts within the Construction 
Management Plans; 
i) odour fumes and dust; 
j) microclimate; 
k) contaminated land; and 
l) impact upon water and wastewater infrastructure 

 

CHAPTER 5 
Policy G1: Green and Blue Infrastructure Network   

Local Plan MM19 75 5.4 Most of the city’s parks have a range of functions 
and are an important recreational resource. These 
are protected as part of the Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Network. Some open spaces have a 
specialist function that is protected, which might be 
biodiversity, Green Belt, allotments or open air 
sports. These sites might be in or outside of the 
Green and Blue Infrastructure Network. Policies G2, 
G3, G4, and G5 set out specific considerations in 
relation to these sites. Any open space shown on the 
Policies map as protected by Policy G1, G2, G4 or G5 
is considered to have public value and to meet the 
definition of open space set out in the Glossary. The 
requirements of Policy G1 apply to all sites 
designated as such on the Policies map, even if they 
are also protected by G2, G3, G4 or G5. 

422



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

51 
 

Local Plan MM19 75 G1 Green and open spaces and waterways of the Green 
and Blue Infrastructure Network are protected for 
their social, environmental and economic functions 
and are defined on the Policies Map. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
development that would result in harm to the Green 
and Blue Infrastructure network, except where it is 
in accordance with policies G2-G9. except where: 
 

a) the loss resulting from the proposed 
development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision elsewhere in a 
suitable location; and 
 

b) it can be demonstrated that there will be no 
harm to any biodiversity network function; 
and 
 

c) aAny loss of water-based recreation facilities, 
support services for boat users or other 
facilities that enable the enjoyment of the 
blue infrastructure network, is to must be 
replaced by a facility in another equally 
accessible and suitable location.; and 
 

d) adequate mitigation measures to achieve a 
net improvement in green infrastructure 
provision in the locality are proposed; and 
 

e) any relevant criteria of the policies G2-G5 are 
met. 

423



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

52 
 

 

Policy G2: Protection of biodiversity and geodiversity   

Local Plan MM20 76 5.5 …Many sites also have a local nature conservation 
interest and are protected as Local Wildlife Sites 
(LWS) or Oxford City Wildlife Sites (OCWS) (see 
Glossary definition)… 

Local Plan  MM20 77 G2 Sites and species important for biodiversity and 
geodiversity will be protected. Planning permission 
will not be granted for any development that would 
have an adverse impact on sites of national or 
international importance (the SAC and SSSIs), and 
development will not be permitted on these sites, 
save where related to and required for the 
maintenance or enhancement of the site’s 
importance for biodiversity or geodiversity. 
Development proposed on land immediately 
adjacent to the SSSIs should be designed with a 

424



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

53 
 

buffer to avoid disturbance to the SSSIs during the 
construction period. 
 
On sites of local importance for wildlife, including 
Local Wildlife Sites, Local Geological Sites and 
Oxford City Wildlife Sites, on sites that have a 
biodiversity network function, and where there are 
species and habitats of importance for biodiversity 
that do not meet criteria for individual protection, 
development will only be permitted in exceptional  
circumstances  whereby: 
 

a) there is an exceptional need for the new 
development and the need cannot be met 
by development on an alternative site with 
less biodiversity interest; and 
 

b) adequate onsite mitigation measures to 
achieve a net gain of biodiversity are 
proposed; and 
 

c) where this is shown not to be feasible then 
compensation measures will be required, 
secured by a planning obligation. 

 

Policy G3: Green Belt  

425



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

54 
 

Local Plan MM21 77 G3 

Save where otherwise provided for within this Plan, 
p Proposals for development in the Green bBelt will 
be determined in accordance with national policy. 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt, in 
accordance with national policy. The Green Belt 
Boundary is defined on the Policies Map.  
 

Policy G5: Existing open space, indoor and outdoor sports and recreation facilities  

Local Plan MM22 80 5.16 

5.16 There is great potential in Oxford to enhance 
the public accessibility of open space (see Glossary 
definition). … 
 

426



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

55 
 

Local Plan MM22 80 
New para following 

5.16 

Indoor sport and recreation facilities are also 
important to supporting the health and wellbeing of 
communities. Often these facilities are linked to 
outdoor facilities and help enhance their usefulness 
and capacity, for example changing rooms and 
pavilions. Indoor sport and leisure facilities are also 
protected pursuant to policy G5 unless they are 
shown to be surplus or are to be replaced. Some 
indoor sport and recreation facilities have a much 
wider community function. These facilities will be 
also be considered as community facilities and 
proposals relating to these will be considered under 
Policy V7. 

Local Plan MM22 80 G5 

Outdoor Existing open space, indoor and Ooutdoor 
sports and recreation facilities  
 
The City Council will seek to protect outdoor sports 
facilities existing open space, sports and recreational 
buildings and land.  
 
Existing open space, indoor and outdoor sports and 
recreational facilities should not be built on unless:  
 
a) an assessment has been undertaken which has 
clearly shown the open space, buildings or land to 
be surplus to requirements; or  
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development 
would be replaced by equivalent or better provision 
in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or  
c) the development is for alternative sports and 

427



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

56 
 

recreational provision, the benefits of which clearly 
outweigh the loss of the current or former use  
 
Outdoor sports facilities:  
 
Where development will lead to the loss of an 
outdoor sports facility, proposals must compensate 
for this loss with improved provision in terms of 
quantity and quality. Consideration will be given to 
the need for different types of sports pitches as 
identified in the Playing Pitch Study. Any 
replacement provision should be provided in a 
suitable location equally or more accessible by 
walking, cycling and public transport, and accessible 
to local users of the existing site where relevant.  
 
Outdoor Sports facilities are shown on the Policies 
Map.  
 
The City Council will, where the opportunity to do so 
arises, seek public access to private and institutional 
facilities through sharing schemes and joint user 
agreements. 
 

Policy G7: Other green and open spaces 

428



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

57 
 

Local Plan MM23 81 
v.ii, 5.19, and Policy 

G7 

vii. Other green and open spaces  
 
5.19 Most green and open spaces in Oxford are 
protected as part of the Green and Blue 
Infrastructure Network, for their biodiversity value, 
as allotments, as part of the Green Belt or for 
outdoor sport. However, there are some sites which 
do not meet any of the criteria for protection. 
Because of the exceptional need for development 
within Oxford it is appropriate to consider 
development proposals for these sites in exceptional 
circumstances, following the approach set out in 
Policy G7.  
 
Policy G7: Other green and open spaces  
Proposals for development on green and open 
spaces which are not protected by Policy G1 and 
which have not been allocated for development, 
must be accompanied by detailed information (in 
the Design and Access Statement or Planning 
Statement) demonstrating that: 
 a) there is an exceptional need for the development 
that it can be demonstrated overrides the existing 
benefi ts it provides; and 
b) the development will bring benefi ts to the 
community, for example through delivery of 
community-led housing; and  
c) there are not suitable alternative sites where 
development could reasonably be located that 
would result in less or no harm; and  
d) the proposals will lead to improvements in 
biodiversity or amenity value; and  

429



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

58 
 

e) consideration has been given to the layout of any 
proposed development in order to avoid impacts on 
biodiversity and any other important features of any 
green space within a development site, such as its 
contribution to townscape or the setting of a 
heritage asset; and  
f) any proposals adjacent to watercourses should 
demonstrate how the watercourse will be protected 
and promoted as part of the development. 

 
 
 
 
 

430



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

59 
 

 

CHAPTER 6  
i. High quality design and placemaking  

Local Plan MM24  
89 

 
Para 6.10 

Public art is an excellent way to add interest, create 
a sense of place and provide a focal point. The public 
art could contribute to creating local distinctiveness, 
by saying something about the place it is in. It might 
reflect a historic use or event of the area, or the 
purpose of the new development. It can inject fun, 
quirkiness and a sense of personality. The Council 
will work with developers to bring about the 
incorporation of public art into schemes where this 
is important to establish or reinforce a sense of 
place and identity. Public art should not be seen as 
an embellishment of a scheme or appear as an add-
on or afterthought. Rather, it should be part of 
design considerations from the start and integrated 
into the overall design concept. A developer will be 
expected to show how public art has been designed 
in at an early stage. A temporary piece, an event or a 
curated space might be accepted if they offer 
something worthwhile. Creating multi-functional 
public art might help to achieve a well-loved design, 
for example public art that can be used as seating. 
Details of the public art should be submitted with a 
planning application. 
 
 

431



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

60 
 

 

Policy DH2: Views and building heights    

 
 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
MM25 

 
 
 

93 

 
 
 

DH2 

…any design choice to design buildings to a height 
that would impact on character should be fully 
explained, and regard should be had to the guidance 
on design of higher buildings set out in the High 
Buildings Study TAN should be followed…. 
 

 

Policy DH3: Designated heritage assets  

 
 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
MM26 

 
 
 

95 

 
 
 

6.31 

… The council would be supportive of proposals that 
would improve upon the condition of heritage assets 
that are identified as being at risk of being lost as a 
result of neglect, decay or inappropriate 
development, as long as it can be demonstrated that 
there would be no resultant harm to their setting or 
their significance.  
 

Local Plan MM26  95 DH3 

Planning permission or listed building consent will 
be granted for development that respects and draws 
inspiration from Oxford’s unique historic 
environment (above and below ground), responding 

432



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

61 
 

positively to the significance character and 
distinctiveness of the heritage asset and locality.   
 
For In all planning decisions for planning permission 
or listed building consent affecting the significance 
of designated heritage assets, great weight will be 
given to the conservation of that asset (including its 
setting where it contributes to significance and to 
the setting of the asset where it contributes to that 
significance or appreciation of that significance). 
 
An application for planning permission A planning 
application for development which would or may 
affect the significance of any designated heritage 
asset, (including, where appropriate, its setting) 
either directly or by being within its setting, should 
be accompanied by a heritage assessment that 
includes a description of the asset and its 
significance and an assessment of the impact of the 
development proposed on the asset’s significance. 
As part of this process full regard should be given to 
the detailed character assessments and other 
relevant information set out any relevant 
conservation area appraisal and management plan. 
 
The submitted heritage assessment must include 
information sufficient to demonstrate: 
a) an understanding of the significance of the 
heritage asset, including recognition of its 
contribution to the quality of life of current and 
future generations and the wider social, cultural, 
economic and environmental benefits they may 

433



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

62 
 

bring; and 
b) that the development of the proposal and its 
design process have been informed by an 
understanding of the significance of the heritage 
asset and that harm to its significance has been 
avoided or minimised; and                           
c) that, in cases where development would result in 
harm to the significance of a heritage asset, 
including its setting, the extent of harm has been 
properly and accurately assessed and understood, 
that it is justified, and that measures are 
incorporated into the proposal, where appropriate, 
that mitigate, reduce or compensate for the harm;  
 
Where the setting of an asset is affected by a 
proposed development, the heritage assessment 
should include a description of the extent to which 
the setting contributes to the significance of the 
asset, as well as an assessment of the impact of the 
proposed development on the setting and its 
contribution to significance. 
 
Substantial harm to or loss of Grade II listed 
buildings, or Grade II registered parks or gardens, 
should be exceptional. Substantial harm to or loss of 
assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled 
monuments, Grade I and II* listed buildings, Grade I 
and II* registered parks and gardens, should be 
wholly exceptional. Where a proposed development 
will lead to substantial harm to or loss of the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, planning 
permission or listed building consent will only be 

434



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

63 
 

granted if:  
i) the harm is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh the harm or loss; and or all of 
the following apply: 
ii) the nature of the asset prevents all reasonable 
uses of the sites; and 
iii) no viable use of the asset itself can be found in 
the medium term (through appropriate marketing) 
that will enable its conservation; and 
iv) conservation by grant funding or similar is not 
possible; and 
v) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of 
bringing the site back into use; 
vi) a plan for recording and advancing understanding 
of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost, 
including making this evidence publicly available, is 
agreed with the City Council.  
 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to a designated heritage asset, this 
harm must be weighed against the public benefits of 
the proposal. The Clear and extensive justification 
for this harm should be set out in full in the heritage 
assessment. 
Conservation areas are listed in Appendix 6.2 and 
defined on the Policies Map. 
 

Policy DH4: Archaeological Remains  

435



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

64 
 

Local Plan MM27 98 DH4 

Within the City Centre Archaeological Area, on 
allocated sites where identified or elsewhere where 
archaeological deposits and features are suspected 
to be present (including upstanding remains), 
applications should include sufficient information to 
define the character, significance and extent of such 
deposits so far as reasonably practical. This 
information should generally include: 
a) a Heritage Assessment that includes a 
description… 
 

Policy DH5: Local Heritage Assets   
 

Local Plan MM28 99 6.39 

The policy will ensure that heritage assets of local 
importance will be a material consideration when 
determining planning applications. The term ‘local 
heritage assets’ has the same meaning as the term 
‘non-designated heritage assets’ in the NPPF. Locally 
important heritage assets can be added to the list 

436



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

65 
 

when they are identified. The criteria for inclusion of 
the Oxford Heritage Asset Register are: 
 
- heritage interest that can be conserved and 
enjoyed; and 
- value as heritage to the character and identity of 
the city, or area, or community; and 
- a level of significance greater than the general 
positive characteristics of the local area. 
The policy sets out criteria describing a local heritage 
asset. If these criteria are met an asset can be added 
to the Oxford Heritage Asset Register following 
approval at a Planning Committee or City Executive 
Board. Assets can be nominated by members of the 
public or during the planning application process. 

Local Plan MM28 100 DH5  

 
Assets will be considered for inclusion on the Oxford 
Heritage Asset Register if they have: 
- heritage interest that can be conserved and 
enjoyed; and 
- value as heritage to the character and identity of 
the city, or area, or community; and 
- a level of significance greater than the general 
positive characteristics of the local area. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
development affecting a local heritage asset or its 
setting (or setting of an asset) if it is demonstrated 
that the significance of the asset, and its 
conservation, has informed the design of the 
development proposed due regard has been given 
to the impact on the asset’s significance and its 

437



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

66 
 

setting and that it is demonstrated that the 
significance of the asset and its conservation has 
informed the design of the proposed development. 
In determining whether planning permission should 
be granted for a development proposals, which 
affects (directly or indirectly) a local heritage asset 
(that is not designated), consideration will be given 
to the significance of the asset, the extent of impact 
on its significance, as well as the public benefits that 
may result from the development proposals. Scale of 
any harm or loss to the asset as balanced against the 
public benefits that may result from the 
development proposals. 
 

Policy DH6: Shopfronts and signage  
 

Local Plan MM29 101 DH6 

Planning permission will only be granted for the 
display of an advertisement, shopfront sign or 
canopy, new or changed shopfronts and 
advertisement consent will only be granted for 
signage and other forms of advertisement where the 
design, positioning, materials, colour, proportion 
and illumination are not detrimental to assets with 
heritage significance or visual or residential amenity, 
as demonstrated through the following criteria, all 
of which should be met: 
 
a) the design responds to and positively contributes 
to the character and design of existing buildings and 
surroundings; and 
b) public safety would not be prejudiced; and 

438



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

67 
 

c) visual pollution and clutter are avoided; and 
d) historic shop fronts are retained 

Local Plan MM29 100 6.42 

Outdoor advertisements and signs can impact on 
amenity and public safety, and therefore sometimes 
require planning permission advertisement consent. 
[…] 

Local Plan  MM29 100 6.43 

The policy approach will ensure that new or changed 
shopfronts adverts and signs that require planning 
permission (or listed buildings consent) and adverts 
and signs that require advertisements consent are of 
a design, size and materials that complement that 
character of buildings they are on and the 
surrounding public realm. The policy will ensure 
visual pollution and clutters are avoided and will 
help to maintain Oxford’s historic shopfronts. 
Compromises may need to be made to ‘corporate’ 
designs in particularly sensitive areas to meet the 
requirements of the policy, for example internally 
illuminated box fascias and projecting signs will not 
be generally appropriate in conservation areas. 

 

CHAPTER 7 
Policy M1: Prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport  

439



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

68 
 

 
 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
MM30 

 
 
 

106 

 
 
 

M1 

e) provides for accessible, conveniently located, 
secure cycle parking facilities (refer to Policy M5) in 
both private and publicly-accessible locations; and 
… 
Financial contributions fairly and reasonably related 
to the development will be sought towards the cost 
of new or improved bus services where the direct 
impact of development would make such measures 
necessary. Existing services are not considered 
adequate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy M2: Assessing and managing development 

440



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

69 
 

Local Plan MM31 109 7.21 

Developments must ensure Construction 
Management Plans (CMP) set out how the impacts 
arising from construction work are managed. Policy 
M2 sets out the requirements for a CMP. These 
should The CMP should form part of the planning 
process. 
 

Local Plan MM31 109 M2 

A Transport Assessment must be submitted for 
development that is likely to generate significant 
amounts of movement in accordance with the 
requirements as defined in Appendix 7.1.  

Transport Assessments must assess the multi-modal 
impacts of development proposals and demonstrate 
the transport measures which would be used to 
mitigate the development impact to ensure:  

a) there is no unacceptable impact on highway 
safety; 
b) there is no severe residual cumulative impact on 
the road network; 
c) pedestrian and cycle movements are prioritised, 
both within the scheme and with neighbouring 
areas; 
d) access to high quality public transport is 
facilitated, with layouts that maximise the 
catchment area for bus or other public transport 
services, and appropriate facilities that encourage 

441



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

70 
 

public transport use; 
e) the needs of people with disabilities and reduced 
mobility in relation to all modes of transport are 
addressed; 
f) the development helps to create places that are 
safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the 
scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and 
vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and 
respond to local character and design standards; 
g) the efficient delivery of goods, and access by 
service and emergency vehicles is allowed for; and 
h) charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles is enabled in safe, accessible and 
convenient locations. 

 
A Ttravel Plan, which has clear objectives, targets 
and a monitoring and review procedure, must be 
submitted for development that is likely to generate 
significant amounts of movement have significant 
transport implications in accordance with the 
requirements in Appendix 7.2. Travel Plans must 
help to support outcomes (a) to (h) set out above. 

Where a Travel Plan is required under this policy and 
a substantial amount of the movement is likely to be 
in the form of delivery, service and dispatch vehicles, 
a Delivery and Service Management Plan will be 
required. 

Where a Delivery and Service Management Plan is 
provided this should set out how deliveries will be 

442



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

71 
 

managed and demonstrate how impacts will be 
minimised including congestion, safety noise and 
how zero or ultra-low emission and last mile 
opportunities will be considered. 

A Construction Management Plan must be provided 
for developments of: 

- 20 dwellings or more;  
- 500m2 or more of non-residential floorspace; or  
- any size in a location where construction activities 
are likely to have a significant impact on the 
adjacent or surrounding road network.   
 
Where a A Construction Management Plan is 
provided this should set out how the construction 
phase of the development will be managed and in 
particular: 
- Time of operations 
- Noise Operations 
- Abatement Noise Techniques 
- Monitoring Noise Levels 
- Vibration Levels 
- Dust Levels 
- Wheel washing arrangements 
- Rodent Controls 
- Community Liaison 
- Traffic management incl. deliveries and contractors 
vehicles 
- Waste Materials 

 

443



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

72 
 

 
 
 
 

Policy M3: Motor Vehicle Parking  

Local Plan MM32 110 Para 7.24 

The City and County Councils are actively working 
towards covering the whole city with Controlled 
Parking Zones by 2036, if not earlier. The reduction 
of parking and car use within and around the city is 
essential if air quality is to be improved. In addition, 
to ensure that the fullest protection of the integrity 
of the Oxford Meadows SAC and to comply with the 
requirements of the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, new residential development sites will 
need to be car-free as set out in M3 and Appendix 
7.3. 
 

444



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

73 
 

Local Plan MM32 111 M3 

…development* that is car-free.  
 
In all other locations, planning permission will only 
be granted where the relevant maximum standards 
set out in Appendix 7.3 are complied with. 
 
The need for dDisabled parking provision must be 
provided considered in all residential development 
in accordance with the standards set out in 
Appendix 7.3.          
 
Parking for car club vehicles must be provided in all 
residential developments with the standards set out 
in Appendix 7.3 
 
Planning permission for non-residential 
redevelopments will only be granted if it is 
demonstrated that there will be no increase in 
parking provision.  
 
Planning permission for additional parking provision 
within new developments will only be granted for 
spaces that are designated for disabled people, car 
clubs or where it can be demonstrated that there 
are essential operational or servicing needs 
(identified in the supporting TA and TP).  
 
The parking requirements for all non-residential 
development, whether expansions of floorspace on 
existing sites, the redevelopment of existing or 
cleared sites, or new non-residential development 
on new sites, will be determined in the light of the 

445



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

74 
 

submitted Transport Assessment or Travel Plan, 
which must take into account the objectives of this 
Plan to promote and achieve a shift towards 
sustainable modes of travel. The presumption will 
be that vehicle parking will be kept to the minimum 
necessary to ensure the successful functioning of the 
development.  
 
In the case of the redevelopment of an existing or 
previously cleared site, there should be no net 
increase in parking on the site from the previous 
level and the Council will seek a reduction where 
there is good accessibility to a range of facilities. 
 
Where the proposal is for the expansion of an 
existing operation on an existing large site, a 
comprehensive Travel Plan should be submitted that 
looks at the development in the context of the 
whole site, and demonstrates that opportunities will 
be sought to enhance and promote more 
sustainable travel to and from the wider site. The 
Travel Plan will be kept under review to ensure that 
future opportunities to encourage a shift towards 
sustainable modes of travel are taken. 
 
*For the purposes of this policy, residential 
development includes C3 dwellings, C4 and Sui 
Generis, Houses in Multiple Occupation, and all C2 
development (residential institutions).  

446



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

75 
 

Policy M5: Bicycle Parking 
 

Local Plan MM33 114 M5 

Policy M5: BicCycle Parking 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
development that complies with or exceeds the 
minimum bicycle parking provision as set out in 
Appendix 7.3 7.4. 
 
Provision of bicycle parking lower than the minimum 
standards set out in Appendix 7.4 may be acceptable 
for new student accommodation that is located 
close to the institution where most of its occupants 
will be studying and/or where it is adequately 
demonstrated through a transport assessment that 
there is existing unused cycle capacity available, in 
appropriate locations and of an appropriate design 
standard on site, to accommodate the increased 
number of bedrooms. 
 
BicCycle parking should be well designed and well 
located, convenient, secure, covered (where 
possible enclosed) and provide level, unobstructed 
external access to the street. BicCycle parking should 
be designed to accommodate an appropriate 
amount of parking for the needs of disabled people, 
bicycle trailers and cargo bicycles, as well as and 
facilities for electric charging infrastructure. 
 
For new non-residential development, the City 
Council will seek the provision of showers and 
changing facilities in accordance with the thresholds 

447



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

76 
 

and minimum standards set out in Appendix 7.4. 
 
Where opportunities to do so arise in relation to 
development, consideration should be given for the 
provision of space for storage of dockless bikes 
bicycles. 

 

 

CHAPTER 8  
Policy V1: Ensuring the vitality of Centres  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
MM34 

 
 
 
 
 
 

116 

 
 
 
 
 
 

V1 

…Planning applications for retail and leisure 
development outside centres which are 350m2 
(gross) or more, must be accompanied by an ‘impact 
assessment’ and as part of such an assessment, 
demonstrate with evidence that there will be no 
adverse impact on the vitality and viability of the 
existing centres, and that good accessibility is 
available for walking, cycling and public transport. 
Sites allocated for retail development in section 9 
(Areas of Change and Site Allocations) will be 
exempt from the requirement to submit a retail 
impact assessment. 
 

448



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

77 
 

Policy V2: Ensuring the Vitality of Centres  
 

Local Plan MM35 116 8.7 

The vision for the city centre is for it to continue to 
be the primary location for retailing as well as other 
town centre uses. It is also encouraged that 
proposals add to the diversity and range of uses 
available to shoppers and visitors to the centre, 
enhancing their experience. 
 

Local Plan MM35 117 V2 

…c) Other town centre uses where the proposed 
development would not result in the proportion of 
units at ground floor level in Class A1 use falling 
below 60% of the total number of units in the 
Primary Shopping Frontage or below 40% of the 
total number of units in the rest of the Shopping 
Frontage and where the proportion of Class A units 
at ground floor level does not fall below 85% in the 
Primary Shopping Frontage or the rest of the 
Shopping Frontage., and in all cases where proposals 
for these other town centre uses: 
 
i) promote the diversity of and range of uses 
available to shoppers and visitors to the centre, 
enhancing their experience; and 
ii) promote an active street frontage both in terms 
of increasing footfall and retaining an active window 
display. 
 
Planning permission will be granted for 
development of upper storeys for housing, student 
accommodation and other uses appropriate to a 
town centre as long as the functioning of the 

449



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

78 
 

ground floor unit(s) in the shopping frontage is not 
undermined. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, planning permission 
will be granted for changes of use from A1 or 
other A class uses to other town centre uses that 
would lead to a breach of the ground floor 
percentage thresholds, if it is demonstrated that 
changes in the retail circumstances of Oxford city 
centre mean that there is no longer demand for the 
existing levels of A1 or other A class units, and if 
sufficiently robust evidence is provided to clearly 
demonstrate that the uses proposed would not 
adversely impact the function, vitality and viability of 
the particular street frontage itself or the 
shopping frontage as a whole. The following criteria 
must all be satisfied: 
d) marketing of the property for its existing use for 
at least a year, at a realistic price, and evidence 
of lack of interest clearly shown to demonstrate a 
lack of viability; and e) evidence of changing retail 
needs in Oxford city centre; and 
f) it would not result in such a concentration of a 
particular Class A use, other than Class A1 (retail), 
that it would lead to a significant interruption of the 
shopping frontage, reducing its character, 
attractiveness and function (considered to be if 
there are more than 4 adjoining units within the 
same use class (other than A1)); and 
g) it promotes the diversity of and range of uses 
available to shoppers and visitors to the centre, 
enhancing their experience; and 

450



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

79 
 

h) it would make better and more efficient use of 
the upper floors where relevant, introducing new 
uses, such as residential and or office space for start-
ups and incubator / innovation uses; and 
 
g i) it promotes an active street frontage both in 
terms of increasing footfall and retaining an active 
window display. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted within the 
Westgate Shopping Centre where it would result 
in a change to the established and approved mix of 
uses, which are as follows: 
 
h j) Class A1 (retail) uses: no less than 60% 
i k) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional services, 
restaurant, pub and take-away) uses: no less 
than 20% 
j l) Class D2 (assembly and leisure) uses: the existing 
library floorspace should be maintained  
 
The Shopping Frontages are defined on the Policies 
Map. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy V3: The Covered Market  
 

451



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

80 
 

Local Plan  MM36 118 8.8 

The City Council’s leasing strategy was updated in 
2015. This is part of a toolkit to be used by the 
Market’s Manager to deliver the vision and 
objectives for the Covered Market, which is that it 
continues to host high quality independent retailers 
and innovative caterers and is a must-visit 
experience.  It is also encouraged that proposals for 
uses other than A1, A3, A4 or A5 add to the diversity 
and range of uses available to shoppers and visitors 
to the market, enhancing their experience 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM36 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

118 V3  

…c) Other appropriate town centre uses (excluding 
for example offices (B1a) and hotels) where the 
proportion of A1 does not fall below 50% of the total 
number of units within the Covered Market and 
where the total proportion of Class A1, 3, 4 and 5 
uses does not fall below 80% of the total number of 
units within the market. 
 
All proposals for uses other than A1, A3, A4 or A5 
should provide evidence to demonstrate that the 
proposed uses would not adversely impact the 
character, function, vitality and viability of the 
market by satisfying the following criteria: 
i) it promotes the diversity of and range of uses 
available to shoppers and visitors to the market, 
enhancing their experience 
ii) it promotes an active frontage in terms retaining 
an active window display; 
 
All proposals for uses other than A1, A3, A4 or A5 
should promote an active frontage in terms of 
retaining an active window display.  

452



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

81 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Policy V4: District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages 
 

Local Plan MM37  119 8.11 

…Each of the District Centres provides a different 
mix of facilities and amenities and has have very 
different characters, strengths and opportunities. 
Development that promotes the diversity and range 
of uses available to shoppers and visitors to the 
centre is encouraged.   
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM37 

 
 
 
 
 
 

120 V4 

Planning permission will only be granted at ground 
floor level within District and Local Centre Shopping 
Frontages for the following uses: 
 
District Centres: 
Cowley Centre District Centre: 

a) Class A1 (retail) uses; or 
b) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional 

services, restaurant, pub and take-away) 
uses where the proposed development 
would not result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use falling 
below 60% of the total number of units 
within the defined Shopping Frontage; or 

453



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

82 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c) Other town centre uses where the 
proportion of A1 does not fall below 60% of 
the total number of units within the defined 
Shopping Frontage and where the 
proportion of Class A uses does not fall 
below 85% of the total number of units 
defined within the Shopping Frontage. 

 
East Oxford-Cowley Road, Headington and 
Summertown District Centres: 
 

d)Class A1 (retail) uses; or 
e)Class A2 – A5 (financial and 
professional services, restaurant, 
pub and take-away) uses where the 
proposed development would not 
result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use 
falling below 50% of the total 
number of units within the defined 
Shopping Frontage; or 
f)Other town centre uses where the 
proportion of A1 does not fall below 
50% of the total number of units 
within the defined Shopping 
Frontage and the proportion of Class 
A uses does not fall below 85% of 
the total number of units within the 
defined Shopping Frontage. 

 
East Oxford - Cowley Road District Centre:  

g)Class A1 (retail) uses; or 

454



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

83 
 

h)Class A2-A5 (financial and 
professional services, restaurant, 
pub and take-away) uses where the 
proposed development would not 
result in the proportion of units at 
ground floor level in Class A1 use 
falling below 45% of the total 
number of units within the defined 
Shopping Frontage; or 
i)Other town centre uses where the 
proportion of A1 does not fall below 
45% of the total number of units 
within the defined Shopping 
Frontage and the proportion of Class 
A uses does not fall below 85% of 
the total number of units within the 
defined Shopping Frontage. 

 
Blackbird Leys District Centre:  
j g) Class A1 (retail) uses; or 
k h) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional 
services, restaurant, pub and take-away) uses where 
the proposed development would not result in the 
proportion of units at ground floor level in Class A1 
use falling below 40% of the total number of units 
within the defined Shopping frontage; or 
 l i) Other town centre uses where the proportion of 
A1 does not fall below 40% of the total number  of 
units within the defined Shopping Frontage and the 
proportion of Class A uses does not fall below 85% 
of the total number of units within the defined 
Shopping Frontage.     

455



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

84 
 

 
Local Centres: 
m j) Class A1 (retail) uses; or 
n k) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional 
services, restaurant, pub and take-away) uses where 
the proposed development would not result in the 
proportion of units at ground floor level in Class 
A1 use falling below 40% of the total number of 
units within the defined Shopping Frontage; or 
o l) Other town centre uses where the proportion of 
A1 does not fall below 40% of the total number 
of units within the defined Shopping Frontage and 
the proportion of Class A uses does not fall below 
85% of the total number of units within the defined 
Shopping Frontage. 
 
In all centres, planning permission will be granted 
for development of upper storeys for housing, 
student accommodation and other uses appropriate 
to a town centre as long as the functioning of the 
ground floor unit(s) in the shopping frontage is not 
undermined. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, in all centres, planning 
permission will be granted for changes of use 
from A class uses to other town centre uses that 
would lead to a breach of the ground floor 
percentage thresholds, if it is demonstrated that 
changes in the retail circumstances of the local or 
district centres means that there is no longer 
demand for the existing levels of A1 or other A class 
units, and if sufficiently robust evidence is provided 

456



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

85 
 

to clearly demonstrate that the uses proposed 
would not adversely impact the function, vitality and 
viability of the shopping frontage as a whole. The 
following criteria must all be satisfied: 
p m) marketing of the property for its existing use 
for at least a year, at a realistic price, and 
evidence of lack of interest clearly shown to 
demonstrate a lack of viability; and  
q n) evidence of changing retail needs in the district 
centre; and 
r o) the proposal would not result in such a 
concentration of a particular Class A use, other than 
Class A1 (retail), that it would lead to a significant 
interruption of the shopping frontage, reducing its 
character, attractiveness and function (considered 
to be if there are more than 4 adjoining units 
within the same use class (other than A1)); and 
p) it promotes the diversity of and range of uses 
available to shoppers and visitors to the centre, 
enhancing their experience; and 
q) it would make better and more efficient use of 
the upper floors where relevant, introducing new 
uses, such as residential and or office space for start-
ups and incubator / innovation uses; and 
s) it promotes an active street frontage both in 
terms of increasing footfall and retaining an active 
window display.  
 
The Shopping Frontages in each District Centre and 
Local Centre are defined on the Policies Map 
 
 

457



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

86 
 

Policy V5: Sustainable Tourism  
 

Local Plan MM38 122 8.15 

The amount and diversity of short-stay 
accommodation to support this aim will be achieved 
by permitting new sites in the city centre and on 
Oxford’s main arterial roads, and by protecting and 
modernising allowing the expansion of existing sites 
to support this use. 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM38 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

123 V5 

Planning permission will only be granted for the 
development of new sites for holiday and other 
short stay accommodation in the following 
locations: in the City Centre, in District Centres, on 
sites allocated for that purpose, and on Oxford’s 
main arterial roads where there is frequent and 
direct public transport to the city centre. This 
locational requirement does not apply to proposals 
to refurbish or expand existing sites.  
 
Proposals for new, refurbished or expanded holiday 
and short stay accommodation must also meet all 
the following criteria: 
a) it is acceptable in terms of access, parking, 
highway safety, traffic generation, pedestrian and 
cycle movements 
b) there is no loss of residential dwelling; and 
c) it will not result in an unacceptable level of noise 
and disturbance to nearby residents. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for the 
change of use from holiday and other short-stay 

458



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

87 
 

 
 
 
 

accommodation when any of the following criteria 
are met: 
d) no other occupier can be found following a 
realistic effort to market the premises as set out in 
Appendix 8.1, for continued use as holiday and other 
short stay accommodation (whether or not of the 
same form the existing use); or 
e) evidence of non-viability is submitted; or 
f) the accommodation is in a location unsuitable for 
the use as demonstrated by being contrary to the 
location requirements or any of the criteria a-c 
above. 
 
Planning permission will be granted for new tourist 
attractions where proposals meet all of the 
following criteria: 
… 
i) they are well related to any existing or 
proposed tourist and leisure related areas.; and 

j) they add to the cultural diversity of Oxford. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy V6: Cultural and social activities  
 

459



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

88 
 

Local Plan MM39 124 8.20 

The City Council will encourage new proposals for 
cultural and social uses in the city centre and district 
centres as appropriate town centres uses that can 
add vibrancy and activity. Development that adds to 
the cultural diversity of Oxford is encouraged. 
Existing facilities will be protected in accordance 
with the policy.  
 

460



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

89 
 

Local Plan MM39 124 V6 

Planning permission will be granted for proposals 
which add to the cultural and social scene of the city 
within the city and district centres provided the use 
is appropriate to the scale and function of the 
centre. 
 
Proposals for cultural, entertainment, leisure and 
tourism (not accommodation) uses will only be 
permitted where the following criteria are met: 
 
a) they are realistically and easily accessible by 
walking, cycling or public transport for the majority 
of people expected to travel to and from the site; 
and 
b) they will not cause unacceptable environmental 
or traffic harm or adversely affect residential 
amenity; and: 
c) there is no negative cumulative impact resulting 
from the proposed use in relation to the number, 
capacity and location of other similar uses (existing 
or committed) in the area; and 
d) they add to the cultural diversity of Oxford; and 
e) d) policies V1 and V2 are complied with. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

461



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

90 
 

Policy V7: Infrastructure and cultural and community facilities  
 

Local Plan MM40 126 V7 

Planning permission will be granted for the 
alteration and expansion of existing schools, primary 
healthcare facilities and community centres.  
Planning permission will be granted for new state 
schools, primary healthcare facilities and community 
centres... 
 

Policy V8: Utilities  
 

Local Plan MM41 127 8.30 

The City Council will seek to ensure that all new 
development, and wherever possible all residents 
and businesses, have access to superfast full-fibre 
speeds of internet connectivity.  

462



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

91 
 

Local Plan MM41 127 V8 

… meet the needs of development  
 
Planning permission will only be granted for B1/ B2 
employment over 1000 square metres where 
provision is made for high quality digital 
facilities.  The City Council will work with providers 
to deliver the expansion of high quality digital 
infrastructure throughout Oxford.  The siting and 
appearance of utilities infrastructure should be 
designed to minimise impacts on amenity and to be 
as unobtrusive as possible.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New Policy V9: Digital infrastructure   
 

463



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

92 
 

Local Plan  MM41 127 
New supporting to 

introduce new Policy 
V9 (see below) 

8.34 Digital Infrastructure comprises physical 
telecommunications components such as fixed 
broadband and mobile connectivity, which improves 
the lives of citizens and business productivity. The 
NPPF, Future Telecoms Infrastructure Review (FTIR), 
and other policy documents issued by Building 
Digital UK (BDUK), all refer to the importance of 
high-quality digital infrastructure to the UK 
economy.  
 
8.35 Delivery of full fibre broadband infrastructure, 
as well as mobile infrastructure including 5G, is a 
priority to achieve the government’s targets set out 
in the FTIR.  
The council recognises the importance of this and 
has implemented a range of complementary 
initiatives aimed at achieving government targets for 
full fibre and 5G coverage. This includes setting up a 
digital infrastructure partnership with all Oxfordshire 
district councils as well as Oxfordshire County 
Council. This partnership collectively agrees under a 
Memorandum of Understanding to collaborate on 
all aspects of digital infrastructure delivery and 
attracting commercial operators to invest in building 
digital infrastructure both in the city and the county 
as a whole.  
 
 
 

464



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

93 
 

Local Plan MM41 127 New policy V9 

Policy V9  
 
Planning permission will be granted for all new 
major developments where:  
 
a) They are served by full fibre broadband capable of 
gigabit download speeds; and  
b) The full fibre broadband connections are available 
at the point of releasing for sale where relevant, and 
that the cost of the services are at market rates, 
preferably offering broadband services from more 
than one service provider; and  
c) Developers work with a recognised network 
carrier to design appropriate duct infrastructure for 
the installation of fibre broadband by a range of 
operators; and  
d) Other forms of digital infrastructure, such as 
facilities supporting mobile phone broadband, are 
included wherever possible.  
 
Planning permission will be granted for new 
electronic communications infrastructure where: 
 
i) It is supported by the necessary evidence to justify 
the proposed development.in accordance with the 
requirements of national policy; and  
ii) Proposed equipment is sympathetically designed 
and camouflaged where appropriate; and  
iii) It can be demonstrated that electronic 
communications infrastructure is not expected to 
cause significant and irreversible interference with 
other electrical equipment, air traffic services or 

465



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

94 
 

instrumentation operated in the national interest; 
and  
iv) Adverse impacts on the successful functioning of 
existing digital infrastructure are avoided. Where 
this is not practicable, appropriate mitigation shall 
be provided; and  
v) It does not result in the International Commission 
guidelines on non-ionising radiation protection 
being exceeded; and  
vi) Appropriate pre-application consultation in 
accordance with national policy has been 
undertaken. 

 

466



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

95 
 

CHAPTER 9  
Introductory Paragraphs  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MM42 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

129 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9.1 

A site allocation is a planning policy that describes 
what type of land use, or mix of uses, would be 
acceptable on a specific site or whether the site is 
protected for certain types of development. The 
purpose of the site allocations is to allocate sites for 
built development or to maintain a type of built 
development on a site. Site allocations are important 
because they give guidance and certainty to 
developers and landowners and they help local 
people understand what may happen in their 
neighbourhood in the future. They provide a positive 
policy towards redevelopment of the site and help 
ensure the right type and amount of development 
happens in the right place, in accordance with the 
Strategy of this Local Plan and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. A sequential approach should be 
taken to the site layout of development proposals 
for Site Allocations in Flood Zones 2 and 3 in 
accordance with the NPPF.  

467



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

96 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

129 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9.2 

This chapter highlights Areas of Change within the 
city, and sets out specific site allocation policies. 
Areas of change are the areas of the city where 
significant change is expected or best directed. 
These areas include the district centres and also 
areas where there are significant clusters of 
potential development sites. For each area of 
change, key considerations are summarised and also 
a vision is set out that new developments within the 
area should help deliver where relevant. The impact 
of development of sites in these areas needs to be 
considered in terms of the wider context of the area 
and other potential developments and this is to be 
achieved by the AOC policies. Within most of the 
areas of change are also individual site allocation 
policies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Oxford City Centre 

468



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

97 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
131 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.7 – Vision  

9.7 Vision  
 
The Central (City & University) Conservation Area 
Appraisal identifies opportunities to enhance the 
heritage significance of the conservation area in 
ways that would sustain the city’s cultural, 
economic and social prosperity. Development 
would be supported that sufficiently meet the 
criteria of policies in the wider plan and which are 
able to demonstrate that they take Planning 
permission will only be granted for new 
development within the area where it can be 
demonstrated that it takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant:  
 
• Rebalance the pace within streets from vehicles 
to pedestrians  
• Identify sites for a new network of ‘micro parks’ 
where people can stop and dwell in streets  
• Increase public access to existing green spaces  
• Promote development of opportunity sites in 
ways which contribute to and  
 

 

Area of Change: West End and Osney Mead   

469



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

98 
 

 
 
Local Plan 

 
 
 MM43 

 
 
132 

 
 
9.14  

Renamed Policy AOC1 and amendment to wording: 
 
Vision Policy AOC1: West End and Osney Mead  
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the area of change where it can 
be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities 
to deliver the following, where relevant: 

• Create high-density urban living that 
makes efficient use of land 

• Maintain a vibrant mix of uses 

• Has regard to the framework set out in 
the West End Design Code 

• Maximise the area’s contribution to 
Oxford’s knowledge economy 

• […]  
Area of Change: Cowley Centre District Centre  
  

 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
136 

 
 
 
 
9.32  

Policy title AOC2 to be added above paragraph with 
amendment to wording: 
 
Policy AOC2: Cowley Centre District Centre 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the district centre area of 
change where it can be demonstrated that it would 
takes opportunities to deliver the following, where 
relevant:… 
 
 
 

470



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

99 
 

 
  

Area of Change: Blackbird Leys Area of Change  

 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

  
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
138 

 
 
 
 
9.42  

Policy title AOC3 to be added above paragraph with 
amendment to wording: 
 
Policy AOC3: Blackbird Leys Area of Change 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the district centre area of 
change where it can be demonstrated that it would 
takes opportunities to deliver the following, where 
relevant:…… 

Area of Change: East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre 

 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
140 

 
 
 
 
9.51  

Policy title AOC4 to be added above paragraph with 
amendment to wording: 
 
Policy AOC4: East Oxford-Cowley Road District 
Centre 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the district centre area of 
change where it can be demonstrated that it would 
takes opportunities to deliver the following, where 
relevant:.. 

Area of Change : Summertown District Centre   

471



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

100 
 

 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

  
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
141 

 
 
 
 
9.58  

Policy title AOC5 to be added above paragraph with 
amendment to wording: 
 
Policy AOC5: Summertown District Centre 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the district centre area of 
change where it can be demonstrated that it would 
takes opportunities to deliver the following, where 
relevant:.. 

Area of Change: Headington District Centre 

 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

  
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
145 

 
 
 
 
9.72  

Policy title AOC6 to be added above paragraph with 
amendment to wording: 
 
Policy AOC6: Headington District Centre 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the district centre area of 
change where it can be demonstrated that it would 
takes opportunities to deliver the following, where 
relevant:..  

Area of Change: Cowley Branch Line   

472



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

101 
 

 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

  
 
 
 
MM43 

 
 
 
 
146 

 
 
 
 
9.78  

Policy title AOC7 to be added above paragraph with 
amendment to wording: 
 
Policy AOC7: Cowley Branch Line 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the area of change where it can 
be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities 
to deliver the following, where relevant:.. 

Area of Change: Marston Road  
  

 
 
Local Plan 

  
 
MM43 

 
 
155 

 
 
9.109 

Renamed Policy AOC8 and amendment to wording: 
 
Vision Policy AOC8: Marston Road 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the area of change where it can 
be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities 
to deliver the following, where relevant:.. 

Area of Change: Old Road 

 
 
Local Plan 

  
 
MM43 

 
 
160 

 
 
9.126 

Renamed Policy AOC9 and amendment to wording: 
 
Vision Policy AOC9: Old Road 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the area of change where it can 
be demonstrated that it would takes opportunities 
to deliver the following, where relevant:.. 

473



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

102 
 

Policy SP1: West End Sites 

Local Plan  MM44 135 9.17 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in the area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether 
an upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up 
to three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake such works. 

Local Plan  MM45 133 SP1 Planning permission will be granted for a number of 
mixed use developments across the West End. 
Residential development and/or student 
accommodation across the West End should deliver 
a minimum of 734 homes on the following sites: 

 

Site Minimum 
number  

a. Oxford Station and Becket 
Street Car Park 

 

 20 

b. Student Castle Osney Lane 206 

c. Worcester Street Carpark   18 

d. Island Site   40 

e. Oxpens.  450 

 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for new 
developments that follow have regard to the 
framework set out in the West End Design Code. 
 

474



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

103 
 

Planning permission will only be granted for 
redevelopment of the station and Becket Street Car 
Park if it improves the station for passengers and 
creates a strong sense of arrival to Oxford, and is in 
accordance with the Oxford Station SPD. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
development on Oxpens where it enhances Oxpens 
Field to create a high quality open space, includes 
new high quality and well-located public realm, 
creates an active frontage along Oxpens Road, 
enhances connectivity to Osney Mead including 
future proofing the proposals so they do not prevent 
the landing of a foot/cycle bridge across the Thames 
and is in accordance with has regard to the Oxpens 
SPD. 

Policy SP2:  Osney Mead  

 
 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
MM46 

 
 
 
 
 
135 

 
 
 
 
 
9.25 

…The site specific flood risk assessment must 
demonstrate how the development will be safe 
otherwise planning permission will not be granted. It 
is recognised that the FRA may not be able to 
demonstrate a dry risk/ very low hazard rating route 
to dry land. Therefore in order to achieve safe access 
and/ or egress for this site to satisfy the Exception 
Test there may be a greater reliance on on-site 
measures, emergency planning, and evacuation 
procedures alongside offsite mitigation to ensure 
that it is safe for its lifetime taking account of the 
vulnerability of its users without increasing the 
burden on emergency services. Development should 
be made safe by mitigating the potential impacts of 

475



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

104 
 

development through design and resilient 
construction measures. It should be designed and 
constructed such that the health and welfare of 
people is appropriately managed. 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM47 
 
 
MM48 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM51 
 

135 SP2 Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use 
development that includes employment uses, 
academic uses, student accommodation, employer-
linked affordable housing and market housing. The 
development of an innovation quarter is 
encouraged. The development is expected to deliver 
around 247 homes. Other complementary uses will 
be considered on their merits. Planning permission 
will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
development that prejudices the comprehensive 
development of the whole site. A masterplan 
approved by the City Council should be developed 
prior to any development, and all development 
should comply with the masterplan. 
 
New high-quality public open space should be 
created on the site with a reduction in car parking 
spaces. Footpaths to and through the site should be 

476



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

105 
 

 
 
MM48 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM52 

provided and existing routes enhanced. The 
masterplan should consider in greater detail how 
and when a A new pedestrian and cycle bridge will 
be delivered linking this site with the other side of 
the river should be created. 
 
A planning application must be accompanied by a 
site-specific flood risk assessment and development 
should incorporate any mitigation measures. A 
Comprehensive Flood Risk Management Strategy 
should be produced in support of the Flood Risk 
Assessment for this site. The Flood Risk 
Management Strategy should be developed in 
consultation with Category 1 organisations as 
defined by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. 
 
                         

Policy SP3:  Cowley Centre 

 
 
 
 
 
Local Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
MM53 

 
 
 
 
 
137 

 
 
 
 
 
9.35 

The design of development should consider the 
special character of the Beauchamp Lane 
Conservation Area and should significantly improve 
the design of the public realm, demonstrating 
compliance with the requirements of Policy DH3.   
Development should take opportunities to improve 
bus stopping areas, signage and facilities. 

 

477



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

106 
 

 

 

Local Plan  MM44 137 9.36 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in the area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether 
an upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up 
to three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake such works. 

Local Plan MM54 137 SP3 Planning permission will be granted for a retail-led 
mixed use development at Cowley Centre which 
should include residential development and could 
include the following uses: 
• commercial leisure; 
• community facilities; 
• employment; 
• residential 
The minimum number of homes to be delivered is 
226. 
 

478



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

107 
 

Policy SP4:  Blackbird Leys Central Area  

Local Plan MM53 139 9.44 To ensure that the development makes the best use 
of the site, delivers the policy requirements and is 
well designed, it is expected that the site will be 
developed as part of a comprehensive regeneration 
plan for the area. With a number of different 
landowners within the site this would help delivery 
and ensure that piecemeal development does not 
prejudice the overall aim of a comprehensive 
regeneration of the site. The site includes the tower 
block sites where there may be potential to develop 
residential on the land around the base of the 
towers.  Consideration should be given to potential 
impacts on the Oxford Stadium Conservation Area 
and views out from St Mary’s Tower.  Development 
must demonstrate compliance with the 
requirements of Policy DH3. 
 

Local Plan  MM44 139 9.45 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in the area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether 
an upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up 
to three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake such works. 

Local Plan   
 
 
 
MM55 

139 SP4 Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use 
development that includes retail, start-up 
employment units, residential and community 
facilities at the Blackbird Leys Central Area site. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 200. 

479



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

108 
 

 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM44 

Other uses should be appropriate to a district centre 
and could include education, live/work units, sport 
and commercial leisure. Other complementary uses 
will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for 
development that prejudices the comprehensive 
development of the whole site. Regard should be 
had for any regeneration plan for the Blackbird Leys 
area. 
 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that 
there is adequate waste water capacity both on and 
off the site to serve the development and that it 
would not lead to problems for existing or new 
users. 

Policy SP5:  Summer Fields School Athletics Track 

Local Plan MM56 142 SP5 Add groundwater recharge symbol 

Local Plan  
 
MM57 
 
MM49 
 
 

142 SP5 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 120. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 

480



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

109 
 

Policy SP6:  Diamond Place and Ewert House 

Local Plan MM58 144 SP6 Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use 
development at Diamond Place and Ewert House, in 
accordance with having regard to the SPD, which 
could include the following uses: 
• residential  
• employment; 
• student accommodation. 
The minimum number of homes to be delivered is 
160. 
 

Policy SP7:  276 Banbury Road 

Local Plan MM59 144 9.66-9.67 9.66 - This site in the Summertown district centre 
includes several retail units at ground floor level and 
offices above, with a single storey building to the 
north of the site used as Majestic Wine Warehouse. 
 
9.67 - The site is at a visually prominent location and 
is an important part of the street scene of Banbury 
Road. High quality design with active frontages 
will be required to ensure a sense of vitality with 
easy and clear access to shops and other uses on the 
site. 

Local Plan MM59 144 SP7 Planning permission will be granted for housing, 
student accommodation, office use, leisure uses, 
short stay accommodation or other town centre, 
uses on the upper floors, with uses that result in 
active frontages and comply with policy V4 relating 
to retail frontages on the ground floor fronting 

481



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

110 
 

Banbury Road at 276 Banbury Road. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 

Policy SP8:  Unipart 

Local Plan  MM60 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM51 

146 SP8 Planning permission will be granted for B1, and B2 
and B8 employment uses at Unipart. B8 uses will be 
permitted where they support the employment 
activities at the site. Other complementary uses will 
be considered on their merits. Planning permission 
will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
A reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required and oOpportunities should be sought to 
enhance and promote more sustainable travel 
modes to the Unipart site. 
 
 
 
 
  

Policy SP9:  Mini Plant Oxford   

Local Plan MM61 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 

147 SP9  Policy SP9:  Oxford BMW Mini MINI Plant Oxford 
 
Planning permission will be granted for B1, B2 uses. 
B8 uses will be permitted where they directly 
support the employment uses at the site. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 

482



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

111 
 

 
 
MM61 
 
 
 
 
 
MM51 
 
MM61 

Notwithstanding the requirement in Policy E1 for no 
loss of employment floorspace on Category 1 
employment sites, planning permission will be 
granted for development on this site that results in a 
loss of employment floorspace or jobs per hectare 
where the land is retained for B1, B2 and B8 uses 
associated with operations at MINI Plant Oxford.  
 
A reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required and oOpportunities should be sought to 
enhance and promote more sustainable travel 
modes to the BMW Oxford Mini MINI Plant Oxford. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Policy SP10:  Oxford Science Park (Littlemore & Minchery Farm) 

Local Plan   
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 

148 SP10 Planning permission will be granted for B1 
employment uses that directly relate to Oxford’s key 
sectors of research led employment at Oxford 
Science Park. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. Development 
should be designed to enhance the external 
appearance of the science park and to optimise 
opportunities to enhance the landscape and provide 
attractive public open space for the occupants. The 
re-opening of the Cowley Branchline will provide a 

483



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

112 
 

 
 
 
 
MM51 

realistic alternative to the private car for gaining 
access to the science park. 
 
A reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required and oOpportunities should be sought to 
enhance and promote more sustainable travel to 
and from the park.  

Policy SP11:  Oxford Business Park 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM62 
 
 
 
MM51 

149 SP11 Planning permission will be granted for B1 and B2 
employment uses at Oxford Business Park. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 
A reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required and oOpportunities should be sought to 
enhance and promote more sustainable travel 
modes to the business park.  

Policy SP12: Sandy Lane Recreation Ground and Land to the Rear of the Retail Park 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM63 
 
MM64 
 
 

150 SP12 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Sandy Lane Recreation Ground and 
Land to the Rear of the Retail Park. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 120. Enhanced 
outdoor sport facilities should be provided in line 
with the requirements of Policy G5, with pitches at 
least equivalent to 2 full-sized football pitches and 
one junior pitch provided. Some appropriately sited 

484



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

113 
 

 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 

land should be safeguarded to allow for future 
development of a passenger station for the Cowley 
Branchline. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 
Residential development should be located on the 
western part of the site access from Blackbird Leys 
Road. 
 
 
 
 
 

SP13: Northfield Hostel 

Local Plan MM65 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 

151 SP13 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings providing a minimum of 30 homes at 
Northfield Hostel. 
 
Planning permission for residential use will only be 
granted if Oxfordshire County Council demonstrate 
that the site is no longer needed for a school and 
hostel. Planning permission will also be granted for 
education uses.  Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any uses other than residential, 
education or extra care accommodation. 
 

SP14: Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy 

485



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

114 
 

Local Plan MM66 151 9.93 This site comprises spare land at the edge of is part 
of the playing fields of Oxford Academy. It is lower 
level than the rest of the playing fields, and not an 
intrinsic or well-used part of the outdoor sport 
offer… 

Local Plan  
MM67 
 
 
MM68 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
MM68 

152 SP14 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development for employer linked housing at Edge of 
Playing Fields, Oxford Academy. Residential 
development could include employer linked 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy H3. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 20. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. The site to be developed is to be 
the playing field only and must not encroach upon 
the playing pitches. The loss of part of the playing 
field will require qualitative improvements to be 
undertaken to the City Council’s satisfaction to the 
remaining playing field. 

Policy SP15: Kassam Stadium Sites  

Local Plan  MM44 152 9.98 Delete the entire paragraph: Water supply network 
capacity in the area is unlikely to be able to support 
the demand anticipated by this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether 
upgrades to the water capacity network are 
required. Up to three years lead in time could be 
required to undertake such works.  

Local Plan  
 
MM69 

153 SP15 Planning permission will be granted for a residential 
led development and public open space on the 
Kassam Stadium sites. The minimum number of 

486



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

115 
 

 
 
 
 
MM49 

homes to be delivered is 150. In addition, 
development could include commercial leisure, 
education and small-scale local shops ancillary to the 
stadium complex. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 
 

Policy SP16: Knights Road 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM70 
 
MM49 

154 SP16 Planning permission will be granted for a residential 
led development and public open space on the 
Knights Road site. The minimum number of homes 
to be delivered is 80.  Other complementary uses 
will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP17: Government Buildings and Harcourt House  

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

155 9.110-9.111 9.110 - The site is adjacent to student 
accommodation in John Garne Way and opposite 
academic uses of the Oxford Centre for Islamic 
Studies (OCIS) a Recognised Independent Centre of 
the University of Oxford. The pedestrian and cycle 
way of Cuckoo Lane runs through the middle of the 
site and is rural in character enclosed by mature 
vegetation. In terms of its ecological features the 
site is within a wildlife corridor and in the vicinity of 
a SLINC and within 600m of the New Marston 
Meadows SSSI. It should be retained as a green 
route as well as being enhanced for cycling and 
walking. The site is adjacent to the Headington Hill 

487



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

116 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM71 
 
 
MM53 

and the St Clement’s and Iffley Road Conservation 
Areas. There is a high potential for archaeological 
interest as the site is near identified Civil War 
defences and the Fairfax siege line. Any new 
development would be required to demonstrate 
compliance with the requirements of Policies DH3 
and DH4. 
 
9.111 - OCIS is keen to use this site as an expansion 
to their existing site on the opposite side of the road 
for student accommodation, visiting lecturers, staff 
and their families with some ancillary teaching and 
social space. This type of allocation would enable 
OCIS to focus their development around their 
existing site. This site is on the Marston Road with 
good public transport links to the city centre and 
hospitals. Student accommodation would be 
suitable on this part of this part of the site adjacent 
to existing student accommodation. It has There is 
footpath access from the site along Cuckoo Lane to 
the Oxford Brookes University Headington campus. 
Consideration must be had of the impact of 
proposals on the Headington Hill Conservation Area. 
There is no footway along Marston Road for part of 
the site. Any new development should include a 
footway and a pedestrian crossing to integrate the 
site with the Islamic Centre opposite. 

488



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

117 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
MM72 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM72 

156 SP17 Planning permission will be granted for residential, 
student accommodation and academic institutional 
uses at the Government Buildings and Harcourt 
House site. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 70. Student accommodation should only 
be located on the half of the site north of Cuckoo 
Lane. Other complementary uses will be considered 
on their merits. Planning permission will not be 
granted for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 
Development should not have an adverse impact 
upon the setting of Headington Hill and the St 
Clement’s and Iffley Road conservation areas. 
Development should include a footway along the 
site frontage and a pedestrian crossing to connect 
with the existing footway network on the western 
side of Marston Road. Cuckoo Lane should be 
enhanced as a pedestrian and cycle route whilst 
retaining its green character. Green features and 
landscaping should be included in the site, including 
10% public open space, which should be designed 
with consideration of how to link to Headington Hill 
Park. ….  

489



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

118 
 

Policy SP18: Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth Student Village   

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

157 9.114 Headington Hill Hall and Lodge House are both listed 
buildings and much of the site falls within the 
Headington Hill Conservation Area. The conservation 
area has a highly sensitive relationship with its 
setting. The well-treed slopes of the hill are 
important to the setting of the City Centre 
Conservation Area in views from the west, making 
an important contribution as the green backdrop in 
the famous views of the city of ‘dreaming spires’ and 
providing a number of features of historic or 
architectural interest in these views. Furthermore, 
the special historic interest of the conservation area 
includes the ability to look out from a number of 
viewpoints over the city of Oxford and towards the 
‘dreaming spires’. The character of views over the 
city and from the historic core must be conserved. 
The grounds of Headington Hill Hall create an 
attractive parkland landscape setting. The site is 
steeply sloping in parts.  Design must, in accordance 
with Policy DH3, respond appropriately to the 
characteristics of the site, ensure it has a positive 
impact on the setting of the listed buildings and 
conservation area and the impact on views, 
particularly from the historic core.  Enhancing the 
landscape setting of the site will be particularly 
important. There are a large number of significant 
mature trees and some important tree groups, many 
of which will need to be preserved. Overall, there 
must be no loss of tree canopy in the long term.  
Development should have a positive impact on the 

490



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

119 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MM73 

relationship between buildings and the parkland 
setting. Development that rises above the treeline 
will need to be very carefully considered and 
justified. The New Marston Meadows SSSI is within 
600m of the site and is sensitive to changes in the 
flows and quality of water in the river Cherwell due 
to it being in floodplain.  

Local Plan MM74 158 SP18 Add contamination symbol to policy (orange icon, 
potentially contaminated land)  

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
MM67 
 
 
MM75 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

158 SP18 Planning permission will be granted for additional 
academic and teaching facilities and associated 
sport, social and leisure facilities, student 
accommodation and residential development 
employer-linked housing at Headington Hill Hall and 
Clive Booth Student Village. Residential 
development could include employer linked 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy H3. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 200. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 

491



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

120 
 

MM53 
 
 
 
 
MM75 

Development should not have an adverse impact 
upon the setting of Headington Hill and the St 
Clement’s and Iffley Road Conservation Areas. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be 
proven that there would be no adverse impact upon 
surface and groundwater flow to the New Marston 
SSSI. Development proposals should reduce surface 
water runoff in the area and should be accompanied 
by an assessment of groundwater and surface water 
flows. Development proposals must incorporate 
sustainable drainage with an acceptable 
management plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

492



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

121 
 

Policy SP19: Land Surrounding St Clements Church   
  

Local Plan MM53 159 9.117 Careful design development would be required to 
accommodate development whilst conserving and 
enhancing the Conservation Area and the setting of 
the Church. The Conservation Area appraisal 
identifies the open character of this part of Marston 
Road and the way in which St Clement’s church is set 
within a green enclave as key features. To conserve 
this character, development should be set back from 
Marston Road, and kept relatively low. New 
development must respond to the setting, framing, 
and response to the Grade II* listed church. Due to 
the heritage interest of the site, development should 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. A new 
vehicular access from Marston Road should be made 
at the northern part of the site to ensure the more 
sensitive area to the south is protected. 

493



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

122 
 

Local Plan  
 
MM76 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 

159 SP19 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings and/or student accommodation at the 
Land surrounding St Clement’s Church site. Planning 
permission will also be granted for a children’s’ 
nursery as a complementary use. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 
Development should be set back from the Marston 
Road to maintain the open character of this part of 
Marston Road and the green setting of the Church. 
Trees along the frontage and surrounding the church 
should be retained. Development should be of a 
height and density appropriate to the site’s situation 
in a Conservation Area, in the setting of the Grade 
II* listed church partially within a view cone and 
fronting open river valley to the west.  

Policy SP20:  Churchill Hospital Site 

Local Plan   
 
 
 
MM77 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

162 SP20 Planning permission will be granted for: 
 

i. further hospital related uses, including the 
redevelopment of existing buildings to 
provide improved facilities on the Churchill 
Hospital Site.   

 
ii. Other suitable uses which must have an 

operational link to the hospital and are: 

• employment B1(b), B1(c) and B2; 

• patient hotel; 

• primary health care; 

494



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

123 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM47 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• education; 

• academic institutional; 

• extra care accommodation, including elderly 
persons accommodation 

 
iii. Complementary acceptable uses: 

• Residential development  

• employer-linked affordable housing; 

• student accommodation;  

• small scale retail units provided that they 
are ancillary to the hospital 
 

Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 
New buildings should be designed to create active 
frontages and avoid creating large areas of inactive 
frontage and dead streets. Design should draw 
inspiration from the non-designated heritage assets, 
drawing inspiration from them to inspire and enrich 
the identity, character and quality of new 
development on the site. Evidence should be 

495



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

124 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM51 

provided to demonstrate that there is not a negative 
height impact from surrounding areas. 
 
Development proposals must not prejudice bus 
access through the site. Improvements to public 
transport access will be required. The development 
will be expected to minimise car parking spaces on 
site. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate 
how the development mitigates against traffic 
impacts and maximises access by alternative means 
of transport. Mitigation measures will be required to 
ensure that proposals do not lead to increased 
parking pressure on nearby residential streets. 
Footpaths should be created across the site.  

Policy SP21:  Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre   
Local Plan  

 
 
 
MM78 
 
MM47 
 
 
MM67 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
MM51 

164 SP21 Planning permission will be granted for further 
healthcare facilities and medical research including 
staff and patient facilities at the Nuffield 
Orthopaedic Centre. Planning permission will also be 
granted for residential development and extra care 
accommodation, employer-linked affordable 
housing that supports the main use of the site. 
Residential development could include employer-
linked affordable housing in accordance with Policy 
H3. Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
Development proposals must not prejudice bus 
access through the site. The development will be 
expected to consolidate parking and minimise car 
parking spaces on site. There should be no increase 

496



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

125 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM44 

in parking. Applicants will be expected to 
demonstrate how the development mitigates traffic 
impacts and maximises access by alternative means 
of transport. The pedestrian and cyclist should be 
improved with improved integration for pedestrians 
and cyclists with the surrounding environment and 
better links across and around the site. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be 
proven that there would be no adverse impacts on 
the integrity of the Lye Valley and Rock Edge SSSI’s. 
Development proposals should reduce surface water 
run-off in the area and should be accompanied by an 
assessment of groundwater and surface water to 
demonstrate that there would be no impact on 
surface and groundwater flow to the Lye Valley SSSI. 
Development proposals must incorporate 
sustainable drainage with an acceptable 
management plan. 
 
Development must not lead to water supply and 
sewerage network problems for existing or new 
users. Applicants may need to fund an assessment of 
water supply and sewerage capacity. 
 
 
 
 
  

Policy SP22:  Old Road Campus 

497



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

126 
 

Local Plan  MM49 165 SP22 Planning permission will be granted for additional 
medical teaching and research at Old Road Campus. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses….  

Policy SP23:  Warneford Hospital  

Local Plan MM53 166 9.143 Development should be designed to enhance the 
listed buildings and their setting, Warneford 
Meadow and the mature trees and parkland setting. 
Views across and through the site of the historic 
buildings and of mature trees towards South Park, 
Old Road and the Churchill Hospital should be 
retained. Because of the character of the historic 
buildings and parkland and the semi-rural setting, 
development of 3-4 storeys is likely to be 
appropriate, subject to careful massing. Lower 
buildings heights to transition with the meadow to 
the south would help to retain the tranquil feel of 
the orchard and meadow. Due to the heritage 
interest of the site, development should 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 
Opportunity to draw a green link from Warneford 
Meadow into the site should also be considered to 
assist with biodiversity and legibility. 

498



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

127 
 

Local Plan  MM44 166 9.144 Delete the entire paragraph: Both the water supply 
network capacity and the sewerage network 
capacity in this area are unlikely to be able to 
support the demand anticipated from this 
development Investigations by Thames Water, 
funded by the applicant, will be necessary to 
determine whether upgrades to the water supply 
capacity and sewerage network are required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake such works. 

Local Plan   
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM47 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 

166 SP23 Planning permission will be granted for healthcare 
related facilities at Warneford Hospital and, 
provided adequate accommodation is provided for 
healthcare facilities, any of the following uses:  
 

• residential, including employer-linked 
affordable housing; 

• student accommodation; 

• hospital and medical research; 

• B1(a) and B1(b) provided that they have an 
operational link to hospital uses; 

• academic institutional; 

• education 
 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
Development must retain and enhance the listed 
buildings.  
 

499



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

128 
 

 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM51 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM44 
 
 
 

The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 
The development will be expected to minimise car 
parking spaces on site. Applicants will be expected 
to demonstrate how the development mitigates 
against traffic impacts and maximises access by 
alternative means of transport. The playing fields 
should be re-provided or a contribution made to 
another facility. To minimise impact upon the very 
sensitive Lye Valley SSSI, planning permission will 
only be granted if it can be proven that there would 
be no adverse impact upon surface and groundwater 
flow to the Lye Valley SSSI. Development proposals 
should reduce surface water run off in the area and 
should be accompanied by an assessment of 
groundwater and surface water. Development 
proposals must incorporate sustainable drainage 
with an acceptable management plan. 
 
Development must not lead to water supply and 
sewerage network problems for existing or new 
users. Applicants may need to fund an assessment of 
water supply and sewerage capacity. 
 

500



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

129 
 

 
MM53 

Development should not have an adverse impact 
upon the setting of the Headington Hill conservation 
area. 

Sites Released from Green Belt   

Local Plan  MM79 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

167 9.145 9.145 - The City Council considers that exceptional 
circumstances existed to justify alterations to the 
Green Belt boundary, due to the acute housing 
need, housing affordability and inequality. The Plan 
goes as far as possible to identify suitable housing 
sites within the built up area but these can only 
provide for a relatively small proportion of Oxford’s 
housing needs.  The Green Belt Study (LUC, 2017) 
assessed the potential release of sites SP24 to SP31 
from the Green Belt. These sites have been released 
from the Green Belt because their impact on it 
ranges from between a low to a moderate impact 
rating on the overall purposes of the Green Belt. The 
following sites have therefore been released from 
the are in Green Belt and are allocated for 
development. currently, although the Green Belt 
Review as part of the Local Plan proposes their 
removal (as well as the removal of the land at St. 
Catherine’s College, which is shown on the Policies 
Map as site SP66, but which does not have a detailed 
site allocation policy because development of the 
site has largely happened as only minor elements 
are proposed. Furthermore, the site is small and 
separated from the rest of the Green Belt by a wall 
and the removal from the Green Belt is intended to 
formalize the existing situation. 
 

501



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

130 
 

 

Policy SP24:  Marston Paddock 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM80 
MM49 

168 SP24 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Marston Paddock site. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 39. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP25:  St Frideswide Farm 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM81 
MM49 

169 SP25 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the St Frideswide Farm site. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 125. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP26:  Hill View Farm 

Local Plan  
 
MM82 
MM49 

171 SP26 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Hill View Farm site. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 110. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 

502



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

131 
 

Policy SP27: Land West of Mill Lane  

Local Plan  MM53 171 9.161 The site is in close proximity to the Conservation 
Area.  Consideration should be given to the setting 
of the village. The development of sites along the 
northern edge will coalesce with A40 and create a 
new urban edge to the city and village. An access 
road from A40 already exists and there may be 
opportunities to create a cluster of sites around this 
if adequate separation from the village can be 
achieved to protect its character and setting.  
Development proposals should have consideration in 
their design of the setting of the village in 
accordance with the requirements of Policy DH3. 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM83 
MM49 

172 SP27 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings on the Land West of Mill Lane site. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 75. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP28:  Park Farm 

Local Plan  
 
MM84 
 
 
MM49 

173 SP28 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Park Farm site. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 60. The site 
should include public open space. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 

503



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

132 
 

Policy SP29:  Pear Tree Farm  

Local Plan  MM44 174 9.176 Delete entire paragraph: The sewerage network 
capacity in the area is unlikely to be able to support 
the demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant, will be necessary to determine whether 
an upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up 
to three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake such works. 

Local Plan  
 
MM85 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

175 SP29 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Pear Tree Farm site. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 122. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 
A biodiversity survey will be expected to assess the 
biodiversity value of the site and it should be 
demonstrated how harm will be avoided, mitigated 
or compensated. 
 
A minimum of 10% of the site should be for public 
open space, which should be accessible for existing 
residents of Marston. The development should be 
designed to ensure active frontages face onto the 
open space. Compensatory improvements should be 
made to surrounding areas of remaining Green Belt 
in accordance with the Identification of 
Opportunities to Enhance the Beneficial Use of 
Green Belt Land Report (LUC, 2018). 
 

504



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

133 
 

 
 
 
MM44 

Development proposals should be accompanied by 
an assessment of groundwater and surface water., 
and should show that agreement has been gained 
with Thames Water about foul water discharges. 

Policy SP30:  Land East of Redbridge Park and Ride 

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
MM86 
 
MM49 

176 SP30 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the land East of Redbridge Park and 
Ride site. Proposals should include residential 
moorings and associated servicing facilities. 
Development should include public open space. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 162. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP31: St Catherine’s College Land 

Local Plan MM53 177 9.183 The site is visually separated for the wider Green 
Belt by a wall. Some of the Green Belt area has 
already been developed and there is a small 
remaining parcel of undeveloped land. Development 
could take place without harm to the integrity and 
purpose of the Green Belt. The site is within the 
central conservation area and in close proximity to 
listed buildings, and the design of development 
proposals development must be designed carefully 
to preserve and enhance their character in 
accordance with the requirements of Policy DH3. 

505



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

134 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM87 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
MM87 

177 SP31 Planning permission will be granted for student 
accommodation and other university-related 
development at the St Catherine’s College site. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 31. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits.  
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting.   
[…] 
 
A planning application must be accompanied by a 
site-specific flood risk assessment and development 
should incorporate any mitigation measures. 
 

Policy SP32: Banbury Road University Sites 

Local Plan MM53 178 9.185 Many of the buildings contribute to the character of 
the North Oxford Victorian Suburb conservation area 
or are listed. The two areas to the north are 
historically part of the late C19/early C20 
development of North Oxford by St John’s College 
and retain evidence of the planned “setting out” of 
this part of the city at that time with large detached 
or semi-detached villas set back from the street 
behind boundary walls and the remains of front 
gardens. The area to the south sits immediately to 
the north of the grade II* listed The Old Parsonage. 
The pair of late C19 villas that front Banbury Road 

506



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

135 
 

are listed and form an important group up to and 
including No 21 Banbury Road. They would need to 
be retained in any future development proposal, and 
any new designs would be expected to comply with 
Policy DH3. 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM67 
 
 
MM88 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 

178 SP32 Planning permission will be granted for academic 
institutional uses, student accommodation, and/or 
residential development employer-linked housing at 
the Banbury Road University Sites. Residential 
development could include employer-linked 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy H3. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 60. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for redevelopment 
or addition of academic institutional uses provided 
that the requirements of Policy H9 are met. it can be 
demonstrated that there are no more than the 
threshold number of students of the relevant 
university living outside of university provided 
student accommodation (in accordance with Policy 
H9). 
 
Development must retain and enhance the listed 
buildings. Careful design must ensure that 
development proposals contribute towards the 
character of the conservation area and preserve and 
enhance nearby listed buildings and their setting. 
 

507



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

136 
 

Policy SP33: Bertie Place Recreation Ground and Land Behind Wytham Street 

Local Plan MM46 179 9.193 …The site specific flood risk assessment must 
demonstrate how the development will be safe 
otherwise planning permission will not be granted. It 
is recognised that the FRA may not be able to 
demonstrate a dry risk/ very low hazard rating route 
to dry land. Therefore in order to achieve safe access 
and/ or egress for this site to satisfy the Exception 
Test there may be a greater reliance on on-site 
measures, emergency planning, and evacuation 
procedures alongside offsite mitigation to ensure 
that it is safe for its lifetime taking account of the 
vulnerability of its users without increasing the 
burden on emergency services. Development should 
be made safe by mitigating the potential impacts of 
development through design and resilient 
construction measures. It should be designed and 
constructed such that the health and welfare of 
people is appropriately managed. 

Local Plan MM89 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

180 SP33 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development (Plot A). The minimum number of 
homes to be delivered is 30. A vehicular turning and 
dropping off area should be provided within the site. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted for the new 
school if the school playing fields are provided on 
the Land Behind Wytham Street (Plot B) and 
planning permission will only be granted for a new 
school or residential development if the existing 
Bertie Place recreation ground, including a 

508



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

137 
 

 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM52 

replacement Multi Use Games Area, is re-provided 
on land in Plot B with adequate pedestrian links 
provided from local residential areas. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. 
 
[…] 
 
A planning application must be accompanied by a 
site-specific flood risk assessment and development 
should incorporate any mitigation measures. A 
Comprehensive Flood Risk Management Strategy 
should be produced in support of the Flood Risk 
Assessment for this site. The Flood Risk 
Management Strategy should be 
developed in consultation with Category 1 
organisations as defined by the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

509



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

138 
 

Policy SP34: Canalside Land 

Local Plan MM53 181 9.196 Building heights should reflect the form and scale of 
surrounding development, particularly surrounding 
the area of public open space and should not exceed 
3 storeys. Finished design should respect the 
waterfront heritage of the site, the conservation 
area and Grade 1 Listed Building.  Potentially the 
wall separating the Church and the proposed new 
square can be demolished to open up the square 
and views of the Grade 1 listed building.  Designs 
would be expected to be in compliance with the 
requirements of Policy DH3. 

Local Plan MM46 181  9.197 …The site specific flood risk assessment must 
demonstrate how the development will be safe 
otherwise planning permission will not be granted. It 
is recognised that the FRA may not be able to 
demonstrate a dry risk/ low hazard rating route to 
dry land.  Therefore in order to achieve safe access 
and/ or egress for this site to satisfy the Exception 
Test there may be a greater reliance on  on-site 
measures, emergency planning,  and evacuation 
procedures, alongside offsite mitigation, to ensure 
that it is safe for its lifetime taking account of the 
vulnerability of its users without increasing the 
burden on emergency services.  Development 
should be made safe by mitigating the potential 
impacts of development through design and resilient 
construction measures.  It should be designed and 
constructed such that the health and welfare of 
people is appropriately managed. 

510



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

139 
 

Local Plan MM90 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM52 

182 SP34 Planning permission will be granted for a mixed use 
development at the Canalside Land site that includes 
all of the following uses:  
a). residential 
b). a sustainably-sized community centre 
c). public open space/square 
d). replacement operating boatyard and winding 
yard 
e). a new bridge over the Oxford Canal for 
pedestrians and cyclists 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for any 
other uses. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and enhances St Barnabas Church 
and its setting. 
 
A planning application must be accompanied by a 
site-specific flood risk assessment for flood risks, and 
development should groundwater and surface water 
impacts. Proposals must also incorporate any 
necessary mitigation measures. A Comprehensive 
Flood Risk Management Strategy should be 
produced in support of the Flood Risk Assessment 
for this site. This Flood Risk Management Strategy 
should be developed in consultation with Category 1 
organisations as defined by the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004. 
 

511



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

140 
 

Policy SP35: Court Place Gardens  

Local Plan  
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
MM67 

183 9.200 There is potential to make better use of the site 
whilst respecting and improving the setting of the 
listed building. Development designs would be 
expected to comply with the requirements of Policy 
DH3.  The existing graduate student accommodation 
should be replaced with new graduate 
accommodation or with residential development, 
which may include employer-linked affordable 
housing, or a mix of both uses. The site is not within 
an area that satisfies the student accommodation 
Policy HP4 so there should be no net increase in 
students living on the site. Opportunities should be 
explored to open up footpaths for pedestrians 
through the site. More vulnerable development will 
be expected to be directed away from the portion of 
the site within Flood Zone 3b. The site is almost 
directly adjacent to the Iffley Meadows SSSI, which is 
sensitive to changes in water quality and surface 
water flows due to its location within a floodplain. 
 

Local Plan  
MM67 
 
 
MM132 
 
 
 
MM49 
 

183 SP35 Planning permission will be granted for graduate 
student accommodation or residential development, 
employer-linked-housing or a mix of both uses at 
Court Place Gardens. Residential development could 
include employer-linked affordable housing in 
accordance with Policy H3.  There should be no net 
increase in student accommodation units. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 

512



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

141 
 

 
 
MM53 

 
Through the redevelopment of the site it must be 
demonstrated that the new design will have a 
positive effect on the setting of the listed building 
compared to the existing development.  
 

Policy SP36: Cowley Marsh Depot 

Local Plan  
 
MM91 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 

184 SP36 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at Cowley Marsh Depot. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 80. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 
Prior to the development of the site for residential 
uses the depot must be relocated. 
 

Policy SP37: Faculty of Music, St Aldates  

Local Plan MM53 184 9.203 The site is currently occupied by the University of 
Oxford’s Faculty of Music which is due to be 
relocated to the Radcliffe Observatory Quarter site.  
The current Faculty of Music site is a sensitive 
location as it backs onto Christ Church meadow, is in 
a Conservation area and is close to the listed 
buildings of Christ Church College. Care will be 
needed in design in order to demonstrate that the 
setting of the listed buildings and Conservation Area 
are conserved and enhanced. There is a high 
potential for archaeological interest such as the site 

513



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

142 
 

of the Crutched Friars.  Careful design will be needed 
to conserve and enhance the setting, and proposals 
would be required to demonstrate compliance with 
Policies DH3 and DH4. 
 

Local Plan  
 
MM47 
 
MM92 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 

185 SP37 Planning permission will be granted for academic 
uses, residential including employer linked 
affordable housing and student accommodation at 
the Faculty of Music. The minimum number of 
homes to be delivered is 40. Other complementary 
uses will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting. 
 

Policy SP38: Former Barns Road East Allotments 

Local Plan  
 
MM93 
 

185 SP38 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Former Barns Road East Allotments 
site. The minimum number of homes to be delivered 
is 25. Other complementary uses will be considered 

514



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

143 
 

MM49 on their merits. Planning permission will not be 
granted for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP39: Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM47 
 
 
MM94 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM94 

186 SP39 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the former Iffley Mead playing fields. 
Residential development could include be in the 
form of employer-linked affordable housing if no 
other County site is used for this purpose. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 84. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
The Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields site will be 
expected to provide 10% new public open space, 
which must be sited to be welcoming to existing 
residents. Development proposals should encourage 
active frontages to the new public open space. The 
playing field should be re-provided or a contribution 
made to another facility. 
 

Policy SP40: Grandpont Car Park 

Local Plan  
 
MM47 
 
 
MM95 
 

187 SP40 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the Grandpont Car Park site. Residential 
development could include be in the form of 
employer-linked affordable housing if no other 
County site is used for this purpose. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 22. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 

515



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

144 
 

MM49 merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 

Policy SP41: Jesus College Sports Ground  

Local Plan MM53 188 9.214 Views of and from Bartlemas are restricted due to 
vegetation and buildings; however development of 
the site would inevitably have some impact on the 
sense of rural isolation that the current undeveloped 
playing fields reinforce. Therefore, any development 
would need to be designed with buildings of form, 
massing (roof profiles) height and façade materials 
that allow the built forms to recede in the backdrop 
to views from and across Bartlemas. In addition, 
landscape design would need to be a fundamental 
consideration at the earliest design stage, to 
enhance the contribution that existing trees and 
hedgerows make to the rural setting of the 
Bartlemas settlement, listed buildings and the 
conservation area.  All elements of the design would 
be assessed for compliance with the requirements of 
Policies DH2, DH3 and DH4. Development should 
result in enhancement of the hedgerow along the 
southern side of the lane. 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM96 
MM49 
 
 

188 SP41 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development and new public open space at Jesus 
College Sports Ground. The minimum number of 
homes to be delivered is 28. Other complementary 
uses will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 

516



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

145 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MM64 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM96 

The public open space should cover at least 25% of 
the gross site area and should be located on the 
Barracks Lane frontage. The sports provision must 
be retained unless the loss of the sports provision 
can be otherwise compensated for in line with the 
requirements of Policy G5. If an alternative site is 
found the City Council must be satisfied that it will 
be delivered. Public sports facilities should be 
provided on the open space or a contribution made 
to improve other local sports facilities. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
Bartlemas Conservation Area and preserve and 
enhance nearby listed buildings and their setting.  
 
Green space will need to be retained along the 
Barracks Lane frontage. Development proposals 
should encourage active frontages onto Barracks 
Lane and the new public open space. Development 
should be designed to ensure that there is no 
adverse impact on the Lye Valley SSSI. 
 

Policy SP42:  John Radcliffe Hospital Site 

Local Plan MM53 189 9.217 The Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust is 
confident that their future operational requirements 
can be met on the site through redevelopment and 
by making more efficient use of land. Some areas of 
the site will no longer be required by the Trust for 
hospital uses and will become available for 
alternative uses. Proposals must consider their 

517



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

146 
 

impact upon the Old Headington Conservation Area, 
ensuring that their design complies with the 
requirements of Policy DH3. 

Local Plan MM97 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 

190 SP42  Planning permission will be granted for:  
 
i. further hospital related uses, including the 
redevelopment of existing buildings to provide 
improved facilities on the John Radcliffe Hospital 
Site.   
 
ii. Other suitable uses which must have an 
operational link to the hospital and are: 

• employment B1(b), B1(c) and B2; 

• patient hotel; 

• extra care accommodation, including elderly 
persons accommodation; 

• primary health care; 

• employer-linked housing; 

• education; 

• academic institutional 
 

iii. Complementary acceptable uses: 

• residential development; 

• employer-linked affordable housing; 

• student accommodation;  

• small scale retail units provided that they 
are ancillary to the hospital; 

Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 

518



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

147 
 

MM53 
 
 
 
 
 
MM51 
 
 
 
MM97 

Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting.  
 
Development proposals must not prejudice bus 
access through the site. Improvements to public 
transport, and walking and cycling access and the 
reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required and where required by Policy M2 this 
should be set out within a transport assessment or 
travel plan and reflected in the agreed masterplan. 
in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council’s 
Local Transport Plan. 
 

Policy SP43: Land at Meadow Lane 

Local Plan MM53 
 
 

191 9.221 The site comprises of land used for horse grazing, 
with some trees and shrubs. The site sits within the 
Iffley village envelope and has potential for some 
sensitive housing infill.  Any development proposals 
would be expected to conserve and enhance the 
unique characteristics of the Iffley conservation area 
in order to comply with the requirements of Policies 
DH2 and DH3.  This should conserve and enhance 
the unique characteristics and appearance of the 
Iffley conservation area. The building line should be 
followed on the frontage and the semi-rural 
frontage on Church Way should be retained, as well 
as the stone wall boundary and trees, particularly at 
Church Way. Development should be relatively low 

519



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

148 
 

density and two-storey with front and rear gardens 
and stone-walled boundaries. The impact of 
development on views through the riverside edge 
landscape of the Cherwell meadows to the west, and 
views back to Iffley from the west should be 
considered. 
 

Local Plan  
 
MM98 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM98 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

191 SP43 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at Land at Meadow Lane. The minimum 
number of homes to be delivered is 29. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 

A biodiversity survey will be expected to assess the 
biodiversity value of the site and it should be 
demonstrated how harm will be avoided, mitigated 
or compensated. 

Development should be designed to ensure that 
there is no adverse impact on the Iffley Meadows 
SSSI. To minimise impact upon the Iffley Meadows 
SSSI, development proposals will be expected to 
incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
and may be required to be accompanied by a 
groundwater study. 

A planning application must be accompanied by a 
site-specific flood risk assessment and development 
should incorporate any mitigation measures.” 
 

520



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

149 
 

Policy SP44:  Lincoln College Sports Ground 

Local Plan MM53 192 9.227 Any development should be designed with buildings 
of form, massing (roof profiles) height and façade 
materials that allow the built forms to recede in the 
backdrop to views from and across Bartlemas. In 
addition, landscape design would need to be a 
fundamental consideration at the earliest design 
stage, to enhance the contribution that existing 
trees and hedgerows make to the rural setting of the 
Bartlemas settlement, listed buildings and the 
conservation area, and as a result development 
should demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 
Development should result in enhancement of the 
hedgerow along the southern side of the lane. 
 

Local Plan  MM44 192 9.230 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in this area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant will be necessary to determine whether an 
upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake any such works 

521



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

150 
 

Local Plan MM56 193 SP44 Remove groundwater recharge symbol.  

Local Plan  
 
 
MM99 
 
MM49 
 
 
MM64 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
 

193 SP44 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development and public open space at Lincoln 
College Sports Ground. The minimum number of 
homes to be delivered is 90. Other complementary 
uses will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
The sports provision pitch must be retained on the 
open space unless the loss of the sports provision 
can be otherwise compensated for in line with the 
requirements of Policy G5 an alternative suitable site 
is found. If an alternative site is found the City 
Council must be satisfied that it will be delivered. 
The Lincoln College Sports Ground site will still be 
expected to provide 10% new public open space as 
part of the residential development. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
Bartlemas Conservation Area and preserve and 
enhance nearby listed buildings and their setting.  
 

522



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

151 
 

 
MM99 

Development proposals should encourage active 
frontages onto Barracks Lane and the new public 
open space. The new public open space should be 
located along the frontage adjacent to the 
Conservation Area. Development should be 
designed to ensure that there is no adverse impact 
on the Lye Valley SSSI. 

Policy SP45:  Littlemore Park  
  

Local Plan MM53 193 9.233 The site is adjacent to listed hospital buildings so the 
impact on these buildings and their setting must be 
considered. As a result, development should also 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. The 
existing ecological provision on the site must be 
understood and enhanced. Landscaping should 
consider the brook to the south of the site. The 
former playing field should be relocated or facilities 
improved elsewhere. Because of the listed buildings 
and importance of landscape to their setting, 
development of medium density and height is likely 
to be suitable. 

Local Plan  MM44 194 9.238 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in this area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant will be necessary to determine whether an 
upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake any such works 

523



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

152 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM100 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM64 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

194 SP45 Planning permission will be granted for employment 
(B1) and complementary appropriate uses at 
Littlemore Park. 
 
Residential development is a suitable alternative use 
but to ensure that there is no loss of employment 
sites within Oxford, planning permission will only be 
granted for residential development on Littlemore 
Park provided that an equivalent amount of new B1 
employment (employees) is created elsewhere 
within Oxford. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 270. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 
The playing field should be re-provided or a 
contribution made to another facility. must be 
retained unless its loss can be otherwise 
compensated for in line with the requirements of 
Policy G5. If an alternative site is found the City 
Council must be satisfied that it will be delivered. 

524



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

153 
 

Policy SP46: Manor Place 

Local Plan MM53 195 9.239 This site consists of a mix of disused hard and grass 
tennis courts, abandoned private allotments and an 
orchard. It is a sensitive site as it is close to a number 
of listed buildings, the Holywell Cemetery and within 
the Central Conservation Area with a number of 
large trees on site. Any development would need to 
ensure that there was no adverse impact upon the 
setting of the listed buildings and the Central 
conservation area. There is high potential for 
archaeological interest on the site with Civil War 
defences having been excavated previously. Due to 
the heritage and archaeological significance of the 
site, development will need to demonstrate 
compliance with Policy DH3 and Policy DH4. 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM101 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 

196 SP46 Planning permission will be granted for student 
accommodation or car free residential development 
or a mix of both uses at Manor Place St Cross College 
Annex. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting.  
 

525



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

154 
 

Policy SP47: Manzil Way Resource Centre 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM47 
 
MM102 
 
 
 
MM49 

197 SP47 Planning permission will be granted for improved 
health-care facilities, associated administration 
and/or residential dwellings, including employer-
linked affordable housing, at the Manzil Way 
Resource Centre site. If market housing  and 
employer-linked housing are to be provided there 
must be enough market housing to ensure that 
affordable housing is provided on site, in accordance 
with Policy H2. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP48:  Thornhill Park, London Road 

Local Plan  MM44 197 9.247 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in this area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant will be necessary to determine whether an 
upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake any such works 

526



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

155 
 

Local Plan  MM103 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
MM103 
 
 
 
 
 
MM103 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM64 
 

198 SP48 Policy SP48: Nielsen, London Road 
Planning permission will be granted for a residential-
led development at the Nielsen site which must 
retain employment-generating development.  
 
Planning permission will be granted for a residential 
led mixed use redevelopment of the Thornhill Park 
site. This should include some employment use, 
given the strategic location of the site. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 534 which includes the conversion of the 
existing building to residential. 
 
As a Category 2 employment site, the existing level 
of employment should be retained on site. 
Replacement employment could be in the form of: 
• an employment generating use; and/or 
• healthcare development provided that the 

employee level was sufficient; and/or 
• small scale employment units. 
Planning permission will not be granted for any 
other uses. 
 
Opportunities should be taken to improve 
connectivity to and within the site for pedestrians 
and cyclists. 
 
The playing field should be re-provided or a 
contribution made to another facility. must be 
retained unless its loss can be otherwise 
compensated for in line with the requirements of 

527



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

156 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
MM44 

Policy G5. If an alternative site is found the City 
Council must be satisfied that it will be delivered. 
 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that 
there is adequate waste water capacity both on and 
off the site to serve the development and that it 
would not lead to problems for existing or new 
users. 

Policy SP49:  Old Power Station  

Local Plan MM53 199 9.249 The site is directly adjacent to the boundary of the 
Osney Island Conservation area, which derives its 
unique character from the well preserved Victorian 
buildings that have had limited 20th Century 
intervention. Any proposals should have regard to 
this setting and to the visual impact development 
this site would have on the character of the area. 
Due to the heritage interest of the site, development 
should demonstrate compliance with Policies DH3 
and DH5. 
 

Local Plan MM104 
 
 
MM47 
 
MM49 
 

199 SP49 Planning permission will be granted for academic 
institutional use, student accommodation and/or 
residential dwellings, including employer-linked 
affordable housing on the Old Power Station site. 
Development of the site may include replacement of 
existing use of the site. Other complementary uses 

528



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

157 
 

 
 
 
 
MM53 

will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and reflect the heritage 
significance of the building and its setting.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy SP50: Oriel College Land at King Edward Street and High Street 

Local Plan MM53 200 9.253 This site consists of a number of properties including 
a listed building. As a city centre location, the site is 
suitable for a number of uses although with the 
ground floor designated as a mix of primary, 
secondary and street specific frontages, Class A uses 
should be maintained here subject to Local Plan 
policies. Any development would need to ensure 
that there was no adverse impact upon the setting 
of the listed building and conservation area, and 
therefore should demonstrate compliance with 
Policy DH3. 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
 

200 SP50 Planning permission will be granted for student 
accommodation and or residential dwellings and 
town centre uses at Oriel College Land at King 
Edward Street and High Street. Active frontages 

529



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

158 
 

 
MM105 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
MM53 

should be maintained on the ground floor. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 7. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and enhance the listed building 
and its setting. 
 
 
 

Policy SP51: Oxford Brookes University Marston Road Campus 

Local Plan MM53 201 9.256 The former school building, built in the late 30s, 
early 40s is an imposing building, built in a neo 
Georgian style with a triangular stone portico 
containing a carved Oxford crest. Four tall elegant 
Cotswold limestone Ionic columns surround the 
front door. All the red brickwork of the original 1939 
building has the attractive chevron or diamond 
pattern, adding to the striking symmetry of the 
frontage. The site lies within the setting of the 
Headington Hill Conservation Area and it has an 
important relationship to the conservation area. 
Therefore, development should demonstrate 
compliance with Policy DH3. 
 

Local Plan  
 
MM106 

201 SP51 Planning permission will be granted at the Oxford 
Brookes Marston Road Campus for further academic 
use, with linked student accommodation or 

530



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

159 
 

MM47 
 
 
MM106 
 
MM49 

employer-linked affordable housing or, should 
Oxford Brookes University vacate the site, for 
residential dwellings. The minimum number of 
homes to be provided is 59. Other complementary 
uses will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 

Policy SP52: Oxford Stadium 

Local Plan MM107 202 9.263 The opportunity exists to provide enabling 
residential development within the existing Stadium 
car park. This residential development should 
preserve and where possible enhance the 
significance of the conservation area of which it is a 
part and should provide for retention and 
enhancement of the community uses of the 
Stadium. The established use as a stadium should 
not be affected by permitting of new residential 
developments in proximity. The City Council has 
undertaken viability testing that demonstrates that 
resumption of the use of the Stadium as a 
greyhound racing and speedway venue can be 
achieved, supported by enabling housing 
development to fund its modernisation and facilitate 
recommencement of greyhound racing or speedway 
if necessary. Any planning permission for enabling 
residential development will be required to include a 
commitment (through a planning obligation) to carry 
out,  as part of the development, an agreed scheme 
for refurbishment and modernisation of the Stadium 
to facility recommencement of its former leisure 
uses. If it can be demonstrated that greyhound 
racing or speedway cannot viably be brought back 

531



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

160 
 

then residential-led development (supported by 
appropriate uses) can go ahead. It must be 
demonstrated that active market testing has taken 
place, that a development partner has been actively 
sought, and that there has been engagement with 
the national governing bodies. 

Local Plan MM108 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

203 SP52 Planning permission will be granted for revival of the 
stadium for greyhound racing and/or speedway, 
with other supporting community or leisure uses. 
Planning permission will be granted for and other 
uses and enabling residential dwellings on the car 
park or other areas that will not affect the operation 
or heritage interest of the Oxford Stadium site. if it is 
to secure enhancement of leisure uses on the site 
consistent with preservation and enhancement of 
heritage significance. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for any 
other use or development, unless further feasibility 
work shows speedway and greyhound racing not to 
be viable, in which case planning permission will be 
granted for an alternative community and leisure 
use that maintain the heritage interest of the 
Stadium and its context, with supporting or enabling 
residential development on the car park if necessary. 
 
If it is demonstrated that bringing speedway and 
greyhound racing back into use is not viable, high 
quality residential led redevelopment supported by 
appropriate uses that will benefit the wider 
community for example complementary leisure or 

532



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

161 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MM51 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM108 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

community uses that include reference to the 
heritage interest, of the site will be supported. 
 
Planning permission will not be granted for any 
development that would result in an increase in car 
parking. It should be demonstrated that there will be 
adequate accessibility of the site to support the 
leisure uses. Opportunities should be sought to 
enhance and promote sustainable travel to and from 
the site, in line with Policies M1 to M5. 
 
As part of any planning application a legally 
enforceable commitment will be required to 
modernise and to refurbish the existing Oxford 
Stadium to facilitate recommencement of its former 
uses or for alternative community and leisure uses, 
in accordance with this policy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

533



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

162 
 

Policy SP53:  Oxford University Press Sports Ground  

Local Plan  MM44 204 9.269 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in this area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant will be necessary to determine whether an 
upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake any such works 

Local Plan  
 
 
 
 
MM109 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
MM64 

204 SP53 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development and public open space at Oxford 
University Press Sports Grounds. Some 
complementary B1 employment would also be 
suitable. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 130. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 
The playing pitch facilities and the pavilion must be 
retained unless an alternative suitable provision is 
made. sports provision must be retained unless the 
loss of the sports provision can be otherwise 
compensated for in line with the requirements of 
Policy G5. If an alternative provision site is found 
made the City Council must be satisfied that it will 
be delivered. The Oxford University Press Sports 
Ground site will still be expected to provide 10% 
new public open space as part of the residential 
development.  
 

534



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

163 
 

Development should encourage active frontages 
onto the new public open space.  
 

Policy SP54: No.1 Pullens Lane  

Local Plan MM53 205 9.271 The site is within the Headington Hill Conservation 
Area, and as a result development should 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. Any 
proposals should have regard to the quiet and rural 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
Inappropriate levels of traffic generation must be 
avoided. Important soft landscaping features should 
be retained. 

Local Plan MM110 205 SP54 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
dwellings at the No.1 Pullens Lane site. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 11. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
 
 
 
 

535



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

164 
 

Policy SP55:  Radcliffe Observatory Quarter  
  

Local Plan MM53 206 9.274 This site is within an area of predominantly 
attractive University and residential buildings. The 
site excludes the listed building of the former St 
Paul’s church but any development would need to 
ensure that there was no adverse impact upon the 
setting of any listed buildings or conservation area, 
and should demonstrate compliance with Policy 
DH3. Whilst there has already been considerable 
academic development on the site, further 
applications are expected. Being an existing 
university campus site, the site is suitable for further 
academic uses including student accommodation 
and employer-linked housing. Development will be 
considered against the endorsed masterplan for the 
site. 

Local Plan  MM44 206 9.276 Delete entire paragraph: Sewerage network capacity 
in this area is unlikely to be able to support the 
demand anticipated from this development. 
Investigations by Thames Water, funded by the 
applicant will be necessary to determine whether an 
upgrade to the sewerage network is required. Up to 
three years lead in time could be required to 
undertake any such works  

Local Plan MM74 206 SP55  Add contamination symbol to policy (orange icon, 
potentially contaminated land)  

536



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

165 
 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM111 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
MM51 
 
 
 
 
MM44 

206 SP55 Planning permission will be granted for academic 
institutional, student accommodation and employer-
linked housing residential development at the 
Radcliffe Observatory Quarter site. Residential 
development could include employer linked 
affordable housing in accordance with Policy H3. The 
minimum number of homes to be delivered is 48. 
Other complementary uses will be considered on 
their merits. Planning permission will not be granted 
for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for redeveloped or 
additional academic institutional uses provided the 
requirements of Policy H9 are met. that it can be 
demonstrated that there are no more than the 
threshold number of students of the relevant 
university living outside of university provided 
student accommodation (in accordance with Policy 
H9). 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting.  
 
A reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required. Pedestrian and cycle links through and to 
the site, including to the University Science Area, 
should be maintained and enhanced. 
 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that 
there is adequate waste water capacity both on and 

537



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

166 
 

off the site to serve the development and that it 
would not lead to problems for existing or new 
users. 
 
 
 
 

Policy SP56: Ruskin College Campus  

Local Plan MM53 207 9.277 Ruskin College is an adult residential college 
providing educational opportunities for adults with 
little or no qualifications. There are nine buildings on 
site including the listed Rookery and wall, set within 
landscaped grounds with some large trees. The 
buildings are used for academic purposes, student 
accommodation, student facilities, administration 
and tennis courts as well as three buildings which 
are currently vacant. The site has a masterplan 
which was endorsed by the North East Area 
Committee in 2008 but with some issues that 
required further attention. Evidence for Iron Age 
activity and Roman pottery production has been 
recorded from this site so it has significant 
archaeological potential. Due to this potential, 
development should demonstrate compliance with 
Policy DH4. 
 

538



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

167 
 

Local Plan MM53 207 9.278 The site is suitable for further academic uses, 
student accommodation, public open space and 
sports facilities. In accordance with Policy E3 only 
academic facilities of Ruskin College or the 
universities would be considered suitable. Any 
development would need to ensure that there was 
no adverse impact upon the setting of the listed 
buildings, wall and Old Headington conservation 
area, and therefore should demonstrate compliance 
with Policy DH3. 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM67 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
MM51 

208 SP56 Planning permission will be granted for academic 
institutional uses, student accommodation and 
residential development at Ruskin College Campus. 
Residential development could include employer-
linked affordable housing in accordance with Policy 
H3. Development could include open space, sports 
facilities and allotments. Other complementary uses 
will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
Development must retain and enhance the setting of 
the listed building and wall. Careful design must 
ensure that development proposals contribute 
towards the character of the conservation area and 
preserve and enhance nearby listed buildings and 
their setting.  
 
A reduction in car parking provision on site will be 
required and pPedestrian and cycle links through 
and to the site should be enhanced.  

539



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

168 
 

Policy SP57: Ruskin Field  

Local Plan MM53 208 9.280 Development of the allocated part of the site would 
need to be carefully and sensitively designed to 
preserve and enhance the setting of the listed 
building and the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. Therefore, development should 
demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 

Local Plan MM112 
 
 
 
MM47 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 

209 SP57 Planning permission will be granted for expansion of 
the adjoining academic institution and/or residential 
use only, which may include employer-linked 
affordable housing. Other complementary uses will 
be considered on their merits. Planning permission 
will not be granted for any other uses. 
 
New development should be informed by the 
landscape character and potential impact on views 
from the north in terms of choice of siting, height, 
form and appearance. Careful design must ensure 
that development proposals contribute towards the 
character of the conservation area and preserve and 
enhance nearby listed buildings and their setting. 
 

Policy SP58: Slade House 

Local Plan MM74 210 SP58  Add contamination symbol to policy (orange icon, 
potentially contaminated land)  

Local Plan  
 
 
MM47 

210 SP58 Planning permission will be granted for improved 
health-care facilities, associated administration 
and/or residential dwellings, including employer-
linked affordable housing, at the Slade House site. If 

540



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

169 
 

 
 
MM113 
 
MM49 

market housing and employer-linked housing are to 
be provided there must be enough market housing 
to ensure that affordable housing is provided on site, 
in accordance with Policy H2. Other complementary 
uses will be considered on their merits. Planning 
permission will not be granted for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP59: Summertown House, Apsley Road 

Local Plan MM53 210 9.285 This site is currently graduate accommodation and 
an associated nursery. There is some potential to 
make more efficient use of the site by developing 
further graduate accommodation on open areas. 
There is a listed building in the centre of the site and 
any development would be expected to preserve 
and enhance the house and its setting, and would 
need to demonstrate compliance with Policy DH3. 
Given that the site is a university campus site it 
would be suitable for employer-linked housing. 
 

Local Plan MM56 211 SP59 Remove groundwater recharge symbol.  

Local Plan MM114 
 
MM47 
 
MM114 
MM49 
 
 
 

211 SP59 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development, student accommodation and 
employer-linked affordable housing at Summertown 
House. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 20. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 

541



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

170 
 

MM53 Through further development on the site it must be 
demonstrated that the new design will have a 
positive effect on the setting of the listed building 
compared to the existing development. 
 

Policy SP60: Union Street Car Park 

Local Plan  
 
 
MM115 
 
MM49 

212 SP60 Planning permission will be granted for residential or 
student accommodation, and car parking at Union 
Street Car Park. The minimum number of homes to 
be delivered is 20. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 

Policy SP61: University of Oxford Science Area and Keble Road Triangle    

Local Plan MM53 212 9.289 This site is in the scientific core of the University of 
Oxford and includes four plots each containing a 
number of buildings in academic use. Some of the 
buildings are listed and development would be 
expected to have regard to these and the 
Conservation Area. There is high potential for 
archaeological interest on the site as it is in an area 
with Bronze Age barrows, Iron Age and Roman 
activity and Civil War defences. Due to both the 
archaeological and heritage interest of the site, 
development should demonstrate compliance with 
Policies DH3 and DH4. The site is adjacent to 
designated Green Belt land and is within 600m from 
the New Marston Meadows SSSI. 
 

542



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

171 
 

Local Plan MM56 212 SP61 Add groundwater recharge symbol  

Local Plan MM74 212 SP61  Add contamination symbol to policy (orange icon, 
potentially contaminated land)   

Local Plan MM116 
 
 
 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
MM50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
 
MM51 

212 SP61 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development, academic institutional uses and 
associated research at University Science Area and 
Keble Road Triangle in line with the approved 
masterplan. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 20. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. 
 
The site would only be suitable for academic 
institutional uses provided that the requirements of 
Policy H9 are met. it can be demonstrated that there 
are no more than the threshold number of students 
of the relevant university living outside of university 
provided student accommodation (in accordance 
with Policy H9). 
 
Development must retain and enhance the listed 
buildings. Careful design must ensure that 
development proposals contribute towards the 
character of the conservation area and preserve and 
enhance nearby listed buildings and their setting.  
 
The development will be expected to minimise car 
parking spaces on site and to take opportunities to 
rationalise car parking arrangements to enhance the 
public realm. Applicants will be expected to 

543



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

172 
 

demonstrate how the development mitigates 
against traffic impacts and maximises access by 
alternative means of transport. Pedestrian and cycle 
links through and to the site, including to the 
Radcliffe Observatory Quarter, should be enhanced. 
 

Policy SP62: Valentia Road Site 

Local Plan  
MM117 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM117 

214 SP62 Planning permission will only be granted for housing 
on this site. The minimum number of homes to be 
delivered is 12. Other complementary uses will be 
considered on their merits. Planning permission will 
not be granted for any other uses. Improvements to 
the remaining area of recreation ground will be 
required as part of any development on the site. 
 
Planning permission will only be granted if it can be 
demonstrated that there would be no adverse 
impact upon surface and groundwater flow to the 
Lye Valley SSSI. Development proposals should 
reduce surface water runoff in the area and should 
be accompanied by an assessment of groundwater 
and surface water. Development proposals must 
incorporate sustainable drainage with an acceptable 
management plan. 
 

Policy SP63: West Wellington Square  

Local Plan MM53 214 9.293 This site is within the conservation area, to which 
many of the buildings make a positive contribution. 
There is a high potential for archaeological interest 
as it is the site of the Wellington Workhouse and a 

544



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

173 
 

line of Civil War defences. As a result of the heritage 
and archaeological interest of the site, development 
should demonstrate compliance with Policies DH3 
and DH4. Access is limited to a single width 
carriageway between two buildings off Walton 
Street and is not suitable for any material increase in 
traffic movements. 

Local Plan   
 
 
MM67 
 
 
 
 
 
MM118 
MM49 
 
 
 
MM53 
 
 
 
MM51 

215 SP63 Planning permission will be granted for academic 
institutional, student accommodation, and 
employer-linked housing residential development at 
West Wellington Square. Residential development 
could include employer-linked affordable housing in 
accordance with Policy H3. Within the Local Centre, 
uses appropriate to Policy V4 at West Wellington 
Square will also be permitted. The minimum number 
of homes to be delivered is 18. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting.  
 
Car parking on site should be reduced. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

545



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

174 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Policy SP64: Wolvercote Paper Mill 
  

546



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

175 
 

Local Plan  MM119 215-217 SP64 and supporting 
text (9.296-9.302) 

Deletion of full policy and supporting text (SP64 and 
9.296-9.302) 
 
Wolvercote Paper Mill, Mill Road 
 
Site area: 4.95 hectares/12.23 acres (Plot A) 1.77 
hectares/4.37 acres (Plot B) 
Ward: Wolvercote 
Landowner: University of Oxford 
Current use: Vacant former paper mill 
Flood Zone: FZ2 but FZ1 for sequential test (for 
whole site) 
 
9.296 The main site (Plot A) is a former paper mill 
located between the residential area of Lower 
Wolvercote village and the A34, and partly within 
the Wolvercote with Godstow Conservation Area. 
The site boundary includes part of Duke’s Meadow 
to the north of the site (Plot B). Any proposals will be 
expected to preserve and enhance the character and 
setting of the conservation area. Part of the site may 
be noisy as it is adjacent to the A34. 
 
9.297  Plot A is suitable for residential development. 
Complementary small scale employment units, 
employing a maximum of 50 people in total to 
reflect the previous level of employment on site, and 
community facilities would also be suitable. 
Residential development would increase the 
pressure on primary school places which the County 
Council are able to address by the expansion of 
existing schools. Small areas of Plot A are within the 

547



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

176 
 

Green Belt so built development will not be 
permitted in these areas.  
 
9.298  The site is within 200m of the Oxford 
Meadows Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Plans 
which could affect a SAC must be assessed under the 
European Habitats Directive35. The allocation of the 
site has been assessed by a Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA)36 which concluded that 
development of the Wolvercote Paper Mill site is 
unlikely to significantly affect surface water runoff to 
the SAC or significantly increase recreational 
pressure on the SAC. 
 
9.299  It also concluded that with safeguards 
included within the policy wording, there will be no 
adverse effects on the air quality and water quality 
of the SAC. Such effects can only be properly 
assessed and mitigated through the design process 
at the planning application stage. Historically the site 
operated as a paper mill and any development that 
leads to a reduction in lorry traffic compared to the 
previous use is likely to result in no worsening of air 
quality but this must be supported by an air quality 
assessment. Groundwater flow from the North 
Oxford   gravel terrace may have an important role 
in maintaining water levels in the Wolvercote 
Common and Port Meadow areas of the SAC. It is 
important that development proposals are 
accompanied by a hydrological survey and include 
provision for sustainable drainage. Hydrocarbon 
contaminants must not spread to the SAC. 

548



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

177 
 

 
9.300  Plot B is within the Green Belt and will not be 
granted permission for any inappropriate 
development as defi ned in national planning 
guidance. Proposals will be expected to create 
extensive new public open space for the site and the 
local community on Plot B. This will reduce 
recreational pressure on the SAC. The site includes 
part of Duke’s Meadow which is a SLINC so 
opportunities should be taken to improve the 
biodiversity of the site. The public open space must 
include dog waste bins so as to provide a suitable 
alternative to walking dogs on the SAC. 
 
9.301  Sewerage network capacity in this area is 
unlikely to be able to support the demand 
anticipated from this development. Investigations by 
Thames Water, funded by the applicant, will be 
necessary to determine whether an upgrade to the 
sewerage network is required. Up to three years 
lead in time could be required to undertake any such 
works. 
 
9.302  Residential use on Plot A in Flood Zone 3a has 
been justified through the sequential test although 
policies in the Core Strategy relating to development 
in the floodplain will also need to be complied with. 
More vulnerable development will be expected to 
be directed away from Flood Zone 3b. 
 
Policy SP64: Wolvercote Paper Mill 
 

549



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

178 
 

Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development and public open space at Wolvercote 
Paper Mill. Complementary small scale employment 
units and community facilities would also be 
suitable. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses.  
 
Residential development and any employment and 
community uses must be located on Plot A. Public 
open space must be provided on Plot B. No 
inappropriate built development will be permitted in 
the Green Belt which includes small areas of Plot A 
and the entire Plot B.  
 
Careful design must ensure that development 
proposals contribute towards the character of the 
conservation area and preserve and enhance nearby 
listed buildings and their setting.  
 
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that 
there is adequate waste water capacity both on and 
off the site to serve the development and that it 
would not lead to problems for existing or new 
users.  
 
The City Council’s Appropriate Assessment has 
shown that development on this site must 
incorporate sustainable drainage to avoid an impact 
on groundwater flows to the SAC. A hydrological 
survey must accompany a planning application to 
show that the development has been designed to 
avoid adverse impacts on groundwater flows.  

550



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

179 
 

 
Development should be designed to ensure that 
there is no adverse impact on the Port Meadow SSSI. 
A biodiversity survey will be expected to assess the 
biodiversity value of the site and it should be 
demonstrated how harm will be avoided, mitigated 
or compensated.  
 
Development proposals should be accompanied by 
an assessment of potential recreational pressure on 
the SSSI that may arise from increased numbers of 
visitors, along with plans to mitigate this impact as 
necessary.  
 
All proposals should minimise impact on air quality 
during the construction phase and after 
implementation, particularly if they comprise of 
employment uses. A planning application must be 
accompanied by a site specific assessment of the 
impact of development proposals on air quality, 
which must also show that the development 
proposals will not create an adverse impact on the 
SAC. 
 
 
 
 
  

Policy SP65: Bayards Hill Primary School Part Playing Fields 

551



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

180 
 

Local Plan MM119 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM120 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
MM120 

218 SP65 Planning permission will be granted for employer-
linked housing only residential development. 
Residential development could include employer 
linked affordable housing in accordance with Policy 
H3. The minimum number of homes to be delivered 
is 30. Other complementary uses will be considered 
on their merits. and planning permission will not be 
granted for any other uses. 
 
The site to be developed at Bayards Hill Primary 
School is to be the playing field only and must not 
encroach upon the playing pitches. 
 
The loss of part of the playing field will require 
qualitative improvements to be undertaken to the 
remaining playing field. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy SP66: William Morris Sports Ground 

552



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

181 
 

Local Plan MM74 219 SP66 Remove contaminated land symbol (red icon, 
potentially significant contamination issues)  

553



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

182 
 

Local Plan MM119 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MM121 
 
 
MM49 
 
 
 
 
 
MM64 

219 SP66 Planning permission will be granted for residential 
development and public open space at William 
Morris Close Sports Ground. The minimum number 
of homes to be delivered is 82. Other 
complementary uses will be considered on their 
merits. Planning permission will not be granted for 
any other uses. 
 
The playing pitch sports provision must be retained 
unless an alternative suitable provision is made the 
loss of the sports provision can be otherwise 
compensated for in line with the requirements of 
Policy G5. If an alternative provision site is found 
made the City Council must be satisfied that it will 
be delivered… 
 

 

554



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

183 
 

GLOSSARY 

New additions to Glossary 

Local Plan MM122 220 Affordable Housing Affordable Housing:  
 
a) Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the 
following conditions: 
i) the rent is set in accordance with the 
Government’s rent policy for social rent (see 
separate definition) or affordable rent, or is at least 
20% below local market rents (including service 
charges where applicable); ii) the landlord is a 
registered provider, except where it is included as 
part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case the 
landlord need not be a registered provider. This may 
also include employer-linked housing); and iii) it 
includes provisions to remain at an affordable price 
for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to 
be recycled for alternative affordable housing 
provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable 
housing for rent is expected to be the normal form 
of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, 
is known as Affordable Private Rent). 

Local Plan MM11 220 Academic 
Accommodation  

See University Facilities. See Campus  

555



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

184 
 

Local Plan MM11 220 Administrative 
Accommodation  

See University Facilities. See Campus 

Local Plan MM11 221 Campus  Campus: Accommodation occupied by an 
educational institution and comprising academic 
institutional uses including academic (teaching, 
seminar and lecturing spaces), research (laboratories 
and special facilities) and/or administrative uses 
(offices and administrative functions). 

Local Plan MM31 222 Delivery and Service 
Plan Management 
(DSMP) 

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (DSMP): A 
DSMP sets out a strategy for how deliveries and the 
servicing of a development would be managed, how 
impacts such as congestion and noise will be 
minimised, and how zero or ultra-low emission and 
last mile opportunities will be considered. 
 

Local Plan MM10 224 House in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO)  

House in Multiple Occupation (HMO):  
An HMO is generally a house or flat that is shared by 
three or more people who are not related as family 
members. A small HMO (technically called a Class C4 
HMO) includes, in broad terms, small shared houses 
or flats occupied by between 3 and 6 unrelated 
individuals who share basic amenities (such as a 
kitchen and/or bathroom). A large HMO (technically 
called a Sui Generis HMO) is the same as a small 
HMO except that it is shared by more than 6 people, 
and sometimes subject to slightly different planning 
rules. Student and/or key worker accommodation 
are excluded from this definition. Full guidance is set 
out in CLG Circular 08/2010. 
 

556



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

185 
 

A house, flat or building will be a house in multiple 
occupation (HMO) if it meets the definition under 
the Housing Act 2004 s254 or s257. A HMO is usually 
a house or flat that is shared by 3 or more people, 
who are unrelated, form more than 1 household and 
is their only main residence. There are 2 types of 
HMO: C4 HMO, and sui generis HMO. A C4 HMO is a 
small house or flat that is occupied by 3-5 unrelated 
people who share basic amenities such as the 
bathroom and/or kitchen. A sui Generis HMO is the 
same as a normal C4 HMO except that it is a large 
house or flat occupied by 6 or more unrelated 
people and can be subject to slightly different 
planning rules. 

Local Plan MM22 224 Indoor sport and 
recreation facilities  

Indoor sport and recreation facilities 
This may include, for example, swimming baths, 
skating rinks, gyms, dance halls, indoor courts and 
leisure centres as well as facilities linked to outdoor 
sports such as pavilions and changing rooms. 

Local Plan MM123 224 Last mile 
opportunities  

Last mile opportunities 
The ‘last mile’ refers to the transfer of trunk freight 
deliveries to local distribution across towns and 
cities. This is often in the form of small diesel vans 
and has a major effect on air quality and traffic 
congestion. Last mile opportunities refers to 
opportunities for the transfer of trunk freight 
deliveries to local logistic hubs facilitating onward 
distribution on foot, by bicycle and by small electric 
vehicles.  

557



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

186 
 

Local Plan  MM20 225 Local Wildlife Site  Local Wildlife Site (LWS) 
Areas in Oxfordshire and Berkshire which include 
important and rare habitats and species.  

Local Plan MM124 225 Open space Open space 
All open space of public value, including not just 
land, but also areas of water (such as rivers, canals, 
lakes and reservoirs) which offer important 
opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as 
a visual amenity. 

Local Plan MM11 225 Oxford Brookes 
University existing 
campus sites 

Oxford Brookes University existing campus sites: 

• Contiguous Headington interests, including 
Gipsy Lane, Headington Hill Hall and Clive 
Booth Student Village 

• Oxford Brookes University Marston Road 
Campus 

Local Plan MM125 225 Oxford City Wildlife 
Site 

Oxford City Wildlife Site (OCWS)  
Sites of local importance for wildlife and nature, 
because of either connectivity, rare or exceptional 
features, habitat provision, diversity and/or local 
value for naturalness, learning and appreciation of 
nature.  
 

Local Plan  MM126 226 Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG)  

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
A web-based resource that brings together national 
planning practice guidance for England. 

Local Plan  MM127 227 Secured by Design Secured by Design 
The national police crime prevention initiative 
aiming to ‘design out’ crime to help people live in a 
safer society. 

558



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

187 
 

Local Plan MM128 228 Sustainable 
Development  

Sustainable Development 
Meeting the needs of the present without 
compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs. Resolution 42/187 of the UN 
General Assembly.  

Local Plan MM11 228 University Facilities  Accommodation belonging to the University of 
Oxford comprising of academic, research and 
administrative uses.  
• Academic uses: teaching, seminar and lecturing 
spaces  
• Research: laboratories and special facilities  
• Administrative: offices and administrative 
functions. See Campus  
 

 
 
 
 
 

559



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

188 
 

APPENDICES 
Appendix 2: Chapter 2 - Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring prosperity and opportunities for all 

Local Plan MM129 236 2.2 – Category 2 
Employment Sites  

London Road 
Nielson, London Road 
75 London Road 
Kennet House, 108-11- London Road 
116-120 London Road 

Local Plan MM3 236 2.3 – Marketing 
evidence  

A site should be marketed for its existing use for a 
minimum period of at least 6 months. 
• The applicant should then submit a supporting 
statement to accompany a planning application for a 
change of use. 
• It should contain evidence to confirm the length of 
time the site has been marketed for; details of the 
agent used; information to show where this 
marketing has taken place for example in the local 
press, through signs on site, on the internet and/or 
in journals or publications used by the trade. 
• The statement needs to confirm the price the site 
was advertised for to show that it has been pitched 
at a ‘reasonable’ rate to generate interest from 
potential operators. 

560



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

189 
 

• Finally there needs to be a summary of the 
interest received and the reasons why offers have 
not been accepted. 
 

Appendix 3 

Local Plan MM130 237 Appendix 3.2 Policy H2 requires that a site that provides new 
purpose-built student accommodation makes a 
financial contribution towards affordable housing 
delivery in Oxford. 
 
The City Council would, ideally, seek 50% of the 
value of the land being developed as a financial 
contribution from student accommodation 
developments. This would represent the cost of 
providing what would have been the land for 
affordable housing development, should the site 
have come forward for residential development. On 
the evidence of the viability study, this level of 
contribution would make most developments 
unviable. Therefore, the City Council will seek a 
standard financial contribution, based on the 
‘development surplus’ of sites assessed as viable in 
the viability study. This figure works out at £143 per 
m2, which has been rounded down to £140 per m2.   
 The City Council will seek a standard development 
contribution based on the amount of net additional 

561



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

190 
 

residential floorspace measured internally. The 
figures to use in the calculation will be included in 
the Annual Monitoring Report. The following 
formula will be used to calculate the financial 
contribution: 
 
 
Residential floorspace, measured internally x 140 
m2 (at the time of adoption of the plan) = the sum 
payable  
 
This figure will be reviewed annually to reflect the 
All-in Tender Price Index published by the Building 
Cost Information Service of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors. In addition to this, a 5% 
administration charge will be levied on the 
calculated sum payable 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Plan  MM8 238 Appendix 3.4 – 
Employer linked 
housing sites 

• Campus sites of the colleges of the University of 
Oxford and of Oxford Brookes. These are sites with 
academic accommodation existing at the time of the 
submission of the Local Plan, and where academic 
institutional use would remain on the site, even with 
the development of some employer-linked housing. 
• Edge of Playing Fields Oxford Academy 
• Edge of Playling Fields Bayards Hill Primary School 
• Grandpont car park (or) Iffley Mead 

562



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

191 
 

• Old Power Station 
• Radcliffe Observatory Quarter 
• Slade House (or) Manzil Way Resource Centre 
• Manzil Way Resource Centre  
• Warneford Hospital 
• Summertown House, Apsley Road 
• West Wellington Square 
• Osney Mead (how to limit) 
• Court Place Gardens 
• John Radcliffe Hospital 
• Churchill Hospital 
• Nuffield Orthopaedic Hospital 

Local Plan MM12 237 Appendix 3.5 – 
Student threshold 
calculation - (to 
replace existing 3.5, 
with 3.5 to be 
replaced as 3.6 and 
3.7)  

Appendix 3.5 Student threshold calculation  
 
Policy H9 applies to full-time taught course students. 
To inform each Annual Monitoring Report the 
universities will be asked to provide information 
relating to their student numbers and the number of 
student accommodation rooms they provide. A 
snapshot of information will be requested from a 
point in time in the Autumn of the monitoring year 
in question. The monitoring year is the one-year 
period from 1st April- 31st March. The ‘snapshot’ 
figures provided for the Annual Monitoring Report 
will be representative of the monitoring period and 
applicable to policy H9. If a university is shown in 
the snapshot to be in breach of threshold but are 
able to demonstrate a reduction in numbers during 
the year that brings them under their threshold this 
will be accepted as an update by the City Council 
alongside an application for development of 
academic, research or administrative facilities. 

563



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

192 
 

 
 
The universities will be asked to state how many 
students they have and specify how many of them 
are in each of the following categories. The 
following categories of students are not relevant for 
the purposes of Policy H9 and they will be excluded 
from the total number used in the calculation under 
Policy H9. There may be students who fall into more 
than one of these categories and they should not be 
excluded more than once: 

• Part-time and short-course students 

• Students studying a research based post-
graduate degree 

• Students studying a Further education 
course or a foundation degree 

• Vocational course students who will at times 
during their course be training on work-
placements including student teachers and  
health care professionals who have a split 
study arrangement between the university 
and the NHS including student nurses, 
midwifery students, paramedics, 
physiotherapists, occupational therapists 
and student doctors  

• Students with a term-time address outside 
of the city (OX1,2,3,4)  

• Students living within the city (OX1, 2, 3, 4) 
prior to entry onto a course  

• Students not attending the institution or 
studying at a franchise institution 

564



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

193 
 

• Students studying outside Oxford (e.g. at 
Oxford Brookes’ Swindon campus) 

• Specific course exclusions(BTh Theology and 
MTh Applied Theology)  

• Students who also have an employment 
contract with the university  

• Students on a year abroad and other 
placement students away from the 
university 

 
The universities will also be asked to provide 
information about the number of student rooms 
they are providing. This will also be a snapshot 
figure covering same time as the student numbers 
information provided. The following student 
accommodation types will be counted as university-
provided accommodation: 

• Purpose built student halls managed by the 
university  

• Rooms in other student halls for which the 
university has nomination rights secured.  

• Other university leased or owned housing 
stock  

 
The number of students who meet the definition of 
the policy (i.e. the total number of students minus 
the exclusions detailed above) will be subtracted 
from the total number of student rooms provided by 
the university and the resulting figure will be taken 
to represent the number of students living outside 
of university provided accommodation in Oxford. 
 

565



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

194 
 

Appendix 6 

Local Plan MM24 247 6.1 – Design checklist • Design of external areas 

• Are all spaces clearly defined and have a 
purpose? This should include well defined 
private and public spaces, including a choice of 
open space.  

• Are all external public spaces such as streets and 
parks overlooked by windows serving habitable 
rooms in buildings and adjacent activity.  

• Has left over space and awkward corners been 
avoided?  

• Does the landscaping provide opportunities for 
sensory richness?  

• What type of street furniture, floorscape 
materials, lighting and public art is proposed 
(where appropriate)? (public art which 
contributes to local distinctiveness should be 
provided on all schemes of 20 dwellings or more 
(gross) or aver 2000m2. Details of the public art 
should be submitted with a planning 
application).  

• How is car parking integrated into the 
development so that it doesn’t have a negative 
impact on the experience of using outside 
spaces? How has landscaping been used to help 
integrate parking into the street scene?  

• How will lighting impact on the surrounding 
area?  

• Have Secure by Design principles been 
incorporated? 

566



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

195 
 

Appendix 7.3: Vehicular Parking Standards 

Local Plan MM32 256 Appendix 7.3 – 
Vehicular Parking 
Standards 
 

 

Dwellings of any size*  1 space per dwellings 
(to be provided within 
the development site, 
where feasible) and car 
club parking up to 0.2 
per dwellings  

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs)  

Parking standards to be 
decided case by case 
on their merit.  

Houses (of any sizes) 
including HMOs  

1 space per house (may 
be allocated or 
unallocated)  

Flats (of any size)  Car free, plus 
operational, disabled, 
and car parking club 
parking up to 0.2 
spaces per dwelling 

Wheelchair accessible 
or adaptable houses 
and flats 

1 space per dwelling, to 
be provided on plot 
within the curtilage of 
the dwelling (must be 
designed in accordance 
with Part M of Building 
Regulations for 
wheelchair users). 

Retirement homes 1 space per 2 homes 
plus 1 space per 2 staff 

Sheltered/extra care 
homes 

1 space per 2 homes 
plus 1 space per 2 staff 

567



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

196 
 

Nursing homes 1 space per 3 residents’ 
rooms plus 1 space per 
2 staff 

 Student 
Accommodation  

0 spaces per resident 
room. Operational 
parking and disabled 
parking to be 
considered on a case by 
case basis in 
accordance with Policy 
H8.  
 

*Any parking provided on plot to be excluded from a 
permit for any future CPZ and only 1 permit to be 
provided per dwelling on street where not provided 
on plot. 

Local Plan MM32 257 Appendix 7.3 – 
Disabled Parking 

Disabled Parking: On developments of 4 or more 
homes, wheelchair accessible or adaptable homes 
should provide allocated disabled parking, 
irrespective of location. On sites of 20 or more 
homes disabled parking should be provided for at 
least 5% of dwellings. Provision for disabled parking 
will be considered on a case by case basis and be 
determined through pre-application 
meetings/planning applications in the light of their 
Transport Assessment and Travel Plan. Where 
dDisabled parking is provided it should have level 
access to, and be within 50 metres of, the building 
entrance which it is intended to serve. 
 

568



 
Document 

 
Reference 

 
Page 

Number 

 
Policy/Paragraph 

 
Main Modification 

 

197 
 

Local Plan MM131 257 Appendix 7.3 – Non-
residential 
development  

Existing employment 
uses  

No additional increase 
in parking spaces 

All other uses  All other uses to be 
determined through 
pre-application.  

 

Appendix 7.4: Cycle Parking Standards 

Local Plan MM33 257 Appendix 7.4 – Cycle 
Parking Standards  

7.4 Minimum BicCycle Parking Standards 
 
Amended rows:  

Houses and flats up to 
2 bedrooms 

At least 4 2 spaces per 
dwelling  

Student 
Accommodation 

At least 4 spaces for 
every 4 study 
bedrooms unless site 
specific evidence 
indicates otherwise in 
accordance with Policy 
M5. 

Primary/junior schools 1 space per 10 5 pupils. 
Plus 1 space per 3 staff 
(or other people). 

 

 

569



T
his page is intentionally left blank



    Appendix 4 

 

  Oxford Local Plan 2036: Schedule of proposed additional minor changes April 2020 
 

This document is a schedule of proposed minor changes to the plan. Minor changes to the Plan involve rectifying typographical errors and 
providing factual clarifications to existing wording in the Plan. Some minor changes have been agreed through the Statements of Common 
Ground, while others have been brought to the attention of the Council through representations made at the Regulation 19 stage. Given that 
minor changes are not substantive in nature, and do not relate to the soundness of the plan, consultation is not required. 
 

DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

Introduction / Chapter 1: Spatial Strategy 

Local Plan PMC1 - Table of Contents 
The table of Contents will need updating to 
reflect changed page numbers etc.  

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC2 1 
Table 1 – Economy 

knowledge and 
research header 

Economy, knowledge economy and research Factual accuracy and clarification 

Local Plan PMC3 1 
Table 1 – Retail and 

tourism segment 

Retail and tourism 

Oxford’s high streets are full and active and the 
vacancy rates are low. The market is confident 
for the future with significant investment 
planned and being delivered, such as the new 
Westgate centre, which opened in October 
2017. Oxford is a major draw for visitors from 
overseas, domestic tourists and day visitors. It 
attracts approximately 7 million visitors per year, 
generating £780 million of income for local 
Oxford businesses. 

Factual accuracy and clarification 

571



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

2 

 

Local Plan  PMC4 3 Diagram 1  

Constrained city 

- Much undeveloped land in Green Belt; 
- Areas of national and international biodiversity 
interest which need protecting. 
 

Factual accuracy and clarification 

Local Plan PMC5 3 Diagram 1  

Cost and supply of housing 

- Greatest affordability issue of any city in the UK; 
- Average house prices more than 16 17 times 
average wage (Centre for Cities report 2019); 
 

Factual accuracy – this represents the 
latest figure 

Local Plan PMC6 4 Table 2 heading Table 2: We want Oxford in 2036 to be: Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC7 7 
Spatial Strategy 

introduction – second 
paragraph 

Addressing the housing issue is a key priority and 
this Plan will aim to provide more homes while 
protecting and enhancing the Oxford’s unique 
historic and natural environment.  

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC8 7 
Spatial Strategy 

introduction – fourth 
paragraph 

The Oxford Local Plan 2036 reflects the this 
presumption in favour of sustainable 
development by incorporating clear policies as to 
how this presumption is to be applied to 
development across the city. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC9 9 Paragraph 1.6 

The Conservation Area Appraisal identifies 
opportunities to enhance the conservation in 
ways that would sustain the city’s cultural, 
economic and social prosperity: 

• rebalance the pace space within streets from 

Typographical correction 

572



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

3 

 

vehicles to pedestrians 

Local Plan PMC10 12 Paragraph 1.24 

The AAP makes provision for up to 800 new 
homes, a primary school, some retail and 
associated uses. Outline permission has been 
granted  to deliver 885 houses; wWork has 
commenced on the early phases, and whilst the 
site is not… 

Update of information to reflect that 
outline consent has now been granted 

on the site 

Local Plan  PMC11 14 Paragraph 1.27 

Planned employment growth including that at 
Northern Gateway aims to ensure that the 
forecasted economic growth envisaged in the 
economic gstrategy strategy, Housing and 
Growth Deal and the Local Industrial Strategy can 
be accommodated. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan  PMC12 15 Paragraph 1.34 

Discussions with the other Oxfordshire districts 
regarding Oxford’s unmet housing need are 
progressing positively; three of the 
neighbouring districts have agreed to 
accommodate an element of this need and are 
progressing with their own Local Plan reviews to 
facilitate this. The Oxfordshire Districts have 
agreed to accommodate Oxford's unmet 
housing need (see 3.10-3.11).  The next stage is 
to work collectively across the county in the 
production of the Joint Strategic Spatial Plan. 
Work has begun on the Joint Strategic Spatial 
Plan, the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, which will 
identify broad areas for the accommodation of 
growth in the next round of Local Plans. 

Factual accuracy and clarification 

573



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

4 

 

Local Plan  PMC13 17 Paragraph 1.49 
The Local Plan will ensure that there is no net 
loss in biodiversity  seek to ensure a net gain in 
biodiversity. 

Factual accuracy and reflection of the 
NPPF’s requirement for net gains in 

biodiversity 

Local Plan PMC14 18 Paragraph 1.50 
This Local Plan de-designates X 8 sites and 
allocates them largely for housing development. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC15 18 Paragraph 1.51 

To ensure that all new development delivers a 
high quality of urban design, place making, 
architecture and public realm, integrating the 
built and historic environment with modern 
needs. 

Factual accuracy and clarification 

Local Plan  PMC16 18 Paragraph 1.53 

The Local Plan seeks to deliver development in a 
way that respects and compliments 
complements this rich history, the historic 
buildings, park and gardens; waterways; 
conservation areas, archaeology and areas of 
distinct local character and townscape. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC17 18 Paragraph 1.53 

The emphasis of the plan is on the positive 
proactive management of change, reflecting the 
city’s capacity to move forward while preserving 
its irreplaceable heritage. 

Factual accuracy and clarification 

Local Plan PMC18 18 Paragraph 1.55 

This Plan puts in place a series of policies and 
approaches designed to ensure that the quality 
of the public realm in Oxford is enhanced; this 
includes requiring high quality safe design that 
creates attractive and pleasant spaces designed 
with the needs of all users and offering choice; 
adjusting the balance between road users in 
favour of pedestrians and cyclists; and using 

Typographical correction 

574



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

5 

 

ensuring that street furniture and materials are 
attractive and will stand the test of time. 

Chapter 2: Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring prosperity and opportunities for all 

Local Plan PMC19 23 
First sentence of 

introductory paragraph 

Oxford is home to a third of the county's josb 
jobs. and is The city is a focal point for higher 
education, research and science and an 
important centre for retail and tourism. 

Typographical error, grammatical 
amendment and factual accuracy. 

Chapter 3: A pleasant place to live, delivering housing with a mixed and balanced community 

Local Plan PMC20 39 Policy H2 
[…] a cascade approach should be worked 
through with the City Council until development 
is viable, as set out in Appendix 3.1. PPG Para 7 

Typographical correction, PPG referred 
to in error  

Local Plan PMC21 40 Paragraph 3.21 

This policy provides an alternative approach to 
that of Policy H2 on affordable housing. On 
named sites it Policy H3 would allow employers 
to address their own recruitment and retention 
issues on their own land by providing housing for 
their employees at a rent affordable to them.  

Minor modification to provide factual 
clarification on relationship with other 

policies 

Local Plan PMC22 47 Policy H7 

 
On residential sites of 50 units or more, 5% of the 
site area developed for residential should be 
made available as self-build plots. Employer-
linked affordable housing, student 
accommodation, C2 accommodation and 
residential development in conversions or on 
brownfield sites where only flatted development 
is provided are excluded from this requirement.  
 

Factual clarification/typographical 
correction 

575



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

6 

 

Local Plan PMC23 52 Paragraph 3.53 

The government introduced an optional Building 
Regulation requirement in ‘Approved Document 
M: access to and use of buildings’ in March 2017 
2016. 

Correction to reflect the correct date 
of publication of the optional 

standards, which was incorrectly 
referenced in the submission draft. 

Local Plan  PMC24 53 Paragraph 3.56 

Add a footnote to the end of the second 
sentence:  

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/25
56/review_of_older_persons_accommodation_-
_february_2016 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC25 56 Paragraph 3.63 
Replace various references to the “Canal and 
River Trust” to “Canal and & River Trust” 

Typographical correction to refer to 
the organisation by their correct name.   

Local Plan  PMC26 57 Policy H14 

 
c) existing and proposed walls, hedges, trees and 
fences, in respect of protecting or creating 
privacy, and also in respect of their impact on 
overshadowing both existing and new 
development.; and 

To assess […] 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan  PMC27 58 
Policy H15 – Footnote 

13 

Update the footnote to refer to the made 
legislation rather than the draft:  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/616/r
egulation/2/made 

Factual clarification 

Chapter 4: Making wise use of our resources and securing a good quality local environment 

Local Plan  PMC28 61 Introduction paragraph  
This paragraph to be in bold to be consistent with 
the rest of the plan. 

Consistency  

576



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

7 

 

Local Plan PMC29 61 Paragraph 4.1 

The City Council aims to tackle the causes of 
climate change by ensuring developments use 
less energy and assess the opportunities for using 
renewable energy technologies. The City Council 
is committed to exceed an 80% a 100% reduction 
in total carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions produced 
in the City by 2050 from 1990 levels to limit 
climate change. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC30 63 Policy RE1 Delete footnote 17 Factual clarification 

Local Plan  PMC31 67 Policy RE3 
Amended lettering of the second set of criteria 
from a) b) c) to e) f) g) 

Typographical correction  

Local Plan PMC32 69 Paragraph 4.22 

Add new reference to the first sentence of the 
paragraph: 

“The health and wellbeing of residents is an 
important priority for the City Council

22
 and   

Local Plan policies recognise the important link 
between the natural and built environment and 
long-term health and wellbeing outcomes 

23
.” 

 
New footnote to read: 
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documen
ts/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%2
0-%20Healthy%20Place-
shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20a
genda%20-%20final.pdf 

New reference to support existing text 

Local Plan PMC33 71 
New paragraph to 

follow 4.25 

Applicants must ensure that any transport 
impacts likely to occur as a result of the 
development are assessed and managed in 

Minor modification to provide factual 
clarification on relationship with other 

policies 

577

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%20-%20Healthy%20Place-shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20agenda%20-%20final.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%20-%20Healthy%20Place-shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20agenda%20-%20final.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%20-%20Healthy%20Place-shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20agenda%20-%20final.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%20-%20Healthy%20Place-shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20agenda%20-%20final.pdf
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/documents/s44823/ii%20paper%20for%20information%20-%20Healthy%20Place-shaping%20in%20the%20wider%20growth%20agenda%20-%20final.pdf


DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

8 

 

compliance with Policy M2.  

Local Plan  PMC34 71 Policy RE6 

Planning applications for major proposals (10 or 
more dwellings or 1000 square metres) which 
are likely to expose residents would carry a risk 
of exposing individuals to unacceptable levels of 
air pollution must be accompanied by an Air 
Quality Assessment (AQA). 

Factual accuracy 

Local Plan PMC35 73 Policy RE8 (Refer to Policy T2 M2). 
Typographical correction, incorrect 

policy referred to in error 

Chapter 5: Protecting and enhancing Oxford’s green and blue infrastructure network 

Local Plan PMC36  Policy G1 

Amend second paragraph text as follows: 

“Planning permission will not be granted for 
development that would result in harm to the 
Green and Blue Infrastructure network, except 
where it is in accordance with policies G2-G9 G8 
are met” 

Clarification for consistency with 
removal of policy G7 

Local Plan PMC37 76 Paragraph 5.5 

Many sites also have a local nature conservation 
interest and are protected as Local Nature 
Reserves, Local Wildlife Sites or Oxford City 
Wildlife Sites. Oxford City Council offices hold 
copy of the “Living List” of locally designated 
biodiversity sites, and online mapping is kept 
updated.  The list of sites will be reviewed and 
maintained throughout the Local Plan period.  
There are also undesignated sites that support 
nationally or internationally protected species, 
Red Data Book species or habitats and species 
of principal importance (listed under S41 of the 
Natural Environmental and Rural Communities 

Factual clarification 

578



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

9 

 

Act, 2006). 

Local Plan PMC38 76 Paragraph 5.6 

Green spaces that do not have local or national 
protection for their wildlife value, or do not 
support protected species and habitats, are still 
likely to have some biodiversity value, which 
could often be mitigated by improvements to 
remaining green spaces, or the introduction of 
green roofs and walls, for example. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC39 77 Paragraph 5.7 

Add a footnote to the third sentence as follows: 

There are a number of recognised biodiversity 
accounting metrics that have been developed, 
including one developed locally by Thames Valley 
Environmental Records Centre

26
. 

26
http://www.tverc.org/cms/content/biodiversi

ty-impact-assessment 

Inserting new footnote to reference 
the Thames Valley Environmental 

Records Centre.  

Local Plan PMC40 79 Paragraph 5.14 

In suitable circumstances, the alternative 
provision could be in the form of significant 
improvements to existing outdoor sports 
facilities, such as the provision of pavilions / 
changing facilities, improved drainage or an all 
weather service, 3D 3G pitches and floodlights, 
which would enable it to be more intensively 
used as an all-weather facility. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC41 84 Paragraph 5.27 

There is potential to develop the recreational 
uses of each of the watercourses provided this is 
done without a detrimental impact on the 
waterside environment and biodiversity, 
particularly protected species. 

Factual clarification 

579

http://www.tverc.org/cms/content/biodiversity-impact-assessment
http://www.tverc.org/cms/content/biodiversity-impact-assessment


DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

10 

 

Chapter 6: Enhancing Oxford’s heritage and creating high quality new development 

Local Plan  PMC42 89 Paragraph 6.11 

High quality design means creating places that 
are safe for all, and where crime and disorder, 
and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and 
resilience. New developments should be 
designed to meet the principles and physical 
security standards of the police's Secure by 
Design scheme

26
 principles,. Secure by Design is 

proven to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour and provides which provide a well-
established approach for designing 
developments to minimise opportunities for 
criminal and anti-social behaviour, and for 
creating spaces that reduce the fear of crime.  
 
With the following new footnote:  

26
www.securedbydesign.com/guidance/design-

guides 

Factual clarification and typographical 
changes.   

Local Plan PMC43 94 Policy DH2 
The View Cones and the Historic Core Area 
(1,200m radius of Carfax tower) are defined on 
the Proposals Policies Map. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC44 94 Paragraph 6.29 
Oxford has 18 conservation areas which are 
listed in Appendix 6.2 and defined on the 
Proposals Policies Map. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC45 98 Policy DH4 
Proposals which affect the significance of such 
assets will be considered against the policy test 
for designated heritage assets set out in policy 

Typographical correction 

580



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

11 

 

DH4 DH3 above. 

Local Plan PMC46 98 Policy DH4 

Archaeological remains or features which are 
equivalent in terms of their significance as to a 
scheduled monument are given the same policy 
protection as designated heritage assets. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC47 100 Paragraph 6.42 

Outdoor advertisements and signs can impact on 
amenity and public safety, and therefore 
sometimes require planning permission 
advertisement consent. 

Factual clarification 

Chapter 7: Ensuring efficient movement into and around the city 

Local Plan PMC48 103 Paragraph 7.1 

Road space within the city is limited, so to 
achieve its this ambition, there is a need to re-
prioritise road space and in order to promote the 
sustainable modes of travel movement; walking, 
bicycling, and public transport. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC49 104 Paragraph 7.8 

To prevent growth in car trips to and within 
Oxford, the County Council have proposals for 
increased Park and Ride capacity, including the 
addition of remote Park and Ride sites at 
Eynsham, Sandford, Cumnor, Lodge Hill and the 
A44 corridor. These sites, as well as existing Park 
and Ride sites, should be designed or improved - 
where appropriate and possible - to function as 
intermodal hubs that will facilitate interchange 
between buses, private motor vehicles, and the 
sustainable movement modes of bicycling and 
walking. These will work alongside other 
measures including […] 

Factual clarification 

581



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

12 

 

Local Plan  PMC50 105 Paragraph 7.10 

New subsection after Paragraph 7.10: 

Disabled access 

Access to the city centre and district centres and 
other facilities, services and places of 
employment is essential for disabled people, 
regardless of their form of transport. The design 
and location of bus stops, footways, parking and 
cycling facilities should be designed with the 
needs of people with disabilities in mind.  

Factual clarification 

Local Plan  PMC51 107 Policy M1 

Separate existing paragraph before point i) into 
two parts: 
 
“Financial contributions will be sought towards 
the cost of new or improved bus services where 
existing services are not considered adequate.” 
 
Second paragraph: 
 
“The City Council will work with its partners to 
improve the ease and quality of access into and 
around Oxford by public transport, by: 

i) ensuring that road space […]” 
 

Factual clarification and splitting of the 
existing paragraph.   

Local Plan PMC52 109 Policy M2 

A Ttravel Travel Plan, which has clear objectives, 
targets and a monitoring and review procedure, 
must be submitted for development that is likely 
to have significant transport implications in 
accordance with the requirements in Appendix 
7.2. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC53 109 
Subheading iii. (Car 

parking)  
Subheading: 
Car Motor vehicle parking 

Factual clarification. To match the 
policy name and more accurately 

describe the content of the section. 

582



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

13 

 

Local Plan  PMC54 111 Paragraph 7.31 

Disabled access 

Access to the city centre and district centres and 
other facilities, services and places of 
employment is essential for disabled people, 
regardless of their form of transport. The design 
and location of bus stops, footways, parking and 
cycling facilities should be designed with the 
needs of people with disabilities in mind. 
Parking for disabled vehicles, both cars and 
cycles, must be accommodated in a way that 
does not detract from other functions of the 
street. 

Factual clarification – moved to new 
subsection after Paragraph 7.10.   

Local Plan  PMC55 111 Paragraph 7.32 

As the County Council introduces changes to the 
movement of vehicles around the city and more 
demand management measures, throughout the 
plan period there is an expectation that on-street 
parking places in the city centre may be reduced 
in number and/or reorganised to enable more 
efficient flow of vehicles and to reclaim road 
spaces for the benefit of cyclists and pedestrians. 
Where retained or created, parking for disabled 
vehicles must be accommodated in a way that 
does not detract from other functions of the 
street. 

Factual Clarification  

Local Plan PMC56 113 
Subheading v. (Cycle 

parking) 
Cycle Bicycle parking Factual clarification 

Chapter 8: Providing communities with facilities and services and ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in and visit. 

Local Plan PMC57 115 Paragraph 8.1 
The city centre, district and local centres offer 
the opportunity to access a wide range of ‘town 
centre uses’ including retail, leisure, 

Factual clarification 

583



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

14 

 

entertainment, office, arts, culture and tourism. 
These functions make an important contribution 
to Oxford's economy and employment 
opportunities and are vital to the long-term 
sustainability of the city and make Oxford an 
attractive place to live, work and invest. 

Local Plan PMC58 116 After paragraph 8.7 

Create a new numbered paragraph after 
paragraph 8.7 but before policy V2: 

Policy V2 provides guidance for the appropriate 
mix of uses (identified through percentages 
allocated to use classes) in designated shopping 
frontage across the city centre. These 
percentages have been informed through 
assessment of strategic trends and interrogation 
of recent survey datasets. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC59 117 Policy V2 

Planning permission will only be granted at 
ground floor level within the city centre for the 
following uses: 
a) Class A1 (retail) uses; or 
b) Class A2 – A5 (financial and professional 
services, restaurant, pub and take-away) uses 
where the proposed development would not 
result in the proportion of units at ground floor 
level in Class A1 use falling below 60% of the 
total number of units within the defined Primary 
Shopping Frontage or 40% of units in the rest of 
the Secondary Shopping Frontage; or 

c) Other town centre uses where the 
proposed development would not result in the 
proportion of units at ground floor level in Class 
A1 use falling below 60% of the total number of 
units in the Primary Shopping Frontage or below 

Typographical correction and factual 
clarification due to confusion arising 

from naming of ‘the rest of the 
shopping frontage.’ 

 
 

584



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

15 

 

40% of the total number of units in the rest of 
the Secondary Shopping Frontage and where the 
proportion of Class A units at ground floor level 
does not fall below 85% in the Primary Shopping 
Frontage or the rest of the Secondary Shopping 
Frontage, and in […] 

Local Plan PMC60 118 
New paragraph after 

paragraph 8.9 

Create a new numbered paragraph after 
paragraph 8.9 but before policy V3: 

Policy V3 provides guidance for the appropriate 
mix of uses (identified through percentages 
allocated to use classes) in the Covered Market. 
These percentages have been informed through 
assessment of strategic trends and interrogation 
of recent survey datasets. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC61 119 
New paragraph after 

paragraph 8.11 

Create a new numbered paragraph after 
paragraph 8.11 but before policy V4: 

Policy V4 provides guidance for the appropriate 
mix of uses (identified through percentages 
allocated to use classes) in designated shopping 
frontages across the district centres and local 
centres. These percentages have been informed 
through assessment of strategic trends and 
interrogation of recent survey datasets. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC62 122 Paragraph 8.12 

Tourism is an important element of Oxford’s 
economy and generates £780m of income. 
Oxford attracts 7 million visitors and provides 
employment for some 10,600 people.  However, 
this volume of tourists does present challenges 
for the infrastructure and management of the 
city. The city is world famous and attracts an 

Factual clarification 

585



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

16 

 

increasing number of visitors and overnight 
stays; it is a crucial destination of the national 
tourism industry. 

Local Plan PMC63 124 Policy V6 
Amended lettering of the second set of criteria 
from a) b) c) to e) f) g) 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC64 124 Policy V6 

Criterion b) (under “Public houses” subsection) 

b) all reasonable efforts have been made to 
support and improve the operation and 
management of the business; and 

Factual clarification 

Chapter 9: Areas of Change and Site allocations 

Local Plan  PMC65 129 Paragraph 9.1 

They provide a positive policy towards 
redevelopment of the site and help ensure the 
right type and amount of development happens 
in the right place, in accordance with the 
Strategy of this Local Plan and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. A sequential 
approach should be taken to the site layout of 
development proposals for Site Allocations in 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 in accordance with the 
NPPF. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC66 129 Paragraph 9.2 

Add at the end of the paragraph: 

Sites allocated in this Plan will be expected to 

delivery the minimum net number of homes 

shown in the site policies (where stated). The 

minimum number shall be exceeded where it is 

possible to do so consistent with the other 

 

586



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

17 

 

policies in the Plan. The homes should be 

delivered as general market and affordable 

housing in accordance with Policy H2 unless it is 

expressly stated in the site allocation policy that 

student accommodation or employer-linked 

affordable housing are suitable on the site. 

Other specialist forms of housing will be 

considered on their merits.  

If communal accommodation is to be provided, 

the minimum quantum shall be calculated on 

the basis of the national policy ratio (or any 

amendment or replacement thereof). The ratio 

at the time of adoption of the Local Plan is that 

2.5 new student bed spaces is considered as the 

equivalent of 1 new home and for other 

communal accommodation 1.8 bed spaces is 

considered as equivalent to 1 new home.  

On mixed-use sites, if only part of the site is 

being brought forward and the proposal does 

not include residential development, the 

potential to achieve the minimum housing 

capacity on remaining parts of the site when 

they come forward for development will be 

considered.   

Local Plan PMC67 129 Paragraph 9.3 
Legend of icons and symbols: 

“110m 10 metre buffer to watercourses” 
Typographical correction 

587



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

18 

 

Local Plan PMC68 131 Paragraph 9.5 

The Central Area Conservation Appraisal has 
identified principal issues in the Central 
Conservation Area, which are:  

 Pressure on public space in the core 
area streets from pedestrian saturation 
and buses 

 Lack of accessible squares and greens 
space  
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC69 131 Paragraph 9.7 

Planning permission will only be granted for new 
development within the area where it can be 
demonstrated that it takes opportunities to 
deliver the following, where relevant:  

• Rebalance the pace space within streets from 
vehicles to pedestrians 
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC70 132 Paragraph 9.15 

This site includes a huge variety of buildings and 
uses including retail, residential, community, 
cultural and evening economy uses, City of 
Oxford and Cherwell Valley College, University of 
Oxford colleges and offices, community centre, 
and the city’s key areas of public transport 
provision and interchange, including Oxford 
Station and Gloucester Green bus and coach 
station. 

Factual clarification – the college name 
has changed from Oxford and Cherwell 

Valley College to City of Oxford 
College.  

Local Plan PM71 134 Paragraph 9.22 

Although currently separated from it, a new link 
across the river should be provided to integrate 
the site with the city centre. The masterplan for 
the site should consider in greater detail how 
and when the pedestrian and cycle bridge can 

Factual clarification  

588



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

19 

 

be delivered, recognising that its delivery will 
require the landowners on the both sides of the 
river Thames to accommodate its physical 
provision within their masterplans. The 
pedestrian and cycle bridge It will also connect 
the site with the new student development next 
to Oxpens. Therefore, if the connection is in 
place, the site […] 

Local Plan PMC72 135 Paragraph 9.25 

The site specific flood risk assessment must 
demonstrate how the development will be safe 
otherwise planning permission will not be 
granted. It is recognised that the FRA may not 
be able to demonstrate a dry risk/ low hazard 
rating route to dry land. Therefore in order to 
achieve safe access and/ or egress for this site 
to satisfy the Exception Test there may be a 
greater reliance on on-site measures, 
emergency planning, and evacuation 
procedures, alongside offsite mitigation, to 
ensure that it is safe for its lifetime taking 
account of the vulnerability of its users without 
increasing the burden on emergency services. 
Development should be made safe by mitigating 
the potential impacts of development through 
design and resilient construction measures. It 
should be designed and constructed such that 
the health and welfare of people is 
appropriately managed. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC73 138 Paragraph 9.40 
Development is predominantly lo 2-3 storeys, but 
tower blocks reach 42.6m. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC74 139 Policy SP4 Planning permission will be granted for a mixed Consistency 

589



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

20 

 

use development that includes retail, start-up 
employment units, residential development and 
community facilities at the Blackbird Leys Central 
Area site. 

Local Plan PMC75 141 Paragraph 9.52 

A number of independent schools are located 
adjacent to the centre. The Summertown North 
Oxford Victorian Suburb Conservation Area is 
immediately to the south. 

 

Factual clarification  

Local Plan PMC76 142 Policy SP5 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC77 144 Policy SP6 

Planning permission will be granted for a mixed 
use development at Diamond Place and Ewert 
House in accordance with the SPD, which could 
include the following uses: 

• residential development; 
• employment; 
• student accommodation. 
 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC78 147 
Oxford Science Park 

site information table 

The Oxford Science Park 

Site area: 26.51 hectares/65.51 acres  27.1 
hectares /66.96 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Prudential and Magdalen College, 
and Oxford City Council 
Current use: Science Park and Vacant 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

Typographical correction and factual 
clarification 

590



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

21 

 

Local Plan PMC79 147 Paragraph 9.82 

There is potential for archaeological remains 
from the Saxon and Roman periods which will 
need to be considered. The site lies in close 
proximity to a listed building. Development 
proposals should take into consideration the 
potential presence of Saxon and Roman 
archaeological remains and the nearby listed 
building.  Proposals would be required to 
demonstrate that they comply with the 
requirements of Policies DH3 and DH4.   

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC80 148 Paragraph 9.84 

Access to the site is heavily dependent upon the 
private car. Opportunities to enhance transport 
links to the site to provide an alternative from 
the private car will be encouraged. This will 
include ensuring that any opportunities to re-
open the Cowley Branch Line are is pursued and 
supporting the County Council’s appropriate 
measures, as agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with the Highways 
Authority, to improve bus services to the Eastern 
Arc. These alternative transport opportunities 
will increase sustainability and reduce need for 
cars. This is very much a place driven by the 
motor car. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC81 148 Policy SP10 

Policy SP10: The Oxford Science Park 

(Littlemore & Minchery Farm) 

Planning permission will be granted for B1 
employment uses that directly relate to Oxford’s 
key sectors of research led employment at The 
Oxford Science Park. Planning permission will not 

Factual accuracy and typographical 
correction 

591



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

22 

 

be granted for any other uses. Development 
should be designed to enhance the external 
appearance of the science park and to optimise 
opportunities to enhance the landscape and 
provide attractive public open space for the 
occupants. The re-opening of the Cowley 
Branchline will provide a realistic alternative to 
the private car for gaining access to the sience 
science park. 

Local Plan PMC82 150 Paragraph 9.89 
The centre of the site would be most suitable for 
higher buildings, but even here heights of more 
than 4 storeys would be likely to be unsuitable. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC83 150 Policy SP12 

Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the Sandy 
Lane Recreation Ground and Land to the Rear of 
the Retail Park. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC84 151 Policy SP13 

Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at Northfield 
Hostel. 

Planning permission for residential development 
use will only be granted if Oxfordshire County 
Council demonstrate that the site is no longer 
needed for a school and hostel.  

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC85 151 
Edge of Playing Fields, 
Oxford Academy site 

information table  

Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy 

Site area: 0.58 hectares/1.43 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Oxfordshire County Council 
(Freehold Owner) City Council 

Factual clarification 

592



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

23 

 

Current use: School playing field 
Flood Zone: FZ1     

Local Plan PMC86 153 Paragraph 9.99 
This site comprises of some poor quality open 
space. It is adjacent to Spindleberry Nature Park 
and the Kassam Stadium. 

Grammatical correction 

Local Plan PMC87 153 
Knights Road site 
information table 

Site area: 2.25 hectares/5.56 acres 

Ward: Littlemore Northfield Brook 

Landowner: Oxford City Council 

Current use: Open space 

Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test  

Factual accuracy  

Local Plan  PMC88 155 
Government Buildings 
and Harcourt House 

site information table 

Site area:  2.36 hectares/ 3.16 5.83 acres 

Ward:  Headington Hill and Northway 

Landowner:  Oxford Centre for Islamic Studies 
(OCIS) 

Current Use:  Storage area for OCIS/ Temporary 
vehicle rental. Army cadets and part vacant  

Flood Zone:  Flood Zone 1  

Factual clarification  

Local Plan PMC89 156 Policy SP17 

Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development, student 
accommodation and academic institutional uses 
at the Government Buildings site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan  PMC90 156 Policy SP17 Green features should be included in the site, 
including 10% public open space, which should 

Typographical correction 

593



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

24 

 

be designed with consideration of how to link to 
Headington Hill Park. 

Local Plan PMC91 158 Paragraph 9.116 

The site surrounds the Grade II* listed St. 
Clement’s Church and its cemetery.  It is mainly 
greenfield, with a number of substantial trees 
that screen the site from the church and road. 
The site also contains Air Training Corps huts on 
the southern side. The ATC huts are a public 
amenity·. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC92 159 Policy SP19 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the Land 
surrounding St Clement’s Church site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC93 166 Policy SP23 

Planning permission will be granted for 
healthcare related facilities at Warneford 
Hospital and, provided adequate accommodation 
is provided for healthcare facilities, any of the 
following uses:  

 residential development, including 
employer-linked housing; 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC94  Para 9.144 

Amend text as follows: 

“The City Council considers that exceptional 
circumstances existed to justify alterations to the 
Green Belt boundary, due to the acute housing 
need, housing affordability and inequality. The 
Plan goes as far as possible to identify suitable 
housing sites within the built up area but these 
can only provide for a relatively small proportion 
of Oxford’s housing needs. The Green Belt Study 

 

594



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

25 

 

(LUC, 2017) assessed the potential release of 
sites SP23-SP30 SP24 – SP31 from the Green 
Belt. These sites have been released from the 
Green Belt because their impact on it ranges 
from between a low to a moderate impact rating 
on the overall purposes of the Green Belt. […]” 

Local Plan PMC95 168 Policy SP24 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the 
Marston Paddock site.  

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC96 169 Policy SP25 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the St 
Frideswide Farm site.  

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC97 171 Policy SP26 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the Hill 
View Farm site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC98 172 Policy SP27 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings on the Land 
West of Mill Lane site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC99 172 Paragraph 9.166 

The site comprises of a pasture field and a small 
area of hardstanding contained by a dense 
conifer line.  Hedges line Hertford College 
Recreation Ground to the north and a pasture 
field to the south.  It is located between the 
urban edge of New Marston and the buildings of 
Park Farm. 

Grammatical and typographical 
correction 

Local Plan PMC100 175 Policy SP29 Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the Pear 

Consistency 

595



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

26 

 

Tree Farm site.  

Local Plan PMC101 175 Policy SP29 

A minimum of 10% of the site should be for 
public open space, which should be accessible for 
existing residents of Marston Wolvercote.  
 

Wolvercote is the nearest ward to Pear 
Tree Farm, not Marston.  

Local Plan PMC102 176 Policy SP30 

Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the land 
East of Redbridge Park and Ride site. 
 

Consistency 

Local Plan  PMC103 177 Paragraph 9.183 
The site is visually separated for from the wider 
Green Belt by a wall.  
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC 104 177 
Banbury Road 

University Sites 
Information Table 

Banbury Road University Sites  

Site area: 1.95 hectares/4.81 acres (Plot A)  

0.52 1.19 hectares/1.28 2.94 acres (Plot B)  

0.64 hectares/1.58 acres (Plot C)  

Ward: North 

Landowner: University of Oxford and Hertford 
College  

Current use: Non-residential institution, staff 
housing, student accommodation  

Flood Zone: FZ1  

Factual Clarification  

Local Plan PMC105 179 Paragraph 9.192 

The Iffley Meadows SSSI is located within 600m 
east of the site. to the … It is sensitive to changes 
in the flows and quality of water in the two arms 
of the r River Thames due to being in its 
floodplain, and as such it can be impacted by 

Factual accuracy and typographical 
correction 

596



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

27 

 

contamination through surface water runoffs. 

Local Plan PMC106 181 
Canalside Land, Jericho 
site information table  

Canalside Land, Jericho 

Site area: 0.49 hectares/1.21 acres 
Ward: Jericho and Osney 
Landowner: Administrators, Oxford City Council, 
British Waterways Canal & River Trust, Church 
of England 
Current use: Part boat hire base, garages, open 
space, derelict workshops, boat repair yard 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ3a for sequential test 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC107 184 Paragraph 9.202 

Due to the bulk and nature of the existing depot, 
the redevelopment of the site should help 
improve the setting of Cowley Marsh Recreation 
Ground, provided that it is well designed, and is 
likely to lead to a reduction in vehicle 
movements. The site is suitable for residential 
development. 

Consistency 

Local Plan 108 184 Paragraph 9.205 

Residential use within this site in Flood Zone 3a 
has been justified through the sequential test 
although policies in the Core Strategy relating to 
development in the flood plain will also need to 
be complied with. 

Factual correction 

Local Plan PMC109 184 Policy SP36 

Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at Cowley 
Marsh Depot. Planning permission will not be 
granted for any other uses. 

Prior to the development of the site for 
residential development uses the depot must be 

Consistency 

597



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

28 

 

relocated. 

Local Plan PMC110 185 Policy SP37 

Planning permission will be granted for academic 
uses, residential development including 
employer linked housing and student 
accommodation at the Faculty of Music. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC111 185 Policy SP38 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the Former 
Barns Road East Allotments site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC112 184 Paragraph 9.205 

Residential use within this site in Flood Zone 3a 
has been justifed through the sequential test 
although policies in the Core Strategy relating to 
development in the flood plain will also need to 
be complied with. 

Factual correction 

Local Plan PMC113 186 Paragraph 9.208 

Further evidence is required on whether the site 
is surplus to recreational/ sports requirements 
and school requirements. There is need to 
negotiate access via adjoining land, as access to 
site is currently via school which is accessed via 
Augustine Way. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC114 186 Paragraph 9.210 

The site is currently can be accessed via the 
Iffley Academy School situated off Augustine 
Way. Any redevelopment of the site would need 
to ensure that access to the site can be achieved 
without being detrimental to the school. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC115 186 Policy SP39 Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the former 

Consistency 

598



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

29 

 

Iffley Mead playing fields. 

Local Plan  PMC116 187 Paragraph 9.211 
The site comprises of a surface-level car park 
used as a remote car park by County Council 
staff.  

Grammatical correction 

Local Plan PMC117 187 Policy SP40 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the 
Grandpont Car Park site.  

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC118 189 Paragraph 9.218 

The Core Strategy Local Plan focuses hospital 
related development on the existing sites in 
Headington and Marston. Hospital related uses 
should remain the main focus of the site. 
Focussing development on existing sites creates 
opportunities for shared trips to the sites which 
would reduce traffic movement, provide 
opportunities to reduce parking on the site and 
provide an incentive for improved public 
transport to the site. This should remain the aim 
for any alternative uses developed on the site. 
Oxfordshire County Council’s Local Transport 
Plan seeks to reduce car parking on all the 
hospital sites within Oxford. 

Factual correction 

Local Plan PMC119 190 
Land at Meadow Lane 
site information table 

Land at Meadow Lane 

Site area: 0.989 hectares/2.443 acres 
Ward: Iffley Fields 
Landowner: Donnington Health Hospital Trust 
Current use: Grassland/pony paddock 
Flood Zone: FZ3b 

Factual clarification 

599



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

30 

 

Local Plan PMC120 191 Paragraph 9.221 
The site comprises of land used for horse grazing, 
with some trees and shrubs. 

Grammatical correction 

Local Plan PMC121 191 Policy SP43 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at Land at 
Meadow Lane. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC122 193 
Littlemore Park, 

Armstrong Road site 
information table  

Littlemore Park, Armstrong Road 

Site area: 5.44 hectares/13.44 acres 6.44 
hectares / 15.4 acres 
Ward: Littlemore 
Landowner: Oxford University Hospitals NHS 
Trust 
Current use: Vacant previously developed land 
Flood Zone: FZ3b but FZ1 for sequential test 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC123 196 Paragraph 9.244 

The site comprises of low-rise buildings, with car 
parking and small areas of grass and trees. The 
site is used for adult mental health therapy 
activity and associated administration. The 
Oxford Health NHS Trust’s ongoing review of 
healthcare facilities might find that this site is 
needed, but it is more likely that additional 
need will be incorporated into Warneford or 
Littlemore sites, which have capacity. This site is 
a suitable site for a healthcare facility or for 
residential development. This site is one of only a 
few sites owned by the Oxford Health NHS Trust, 
and also presents an opportunity for them to 
develop employer-linked housing on the site. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC124 197 Policy SP47 Planning permission will be granted for improved Consistency 

600



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

31 

 

health-care facilities, associated administration 
and/or residential development dwellings, 
including employer-linked housing, at the Manzil 
Way Resource Centre site. 

Local Plan PMC125 197 Paragraph 9.246 

As a Category 2 Employment site, any 
redevelopment would be expected 

to retain or increase the existing level of 
employment (employees) on site.  This could be 
achieved by a replacement employment 
generating use. Small scale employment units, 
whilst potentially having a lower employee 
density than the existing use, would create a 
greater range of job opportunities in line with 
the Core Strategy. 

Factual correction 

Local Plan PMC126 198 Paragraph 9.248 

This site consists of an old power station which is 
owned and occupied by the University of Oxford, 
used currently mainly for storage. The City 
Council granted planning permission in 1969 for 
the change of use of the site for education 
purposes.  The site is suitable for student 
accommodation and housing, including employer 
linked housing, or for intensification of its current 
academic use. The site is on the Oxford Heritage 
Asset Register. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC127 199 Policy SP49 

Planning permission will be granted student 
accommodation and/or residential development 
dwellings, including employer-linked housing on 
the Old Power Station site. Development of the 
site may include replacement of existing 
educational use of the site. 

Consistency and clarification of the 
application of the policy 

601



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

32 

 

Local Plan PMC128 200 Policy SP50 

Planning permission will be granted for student 
accommodation and or residential development 
dwellings and town centre uses at Oriel College 
Land at King Edward Street and High Street. 

Consistency 

Local Plan  PMC129 200 Paragraph 9.255 

The site comprises of the former Milham Ford 
School, which closed in 2003 and is currently in 
use as the Oxford Brookes Marston Road 
Campus.  

Grammatical correction 

Local Plan PMC130 201 Policy SP51 

Planning permission will be granted at the Oxford 
Brookes Marston Road Campus for further 
academic use or employer-linked housing or, 
should Oxford Brookes University vacate the site, 
for residential development dwellings. 

Consistency 

Local Plan  PMC131 202 Paragraph 9.261 

These represents important leisure activities 
which should be resumed at the Oxford Stadium 
(alongside additional appropriate and compatible 
leisure and hospital uses). 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC132 203 Policy SP52 

Planning permission will be granted for enabling 
residential development dwellings on the car 
park or other areas that will not affect the 
operation or heritage interest of the Oxford 
Stadium site, if it is […] 

Consistency 

Local Plan  PMC133 205 
No.1 Pullens Lane site 

information table 
Landowner: Carebase Ltd ? Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC134 205 Policy SP54 
Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development dwellings at the No.1 
Pullens Lane site. 

Consistency 

602



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

33 

 

Local Plan PMC135 209 Policy SP57 

Planning permission will be granted for 
expansion of the adjoining academic institution 
or residential development use only, which may 
include employer-linked housing. 

Consistency 

Local Plan  PMC136 209 Paragraph 9.283 

A number of buildings on the site are currently 
vacant. The Oxford Health NHS Trust’s ongoing 
review of healthcare facilities might find that 
this site is needed, but it is more likely that 
additional need will be incorporated into 
Warneford or Littlemore sites, which have 
capacity. This site is a suitable site for a 
healthcare facility or for residential development.  

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC137 209 Paragraph 9.284 

The site is within 200m of the Shotover and 
Brasenose Wood SSSI, which is sensitive to 
recreational pressure. Access to the site is taken 
via Horspath Driftway and Agwar Awgar Stone 
Road. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC138 210 Policy SP58 

Planning permission will be granted for improved 
health-care facilities, associated administration 
and/or residential development dwellings, 
including employer-linked housing, at the Slade 
House site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC139 211 Paragraph 9.287 

This site is within the busy Cowley Road District 
Centre which has a variety of uses including 
retail, restaurants, residential and student 
accommodation. There is high potential for 
archaeological interest on the site as it is within 
the general area of a poorly understood Civil 

Factual clarification 

603



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

34 

 

War parliamentary siege line. 

Local Plan PMC140 212 Policy SP60 

Planning permission will be granted for 
residential development or student 
accommodation, and car parking at Union Street 
Car Park. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC141 214 Policy SP62 
Planning permission will only be granted for 
residential development housing on this site. 

Consistency 

Local Plan PMC142 217 

Bayards Hill Primary 
School Part Playing 

Fields site information 
table  

Bayards Hill Primary School Part Playing Fields 

Site area: 1.96 ha/ 4.84 acres  
Ward: Barton & Sandhills 
Landowner: Community School Alliance Trust 
Oxfordshire County Council  
Current use: School Playing Field 
Flood Zone: FZ1 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC143 146 - 219 Policy SP8 to SP66 
Site allocation policies from SP8 to SP66 
renumbered to account for deletion of policies 
SP7 and SP64 

Consitency with main modifications 

Appendices 

Local Plan PMC144 235 Appendix 1 

The heading for Appendix 1 is inconsistent with 
the other appendices. It should be written in a 
smaller font and be on the line beneath 
'Appendix 1:'.  

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC145 231 Appendix 1 
Change T1, T2, T3 to  M1, M2, M3.  

Rename M3 as 'Motor vehicle parking' instead of 

Typographical correction 

604



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

35 

 

'Car parking'.  

Local Plan PMC146 232 Appendix 1.1 
Move the text from the top of page 232: ' Site 
allocations: all Category 1 employment sites' to 
form part of the list of strategic policies.  

Typographical correction.  

Local Plan  PMC147 232-234 Appendix 1.2 

Delete entire table under appendix 1.2.  

Replace with the following: 

1.2 List of saved development plan documents 

Barton Area Action Plan 

Northern Gateway Area Action Plan 

Factual/typographical clarification.  
The table repeats the policies in 

Appendix 1.1. It shows how they relate 
to the Preferred Options that were 

considered strategic in the SA, but this 
is not necessary to show in the Plan 

and is confusing. 

Local Plan PMC148 237 Appendix 3.3 
If on large sites (of 10 25 or more units) that are 
delivering significant infrastructure or social 
benefits… 

Factual accuracy 

Local Plan PMC149 238 
Appendix 3.4, first 

bullet point 

Campus sites of the colleges of the University of 
Oxford and of Oxford Brookes. These are sites 
with academic accommodation existing at the 
time of the submission adoption of the Local 
Plan, and where academic institutional use would 
remain on the site, even with the development of 
some employer-linked housing. 

Factual clarification and consistency 
with Policy H3 

Local Plan PMC150 238 
Appendix 3.4, 11

th
 

bullet point 
Osney Mead (how to limit) Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC151 246 Appendix 6.1 

Amend point 1 of Movement with the addition 
shown:  
• What existing access points could you use and 
how could you enhance the permeability of the 

Factual clarification 

605



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

36 

 

site and access to surrounding areas? Have you 
maximised opportunities for creating 
appropriate access links for pedestrians and 
cyclists? 

Local Plan PMC152 256 Appendix 7.3 
Amend subheading: 

Maximum Vvehicular parking standards 
Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC153 257 Appendix 7.3 
Policy M3 sets out Oxford City Council's policy on 
providing parking for new residential 
development which would not be car free.  

Typographical correction 

Local Plan  PMC154 257 Appendix 7.4 
Amend subheading: 

Minimum bicycle Cycle parking standards  
Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC155 257 Appendix 7.4 
Numbering incorrect as 7.4 appears twice:  

7.4 7.5 Shower and comfort facilities provision 
Typographical correction 

Glossary 

Local Plan PMC156 220 Glossary 

Delete: Affordable rented housing and associated 
text 

Affordable rented housing 

Rented housing that has similar characteristics 
as social rented housing (see below) except that 
it is outside the national rent regime, thus 
subject to other rent controls that require it to 
be offered to eligible households at a rent of up 
to 80% of local market rents, on a minimum 2-
year fixed-term tenancy. Providers will be 

For clarity (to avoid confusion) 

606



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

37 

 

expected to consider the Local Housing 
Allowance for the area, and any cap on total 
household benefit payments, when setting 
rents. Affordable rented housing is not the same 
as social rented housing, and cannot therefore 
be substituted for social rented. 

Local Plan  PMC157 221 Glossary 

Delete: Balance of Dwellings and associated text: 

Balance of Dwellings 
The relative proportions of homes of different 
sizes, which will be suitable for different types 
of households (e.g. single people, couples, small 
and larger families). The Balance of Dwellings 
SPD contains the details of this in relation to 
Oxford. 
 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC158 221 Glossary 

Delete: Code for Sustainable Homes (CSH)and 
associated text: 

Code for Sustainable Homes (CSH) 

The national standard for the sustainable design 
and construction of new homes. The Code aims 
to reduce carbon emissions resulting from fuel 
usage for lighting, heating and power, and to 
create homes that are more sustainable. It has 
been mandatory for all new homes to be rated 
against the Code since 2008. The standard is 
currently set to CSH Level 3, increasing to CSH 
Level 4 in 2013. The current goal is to achieve 
zero-carbon homes (CSH Level 6) in 2016. 

Factual clarity 

Local Plan PMC159 222 Glossary Rename Community Employment Plans heading: Factual clarification 

607



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

38 

 

Community Employment Plans (CEPS) 
Employment and Skills Plans (ESPs) 

Local Plan  PMC160 222 Glossary 

In the definition of Construction Management 
Plan (CMP) amend the second sentence as 
follows: “It typically contains comprises of details 
of on-site procedures and processes…” 

Grammatical correction 

Local Plan PMC161 222 Glossary 

Delete: Core Strategy and associated text: 

Core Strategy 

A Development Plan Document that forms part 
of the Local Development Framework and 
contains policies against which planning 
applications are assessed. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan  PMC162 222 Glossary 

Delete additional full stop at the end of the 
sentence: 

Design and Access Statement 

A report accompanying and supporting a 
planning application, explaining how a proposed 
development is a suitable response to the site 
and its setting, and demonstrate that it can be 
adequately accessed by prospective users.. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC163 222 Glossary 

Delete last sentence of text: 

Development Plan Document (DPD) 

Documents that collectively deliver the spatial 
planning strategy for the local planning 
authority’s area. They include Development Plan 
Documents and Supplementary Planning 

Factual clarification 

608



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

39 

 

Documents. 

Local Plan PMC164 223 Glossary 

Text of Flood Zones refers to “Planning Policy 
Statement 25”.  This is incorrect and should refer 
to the Planning Practice Guidance on Flood Risk 
and Coastal Change. 

Amended text should read as follows:  
 
Flood Zones  
Areas with different probabilities of flooding as 
set out in Planning Policy Statement 25 the 
Planning Practice Guidance: Flood Risk and 
Coastal Change: 
 

Factual clarification and update 

Local Plan PMC165 223 Glossary 

Geodiversity 

Refers to the range or diversity of naturally 
occuring occurring geological features (rocks, 
minerals  fossils, structures), geomorphological 
features (landforms and processes),…. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC166 224 Glossary 

Delete: Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 
and associated text: 

Homes and Communities Agency (HCA)  

Formerly the national housing and regeneration 
agency. Its role was to create opportunities for 
people to live in high-quality, sustainable 
places. It provides funding for affordable 
housing, brings land back into productive use 
and improves quality of life by raising standards 
for the physical and social environment. 

Factual clarification 

609



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

40 

 

Replaced by Homes England in January 2018. 

Local Plan PMC167 224 Glossary 

Lifetime Homes  

Ordinary homes incorporating 16 design criteria 
that can be universally applied to new homes at 
minimal cost. Each design feature adds to the 
comfort and convenience of the home and 
supports the changing needs of individuals and 
families at different stages of life. The standards 
are not compulsory and have been superseded 
by new national technical housing standards. 
Local authorities can provide additional 
accessibility requirements through the optional 
Building REgualations Regulations M4 (2) 
[Category 2], and/or M4 (3) [Category 3]. 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC168 225 Glossary 

Delete: Natural Resource Impact Analysis (NRIA) 
and associated text: 

Natural Resource Impact Analysis (NRIA)  

An evaluation of the use of natural resources 
and environmental impacts and benefits arising 
from a proposed development, based on the 
assessment of a range of factors including 
energy efficient design, renewable energy 
generation, use of materials and water 
management. The requirement to undertake 
NRIAs for residential developments of 10+ 
dwellings was removed when Part L of the 
Building Regulations was updated to require 
improved energy efficiency standards in all 
residential developments. 

Factual clarification 

610



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

41 

 

Local Plan PMC169 225 Glossary 

Delete: Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) and 
associated text: 

Objectively Assessed Need (OAN) 

An assessment of the level of demand of 
housing types and range of tenures likely to be 
needed in a housing market area over the 
period of a local plan, and the scale of housing 
supply necessary to meet that demand. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan  PMC170 226 Glossary 

Delete: Oxford Local Plan and associated text: 

Oxford Local Plan  

The Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016 is the adopted 
Local Plan containing policies and proposals for 
Oxford, which will gradually be replaced by the 
Local Development Framework. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC171 226 Glossary 

Delete: Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) and 
Planning Policy Statements (PPS) and associated 
text: 

Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) and Planning 
Policy Statements (PPS)  

Documents that formerly set out the 
government’s national policies on different 
aspects of land use planning in England. They 
are now consolidated within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC172 226 Glossary 
Delete: Proposed Submission and associated 
text: 

Factual clarification 

611



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

42 

 

Proposed Submission  

The stage of the plan making process that 
follows the Preferred Options document. It sets 
out detailed wording of the policies that the City 
Council proposes to submit to the Secretary of 
State. The Proposed Submission undergoes a 
formal consultation period to allow people to 
make comments. 

Local Plan  PMC173 227 Glossary 

Delete: Site of Local Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SLINC ) and associated text: 

Site of Local Importance for Nature 
Conservation (SLINC)       

A site containing habitats, plants and animals 
important in the context of Oxford. 

Factual clarity 

Local Plan PMC174 228 Glossary 

Delete reference to Regional Spatial Strategy 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 

A social, economic and environmental appraisal 
of strategy, policies and proposals – required for 
the Regional Spatial Strategy and Development 
Plan Documents and sometimes Supplementary 
Planning Documents. 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan  PMC175 228 Glossary 

Delete: Wheelchair accessible home, or home 
easily adaptable for wheelchair use and 
associated text: 

Wheelchair accessible home, or home easily 
adaptable for wheelchair use 

Factual clarification 

612



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

43 

 

A home that allows either immediate 
occupation by a wheelchair user, or easy 
adaptation when the need arises. Such homes 
will have much in common with lifetime homes, 
but with some additional features. 

Local Plan PMC176 229 
Abbreviations (for 

Glossary) 

Abbreviations 
AMR – Annual Monitoring Report  
AAP – Area Action Plan 
BREEAM      – Building Research Establishment  
Environmental Assessment Method 
CPZ – Controlled Parking Zone  
DSMP           - Delivery and Service Management   
Plan 
ECP – Electric Charging Point 
ELA – Employment Land Assessment  
ESP                - Employment and Skills Plan  
GIA – Gross Internal Area 
GVA – Gross Value Area 
HCA – Homes and Community Agency 
HELAA          – Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment  
HMO – House of Multiple Occupation 
HRA – Habitats Regulation Assessment  
JSSP – Joint Statutory and Spatial Plan  
LWS – Local Wildlife Site 
NPPF – National Planning Policy 
Framework  
NRIA – Natural Resource Impact Analysis  
OCWS – Oxford City Wildlife Site 
OAN – Objectively Assessed Need 
PPG – Planning Policy Practice Guidance  
SA – Sustainability Appraisal 
SAC – Special Area of Conservation  
SFRA – Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

Factual clarity and for consistency with 
Glossary 

613



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

44 

 

SHMA  – Strategic Housing Marketing 
Assessment  
SHLAA  – Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment 
SLINC          – Site of Local Importance for Nature 
Conservation  
SPRA – Source Pathway Receptor Analysis 
SSSI – Site of Special Scientific Interest  
SUDS – Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems  
UKBAP  – UK Biodiversity Action Plan 

Monitoring Framework 

Local Plan  PMC177 261 
Monitoring Framework 
first paragraph on page 

261 

To meet these statutory requirements a 
monitoring framework, as set out below, has 
been produced to outline how the effectiveness 
the local plan policies will be monitored. It is 
comprised of indicators and targets specific to 
individual policies while cross-referencing to 
relevant parts of the Core Strategy. The 
indicators and targets that form the monitoring 
framework have been developed to be fl exible 
enough to allow for adaptation as wider 
conditions change or as improved methods to 
monitor policies become available. As such they 
will be subject to regular review. 

Factual correction 

Local Plan PMC178 265 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy H10 

Under Information Source column: 
 

 DM Monitoring 

 BC completion notices 

 Housing Team? 

Typographical correction 

614



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

45 

 

Local Plan PMC179 265 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy H13 

Under Target column: 

No residential mooring applications approved 
with unresolved objections – see c.f. AMR 
indicator 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC180 269 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy G9 

Under Target column: 

a) For qualifying residential sites (1.5+ ha): 10% 
allocated as public open space; For mixed use 
sites: 10% of residential proportion of 
development. 
b) No applications approved aprpoved with 
unresolved objections. 
c) No set target for new infrastructure 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC181 268 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy DH2 

Under Implementation./Assessment Method 
column: 

 Plans 

 Verified views? 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC182 271 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy M1 

Under Target column: 
 

No set targets but positive overall trends, e.g. 
reduction in vehicular traffic at cordons, 
increased modal shift to sustainable transport – 

see c.f. AMR indicator. 
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC183 275 
Monitoring Framework  

Policy V5 

Under Target column: 
 
a) No net increase in short stay accommodation 
premises above baseline set in Core strategy 
Local Plan– see c.f. AMR indicator 
b) Net increase in longer stay accommodation 

Factual and typographical correction 

615



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

46 

 

 

Local Plan PMC184 276 - 287 
Monitoring 

Framework: Sites 

Amend end column title as follows: 
 
Potential dDelivery pathway/partnerships 

 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC185 276 
Monitoring 

Framework: Sites 

Deletion entire rows for: 

 276 Banbury Road 
Consitency with main modifications 

Local Plan PMC186 286 
Monitoring 

Framework: Sites 

Deletion entire rows for: 

 Wolvercote Paper Mill  
Consitency with main modifications 

Local Plan  PMC187 276 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP9 

Under Location column: 

Oxford BMW Mini Plant MINI Plant Oxford 
Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC188 282 Monitoring Framework 
Under Location column: 

Nielsen, London Road Thornhill Park 
Factual clarification  

Local Plan PMC189 276 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP10 

Under Location column: 

The Oxford Science Park (Littlemore & Minchery 
Farm) 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan  PMC190 277 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP13 

Under Site specific requirements column: 

• It must be demonstrated that there is no 
unmet need for extra care accommodation. 

Factual error 

Local Plan PMC191 282 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP49 

Under Acceptable uses column: 

 Student accommodation, residential 

Factual clarification 

616



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

47 

 

development or mixture of both 

 Academic institutional uses 

Local Plan PMC192 284 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP61 

Under Acceptable uses column: 

 Academic institutional with associated 
research uses 

 Employer linked housing 

Factual clarification 

Local Plan PMC193 277 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP6 

 
Amend under Delivery pathway/partnerships 
column: 

 S106 

 As part of development 

 County Council? 
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC194 277 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP8 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC195 277 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP9 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC196 277 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP11 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC197 279 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP18 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC198 279 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP21 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC199 279 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP22 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC200 283 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP40 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC201 283 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP45 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC202 283 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP46 
As above As above 

617



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

48 

 

Local Plan PMC203 285 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP52 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC204 285 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP55 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC205 285 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP56 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC206 285 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP60 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC207 285 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP61 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC208 285 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP63 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC209 281 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP30 

 
Amend under Delivery pathway/partnerships 
column: 

 S106 

 As part of development 

 British Waterways? 
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC210 281 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP34 
As above As above 

Local Plan PMC211 283 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy SP42 

 
Amend under Delivery pathway/partnerships 
column the blank bullet point under “As part of 
development” 

 
 

Typographical correction 

Local Plan PMC212 263 
Monitoring Framework 

Policy H1 

Under Target coloumn: 
 
a) A minimum of 8500 10884 new homes over 
the plan period 
b) 425 dDwellings delivered per annum over the 
plan period as follows: 
 
2016/17 to 2020/21: 475 dpa 

Consitency with main modification of 
policy 

618



DOCUMENT REFERENCE 
PAGE 

NUMBER 
POLICY/PARAGRAPH 

DESCRIPTION OF ISSUE OR CHANGE 
REQUIRED 

REASON FOR AMENDMENT 

 

49 

 

2021/22 to 2035/36: 567 dpa 
 

Local Plan PMC213 276 - 287 
Monitoring 

Framework: Sites 

Under LP reference column: 

Renumbering of site allocation policies from SP7 
to SP63 to account for deleted policies 

Consitency with main modifications 

  

619



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 

To: Cabinet 

Date: June 2020 (date tbc) 

Report of: Assistant Chief Executive 

Title of Report:  Annual Update Report on the Corporate Plan  

2016 -20 

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: 
To seek approval for the 2019-2020 Annual Update  on 
the Corporate Plan 2016-20 

Key decision: 
Yes  

Executive Board 
Member: 

Councillor Susan Brown, Leader of the Council 

Corporate Priority: 
All Corporate Plan priorities  

Policy Framework: 
Policy Framework - Corporate Plan 2016-2020 

Recommendations:That the Cabinet resolves to: 

1. Approve the Annual Update on the Corporate Plan 2016-20, as set out in 
Appendix  1; and 

2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Chief Executive to make minor 
textual/formatting changes to the Annual Update Report in advance of 
publication. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Annual Update on the Corporate Plan 2019-20 

Appendix 2 Oxford City Council Corporate Plan 2016-20 can be found at : 

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s28130/Appendix%201%20Dr
aft%20Corporate%20Plan%202016%20-%202020.pdf 

 

621

Agenda Item 10

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s28130/Appendix%201%20Draft%20Corporate%20Plan%202016%20-%202020.pdf
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s28130/Appendix%201%20Draft%20Corporate%20Plan%202016%20-%202020.pdf


Introduction and background  

1. The Corporate Plan is the Council’s overarching strategy for delivering high quality 
services to the people of Oxford. The Corporate Plan 2016-20 was agreed by 
Council in February 2016. It sets out a clear vision, corporate priorities and 
objectives, and how the Council aims to achieve them. The Annual Update 2019-20 
sets out what we have achieved against these themes in 2019. 
 

2. The Annual Update attached in Annex 1 has been developed from input from 
Service Heads and Directors as well as Members.  
 

3. Due to the impact of COVID-19 and the associated lockdown in March 2020 which 
impacted on the delivery of most Council services, some of the assumptions and 
anticipated timelines for projects and workstreams have changed. These changes 
are identified in the Annual Update document. 

The Annual Update on the Corporate Plan 2016-20 

4. The Council’s core ambition is to build a world class city for all of its citizens; to 
achieve this objective the Council has to continue to transform the way in which 
services are structured and delivered. The Council aims to create a successful 
economy and an integrated community which respects and celebrates diversity, 
protects and enhances the environment, and offers extensive accessible 
opportunities for residents’ leisure time. 
 

5. The Council’s priorities are those that were identified in the Corporate Plan 2016-20: 

 A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy 

 Meeting Housing Needs 

 Strong and Active Communities 

 A Clean and Green Oxford  

 An Efficient and Effective Council.  
 

6. The Plan recognises that many of the issues that are important to the wellbeing of 
our city and its people are not exclusively or directly controlled by the City Council. 
Achieving our objectives involves close partnership working with other local 
authorities, public agencies, community groups, local businesses and third sector 
organisations. This has become ever more important as public resources have 
reduced due to the government’s austerity agenda, and new ways of delivering 
services are developed. The Council works with its partners to align our resource 
allocation and our plans. The Corporate Plan 2016-20 therefore includes the two 
cross-cutting priorities of Partnership and Devolution which have underpinned the 
Council’s approach to most areas of its work. 
 

Key achievements in 2019-20 

7. Some key achievements in 2019 were: 
 

 Oxford City Council continued to deliver efficiency savings during 2019/20 to a value 
of £0.951 million in addition to £1.648 million achieved in the previous 3 years. 

622



 In one year, we attracted 27 self-certified Oxford Living Wage employers, most 
notably the University of Oxford and Oxford Bus Company alongside a range of 
employers from the science and technology, business, education and charitable 
sectors.  

 Officers have, through OxLEP, secured £10m match funding towards the expected 
£150m required to deliver the Oxford Station Phase 2 (West side track, entrance and 
replacement of Botley Bridge).  

 The Council worked with 30+ start-ups/SMEs in the Smart Oxford programme, 
providing support and mentoring, and collaborating with OSEP’s eScalate Social 
Enterprise Hub network for any co-working space that they may need.  

 Delivered 68 affordable homes in Barton Park since handover of units started in 
January 2019. Barton Park Primary School will open in September 2020.  

 Matilda House, which provides 22 units of supported accommodation for people with 
complex needs and 15 units of ‘Move On’ accommodation, opened in September 
2019.  

 The Oxfordshire Homelessness Prevention Trailblazer Programme ended in October 
2019. Successful aspects of the programme have continued. Aspire have raised 
funding to continue the Community Navigator service for a further three years. 

 A total of £1,744,197 was allocated for the delivery of services and support for rough 
sleepers and single homeless people in 2019/20.   

 The Council has increased funding of supported accommodation available to rough 
sleepers to ensure there is sufficient accommodation. A total of £478,198 was used 
to fund supported accommodation in 2017/18 increasing to £968,950 in 2019/20.  

 15 Financial penalties were served against rogue landlords totalling £98,389 using 
the new enforcement powers. In addition 448 statutory notices were served on 
landlords as part of the enforcement action taken to secure improvements to the 
Private Rented Sector (PRS). A successful bid made to MHCLG for £71k to develop 
a toolkit to recover unpaid financial penalties and for resources to help test an 
algorithm developed to identify the PRS.   

 The Council became the first in the UK to have powers delegated to it from a County 
Council to take action against landlords for not having an Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC) when legally required. We used £150k of a successful bid for 
government funding to develop an enforcement approach with partner agencies. 
Legal action using energy legislation was commenced against 8 properties. 

 Oxford was the first UK city to convene a Citizens’ Assembly on climate change in 
September and October 2019, with 42 residents setting out their views that the city 
should aim to achieve ‘net zero’ carbon emissions sooner than the Government’s 
target of 2050. 

 A new Oxford City Council Strategy 2020-24 was adopted by the Council following 
an extensive stakeholder engagement and public consultation. It sets out four key 
priorities – enabling an inclusive economy, building more affordable housing, 
supporting thriving communities and pursuing a zero carbon Oxford. 

 

 

623



Priorities for 2020-21 

8. These will be set out in our Business Plan 20-21, the final draft of which is now 
under review in view of the need to address the impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic.   

Corporate Performance Targets 

9. The Corporate Plan 2016-20 also sets out a limited set of corporate performance 
measures for each of the Council’s priority areas. An update on progress on the 
targets is included within the Annual Update Report. Where the success measure 
targets have not been met an explanation has been provided. 

Publication of Annual Update of the Corporate Plan 2019-20 

10. Once approved for adoption, the Annual Update will be published on the Council 
web site. 

Legal Issues 

11. There are no direct legal implications relating to the Draft Annual Update Report on 
the Corporate Plan 2016-2020. 

Financial Issues 

12. As this is reporting back on activity that has already taken place there are no 
financial implications.  

Environmental Impact 

13. The commitment to improving Oxford’s environment and reducing the environmental 
impact of the city is directly reflected in the Clean and Green Oxford corporate 
priority and underpins all of the Council’s activities. 

Level of Risk  

14. The Corporate Plan 2016-20 is an overarching strategic document, which is 
underpinned by a series of supporting documents. Details of projects and actions 
which contribute to the delivery of corporate priorities will be found in the Council’s 
service plans and other delivery plans. Risks are detailed in service and corporate 
risk registers.  

Equalities Impact 

15. An equalities impact assessment was undertaken on the Corporate Plan 2016-20. 
The City Council’s overriding concern in formulating its budget and Corporate Plan 
has been to expand the options and opportunities available to the people of our city. 
We particularly aim to reduce inequalities and expand opportunities for those 
suffering from deprivation. 
 

 

 

 

 

624



Report author Caroline Green 

Job title Assistant Chief Executive 

Service area or department Assistant Chief Executive 

Telephone  01865  529887   

e-mail  e-mail: cgreen@oxford.gov.uk   

 

Background Papers:  

 None 

 

 

625



This page is intentionally left blank



    Appendix 1 

 

Corporate Plan 2016-20 - Annual update 2019-20 

This document provides an update on what was delivered against each of the areas of focus for 2019-20 identified in the previous 

Corporate Plan Annual Update 2018-19. It also includes projected outturn against the success measures set for 2019-20. 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITY: A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy 

Areas of Focus 2019–2020 Outcome 

Continue the successful delivery of Oxfordshire 
Housing and Growth Deal investment to provide 
affordable homes and transport improvements 
for residents.  

Continued to work with the other Oxfordshire authorities to deliver the different stands of 
the Deal including affordable housing, infrastructure to support new homes and the new 
Oxfordshire 2050 Plan. This year we have also strengthened collaborative working 
across the Oxford to Cambridge Arc with aim of securing a pipeline of future investment 
to support sustainable and inclusive growth in Oxfordshire. 

Continue initiatives with the aim of encouraging 
further take up of the Oxford Living Wage. 

In one year, we have attracted 27 self-certified Oxford Living Wage employers, most 
notably the University of Oxford and Oxford Bus Company alongside a range of 
employers from the science and technology, business, education and charitable sectors. 
We have agreed new branding for Oxford Living Wage and held three engagement 
events to promote the OLW to local employers and run a successful in Living Wage 
Week and throughout the year.  

Publish a refreshed Oxford Economic Growth 
Strategy that will set out a range of economic 
initiatives and interventions to safeguard the 
continued economic success of the city as well 
as ensuring this is delivered in an inclusive and 
sustainable manner.  

Initiated a new Oxford Economic Strategy in September 2019, appointing a consultant 
team led by Hatch Regeneris. We have completed the draft Evidence Base and initial 
consultation, conducted two of four Economic Growth Steering Board meetings focused 
on the new strategy. It had been anticipated that a final version of the strategy would be 
available in late summer 2020. However, with the need for the strategy to now address 
post-COVID economic recovery, the original timeline is under review. 

Publish the Oxford Local Plan 2036. The 
Planning Inspectorate will examine the plan in 
2019 with a view to adoption in early 2020. 

The Local Plan 2036 was published and is currently being examined by the Planning 
Inspectorate. A main modifications consultation was undertaken in Feb/March 2020 and 
adoption is anticipated in Summer 2020. 

Progress Oxford Station redevelopment plans, 
working closely with Network Rail and partners. 
This will involve station works, bridge works, 

Oxford City Council is working closely with the Department for Transport, Network Rail, 
Oxfordshire County Council, Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) and a 
range of local partners to progress these plans. Officers have secured £10m match 

627



    Appendix 1 

 

additional tracks, as well as the wider 
commercial development and transport 
interchange proposals. 

funding from OxLEP towards the expected £150m required to deliver the Oxford Station 
Phase 2 (west side track, entrance and replacement of Botley Bridge). An outline 
business case has been prepared to support Network Rail’s final business case to DfT. 
The Oxfordshire Rail Corridor Study has demonstrated a need to take forward feasibility 
work and business case development for the east side of Oxford Station (Phase 3) 
which would enable county and nationwide rail enhancements including Cowley Branch 
Line and a new station at Oxford (post 2025). A stage 1 development Study for Cowley 
Branch Line has been delivered and allows the scheme to progress to more detailed 
design and business case work (delivery post 2025). We have also positioned Oxford 
Station as a key project in the Oxfordshire Industrial Strategy.  

Develop Blackbird Leys masterplan in 
consultation with local people for new shops and 
affordable homes. 

A series of consultation events have been held on plans for Blackbird Leys regeneration, 
including 275 new homes a new community centre and retail facilities and new and 
improved public space.  

Develop a Vision for Oxford’s City Centre to 
guide the Council’s policies and support our 
ambition that it is a world class, attractive and 
vibrant centre for culture, retail, commerce, 
learning and leisure. 

The City Centre Vision and Action Plan project commenced in September 2019 with the 
appointment of a consultant team led by Hatch Regeneris. We have completed the draft 
Evidence Base and initial consultation, conducted two of four City Centre Task Force 
meetings focused on the new vision. However, work has now been widened to address 
post-COVID restart and recovery in the city centre, and anticipate having a final version 
in late summer 2020. 

Take forward our capital investment programme 
to develop, for example, Seacourt Park & Ride 
and East Oxford Community Centre. 

Seacourt Park & Ride extension is currently under construction, with the work is being 
delivered in partnership with Oxford Direct Services. The East Oxford Community 
Centre redevelopment plans have progressed following public consultation in 2019 
which showed that the community wanted a fully redeveloped centre. However, it is 
currently paused along with many other capital investment projects, as the Council has 
prioritised its COVID response. 

Work with traders in the Covered Market to 
increase footfall and awareness so it continues 
to be a sustainable and vibrant place to trade. 

Oxford City Council has taken over marketing and social media the Covered Market to 
boost traders’ profile. Plans to invigorate the central area and extend opening hours with 
a bar and events are progressing well. Timelines will be reviewed as required in the 
post-COVID situation. 

The Council’s digital technology partnership 
Smart Oxford will provide co-working space with 
support and mentors for ten to twenty digital 

Working with 30+ start-ups and SMEs (small and medium-sized enterprises) in the 
Smart Oxford programme, providing support and mentoring, and collaborating with 
OSEP’s eScalate Social Enterprise Hub network for any co-working space that they may 

628



    Appendix 1 

 

technology start-ups to deliver apps and 
solutions to support health and wellbeing. 

need. 
 

 
 
 

Success Measures 
 

2019/2020 Targets 
 

2019/2020 outcomes 

Amount of employment space 
permitted for development 
 

15,000 sqm 
 

6,231 sqm. This reflects a 
reduced pipeline of employment 
creating applications in year 3 
and 4 of the Corporate Plan. 
Also, notable loss of employment 
space to other uses. 

Number of jobs created or 
safeguarded in the city as a result 
of the Council’s investment and 
leadership 
 

1,250 
 

830, less immediate inward 
investment and job creation 
interest, possibly related to Brexit 
and slowing of economic growth.  

Net annual increase in the 
number of businesses operating 
in the city 
 

200 
 

100, this figure is from the ONS 
and represents business growth 
across the city.  

 
  

629



    Appendix 1 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITY: Meeting Housing Needs 
 

Areas of Focus 2019–2020 Outcome 

Work through OCHL and with Registered 
Providers to increase the delivery of affordable 
housing, including social rented homes, through 
Growth Deal funding, with work starting on over 
600 units by March 2021. 

A Strategic 10 Year Business Plan 2020-29 has been approved by Oxford City Housing 
Ltd (OCHL) shareholders, to deliver 1,891 mixed tenure homes (of which 768 social 
rent) in Oxford and the wider Growth area (though this is being reviewed against the 
post-COVID situation.) Discussions have also been initiated with Registered Providers 
and neighbouring District Councils over developing partnerships with OCHL to 
accelerate housing delivery. 

Continue joint venture working with Grosvenor 
Developments Ltd to bring forward up to 885 
new homes at Barton Park together with a new 
primary school and sports facilities. 

The Barton Park development has progressed and delivered 68 affordable homes in 
total since handover of units started in January 2019. Construction of Barton Park 
Primary School is ongoing, and it will open in September 2020. 
 

Complete the development of a 37-bedroom 
supported housing scheme in Cowley. 

Matilda House, which provides 22 units of supported accommodation for people with 
complex needs and 15 units of Move On accommodation, opened in September 2019. 

Continue our Trailblazer programme by securing 
additional appropriate accommodation and early 
intervention support for households who are 
homeless or at risk of homelessness. 

The Oxfordshire Homelessness Prevention Trailblazer Programme ended in October 
2019. Successful aspects of the programme have continued, with the ethos and learning 
approach developed now applied across the Council’s Housing Needs service. Aspire 
has raised funding to continue the community navigator service for a further three years; 
the embedded workers in Health have been funded until the end of March 2020 initially; 
a housing worker from the Council’s Options team is embedded at HMP Bullingdon; and 
the Homelessness Prevention Champions Network will continue to run as a legacy of 
the programme and supported by the District Councils.  

Increase homelessness budget by £200,000 to 
£1.7 million a year for services for homeless 
people, and make leisure services available for 
free to homeless pathway clients. 

A total of £1,744,197 was allocated for the delivery of services and support for rough 
sleepers and single homeless people in 2019/20. A scheme for homeless pathway 
clients to apply for free leisure services was in operation before the COVID lockdown. 

Provide further support to achieve our aim that 
no one needs to sleep rough on our streets, 
including more winter provision and continuing 
our active role in the citywide partnership to 
tackle rough sleeping. 

Oxford City Council has been successful in securing approximately £2M for 2018/19 and 
2019/20 in funding from the government’s Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) and Rapid 
Rehousing Pathway (RRP) schemes to develop and expand services in the City, 
including a multi-agency service hub, additional capacity for the City’s outreach team 
and 41 units of accommodation, Navigator Posts to support long term rough sleepers 

630



    Appendix 1 

 

and a new Engagement and Assessment Centre at Floyds Row. The annual intelligent-
based estimate carried out in November, saw a 34% reduction in the number of rough 
sleepers in Oxford compared to last year. The Council is working closely with the 
County, Districts and the appointed countywide rough sleeping lead to develop a 
countywide strategy to prevention and tackling rough sleeping.  

Continue enforcement against rogue landlords, 
utilising new legal powers to improve the 
management of the private rented sector and to 
protect and improve tenants’ lives. 

15 Financial penalties were served totalling £98,389 using the new powers. In addition 
448 statutory notices were served on landlords as part of the enforcement action taken 
to secure improvements to the private rented sector.  

Renew the Private Sector Housing Policy to 
reflect the impact of the Additional Licensing 
Scheme for HMOs, and consider whether further 
property licensing would provide the step 
change in standards that is needed to 
improve tenants’ lives. 

Work is underway to engage with a wide range of stakeholders on a new draft Private 
Sector Housing Policy including consideration of potential impacts of increasing 
standards on cost of rent.   

Implement Premium Council Tax of 100 per cent 
additional tax for properties that have been 
empty for more than two years with effect from 1 
April 2019 to encourage more empty properties 
back into use. 

This was implemented on 1 April 2019. The government has also introduced an 
amendment to councils’ powers, which means that from April 2021 we will introduce a 
charge of 200% council tax for properties empty between 5-10 years, and 300% for 
properties empty over 10 years. 

 
 
 

Success Measures 
 

2019/2020 Targets 
 

2019/2020 outcomes 

Number of new homes granted 
permission 

400 1,028 from 1st April 2019 to 4th 
March 2020 (NB: This includes 
permissions in principle for 
residential schemes which 
have been approved by 
planning committee subject to 
the completion of a legal 

631



    Appendix 1 

 

agreement) 
 

The percentage of HMOs licensed 
in the city 

85% 86% 

Limit the use of temporary 
accommodation to 2015 levels or 
less 

120 93  

 
  

632



    Appendix 1 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITY: Strong and Active Communities 
 

Areas of Focus 2019–2020 Outcome 

Open a new £4.9 million Sports Park on 
Horspath Road to feature floodlit 3G football 
pitches, grass football pitches, cricket and 
softball pitches, practice areas, a pavilion and 
changing rooms. 

The sports park was successfully opened in 2019 and the lease for the management of 
the site has been assigned to Oxford United FC. We have been holding regular 
governance meetings with OUFC every two months to review how well the site is being 
used by the community and to continue to drive forward participation. 

Help shape and support the launch and delivery 
of GoodGym Oxford, which organises jogging 
activities and links them with volunteering 
opportunities to help support communities and 
older people in particular. 

GoodGym Oxford successfully launched in February 2019. A weekly GoodGym running 
group meets with an average of 15 runners attending a voluntary task together – tasks 
have included litter picking, gardening, furniture removal, painting and general tidying at 
various community centres, schools and green spaces. This activity has been 
suspended during COVID lockdown. 

Review the provision and maintenance of 
Council-managed community centres and 
continue the modernisation of other community 
centres, focusing on increasing usage and 
satisfaction levels. 

A five year maintenance plan has been developed for Council-owned community 
centres. Barton Neighbourhood centre £1 million improvement works were completed 
during the year including the new library and the centre was re-opened by Prince Harry. 
Plans were agreed with the community association for the replacement of Bullingdon 
Community Centre and planning permission was granted for the new building, with ODS 
the main construction contractor. A significant amount of engagement and design work 
has been undertaken on the East Oxford Community centre and Housing project. 
However, these projects are currently paused along with much of the capital investment 
programme, as the Council has prioritised its COVID response. 

Deliver a safe and clean public realm through 
engagement and enforcement activities and 
deal with the challenges of drug markets in the 
city through the Drugs Taskforce. 

The Public Spaces Drug Task Force worked with the police and with local communities 
to reduce the dealing of drugs and their use in the public realm.  The “CLEAR, HOLD, 
BUILD” approach was delivered in a number of areas across the city. 

Continue to build on ‘Investor in Volunteers’ 
accreditation and maximise the quality and 
relevance of our support to the community and 
voluntary sector. 

A team is working on facilitating employee volunteering as part of the Council’s New 
Ways of Working programme. This will enable colleagues to learn more about the 
communities the organisation work with and support, so that there is a better 
understanding of the challenges faced by them. It is also an excellent opportunity to 
share skills with organisations and individuals in communities alongside building and 
strengthening networks and trust. This scheme will be reappraised to ensure it benefits 

633



    Appendix 1 

 

from the experience gained in working with volunteers to deliver the Council’s COVID 
response to communities.  

Raise funds to continue our community 
cohesion and integration work until 2020. 

A second successful bid to the Controlling Migration Fund from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), has provided additional money to fund a 
range of new projects to support refugees, asylum seekers and vulnerable migrants. 
These include English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) classes; mentoring and 
volunteering opportunities; developing information resources on availability of support 
services; tackling rogue landlords who let illegal properties or “beds in sheds”; 
supporting migrant rough sleepers to access accommodation and support services; and 
research aimed at improving the community’s capacity to tackle exploitation of migrants 
and human trafficking. 

Conclude and evaluate our £734,000 Building 
Better Opportunities project that aims to engage 
entrenched NEETs (Not in Education, 
Employment or Training). 

Successfully bid this year to extend the amount of grant to £1.4 million up to June 2022 
to work with organisations to facilitate enabling NEET’s back into the job market. 

Work with partners on the implementation of 
countywide strategies including the Oxfordshire 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and Older People’s 
Strategy to meet the needs of residents in the 
city. 

We have worked within the key countywide partnerships to ensure plans are in place 
and action taken to health and wellbeing of Oxford residents. This included signing the 
Mental Health Concordat and delivering programmes under the Older People’s Strategy 
to broaden accessibility and take up of our services by older people and embed our 
work relating to older people in social prescribing networks. The Home Improvement 
Agency’s amended and improved Adaptations Policy enabled an accelerated and 
increased spend on adaptations to £1.4m enabling older people to remain safely in their 
homes. The policy was recognised nationally as good practice by Care and Repair 
England who encouraged other councils to follow our lead.  

 
 
 

Success Measures 
 

2019/2020 Targets 
 

2019/2020 outcomes 

Resident satisfaction with their area 
as a place to live 

81% Not measured, next survey in 2020 

The number of people taking part in 5,700  Program delivery at the end of March 2020 showed just below 

634



    Appendix 1 

 

our Youth Ambition Programme target with 5,530 participants. 
 
This outcome is mitigated due to the forced suspension (in 
mid-March 2020), of delivery sessions for young people due 
to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Increase leisure centre participation 
target groups 

3% increase Data reported by our leisure provider (Fusion) in February 
2020 indicated visits increased by 1.3% for an 11 month 
reporting period. 
 
Fusion reported a positive month-on-month direction of travel 
between January and February 2020, expected to continue 
into March 2020. However on 20 March 2020 facilities across 
the physical activity landscape were required to close by the 
Government due to COVID-19. f  
 

 
  

635



    Appendix 1 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITY: Clean and Green Oxford 
 

Areas of Focus 2019–2020 Outcome 

Detailed work in partnership with the County 
Council on implementation plans for the Zero 
Emission Zone 2020 and further public 
consultation on the final proposals. 

Two further rounds of public consultation were undertaken which further refined 
details for the implementation of the first phase of the Zero Emission Zone in Oxford 
city centre in December 2020. With the impact of COVID-19 and following 
engagement with city centre businesses, the City Council and Oxfordshire County 
Council suspended the formal consultation on implementation of the Red Zone of the 
ZEZ, confirming they planned for it to resume in late 2020, with a view to implement 
the scheme in summer 2021.   

Continue to promote the uptake of low emission 
vehicles through the delivery of Electric Vehicle 
(EV) on-street charging and EV taxi charging 
infrastructure, and through the second 
Oxford EV summit. 

The Community Safety Service supported the LEV agenda by changing the Council’s 
taxi policy to ensure hackney vehicles are all electric by 2025 and the first Fast 
Charger for EV taxis was installed at Manzil way. A successful EV summit was held, 
and an EV on-street pilot phase completed and learning report published. 

Continue to improve homes for tenants through 
a programme of energy efficiency and 
refurbishment work, provision of energy advice 
and information to residents, and regeneration 
of our estates. 

We are continuing to assess the energy efficiency of our housing stock to understand 
what improvement works are required to improve energy rating of C or greater. Our 
Energy Advice Officers have continued to provide advice to our tenants and increase 
tenant resilience to fuel poverty. The Great Estates project to improve our estates and 
communities has continued to deliver improvements in Barton and Blackbird Leys, 
including bin stores and washing facilities as well as upgrades to parking schemes.  

Develop a multi-agency enforcement approach 
to prohibiting landlords from renting out poor 
energy-rated properties. 

The Council became the first in the UK to have powers delegated to it from a County 
Council to take action against landlords for not having an Energy Performance 
Certificate (EPC) when legally required. We used £150k of a successful bid for 
government funding to develop an enforcement approach with partner agencies and 
we contacted 13,465 properties suspected to be in the private rented sector to test an 
algorithm to identify privately rented stock. Legal action using energy legislation was 
commenced against 8 properties. 

Take forward energy efficiency work to ensure 
all commercial leased properties achieve 
compliance to the minimum energy efficiency 
standard concentrating on heating and 

A half a day event to promote compliance was held for commercial agents and 
landlords and was attended by 70 people and an agency agreement is being 
developed with the County Council to progress future enforcement activity in this 
area.  

636



    Appendix 1 

 

insulation. 

Convene a Citizens’ Assembly in Oxford to help 
consider additional carbon reduction measures 
to address the climate emergency. 

Oxford was the first UK city to convene a Citizens’ Assembly on climate change in 
September and October 2019, with 42 residents setting out their views that the city 
should aim to achieve ‘net zero’ carbon emissions sooner than the Government’s 
target of 2050. 

Work with partners to develop longer term 
carbon targets for the city and consult on an 
Oxford City Council Sustainability Strategy 
which will help set a course to a 2050 zero 
carbon future for the city. 

An initial response to the Citizens’ Assembly on Climate Change set out 53 actions 
that are being taken forward to help cut carbon emissions across the city. The findings 
from the Citizens’ Assembly are also being used to shape the Council’s Sustainability 
Strategy. 

Continue to work with the Environment Agency 
to deliver the Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme 
(OFAS). 

OFAS is progressing, but delayed due to Oxfordshire County Council bridge work. 

Develop a programme to encourage a reduction 
in the use of single-use plastics within the 
Council among our suppliers. 

ODS has carried out a waste audit of Oxford City Council sites and provided advice 
on how this waste may be reduced. ODS is on the steering group aiming to deliver 
these improvements. Within ODS our procurement includes commitments to 
packaging reductions and any plastic or cardboard waste from our material suppliers 
is recycled. 

Invest £250,000 for new cycle infrastructure, 
supporting matched funding with other public 
bodies. 

Works continues to identify suitable schemes. 

 
 
 
 

Success Measures 2019/2020 Targets 2019/2020 outcomes 

Amount of non-recyclable waste 
produced in the city per households 
decreases each year 

418k 337.35kg 
 

Satisfaction with our street cleaning 
services 

77%   72%. However ODS was winner of the 2019 APSE best 
service team award for street cleaning and street scene 
services.   

637



    Appendix 1 

 

Implementation of measures to 
reduce City Council’s carbon 
footprint by 5% each year 

5% 5% 

 
  

638



    Appendix 1 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITY: Efficient and Effective Council 
 

Areas of Focus 2019–2020 Outcome 

Delivery of the updated ODS business plan, 
which will increase capital investment and boost 
the rate of growth and income generated for the 
Council. 

A plan has been drafted, designed to deliver the increased dividend requirement for the 
shareholder, Oxford City Council. However this is being reviewed to address the post-
COVID situation. 
 

Continue to work to increase the diversity of the 
Council’s workforce to better reflect the 
communities we serve and ensure we are seen 
as an employer of choice. 

A range of activities were undertaken over the year including mandatory training for all 
staff and managers; an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Week of Action to promote 
better understanding, and act as a catalyst for change which over 360 staff attended; 2 
small scale work experience pilots; 2 recruitment roadshows held in local community 
centres, a CV writing workshop and a cohort of 4 Mental Health First Aid Instructors and 
over 40 Mental Health First Aiders. This has helped to drive an increase in the 
percentage of job applications from members of the BAME community and the % of 
BAME staff in our workforce has risen from 11.95% at 31 March 2018 to 12.96% at 31 
March 2019. 

Maintain our awards, including Customer 
Service Excellence, Payroll Assurance Scheme 
and Investors in People (IIP) accreditation. 

We passed the Customer Service Excellence accreditation again for the fourth year in a 
row with an improved score.  Areas where the Council scored exceptionally highly and 
were recognised for best practice included: effective use of data to understand customer 
needs; developing roles to engage more effectively with customer groups; improving 
services by analysing customer experiences; effective consultation; developing 
innovative approaches to support local communities and a clear corporate commitment 
to customer service. The Payroll Assurance Scheme and IIP accreditation remain in 
place. 

Deliver a new Customer and Digital Technology 
Strategy to further improve our customer 
experience, self-service opportunities and 
automation of our processes. 

The Customer Experience Strategy was approved by Cabinet. Its main principles 
include: providing a great, holistic responsive customer experience from every part of 
the Council; developing the necessary skills, capabilities and behaviours throughout the 
workforce; better equipping colleagues with tools to respond to customer needs, flexibly 
and securely; modernising business systems and operating processes, making them 
easier to use and automated where appropriate; and enabling efficiencies through 
rationalisation of systems, streamlining of processes, and tools for flexible working and 
collaboration. 

639



    Appendix 1 

 

Implement a new system to make it easier for 
residents to make payments through a range of 
digital and non-digital channels. 

The project has been delayed due to dependencies with the implementation of other ICT 
software. The new go live date for the software is being reviewed in view of the impact 
of COVID-19 on our operations. 

Formation of a Social Housing Provider Data 
Hub to proactively tackle tenancy fraud and 
abuse. 

Fraud preventative work was undertaken with a number of housing associations on 
commercial terms and there are ongoing discussions to continue with this work and 
extend into other areas. 

Invest £34,000 to create a mobile accessibility 
app to make it easier for people with a disability 
to access city venues. 

300 spaces and places have now been surveyed. The AccessAble Web and App guide 
is now live. 
 

Development of a new Oxford City Council 
Corporate Strategy to set out our plans and 
objectives for delivering high-quality services for 
the people of Oxford for the period beyond 
2020. 

A new Oxford City Council Strategy 2020-24 was adopted by the Council following an 
extensive stakeholder engagement and public consultation. It sets out four key priorities 
– enabling an inclusive economy, building more affordable housing, supporting thriving 
communities and pursuing a zero carbon Oxford. 

Using the Local Government Association 
equalities framework, the City Council will 
review its performance in meeting the needs of 
its diverse communities and in particular those 
groups with protected characteristics under the 
Equalities Act 2010, and draw up an action plan 
for improvements where needed. 

Over the past year, Oxford City Council has undertaken an Equalities Review to identify 
key priorities in delivering our corporate commitment to tackling equality and to deliver 
our responsibilities under the Equalities Act, resulting in the development of an action 
plan. 

 

Success Measures 
 

2019/2020 Targets 
 

2019/2020 outcomes 

Level of staff engagement 
based on best companies staff 
survey results 

Positive Measured every 3 years – next survey scheduled in 2020 

The percentage of customer 
satisfied at first contact 

85% 86% 
 

Delivery of the Council’s cost 
savings and 
income targets 

£5,221,000 Savings and income targets were made in full 
 

For the cabinet report Oxford City Council has continued to deliver 

640



    Appendix 1 

 

efficiency savings during 2019/20 to a value of £0.951 million in addition 
to £1.648 million achieved in the previous 3 years. 
 

 

 

641



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date of Cabinet Meeting: 11.03.20 

Cabinet response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee made on 03/03/2020 concerning the Blackbird Leys 
Development Project. 

Response provided by Cabinet Member for Affordable Housing, Councillor Mike Rowley 
 

Recommendation Agree?  Comment 

1) That the Council asks Catalyst Housing Limited to 
complete the Council’s social value procurement 
paperwork and to agree for its undertakings to be 
included within the Stage Two Gateway 
proposals. 

 
Yes 

 
The Council has asked Catalyst who have agreed in 
principle and we will work with Catalyst to generate a 
Social Value strategy moving forward. 

2) That the Council: 
a) consults extensively on the adequacy of its 

alternative provision for current activities at the 
Community Centre during the decant period, to 
ensure that the new centre will continue to 
support the community as part of a wider 
healthy place making agenda  

b) invests the time and resources to develop the 
social capital required to enable community-
management of the Community Centre to be a 
viable operating model.  

 
Yes 
 
 
 
 
 
Yes 

 
The Cabinet report identifies this work will be included as 
detailed in the section on Stakeholder Engagement 
 
 
 
 
Boosting social capital of residents and local organisations 
is definitely planned for as we move forward however, no 
decision has been taken on future management options 
and the final choice of business model will need to be 
agreed at a later stage 

3. That in the detailed design phase of the project the 
Council requires that Catalyst Housing Limited 
includes the following within the Stage Two 
Gateway proposals: 

a) Passivhaus standards of insulation and air-
tightness 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Partial 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Provision has been made for compliance with the emerging 
Local Plan requirements however we will continue to look 
at further options to improve standards in line with the 
overall budget envelope 
 

643

A
genda Item

 11



Date of Cabinet Meeting: 11.03.20 

 
b) Appointing a suitably experience sustainable 

construction consultant to advise on best 
practice for  delivering homes at Passivhaus 
standards at construction prices at or below 
those for Building Regulations 

c) A ‘comfort payment’ system similar to that 
from Nottingham City Homes as a means of 
closing any viability gaps related to the cost of 
delivering Passivhaus standards 

d) The appointment of a biodiversity partner to 
advise on and monitor actions to support 
ecological mitigations to the development. 

 

 
Yes 
 
 
 
 
No 
 
 
 
Yes 

 
The Catalyst team already includes a sustainability 
consultant with Passivhaus experience 
 
 
 
Catalyst is unable to agree as they do not have the 
financial systems to support this and it is not part of the 
current Development Agreement 
 
Catalyst team already includes an environmental 
consultant who will advise on biodiversity as part of their 
environmental impact assessment 

 

644



Date of Cabinet Meeting: 11.03.20 

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee made on 03/03/2020 concerning the Gender Pay Gap 
report 

Response provided by Cabinet Member Safer Communities and Customer Focused Services, Councillor Nigel Chapman 
 

Recommendation Agree?  Comment 

1) That the Council gives greater prominence to 
promoting male take-up of shared parental leave 
within its current and prospective workforce. A 
particular suggestion is the inclusion of articles 
within Council Matters by male staff who have 
taken shared parental leave on their experiences 
and the benefits they have encountered. 

 
Yes 

 
The Council is happy to accommodate this 
recommendation 

 

645



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	8 Scrutiny Operating Principles and Standing Panel Arrangements
	Appendix 1 - Operating Principles 20-21 AB

	9 Adoption of Oxford Local Plan 2036
	Appendix 1 Oxford Local Plan (with mods) V5
	Foreword
	Introduction
	Strengths and roles of Oxford
	Retail and tourism
	Life, culture, health and well-being
	History and urban environment
	Natural environment
	Travel
	Environmental responsibility
	Vision
	Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment


	1. Spatial Strategy
	Spatial application of the strategy
	1.20 The Old Road area, Headington
	1.21 Osney Mead and the West End
	1.22 Marston Road/Headington Hill
	1.23 Northern Gateway/Oxford North
	1.24 Barton

	Key elements of the Local Plan strategy
	Delivering the Strategy

	Policy S1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
	Policy S2: Development Contributions
	2. Building on Oxford’s economic strengths and ensuring prosperity and opportunities for all
	i. Employment Land Assessment
	Category 3 sites
	Approach to B8 uses and car showrooms in Oxford

	ii. Teaching and research
	iii. New academic or administrative floorspace for private colleges/language schools
	Iv iii Securing opportunities for local employment, training and businesses

	Policy E1: Employment sites
	Policy E2: Teaching and research
	3. A pleasant place to live, delivering housing with a mixed and balanced community
	Part 1: Meeting housing needs
	Diagram 3: Housing Trajectory 2016-2036 [UPDATED DIAGRAM SHOWN BELOW]
	Policy H2: Delivering affordable homes
	i. Affordable homes from larger sites:
	ii. Affordable homes through financial contributions from smaller sites:
	iii. Employer-linked affordable housing
	Part 2: Creating a balanced and mixed community
	v. Development involving loss of dwellings
	vi. Houses in Multiple Occupation
	vii. Community-led  and self-build housing
	Part 3: Providing for specialist housing needs
	ix. Accessible and adaptable homes
	x. Older persons and specialist and supported living accommodation
	xi. Accommodation for travelling communities
	xii. Homes for boat dwellers
	Part 4: Ensuring a good quality living environment for our residents
	xiv. Internal space standards
	xv. Outdoor amenity space standards


	Policy H1: The scale of new housing provision
	Policy H3: Employer-linked affordable housing
	Policy H4: Mix of dwelling sizes
	Policy H5: Development involving loss of dwellings
	Policy H6:  Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)
	Policy H7:  Community-led housing and self-build housing
	Policy H8:  Provision of new student accommodation
	Policy H9: Linking the delivery of new/redeveloped and refurbished university academic facilities to the delivery of university provided residential accommodation
	Policy H10: Accessible and adaptable homes
	Policy H11: Older persons and specialist and supported living accommodation
	Policy H12: Homes for travelling communities
	Policy H13: Homes for boat dwellers
	Policy H14: Privacy, daylight, and sunlight
	Policy H15: Internal space standards
	Policy H16: Outdoor amenity space standards
	4. Making wise use of our resources and securing a good quality local environment
	Carbon reduction in new-build non-
	Monitoring
	Heat networks
	Water efficiency – residential development:
	Water efficiency – non-residential development:
	ii. Efficient use of land
	iii. Flooding risk management
	iv. Sustainable drainage systems
	Details of the SuDS shall be submitted as part of a drainage strategy or FRA where required.
	Surface and groundwater flow and groundwater recharge:
	Foul Drainage

	v. Health, well-being, and Health Impact Assessments
	vi. Air quality
	vii. Managing the impact of development
	viii. Noise and vibration
	ix. Land quality

	Policy RE1: Sustainable design and construction
	Policy RE2: Efficient use of land
	Policy RE3:   Flood risk management
	Policy RE4: Sustainable and foul drainage, surface and groundwater flow
	Policy RE5: Health, wellbeing, and Health Impact Assessments
	Policy RE6: Air quality
	Policy RE7: Managing the impact of development
	Policy RE8: Noise and vibration
	Policy RE9: Land quality
	5. Protecting and enhancing Oxford’s green and blue infrastructure network
	i. Green and Blue Infrastructure Network
	ii. Protection of biodiversity and geo-diversity
	iii. Green Belt
	iv. Allotments and community food growing
	v. Outdoor sports
	vi. Residential garden land
	vii. Other green and open spaces
	viii. Protection of existing Green Infrastructure features
	ix. New public open spaces and incorporation of Green Infrastructure features in new development

	Policy G1:  Protection of Green and Blue Infrastructure Network
	Policy G2:  Protection of biodiversity and geo-diversity
	Policy G3: Green Belt
	Policy G4: Allotments and community food growing
	Policy G5: Outdoor sports Existing open space, indoor and outdoor sports and recreation facilities
	Policy G6:  Residential garden land
	Policy G78: Protection of existing Green Infrastructure features
	Policy G89: New and enhanced Green and Blue Infrastructure Network Features
	6. Enhancing Oxford’s heritage and creating high quality new development
	i. High quality design and placemaking
	ii. Views and building heights
	Policy DH2: Views and building heights
	iii. Designated heritage assets

	Policy DH3: Designated heritage assets
	iv. Archaeological remains
	v. Local heritage assets
	vi. Shopfronts and signage
	vii. External servicing features and stores for bikes, waste and recycling


	Policy DH1: High quality design and placemaking
	Policy DH4: Archaeological remains
	Policy DH5: Local Heritage Assets
	Policy DH6: Shopfronts and signage
	Policy DH7: External servicing features and stores
	7. Ensuring efficient movement into and around the city
	iii. Promoting sustainable travel through prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport
	New pedestrian and cycle routes:
	Public transport:
	Rail network:

	ii. Assessing and managing development
	Policy M2: Assessing and managing development
	iii. Car Motor vehicle parking

	Policy M3: Motor vehicle parking
	iv. Provision of electric charging points
	v. Cycle Bicycle parking


	Policy M1: Prioritising walking, cycling, and public transport
	Policy M4: Provision of electric charging points
	Policy M5: BicCycle Parking
	8. Providing communities with facilities and services and ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in and visit
	Part 1: Ensuring Oxford is a vibrant and enjoyable city to live in and visit
	ii. Shopping Frontages in the city centre
	Policy V2: Shopping Frontages in the city centre
	iii. The Covered Market
	iv. District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages
	Local Centres:

	v. Sustainable tourism
	vi. Cultural and social activities
	Part 2: Providing  communities  with facilities and services
	viii. Utilities
	Picture of workmen on scaffolding



	Policy V1: Ensuring the vitality of centres
	Policy V3: The Covered Market
	Policy V4: District and Local Centre Shopping Frontages
	Policy V5: Sustainable tourism
	Policy V6: Cultural and social activities
	Policy V7: Infrastructure and cultural and community facilities
	Policy V8: Utilities
	Policy V9: Digital Infrastructure
	9. Areas of Change and Site Allocations
	9.4 Context
	9.5 Key heritage considerations
	9.6 Building heights and density
	9.7 Vision
	Area of Change: West End and Osney Mead
	9.8 Context
	9.10 Key heritage considerations
	9.12 Building heights and density
	9.14 Vision Policy AOC1: West End and Osney Mead

	Area of Change: Cowley Centre District Centre
	9.289Key heritage considerations
	9.2930 Building heights and density
	Policy AOC2: Cowley Centre District Centre

	Area of Change: Blackbird Leys District Centre
	9.379Key heritage considerations
	9.3840 Building heights and density
	Policy AOC3: Blackbird Leys Area of Change

	Area of Change: East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre
	9.447Key heritage considerations
	9.458Building heights and density
	Policy AOC4: East Oxford-Cowley Road District Centre

	Area of Change: Summertown District Centre
	9.514Key heritage considerations
	9.525Building heights and density
	Policy AOC5: Summertown District Centre

	Area of Change: Headington District Centre
	9.669Key heritage considerations
	9.6770 Building heights and density
	Policy AOC6: Headington District Centre

	Area of Change: Cowley Branch Line
	9.725 Key heritage considerations
	9.736Building heights and density
	Policy AOC7: Cowley Branch Line

	Area of Change: Marston Road
	9.1004 Key heritage considerations
	9.1048 Building heights and density
	9.1059 Policy AOC8: Marston Road
	9.11721  Key heritage considerations
	9.1215 Building heights and density
	9.1226 Vision Policy AOC9: Old Road

	Sites Released from Green Belt

	Policy SP1: Sites in the West End
	Policy SP2: Osney Mead
	Policy SP3: Cowley Centre
	Policy SP4: Blackbird Leys Central Area
	Policy SP5: Summer Fields School Athletics Track
	Policy SP6: Diamond Place and Ewert House
	Policy SP78: Unipart
	Policy SP89: Oxford BMW Mini MINI Plant Oxford
	Policy SP910: The Oxford Science Park (Littlemore & Minchery Farm)
	Policy SP1011: Oxford Business Park
	Policy SP112: Sandy Lane Recreation Ground and Land to the Rear of the Retail Park
	Policy SP123: Northfield Hostel
	Policy SP134: Edge of Playing Fields, Oxford Academy
	Policy SP145: Kassam Stadium Sites
	Policy SP156: Knights Road
	Policy SP167: Government Buildings and Harcourt House
	Policy SP178: Headington Hill Hall and Clive Booth Student Village
	Policy SP189: Land surrounding St Clement’s Church
	Policy SP1920: Churchill Hospital Site
	Policy SP201: Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre
	Policy SP212: Old Road Campus
	Policy SP223: Warneford Hospital
	Policy SP234: Marston Paddock
	Policy SP245: St Frideswide Farm
	Policy SP256: Hill View Farm
	Policy SP267: Land west of Mill Lane
	Policy SP278: Park Farm
	Policy SP289: Pear Tree Farm
	Policy SP2930: Land East of Redbridge Park & Ride
	Policy SP3031: St Catherine’s College Land
	Policy SP312: Banbury Road University Sites
	Policy SP323: Bertie Place Recreation Ground and Land Behind Wytham Street
	Policy SP334: Canalside Land
	Policy SP345: Court Place Gardens
	Policy SP356: Cowley Marsh Depot
	Policy SP367: Faculty of Music, St Aldates
	Policy SP378: Former Barns Road East Allotments
	Policy SP3839: Former Iffley Mead Playing Fields
	Policy SP3940: Grandpont Car Park
	Policy SP410: Jesus College Sports Ground
	Policy SP412: John Radcliffe Hospital Site
	Policy SP423: Land at Meadow Lane
	Policy SP434: Lincoln College Sports Ground
	Policy SP445: Littlemore Park
	Policy SP456: Manor Place
	Policy SP467: Manzil Way Resource Centre
	Policy SP478: Nielsen, London Road Thornhill Park
	Policy SP489: Old Power Station
	Policy SP4950: Oriel College Land at King Edward Street and High Street
	Policy SP501: Oxford Brookes University Marston Road Campus
	Policy SP512: Oxford Stadium
	Policy SP523: Oxford University Press Sports Ground
	Policy SP534: No.1 Pullens Lane
	Policy SP545: Radcliffe Observatory Quarter
	Policy SP556: Ruskin College Campus
	Policy SP567: Ruskin Field
	Policy SP578: Slade House
	Policy SP589: Summertown House, Apsley Road
	Policy SP5960: Union Street Car Park
	Policy SP601: University of Oxford Science Area and Keble Road Triangle
	Policy SP612: Valentia Road Site
	Policy SP623: West Wellington Square
	Policy SP63: Bayards Hill Primary School Part Playing Fields
	Policy SP646: William Morris Close Sports Ground
	Glossary
	Delivery and Servicing Management Plan (DSMP)

	Appendix 1: Strategic policies
	1.1 - List of strategic policies
	E1: Employment sites

	1.2 List of saved development plan documents

	Appendix 2:
	2.1 Category 1 employment sites:
	2.2 Category 2 employment sites:

	Appendix 3:
	3.1 Method for calculating affordable housing contributions relating to residential development
	The combined sale value of all homes on the site on completion

	3.2 Method for calculating affordable housing contributions relating to student development
	3.3 Affordable housing viability cascade for large sites
	3.4 Employer linked housing sites
	3.5 Student threshold calculation
	3.6 3.5 HMO calculation
	Policy H15 states that planning permission will only be granted for the change of use of a dwelling in Use Class C3 to an HMO where the proportion of buildings used in full or part as an HMO within 100 metres of street length either side of the applic...

	3.7 3.5 Privacy, daylight, and sunlight: the 45 and 25 degree guideline

	Appendix 4:
	4.1 Health Impact Assessment

	Appendix 5:
	5.1 SAC and SSSI Sites

	Appendix 6:
	6.1 Design checklist
	6.2 Oxford’s Conservation Areas

	Appendix 7:
	7.1 Transport Assessments
	7.2 Travel Plans
	7.3 Vehicular parking standards
	7.4 Minimum Bicycle Cycle Parking standards
	7.5 7.3 Shower and comfort facilities provision

	Appendix 8:
	8.1 Marketing expectations

	Monitoring Framework

	Appendix 2 Oxford Local Plan Inspectors' Report
	Appendix 3 Main Modifications (Appendix of Inspectors' Report)
	Appendix 4 Schedule of proposed additional minor changes

	10 2019-20 Annual Update on the Oxford City Council Corporate Plan 2016-20
	Appendix 1 Corp plan update 19-20 150520

	11 Report back on recommendations
	Gender Pay Gap


